IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES. THIS OFFERING IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE ADDRESSES OUTSIDE OF THE UNITED STATES.

IMPORTANT: YOU MUST READ THE FOLLOWING DISCLAIMER BEFORE CONTINUING. THE FOLLOWING DISCLAIMER APPLIES TO THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR (THE "OFFERING CIRCULAR"). YOU ARE THEREFORE ADVISED TO READ THIS DISCLAIMER CAREFULLY BEFORE READING, ACCESSING OR MAKING ANY OTHER USE OF THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR. IN ACCESSING THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR, YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS, INCLUDING ANY MODIFICATIONS TO THEM FROM TIME TO TIME. EACH TIME YOU RECEIVE ANY INFORMATION AS A RESULT OF SUCH ACCESS.

Confirmation of your Representation: The attached Offering Circular is delivered to you at your request and on basis that you have confirmed your representation to Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (together, the "Joint Lead Managers") and Tata Motors Limited (the "Issuer") that (i) the e-mail address that you gave us and to which this e-mail has been delivered is not located in the United States, its territories or possessions; (ii) you consent to delivery of the attached Offering Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission; (iii) you will not transmit the attached Offering Circular (or any copy of it or part thereof) or disclose, whether orally or in writing, any of its contents to any other person except with the prior written consent of the Joint Lead Managers; and (iv) you acknowledge that you will make your own assessment regarding any credit, investment, legal, taxation or other economic considerations with respect to your decision to subscribe or purchase any of the Notes.

The attached Offering Circular has been made available to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee (as defined in the attached Offering Circular), the Agents (as defined in the attached Offering Circular), the Issuer nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, representatives, agents, affiliates or advisers or any person who controls any of them accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any discrepancies between the Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version. By accessing the Offering Circular, you consent to receiving it in electronic form. The Joint Lead Managers will upon request provide a hard copy version to you.

Restrictions: The attached Offering Circular is being furnished in connection with an offering exempt from registration under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "**Securities Act**") solely for the purpose of enabling a prospective investor to consider the purchase of the notes described herein. You are reminded that the information in the attached Offering Circular is not complete and may be changed.

THE NOTES DESCRIBED HEREIN HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS. ACCORDINGLY, THE NOTES ARE BEING OFFERED AND SOLD OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

Except with respect to eligible investors in jurisdictions where such offer is permitted by law, nothing in this electronic transmission constitutes an offer or an invitation by or on behalf of either the Joint Lead Managers or the Issuer to subscribe for or purchase any of the Notes, and access has been limited so that it shall not constitute a general advertisement or general solicitation (as those terms are used in Regulation D under the Securities Act) or directed selling efforts (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) in the United States or elsewhere. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and a Joint Lead Manager or any affiliate of such Joint Lead Manager is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by such Joint Lead Manager or its affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

You are reminded that you have accessed the attached Offering Circular on the basis that you are a person into whose possession this Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver or forward this Offering Circular, electronically or otherwise, to any other person. Failure to comply with this directive may result in a violation of the Securities Act or the applicable laws of other jurisdictions. If you have gained access to this transmission contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you are not allowed to purchase any of the notes described herein in the attached.

YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED TO AND YOU MAY NOT FORWARD OR DELIVER THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR, ELECTRONICALLY OR OTHERWISE, TO ANY OTHER PERSON OR REPRODUCE SUCH OFFERING CIRCULAR IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THE ATTACHED OFFERING CIRCULAR IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

Actions that You May Not Take: If you received this Offering Circular by e-mail, you should not reply by e-mail to this communication. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the "Reply" function on the e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your receipt of the electronic transmission is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



(incorporated in the Republic of India)

U.S.\$300,000,000 5.875 per cent. Senior Notes due 2025

Issue price: 100 per cent.

The 5.875 per cent. senior notes due 2025 in the aggregate principal amount of U.S.\$300,000,000 (the "Notes") will be issued by Tata Motors Limited (the "Issuer" or the "Company") on 20 November 2019 (the "Closing Date"). The Notes will constitute direct, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4.1 (Negative Pledge) of the terms and conditions of the Notes (the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes")) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and (subject as stated above) rank and will rank at all times pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least equally with all times pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least equally with in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by applicable laws relating to creditors' rights.

The Notes will be constituted by a Trust Deed between the Issuer and Citicorp International Limited (the "**Trustee**") dated the Closing Date and will bear interest at the rate of 5.875 per cent. per annum of the principal amount of the Notes, payable semi-annually in arrear on the interest payment dates falling on 20 May and 20 November of each year, commencing with the first interest payment date falling on 20 May 2020.

Subject to the receipt of necessary approvals under the ECB Guidelines (as defined herein), if a Change of Control (as defined herein) occurs, each Noteholder shall have the right to require the Issuer to redeem all of such Noteholder's Note(s) at 101 per cent. of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. Subject to the receipt of necessary approvals under the ECB Guidelines, the Issuer may also redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, at 100 per cent. of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if at any time the Issuer becomes obligated to pay withholding taxes as a result of certain changes in tax law. Subject to the above and unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will mature and the Issuer will redeem the Notes at their principal amount on 20 May 2025. For a more detailed description of the Notes, see "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks. See "Risk Factors"

Approval in-principle has been received from the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") for the listing of, and quotation for, the Notes on the SGX-ST. The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed or reports contained in this Offering Circular. Admission to the official list of the SGX-ST and quotation of the Notes on the SGX-ST is not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, its subsidiaries and associated companies or the Notes. The Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of not less than S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST.

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). The Notes are being offered outside the United States by the Joint Lead Managers in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S") and may not be offered or sold within the United States (as defined in Regulation S) except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and the distribution of this Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale".

The Notes will be in registered form in denominations of U.S.\$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof. Upon issue, the Notes will be represented by interests in a global certificate in registered form (the "Global Certificate") deposited on or before the Closing Date with, and registered in the name of a nominee for, a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"). Interests in the Global Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Definitive Certificates (as defined herein) evidencing holdings of interests in the Certificates will be issued in exchange for interests in the Global Certificate only in certain limited circumstances described herein, see "The Global Certificate". It is expected that delivery of the Global Certificate will be made on or about 20 November 2019.

The Notes are expected to be assigned a rating of Ba3 by Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"). This rating does not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Certificates and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by Moody's.

Sole Global Coordinator



Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers





NOTICE TO INVESTORS

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL, OR A SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, ANY NOTES IN ANY JURISDICTION TO OR FROM ANY PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE THE OFFER OR SOLICITATION IN SUCH JURISDICTION. NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR NOR ANY SALE MADE HEREUNDER SHALL UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES IMPLY THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR THAT THE INFORMATION SET OUT IN THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR IS CORRECT AS AT ANY DATE SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR.

The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that: (i) this Offering Circular contains all information with respect to the Issuer and its subsidiaries (together, the "**Group**") and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes; (ii) the statements contained in it relating to the Issuer and the Group are in every material respect true and accurate and not misleading; (iii) the opinions and intentions expressed in this Offering Circular with regard to the Issuer and the Group are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions; (iv) there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the Group or the Notes, the omission of which would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Notes, make any statement in this Offering Circular misleading in any material respect; and (v) all reasonable enquiries have been made by the Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements. In addition, the Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (together with Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., the "Joint Lead Managers") or any affiliate or representative of any of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers to subscribe for or purchase, any Notes in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such offer, invitation or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer, invitation or solicitation.

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer solely for use in connection with the proposed offering of the Notes described in this Offering Circular. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering and sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Issuer, the Trustee (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), the Agents (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, represents that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that the Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents, the Issuer or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, which is intended to permit a public offering of the Notes or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. There are restrictions on the offer and sale of the Notes and the circulation of documents relating thereto in certain iurisdictions, including the United States, the United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Singapore, the PRC. Japan and India. For a description of further restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and distribution of this Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale".

Each potential investor must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers or sells the Notes or possesses or distributes this Offering Circular and must obtain any consent, approval or permission required under any regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers or sales, and none of the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers shall have any responsibility therefor.

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable Indian regulations, only investors that are residents of Financial Action Task Force or International Organization of Securities Commission's compliant jurisdictions and Multilateral and Regional Financial Institutions where India is a member country are eligible to purchase the Notes issued by the Issuer. No person is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Offering Circular and any information or representation not so contained must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or the Issuer or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person. Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that the information contained in it or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the issue of the Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be considered as a recommendation by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or the Issuer or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the issue of the Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Furthermore, no comment is made or advice is given by any of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or the Issuer or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, in respect of taxation matters relating to any Notes or the legality of the purchase of Notes by an investor under applicable or similar laws. No Joint Lead Managers undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor advises any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of the Joint Lead Managers.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in this Offering Circular;
- (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;

- (iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Each potential investor is advised to consult its own tax adviser, legal adviser and business adviser as to tax, legal, business and related matters concerning the purchase of Notes.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, accept any responsibility whatsoever for the contents of this Offering Circular, or for any other statement made or purported to be made by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or any Agent, as the case may be, or on behalf of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or any Agent in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Notes. The Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents and any person who controls them, and each director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate and adviser of any such person, accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which they might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Circular or any such statement. No representation or warranty, expressed or implied, is made or given by or on behalf of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, as to the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information or opinions contained in this document and such persons do not accept responsibility or liability for any such information or opinions.

Each person receiving this Offering Circular acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any person who controls them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person, in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its investment decision.

This offering circular contains particulars given in compliance with the rules governing the listing of notes on the Singapore Exchange Notes Trading Limited (the "SGX-ST") for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this document and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading. The SGX-ST takes no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance to the whole or any part of the contents of this Offering Circular. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

SINGAPORE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION

In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (the "SFA") and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the "CMP Regulations 2018"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are 'prescribed capital markets products' (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS

In this Offering Circular, references to "India" are to the Republic of India, references to "Indian Government" or the "GoI" are to the Government of India and references to the "RBI" are to the Reserve Bank of India. References to specific data applicable to particular subsidiaries or other consolidated entities are made by reference to the name of that particular entity.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references in this Offering Circular to the "Issuer" is to Tata Motors Limited, and references to "Tata Motors", the "Company" or "Group" are to Tata Motors Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries, as the context requires.

In this Offering Circular, references to "Fiscal Year" are to the Issuer's fiscal year ended 31 March of such year. For example, "Fiscal Year 2017" is to the 12-month period ended on 31 March 2017, "Fiscal Year 2018" is to the twelve-month period ended on 31 March 2018 and "Fiscal Year 2019" is to the 12-month period ended on 31 March 2019. References to years not specified as being Fiscal Years are to calendar years.

In this Offering Circular, references to "**ECB Guidelines**" refers to the Foreign Exchange Management (Borrowing or Lending) Regulations 2018 and circulars or notifications issued thereunder by the RBI, from time to time including the Master Direction External Commercial Borrowings, Trade Credits and Structured Obligations dated 26 March 2019, as amended from time to time and the Master Direction on Reporting under Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, dated 1 January 2016, as amended from time to time.

All references in this document to "U.S. dollars" and "U.S.\$" refer to United States dollars; all references to "Rupee", "Rupees", "INR", "Rs." and "₹" refer to Indian Rupees; all references to "S\$" and "SGD" refer to Singapore dollars; all references to "Sterling", "GBP" and "£" refer to pounds sterling; all references to "euro", "EUR" and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Community, as amended; all references to "Renminbi" or "RMB" are to the lawful currency of the PRC; and all references to "South Korean Won", "KRW" and "₩" are to the lawful currency of the Republic of Korea.

References to "**crores**" and "**lakhs**" in the Company's consolidated financial statements are to the following:

One lakh	100,000	(one hundred thousand)
One crore	10,000,000	(ten million)
Ten crores	100,000,000	(one hundred million)
One hundred crores	1,000,000,000	(one thousand million or one billion)

In this Offering Circular, where information has been presented in millions or billions of units, amounts may have been rounded, in the case of information presented in millions, to the nearest ten thousand or one hundred thousand units or, in the case of information presented in billions, one, ten or one hundred million units. Accordingly, the totals of columns or rows of numbers in tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items and actual numbers may differ from those contained herein due to rounding.

Rounding adjustments have been made in calculating some of the financial information included in this Offering Circular. As a result, numerical figures shown as totals in some tables may not be exact arithmetic aggregation s of the figures that precede them.

PRESENTATION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The financial statements of the Issuer included in this Offering Circular have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards ("Ind-AS"). Ind-AS differs in certain significant respects from International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). For a summary of the significant differences between Ind-AS and IFRS, see "Summary of Significant Differences Between IFRS and Ind-AS". Potential investors should consult their own professional advisers for an understanding of the differences between Ind-AS and IFRS, and how these differences might affect their understanding of the financial information contained herein.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 March 2019 (the "2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements") and 31 March 2018 (the "2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements") included elsewhere in this Offering Circular have been audited by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing herein. The 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements consist of consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2019 and comparative consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2018. The 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements consist of consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2018 and comparative consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017. The audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the "2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements") included elsewhere in this Offering Circular has been audited by Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP. Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing herein. The 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements consist of consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 and comparative consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2016.

The audited standalone financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 March 2019 (the "2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements") and 31 March 2018 (the "2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements") have been audited by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing thereto. The 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements consist of standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2019 and comparative standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2018. The 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements consist of standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2018 and comparative standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017. The audited standalone financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the "2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements") has been audited by Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing thereto. The 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements consist of standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 and comparative standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 and comparative standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 and comparative standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2016.

The standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included (as a comparative) in the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements were adjusted to give effect to the scheme of merger of TML Drivelines Ltd by the Company. For more information, please refer to "Note 47(iii) of the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements". Consequently, the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included (as a comparative) in the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements is not directly comparable to the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included in the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements. The standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included in the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements is accordingly included solely for reference purposes. For a comparison of the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included in the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements against

the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included in the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, see the section entitled "Selected Financial Information". Potential investors must therefore exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Issuer's financial condition and results of operation. Unless otherwise specified, all references in this Offering Circular to the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 is derived from the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements.

The unaudited and limited reviewed consolidated financial results of the Issuer for the six months ended 30 September 2019 (the "H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results") included elsewhere in this Offering Circular has been reviewed on a limited review basis by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing herein. The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results should not be relied upon by investors to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit. None of the Joint Lead Managers or any of their respective affiliates, directors or advisers makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, regarding the sufficiency of the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results for an assessment of, and potential investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate, the Issuer's financial condition. results of operations and results. The audited standalone financial results of the Issuer for the six months ended 30 September 2019 (the "H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results") has been audited by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants as stated in their reports appearing thereto. The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition, results of operations and results of the Issuer (whether on a consolidated or standalone basis) for the full financial year ending 31 March 2020.

The 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements were prepared in conjunction with the adoption of Ind-AS 115 which took effect from 1 April 2018. Please refer to "Note 2 (Significant Accounting Policies) - w.(Recent accounting pronouncements) of the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements" and "Note 2 (Significant Accounting Policies) – x.(Recent accounting pronouncements) of the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements" for a discussion on the impact on the adoption of Ind-AS 115. As the Company has applied the modified retrospective transition method set out in Ind-AS 115 which does not require any restatement of the corresponding figures of the prior period before 1 April 2018, the Company's financial information prior to 1 April 2018 (including the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements) may not be directly comparable against the Company's financial information after 1 April 2018 (including the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results). Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures after 1 April 2018 against the Company's financial figures prior to 1 April 2018 and when evaluating the Company's financial condition, results of operations and results.

The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results were prepared in conjunction with the adoption of Ind-AS 116 which took effect from 1 April 2019. Please refer to "Note 2 of the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results" and "Note 6 of the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results" for a discussion on the impact on the adoption of Ind-AS 116. As the Company has applied the modified retrospective transition method set out in Ind-AS 116 which does not require any restatement of the corresponding figures of the prior period before 1 April 2019, the Company's financial information prior to 1 April 2019 (including the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2017

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements) may not be directly comparable against the Company's financial information after 1 April 2019 (including the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results). Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures after 1 April 2019 against the Company's financial figures prior to 1 April 2019 and when evaluating the Company's financial condition, results of operations and results.

With effect from 1 April 2018, pursuant to the implementation of the Organisation Effectiveness programme, the Company introduced separate segment reporting in respect of its commercial vehicles, passenger vehicles and financing business (the "Segment Reporting"). The Segment Reporting is only available in respect of financial information from 1 April 2018 (including the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements", "Note 43 of the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements", "Subsection entitled "Segment wise Revenue, Results, Assets and Liabilities" of the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results" and "Sub-section entitled "Segment wise Revenue, Results, Assets and Liabilities" of the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results" for more information.

The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction and in entirety with their respective related notes thereto. The H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements have been incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular. For more information, please see "Documents Incorporated by Reference".

Additional disclosure in respect of B S R & Co., LLP

B S R & Co., LLP and B S R & Associates, LLP ("B S R & Associates"), are part of a network registered with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"), and each of these two licensed audit firms is separately registered with ICAI. It has been reported that, in connection with certain alleged lapses identified by the Serious Fraud Investigation Office in one of its audit assignments, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs in India has filed an application with the National Company Law Tribunal, seeking an order under Section 140(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 to impose a restriction on B S R & Associates from being appointed as an auditor of any company for a five-year period, (the "Proposed Restriction"). The Proposed Restriction, if imposed and upheld after due processes of appeal under law, would prevent B S R & Associates, from being appointed as an auditor of any company for a period of five years. Since B S R & Co LLP and B S R & Associates are separately registered with the ICAI, the Proposed Restriction, if imposed on B S R & Associates, would not impact B S R & Co LLP's role as statutory auditors of the Issuer.

Additional disclosure in respect of Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP

Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP ("DHS LLP"), the statutory auditors which audited the Issuer's financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 March 2017, is a firm registered with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. DHS LLP is currently NOT the statutory auditors of the Issuer's financial statements. It has been reported that in connection with certain allegations made by the Serious Fraud Investigation Office in respect of one of its audit assignments, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs in India ("MCA") has filed, among others, a petition with the National Company Law Tribunal ("NCLT") seeking an order under Section 140(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (against DHS LLP and another audit firm which was the joint auditor with DHS LLP of the entity concerned in a recent past fiscal year) which, if passed and finally upheld, could impose a restriction on the past auditors of the company concerned from being appointed as an auditor of

any company for a five-year period. The MCA has also made other applications before other judicial/quasi-judicial forums seeking certain other orders against DHS LLP and the other audit firm. Both the auditors have raised objections to the proceedings on technical and legal grounds, and have appealed against or challenged the basis of, the proceedings. The matters are currently pending before various appellate or other forums and are thus sub-judice. As of the date hereof, there are no orders that prevent these auditors from being appointed as auditors of any company nor any orders that would have affected DHS LLP's role as statutory auditors of the Issuer's financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 March 2017. These proceedings are completely unrelated to the Issuer's financial statements and procedures.

MARKET DATA

Market data and certain industry forecasts used throughout this Offering Circular have been obtained from internal surveys, market research, publicly available information and industry publications. Industry publications generally state that the information that they contain has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but that the accuracy and completeness of that information is not guaranteed.

Similarly, internal surveys, industry forecasts and market research, whilst believed to be reliable, have not been independently verified. Whilst the Issuer has taken reasonable actions to ensure that the information is extracted accurately and in its proper context, none of Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers or any person who controls any of them, or any director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate or adviser of any such person makes any representation as to the accuracy and completeness of that information and accepts no responsibility for the factual correctness of any such statistics or information. The Issuer confirms that all such third-party information has been accurately reproduced and, so far as the Issuer is aware and has been able to ascertain from that published information, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

EXCHANGE RATES

Save as otherwise specified in this Offering Circular, the rate of exchange for converting Indian Rupee to U.S. dollar is based on the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by the Foreign Exchange Dealers' Association of India ("FEDAI") which was Rs.70.875 per U.S.\$1.00. Unless otherwise specified herein, financial information has been converted into U.S. dollar at this rate.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of the Notes, Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., acting in its capacity as stabilisation manager (the "Stabilisation Manager") (or persons acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of such Stabilisation Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the Closing Date and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the Closing Date and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. The Stabilisation Manager (or persons acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager) must conduct such stabilisation in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements contained in this Offering Circular that are not statements of historical fact constitute "forward-looking statements". Some of these statements can be identified by forward-looking terms, such as "anticipate", "believe", "can", "could", "estimate", "expect", "intend", "may", "plan", "will" and "would" or similar words. However, these words are not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements. All statements regarding the Issuer's expected financial condition and results of operations, business, plans and prospects are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include statements as to the Issuer's business strategy, its revenue and profitability (including, without limitation, any financial or operating projections or forecasts), planned projects and other matters discussed in this Offering Circular regarding matters that are not historical fact. These forward-looking statements and any other projections contained in this Offering Circular involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Issuer's and the Group's actual financial results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future financial results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or other projections.

The factors that could cause the Issuer's and the Group's actual results to be materially different include, without limitation:

- general economic and business conditions in India or global economies;
- the Issuer's and the Group's substantial indebtedness and ability to meet its debt service obligations;
- any future political instability in India, Asia or other regions in which the Issuer and the Group operate;
- industry risk (including accidents and natural disasters) in the areas in which the Issuer and the Group operate;
- changes in government regulations, including those pertaining to regulation of the industry, zoning, tax, subsidies, operational health, safety and environmental standards or licensing requirements in India, Asia and other regions;
- increased competition in the industries and segments in which the Issuer, its subsidiaries and affiliates operate;
- the ability of the Issuer to successfully implement its strategies;
- develop new products that meet customer demands and generate acceptable margins;
- terms on which the Issuer finances its working capital and capital expenditure requirements;
- changes in interest rates, inflation rates and in the value of the Indian Rupee;
- changes in foreign exchange control regulations in India;
- changes in exchange controls, import controls or import duties, levies or taxes, either in international markets or in India;
- changes in laws, regulations, taxation or accounting standards or practices that affect the Issuer and/or the Group;
- exchange rate fluctuations;

- any adverse outcome in legal proceedings in which Issuer and/or the Group are or may become involved including with respect to product liability claims;
- attract and retain qualified management and other personnel; and
- meet all of the terms and conditions of its debt obligations and other contractual obligations.

Additional factors that could cause the Issuer's actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but are not limited to, those discussed under "Risk Factors". Neither the Issuer nor any other person undertakes any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Should one or more of these uncertainties or risks, among others, materialise, actual results may vary materially from those estimated, anticipated or projected as well as from historical results. Specifically, but without limitation, revenues could decline, costs could increase, capital costs could increase, capital investments could be delayed and anticipated improvements in performance might not be realised fully or at all. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations of its management as reflected by such forward-looking statements are reasonable based on information currently available to it, no assurances can be given that such expectations will prove to have been correct. Accordingly, potential investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements herein. In any event, these statements speak only as of the date hereof or the respective dates indicated herein, and the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents and any person who controls them, and each director, officer, employee, representative, agent, affiliate and adviser of any such person, undertake no obligation to update or revise any of them, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

ENFORCEMENT OF FOREIGN JUDGMENTS IN INDIA

The Issuer is a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of India. Majority of the Issuer's directors and executive officers are residents of India and a substantial portion of the Issuer's assets and the assets of such persons are located in India. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process on the Issuer or such persons in jurisdictions outside of India, or to enforce against them judgments obtained in courts outside of India predicated upon civil liabilities of the Issuer or such directors and executive officers under laws other than Indian law.

In addition, India is not a party to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of foreign judgments. Recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments is provided for under section 13 and section 44A of the Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (the "Civil Code"). Section 44A of the Civil Code provides that where a foreign judgment has been rendered by a superior court in any country or territory outside India which the Indian Government has by notification declared to be a reciprocating territory, it may be enforced in India by proceedings in execution as if the judgment had been rendered by the relevant court in India. However, section 44A of the Civil Code is applicable only to monetary decrees not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes or other charges of a like nature or in respect of a fine or other penalty and is not applicable to arbitration awards even if such awards are enforceable as a decree or judgment.

The United Kingdom has been declared by the Indian Government to be a reciprocating territory and the High Courts in England as the relevant superior courts. A judgment of a court in a jurisdiction which is not a reciprocating territory may be enforced only by a new suit upon the judgment and not by proceedings in execution. Section 13 of the Civil Code provides that a foreign judgment shall be conclusive as to any matter thereby directly adjudicated upon except: (i) where it has not been pronounced by a court of competent jurisdiction; (ii) where it has not been given on the merits of the case; (iii) where it appears on the face of the proceedings to be founded on an incorrect view of international law or a refusal to recognise the law of India in cases where such law is applicable; (iv) where the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained were opposed to natural justice; (v) where it has been obtained by fraud; or (vi) where it sustains a claim founded on a breach of any law in force in India. The suit must be brought in India within three years from the date of the judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India. It is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action is brought in India. Furthermore, it is unlikely that an Indian court would enforce a foreign judgment if it viewed the amount of damages awarded as excessive or inconsistent with Indian practice. A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain approval from RBI to repatriate outside India any amount recovered pursuant to execution. Any judgment in a foreign currency would be converted into Indian Rupees on the date of the judgment and not on the date of the payment. Also, a party may file suit in India against the Issuer, its directors or its executive directors as an original action.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been prepared shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Offering Circular:

- (a) the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results (including the independent auditor's report to the audited standalone financial results of the Issuer for the six months ended 30 September 2019);
- (b) the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements (including the independent auditor's report and the notes to the audited standalone financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 March 2019);
- (c) the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements (including the independent auditor's report and the notes to the audited standalone financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 March 2018);
- (d) the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements (including the independent auditor's report and the notes to the audited standalone financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 March 2017).

The financial statements of the Issuer listed from (a) to (d) above can be obtained from the Issuer's website at the following links:

https://www.tatamotors.com/investors/annual-reports/

https://www.tatamotors.com/investors/results-press-releases/

Financial statements are available free of charge upon request from the Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer. The Issuer will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Offering Circular has been delivered, upon the request of such person, a copy of any or all of the documents deemed to be incorporated herein by reference unless such documents have been modified or superseded as specified above. Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its registered office set out at the end of this Offering Circular.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular can be obtained from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified offices of the Principal Paying Agent for the time being in at c/o Citibank, N.A., Dublin Branch, 1 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Ireland. Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular shall not form part of this Offering Circular.

The website addresses in this Offering Circular are, except as otherwise stated herein, included for reference only and the contents of any such websites are not incorporated by reference into, and do not form part of, this Offering Circular.

GLOSSARY

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires otherwise, the terms mentioned below shall have the following meaning assigned to them:

"ABS" anti-lock braking system;

"ADS" The Issuer's American Depositary Shares which were formerly

listed on the New York Stock Exchange;

"Articles" The Issuer's Articles of Association;

"ASEAN" The Association of Southeast Asian Nations;

"Bharat Stage" The emission standards instituted by the Gol to regulate the output

of air pollutants from internal combustion engine equipment

including motor vehicles;

"Board" The Issuer's board of directors;

"BSE" BSE Limited;

"CAFE" Corporate Average Fuel Economy;

"CBU" Completely built up;

"CCI" The Competition Commission of India;

"Cenvat" Central Added Value Tax;

"CEO" Chief Executive Officer;

"CFO" Chief Financial Officer;

"CGU" cash-generating units;

"Chery" Chery Automobile Co. Ltd;

"Civil Code" Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908;

"CKDs" Completely knocked down;

"CMV Rules" Central Motor Vehicles Rules, 1989;

"CNG" Compressed natural gas;

"Companies Act" Refers to the Companies Act, 1956 (to the extent applicable) or

Companies Act, 2013 (to the extent applicable) of the Republic of India, as amended or any other enactment repealing the Act;

"CRC Scheme" CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme;

"ECB" The external commercial borrowings;

"ECE" United Nation Economic Commission for Europe;

"EDU" Electric Drive Units;

"ELVs" end-of-life vehicles;

"EMC" engine manufacturing centre;

"EPA" U.S. Environmental Protection Agency;

"EPCG Scheme" The Export Promotion Capital Goods Scheme;

"ERC" Engineering Research Centre;

"EU" The European Union;

"FAME" Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Hybrid & Electric Vehicles;

"FATCA" Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act;

"FATF" Financial Action Task Force;

"FEDAI" Foreign Exchange Dealers' Association of India;

"FEMA" Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999;

"FDI Policy" The Foreign Direct Investment Policy;

"Fiscal Year" The Issuer's financial year running from 1 April to 31 March;

"Ford" Ford Motor Company;

"GAAP" Generally Accepted Accounting Principles;

"GDP" Gross domestic product;

"GDPR" General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679);

"Gol" or the "Government" The Government of India;

"GST" Goods and Services Tax;

"GVW" Gross vehicle weight;

"I&LCVs" intermediate and light commercial vehicles;

"IATF" International Automotive Task Force;

"ICAI" Institute of Chartered Accountants of India;

"IFRS" International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board;

"Ind-AS" Indian Accounting Standards;

"internal control" Is a process, effected by an entity's board of directors,

management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following categories: (a) effectiveness and efficiency of operations; (b) reliability of financial reporting; and (c) compliance

with laws and regulations;

"IOSCO" International Organization of Securities Commission;

"IRDAI" Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India;

"IT" Information technology, all technical means for processing

and communicating information, including methods for communication (communication protocols, transmission techniques, communications equipment, media (communication)), as well as techniques for storing and processing information

(computing and data storage);

"Jaguar Land Rover" or

"JLR"

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc and its subsidiaries on a

consolidated basis;

"LCVs" Light commercial vehicles;

"LEV3" low-emission vehicle;

"LPG" Liquefied petroleum gas;

"M&HCV" Medium and heavy commercial vehicle;

"MCA" Ministry of Corporate Affairs;

"MCV" Medium commercial vehicle;

"MoEFCC" Ministry of Environment, Forests & Climate Change

"MoRTH" Ministry of Road Transport and Highways;

"MVAA 2019" Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019;

"NAFTA" North American Free Trade Agreement;

"NBFC" Non-banking finance company;

"NCLAT" National Company Law Appellate Tribunal;

"NCLT" National Company Law Tribunal;

"NEMMP" National Electric Mobility Mission Plan;

"NHTSA" National Highway Traffic Safety Administration;

"NSCs" national sales companies;

"NSE" National Stock Exchange of India Limited;

"OEM" Original equipment manufacturer;

"PCBs" Pollution Control Boards;

"ppm" parts per million;

"PRC" or "China" People's Republic of China;

"R&D" Research and development;

"RBI" Reserve Bank of India;

"RDE" Real Driving Emissions;

"SAARC countries" South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation;

"SCV" Small commercial vehicles;

"SEBI" Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the

Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992;

"SEC" U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;

"SGX-ST" Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited;

"Shares" The ordinary shares and 'A' ordinary shares of the Issuer;

"Sheba" Sheba Properties Limited;

"SUVs" Sports utility vehicle;

"**Takata**" Takata Corporation;

"Tata Steel" Tata Steel Limited;

"TDCL" TML Distribution Company Limited;

"TDCV" Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd, Korea;

"Thonburi Group" Thonburi Automotive Assembly Plant Co. Ltd Thailand;

"Tier 3 Motor Vehicle Emission and Fuel Standards issued by the

EPA;

"TMETC" Tata Motors European Technical Centre;

"TMFL" Tata Motors Finance Limited;

"TMFHL" TMF Holdings Limited;

"TMFSL" Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited;

"TMIBASL" Tata Motors Insurance Broking and Advisory Services Limited;

"TML" Tata Motors Limited or the Issuer or the Company;

"TMLDL" TML Drivelines Limited;

"Trilix" Trilix Srl., Turin (Italy);

"TTL" Tata Technologies Limited;

"U.K." The United Kingdom;

"U.S." The United States of America;

"USMCA" United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement;

"UVs" Utility vehicles;

"VAT" value added tax;

"VIU" Value In Use;

"WLTP" Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Procedure; and

"ZEV" zero-emission vehicle regulation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY	1
SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING	14
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION	21
RISK FACTORS	47
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	83
THE GLOBAL CERTIFICATE	109
USE OF PROCEEDS	111
CAPITALISATION	112
BUSINESS DESCRIPTION	113
REGULATIONS AND POLICIES IN INDIA	151
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT	162
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS	171
TAXATION	174
CLEARANCE AND SETTLEMENT OF THE NOTES	178
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	180
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND IND-AS	184
GENERAL INFORMATION	189
INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

SUMMARY

The following summary is qualified in its entirety and is subject to the more detailed information and the financial information contained or referred to elsewhere in this Offering Circular. The meanings of terms not defined in this summary can be found elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Overview

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment and offers a broad portfolio of automotive products, ranging from sub-1 ton to 49 ton GVW trucks (including pickup trucks) to small, medium, and large buses and coaches to passenger cars, premium luxury cars and SUVs. The Company's automotive segment operations include all activities relating to the development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. Through its Jaguar Land Rover business, the Company is engaged in the premium car market in developed markets such as the United Kingdom, the United States, Europe and China as well as several emerging markets such as Russia, Brazil and South Africa (among others).

The wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Jaguar Land Rover designs, develops, manufactures and sells Jaguar premium sports saloons, sports cars and luxury performance SUVs and Land Rover premium all-terrain vehicles, as well as related parts, accessories and merchandise. The Jaguar Land Rover business has a long tradition as a manufacturer of technologically advanced, premium passenger vehicles with internationally recognised brands, an exclusive product portfolio of award-winning vehicles, a global distribution network and strong research and development capabilities, including for the development of autonomous, connected and electrification technologies and shared mobility services, as well as for innovative mobility solutions aiming to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges.

The Company has a substantial presence in India and the Jaguar Land Rover business operates in four principal regional markets, namely Europe (excluding the United Kingdom and Russia), North America, the United Kingdom and China. The Company is the largest commercial vehicle manufacturer in terms of revenue in India and is ranked among the top four passenger vehicle manufacturers in terms of units sold in India during Fiscal Year 2019 (according to the Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers).

The Company also provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India through its subsidiary, Tata Motors Finance Limited ("**TMFL**"), which is an integral part of automotive business in India. The vehicle financing includes financing of new TML and Jaguar Land Rover vehicles, pre-owned vehicles including other OEM brands and corporate lending to its channel partners.

The Company's automotive operations segment is further divided into (i) Tata commercial vehicles; (ii) Tata passenger vehicles; (iii) Jaguar Land Rover; and (iv) vehicle financing. Within its automotive operations, the Company continues to focus on integration and synergy through sharing of resources, platforms, facilities for product development and manufacturing, sourcing strategy and mutual sharing of best practices.

Apart from the automotive segment, the Company is also engaged in the businesses of information technology services and machine tools and factory automation solutions.

The Company, on a consolidated basis, had revenues from operations of Rs.2,744,921.2 million (U.S.\$38,729.0 million), Rs.2,923,406.4 million (U.S.\$41,247.4 million) and Rs.3,019,384.0 million (U.S.\$42,601.5 million) in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and Rs.1,268,989.4 million (U.S.\$17,904.6 million) as at the six-months ended 30 September 2019. The Company, on a consolidated basis, achieved profits/(loss) after tax (post minority interest and

share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures (net)) of Rs.74,543.6 million (U.S.\$1,051.8 million), Rs.89,889.1 million (U.S.\$1,268.3 million) and Rs. (288,262.3 million) (U.S.\$(4,067.2 million)) in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and Rs. (39,149.0 million) (U.S.\$(552.4 million)) as at the six-months ended 30 September 2019.

Recent Developments

On 25 October 2019, Board of Directors of Company approved the issue and allotment of the following securities to Tata Sons Private Limited the promoter of the Company, on a preferential basis ("**Preferential Allotment**"), subject to Shareholders Approval from the Extraordinary General Meeting scheduled on 22 November 2019:

- (a) up to 201,623,407 Ordinary Shares at a price of Rs.150 per Ordinary Share aggregating to Rs.30,243.51 million; and
- (b) 231,333,871 convertible warrants ("Warrants"), each carrying a right exercisable by the Warrant holder to subscribe to one Ordinary Share per Warrant, at a price (including the warrant subscription price and the warrant exercise price) of Rs.150 per Warrant aggregating to Rs.34,700.08 million. An amount equivalent to 25 per cent. of the Warrant Price shall be payable at the time of subscription and allotment of each Warrant and the balance 75 per cent. of the Warrant Price shall be payable by the Warrant holder against each Warrant at the time of allotment of Ordinary Shares pursuant to exercise of the options attached to Warrant(s) to subscribe to Ordinary Share(s). The amount paid against Warrants shall be adjusted/set-off against the issue price for the resultant Ordinary Shares.

The Company expects overall proceeds of Rs.64,943.6 million from preferential allotment, of which Rs.38,918.5 million to be received upfront on allotment of Ordinary Shares and Warrants and balance on conversion of Warrants, subject to shareholders approval.

Objects of Preferential Allotment

The proceeds of the issue will be utilized for repayment of debt, meeting future funding requirements and other general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Proposed Shareholding

Details of Shareholding and Voting rights of Tata Sons Private Limited is as under:

Particulars	Pre-Preferential Allotment	Post Prefere	ntial Allotment
Tata Sons Private Limited	As at 30 September 2019	Post Allotment of Ordinary Shares	Post Exercise of Warrants into Ordinary Shares ⁽¹⁾
Ordinary Shares	35.30%	39.52%	43.73%
Voting Rights	34.69%	38.88%	43.08%

Note:

⁽¹⁾ The shareholding post exercise of Warrants as shown above is calculated assuming full exercise of Warrants and consequent allotment of the Ordinary Shares of the Company.

Details of Shareholding and Voting rights of Promoter Group is as under:

Particulars	Pre-Preferential Allotment	Post Prefere	ntial Allotment
Promoter Group	As at 30 September 2019	Post Allotment of Ordinary Shares	Post Exercise of Warrants into Ordinary Shares ⁽¹⁾
Ordinary Shares	38.4%	42.4%	46.4%
Voting Rights	37.7%	41.7%	45.7%

Note:

Rationale for Preferential Allotment

- Strengthen balance sheet in a challenging demand scenario;
- Provides rating support to the Tata Motors Group;
- Limits dilution;
- Signals strong promoter conviction on the Company's opportunity; and
- Benefits all shareholders by allowing the business to continue its investments and execute its growth strategy.

The UKEF & Commercial Loan Facilities

In October 2019, Jaguar Land Rover entered into an agreement providing for £625 million five-year amortising loan facilities, supported by a £500 million guarantee from UK Export Finance. These facilities were fully drawn as of the date of this Offering Circular.

The UK Fleet Financing Facility

In October 2019, Jaguar Land Rover entered into an agreement providing for a £100 million working capital facility for fleet buybacks, secured by a floating charge over a part of our vehicle stock. This facility was fully drawn as of the date of this Offering Circular.

Business Strategies

The Company is committed to further strengthen its position in the Indian automobile industry by investing in new products that exceed customer expectations, improving customer experiences across all its touchpoints, making rigorous cost improvements across its product range, and optimising its manufacturing and distribution strategy. The Company has pursued the strategy of increasing its presence in the global automotive markets and enhancing its product range and capabilities through strategic acquisitions/alliances. Building on the success of the Company's 'Turnaround' action plan, the Company introduced 'Turnaround 2.0' in Fiscal Year 2019. Turnaround 2.0 aims at 'Winning Decisively' in the Commercial Vehicle business, 'Winning Sustainably' in the Passenger Vehicle business and embedding 'Turnaround' into the Company's corporate culture. The Company aims to achieve consistent, competitive, cash accretive growth while Jaguar Land Rover is committed to achieving a sustainable and profitable growth comprising

⁽¹⁾ The shareholding post exercise of Warrants as shown above is calculated assuming full exercise of Warrants and consequent allotment of the Ordinary Shares of the Company.

positive cash flows in the medium to long term with a strong focus on cost reduction and affordability of capital investments. In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar Land Rover launched 'Project Charge', a cost and cash improvement initiative which aims to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.5 billion by end of Fiscal Year 2020. The objective of this programme is to identify and implement at speed, short-term gains to improve cost, cash, revenue and profitability. Jaguar Land Rover has also launched 'Project Accelerate' for systemic, structural improvements to its business through three key workstreams (i) on-time and quality programmes; (ii) deliver competitive material cost and (iii) enhance sales performance.

To execute this vision, the Company focuses on several strategic objectives, including the following:

Continued focus on new product development

One key component of this strategy, which has delivered positive results in recent years, is the Company's focus on improving the mix of its products (by developing vehicles designed to increase our market segment penetration or market visibility).

The Company offers an extensive range of commercial vehicles (for both goods and passenger transport) as well as passenger vehicles. The Company has plans to expand the range of its product base further and is supported by its strong brand recognition in India, its understanding of local consumer preferences, in-house engineering capabilities and extensive distribution network. With growing competition, changing technologies and evolving customer expectations, the Company understands the importance of bringing new platforms to address market gaps and further enhance its existing range of vehicles to ensure customer satisfaction. The Company's capital expenditures totalled Rs.317,507.4 million, Rs.426,722.9 million and Rs.366,356.7 million during Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The Company currently plans to invest in the region of approximately Rs.390 billion in Fiscal Year 2020 in capacity, new products and technologies.

Jaquar Land Rover plans to offer an electric drivetrain option on all new models by 2020. Jaquar Land Rover's first all-electric vehicle, the all-new Jaguar I-PACE, was launched in March 2018 and went on sale in June 2018. The Range Rover and Range Rover Sport both are available in plug-in hybrid derivative and Range Rover Evoque is available in mild-hybrid variant. Starting from 2020, Jaguar Land Rover will begin the manufacture of next-generation Electric Drive Units, in collaboration with BMW, at its Engine Manufacturing Centre in Wolverhampton to be powered by batteries assembled at a new facility near Birmingham. The new Electric Drive Units and batteries will power its future battery electric and plug in-hybrids. Jaguar Land Rover continues to invest in enhancing its technological strengths through in-house R&D activities, including the development of its engineering and design centres which centralise Jaguar Land Rover's capabilities in product design and engineering, sharing premium technologies, powertrains and vehicle architectures. Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles are designed and developed by award-winning design teams, and Jaguar Land Rover is committed to a continuing programme of new product design. Collectively, Jaguar and Land Rover's product portfolio received over 200 awards from leading international motoring writers, magazines and opinion leaders from (and including) Fiscal Year 2018 to date, reflecting the strength of our model line-up and our design and engineering capabilities. Jaquar Land Rover aims to develop cleaner, safer and more efficient cars of the future that combine safety, zero emissions, zero congestion and long-term sustainable growth ("Destination Zero"). To meet this objective, Jaguar Land Rover has built strong links with academia, the UK Government and other industry sectors.

Furthermore, Jaguar Land Rover participates in advanced research consortia that bring together leading manufacturers, suppliers or academic specialists in the United Kingdom and are supported by funding from the UK Government's Technology Strategy Board.

Leveraging the Company's capabilities

The Company has manufacturing facilities across five locations in India, which delivers mobility solutions to five product lines with products ranging from 0.5 tonnes to 55 tonnes. These state-of-the-art facilities cater to the domestic and international market as well as the defence markets. The Company has delivered more than 0.5 million vehicles in Fiscal Year 2019 and over 0.2 million vehicles in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 while driving its operating costs towards benchmark levels through various initiatives and levers. The Company also continues to make its operations sustainable in terms of safety and health, corporate responsibility, and environment friendly with stringent targets in these areas enabled by various initiatives and guided by strong governance committees.

The Company believes that the foundation of its growth over the last five decades has been a deep understanding of economic conditions and customer needs, and the ability to translate this understanding into desirable products through R&D. Established in 1966, the Company's ERC in India has enabled it to successfully design, develop and produce its own range of vehicles. In addition, Jaguar Land Rover's R&D operations are built around state-of-the-art engineering facilities, extensive test tracks, testing centres, design hubs and a virtual innovation centre. The ERC in India and Jaguar Land Rover's engineering and development operations in the United Kingdom have identified areas to leverage the facilities and resources to enhance the product development process and achieve economies of scale. Furthermore, the Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC ("TMETC"), in the United Kingdom, which is engaged in automobile research and engineering. Furthermore, the Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary, TMETC, in the United Kingdom, which is engaged in automobile research and engineering. The Company believes that its R&D capabilities will enable it to expand its product range and extend its geographical reach and to continually strive to achieve synergy wherever possible with its subsidiaries and joint ventures.

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company played a leading role in proactively driving electric mobility in India. With the aim of building a sustainable future for India, the Company has been working collaboratively on various electric and hybrid vehicle solutions. As the only OEM with an end-to-end extensive product portfolio across its passenger vehicles and commercial vehicles businesses, the Company intends to play a complimentary role in the smart cities of the future. From public transport to personal cars, from last-mile connectivity to bus rapid transit systems, from emergency response vehicles to commercial Utility Vehicles, from green and sustainable solutions to vehicles designed to amplify the driving experience, the Company strives to carry a product portfolio to connect the aspirations and needs of its customers. To build on an enabling ecosystem of sustainable technology, the Company has worked on zero emission electric variant of vehicles that have redefined the automotive landscape worldwide. The Company is also actively working on innovation by bringing ingenuity into the areas of vehicle engineering and development. The Company believes its focus on digitisation, connectivity, automation and advanced regulatory compliance is helping it to deliver exciting innovations to its customers worldwide. On its current product portfolio, the Company also offers enhancements through approaches including modular architecture strategy, enhanced powertrain solution, light weighting, and system efficiency improvement strategies.

The Company also continues to evaluate several xEV options through different technologies as part of its long-term strategy. The technologies vary from mild hybrids in one segment to a fuel cell in others, which the Company has demonstrated in Auto Expo from time to time. The Company has developed a range of electric vehicles, such as the IRIS EV, Magic EV, 12m Urban Electric Bus, Tiago EV and Tigor EV, along with E-Vision concept electric vehicle, which the Company showcased at Geneva International Motor show in March 2018. Further, the Company has announced its state-of-art electric vehicle technology "Ziptron", which will power a range of aspirational Tata Electric cars.

Jaguar Land Rover continues to invest in new technologies, including developing electric and other sustainable technologies to improve fuel economy and reduce CO_2 emissions. More recently, Jaguar Land Rover has started developing autonomous, connected and electrification technologies, as well as investing in innovative mobility solutions aiming to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges.

Jaguar Land Rover is one of the industry leaders in aluminium body structures, which contribute to the manufacture of lighter vehicles with improved fuel and CO_2 efficiency and performance, while maintaining the body stiffness that customers in the premium segment demand. Jaguar Land Rover also aims to be at the forefront of calibration and certification of emissions and fuel economy, with a number of emission-reducing technologies developed or under development, including stop-start technology as a standard feature, the 2.0-litre "in-house" Ingenium diesel and petrol engines and recently developed new EU6 Ingenium diesel and petroleum engine.

Jaguar Land Rover's autonomous strategy includes investing in driver assistance technologies to support increasing degrees of automation and including autonomous features on new models. Jaguar Land Rover's connected strategy includes investing in technology and infrastructure to support higher levels of connectivity, as exemplified by its recent announcement outlining plans to develop an engineering centre in Manchester to support the development of next-generation, connected car technologies. Jaguar Land Rover's electrification strategy is currently exemplified by the all-electric all-new Jaguar I-PACE, which recently went on sale and the plug-in hybrid derivatives of the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport, which went on sale in Fiscal Year 2018. In July 2019, Jaguar Land Rover ceased production of the Jaguar XJ and intend to replace it with the all-electric Jaguar XJ in the future. Jaguar Land Rover's InMotion Ventures business unit focuses on developing innovative mobility solutions to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges, and invests in future transport and mobility solutions, including a U.S.\$25 million investment in Lyft in 2017 and U.S.\$3 million investment in Voyage (a US-based self-driving taxi service) in January 2018. In addition, InMotion's will launch a new premium car rental service in London, providing access to Land Rover vehicles throughout the city.

Continuing focus on high quality and enhancing customer satisfaction

One of the Company's principal goals is to achieve international quality standards for its products and services. The Company has established a procedure for ensuring quality control of outsourced components. Products purchased from approved sources undergo a supplier quality improvement process. The Company also collaborated with a major automobile oil manufacturer, Indian Oil Corporation Limited, to launch Tata Motors Genuine Oil, a single brand of affordable lubricating oils that is guaranteed by the Company for use across the Company's product lines.

The Company's has received recognition for its customer satisfaction levels. In a recent Net Promoter Score Brand Health Track Survey conducted by Millward Brown Market Research Services India Private Limited, TML Commercial Vehicles received an industry-leading score of +61 which is significantly ahead of its peers. The Company also ranked first in both sales and service satisfaction scores in the Sales Satisfaction Study Survey conducted by Nielsen (India) Private Limited in Fiscal Year 2019.

One of the Company's principal goals is to achieve international quality standards for its products and services. The Company has established a comprehensive purchasing and quality control system that is designed to consistently deliver quality products and superior service. The Company also has a program for assisting vendors from whom it purchases raw materials or components to maintain quality. Each vendor is reviewed on a quarterly basis on parameters of quality, cost and delivery, and preference is given to vendors with TS 16949 certification.

Through close coordination supported by the Company's IT systems, it monitors quality performance in the field and implements corrections on an ongoing basis to improve the performance of its products, thereby improving customer satisfaction. The Company is encouraging focused initiatives at both sales and service touch points to enhance customer experience and is striving to be the best in class. The Company believes that the reach of its sales, service and maintenance network provides it with a significant advantage over its competitors. The Company ranked second for the second consecutive year in the J.D. Power Asia Pacific 2018 India Customer Service Index Study Score.

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company's passenger vehicle segment received the following awards:

No	Media	Category	Product
1.	Autoportal	Best New Variant of the Year 2018	Tiago JTP
2.	Auto Tech Review IATIA 2018	Engine of the Year – Performance Engine of the Year	Tigor JTP
3.	Autocar India	Best Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
4.	News18	Hatchback of The Year Sedan of the Year	Tiago JTP Tigor JPT
5.	Quarter Mile Awards	Performance Car of the Year	Tiago JTP and Tigor JTP
6.	Auto Components India	JV/Partnership of the Year	JTSV
7.	Car India	Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
8.	Exhibit	Upcoming Car of the Year 2019	Tata Harrier
9.	Afaqs	Top 10 Brands Overall	Tata Motors (Passenger Vehicles)
10.	Times Auto Awards	Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
11.	Motor Vikatan	Performance Car of the Year Best Manufacturer of the Year	Tiago JTP and Tigor JTP Tata Motors

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company's commercial vehicles segment received the following awards:

ET Now Retail Awards

Award Category	Awarded Model
CV of the Year	Ultra 1412
LCV Cargo Mover of the Year	LPT407 EX FE
HCV Rigid Cargo of the Year	Tata 4223
MCV Cargo Carrier of the Year	Tata LPT 1618 5L Turbotronn
Small People Mover of the Year	Winger
MHCV People Mover of the Year	Magna
Promising Debut of the Year	Signa 4923.T
Marketing Campaign of the Year Award	Tata Ace Gold

Apollo CV Awards

No	Award Category	Awarded Model	
1.	CV Maker of the Year	Tata Motors Limited	
2.	CV/ICV People Mover of the Year	Ultra 9m Electric Bus	
3.	MCV Cargo Carrier of the Year	LPT 1618 Turbotronn	
4.	Special Application of the Year	LPT 2518 E Commerce	
5.	MCV Tipper of the Year	Prima 2530.K Lx(6x4)	
6.	ICV Cargo Carrier of the Year	ULTRA 1412	

Flywheel Awards

No	Award Category	Awarded Model/OEM
1.	Flywheel Commercial Vehicle/Medium Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Ultra 1412
2.	Flywheel CV Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
3.	Flywheel Heavy Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Prima
4.	Flywheel Light Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Ace Gold

In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar and Land Rover collectively received over 200 awards from leading international motoring writers, magazines and opinion leaders, reflecting the strength of its model line-up, design and engineering capabilities. A selection of recent awards is listed below:

No	Award	Model	Awarding Institution
1.	World Car of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
2.	World Car Design of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
3.	World Green Car of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
4.	European Car of the Year	I-PACE	European Car of the Year Awards
5.	Best Compact SUV	Range Rover Evoque	GQ Car Awards
6.	Best Design and Styling Award	Range Rover Velar	Autocar India

Products and environmental performance

The Company's strategy is to continue to invest in products and technologies that position it ahead of expected stricter environmental regulation and ensure that the Company benefit from a shift in consumer awareness of the environmental impact of the vehicles they drive. Jaguar Land Rover has launched plug-in hybrid derivatives of the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport, without compromising the vehicles' off-road capability or load space. Recently, Jaguar Land Rover introduced our first all-electric vehicle, the Jaguar I-PACE, which went on sale in June 2018. Jaguar Land Rover is also a global leader in the use of aluminium and other lightweight materials to reduce vehicle weight and improve CO_2 and fuel efficiency. In addition to CO_2 and fuel efficiency, all Jaguar Land Rover's powertrains have been developed to meet the world's most stringent air quality emissions regulations such as the EPA Tier 3 and LEV3, China 6b and European Eu6d-Temp under real world driving conditions described by Real Driving Emissions, ("RDE"), Level 1 ("RDE1") and future RDE Level 2, whose tests are well in advance of the 2020 introduction of RDE2 for all its new models, where emissions are limited under random driving

conditions on the open road not just under laboratory conditions. Jaguar Land Rover were one of the few car manufacturer to meet the Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Procedure (WLTP) deadline for type approval of its vehicles, reducing the operational impact of the emissions test changes. Recognising the need to use resources responsibly, produce less waste and reduce our carbon footprint, Jaguar Land Rover is also taking measures to reduce emissions, waste and the use of natural resources in all of our operations. In the United Kingdom, Jaguar Land Rover has a goal of zero waste and carbon neutral manufacturing operations by 2020.

Mitigating cyclicality

The automobile industry is impacted by cyclicality. To mitigate the impact of cyclicality, the Company plans to continually strengthen its operations through gaining market share across different segments, and to offer a wide range of products in diverse geographies. The Company also plans to continue to strengthen its business operations other than vehicle sales, such as financing of its vehicles, spare part sales, service and maintenance contracts, sales of aggregates for non-vehicle businesses, reconditioning of aggregates and sale of castings, production aids and tooling/fixtures, to reduce the impact of cyclicality of the automotive industry.

Expanding the Company's international business

The Company's international expansion strategy involves entering new markets where the Company has an opportunity to grow and introducing new products to existing markets in order to grow its presence in such markets. The Company's international business strategy has already resulted in the growth of its international operations in select markets and chosen segments over the last five years. Based on the Company's internal assessments and data compiled by its country management team, in recent years, the Company has grown its market share across various African and Middle Eastern markets such as Tanzania, Saudi Arabia and United Arab Emirates, in addition to maintaining its dominant market position in the South Asian markets of Bangladesh, Nepal and Sri Lanka. In keeping with the Company's strategy to enter and grow in new regions, the Company has focused on business in the ASEAN countries, where in recent years the Company has entered Indonesia, Malaysia, Vietnam, Philippines and Tunisia.

The Company has also expanded its international presence through acquisitions and joint ventures. The Company's acquisition of Jaguar Land Rover has expanded its geographical presence in the overseas market significantly. Through Jaguar Land Rover, the Company now offers products in the premium performance car and premium all-terrain vehicle segments with globally recognised brands and the Company has diversified its business across markets and product segments. The Company will continue to build upon the internationally recognised brands of Jaquar Land Rover. The production of the Range Rover Evoque commenced at the China Joint Venture in October 2014 and went on general retail sale in China in February 2015. Production of the Discovery Sport was also added as the second vehicle to be manufactured at the China Joint Venture in Fiscal Year 2016, which went on general retail sale in November 2015. In September 2016, the long wheelbase Jaguar XFL went on sale followed by the long wheel base Jaguar XEL in December 2017. The E-PACE also went on sale in November 2017 and commenced sales from the China Joint Venture in September 2018. The all new Land Rover Discovery went on sale in February 2017 and the new Range Rover Velar went on sale in July 2017 with the refreshed 18 model year Range Rover and Range Rover Sport (including PHEV models) going on sale from November 2017. The multi-award-winning Jaguar I-PACE went on sale in June 2018 and the all new Evoque went on sale in February 2019. The new refreshed Jaguar XE is now available to order and the refreshed Land Rover Discovery Sport was revealed in May 2019. The new Land Rover Defender was revealed and the customer deliveries to begin from spring 2020.

During Fiscal Year 2008, the Company established a joint venture company to undertake manufacture and assembly operations in South Africa, which has been one of its largest export markets from India in terms of unit volume. The joint venture company, Tata Motors (SA) Proprietary Limited, commenced operations in July 2011. Currently, Tata Motors (SA) Proprietary Limited caters to the South African market and Mozambique markets and sold 963 units in Fiscal Year 2019.

Reducing operating costs

The Company believes that its scale of operations provides it with a significant advantage in reducing costs and the Company plans to continue to sustain and enhance this cost advantage.

The Company's ability to leverage its technological capabilities and its manufacturing facilities among its commercial vehicle and passenger vehicle businesses enables it to reduce cost. For example, the diesel engine used in its Indica was modified to engineer a new variant for use in the Ace platform, which helped to reduce the project cost. Similarly, platform sharing for the manufacture of pick-up trucks and UVs enables the Company to reduce capital investment that would otherwise be required, while allowing the Company to improve the utilisation levels at its manufacturing facilities. Where appropriate, the Company intends to apply its existing low-cost engineering and sourcing capability to Jaguar Land Rover vehicles.

The Company's vendor relationships also contribute to its cost reductions. For example, the Company believes that the vendor rationalisation program that the Company is undertaking will provide economies of scale to its vendors which would benefit its cost programs. The Company is also undertaking various internal and external benchmarking exercises that would enable it to improve the cost effectiveness of its components, systems and sub-systems.

The Company has intensified efforts to review and realign its cost structure through a number of measures such as reduction of manpower costs and rationalisation of other fixed costs, as well as streamlining its purchasing processes and building on its strong relationships with suppliers while increasing employee deployment and flexibility across its sites.

In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar Land Rover launched 'Project Charge', a cost and cash improvement initiative which aims to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.5 billion by end of Fiscal Year 2020. The objective of this programme is to identify and implement at speed, short-term gains to improve cost, cash, revenue and profitability. Since the implementation of Project Charge to 30 September 2019, Jaguar Land Rover has managed to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.2 billion (comprising GBP1.3 billion in investment spending, GBP0.4 billion in working capital and GBP0.5 billion in costs and profits).

Jaguar Land Rover has also launched 'Project Accelerate' for systemic, structural improvements to its business through three key workstreams (i) on-time and quality programmes; (ii) deliver competitive material cost and (iii) enhance sales performance.

Enhancing capabilities through the adoption of superior processes

Tata Sons and the entities promoted by Tata Sons, including the Company, aim at improving quality of life through leadership in various sectors of national economic significance. In pursuit of this goal, Tata Sons and the Tata Sons-promoted entities have institutionalised an approach, called the "Tata Business Excellence Model", which has been formulated along the lines of the Malcolm Baldridge National Quality Award to enable the Company to improve performance and attain higher levels of efficiency in its businesses and in discharging its social responsibility. The model aims to nurture core values and concepts embodied in various focus areas such as leadership, strategic planning, customers, markets and human resources, and to translate them to operational performance. The Company's adoption and implementation of this model seeks to ensure that its business is conducted through superior processes.

The Company has deployed a balance score card system for measurement-based management and feedback. The Company has also deployed a new product introduction process for systematic product development and a PLM system for effective product data management across its organisation. On the human resources front, the Company has adopted various processes to enhance the skills and competencies of its employees. The Company has also enhanced its performance management system with appropriate mechanisms to recognise talent and sustain its leadership base. The Company believes these will enhance its way of doing business, given the dynamic and demanding global business environment.

Expanding customer financing activities

Financing is a critical factor in vehicle purchases and in light of the rising consumer aspirations in India, the Company continues to expand its vehicle financing activities to enhance sales. In addition to improving our competitiveness in customer attraction and retention, the Company believes that expanding the financing business may also contribute toward moderating the impact on its financial results from the cyclical nature of vehicle sales. The Company have teamed up with various public sector, cooperative and Grameen banks to introduce new financing schemes. In particular, Tata Motors Finance Limited ("TMFL") has increased its reach by opening a number of limited services branches in cities classified as tier 2 and tier 3 by the Government of India. TMFL operates through a 'hub and spoke model' and during the Fiscal Year 2019 TMFL operated out of 266 branches. The Company believes that this method has reduced turnaround times and improved customer satisfaction.

Continuing to invest in technology and technical skills

The Company believes that it is one of the most technologically advanced indigenous vehicle manufacturers in India. Over the years, the Company has enhanced its technological strengths through extensive in-house research and development activities. Further, the Company's research and development facilities at its subsidiaries, like TMETC, TDCV, TTL, and Trilix, together with the two advanced engineering and design centres of Jaguar Land Rover, have increased its capabilities in product design and engineering. In the Jaguar Land Rover business, the Company is committed to continue to invest in new technologies to develop products that meet the opportunities of the premium market, including developing sustainable technologies, like electric propulsion, to improve fuel economy and reduce CO_2 emissions and new modular longitudinal architecture. The Company considers technological leadership to be a significant factor in continued success, and therefore intends to continue to devote significant resources to upgrade its technological base.

Maintaining financial strength

The Company's cash flows from/(used in) operating activities in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 was Rs.301,992.5 million, Rs.238,574.2 million and Rs.188,907.5 million, respectively, and was Rs.(72,079.9 million) and Rs.55,950.1 million for the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. The improved position in the Company's operating cash flows in the first half of Fiscal Year 2020 is primarily due to a better mix at Jaguar Land Rover' business, implementation of cost reduction programs, and prudent working capital management. The Company has established processes for project evaluation and capital investment decisions with an objective to enhance its long-term profitability.

The Company plan to continue to increase capital investment to develop new products in new and existing segments, invest in new powertrains and technologies to meet customer and regulatory requirements, and increase Jaguar Land Rover's manufacturing capacity in the United Kingdom and internationally (i.e. China, Austria and Slovakia).

The Company continues to target funding most of the its capital spending out of operating cash flow. The Company expects that the Company's strong balance sheet, including total cash and cash equivalents and financial deposits of Rs.350,746.7 million as at 30 September 2019, as well as proven access to funding from capital markets and banks, will also support the Company's investment plans as required.

Leveraging brand equity

The Company's Commercial Vehicle initiative, 'Project Neev', provides a growth program for rural India designed to promote self-employment. Local unemployed rural youth have been enrolled and trained to work from home as promoters of the Company's Commercial Vehicles. Project Neev is currently operational in 25 states in India and has engagements in 448 districts. The rural penetration drive initiated through Project Neev has deployed an approximately 9,500-member dedicated team in towns and villages with populations of less than 50,000. Project Neev currently completed its sixth wave of expansion and reorganisation called 'NEEV Overdrive' and the Company intends to expand its operations in all major states across India. This program has been appreciated and recognised in various forums.

In April 2018, the Company conducted the 'National Ultra Launch' where the Company displayed the entire ultra-range with ready-to-use fully-built vehicles. For the intermediate and light truck range, the Company organised 51 ILCV expos showcasing the complete ILCV range from TML, across 17 states with a total of more than 6,000 customers attending. In addition, the Company also organised three e-commerce expos for the e-commerce industry in Gurugram, Bengaluru and Mumbai.

Another initiative through the Company's Commercial Vehicles business is TATA-OK. TATA-OK seeks to promote the Company's Commercial Vehicles by capturing new customer segments (such as economical and used vehicle buyers), promoting the sale of new vehicles through the exchange of used Commercial Vehicles at the Company's dealerships, increasing the resale value of its Commercial Vehicles products, and facilitating deeper customer engagement and thereby promoting brand loyalty.

The Company offers a variety of support products and services for the Company's customers. Tata FleetMan, the Company's telematics and fleet management service, is designed to enable the commercial sector to boost productivity and profitability. With the goal of bringing the most advanced technology in this area to the Company's customers, the Company have entered into a partnership with UK-based Microlise Limited to introduce global standards of telematics and fleet management solutions into the Indian logistics and transport industry, to enhance Tata FleetMan's telematics systems through upgrades of the underlying technology and to develop the next generation of fleet telematics solutions for the Indian transport industry. Original equipment fitment of Tata Fleetman commenced in Fiscal Year 2016 and as of Fiscal Year 2018, the Company has covered the entire MHCV range.

In order to support customers throughout the life of their vehicles, the Company has introduced a range of value-added services under the brand "Sampoorna Seva". The Tata Alert breakdown service promises to respond to the breakdown site within four hours of notification and to return the vehicle to the road within 48 hours, covering some 3 million kilometres of Indian roads. Other key elements include a six-year, 600,000-kilometer warranty on the MHCV range and the Tata Delight loyalty program. This was coupled with the introduction of new services, such as the Tata on-site service and parts support using container workshops. These workshops are an on-site service support system that deploy a container on-site, which houses the repair equipment to carry out most routine maintenance activities for a fleet. In addition, the Company offers on-demand annual maintenance contracts, which provide maintenance solutions to all customers for a wide range of vehicles, including large fleet owners.

The Company believes customers associate the Tata name with reliability, trust and ethical values, and its brand name is gaining significant international recognition due to the international growth strategies of various Tata companies. The Tata brand is used and its benefits are leveraged by Tata companies to their mutual advantage. The Company recognises the need for enhancing its brand recognition in highly competitive markets in which the Company competes with internationally recognised brands. The Company, along with Tata Sons and other Tata companies, will continue to promote the Tata brand and leverage its use in India, as well as in various international markets where the Company plans to increase its presence. Supported by the "Tata" brand, the Company believes its product brands such as the Tiago, Tigor, Bolt, Zest, Nexon, Hexa, Harrier, Sumo, Safari, Nano, Ace, Magic, Prima, Daewoo, Jaguar, Range Rover and Land Rover are highly regarded, and the Company will continue to nurture and promote them.

Further, both Jaguar and Land Rover brands are globally recognised as premium, class-leading and highly differentiated vehicles within their segments as evidenced by consumer demand, and with sales in 120 and 129 markets, respectively, via independent franchises, national sales companies as well as third-party importers. Founded in 1922, Jaguar has a long tradition of designing and manufacturing premium sports cars and saloons recognised for their design, engineering performance and a distinctive British style. Founded in 1948 (and celebrating its 70 year anniversary in 2018), Land Rover designs and manufactures vehicles known for their off-road capability, strength, durability and refinement. Land Rover's brand identity is built around utility, reliability, refinement, luxury and, above all, its all-terrain capability. Jaguar's heritage of elegant design, innovative engineering and ground-breaking technology has excited and delighted the world for over 80 years, whilst Land Rover is the world's favourite SUV brand.

SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING

The following is only a summary description of the Notes, which are more fully described in the section entitled "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" included elsewhere in this Offering Circular. This summary is derived from and should be read in conjunction with the full text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The Terms and Conditions of the Notes prevail to the extent of any inconsistency with the terms set out in this section. Capitalised terms not defined in this summary have the meanings given to them in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Issuer Tata Motors Limited.

The Notes 5.875 per cent. Senior Notes due 2025.

Joint Bookrunners and Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

Joint Lead Managers Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Issue Price............ 100 per cent.

Maturity Date 20 May 2025.

Interest..... The Notes bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from

and including the Closing Date at the rate of 5.875 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear on 20 May and 20 November of each year (each an "Interest Payment Date"). The first payment (for the period from and including the Closing Date to but excluding 20 May 2020) will be made on 20 May 2020.

Trustee Citicorp International Limited.

Principal Paying Agent... Citibank, N.A., London Branch.

Transfer Agent...... Citibank, N.A., London Branch.

Registrar Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG.

Status of the Notes..... The Notes constitute direct, unconditional and (subject to

Condition 4.1 (*Negative Pledge*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and (subject as stated above) rank and will rank at all times *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and at least equally with all other present and future outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, but, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by

applicable laws relating to creditors' rights.

Form and Denomination The Notes are issued in registered form in amounts of of the Notes..... U.S.\$200,000 each and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess

thereof.

Negative Pledge

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, the Issuer will not create or permit to subsist any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other security interest ("Security") on the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets or revenue present or future of the Issuer to secure any Relevant Indebtedness, unless the Issuer, in the case of the creation of the Security, at the same time or prior thereto takes any and all action necessary to ensure that:

- (a) all amounts payable by it under the Notes and the Trust Deed, or its equivalent in any other currency, are secured by the Security equally and rateably with the Relevant Indebtedness to the satisfaction of the Trustee; or
- (b) such other Security or other arrangement (whether or not it includes the giving of Security) is provided either (i) as the Trustee shall in its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders (provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged to exercise such discretion) or (ii) as is approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders.

"Relevant Indebtedness" means (i) any present or future indebtedness (whether being premium, principal interest or other amounts) for or in respect of any notes, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock or other securities which (A) are payable, or confer a right to receive payment, in or by reference to any currency other than Rupees and (B) are or are intended to be or capable of being quoted, listed, ordinarily dealt in or traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other securities market, and (ii) any guarantee or indemnity of any such indebtedness.

For more details, see Condition 4.1 (*Negative Pledge*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Limitation on Asset Sales

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, subject to Condition 4.5 (*Suspension of Covenants*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer shall apply any Net Cash Proceeds from an Asset Sale to:

- (a) permanently repay unsubordinated Financial Indebtedness; or
- (b) fund any business, services or activities engaged by the Issuer in its ordinary course of business; or
- (c) invest in subsidiaries involved in Permitted Businesses; or

(d) pay a dividend, provided that, the Issuer shall not pay any such dividend in respect of or otherwise distribute such Net Cash Proceeds to its shareholders if such dividend or distribution, individually or when aggregated with all other dividends or distributions in respect of the Net Cash Proceeds from any Asset Sales in the twelve month period prior to the date of the declaration of such dividend or distribution, exceeds U.S.\$250,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.

For more details, see Condition 4.3 (*Limitation on Asset Sales*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Limitation on Indebtedness.....

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, subject to Condition 4.5 (*Suspension of Covenants*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer shall not Incur, directly or indirectly any Financial Indebtedness, unless, after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof:

- (a) no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default would occur as a consequence of such Incurrence or be continuing following such Incurrence; and
- (b) the Total Net Long Term Debt to Total Net Worth ratio for the Issuer's most recently ended semi-annual or annual period for which unconsolidated financial statements are available immediately preceding the date on which such Financial Indebtedness is incurred shall not be greater than 3.0: 1.0.

For more details, see Condition 4.2 (*Limitation on Indebtedness*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Total Net Worth

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, the Issuer shall ensure that its Total Net Worth shall at all times be at least INR100 billion (on a standalone basis). For more details, see Condition 4.4 (*Total Net Worth*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Following the first day (the "Suspension Date") that (a) the Notes have Notes Investment Grade Status from any one of the Rating Agencies and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer will not be subject to Condition 4.3 (Limitation on Asset Sales) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and Condition 4.2 (Limitation on Indebtedness) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (the "Suspended Covenants"). In the event that the Issuer is not subject to the Suspended Covenants for any period of time as a result of the preceding sentence and, on any subsequent date (the "Reversion Date"), either (i) one or more Rating Agencies have assigned ratings to the Notes below the required Notes Investment Grade Status or (ii) an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, then the Issuer will thereafter again be subject to the Suspended Covenants. The period of time between the Suspension Date and the Reversion Date is referred to in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as the "Suspension Period".

For more details, see Condition 4.5 (*Suspension of Covenants*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Redemption at Maturity . .

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Issuer will redeem the Notes at their principal amount (together with unpaid accrued interest thereon (if any)) on the Maturity Date.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons.....

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time on any Interest Payment Date, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders and in writing to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (which notice shall be irrevocable), at any time, at their principal amount (together with unpaid accrued interest thereon (if any)), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee (in accordance with Condition 7.2.2 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) immediately prior to the giving of such notice that (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 (Taxation) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8.2.2 (Interpretation) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Closing Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts where a payment in respect of the Notes is then due.

The ECB Guidelines, at the time of redemption for taxation reasons, may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before providing notice for or effecting such a redemption prior to the Maturity Date and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Notes – Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

For more details, see Condition 7.2 (*Redemption for Taxation Reasons*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Redemption for Change of Control

If a Change of Control occurs, each Noteholder shall have the right (the "Change of Control Redemption Right"), at such Noteholder's option, to require the Issuer to redeem all of such Noteholder's Note(s) in whole, but not in part on the Change of Control Redemption Date, at a price equal to 101 per cent. of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to and including the redemption date.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) the Tata Group ceases to be the Promoter Group;
- (b) any other person (acting alone or in concert with any other parties, but other than a person controlled by the Tata Group) has Control or holds, directly or indirectly, a greater percentage of the voting rights of the issued share capital of the Issuer than the Tata Group; or
- (c) the Issuer ceases to, directly or indirectly, Control Jaguar Land Rover; or
- (d) the Issuer ceases to hold, directly or indirectly, at least 51 per cent. of the Voting Stock of Jaguar Land Rover.

The ECB Guidelines, at the time of redemption for Change of Control, may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before providing notice for or effecting such a redemption prior to the Maturity Date and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Notes – Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

For more details, see Condition 7.3 (*Redemption for Change of Control*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Events of Default

The Notes contain certain events of default provisions as further described in Condition 9 (*Events of Default*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The ECB Guidelines may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before effecting a redemption of the Notes prior to the Maturity Date upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors — Risks relating to the Notes — Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

Meetings of Noteholders.....

The Trust Deed contains provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

All payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear and without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed, levied, collected or assessed by or on behalf of any of the Relevant Jurisdictions, unless such withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the amounts which would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, subject to customary exceptions, as described further in Condition 8.1 (*Payment without Withholding*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders create and issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue date and the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and forming a single series with the Notes. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

For more details, see Condition 16 (*Further Issues*) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Risk Factors Investment in the Notes involves risks which are described in "Risk

Factors".

Selling Restrictions There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in,

among others, Singapore, India, the United Kingdom, Japan, People's Republic of China, Hong Kong and the United States. For a description of the selling restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of the Notes, see the section entitled "Subscription and

Sale".

Use of Proceeds See "Use of Proceeds" for more details.

Listing and Trading. Approval-in-principle has been received for the listing and

quotation of the Notes on the SGX-ST. The Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 (or its equivalent in foreign currencies) for so long as the Notes are listed

on the SGX-ST.

The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, opinions expressed or reports contained in this Offering Circular. Admission to the Official List of the SGX-ST is not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, its subsidiaries, its associated companies or the Notes.

Rating. The Notes are expected to be assigned a rating of Ba3 by Moody's

Investors Service ("Moody's"). This rating does not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Certificates and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by

Moody's.

Clearing Systems The Notes will be represented by beneficial interests in the Global

Certificate which will be registered in the name of a common depositary for Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, and deposited on or about the Closing Date. Beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will be shown on and transfers thereof will be effected only through records maintained by of Euroclear or of

Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Governing Law The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in

connection with them are governed by, and will be construed in

accordance with, English law.

Legal Entity Identifier L28920MH1945PLC004520.

ISIN..... XS2079668609.

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set out certain selected consolidated and standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the periods indicated.

The selected consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and as at and for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 set forth below is derived from the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively. The selected consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at for the year ended 31 March 2017 set forth below is derived from the 2017 Audited Financial Statements, except for certain line-items which have been reclassified. Such consolidated financial information of the Issuer should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and their respective related notes thereto. The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared under Ind-AS.

The selected standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and as at and for the years ended 31 March 2019, 2018 and 2017 set forth below is derived from the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, respectively. Such standalone financial information of the Issuer should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements are prepared under Ind-AS.

The 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements were prepared in conjunction with the adoption of Ind-AS 115 which took effect from 1 April 2018. Please refer to "Note 2 (Significant Accounting Policies) - w. (Recent accounting pronouncements) of the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements" and "Note 2 (Significant Accounting Policies) – x. (Recent accounting pronouncements) of the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements" for a discussion on the impact on the adoption of Ind-AS 115. As the Company has applied the modified retrospective transition method set out in Ind-AS 115 which does not require any restatement of the corresponding figures of the prior period before 1 April 2018, the Company's financial information prior to 1 April 2018 (including the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements) may not be directly comparable against the Company's financial information after 1 April 2018 (including the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results). Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures after 1 April 2018 against the Company's financial figures prior to 1 April 2018 and when evaluating the Company's financial condition, results of operations and results.

The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results were prepared in conjunction with the adoption of IND-AS 116 which took effect from 1 April 2019. Please refer to "Note 2 of the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results" and "Note 6 of the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial

Results" for a discussion on the impact on the adoption of Ind-AS 116. As the Company has applied the modified retrospective transition method set out in Ind-AS 116 which does not require any restatement of the corresponding figures of the prior period before 1 April 2019, the Company's financial information prior to 1 April 2019 (including the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements) may not be directly comparable against the Company's financial information after 1 April 2019 (including the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results). Investors must therefore exercise caution when making comparisons of any financial figures after 1 April 2019 against the Company's financial figures prior to 1 April 2019 and when evaluating the Company's financial condition, results of operations and results.

The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results should not be relied upon by investors to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been subject to an audit. None of the Joint Lead Managers or any of their respective affiliates, directors or advisers makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, regarding the sufficiency of the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results for an assessment of, and potential investors must exercise caution when using such data to evaluate, the Issuer's financial condition, results of operations and results. The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results should not be taken as an indication of the expected financial condition, results of operations and results of the Issuer (whether on a consolidated or standalone basis) for the full financial year ending 31 March 2020.

Consolidated Financial Information

The consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and as at and for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 set forth below is derived from the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively. The selected consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at for the year ended 31 March 2017 set forth below is derived from the 2017 Audited Financial Statements, except for certain line-items which have been reclassified.

			risca	l Year		Six illollili	ths ended 30 September		
		2017	2018	20	19	2018	Rs. (in million) 75.7 1,255,935.5 75.6 13,053.9 75.8 1,268,989.4 75.085.5 75.0 1,284,074.9 75.097.5 77.2) (4,244.3) 77.2) (4,244.3) 77.2) (16,204.6) 78.097.5 77.2) (16,204.6) 78.097.5 77.2) (16,204.6) 78.097.5 78.097.5	19	
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)		U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	
ar	ticulars								
	Revenue from operations								
	(a) Revenue	2,712,283.0	2,893,862.5	2,991,905.9	42,213.8	1,372,495.7	1,255,935.5	17,720.4	
	(b) Other Operating Revenues	32,638.2	29,543.9	27,478.1	387.7	13,505.6	13,053.9	184.2	
	Total revenue from operations	2,744,921.2	2,923,406.4	3,019,384.0	42,601.5	1,386,001.3	1,268,989.4	17,904.6	
l.	Other income (includes Government incentives in Fiscal Year 2018 and								
	2019)	7,545.4	39,575.9	29,653.1	418.4	14,352.3	15,085.5	212.8	
II.	Total Income (I+II)	2,752,466.6	2,962,982.3	3,049,037.1	43,019.9	1,400,353.6	1,284,074.9	18,117.4	
/.	Expenses:								
	(a) Cost of materials consumed								
	(i) Cost of materials consumed	1,601,471.2	1,733,711.9	1,822,544.5	25,714.9	881,389.1	758,097.5	10,696.3	
	(ii) Basis adjustment on hedge accounted derivatives	(7,775.7)	(13,786.0)	(12,453.7)	(175.7)	(8,437.2)	(4,244.3)	(59.9)	
	(b) Purchase of products for sale	139,245.3	159,039.9	132,588.3	1,870.7	90,591.6	61,381.2	866.0	
	(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale	(73,999.2)	(20,465.8)	20,532.8	289.7	(73,687.2)	(16,204.6)	(228.6)	
	(d) Excise duty	47,996.1	7,901.6		_	_	_	(=====,	
	(e) Employee benefits expense	283,328.9	303,000.9	332,438.7	4,690.5	167,355.6	150.025.8	2,116.8	
	(f) Finance costs	42,380.1	46,817.9	57,586.0	812.5	26,021.3		500.4	
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	39,101.0	(11,852.8)	9,059.1	127.8	15,071.3	2,535.1	35.8	
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense	179,049.9	215,535.9	235,906.3	3,328.5	117,983.3	104,112.9	1,469.0	
	(i) Product development/ Engineering expenses	34,135.7	35,318.7	42,245.7	596.1	20,190.1	18,927.2	267.1	
	(j) Other expenses	554,300.6	601,842.1	622,381.2	8,781.3	295,259.3	284,295.9	4,011.2	
	(k) Amount transferred to capital and other account	(168,769.6)	(185,880.9)	(196,595.9)	(2,773.8)	(102,609.8)	(84,848.9)	(1,197.2)	
	Total Expenses (IV)	2,670,464.3	2,871,183.4	3,066,233.0	43,262.5	1,429,127.4	1,309,547.1	18,476.9	
	Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)	82,002.3	91,798.9	(17,195.9)	(242.6)	(28,773.8)	(25,472.2)	(359.5)	

			Fisca	l Year		Six mont	hs ended 30 S	eptember
		2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million
/1.	Exceptional Items:							
	(a) Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost/(credit)	-	(36,090.1)	1,479.3	20.9	-	-	-
	(b) Employee separation cost	676.1	36.8	13,714.5	193.5	_	1,954.0	27.6
	(c) Write off/Provision /(reversal) for impairment of capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development (net)	_	16,413.8	1,809.7	25.5	932.1	(831.1)	(11.7)
	(d) Provision for costs of closure of operation of a subsidiary company	_	_	3,810.1	53.8	4,370.8	(513.1)	(7.2)
	(e) Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover	_	_	278,379.1	3,927.7	_	_	_
	(f) Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary company	_	_	(3,769.8)	(53.2)	_	_	_
	(g) Provision for loan given to a Joint venture	_	_	_	-	_	87.5	1.2
	(h) Others	(11,821.7)	(111.9)	1,092.7	15.5			
/II.	Profit/(Loss) before tax (V-VI)	93,147.9	111,550.3	(313,711.5)	(4,426.3)	(34,076.7)	(26,169.5)	(369.4)
VIII.	Tax expense/ (credit) (net):							
	(a) Current tax (including Minimum Alternate Tax)	31,376.6	33,034.6	22,252.3	314.0	12,609.5	7,147.1	100.8
	(b) Deferred tax	1,135.7	10,384.7	(46,626.8)	(657.9)	(14,046.8)	(731.7)	(10.3)
	Total tax expense/ (credit) (net)	32,512.3	43,419.3	(24,374.5)	(343.9)	(1,437.3)	6,415.4	90.5
X.	Profit/(loss) for the period/year from continuing operations (VII-VIII)	60,635.6	68,131.0	(289,337.0)	(4,082.4)	(32,639.4)	(32,584.9)	(459.9)
Κ.	Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	14,930.0	22,782.6	2,095.0	29.6	3,918.8	(6,088.7)	(85.9)
<i.< td=""><td>Profit/(loss) for the period/year (IX+X)</td><td>75,565.6</td><td>90,913.6</td><td>(287,242.0)</td><td>(4,052.8)</td><td>(28,720.6)</td><td>(38,673.6)</td><td>(545.8)</td></i.<>	Profit/(loss) for the period/year (IX+X)	75,565.6	90,913.6	(287,242.0)	(4,052.8)	(28,720.6)	(38,673.6)	(545.8)
	Attributable to:							
	(a) Shareholders of the Company	74,543.6	89,889.1	(288,262.3)	(4,067.2)	(29,511.7)	(39,149.0)	(552.4)
	(b) Non-controlling interests	1,022.0	1,024.5	1,020.3	14.4	791.1	475.4	6.6

			Fisca	l Year		Six mont	ns ended 30 S	eptember
		2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
	ther comprehensive come/(loss):							
(A)) (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss							
	(a) Re-measurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)	(78,237.5)	46,765.1	(25,612.6)	(361.4)	13,566.3	(17,953.1)	(253.3)
	(b) Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive							
	income (net) (c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted	831.5	428.6	356.0	5.0	679.2	(192.2)	(2.7)
	investees (net)	(60.8)	(71.6)	111.5	1.6	(8.2)	(55.9)	(0.8)
	(d) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges of forecast inventory purchases	20,267.7	12,277.4	(17,462.4)	(246.4)	4,457.2	11,082.6	156.4
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss	8,673.5	(9,910.2)	6,974.1	98.4	(3,305.5)	1,190.0	16.8
(B)) (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss							
	(a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations	(96,785.8)	95,181.5	(20,102.2)	(283.6)	20,384.7	(16,319.5)	(230.3)
	(b) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges	(155,656.6)	180,697.1	528.2	7.5	(7,088.9)	(12,348.9)	(174.2)
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted	(,	.,,	2-3· 2		(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	, <u>.</u> ,
		(3,047.0)	4,294.1	(586.1)	(8.3)	1,956.2	(1,423.3)	(20.1)

		Fisca	l Year		Six mont	hs ended 30 S	eptember
	2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million,
(d) Gains and (losses) on finance receivables held at fair value through other comprehensive income (net)	-	-	-	_	_	397.4	5.6
(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss	29,069.3	(34,036.9)	35.8	0.5	1,531.6	1,450.1	20.5
·							
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period/year (net of tax)	(274,945.7)	295,625.1	(55,757.7)	(786.7)	32,172.6	(34,172.8)	(482.1)
II. Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period/year (net of tax) (XI+XII)	(199,380.1)	386,538.7	(342,999.7)	(4,839.5)	3,452.0	(72,846.4)	(1,027.9)
Attributable to:							
(a) Shareholders of the Company	(200,059.4)	385,245.2	(344,017.3)	(4,853.9)	2,486.1	(73,239.1)	(1,033.4)
(b) Non-controlling interests	679.3	1,293.5	1,017.6	14.4	965.9	392.7	5.5
/I. Earnings per equity share (EPS) (in Rs. and U.S.\$)							
(a) Ordinary shares (face value of Rs.2 each):							
(i) Basic EPS (₹/U.S.\$)	21.9	26.5	(84.9)	(1.2)	(8.7)	(11.5)	(0.2)
(ii) Diluted EPS (₹/U.S.\$)	21.9	26.5	(84.9)	(1.2)	(8.7)	(11.5)	(0.2)
(b) 'A' Ordinary shares (face value of Rs.2 each):							
(i) Basic EPS (₹/U.S.\$)	22.0	26.6	(84.9)	(1.2)	(8.7)	(11.5)	(0.2)
(ii) Diluted EPS (₹/U.S.\$)	22.0	26.6	(84.9)	(1.2)	(8.7)	(11.5)	(0.2)

Note:

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

				As at 3	1 March		As at 30 S	eptember
			2017	2018	20	19	20	19
			Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million
Asse	ets							
(1)	Non	-current assets						
	(a)	Property, plant and equipment	595,945.6	738,678.4	726,198.6	10,246.2	710,855.9	10,029.7
	(b)	Capital work-in-progress	101,868.3	161,429.4	85,381.7	1,204.7	93,039.7	1,312.7
	(c)	Right to use assets	_	_	_	-	64,658.2	912.3
	(d)	Goodwill	6,733.2	1,164.5	7,478.7	105.5	7,391.9	104.3
	(e)	Other intangible assets	356,762.0	474,295.7	378,667.4	5,342.7	351,295.6	4,956.6
	(f)	Intangible assets under development	235,120.1	238,905.6	233,456.7	3,293.9	274,176.8	3,868.5
	(g)	Investment in equity accounted investees	46,060.1	48,878.9	47,433.8	669.3	45,638.2	643.9
	(h)	Financial assets:						
		(i) Other investments	6,907.6	7,637.6	14,975.1	211.3	13,036.5	183.9
		(ii) Finance receivables	107,531.3	154,795.3	220,731.7	3,114.4	213,952.8	3,018.7
		(iii) Loans and advances	7,536.6	4,954.1	4,074.2	57.5	4,101.6	57.9
		(iv) Other financial assets	29,111.2	45,638.7	28,091.8	396.4	36,783.8	519.0
	(i)	Deferred tax assets (net)	44,573.4	41,587.0	51,511.1	726.8	54,739.1	772.3
	(j)	Non-current tax assets (net)	9,723.1	8,999.0	10,245.6	144.6	10,619.5	149.8
	(k)	Other non-current assets	28,473.6	26,812.5	29,387.3	414.6	22,554.3	318.2
			1,576,346.1	1,953,776.7	1,837,633.7	25,927.9	1,902,843.9	26,847.8
(2)	Cur	rent assets						
	(a)	Inventories	350,853.1	421,376.3	390,137.3	5,504.6	392,477.1	5,537.6
	(b)	Investment in equity accounted investees (held for sale)	-	4,973.5	5,915.0	83.5	-	-
	(c)	Financial assets:						
		(i) Other investments	150,411.5	146,637.5	89,383.3	1,261.1	61,821.6	872.3
		(ii) Trade receivables	140,755.5	198,933.0	189,961.7	2,680.2	149,528.2	2,109.7
		(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	139,867.6	147,167.5	215,598.0	3,041.9	183,500.0	2,589.
		(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	220,911.2	198,971.6	110,890.2	1,564.6	95,360.4	1,345.5
		(v) Finance receivables	68,101.2	84,016.5	115,515.2	1,629.8	99,690.0	1,406.6
		(vi) Loans and advances	7,104.5	14,511.4	12,687.0	179.0	10,610.5	149.7
		(vii) Other financial assets	15,559.4	38,576.4	32,135.6	453.4	35,576.2	502.0
	(d)	Current tax assets (net)	2,233.6	2,089.1	1,843.7	26.0	1,756.0	24.8
	(e)	Assets classified as held-for-sale	-	25,851.9	1,622.4	22.9	1,768.0	24.9
	(f)	Other current assets	65,399.9	76,623.7	68,622.2	968.2	67,346.1	950.2
			1 161 107 5	1,359,728.4	1,234,311.6	17,415.2	1,099,434.1	15,512.4

						As at 3	1 March		As at 30 S	eptember
					2017	2018	20	19	20	19
					Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
II.	Equ	ity a	nd I	iabilities						
		Equ	ıity							
		(a)	Eq	uity share capital	6,792.2	6,792.2	6,792.2	95.8	6,792.2	95.8
		(b)	Oth	ner equity*	573,826.7	947,486.9	595,003.4	8,395.1	515,748.8	7,276.9
				uity attributable to owners of a Motors Ltd	580,618.9	954,279.1	601,795.6	8,490.9	522,541.0	7,372.7
			No	n-controlling interests	4,531.7	5,250.6	5,230.6	73.8	6,220.7	87.8
					585,150.6	959,529.7	607,026.2	8,564.7	528,761.7	7,460.5
		Lial	biliti	es						
	(1)	Nor	n-cu	rrent liabilities						
		(a)	Fin	nancial liabilities:						
			(i)	Borrowings and lease liabilities .	606,291.8	611,995.0	709,736.7	10,013.9	739,196.9	10,429.6
			(ii)	Other financial liabilities	114,095.8	27,391.4	27,927.1	394.0	29,758.5	419.9
		(b)	Pro	ovisions	90,044.6	109,484.4	118,548.5	1,672.6	125,673.8	1,773.2
		(c)	De	ferred tax liabilities (net)	11,740.0	61,258.0	14,910.4	210.4	14,138.4	199.5
		(d)	Oth	her non-current liabilities	173,925.6	111,651.9	139,222.1	1,964.3	152,997.8	2,158.7
					996,097.8	921,780.7	1,010,344.8	14,255.2	1,061,765.4	14,980.9
	(2)	Cur	rent	liabilities						
		(a)	Fin	nancial liabilities:						
			(i)	Borrowings	138,599.4	167,948.5	201,502.6	2,843.1	215,453.9	3,039.9
			(ii)	Trade payables	576,983.3	720,384.1	685,135.3	9,666.9	600,885.7	8,478.1
			(iii)	Acceptances	48,342.4	49,014.2	31,771.4	448.3	21,405.9	302.0
			(iv)	Other financial liabilities	256,348.3	312,674.9	328,556.5	4,635.7	393,142.9	5,547.0
		(b)	Pro	ovisions	58,077.6	79,535.0	101,967.5	1,438.7	94,051.9	1,327.0
		(c)	Cu	rrent tax liabilities (net)	13,925.8	15,590.7	10,176.4	143.6	8,866.4	125.1
		(d)		bilities directly associated with sets held-for-sale	-	10,701.8	-	-	-	-
		(e)	Oth	her current liabilities	64,018.4	76,345.5	95,464.6	1,346.9	77,944.2	1,099.7
					1,156,295.2	1,432,194.7	1,454,574.3	20,523.2	1,411,750.9	19,918.8
Tota	I Equ	ity a	nd L	iabilities	2,737,543.6	3,313,505.1	3,071,945.3	43,343.1	3,002,278.0	42,360.2

Note

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

_		Fisca	l Year		Six montl	ns ended 30 S	eptember
	2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million
Cash flows from operating activities:							
Profit/(Loss) for the period/year	75,565.6	90,913.6	(287,242.0)	(4,052.8)	(28,720.6)	(38,673.6)	(545.7)
Adjustments for:							
Depreciation and amortisation expense	179,049.9	215,535.9	235,906.3	3,328.5	117,983.3	104,112.9	1,469.0
Allowances/(reversal) for finance receivables	(281.5)	433.0	3,202.4	45.2	784.0	3,392.4	47.9
Allowances for trade and other receivables	1,329.3	145.7	2,141.9	30.2	1,369.6	303.0	4.3
Inventory write-down	2,955.9	6,074.2	6,086.3	85.9	2,692.7	2,689.5	37.9
Provision for costs of closure of operations of a subsidiary company	_	_	3,810.1	53.8	4,370.8	(513.1)	(7.2)
Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover	-	_	278,379.1	3,927.7	_	_	-
Provision for loan given to a joint venture	_	_	_	_	_	87.5	1.2
Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost/(credit)	_	(36,090.1)	1,479.3	20.9	_	_	_
Employee separation cost	_	_	13,672.2	192.9	_	1,145.0	16.2
Exceptional items – Others	(11,821.7)	(111.9)	1,092.7	15.4	_	-	-
Marked-to-market on investments neasured at fair value through profit or loss	(56.8)	(320.5)	(2,385.4)	(33.7)	(693.3)	1,961.0	27.7
oss on sale of assets/ mpairment (including assets scrapped/written off) (net)	3,736.9	23,825.5	11,065.6	156.1	4,254.2	3,326.1	46.9
mpairment of Goodwill	142.5	_	_	_	_	_	_
Profit on sale of investments	(1,761.4)	(1,292.6)	(1,286.1)	(18.1)	(581.0)	(747.1)	(10.5)
Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary	_	_	(3,769.8)	(53.2)	_	_	_
Gain on fair value of below narket interest loans	(465.2)	(60.2)	(133.7)	(1.9)	_	_	_
Fair value gain on disposal of oint venture	_	(190.6)	_	_	_	_	_
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	(14,930.0)	(22,782.6)	(2,095.0)	(29.6)	(3,918.8)	6,088.7	85.9
Tax expense (net)	32,512.3	43,419.3	(24,374.5)	(343.9)	(1,437.3)	6,415.4	90.5
nterest/dividend (net)	36,652.9	39,542.1	49,548.6	699.1	22,682.1	29,347.2	414.1
Foreign exchange gain (net)	(14,227.6)	(25,918.0)	2,526.3	35.6	8,082.4	(6,457.0)	(91.1)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes and the following assets and	000 401 1	222 100 0	007 604 0	4.050.1	100 000 1	110 477 0	1 507 1
iabilities	288,401.1	333,122.8	287,624.3	4,058.1	126,868.1	112,477.9	1,587.1
inance receivables	(17,836.4)	(63,612.2)	(100,637.9)	(1,419.9)	(49,098.0)	19,609.1	276.7
rade receivables	(23,686.6)	(43,265.8)	9,547.0	134.7	22,742.7	35,564	501.8
Other current and non-current	3,799.3	(33,433.8)	2,301.3	32.5	823.9	1,443.4	
nventories	(12,749.6)	1,512.5	2,948.8	41.6	(8,835.3)	(5,934.4)	(83.7)
nventories. Trade payables and acceptances	(66,206.7) 93,005.6	(35,604.3) 73,203.4	20,686.4 (46,836.9)	291.9 (660.8)	(82,348.0)	(17,599.1) (77,929.8)	(248.3)

Other current and non-current iabilities	Rs. (in million) 19,114.8 7,442.8 29,659.2 320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0) 533.9	2018 Rs. (in million) (47,569.5) 15,419.8 69,012.9 268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3) (152,134.9)	Rs. (in million) 43,655.5 (300.1) (3,486.6) 215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	19 U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million) 616.0 (4.2) (49.2) 3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	Rs. (in million) (8,164.9) 1,657.9 20,518.2 (54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	Rs. (in million) 2,660.7 6,803.7 (14,121.2) 62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million 37.4 96.0 (199.2) 888.6 (99.1) 789.5
Distriction of the results of the re	(in million) 19,114.8 7,442.8 29,659.2 320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	(47,569.5) 15,419.8 69,012.9 268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2	(in million) 43,655.5 (300.1) (3,486.6) 215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	(in million) 616.0 (4.2) (49.2) 3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	(8,164.9) 1,657.9 20,518.2 (54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	(in million) 2,660.7 6,803.7 (14,121.2) 62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	37.4 96.0 (199.2) 888.6 (99.1) 789.5
Distriction of the results of the re	7,442.8 29,659.2 320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	15,419.8 69,012.9 268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3)	(300.1) (3,486.6) 215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	(4.2) (49.2) 3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	1,657.9 20,518.2 (54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	6,803.7 (14,121.2) 62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	96.0 (199.2) 888.6 (99.1) 789.5
Other financial liabilities	7,442.8 29,659.2 320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	15,419.8 69,012.9 268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3)	(300.1) (3,486.6) 215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	(4.2) (49.2) 3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	1,657.9 20,518.2 (54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	6,803.7 (14,121.2) 62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	96.0 (199.2) 888.6 (99.1) 789.5
Provisions Cash generated from operations ncome tax paid (net) Net cash from operating octivities Cash flows from investing octivities: Payments for property, plant and oquipment Payments for other intangible assets	29,659.2 320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	69,012.9 268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3)	(3,486.6) 215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	(49.2) 3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	20,518.2 (54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	(14,121.2) 62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	(199.2) 888.6 (99.1) 789.5
Cash generated from operations ncome tax paid (net)	320,943.5 (18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	268,785.8 (30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3)	215,501.8 (26,594.3) 188,907.5	3,040.7 (375.2) 2,665.5	(54,074.1) (18,005.8) (72,079.9)	62,974.3 (7,024.2) 55,950.1	888.6 (99.1) 789.5
operations ncome tax paid (net) Net cash from operating activities Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipment Payments for other intangible assets	(18,951.0) 301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	(30,211.6) 238,574.2 (198,654.3)	(26,594.3) 188,907.5	(375.2) 2,665.5	(18,005.8) (72,079.9)	(7,024.2) 55,950.1	(99.1) 789.5
Net cash from operating activities Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipment Payments for other intangible assets	301,992.5 (160,717.8) (143,951.0)	238,574.2 (198,654.3)	188,907.5	2,665.5	(72,079.9)	55,950.1	789.5
Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipment	(160,717.8) (143,951.0)	(198,654.3)		·	, ,		
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(143,951.0)	, ,	(174,195.5)	(2,457.8)	(94,192.7)	(68 106 2)	(060.0)
equipment	(143,951.0)	, ,	(174,195.5)	(2,457.8)	(94,192.7)	(68 106 2)	(060.0
assets	, , ,	(152,134.9)				(00,100.2)	(300.3
Proceeds from sale of property	533.9		(178,839.7)	(2,523.3)	(98,532.2)	(77,192.8)	(1,089.1)
lant and equipment		303.0	672.3	9.5	230.4	191.0	2.7
nvestments in Mutual Fund purchased)/sold (net)	19,143.8	23,610.9	56,390.2	795.6	37,806.9	28,820.8	406.6
excess of cash acquired on cquisition of subsidiary ompany	_	144.5	_	_	_	_	_
nvestment in equity accounted nvestees.	(1,069.5)	(42.1)	(93.1)	(1.3)	(209.9)	(17.0)	(0.2
nvestments in others	(63.6)	(3,287.8)	(1,300.1)	(18.3)	(124.0)	(456.6)	(6.4
oans given to others	(97.8)	_	(34.2)	(0.5)	_	_	` _
Repayment of loan by other	7.5	_	_		_	_	_
Repayment of loan by joint peration	1,325.0	_	_	_	_	_	_
oans given to joint ventures and ssociates	_	_	(37.5)	(0.5)	(37.5)	_	_
Proceeds from sale of nvestments in a subsidiary ompany			5,329.6	75.2	(/		
Proceeds from sale of			3,329.0	73.2			
ompanies	506.1	194.3	51.8	0.7	55.7	52.8	0.7
nterest received	6,381.8	6,904.7	7,605.2	107.3	2,931.3	5,617.1	79.2
Dividend received	105.1	157.7	172.8	2.4	167.4	197.5	2.8
Dividend received from equity accounted investees	6,091.9	17,816.4	2,149.8	30.3	2,121.6	142.6	2.0
Increase)/Decrease in hort-term inter-corporate			(1.5.5)	(5.5)	()	(
leposit	300.0	_	(19.8)	(0.3)	(65.0)	(66.7)	(0.9
nstitution	(350.0)	(400,000,5)	(5,000.3)	(70.6)	(114 110 0)	(2,500.0)	(35.3
Realisation of deposits/restricted	(451,271.9)	(482,600.5)	(243,310.7)	(3,433.0)	(114,116.0)	(126,262.0)	(1,781.5
Realisation of deposit with	342,327.7	525,572.0	333,425.9	4,704.5	233,456.2	136,576.7	1,927.0
payments for acquisition of	_	_	(77.6)	- (1.1)	_	2,500	35.3
ninority stake of subsidiary let cash used in investing ctivities	(380,798.8)	(262,016.1)	(77.6) (197,110.9)	(1.1)	(30,507.8)	(100,502.8)	(1,418.0

		Fiscal	l Year		Six mont	ns ended 30 S	eptember
	2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
Cash flows from financing activities:							
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance (net of issue expenses)	45.5	0.0	_	_	_	_	_
Proceeds from issue of shares to minority shareholders	6.2	_	_	_	_	_	_
Proceeds from long-term borrowings	183,845.2	151,452.1	261,018.6	3,682.9	124,014.7	72,644.8	1,025.0
Repayment of long-term porrowings	(92,121.3)	(105,872.5)	(133,458.9)	(1,883.0)	(49,367.0)	(32,472.2)	(458.2)
Proceeds from derivatives of long-term borrowings	_	_	_	_	_	1,437.1	20.3
Proceeds from short-term porrowings	150,052.6	150,087.3	201,124.6	2,837.7	212,826.9	62,283.5	878.8
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(117,537.1)	(193,766.2)	(218,521.3)	(3,083.2)	(221,496.1)	(163,398.5)	(2,305.5)
Payments towards Right to use Assets (including interest)	-	-	_	-	_	(6,530.9)	(92.1)
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months)	(7,662.5)	73,282.4	49,139.0	693.3	48,322.5	115,821.2	1,634.2
Dividend paid (including dividend distribution tax)	(730.0)	_	_	_	_	_	_
Dividend paid to non-controlling nterests shareholders of subsidiaries (including dividend distribution tax)	(482.2)	(959.6)	(947.4)	(13.4)	(362.5)	(463.8)	(6.6)
nterest paid (including discounting charges paid Rs.12,012.0 million (31 March 2018 Rs.9,189.0 million), 31 March 2017 Rs.6,664.0 million), (30 September 2019 Rs.6,416.1 million), 30 September 2018 Rs.5,855.2 million))	(53,363.4)	(54,106.4)	(70,050.9)	(988.4)	(31,915.0)	(36,148.8)	(510.1)
Net cash from financing	62,053.0	20,117.1	88,303.7	1,245.9	82,023.5	13,172.4	185.8
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(16,753.3)	(3,324.8)	80,100.3	1,130.2	(20,564.2)	(31,380.3)	(442.8)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April (opening balance).	171,536.1	139,867.6	147,167.5	2,076.4	147,167.5	215,598.0	3,041.9
Reversal of/(classified as) held or sale	_	(2,439.4)	2,439.4	34.4	(1,500.4)	_	_
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	(14,915.2)	13,064.1	(14,109.2)	(199.1)	2,329.3	(717.7)	(10.0)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 11 March/30 September (closing balance)	139,867.6	147,167.5	215,598.0	3,041.9	127,432.2	183,500.0	2,589.1
Non-cash transactions:	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
Liability towards property, plant and equipment and intangible assets purchased on credit/deferred credit	33,463.5	83,465.4	72,863.2	1,028.1	61,128.6	63,987.1	902.8

		Fisca	l Year		Six mont	hs ended 30 S	eptember
	2017	2018	20	2019		2019	
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash transactions:							
Exchange differences	_(2)	27,680.3	11,201.5	158.0	35,252.1	3,044.5	43.0
Classified as held for sale	-	(1,425.5)	_	-	_	-	_
Amortisation of prepaid discounting charges	_(2)	2,027.0	1,581.9	22.3	777.1	(602.8)	(8.5)

Note:

- (1) Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.
- (2) Disclosure applicable from Fiscal Year 2018.

Standalone Financial Information

The standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended 30 September 2019 and as at and for the years ended 31 March 2019, 2018 and 2017 set forth below is derived from the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, respectively.

Standalone Profit and Loss Statement

			Fisca	l Year		Six month	hs ended 30 S	eptember
		2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
Re	venue from operations							
Re	venue	480,787.7	582,343.3	687,648.8	9,702.3	342,364.6	231,635.2	3,268.2
Oth	ner operating revenue	9,757.2	4,554.8	4,378.8	61.8	1,972.2	1,888.7	26.6
I	Total Revenue from operations	490,544.9	586,898.1	692,027.6	9,764.1	344,336.8	233,523.9	3,294.8
П	Other Income	9,810.6	24,924.8	25,546.6	360.4	18,654.6	7,626.2	107.6
Ш	Total income	500,355.5	611,822.9	717,574.2	10,124.5	362,991.4	241,150.1	3,402.4
IV	Expenses							
	(a) Cost of materials consumed	276,516.5	370,804.5	437,487.7	6,172.7	230,102.9	149,322.1	2,106.8
	(b) Purchases of products for sale	39,459.7	47,624.1	67,223.2	948.5	31,862.6	29,556.3	417.0
	(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale	(2,521.4)	8,420.5	1,446.9	20.4	(12,102.8)	(8,141.3)	(114.9)
	(d) Excise duty	47,381.5	7,932.8	_	_	_	_	_
	(e) Employee benefits expense	37,643.5	39,667.3	42,731.0	602.9	20,783.2	22,164.3	312.7
	(f) Finance costs	15,690.1	17,444.3	17,935.7	253.1	9,363.5	9,374.1	132.3
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	(2,527.8)	171.4	2,152.2	30.4	4,963.0	320.3	4.5
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense	30,371.2	31,018.9	30,986.4	437.2	14,592.0	15,377.0	217.0
	(i) Product development/ Engineering expenses	4,544.8	4,749.8	5,717.6	80.7	2,086.2	3,270.7	46.1
	(j) Other expenses	83,359.0	92,342.7	96,804.6	1,365.8	49,592.0	39,804.1	561.6
	(k) Amount transferred to capital and other accounts	(9,416.0)	(8,550.8)	(10,931.1)	(154.2)	(5,328.3)	(6,083.5)	(85.8)
	Total Expenses	520,501.1	611,625.5	691,554.2	9,757.5	345,914.3	254,964.1	3,597.3
٧	Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax	(20,145.6)	197.4	26,020.0	367.0	17,077.1	(13,814.0)	(194.9)

			Fisca	l Year		Six mont	hs ended 30 S	eptember
		2017	2018	20	119	2018	20	19
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million
′I	Exceptional items							
	(a) Provision for loan given/ investments in a subsidiary company/joint venture	1,231.7	_	2,418.6	34.1	_	190.4	2.7
	(b) Employee separation cost	676.1	36.8	42.3	0.6	_	3.3	0.0
	(c) Write off/provision/ (reversal) of capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development (net)	-	9,629.8	1,806.6	25.5	932.1	(831.1)	(11.7)
	(d) Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary company	_	_	(3,329.5)	(47.0)	_	_	_
	(e) Others	1,479.3	_	1,092.7	15.4	-	-	_
II	Profit/(loss) before tax	(23,532.7)	(9,469.2)	23,989.3	338.4	16,145.0	(13,176.6)	(185.9)
Ш	Tax expense (net)							
	(a) Current tax (including Minimum Alternate							
	Tax)	570.6	926.3	2,946.6	41.6	2,802.0	167.9	2.4
	(b) Deferred tax	192.7	(47.0)	836.7	11.8	375.1	446.2	6.3
	Total tax expense	763.3	879.3	3,783.3	53.4	3,177.1	614.1	8.7
(Profit/(loss) for the period from continuing operations	(24,296.0)	(10,348.5)	20,206.0	285.0	12,967.9	(13,790.7)	(194.6)
	Other comprehensive income/(loss):							
A)	(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:							
	(a) Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)	82.4	182.4	(671.4)	(9.5)	(27.4)	(363.2)	(5.1)
	(b) Equity instruments fair value through other comprehensive income	738.4	440.4	554.4	7.8	548.5	(199.0)	(2.8)
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/ credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss	(31.2)	(62.7)	180.7	2.5	9.6	(16.2)	(0.2)
3)	(i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss – gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges	233.2	(195.6)	(457.2)	(6.5)	(569.4)	(975.8)	(13.8)
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/ credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss	(80.7)	67.7	159.2	2.2	198.4	341.0	4.8
	Total other comprehensive income/(loss),							

			Fisca	l Year		Six montl	nths ended 30 September		
		2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19	
		Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	
ΧI	Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period/Year	(23,353.9)	(9,916.3)	19,971.7	281.5	13,127.6	(15,003.9)	(211.7)	
XII	Earnings per equity share (EPS) (in Rs. and U.S.\$)								
(A)	Ordinary shares (face value of Rs. 2 each):								
	(i) Basic Rs./\$	(7.2)	(3.1)	5.9	0.1	3.8	(4.1)	(0.1)	
	(ii) Diluted Rs./\$	(7.2)	(3.1)	5.9	0.1	3.8	(4.1)	(0.1)	
(B)	'A' Ordinary share (face value of Rs. 2 each):								
	(i) Basic Rs./\$	(7.2)	(3.1)	6.0	0.1	3.9	(4.1)	(0.1)	
	(ii) Diluted Rs./\$	(7.2)	(3.1)	6.0	0.1	3.9	(4.1)	(0.1)	

Note:

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

Standalone Balance Sheet

	As at 31 March			As at 30 September		
	2017	2018	20	19	2019	
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million
ASSETS						
NON-CURRENT ASSETS						
Property, plant and equipment	178,971.2	181,925.2	183,166.1	2,584.4	183,223.8	2,585.2
Capital work-in-progress	19,026.1	13,714.5	21,469.6	302.9	22,585.4	318.7
Right to use assets	-	_	_	_	6,069.0	85.6
Goodwill	990.9	990.9	990.9	14.0	990.9	14.0
Other intangible assets	27,767.1	33,121.4	38,711.3	546.2	38,477.4	542.9
Intangible assets under development	53,683.8	38,251.5	41,396.3	584.1	46,115.0	650.7
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates	143,300.2	139,506.0	147,708.1	2,084.1	154,931.2	2,186.0
Financial assets						
(i) Investments	5,283.7	3,101.9	6,633.8	93.6	6,443.9	90.9
(ii) Loans and advances	3,914.6	1,439.6	1,431.3	20.2	1,372.9	19.4
(iii) Other financial assets	1,963.2	7,934.0	9,943.9	140.3	10,667.3	150.5
Non-current tax assets (net)	7,726.7	6,957.5	7,153.0	100.9	7,014.0	99.0
Other non-current assets	18,584.5	15,463.9	18,199.0	256.8	15,257.1	215.3
Sub-Total	461,212.0	442,406.4	476,803.3	6,727.5	493,147.9	6,958.2
CURRENT ASSETS						
nventories	55,530.1	56,701.3	46,620.0	657.8	52,851.5	745.7
nvestments in subsidiaries and associate held-for-sale)	-	6,819.1	2,578.1	36.4	-	-
Financial assets						
(i) Investments	24,374.2	18,208.7	11,753.7	165.8	6,905.7	97.4
(ii) Trade receivables	21,280.0	34,798.1	32,506.4	458.6	32,839.8	463.3
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	2,289.4	5,468.2	4,874.0	68.8	8,986.8	126.8
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	976.7	2,486.0	8,192.1	115.6	7,398.7	104.4
(v) Loans and advances	2,159.6	1,402.7	2,000.8	28.2	1,494.8	21.1
(vi) Other financial assets	1,415.4	6,463.1	12,796.8	180.6	17,138.0	241.8
Current tax assets (net)	1,294.9	738.8	_	_	_	_
Assets classified as held-for-sale	-	2,233.3	1,622.4	22.9	1,768.0	24.9
Other current assets	18,250.5	14,397.3	9,348.7	131.9	11,795.6	166.4
Sub-Total	127,570.8	149,716.6	132,293.0	1,866.6	141,178.9	1,991.8
TOTAL ASSETS	588,782.8	592,123.0	609,096.3	8,594.1	634,326.8	8,950.0
EQUITY						
Equity share capital	6,792.2	6,792.2	6,792.2	95.8	6,792.2	95.8
Other equity	204,833.9	194,917.6	214,833.0	3,031.2	199,882.0	2,820.2
Total	211,626.1	201,709.8	221,625.2	3,127.0	206,674.2	2,916.0

	As at 31 March				As at 30 S	September
	2017	2017 2018 2019		19	2019	
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)
LIABILITIES						
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES						
Financial liabilities						
(i) Borrowings and lease liabilities	136,860.9	131,559.1	139,198.1	1,964.0	131,139.0	1,850.3
(ii) Other financial liabilities	11,302.3	2,112.8	1,808.0	25.5	4,224.8	59.6
Provisions	8,921.8	10,094.8	12,815.9	180.8	12,629.4	178.2
Deferred tax liabilities (net)	1,475.8	1,546.1	2,058.6	29.0	2,181.3	30.8
Other non-current liabilities	3,212.4	2,910.9	2,182.4	30.8	2,653.2	37.4
Total	161,773.2	148,223.7	158,063.0	2,230.1	152,827.7	2,156.3
CURRENT LIABILITIES						
Financial liabilities						
(i) Borrowings	51,585.2	30,998.7	36,177.2	510.4	102,515.9	1,446.4
(ii) Trade payables	70,829.5	94,110.5	104,088.3	1,468.6	78,388.7	1,106.1
(iii) Acceptances	43,792.9	48,145.8	30,932.8	436.4	21,227.2	299.5
(iv) Other financial liabilities	24,859.4	40,911.6	22,379.8	315.8	47,211.4	666.1
Provisions	4,771.7	8,629.2	11,486.9	162.1	10,167.1	143.5
Current tax liabilities (net)	836.8	217.7	783.0	11.0	379.2	5.4
Other current liabilities	18,708.0	19,176.0	23,560.1	332.4	14,935.4	210.7
Sub-Total	215,383.5	242,189.5	229,408.1	3,236.7	274,824.9	3,877.7
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	588,782.8	592,123.0	609,096.3	8,593.8	634,326.8	8,950.0

Note:

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

Standalone Cash Flow Statement

		Fisca	l Year		Six mont	Six months ended 30 September			
	2017	2018	20	19	2018	2018 2019			
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million		
Cash flows from operating activities:									
Profit/(loss) for the period/year	(24,296.0)	(10,348.5)	20,206.0	285.1	12,967.9	(13,790.7)	(194.6)		
Adjustments for:									
Depreciation and amortisation expense	30,371.2	31,018.9	30,986.4	437.2	14,592.0	15,377.0	217.0		
Allowances/(reversal) for trade and other receivables	1,337.2	(1,091.9)	1,709.0	24.1	1,137.2	(77.8)	(1.1)		
nventory write down/(reversal) (net)	1,033.5	1,628.7	421.3	5.9	26.6	675.5	9.5		
(Profit)/loss on sale of assets (net) (including assets scrapped/written off)	1,402.9	6,891.7	2,239.4	31.6	1,312.6	2,287.1	32.3		
Profit on sale of investments at FVTPL (net)	(1,167.6)	(1,031.7)	(692.7)	(9.8)	(417.5)	(141.5)	(2.0)		
Marked-to-market on investments measured at Fair value through									
orofit or loss	(37.5)	(20.3)	(19.0)	(0.3)	(130.7)	0.1	_		
Share-based payments	_	_	84.4	1.2	9.7	52.9	0.7		
Provision for investments in/ oan given to subsidiary companies/joint venture	1,231.7	_	2,418.6	34.1	_	190.4	2.7		
Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary company	-	_	(3,329.5)	(47.0)	_	_	_		
Vrite off/Provision of capital vork-in-progress and intangibles inder development (net)	_	9,629.8	1,806.6	25.5	932.1	(831.1)	(11.7)		
Exceptional item – others	1,479.3	9,029.0	1,000.0	15.4	932.1	(031.1)	(11.7)		
Gain on fair value of below	1,479.3	_	1,092.7	13.4	_	_	_		
narket interest loans	(465.2)	(60.2)	(133.7)	(1.9)	-	-	_		
ax expense	763.3	879.3	3,783.3	53.4	3,177.1	614.1	8.7		
nterest/dividend (net)	7,084.6	2,920.3	(685.5)	(9.7)	(5,407.2)	4,644.1	65.5		
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss net)	(2,121.0)	492.4	1,782.6	25.2	5,067.7	(3,903.9)	(55.1)		
net)	40,912.4	51,257.0	41,463.9	584.9	20,299.6	18,886.9	266.5		
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in	.0,0 .2	01,20710	,	35.115	20,200.0	. 0,000.0	200.0		
ollowing assets and iabilities	16,616.4	40,908.5	61,669.9	870.0	33,267.5	5,096.2	71.9		
rade receivables	(1,990.7)	(12,174.4)	1,645.0	23.2	(3,999.6)	(646.5)	(9.1)		
oans and advances and other inancial assets	(1,073.7)	(10,918.1)	(2,761.1)	(39.0)	(1,036.2)	248.9	3.5		
Other current and non-current	(0.000.0)	4.000.0	0.047.7	00.0	(0.000.0)	(0.10.7)	(44.6)		
ssets	(3,299.6)	4,298.6	2,047.7	28.9	(2,228.6)	(840.7)	(11.9)		
nventories Frade payables and	(5,717.7)	(2,778.0)	9,660.0	136.3	(14,167.6)	(6,907.0)	(97.5)		
acceptances	23,137.7	27,636.5	(7,252.9)	(102.3)	(7,599.2)	(35,403.7)	(499.5)		
iabilities	243.9	(1,385.1)	3,239.5	45.7	(2,319.6)	(9,245.4)	(130.4)		
Other financial liabilities	(13,089.6)	(9,572.3)	(8,920.0)	(125.9)	(4,703.6)	4,419.8	62.4		
Provisions	858.8	5,407.8	5,420.4	76.5	3,760.4	(1,539.1)	(21.7)		
Cash generated from/(used in) operations	15,685.5	41,423.5	64,748.5	913.4	973.5	(44,817.5)	(632.3)		
ncome taxes credit/(paid) net)	(1,151.0)	(84.1)	(1,822.2)	(25.7)	(54.5)	(432.8)	(6.1)		
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities	14,534.5	41,339.4	62,926.3	887.7	919.0	(45,250.3)	(638.4)		

Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipments (19,588.1) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (18,930.3) (281.2) (7,141.7) (8,669.4) (122.3) (122			Fisca	l Year		Six montl	Six months ended 30 September			
Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipments (19,588.1) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (27,904.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,694.1) (136.8) (13,785.8) (18,930.3) (281.2) (7,141.7) (8,669.4) (122.3) (122		2017	2018	20	19	2018	20	19		
activities: Payments for property, plant and equipments (19,888.1) (13,785.8) (27,004.5) (393.7) (11,958.2) (9,894.1) (136.8) Payments for other intangible assets								U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million		
Payments for property, plant and enumerations of the property of the enumeration of the intangable assets										
Payments for other intangible assets										
assets		(19,588.1)	(13,785.8)	(27,904.5)	(393.7)	(11,958.2)	(9,694.1)	(136.8)		
plant and equipments	assets	(15,547.9)	(14,443.7)	(19,930.3)	(281.2)	(7,141.7)	(8,669.4)	(122.3)		
gurchased/sold (neth (6,374.0) 10,255.9 4,137.4 58.4 (7,644.4) 1,974.1 27.9 movestments in subsidiary companies	plant and equipments	171.1	281.5	302.5	4.3	158.5	162.3	2.3		
companies (1,390.8) (3,000.0) (8,379.8) (118.2) — (4,670.0) (65.9) Purchase of business from a subsidiary company — (10.0) — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	(purchased)/sold (net)	(5,374.0)	10,255.9	4,137.4	58.4	(7,644.4)	1,974.1	27.9		
subsidiary company	companies	(1,390.8)	(3,000.0)	(8,379.8)	(118.2)	-	(4,670.0)	(65.9)		
Investment in other companies.		_	_	(1.0)	_	_	-	-		
Loans given to joint ventures		_	_	51.8	0.7	51.8	-	-		
Loans to subsidiary companies. (0.7) - (5.0) (0.1) (5.0) (77.9) (1.1) Repsyment of loans to others 7.5	Investments in joint ventures	(0.1)	(25.0)	_	_	_	_	_		
Repayment of loans to others	Loan given to joint ventures	_	-	(37.5)	(0.5)	(37.5)	-	-		
Sale of Investment in a Subsidiary company.	Loans to subsidiary companies	(0.7)	_	(5.0)	(0.1)	(5.0)	(77.9)	(1.1)		
Sale of Investment in a Subsidiary company.	Repayment of loans to others	7.5	_	_	_	_	_	_		
Sale of Investment in a subsidiary company	• •	_	(416.3)	_	_	_	_	_		
Institution (350.0)		_	_	5,329.6	75.2	_	_	_		
Institution (350.0)	Deposits with financial									
Comparison Com	institution	(350.0)	_	(5,000.0)	(70.5)	_	(2,500.0)	(35.3)		
Repayment of loans to joint operations to joint operations	financial institution	-	_	_	_	_	2,500.0	35.3		
Deposits/restricted deposits with banks	term inter corporate deposit	200.0	600.0	(20.0)	(0.3)	_	(30.0)	(0.4)		
banks	operations	1,325.0	_	-	_	_	-	-		
deposits with banks . 3,790.0 6,577.1 2,570.8 36.3 10,190.1 5,265.0 74.3 Interest received . 2,588.7 3,993.4 3,271.6 46.2 1,272.1 2,690.5 38.0 Dividend received . 6,726.5 10,546.9 15,686.1 221.3 13,909.9 2,044.7 28.8 Net cash from/(used in) investing activities . (28,590.0) (7,102.7) (38,205.5) (538.9) (10,502.7) (15,476.2) (218.3) Cash flows from financing activities	banks	(1,147.2)	(7,686.7)	(8,277.2)	(116.8)	(9,298.3)	(4,471.4)	(63.1)		
Interest received	•	2 700 0	6 577 1	2 570 9	26.2	10 100 1	5 265 0	7/2		
Dividend received	•	•					*			
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities. (28,590.0) (7,102.7) (38,205.5) (538.9) (10,502.7) (15,476.2) (218.3) Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance 45.5 0.0*										
Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	Net cash from/(used in)		,							
activities Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	· ·	(28,590.0)	(7,102.7)	(38,205.5)	(538.9)	(10,502.7)	(15,476.2)	(218.3)		
held in abeyance	activities									
borrowings		45.5	0.0*	-	-	-	-	-		
borrowings	<u> </u>	40,705.2	16,218.0	31,197.1	440.2	26,021.3	15,000.0	211.6		
long-term borrowings		(25,962.2)	(5,871.0)	(38,236.9)	(539.5)	(30,383.9)	(5,742.6)	(81.0)		
borrowings		-	_	_	_	_	1,437.1	20.30		
borrowings		66,166.7	36,447.0	62,741.9	885.2	29,223.1	59,045.9	833.1		
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months) (15,788.3) 11,394.4 (5,889.7) (83.1) 18,747.6 36,545.6 515.6 Repayment towards right to use	Repayment of short-term	(32,984.4)	(68,232.8)	(51,536.1)	(727.1)	(24,222.1)	(29,874.7)	(421.5)		
three months) (15,788.3) 11,394.4 (5,889.7) (83.1) 18,747.6 36,545.6 515.6 Repayment towards right to use	Net change in other short-term	(- /)	(,)	(- ,2)	,	(, -=)	(-,2)	(=3)		
	9 1	(15,788.3)	11,394.4	(5,889.7)	(83.1)	18,747.6	36,545.6	515.6		
		_	_	_	_	_	(947.2)	(13.4)		

		Fisca	l Year		Six months ended 30 September			
	2017	2017 2018 2019 2018		2018	2018 20			
	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	Rs. (in million)	Rs. (in million)	U.S.\$ ⁽¹⁾ (in million)	
Dividend paid (including dividend distribution tax)	(730.0)	(27.5)	(26.3)	(0.4)	-	(0.7)	-	
discounting charges paid Rs.2,047.9 million (30 September 2018 Rs.2,350.1 million, 31 March 2019 Rs.4,490.4 million, 31 March 2018 Rs.4,782.8 million, 31 March 2017 Rs.2,490.6 million)	(19,364.5)	(20,984.4)	(23,547.0)	(332.2)	(11,690.4)	(10,802.4)	(152.5)	
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	12,088.0	(31,056.3)	(25,297.0)	(356.9)	7,695.6	64,661.0	912.2	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	(1,967.5)	3,180.4	(576.2)	(8.1)	(1,888.1)	3,934.5	55.5	
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April (opening balance)	4,270.7	2,289.4	5,468.2	77.2	5,468.2	4,874.0	68.8	
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	(13.8)	(1.6)	(18.0)	(0.3)	39.7	178.3	2.5	
Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 September/31 March (closing balance)	2,289.4	5,468.2	4,874.0	68.8	3,619.8	8,986.8	126.8	
Non-cash transactions:								
Liability towards property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets purchased on credit/deferred credit	3,278.2	2,580.4	4,381.9	61.8	3,609.0	4,907.6	69.2	
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash transactions:								
Exchange differences	(1,240.6)	256.6	3,415.1	48.2	6,258.4	1,402.8	19.8	
Amortisation/effective interest rate adjustments of borrowings	139.0	137.3	32.1	0.5	262.8	491.3	6.9	

Note:

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

Comparison of the standalone financial information as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 derived from the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements against the standalone financial information as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements

The standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 included (as a comparative) in the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements were adjusted to give effect to the scheme of merger of TML Drivelines Ltd with the Company. For more information, please refer to "Note 47(iii) of the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements". Consequently, the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements (a) is not directly comparable to the standalone financial information of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 March 2017 (as a comparative) derived from the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and (b) set forth below are for reference purposes only. Potential investors must therefore exercise caution when using such data to evaluate the Issuer's financial condition and results of operation.

Standalone Profit and Loss Statement

		Fiscal Y	ear 2017
		Derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements	Derived from the 2018 Audited Standalond Financial Statements
		Rs. (in	million)
Re	venue from operations		
Re	venue	483,884.9	480,787.7
Oth	ner operating revenue	7,119.2	9,757.2
I	Total Revenue from operations	491,004.1	490,544.9
II	Other Income	9,788.4	9,810.6
Ш	Total income	500,792.5	500,355.5
IV	Expenses		
	(a) Cost of materials consumed	276,544.0	276,516.5
	(b) Purchases of products for sale	39,459.7	39,459.7
	(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods,		
	work-in-progress and products for sale	(2,514.3)	(2,521.4
	(d) Excise duty	47,364.1	47,381.5
	(e) Employee benefits expense	35,585.2	37,643.5
	(f) Finance costs	15,901.5	15,690.1
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	(2,524.5)	(2,527.8
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense	29,693.9	30,371.2
	(i) Product development/Engineering expenses	4,544.8	4,544.8
	(j) Other expenses	86,974.2	83,359.0
	(k) Amount transferred to capital and other accounts	(9,415.5)	(9,416.0
	Total Expenses	521,613.1	520,501.1

		Fiscal Y	ear 2017
		Derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements	Derived from the 2018 Audited Standalond Financial Statements
		Rs. (in	million)
V F	Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax	(20,820.6)	(20,145.6)
V١	Exceptional items		
	(a) Provision for impairment of investment in a subsidiary	1,231.7	1,231.7
	(b) Employee separation cost	676.1	676.1
	(c) Others	1,479.3	1,479.3
VII	Profit/(loss) before tax	(24,207.7)	(23,532.7)
VIII	Tax expense (net)		
	(a) Current tax (including Minimum Alternate Tax)	445.2	570.6
	(b) Deferred tax	147.0	192.7
	Total tax expense	592.2	763.3
IX	Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations	(24,799.9)	(24,296.0
Χ	Other comprehensive income/(loss):		
(A)		840.2	820.8
	(a) Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)	101.8	82.4
	(b) Equity instruments at fair value through other		
	comprehensive income	738.4	738.4
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will		
	not be reclassified to profit or loss	(37.9)	(31.2)
(B)	(i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss – gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges	233.2	233.2
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be	200.2	200.2
	reclassified to profit or loss	(80.7)	(80.7
,	Total other comprehensive income/(loss), net of taxes	954.8	942.1
ΧI	Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Year	(23,845.1)	(23,353.9)
	Earnings per equity share (EPS)		
(A)	Ordinary shares (face value of Rs.2 each):		
	(i) Basic (Rs.)	(7.3)	(7.2)
	(ii) Diluted (Rs.)	(7.3)	(7.2)
(B)	'A' Ordinary shares (face value of Rs.2 each):	(7.0)	(7.0)
	(i) Basic (Rs.)	(7.3)	(7.2) (7.2)
	(ii) Diluted (Rs.)	(7.3)	

Standalone Balance Sheet Fiscal Year 2017 **Derived** Derived from the from the 2017 2018 Audited Audited Standalone Standalone **Financial Financial Statements Statements** Rs. (in million) **ASSETS NON-CURRENT ASSETS** 178,971.2 173,647.7 18,709.3 19,026.1 990.9 990.9 27,736.9 27,767.1 53,660.3 53,683.8 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 147,788.7 143,300.2 (i) 5,283.7 5,283.7 3,896.1 3,914.6 (iii) Other financial assets 1,963.2 1,963.2 Non-current tax assets (net) 7,245.8 7,726.7 18,562.8 18,584.5 459,485.4 461,212.0 **CURRENT ASSETS** 55,044.2 55,530.1 Financial assets (i) 24,009.2 24,374.2 Trade receivables..... 21,280.0 21,280.0 (iii) Cash and cash equivalents 1,883.9 2,289.4 976.7 976.7 Loans and advances 2,313.5 2,159.6 (vi) Other financial assets 1,007.6 1,415.4 1,294.9 1,294.9 Other current assets..... 18,070.6 18,250.5 125,880.6 127,570.8

585,366.0

588,782.8

TOTAL ASSETS.....

	Fiscal Y	ear 2017
	Derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements	Derived from the 2018 Audited Standalon Financial Statement
	Rs. (in	million)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		
Equity share capital	6,792.2	6,792.2
Other equity	201,299.3	204,833.9
Sub-Total	208,091.5	211,626.1
LIABILITIES		
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		
Financial liabilities		
(i) Borrowings	136,860.9	136,860.9
(ii) Other financial liabilities	11,236.6	11,302.3
Provisions	8,507.1	8,921.8
Deferred tax liabilities (net)	979.5	1,475.8
Other non-current liabilities	3,212.4	3,212.4
Sub-Total	160,796.5	161,773.2
CURRENT LIABILITIES		
Financial liabilities		
(i) Borrowings	53,755.2	51,585.2
(ii) Trade payables	70,152.1	70,829.5
(iii) Acceptances	43,792.9	43,792.9
(iv) Other financial liabilities	24,651.4	24,859.4
Provisions	4,679.8	4,771.7
Current tax liabilities (net)	806.4	836.8
Other current liabilities	18,640.2	18,708.0
Sub-Total	216,478.0	215,383.5
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	585,366.0	588,782.8

Standalone Cash Flow Statement

	Fiscal Year 2017	
	Derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements	Derived from the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements
	Rs. (in	million)
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit/(loss) for the year	(24,799.9)	(24,296.0)
Depreciation and amortisation expense	29,693.9	30,371.2
Allowances/(reversal) for trade and other receivables	1,337.2	1,337.2
Inventory write down/(reversal) (net)	1,033.5	1,033.5
off)	1,394.9	1,402.9
Profit on sale of investments at FVTPL (net)	(1,167.6)	(1,167.6)
through profit or loss	(9.3)	(37.5)
Provision for impairment of investments in subsidiary	1,231.7	1,231.7
Exceptional item-others	1,479.3	1,479.3
Gain on fair value of below market interest loans	(465.2)	(465.2)
Tax expense	592.2	763.3
Interest/dividend (net)	7,290.0	7,084.6
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	(2,121.0)	(2,121.0)
	40,289.6	40,912.4
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in following assets and liabilities	15,489.7	16,616.4
Trade receivables	(1,996.3)	(1,990.7)
Loans and advances and other financial assets	(802.8)	(1,073.7)
Other current and non-current assets	(3,258.4)	(3,299.6)
Inventories	(5,667.7)	(5,717.7)
Trade payables and acceptances	22,980.2	23,137.7
Other current and non-current liabilities	237.1	243.9
Other financial liabilities	(13,074.3)	(13,089.6)
Provisions	844.7	858.8
Cash generated from operations	14,752.2	15,685.5
Income taxes credit/(paid) (net)	(937.5)	(1,151.0)
Net cash from operating activities	13,814.7	14,534.5

	Derived from the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements	Derived from the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements
	Rs. (in	million)
Cash flows from investing activities: Payments for property, plant and equipment Payments for other intangible assets Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment Investments in Mutual Fund (purchased)/sold (net) Investments in subsidiary companies Investments in joint ventures Loans to subsidiary companies Repayment of loans to others (Increase)/Decrease in short term inter corporate deposit. Repayment of loans to joint operations Deposits with financial institution Deposits/restricted deposits with banks. Realisation of deposits/restricted deposits with banks.	(18,728.3) (15,541.6) 154.1 (5,374.0) (1,390.8) - (0.7) 7.5 200.0 1,325.0 - (1,147.1) 3,790.0	(19,588.1) (15,547.9) 171.1 (5,374.0) (1,390.8) (0.1) (0.7) 7.5 200.0 1,325.0 (350.0) (1,147.2) 3,790.0
Interest received	2,561.1 6,765.0	2,588.7 6,726.5
Net cash used in investing activities	(27,379.8)	(28,590.0)
Cash flows from financing activities Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	45.5 40,705.2 (25,962.2) 66,166.7 (32,984.4) (16,472.8) (730.0) (19,575.9)	45.5 40,705.2 (25,962.2) 66,166.7 (32,984.4) (15,788.3) (730.0) (19,364.5)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	11,192.1	12,088.0
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(2,373.0) 4,270.7 (13.8)	(1,967.5) 4,270.7 (13.8)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March (closing balance)	1,883.9	2,289.4
Non-cash transactions: Liability towards property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets purchased on credit/deferred credit Increase/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash transactions:	3,278.2	3,278.2
Exchange differences	-* -*	(1,240.6) 139.0

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes involves risks. Prospective purchasers of the Notes should carefully consider all of the information in this Offering Circular and, in particular, the risks described below, prior to making an investment decision with respect to the Notes. If any of these risks were to occur, the Company's, business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and purchasers of the Notes could suffer the loss of their entire investment. The following information is not an exhaustive list of the risks associated with a purchase of the Notes. Additional risks and uncertainties that the Company is unaware of, or that are currently deemed immaterial, could also have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. Prospective purchasers of the Notes must therefore reach their own views and rely on their own investigations prior to making any investment decision.

In this section, any references to "Jaguar Land Rover" are to Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Jaguar Land Rover is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TML Holdings Pte. Ltd., which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer.

Risks associated with the Company's Business and the Automotive Industry.

The United Kingdom's contemplated exit from the European Union may adversely impact Jaguar Land Rover's business, results of operations and financial condition.

In a non binding referendum on the United Kingdom's membership in the European Union in June 2016, a majority of the electorate voted for the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union. Following the United Kingdom's invocation of Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty on 29 March 2017, the United Kingdom is currently negotiating its exit from the European Union with the aim to define a withdrawal agreement which should cover several aspects of the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the EU, in particular as to civil rights, financial disputes, protocols on Ireland, Gibraltar and Cyprus and a number of other regulations in connection with the withdrawal (the "Withdrawal Agreement"). In November 2018, the United Kingdom and the European Union agreed upon a draft Withdrawal Agreement setting out the terms of the United Kingdom's departure. This agreement included a two-year transition period, during which the European Union would treat the United Kingdom as if it were still a member of the European Union. This was included to facilitate the orderly withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union and to provide additional legal certainty once European Union law ceases to apply to the United Kingdom. Although the Withdrawal Agreement has already been ratified by the European Union, the ratification by the United Kingdom is uncertain as of the date of this Offering Circular, as the British Parliament has already rejected approval of the Withdrawal Agreement in three parliamentary votes and may never approve it. On 11 April 2019, after a first extension until at least 12 April 2019, the European Council granted an extension of the notice period under Article 50 to 31 October 2019. On 18 October 2019 the European Union and the government of the United Kingdom agreed on an amended Withdrawal Agreement, which was again rejected by the U.K. Parliament. As a result, the United Kingdom and the European Union agreed to a new extension until 31 January 2020. In addition, the U.K. Parliament voted to call a general election on 12 December 2019. As of the date of this Offering Circular, the form of the United Kingdom's expected withdrawal from, and future relations with, the European Union is highly uncertain. If the United Kingdom or the EU member states do not approve a new Withdrawal Agreement by 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom would exit the European Union without an agreement and without any transition period, unless, prior to such date, another extension is applied for by the United Kingdom and agreed to by the European Union, or the Article 50 notification is validly revoked by the United Kingdom. Because the political situation surrounding Brexit has been characterised by rapid developments and unexpected change, it is ultimately impossible to predict the timing, or eventual results, of the Brexit process.

Depending on the outcome of the negotiations, including if the United Kingdom exits the European Union without a formal agreement, and also taking into account the uncertainties connected with the outcome of the general election, the United Kingdom could lose its present rights or terms of access to the European Union single market and European Union customs area and to the global trade deals negotiated by the European Union on behalf of its members. New or modified trade arrangements between the United Kingdom and other countries may have a material adverse effect on the Jaguar Land Rover's business. A decline in trade could also affect the attractiveness of the United Kingdom as a global investment center and, as a result, could have a detrimental impact on the level of investment in United Kingdom companies, including the extended value chain of Jaguar Land Rover. The uncertainty concerning the terms of Brexit could also have a negative impact on the growth of the United Kingdom economy, which may cause Jaguar Land Rover's customers to re-evaluate when and to what extent they are willing to spend on Jaguar Land Rover's products and services. The uncertainty surrounding Brexit could also result in greater volatility in the British pound against foreign currencies in which Jaguar Land Rover conducts business, particularly the U.S. dollar, the Euro and the Chinese Renminbi.

The Brexit vote and the perceptions as to the impact of the withdrawal of the United Kingdom have created significant uncertainty regarding the future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union, including with respect to the laws and regulations that will apply as the United Kingdom determines which European Union-derived laws to replace or replicate. This uncertainty may adversely affect business activity and economic conditions in the United Kingdom and the Eurozone. In particular, changes in taxes, tariffs and other fiscal policies could have a significant impact on Jaguar Land Rover; 22% of its retail sales volume in Fiscal Year 2019 was to customers based in the European Union (excluding the United Kingdom) and a substantial portion of its suppliers are situated there. The Jaguar Land Rover may be subject to risks associated with supply chains if access to the European Union market is restricted as a result of Brexit. Changes to the United Kingdom's border and immigration policy could likewise occur as a result of Brexit, potentially affecting its business's ability to recruit and retain employees from outside the United Kingdom. Any of the foregoing factors and other factors relating to Brexit that Jaguar Land Rover cannot predict may have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition, including the risks of impairments.

If the Company is unable to effectively implement or manage its growth strategy, the Company's operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

As part of the Company's growth strategy, it may open new manufacturing, research or engineering facilities, expand existing facilities, add additional product lines or expand the Company's businesses into new geographical markets. There is a range of risks inherent in such a strategy that could adversely affect the Company's ability to achieve these objectives, including, but not limited to, the following: the potential disruption of the Company's business; the uncertainty that new product lines will generate anticipated sales; the uncertainty that it may not be able to meet or anticipate consumer demand; the uncertainty that a new business will achieve anticipated operating results; the diversion of resources and management's time; the Company's cost reduction efforts, which may not be successful; the difficulty of managing the operations of a larger company; and the difficulty of competing for growth opportunities with companies having greater financial resources than the Company have.

More specifically, the Company's international businesses face a range of risks and challenges, including, but not limited to: language barriers, cultural differences, difficulties in staffing and managing overseas operations, inherent difficulties and delays in contract enforcement and the collection of receivables under the legal systems of foreign countries, the risk of non-tariff barriers, regulatory and legal requirements affecting the Company's ability to enter new markets through joint ventures with local entities, difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals, environmental permits and other similar types of governmental consents, difficulties in negotiating effective contracts, obtaining the necessary facility sites or marketing outlets or securing essential local

financing, liquidity, trade financing or cash management facilities, export and import restrictions, multiple tax regimes (including regulations relating to transfer pricing and withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments from subsidiaries), foreign investment restrictions, foreign exchange controls and restrictions on repatriation of funds, other restrictions on foreign trade or investment sanctions, and the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations. Furthermore, as part of the Company's global activities, it may engage with third-party dealers and distributors, which it do not control but which, nevertheless, take actions that could have a material adverse impact on the Company's reputation and business; the Company cannot assure that it will not be held responsible for any activities undertaken by such dealers and distributors. If the Company is unable to manage risks related to its expansion and growth in other parts of the world and therefore fail to establish a strong presence in those higher growth markets, the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected or its investments could be lost.

Furthermore, the Company is subject to risks associated with growing its business through mergers and acquisitions. The Company believe that its acquisitions provide opportunities to grow significantly in the global automobile markets by offering premium brands and products. The Company's acquisitions have provided it with access to technology and additional capabilities while also offering potential synergies. However, the scale, scope and nature of the integration required in connection with the Company's acquisitions present significant challenges, and it may be unable to integrate the relevant subsidiaries, divisions and facilities effectively within the Company's expected schedule. An acquisition may not meet the Company's expectations and the realization of the anticipated benefits may be blocked, delayed or reduced as a result of numerous factors, some of which are outside the Company's control.

For example, the Company acquired the Jaguar Land Rover business from Ford in June 2008, and since then Jaguar Land Rover has become a significant part of the Company's business, accounting for 74.0% of the Company's total revenues in Fiscal Year 2019. As a result of the acquisition, the Company are responsible for, among other things, the obligations and liabilities associated with the legacy business of Jaguar Land Rover. There can be no assurances that any legacy issues at Jaguar Land Rover or any other acquisition the Company have undertaken in the past or will undertake in the future would not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as the Company's reputation and prospects.

The Company will continue to evaluate growth opportunities through suitable mergers and acquisitions in the future. Growth through mergers and acquisitions involves business risks, including unforeseen contingent risks or latent business liabilities that may only become apparent after the merger or acquisition is completed. The key success factors are seamless integration, effective management of the merged and/or acquired entity, retention of key personnel, cash flow generation from synergies in engineering and sourcing, joint sales and marketing efforts, and management of a larger business. If any of these factors fails to materialize or if the Company are unable to manage any of the associated risks successfully, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Deterioration in global economic conditions could have a material adverse impact on the Company sales and results of operations.

The automotive industry could be affected materially by the general economic conditions in India and around the world. The automotive industry, in general, is cyclical, and economic slowdowns in the recent past have affected the manufacturing sector in India, including the automotive and related industries. Deterioration of key economic metrics, such as the growth rate, interest rates and inflation, reduced availability of financing for vehicles at competitive rates, implementation of burdensome environmental and tax policies and increase in freight rates and fuel prices could materially and adversely affect its automotive sales and results of operations.

In addition, investors' reactions to economic developments or a loss of investor confidence in the financial systems of other countries may cause volatility in Indian financial markets and indirectly, in the Indian economy in general. Any worldwide financial instability, including increased protectionist measures and withdrawal from trade pacts by countries in which the Company operate, could also have a negative impact on the Indian economy, including the movement of exchange rates and interest rates in India. In the event global economic recovery is slower than expected, or if there is any significant financial disruption, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company's cost of funding, portfolio of financing loans, business, prospects, results of operations, financial condition and the trading price of the Company's Shares and ADSs.

In November 2018, the United States, Mexico and Canada signed the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement ("USMCA"), which is intended to succeed the North American Free Trade Agreement ("NAFTA"). USMCA has been signed but not ratified by the legislature of each of the United States, Canada and Mexico. It remains unclear what the U.S., Canadian, or Mexican governments will or will not do with respect to NAFTA, USMCA or other international trade agreements and policies. This uncertainty and potential governmental action related to tariffs or international trade agreements has the potential to adversely impact demand for the Company's products, costs, customers, suppliers and/or the North American economy or world economy or certain sectors thereof and, thus, to adversely impact the Company's business.

Company (including through its Jaguar Land Rover business) has significant operations in the United Kingdom, North America, continental Europe, India and China, as well as sales operations in markets across the globe. Conditions in automotive markets were more challenging in Fiscal Year 2019, notably in China where industry volumes were down 8.3% year-on-year amid increasing trade tensions with the United States. Industry volumes were also lower in the United Kingdom (-3.7%), including a 25.9% decline in diesel vehicle sales, down slightly in the United States (-0.5%), and in Europe (-3.8%). Conditions remained challenging in other markets, with only modest growth in industry volumes. Further, in the first half of the current fiscal year 2020, Industry volumes for Commercial and Passenger Vehicles in India has witnessed a fall of 23.4% year-on-year, thereby impacting the financial performance of the Company. Additionally, UK has witnessed a fall 1.5% year-on-year, Europe a fall of 4.7% year-on-year, North America a fall of 0.8% year-on-year and China a fall of 8.8% year-on-year. Company's growth plans may not materialize as expected, which could have a significant adverse impact on the Company's financial performance. If automotive demand softens because of lower or negative economic growth in key markets or due to other factors, the Company's operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected as a result. In addition, the current U.S. presidential administration could seek to introduce changes to laws and policies governing international trade and impose additional tariffs and duties on foreign vehicle imports, which could have a material adverse effect on Jaguar Land Rover's sales in the United States.

Deterioration in key economic factors, such as those mentioned above, in countries where Company has sales operations may result in a decrease in demand for Company's automobiles. A decrease in demand would, in turn, cause automobile prices and manufacturing capacity utilization rates to fall. Such circumstances have in the past materially affected, and could in the future materially affect, the company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

A significant reliance on key markets by both TML and Jaguar Land Rover increases the risk of negative impact from reduced customer demand in those countries.

The Company rely on the United Kingdom, Chinese, North American, Indian and continental European markets from which the company derive the substantial majority of the company's revenues. Although demand remains relatively solid, a decline in demand for the company's vehicles in these major markets may in the future significantly impair its business, financial position and results of operations. For example, the recent adverse public perception towards diesel powered vehicles, resulting from emissions scandals and tax increases on diesel vehicles, has precipitated a sharp fall in diesel sales, primarily in the United Kingdom and Europe, and

created uncertainty for customers that could further impact its sales of diesel vehicles in the future. Additionally, in China, the economy is experiencing a moderation of industry growth and increased pricing pressures due to macroeconomic volatility, softening consumer demand and increasing competition. Softening of the Chinese economy would be expected to impact the company's growth opportunities in that country, which is an important market for the company. In addition, company's strategy, which includes new product launches and expansion into growing markets may not be sufficient to mitigate a decrease in demand for company's products in mature markets in the future, which could have a significant adverse impact on company's financial performance.

Changes in the Company's credit rating could adversely affect the value of the Company's debt securities, finance costs and its ability to obtain future financing.

Any credit ratings assigned to the Company or its debt securities may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional risk factors discussed and other factors that may affect the value of its debt securities. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. Credit rating agencies continually review the ratings they have assigned and their ratings may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal by the rating agency at any time. A downgrade in the Company's credit rating may negatively affect the Company's ability to obtain future financing to fund the Company's operations and capital needs, which may affect the Company's liquidity. It may also increase the Company's financing costs by increasing the interest rates of the Company's outstanding debt or the interest rates at which the Company is able to refinance existing debt or incur additional debt. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities.

The Company is exposed to liquidity risks.

The Company's main sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations, existing notes, external debt in the form of factoring discount facilities and other revolving credit facilities. However, adverse changes in the global economic and financial environment may result in lower consumer demand for vehicles, and prevailing conditions in credit markets may adversely affect both consumer demand and the cost and availability of finance for the Company's business and operations. If the global economy goes back into recession and consumer demand for the Company's vehicles drops, as a result of higher oil prices, excessive public debt or for any other reasons, and the supply of external financing becomes limited, the Company may again face significant liquidity risks.

The Company is also subject to various types of restrictions or impediments on the ability of the companies in certain countries to transfer cash across the companies through loans or interim dividends. These restrictions or impediments are caused by exchange controls, withholding taxes on dividends and distributions and other similar restrictions in the markets in which the Company operate. The Company may face significant liquidity risks due to squeezed credit lines for non-banking financial companies ("NBFCs") following the Infrastructure Leasing & Financial Services Limited crisis in 2018 and its impact on the Indian lending sector.

The electric vehicle market may not evolve as anticipated.

Sales of electric vehicles are hard to predict as consumer demand may fail to shift in favour of electric vehicles and this market segment may remain small relative to the overall market for years to come. Consumers may remain or become reluctant to adopt electric vehicles due to the lack of fully developed charging infrastructure, long charging times or increased costs of purchase and fueling. Jaguar Land Rover launched the all electric Jaguar I-PACE in Fiscal Year 2019 and retail sales of this model totaled 11,336 vehicles in the twelve months to 31 March 2019. If the value proposition of electric vehicles fails to fully materialize, this could have a material adverse effect on the company's financial condition or results of operations including compliance with the Corporate Average Fuel Economy ("CAFE") standards.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets may have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations.

Designing, manufacturing and selling vehicles is capital intensive and requires substantial investments in tangible and intangible assets such as research and development, product design and engineering technology. The Company review the value of its tangible and intangible assets to assess on an annual basis or trigger events basis whether the carrying amount is less than the recoverable amount for the asset concerned based on underlying cash-generating units ("CGU") (such as Commercial Vehicles, Passenger Vehicles, Jaguar Land Rover and Vehicle Financing), either based on Value in Use ("VIU") or fair value. The Jaguar Land Rover recorded a GBP3.1 billion (Rs.278,379.1 million) impairment charge during Fiscal Year 2019 due to adverse market conditions, particularly in China, rising interest rates and the failure to meet internal business plans for Jaguar Land Rover's business. While the Company have put in place comprehensive plans to turn the business around, the Company may have to take further impairment losses in the future if the carrying amount of tangible and intangible assets exceeds the recoverable amount, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and the results of operations.

Deterioration in the performance of any of the Company's subsidiaries, joint ventures or affiliates could materially and adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

The Company have made and may continue to make capital commitments to its subsidiaries, joint ventures and affiliates, and if the business or operations of any of these subsidiaries, joint ventures and affiliates deteriorates, the value of the Company's investments may decline substantially. Operating a business as a joint venture often requires additional organizational formalities and a requirement of information sharing. The Company is also subject to risks associated with joint ventures and affiliates wherein the Company retain only partial or joint control. The Company's partners may be unable, or unwilling, to fulfill their obligations, or the strategies of the Company's joint ventures or affiliates may not be implemented successfully, any of which may significantly reduce the value of the Company's investments or relationship with the co-owner may be deteriorated, and, which could, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Company's reputation, business, financial position or results of operations.

The company have pursued and may continue to pursue significant investments in certain strategic development projects with third parties. In particular, JLR have entered into a joint venture with Chery in China to develop, manufacture and sell certain Jaguar Land Rover vehicles and at least one own branded vehicle in China. Additionally, in March 2018, JLR announced its strategic partnership with Waymo to develop the world's first premium self driving electric vehicle. Joint venture and strategic partnership projects, like JLR's joint venture in China and partnership with Waymo, may be developed pursuant to agreements over which the Company only have partial or joint control. Investments in projects over which the Company have partial or joint control are subject to the risk that the other shareholders of the joint venture, who may have different business or investment strategies than the Company does or with whom the Company may have a disagreement or dispute, may have the ability to block business, financial or management decisions, such as the decision to distribute dividends or appoint members of management, which may be crucial to the success of the project or the company's investment in the project, or otherwise implement initiatives which may be contrary to the company's interests. Moreover, the Company's partners may be unable, or unwilling, to fulfil their obligations under the relevant joint venture agreements and shareholder agreements or may experience financial or other difficulties that may adversely impact the company's investment in a particular joint venture or strategic partnership projects.

Operating a business as a joint venture often requires additional organisational formalities as well as time consuming procedures for sharing information and making decisions. In joint ventures, the company is required to foster its relationships with its co owners as well as to promote the overall success of the joint venture, and if there is a significant change in the relationship (for example, if a co owner changes or relationships deteriorate), the Company's success in the joint venture may be materially adversely affected.

Intensifying competition could materially and adversely affect the Company's sales, financial condition and results of operations.

The global automotive industry is highly competitive and competition is likely to further intensify from new industry entrants, in the worldwide automotive industry. Competition is especially likely to increase in the premium automotive categories as each market participant intensifies its efforts to retain its position in established markets while also expanding in emerging markets such as China, India, Russia, Brazil and parts of Asia. Factors affecting competition include product quality and features, innovation and the development time for introduction of new products, cost control, pricing, reliability, safety, fuel economy, environmental impact and perception thereof, customer service and financing terms. Some of the Company's competitors based in the European Union may gain a competitive advantage that would enable them to benefit from their access to the European Union single market post-Brexit. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to compete successfully in the global automotive industry in the future.

The Company also face strong competition in the Indian market from domestic, as well as foreign automobile manufacturers. Improving infrastructure and growth prospects, compared to those of other mature markets, has attracted a number of international companies to India either through joint ventures with local partners or through independently owned operations in India. International competitors bring with them decades of international experience, global scale, advanced technology and significant financial resources. Consequently, domestic competition is likely to further intensify in the future. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to implement its future strategies in a way that will mitigate the effects of increased competition on the Indian automotive industry.

Designing, manufacturing and selling vehicles is capital-intensive and requires substantial investments in manufacturing, machinery, research and development, product design, engineering, technology and marketing in order to meet both consumer preferences and regulatory requirements. If the Company's competitors consolidate or enter into other strategic partnerships or ventures, they may be able to take better advantage of economies of scale. The Company believe that competitors may be able to benefit from the cost savings offered by consolidation or strategic partnerships, which could adversely affect the Company's competitiveness. Competitiveness (including through the acquisition of technology), which could also materially adversely affect the Company's business. Further, the Company's growth strategy relies on the expansion of its operations in less mature markets abroad, where it may face significant competition and higher than expected costs to enter and establish ourselves.

The Company is subject to risks associated with product liability, warranties and recall.

The company is subject to risks and costs associated with product liability, warranties and recalls in connection with performance, compliance or safety related issues affecting company's vehicles. From time to time the company may be subject to investigations by governmental authorities relating to safety related and other compliance issues with the company's vehicles. For example, there are ongoing investigations with governmental agencies in China, South Korea and the United Kingdom relating to the quality of TDV6 diesel engines installed in some of the vehicles which are in service. In particular, as vehicles become more technologically advanced, the company is subject to risks related to their software and operation, including as part of the

company's JLR Advanced Driver Assistance Systems automation. The Company expend considerable resources in connection with product recalls and these resources typically include the cost of the part being replaced and the labour required to remove and replace the defective part. In addition, product recalls can cause company's consumers to question the safety or reliability of company's vehicles and harm company's reputation. Any harm to the reputation of any one of company's models can result in a substantial loss of customers. For example, in May 2015, an industry wide passenger airbag safety recall was announced in the United States by the National Highway Traffic System Administration ("NHTSA"), in respect of frontal airbags which use ammonium nitrate propellant without any desiccant from Takata Corporation ("Takata"), a supplier of airbags. Certain airbags supplied by Takata were installed in company's JLR vehicles. JLR considered the cost associated with the recall to be an adjusting post balance sheet event and recognised a provision of £67.4 million for the estimated cost of repairs in its income statement for Fiscal Year 2016. The provision held at the end of Fiscal Year 2019 is £58 million and will be utilized as the mandated repairing is fulfilled over the next one to two years. Additionally, in December 2016, NHTSA announced that it was conducting an investigation into reports of rollaways of parked vehicles in certain of JLR's models. Further, in July 2018, NHTSA announced that it is seeking to conduct an investigation into reports of doors inadvertently opening in certain of the JLR's vehicles whilst the vehicle is in motion, following a recall remedy to rectify this risk.

Furthermore, the Company may also be subject to class actions or other large-scale product liability or other lawsuits in various jurisdictions in which the Company has a significant presence. The use of shared components in vehicle production increases this risk because individual components are deployed in a number of different models across the Company's brands. Any costs incurred or lost sales caused by product liability, warranties and recalls could materially adversely affect the Company's business and reputation.

The Company's future success depends on the Company's ability to satisfy changing customer demands by offering innovative products in a timely manner and maintaining product competitiveness and quality.

Customer preferences, especially in many of the more mature markets, have trended towards smaller and more fuel-efficient and environmental-friendly vehicles. Climate change concerns, increases in fuel prices, certain government regulations (such as CO_2 emissions limits and higher taxes on SUVs) and the promotion of new technologies encourage customers to look beyond standard purchasing factors (such as price, design, performance, brand image and features). As a result, customers may look to the differentiation of the technology used in the vehicle or the manufacturer or provider of this technology. Such consumer preferences could materially affect the Company's ability to sell premium passenger cars and large or medium-sized all-terrain vehicles at current or targeted volume levels, and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's general business activity, net assets, financial position and results of operations. Such consumer preferences could materially affect the Company's ability to sell premium passenger cars and large or medium-sized all-terrain vehicles at current or targeted volume levels, and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's general business activity, net assets, financial position and results of operations.

The Company's operations may be significantly impacted if it fail to develop, or experience delays in developing, fuel-efficient vehicles that reflect changing customer preferences and meet the specific requirements of government regulations. The Company's competitors can gain significant advantages if they are able to offer vehicles that satisfy customer preference and government regulations earlier than the Company are. Potential delays in bringing new high-quality vehicles to market would adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In light of the public discourse on climate change and volatile fuel prices, the company faces more stringent government regulations, including imposition of speed limits and higher taxes on sports utility vehicles or premium automobiles. The company endeavor to take account of these factors, and it is focused on researching, developing and producing new drive technologies, such as hybrid engines and electric cars. The company is also investing in development programs to reduce fuel consumption through the use of lightweight materials, reducing parasitic losses through the driveline and improving aerodynamics. Coupled with consumer preferences, a failure to achieve its planned objectives or delays in developing fuel efficient products could materially affect the company's ability to sell premium passenger cars and large or medium-sized all-terrain vehicles at current or targeted volumes and could have a material adverse effect on the company's general business activity, net assets, financial position and results of operations. In addition, deterioration in the quality of the company's vehicles could force the company to incur substantial costs and damage its reputation. There is a risk that competitors or joint ventures set up by competitors will develop better solutions and will be able to manufacture the resulting products more rapidly, in larger quantities, with a higher quality and/or at a lower cost. It is possible that the company could then be compelled to make new investments in researching and developing other technologies to maintain its existing market share or to win back the market share lost to competitors. Finally, the company's manufacturing operations and sales may be subject to potential physical impacts of climate change, including changes in weather patterns and an increased potential for extreme weather events, which could affect the manufacture and distribution of company's products, as well as the cost and availability of raw materials and components.

In contrast to other mature markets, consumer preferences in the United States have shifted towards increased demand for the Company's pickup trucks and larger SUVs. A shift in consumer demand away from these vehicles within the United States towards compact and mid-size passenger cars, whether in response to higher fuel prices or other factors, could adversely affect the Company's profitability. Conversely, if the trend in U.S. consumer preferences for SUVs holds, the Company could face increased competition from other carmakers as they adapt to the market shift and introduce their own SUV models, which could materially and adversely impact the Company's business, financial position or results of operations.

Private and commercial users of transportation increasingly use modes of transportation other than the automobile, especially in connection with increasing urbanisation. The reasons for this include the rising costs related to automotive transport of people and goods, increasing traffic density in major cities and environmental awareness. In addition, the increased use of car sharing concepts (e.g. Zipcar and DriveNow) and other innovative mobility initiatives facilitates access to other methods of transport, thereby reducing dependency on private automobiles. Furthermore, non traditional market participants and/or unexpected disruptive innovations may disrupt the established business model of the industry by introducing new technologies, distribution models and methods of transportation.

A shift in consumer preferences away from private automobiles would have a material adverse effect on Company's general business activity and on its sales, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

To stimulate demand, competitors in the automotive industry have offered customers and dealers price reductions on vehicles and services, which has led to increased price pressures and sharpened competition within the industry. As a provider of numerous high-volume models, the Company's profitability and cash flows are significantly affected by the risk of rising competitive price pressures. Special sales incentives and increased price pressures in the new car business also influence price levels in the used car market, with a negative effect on vehicle resale values. This could have a negative impact on the profitability of the used car business in the Company's dealer organization.

There can be no assurance that the Company's new models will meet its sales expectations, in which case it may be unable to realize the intended economic benefits of its investments, which would in turn materially affect the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, there is a risk that its quality standards can be maintained only by incurring substantial costs for monitoring and quality assurance. For the Company's customers, one of the determining factors in purchasing its vehicles is the high quality of the products. A decrease in the quality of the Company's vehicles (or if the public were to have the impression that such a decrease in quality had occurred) could damage its image and reputation as a premium automobile manufacturer and in turn materially affect the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, product development cycles can be lengthy, and there is no assurance that new designs will lead to revenues from vehicle sales, or that the Company will be able to accurately forecast demand for its vehicles, potentially leading to inefficient use of its production capacity. Additionally, the Company's high proportion of fixed costs, due to its significant investment in property, plant and equipment, further exacerbates the risks associated with incorrectly assessing demand for the Company's vehicles.

The Company is exposed to the risks of new drive and other technologies being developed and the resulting effects on the automobile market.

Over the past few years, the global market for automobiles, particularly in established markets, has been characterized by increasing demand for more environmentally friendly vehicles and technologies. This is related, in particular, to the public debate on global warming and climate change. In response to climate change and the laws and regulations that have been and are likely to be adopted to address it, the company is focusing on researching, developing and producing new drive technologies, such as hybrid engines and electric cars. Jaguar Land Rover is also investing in development programmes to reduce fuel consumption through the use of lightweight materials, reducing parasitic losses through the driveline and improvements in aerodynamics (e.g. through JLR's premium transverse architecture). Recently, several jurisdictions, such as Norway, Germany, the United Kingdom, France, the Netherlands, India and China, have announced the intention to eliminate the sale of conventionally fueled vehicles in their markets in the coming decades.

The emission levels of diesel technologies have also become the focus of legislators in the United States and European Union as a result of emissions levels. This has led various carmakers to announce programs to retrofit diesel vehicles with software that will allow them to reduce emissions which may require us to undertake increased R&D spending. There is a risk that these R&D activities, including retrofit software upgrades, will not achieve their planned objectives or that competitors or joint ventures set up by competitors will develop better solutions and will be able to manufacture the resulting products more rapidly, in larger quantities, with a higher quality and/or at a lower cost. This could lead to increased demand for the products of such competitors and result in a loss of market share for the Company. There is also a risk that the money invested in researching and developing new technologies, including autonomous, connected and electrification technologies, or money invested in mobility solutions to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges, will, to a considerable extent, have been spent in vain, because the technologies developed or the products derived therefrom are unsuccessful in the market or because competitors have developed better or less expensive products. It is possible that Jaguar Land Rover could then be compelled to make new investments in researching and developing other technologies to maintain its existing market share or to win back the market share lost to competitors.

In addition, climate change concerns and the promotion of new technologies encourages customers to look beyond standard factors (such as price, design, performance, brand image or comfort/features) to differentiation of the technology used in the vehicle or the manufacturer or provider of this technology. This could lead to shifts in demand and the value-added parameters in the automotive industry at the expense of the Company's products.

Underperformance of the Company's distribution channels could have a material adverse effect on the Company's sales and results of operations.

The Company's products are sold and serviced through a network of authorized dealers and service centers across India and through a network of distributors and local dealers in international markets. The Company monitor the performance of its dealers and distributors and provide them with support to enable them to perform to its expectations. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company's expectations will be met. Any underperformance by or a deterioration in the financial condition of the Company's dealers or distributors could materially and adversely affect the Company's sales and results of operations.

If dealers or importers encounter financial difficulties and the Company's products and services cannot be sold or can be sold only in limited numbers, this would have a direct effect on the sales of such dealers and importers. Additionally, if the Company cannot replace the affected dealers or importers with other franchises, the financial difficulties experienced by such dealers or importers could have an indirect effect on the Company's vehicle deliveries.

Consequently, the Company could be compelled to provide additional support for dealers and importers and, under certain circumstances, may even take over their obligations to customers, which would adversely affect the Company's financial position and results of operations in the short term.

Disruptions to the Company's supply chains or shortages of essential raw materials may adversely affect the Company's production and results of operations.

The Company rely on third parties for sourcing raw materials, parts and components used in the manufacture of the Company's products. At the local level, the Company are exposed to reliance on smaller enterprises where the risk of insolvency is greater. Furthermore, for some parts and components, the Company is dependent on a single source. The Company's ability to procure supplies in a cost-effective and timely manner or at all is subject to various factors, some of which are not within its control. For instance, the outcome of the Brexit negotiations could lead to reduced access to the European Union single market and to the global trade deals negotiated by the European Union on behalf of its members, which could affect the imports of raw materials, parts and components and disrupt Jaguar Land Rover supplies. Furthermore, there is the risk that manufacturing capacity does not meet, or exceeds, sales demand thereby compromising business performance and without any near term remedy given the time frames and investments required for any change. While the Company manage its supply chain as part of its supplier management process, any significant problems with its supply chain or shortages of essential raw materials in the future could affect the Company's results of operations in an adverse manner.

Adverse economic conditions and falling vehicle sales have had a significant financial impact on the company's suppliers in the past. Deterioration in automobile demand and lack of access to sufficient financial arrangements for company's supply chain could impair the timely availability of components to us. In addition, if one or more of the other global automotive manufacturers were to become insolvent, this would have an adverse impact on the supply chains and may further adversely affect the Company's results of operations. The company is also exposed to supply chain risks relating to lithium ion cells, which are critical for the Company's electric vehicle production. Any disruption in the supply of battery cells from such suppliers could disrupt production of the company's vehicles. The severity of this risk is likely to increase as the company and other manufacturers expands the production of electric vehicles and the demand for such vehicles increases.

The Company have also entered into supply agreements with Ford and certain other third parties for critical components and remain reliant upon Ford and the Ford PSA joint venture for a portion of its engines. However, following the launch of the EMC in Wolverhampton, and the subsequent engine plant opened by its China Joint Venture, the Company now also manufacture its own "in house" engines. The company may not be able to manufacture certain types of engines or find a suitable replacement supplier in a timely manner in the event of any disruption in the supply of engines, or parts of engines, and other hardware or services provided to us by Ford or the Ford PSA joint venture and such disruption could have a material adverse impact on the company's operations, business and/or financial condition.

A change in requirements under long-term supply arrangements committing Jaguar Land Rover to purchase minimum or fixed quantities of certain parts, or to pay a minimum amount to the seller, could have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. The Company have entered into a number of long-term supply contracts that require Jaguar Land Rover to purchase a fixed quantity of parts to be used in the production of Jaguar Land Rover vehicles (e.g., "take-or-pay" contracts). If the need for any of these parts were to lessen, Jaguar Land Rover could still be required to purchase a specified quantity of the part or pay a minimum amount to the seller pursuant to the take-or-pay contract, which could have a substantial adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

The Company is more vulnerable to reduced demand for premium performance cars and all-terrain vehicles than automobile manufacturers with a more diversified product range.

The Jaguar Land Rover operates in the premium performance car and all-terrain vehicle segments, which are very specific segments of the premium passenger car market, and it has a more limited range of models than some of the Company's competitors. Accordingly, its performance is linked to market conditions and consumer demand in those market segments in which it operates. Furthermore, some other premium performance vehicle manufacturers operate in a relatively broader spectrum of market segments, which makes them comparatively less vulnerable to reduced demand for any specific segment. Any downturn or reduction in the demand for premium passenger cars and all-terrain vehicles, or any reduced demand for Jaguar Land Rover's most popular models in the geographic markets in which it operates could have a substantial adverse effect on its performance and earnings.

Increases in input prices may have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations.

In the first half Fiscal Year 2020, Fiscal Year 2019 and Fiscal Year 2018, cost of materials consumed and purchase of products for sale (including changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in progress and products for sale) constituted 63.0%, 65.0% and 63.6%, respectively, of the Company's revenues. Prices of commodity items used in manufacturing automobiles, including steel, aluminium, copper, zinc, rubber, platinum, palladium and rhodium, have become increasingly volatile in recent years. Furthermore, prices of commodity items such as steel, non ferrous metals, precious metals, rubber and petroleum products may rise significantly. Most of these inputs are priced in US dollars on international markets. While the Company continue to pursue cost reduction initiatives, an increase in price of input materials could severely impact the Company's profitability to the extent such increase cannot be absorbed by the market through price increases and/or could have a negative impact on demand. In addition, because of intense price competition and fixed costs base, the company may not be able to adequately address changes in commodity prices even if they are foreseeable.

In addition, the company is exposed to the risk of contraction in the supply, and a corresponding increase in the price of, rare and frequently highly sought after raw materials, especially those used in vehicle electronics such as rare earth metals, which are predominantly produced in China. Rare earth metal prices and supply remain uncertain. China has, in the past, limited the export of rare earths from time to time. If the company is unable to find substitutes for such raw materials or pass price increases on to customers by raising prices, or to safeguard the supply of scarce raw materials, the company's vehicle production, business and results from operations could be affected.

The Company manages these risks through the use of fixed supply contracts with tenor up to 12 months and the use of financial derivatives pursuant to a defined hedging policy. The company enters into a variety of foreign currency, interest rates and commodity forward contracts and options to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity price risk. These financial exposures are managed in accordance with the Company's risk management policies and procedures. The company uses foreign currency forward and option contracts to hedge risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to highly probable forecast transactions. The Company also enter into interest rate swaps and interest rate currency swap agreements, mainly to manage exposure on the company's fixed rate or variable rate debt. The Company further use interest rate derivatives or currency swaps to hedge exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on principal and interest payments for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies. Specific transactional risks include risks like liquidity and pricing risks, interest rate and exchange rate fluctuation risks, volatility risks, counterparty risks, settlement risks and gearing risks. However, the hedging transactions may not adequately protect us against these risks. In addition, if markets move adversely, the Company may incur financial losses on such hedging transactions, and the financial condition and results of operations may be adversely impacted.

Any inability to implement the Company's growth strategy by entering new markets may adversely affect its results of operations.

The Company's growth strategy relies on the expansion of its operations in emerging markets and other parts of the world which feature higher growth potential than many of the more mature automotive markets in developed countries. The costs associated with entering and establishing the Company in new markets, and expanding such operations may, however, be higher than expected, it may face significant competition in those regions. In addition, the Company's international business faces a range of risks and challenges, including language barriers, cultural differences, difficulties in staffing and managing overseas operations, inherent difficulties and delays in contract enforcement and the collection of receivables under the legal systems of foreign countries, the risk of non-tariff barriers, regulatory and legal requirements affecting the Company's ability to enter new markets through joint ventures with local entities, difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals, environmental permits and other similar types of governmental consents, difficulties in negotiating effective contracts, obtaining the necessary facility sites or marketing outlets or securing essential local financing, liquidity, trade financing or cash management facilities, export and import restrictions, multiple tax regimes (including regulations relating to transfer pricing and withholding and other taxes on remittances and other payments from subsidiaries), foreign investment restrictions (including restrictions on incentives offered by foreign governments for investment in their jurisdictions), foreign exchange controls and restrictions on repatriation of funds, other restrictions on foreign trade or investment sanctions, and the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations. If the Company is unable to manage risks related to its expansion and growth in other parts of the world and therefore fail to establish a strong presence in those higher growth markets, its business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected or the Company's investments could be lost.

Potential changes to the company's business through acquisitions and divestments may have a material adverse effect on its future results and financial condition.

The company regularly examine a range of corporate opportunities, including acquisitions and divestments, with a view to determining whether those opportunities will enhance the company's strategic position and financial performance. There can be no assurance that any acquisition or divestment would have the anticipated positive results, including results relating to the total cost of integration or separation, the time required to complete the integration or separation, the amount of long-term cost savings, the overall performance of the combined or remaining entity, or an improved price for the Company's securities.

Additionally, there are risks relating to the completion of any particular transaction occurring, including counterparty and settlement risk, or the non-satisfaction of any completion conditions (for example, relevant regulatory or third party approvals). The company's operating performance, risk profile and capital structure may be affected by these corporate opportunities and there is a risk that the company's credit ratings may be placed on credit watch or downgraded if these opportunities are pursued.

Integration or separation of an acquired or divested business can be complex and costly, sometimes including combining or separating relevant accounting and data processing systems, and management controls, as well as managing relevant relationships with employees, customers, regulators, counterparties, suppliers and other business partners. Integration or separation efforts could create inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies, as well as diverting management attention and resources. This may adversely affect the company's ability to conduct its business successfully and impact its operations or results. Additionally, there can be no assurance that employees, customers, counterparties, suppliers and other business partners of newly acquired or retained) businesses will remain post-acquisition or post-divestment, and the loss of employees, customers, counterparties, suppliers and other business partners may adversely affect the company's operations or results.

Exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations could materially and adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

The Company's Jaquar Land Rover operations are subject to risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates with reference to countries in which it operates. The company imports capital equipment, raw materials and components from, manufacture vehicles in, and sell vehicles into, various countries, and therefore, the company's revenues and costs have significant exposure to the relative movements of the GBP, the U.S. dollar, the Euro, the Russian Ruble, the Chinese Renminbi, the Singapore dollar, the Japanese Yen, the Australian dollar, the South African rand, the Thai baht, the Korean won and the Indian rupee. The United Kingdom's exit from the European Union could also have a negative impact on the growth of the United Kingdom economy. A significant proportion of the company's input materials and components and capital equipment are sourced overseas, in particular from Europe, and therefore the company have costs in, and significant exposure to the movement of, the euro (specifically a strengthening of the euro) and certain other currencies relative to the British pound (JLR's reporting currency) which may result in decreased profits to the extent these are not fully mitigated by non British pound sales. The majority of the company's product development and manufacturing operations, as well as its global headquarters, are based in the United Kingdom, but the company also have national sales companies which operate in the major markets in which the company sell vehicles. As a result, the company have exposure to movements of the US dollar, Euro, Chinese yuan, Russian ruble and other currencies relative to the British pound and foreign exchange volatility may affect company's results of operations, profitability and financial position.

Moreover, the Company has outstanding foreign currency-denominated debt and are sensitive to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The Company has experienced and could in the future experience foreign exchange losses on obligations denominated in foreign currencies in respect of its borrowings and foreign currency assets and liabilities due to currency fluctuations.

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, as it has both interest-bearing assets (including cash balances) and interest-bearing liabilities, which bear interest at variable rates. Although the Company engages in managing its interest and foreign exchange exposure through use of financial hedging instruments, such as forward contracts, swap agreements and option contracts, higher interest rates and a weakening of the Indian rupee against major foreign currencies could significantly increase the Company's cost of borrowing, which could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Appropriate hedging lines for the type of risk exposures the Company are subject to may not be available at a reasonable cost, particularly during volatile rate movements, or at all. Moreover, there are risks associated with the use of such hedging instruments. While hedging instruments may mitigate the Company's exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates to a certain extent, it potentially forego benefits that might result from market fluctuations in currency exposures. These hedging transactions can also result in substantial losses. Such losses could occur under various circumstances, including, without limitation, any circumstances in which a counterparty does not perform its obligations under the applicable hedging arrangement (despite having International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreements in place with each of the Company's hedging counterparties), there are currency fluctuations, the arrangement is imperfect or ineffective, or the Company's internal hedging policies and procedures are not followed or do not work as planned. In addition, because the Company's potential obligations under the financial hedging instruments are marked to market, the Company may experience quarterly and annual volatility in its operating results and cash flows attributable to its financial hedging activities.

A decline in retail customers' purchasing power or consumer confidence or in corporate customers' financial condition and willingness to invest could materially and adversely affect the Company's business.

Demand for vehicles for personal use generally depends on consumers' net purchasing power, their confidence in future economic developments and changes in fashion and trends, while demand for vehicles for commercial use by corporate customers (including fleet customers) primarily depends on the customers' financial condition, their willingness to invest (motivated by expected future business prospects) and available financing. A decrease in potential customers' disposable income or their financial flexibility or an increase in the cost of financing will generally have a negative impact on demand for the Company's products. A weak macroeconomic environment, combined with restrictive lending and a low level of consumer sentiment generally, may reduce consumers' net purchasing power and lead existing and potential customers to refrain from purchasing a new vehicle, to defer a purchase further or to purchase a smaller model with less equipment at a lower price. A deteriorating macroeconomic environment may disproportionately reduce demand for luxury vehicles. It also could lead to reluctance by corporate customers to invest in vehicles for commercial use and/or to lease vehicles, resulting in a postponement of fleet renewal contracts.

To stimulate demand, the automotive industry has offered customers and dealers price reductions on vehicles and services, which has led to increased price pressures and sharpened competition within the industry. As a provider of numerous high-volume models, the Company's profitability and cash flows are significantly affected by the risk of rising competitive and price pressures.

Special sales incentives and increased price pressures in the new car business also influence price levels in the used car market, with a negative effect on vehicle resale values. This may have a negative impact on the profitability of the used car business in the Company's dealer organization.

The Company may be adversely affected by labor unrest.

All of the Company's permanent employees in India, other than officers and managers, and most of the Company's permanent employees in South Korea and the United Kingdom, including certain officers and managers, in relation to the Company's automotive business, are members of labour unions and are covered by the Company's wage agreements, where applicable, with those labour unions.

In January 2019, Jaguar Land Rover announced reduction of the size of its global workforce by around 4,500 people to deliver cost reductions and cashflow improvements as well as long-term strategic operating efficiencies. In general, the Company consider its labour relations with all its employees to be good. However, in the future the Company may be subject to labor unrest, which may delay or disrupt its operations in the affected regions, including the acquisition of raw materials and parts, the manufacture, sales and distribution of products and the provision of services. If work stoppages or lock-outs at the Company's facilities or at the facilities of its major vendors occur or continue for a long period of time, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. During Fiscal Year 2017, the Company faced two standalone incidents of labor unrest in India, one at the Company's Dharwad plant in Karnataka and the other at the Company's Sanand plant in Gujarat. Although these particular issues were amicably resolved, there is no assurance that additional labour issues could not occur, or that any future labour issues will be amicably resolved.

In addition, Jaguar Land Rover is engaged in bi-annual negotiations in relation to wage agreements, covering approximately 20,000 of its unionised employees, the most recent of which resulted in a one year wage agreement covering the period from November 2018 to October 2019. There is a risk, however, that future negotiations could escalate into industrial action ranging from "work to rule" to a strike before a settlement is ultimately reached.

The Company is exposed to operational risks, including cybersecurity risks in connection with the Company's use of information technology.

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. This includes, among other things, losses that are caused by a lack of controls within internal procedures, violation of internal policies by employees, disruption or malfunction of IT systems, computer networks and telecommunications systems, mechanical or equipment failures, human error, natural disasters, security breaches or malicious acts by third parties (including, for example, hackers). The Company is generally exposed to risks in the field of information technology, since unauthorized access to or misuse of data processed on the Company's IT systems, human errors associated therewith or technological failures of any kind could disrupt the Company's operations, including the manufacturing, design and engineering processes. In particular, as vehicles become more technologically advanced and connected to the internet, the Company's vehicles may become more susceptible to unauthorized access to their systems. As a business with complex manufacturing, research, procurement, sales and marketing and financing operations, the Company is exposed to a variety of operational risks and, if the protection measures put in place prove insufficient, (especially given the harsher sanctions imposed under the new General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) (the "GDPR")), the Company's results of operations and financial condition can be materially adversely affected. In addition, the Company would likely experience negative press and reputational impacts. Cybersecurity incidents could lead to loss of productivity, negative impact on company's reputation, and, in extreme cases, financial loss due to business disruptions.

The Company's business and prospects could suffer if the Company lose one or more key personnel or if the Company is unable to attract and retain its employees.

The Company's business and future growth depend largely on the skills of its workforce, including executives and officers, and automotive designers and engineers. The loss of the services of one or more of the Company's personnel could impair its ability to implement the Company's business strategy. In view of intense competition, any inability to continue to attract, retain and motivate its workforce could materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Company may be adversely impacted by political instability, wars, terrorism, multinational conflicts, and countries resorting to protectionism, natural disasters, fuel shortages/prices, epidemics and labor strikes.

The Company's products are exported to a number of geographical markets and it plans to further expand the international operations in the future. Consequently, the Company's operations in markets abroad may be subject to political instability, wars, terrorism, regional or multinational conflicts, natural disasters and extreme weather, fuel shortages, epidemics and labor strikes. Any disruption of the operations of the Company's manufacturing, design, engineering, sales, corporate and other facilities could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, the current U.S. presidential administration could seek to introduce changes to laws and policies governing international trade and impose additional tariffs and duties on foreign vehicle imports, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's sales in the United States. In addition, conducting business internationally, especially in emerging markets, exposes us to additional risks, including adverse changes in economic and government policies, unpredictable shifts in regulation, inconsistent application of existing laws and regulations, unclear regulatory and taxation systems and divergent commercial and employment practices and procedures. If any of these events were to occur, there can be no assurance that the Company would be able to shift its manufacturing, design, engineering, sales, corporate and other operations to alternate sites in a timely manner or at all. In addition, conducting business internationally, especially in emerging markets, exposes us to additional risks, including adverse changes in economic and government policies, unpredictable shifts in regulation, inconsistent application of existing laws, applicability of retrospective taxes, sanctions programs, unclear regulatory and taxation systems and divergent commercial and employment practices and procedures. Any deterioration in international relations, especially between India and its neighboring countries, may result in investor concern regarding regional stability. Any significant or prolonged disruption or delay in the Company's operations related to these risks could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Terrorist attacks, civil disturbances, regional conflicts and other acts of violence, particularly in India, may disrupt or otherwise adversely affect the markets in which the Company operate, the Company's business and the Company's profitability. India has from time to time experienced social and civil unrest and hostilities and adverse social, economic or political events, including terrorist attacks and local civil disturbances, riots and armed conflict with neighboring countries. Events of this nature in the future could influence the Indian economy and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, as well as the market for securities of Indian companies, including the Company's Shares and ADSs. Such incidents could also create a greater perception that investment in Indian companies involves a higher degree of risk and could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition, and also the market price of the Company's Shares and ADSs.

The Company are vulnerable to supply chain disruptions resulting from natural disasters or man-made accidents. For example, on August 12, 2015, there was an explosion in the city port of Tianjin, one of three major ports in China through which the Company import its vehicles. Approximately 5,800 of the Company's vehicles were stored at various locations in Tianjin at the time of the explosion, and, as a result, the Company recognized an exceptional charge of GBP245 million in September 2015. Subsequently, GBP275 million of net insurance proceeds and other recoveries have been received till March 31, 2018, including GBP35 million related to other costs associated with Tianjin including lost and discounted vehicle revenue. A significant delay or sustained interruption in the supply of key inputs sourced from areas affected by disasters or accidents could materially and adversely affect the Company's ability to maintain its current and expected levels of production, and therefore negatively affect its revenues and increase the Company's operating expenses.

The Company is a global organization, and is therefore vulnerable to shifts in global trade and economic policies and outlook. Policies that result in countries withdrawing from trade pacts, increasing protectionism and undermining free trade could substantially affect the Company's ability to operate as a global business. Additionally, negative sentiments towards foreign companies among the Company's overseas customers and employees could adversely affect its sales as well as its ability to hire and retain talented people. A negative shift in either policies or sentiment with respect to global trade and foreign businesses could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company's business is seasonal in nature and a substantial decrease in its sales during certain quarters could have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial performance.

The sales volumes and prices for the Company's vehicles are influenced by the cyclicality and seasonality of demand for these products. The automotive industry has been cyclical in the past, and the Company expect this cyclicality to continue.

In the Indian market, demand for the Company's vehicles generally peaks between January and March, although there is a decrease in demand in February just before release of the Indian fiscal budget. Demand is usually lean from April to July and picks up again in the festival season from September onwards, with a decline in December due to year-end as customers defer purchases to the new year.

The Company's Jaguar Land Rover business is impacted by the bi-annual registration of vehicles in the United Kingdom where the vehicle registration number changes every March and September, which leads to an increase in sales during these months, and, in turn, has an impact on the resale value of vehicles. This leads to an increase in sales during the period when the aforementioned change occurs. Most other markets, such as the United States, are influenced by the introduction of new-model-year products, which typically occurs in the autumn of each year. Furthermore, in the United States, there is some seasonality in the purchasing pattern of vehicles in the northern states for Jaguar when there is a concentration of vehicle sales in the spring and summer months and for Land Rover, where the trend for purchasing 4x4 vehicles is concentrated in the autumn and winter months. Markets in China tend to experience higher demand for vehicles around the Lunar New Year holiday in either January or February, the Chinese National Day holiday and the Golden Week holiday in October. In addition, demand in Western European automotive markets tends to be softer during the summer and winter holidays. Jaguar Land Rover's cash flows are impacted by the temporary shutdown of four of their manufacturing plants in the United Kingdom (including the Engine Manufacturing Centre at Wolverhampton) during the summer and winter holidays.

Restrictive covenants in the Company's financing agreements could limit the Company's operations and financial flexibility and materially and adversely impact the Company's financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Some of the Company's financing agreements and debt arrangements set limits on and/or require us to obtain lender consent before, among other things, pledging assets as security. In addition, certain financial covenants may limit the Company's ability to borrow additional funds or to incur additional liens. In the past, the Company has been able to obtain required lender consent for such activities. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain such consents in the future. If the Company's liquidity needs or growth plans require such consents and such consents are not obtained, the Company may be forced to forego or alter its plans, which could materially and adversely affect the Company's results of operations and financial condition.

In the event the Company breach these covenants, the outstanding amounts due under such financing agreements could become due and payable immediately and/or result in increased costs. A default under one of these financing agreements may also result in cross-defaults under other financing agreements and result in the outstanding amounts under such other financing agreements becoming due and payable immediately. Defaults under one or more of the Company's financing agreements could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

Future pension obligations may prove more costly than currently anticipated and the market value of assets in the Company's pension plans could decline.

The Company provide post-retirement and pension benefits to its employees, including defined benefit plans. The Company's pension liabilities are generally funded. However, lower returns on pension fund assets, changes in market conditions, interest rates or inflation rates, and adverse changes in other critical actuarial assumptions, may impact its pension liabilities or assets and consequently increase funding requirements. Further, any changes in government/regulations, may adversely impact the pension benefits payable to the employees, which could materially decrease the company's net income and cash flows.

Jaguar Land Rover provides post-retirement and pension benefits to its employees, some of which are defined benefit plans. As part of Jaquar Land Rover's strategic business review process, it closed the Jaguar Land Rover defined benefit pension plan to new joiners as of April 19, 2010. All new Jaguar Land Rover employees from 19 April 2010 have joined a new defined contribution pension plan. Under the arrangements with the trustees of the defined benefit pension schemes, an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the schemes is undertaken every three years in order to determine cash funding rates. The most recent valuation, as at April 2018, indicated a shortfall in the assets of the schemes as at that date, versus the actuarially determined liabilities as at that date of £554 million (compared to £789 million as at April 2015). The 2018 valuation was completed in December 2018. Following the 2018 actuarial valuation the company contributions for benefits accruing in the defined benefit plan reduces to approximately 22% (previously approximately 31%) reflecting the benefit restructure implemented as at April 5, 2017. As at March 31, 2019, Jaguar Land Rover's UK defined benefit pension accounted deficit had increased to £667 million, as compared to £438 million as at March 31, 2018. This increase was primarily due to reductions in bond yields as well as increased inflation expectations. The increase also reflects the cost of GMP equalisation and pension benefits for employees leaving under the Fiscal Year 2019 restructuring programmes (together equal to £42 million). As of 30 September 2019, Jaguar Land Rover's UK defined benefit pension accounted deficit had increased to GBP826 million.

Lower return on pension fund assets, changes in market conditions, changes in interest rates, changes in inflation rates and adverse changes in other critical actuarial assumptions, may impact its pension liabilities or assets and consequently increase funding requirements, which will adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations. The accounted deficit is assessed and reported on a quarterly basis, it is driven by a number of factors including asset movements, movements in the discount rate (reflecting UK high quality corporate debt yields), mortality rates, inflation etc as well as one-off events such as redundancy programs. As a result, the level of the pension deficit may vary substantially between periods.

The Company may be materially and adversely affected by the divulgence of confidential information.

Although the Company has implemented policies and procedures to protect confidential information, such as key contractual provisions, future projects, and customer records, such information may be divulged, including as a result of internal leaks, hacking, other threats from cyberspace or other factors. If confidential information is divulged, the Company could be subject to claims by affected parties, negative publicity and loss of proprietary information, all of which could have an adverse and material impact on the Company's reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's business could be negatively affected by the actions of activist shareholders.

Certain shareholders of the Company may from time to time advance shareholder proposals or otherwise attempt to effect changes at the Company, influence elections of the company ("Directors") or acquire control over its business. The Company's success largely depends on the ability of its current management team to operate and manage effectively. Campaigns by shareholders to effect changes at publicly listed companies are sometimes led by investors seeking to increase short-term shareholder value by advocating corporate actions such as financial restructuring, increased borrowing, special dividends, stock repurchases or even sales of assets or the entire company, or by voting against proposals put forward by the board of directors and management of the company. If faced with actions by activist shareholders, the Company may not be able to respond effectively to such actions, which could be disruptive to the Company's business.

The Company rely on licensing arrangements with Tata Sons Limited to use the "Tata" brand. Any improper use of the associated trademarks by the Company's licensor or any other third parties could materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company's rights to the Company's trade names and trademarks are a crucial factor in marketing its products. Establishment of the "Tata" word mark and logo mark in and outside India is material to the Company's operations. The Company has licensed the use of the "Tata" brand from its Promoter, Tata Sons Limited, or Tata Sons. If Tata Sons, or any of its subsidiaries or affiliated entities, or any third party uses the trade name "Tata" in ways that adversely affect such trade name or trademark, its reputation could suffer damage, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company is subject to risks associated with the automobile financing business.

The sale of the Company's commercial and passenger vehicles is heavily dependent on funding availability for its customers. Rising delinquencies and early defaults have contributed to a reduction in automobile financing, which, in turn, has had an adverse effect on funding availability for potential customers. This reduction in available financing may continue in the future and have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Default by the Company's customers or inability to repay installments as due could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, any downgrade in the Company's credit ratings may increase its borrowing costs and restrict its access to the debt markets. Over time, and particularly in the event of any credit rating downgrade, market volatility, market disruption, regulatory changes or otherwise, the Company may need to reduce the amount of financing receivables originated, which could severely disrupt the Company's ability to support the sale of its vehicles.

The Company's Jaguar Land Rover has consumer finance arrangements in place with Lloyds Black Horse in the United Kingdom, FCA Bank S.p.A. in European markets and Chase Auto Finance in North America and has similar arrangements with local providers in a number of other key markets. Any reduction in the supply of available consumer financing for the purchase of new vehicles or an increase in the cost thereof would make it more difficult for some of its customers to purchase its vehicles, which could put Jaguar Land Rover under commercial pressure to offer new (or expand existing) retail or dealer incentives to maintain demand for its vehicles, thereby materially and adversely affecting the Company's sales and results of operations. For example, during the global financial crisis, several providers of customer finance reduced their supply of consumer financing for the purchase of new vehicles. Additionally, base interest rates in developed economies are at historic lows. An increase in interest rates due to tightening monetary policy or for any other reason would result in increased costs for consumers.

Furthermore, Jaguar Land Rover offers residual value guarantees on the purchase of certain leases in some markets. The value of these guarantees is dependent on used car valuations in those markets at the end of the lease, which is subject to change. Consequently, the Company may be adversely affected by movements in used car valuations in these markets.

Inability to protect or preserve the Company's intellectual property could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company own or otherwise have rights in respect of a number of patents relating to the products it manufacture. In connection with the design and engineering of new vehicles and the enhancement of existing models, the Company seek to regularly develop new intellectual property. The Company also use technical designs, which are the intellectual property of third parties with such third parties' consent. These patents and trademarks have been of value in the growth of the Company's business and may continue to be of value in the future. Although the Company do not regard any of its businesses as being dependent upon any single patent or related group of patents, an inability to protect this intellectual property generally, or the illegal breach of some or a large group of the Company's intellectual property rights, would have a materially adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company may also be affected by restrictions on the use of intellectual property rights held by third parties and the Company may be held legally liable for the infringement of the intellectual property rights of others in the Company's products. Moreover, intellectual property laws of some foreign countries may not protect company's intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. or UK laws.

The Company may incur significant costs to comply with, or face civil and criminal liability for infringements of, the European General Data Protection Regulation.

In April 2016, the European Union enacted the GDPR. The GDPR is a uniform framework setting out the principles for legitimate data processing and came into force on May 25, 2018. The introduction of the GDPR strengthens individuals' rights and imposes stricter requirements on companies processing personal data. The new regime may impose a substantially higher compliance burden on the Company and limit its rights to process personal data, lead to cost intensive administration processes, oblige us to provide the personal data that the Company record to customers in a form that would require additional administrative processes or require

substantial changes in its IT environment. Additionally, there are much greater sanctions in case of violations of the GDPR requirements compared to the previous regime. These sanctions depend on the nature of the infringed provision and may consist of civil liabilities and criminal sanctions. For example, criminal sanctions for compliance failures have increased in the United Kingdom to €20,000,000 or 4% of annual worldwide turnover (whichever is higher). The Company's failure to implement and comply with the GDPR could significantly affect its reputation and relationships with its customers and suppliers, and civil and criminal liabilities for the infringement of data protection rules could have a significant negative effect on its financial position.

Some of the Company's vehicles will make use of lithium-ion battery cells, which have been observed in some non-automotive applications to catch fire or vent smoke and flames, and such events have raised concerns, and future events may lead to additional concerns, about the batteries used in automotive applications.

The battery packs that the Company will use in its electric vehicles make use of lithium-ion cells. On rare occasions, lithium-ion cells can rapidly release the energy they contain by venting smoke and flames in a manner that can ignite nearby materials as well as other lithium-ion cells.

While the Company have designed the battery pack to passively contain any single cell's release of energy without spreading to neighboring cells, there can be no assurance that a field or testing failure of the Company's vehicles will not occur, which could subject us to lawsuits, product recalls, or redesign efforts, all of which would be time consuming and expensive. Negative public perceptions regarding the suitability of lithium-ion cells for automotive applications, or any future incident involving lithium-ion cells such as a vehicle fire, even if such incident does not involve the Company's vehicles, could seriously harm its business.

In addition, the Company will store a significant number of lithium-ion cells at its manufacturing facilities. Any mishandling of battery cells may cause disruption to the operation of its facilities. While the Company has implemented safety procedures related to the handling of the cells, there can be no assurance that a safety issue or fire related to the cells would not disrupt the Company's operations. Such damage or injury could lead to adverse publicity and potentially a safety recall. Moreover, any failure of a competitor's electric vehicle may cause indirect adverse publicity for us and the Company's products. Such adverse publicity could harm the Company's business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Any failures or weaknesses in the Company's internal controls could materially and adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

Upon evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's internal controls, the Company concluded that there was a material weakness such that its internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of March 31, 2019. Although the Company have instituted remedial measures to address the material weakness identified and continually review and evaluate its internal control systems to allow management to report on the sufficiency of its internal controls, the Company cannot assure that it will not discover additional weaknesses in its internal controls over financial reporting. Further, management continually improves, simplifies and rationalizes the Company's internal control framework where possible within the constraints of existing IT systems. However, any additional weaknesses or failure to adequately remediate the existing weakness could materially and adversely affect the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

The Company's insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect against all potential losses to which it may be subject to, and this may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

While the Company believe that the insurance coverage that it maintain is reasonably adequate to cover all normal risks associated with the operation of the Company's business, there can be no assurance that the Company's insurance coverage will be sufficient, that any claim under the Company's insurance policies will be honored fully or in a timely manner, or that the Company's insurance premiums will not increase substantially. There can be no assurance that any claim under the Company's insurance policies will be honoured fully or timely, its insurance coverage will be sufficient in any respect or the insurance premiums will not change substantially. Accordingly, to the extent that the Company suffer loss or damage that is not covered by insurance or that exceeds its insurance coverage, or are required to pay higher insurance premiums, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Political and Regulatory Risks

India's obligations under the World Trade Organization Agreement could materially affect the Company's business.

India's obligations under its World Trade Organization agreement could reduce the present level of tariffs on imports of components and vehicles. Reductions of import tariffs could result in increased competition, which in turn could materially and adversely affect the Company's sales, business, financial condition and results of operations.

New or changing laws, regulations and government policies regarding increased fuel economy, reduced greenhouse gas and other emissions, vehicle safety and taxes, tariffs or fiscal policies may have significant impact on the Company's business.

As an automobile company, the Company is subject to extensive governmental regulations regarding vehicle emission levels, noise, safety and levels of pollutants generated by its production facilities. In particular, the United States and Europe have stringent regulations relating to vehicle emissions. The contemplated tightening of vehicle emissions regulations by the European Union will require significant costs for compliance. While the Company is pursuing various technologies in order to meet the required standards in the various countries in which the Company sell its vehicles, these regulations are likely to become more stringent and the resulting higher compliance costs may be significant to the Company's operations and may adversely impact its business, financial condition and results of operations. They may also limit the type of vehicles the Company sell and where it sell them, which could affect the Company's revenues.

Recently, several jurisdictions, such as Norway, Germany, the United Kingdom, France, the Netherlands and China have announced the intention to eliminate the sale of conventionally fueled vehicles in their markets in the coming decades. Diesel technologies have also become the focus of legislators in the United States and European Union as a result of emission levels. This has led to various carmakers to announce programs to retrofit diesel vehicles with software that will allow them to reduce emissions. To maintain the Company's competitiveness and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the Company may be required to undertake increased R&D spending as well as other capital expenses.

There is a risk that these R&D activities may not achieve their planned objectives or the Company's competitors will develop better solutions and will be able to manufacture the resulting products more rapidly. This could result in loss of market share for the Company.

There is also a risk that investments in research and development of new technologies, including autonomous, connected and electrification technologies, and solutions to address future travel and transport challenges, may fail to generate sufficient returns because the technology developed or the products derived therefrom are unsuccessful in the marked and/or because the Company's competitors have developed better and/or less expensive products.

Additionally, In order to comply with current and future safety and environmental norms, the Company may have to incur additional capital expenditure and R&D expenditure to (i) operate and maintain the Company's production facilities, (ii) install new emissions controls or reduction technologies, (iii) purchase or otherwise obtain allowances to emit greenhouse gases, (iv) administer and manage the Company's greenhouse gas emissions program, and (v) invest in research and development to upgrade products and manufacturing facilities. If the Company are unable to develop commercially viable technologies or otherwise unable to attain compliance within the time frames set by the new standards, the Company could face significant civil penalties or be forced to restrict product offerings significantly. For example, in the United States, manufacturers are subject to substantial civil penalties if they fail to meet federal Corporate Average Fuel Economy, or CAFE, standards. These penalties are calculated at US\$5.50 for each tenth of a mile below the required fuel efficiency level for each vehicle sold in a model year in the U.S. market. As with many European manufacturers, since 2010, Jaguar Land Rover has paid total penalties of US\$46 million for its failure to meet CAFE standards.

Moreover, safety and environmental standards may at times impose conflicting imperatives, which pose engineering challenges and would, among other things, increase the Company's costs. While the company is pursuing the development and implementation of various technologies in order to meet the required standards in the various countries in which the company sell its vehicles, the costs for compliance with these required standards could be significant to Company's operations and may materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Bill has been passed in the Lok Sabha on 23rd July, 2019 and in Rajya Sabha on 31st July, 2019. The Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019 came into force on 9th Aug, 2019. The Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019 addresses vehicle recalls, road safety, traffic management and accident insurance, among other matters. In its current form, the Act imposes civil and criminal liability on manufacturers selling vehicles in contravention of the standards specified in the Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019 or required by the government to recall their vehicles. The Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019 also has constituted the National Road Safety Board to provide advice to the central and state governments on all aspects of road safety and traffic management.

Commencing July 1, 2017, the Indian tax regime underwent a systemic change. The Government of India, in conjunction with the state governments, implemented a comprehensive national goods and services tax, or GST, regime to combine taxes and levies by the central and state governments into one unified rate structure. Based on the application of the tax, GST will be classified as either Central GST (CGST), in instances where the central government levies the tax; State/Union Territory GST (SGST/UTGST), in instances where the state or union territory governments levy the tax; and Integrated GST (IGST), in instances where the GST is levied on the inter-state supply of goods and services. While both the central and state governments have publicly announced that all committed incentives will be protected following the implementation of the GST, given the limited availability of information or alignment of industrial policy of various state government to cover GST or to protect the quantum of incentive available to industries in pre-GST regime, the company is unable to provide any assurance as to this or any other aspect of the tax regime, or guarantee that the implementation of GST will not materially or adversely affect its business or financial condition.

Imposition of any additional taxes and levies designed to limit the use of automobiles and changes in corporate and other taxation policies as well as changes in export and other incentives given by various governments or import or tariff policies, could adversely affect the demand for its vehicles and its results of operations. For instance, Brexit may result in material changes to the UK's tax, tariff and fiscal policies. In addition, the current U.S. presidential administration has called for changes to laws and policies governing international trade to further restrict free trade, including imposing tariffs on certain goods imported into the United States (e.g. a tariff was imposed on European aluminium and steel imports in June 2018). The administration has also specifically warned of its intention to impose a 20% tariff on European made vehicles imported into the United States, a levy that, if imposed, would increase the cost of JLR's vehicles in the United States (as JLR has no manufacturing operations in the United States), which is likely to have a material adverse effect on JLR's sales in the United States and its results of operation. Furthermore, in recent years, the Brazilian government has implemented increased import duty on foreign vehicles, along with related exemptions provided certain criteria are met. The Company continue the Company's discussions with the Brazilian government to manage the impact on the Company's business and are seeking to reduce the impact of increased tariffs.

Evaluating and estimating the Company's provision and accruals for its taxes requires significant judgment. As the Company conduct its business, the final tax determination may be uncertain. The Company operate in multiple geographical markets and its operations in each market are susceptible to additional tax assessments and audits. The Company's collaborations with business partners are similarly susceptible to such tax assessments.

Authorities may engage in additional reviews, inquiries and audits that disrupt the Company's operations or challenge its conclusions regarding tax matters. Any resulting tax assessment may be accompanied by a penalty or additional fee for failing to make the initial payment. The Company's tax rates may be affected by earnings estimation errors, losses in jurisdictions that do not grant a related tax benefit, changes in currency rates, acquisitions, investments, or changes in laws, regulations or practices. Additionally, government fiscal pressures may increase the likelihood of adverse or aggressive interpretations of tax laws or regulations or the imposition of arbitrary or onerous taxes, interest charges and penalties. Tax assessments may be levied even where the Company consider its practices to be in compliance with tax laws and regulations. Should the Company challenge such taxes or believe them to be without merit, it may nonetheless be required to pay them. These amounts may be materially different from the Company's expected tax assessments and could additionally result in expropriation of assets, attachment of additional securities, liens, imposition of royalties or new taxes and requirements for local ownership or beneficiation.

On March 29, 2017, the Supreme Court of India prohibited the sale and registration of Bharat Stage III vehicles from April 1, 2017. Bharat Stage emission standards are emission standards instituted by the Government of India to regulate the output of air pollutants from internal combustion engines and Spark-ignition engines equipment, including motor vehicles. These regulations are similar to European emission standards, and seeks to curb emission levels from motor vehicles. Bharat Stage III is similar to European standards (Euro III) which were in place between 2000 and 2005 in most western nations. The Supreme Court of India's judgment overturned a government regulation, and was unexpected. The Petroleum Ministry of India in consultation with Public Oil Marketing

Companies brought forward the date of Bharat Stage VI grade auto fuels in National Capital Territory of Delhi with effect from April 1, 2018 instead of April 1, 2020. The shortage of Bharat Stage VI fuel across India in the future could impact the company's business, results of operations and financial condition. The company could be impacted by the change of emission standards in India from Bharat Stage IV to Bharat Stage VI, effective April 1, 2020, as Bharat Stage IV vehicles will not be allowed to be registered after that date, which could lead to an increase in the

company's inventory of Bharat Stage IV vehicles if the inventory management is not well-managed during the transition period. The change in emission standards may also increase the cost of Bharat Stage VI vehicles.

Any future potential or real unexpected change in law could have could have a material adverse effect on the company's business prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company may be affected by competition law in India and any adverse application or interpretation of the Competition Act could adversely affect the Company's business.

The Indian Competition Act oversees practices having an appreciable adverse effect on competition, or AAEC, in a given relevant market in India. Under the Competition Act, any formal or informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes or is likely to cause an AAEC, is considered void and results in imposition of substantial penalties. Consequently, all agreements entered into by us could be within the purview of the Competition Act. Furthermore, any agreement among competitors which directly or indirectly involves determination of purchase or sale prices, limits or controls production, sharing the market by way of geographical area or number of subscribers in the relevant market or which directly or indirectly results in bid-rigging or collusive bidding is presumed to have an AAEC in the relevant market in India and is considered void. The Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise. The Company cannot predict with certainty the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on the Company's agreements at this stage.

On March 4, 2011, the Government of India issued and brought into force the combination regulation (merger control) provisions under the Competition Act with effect from June 1, 2011. These provisions require acquisitions of shares, voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations that cross the prescribed asset- and turnover-based thresholds to be mandatorily notified to and pre-approved by the Competition Commission of India, or CCI. Additionally, on May 11, 2011, the CCI issued the Competition Commission of India (Procedure for Transaction of Business Relating to Combinations) Regulations, 2011 (as amended), which sets out the mechanism for the implementation of the merger control regime in India.

Furthermore, the CCI has extraterritorial powers and can investigate any agreements, abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has an AAEC in India. The CCI has initiated an inquiry against us and other car manufacturers, collectively referred to hereinafter as the OEMs, pursuant to an allegation that genuine spare parts of automobiles manufactured by the OEMs were not made freely available in the open market in India and, accordingly, anti-competitive practices were carried out by the OEMs.

If the Company are adversely affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement proceedings initiated by the CCI, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or prosecution by the CCI or if any prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Compliance with new or changing corporate governance and public disclosure requirements adds uncertainty to the Company's compliance policies and increases the Company's costs of compliance.

The Company is subject to a complex and continuously changing regime of laws, rules, regulations and standards relating to accounting, corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, regulations, Securities and Exchange Board of India, or SEBI, regulations, New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, listing rules, and the Companies Act, as well as Indian stock market listing regulations. New or changed laws, rules, regulations and standards may lack specificity and are

subject to varying interpretations. Under applicable Indian laws, for example, remuneration packages may, in certain circumstances, require shareholders' approval. New guidance and revisions may be provided by regulatory and governing bodies, which could result in continuing uncertainty and higher costs of compliance. The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure. However, the Company's efforts to comply with evolving regulations have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management resources and time.

The Companies Act has effected significant changes to the existing Indian company law framework, such as in the provisions related to the issue of capital, disclosures in offering documents, corporate governance norms, accounting policies and audit matters, related party transactions, class action suits against companies by shareholders or depositors, prohibitions on loans to directors and insider trading, including restrictions on derivative transactions concerning a company's securities by directors and key managerial personnel. The Companies Act may subject the Company to higher compliance requirements, increase its compliance costs and divert management's attention. The Company is also required to spend, in each financial year, at least 2% of its average net profits during the three immediately preceding financial years, calculated for Tata Motors Limited on a standalone basis under Ind-AS, toward corporate social responsibility activities. Furthermore, the Companies Act imposes greater monetary and other liability on the Company and its directors for any non-compliance. Due to limited relevant jurisprudence, in the event that the Company's interpretation of the Companies Act differs from, or contradicts with, any judicial pronouncements or clarifications issued by the Government of India in the future, the Company may face regulatory actions or be required to undertake remedial steps. In addition, some of the provisions of the Companies Act overlap with other existing laws and regulations (such as corporate governance provisions and insider trading regulations issued by SEBI). SEBI promulgated the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, or the Listing Regulations, which are applicable to all Indian companies with listed securities or companies intending to list its securities on an Indian stock exchange, and the Listing Regulations became effective on December 1, 2015. Pursuant to the Listing Regulations, the Company is required to establish and maintain a vigilance mechanism for directors and employees to report their concerns about unethical behaviour, actual or suspected fraud or violation of the Company's Code of Conduct or ethics policy under the Company's whistleblower policy, to implement increased disclosure requirements for price sensitive information, to conduct elaborate directors familiarization programs and comprehensive disclosures thereof, in accordance with the Listing Regulations. The Company may face difficulties in complying with any such overlapping requirements. Furthermore, the Company cannot currently determine the impact of certain provisions of the Companies Act and the revised SEBI corporate governance norms. Any increase in the Company's compliance requirements or in the Company's compliance costs may have a material and adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company is subject to risks associated with legal proceedings and governmental investigations, including potential adverse publicity as a result thereof.

The Company are and may be involved from time to time in civil, labour, administrative or tax proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. It is not possible to predict the potential for, or the ultimate outcomes of, such proceedings, some of which may be unfavorable to the Company. In such cases, the Company may incur costs and any mitigating measures (including provisions taken on the Company's balance sheet) adopted to protect against the impact of such costs may not be adequate or sufficient. In addition, adverse publicity surrounding legal proceedings, government investigations or allegations may also harm the Company's reputation and brands.

In any of the geographical markets in which the Company operate, the Company could be subject to additional tax liabilities.

Evaluating and estimating the Company's provision and accruals for its taxes requires significant judgement. As the Company conduct its business, the final tax determination may be uncertain. The Company operate in multiple geographical markets and its operations in each market are susceptible to additional tax assessments and audits. The Company's collaborations with business partners are similarly susceptible to such tax assessments. Authorities may engage in additional reviews, inquiries and audits that disrupt the Company's operations or challenge its conclusions regarding tax matters. Any resulting tax assessment may be accompanied by a penalty (including revocation of a benefit or exemption from tax) or additional fee for failing to make the initial payment.

The Company's tax rates may be affected by earnings estimation errors, losses in jurisdictions that do not grant a related tax benefit, changes in currency rates, acquisitions, investments, or changes in laws, regulations, or practices. Additionally, government fiscal or political pressures may increase the likelihood of adverse or aggressive interpretations of tax laws or regulations or the imposition of arbitrary or onerous taxes, interest charges and penalties. Tax assessments may be levied even where the Company consider its practices to be in compliance with tax laws and regulations. Should the Company challenge such taxes or believe them to be without merit, it may nonetheless be required to pay them. These amounts may be materially different from the Company's expected tax assessments and could additionally result in expropriation of assets, attachment of additional securities, liens, imposition of royalties or new taxes and requirements for local ownership or beneficiation.

The Company may have to comply with more stringent foreign investment regulations in India in the event of an increase in shareholding of non-residents or if the Company is considered as engaged in a sector in which foreign investment is restricted.

Indian companies, which are owned or controlled by non-resident persons, are subject to investment restrictions specified in the Consolidated FDI (Foreign Direct Investment) Policy. Under the Consolidated FDI Policy, an Indian company is considered to be "owned" by non-resident persons if more than 50% of its equity interest is beneficially owned by non-resident persons. The non-resident equity shareholding in the Company may, in the near future, exceed 50%, thereby resulting in the Company being considered as being "owned" by non-resident entities under the Consolidated FDI Policy. In such an event, any investment by us in existing subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures and new subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures will be considered as indirect foreign investment and shall be subject to various requirements specified under the Consolidated FDI Policy, including sectoral limits, approval requirements and pricing guidelines, as may be applicable.

Furthermore, as part of the Company's automotive business, its supply and have in the past supplied, vehicles to Indian military and paramilitary forces and in the course of such activities have obtained an industrial license from the Department of Industrial Policy. The Consolidated FDI policy applies different foreign investment restrictions to companies based upon the sector in which they operate. While the Company believe that it is an automobile company by virtue of the significance of the Company's automobile operations, in the event that foreign investment regulations applicable to the defense sector (including under the Consolidated FDI Policy) are made applicable to us, the Company may face more stringent foreign investment restrictions and other compliance requirements compared to those applicable to us presently, which, in turn, could materially affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company require certain approvals or licenses in the ordinary course of business, and the failure to obtain or retain them in a timely manner, or at all, could materially and adversely affect the Company's operations.

The Company require certain statutory and regulatory permits, licenses and approvals to carry out its business operations and applications for their renewal need to be made within certain time frames. For some of the approvals which may have expired, the Company have either made, or are in the process of making, an application for obtaining the approval or its renewal. While the Company have applied for renewal for such approvals, registrations and permits, it cannot assure that the Company will receive them in a timely manner or at all. The Company can make no assurances that the approvals, licenses, registrations and permits issued to us would not be suspended or revoked in the event of non-compliance or alleged non-compliance with any terms or conditions thereof, or pursuant to any regulatory action. Furthermore, if the Company are unable to renew or obtain necessary permits, licenses and approvals on acceptable terms in a timely manner, or at all, the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Associated with Investments in an Indian Company

Political changes in the Government of India could delay and/or affect the further liberalization of the Indian economy and materially and adversely affect economic conditions in India, generally, and the Company's business, in particular.

The Company's business could be significantly influenced by economic policies adopted by the Government of India. Since 1991, successive governments have pursued policies of economic liberalization and financial sector reforms.

The Government of India has at various times announced its general intention to continue India's current economic and financial liberalization and deregulation policies. However, protests against such policies, which have occurred in the past, could slow the pace of liberalization and deregulation. The rate of economic liberalization could change, and specific laws and policies affecting foreign investment, currency exchange rates and other matters affecting investment in India could change as well. While the Company expects any new government to continue the liberalization of India's economic and financial sectors and deregulation policies, there can be no assurance that such policies will be continued.

The Government of India has traditionally exercised and continues to exercise influence over many aspects of the economy. The Company's business and the market price and liquidity of the Company's ADSs and Shares may be affected by interest rates, changes in policy, taxation, social and civil unrest and other political, economic or other developments in or affecting India.

A change in the Government of India's economic liberalization and deregulation policies could disrupt business and economic conditions in India generally, and specifically the Company's business and operations, as a substantial portion of the Company's assets are located in India. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

Any downgrading of Company's debt rating by a domestic or international rating agency could negatively impact the Company's business.

Any adverse revisions to Company's credit ratings for domestic and international debt by domestic or international rating agencies could adversely impact the Company's ability to raise additional financing, as well as the interest rates and other commercial terms at which such additional financing is available. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial results, business prospects, ability to obtain financing for capital expenditures and the price of the Company's Shares and ADSs.

The Company may be materially and adversely affected by Reserve Bank of India policies and actions.

The Indian stock exchanges are vulnerable to fluctuations based on changes in monetary policy formulated by the Reserve Bank of India, or RBI. The Company can make no assurances about future market reactions to RBI announcements and their impact on the price of the Company's Shares and ADSs. Furthermore, the Company's business could be significantly impacted were the RBI to make major alterations to monetary or fiscal policy. Certain changes, including the raising of interest rates, could negatively affect the Company's sales and consequently the Company's revenue, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

Investors may have difficulty enforcing judgments against the Company or its management.

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in India. The majority of the Company's directors and executive officers are residents of India and substantially all of the assets of those persons and a substantial portion of the Company's assets are located in India. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon those persons or the Company. In addition, investors may be unable to enforce judgments obtained in courts of the United States against those persons outside the jurisdiction of their residence, including judgments predicated solely upon U.S. federal securities laws. Moreover, it is unlikely that a court in India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action were brought in India or that an Indian court would enforce foreign judgments if it viewed the amount of damages as excessive or inconsistent with public policy.

Section 44A of the Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, as amended, or the Civil Code, provides that where a foreign judgment has been rendered by a superior court (within the meaning of the section) in any country or territory outside of India which the Government of India has by notification declared to be a reciprocating territory, such foreign judgment may be enforced in India by proceedings in execution as if the judgment had been rendered by an appropriate court in India. However, the enforceability of such judgments is subject to the exceptions set forth in Section 13 of the Civil Code.

Section 44A of the Civil Code is applicable only to monetary decrees not being in the nature of amounts payable in respect of taxes or other charges of a similar nature or in respect of fines or other penalties and does not include arbitration awards.

If a judgment of a foreign court is not enforceable under Section 44A of the Civil Code as described above, it may be enforced in India only by a suit filed upon the judgment, subject to Section 13 of the Civil Code and not by proceedings in execution. Accordingly, as the United States has not been declared by the Government of India to be a reciprocating territory for the purposes of Section 44A, a judgment rendered by a court in the United States may not be enforced in India except by way of a suit filed upon the judgment.

The suit must be brought in India within three years from the date of the judgment in the same manner as any other suit filed to enforce a civil liability in India. Generally, there are considerable delays in the resolution of suits by Indian courts.

A party seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval from the RBI, under the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, or FEMA to repatriate any amount recovered pursuant to such enforcement. Any judgment in a foreign currency would be converted into Indian rupees on the date of judgment and not on the date of payment.

Risk Relating to the Notes

Any default by Jaguar Land Rover or any of its subsidiaries will not constitute an Event of Default in accordance with the terms of the Notes.

Condition 9 (Events of Default) provides for certain Events of Default, the occurrence of which may result in the Notes becoming immediately due and payable at their principal amount together with accrued interest. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of Default". The Events of Default include cross-acceleration provisions (the "Cross-Acceleration Provision") which provide for the occurrence of an Event of Default when, amongst other reasons, any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") of the Company is declared due and repayable prior to its stated maturity by reason of an event of default or potential event of default.

The Cross-Acceleration Provision does not include, and will not operate in the event of, any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of Jaguar Land Rover or any of its subsidiaries being or becoming capable of being declared due and payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of an event of default or potential event of default.

Similarly, any winding-up, cessation of business, insolvency, liquidation and insolvency proceedings or creditors arrangement in respect of Jaguar Land Rover, or any nationalisation, change of law or any other analogous event relating to Jaguar Land Rover, will not constitute an Event of Default.

Accordingly, if the foregoing circumstances were to occur, the Notes would not become capable of being declared due and payable in accordance with Condition 9 (*Events of Default*) or the Trust Deed, and would materially impact the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.

The Notes may be redeemed at the Issuer's option on the occurrence of certain events.

The Company has the right to redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, subject to receipt of any approvals (as set out above) at their principal amount together with any unpaid accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption if the Company satisfies the Trustee of certain matters related to taxation with respect to the Notes (and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate or opinion from the Issuer, without any liability, as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent to such redemption).

The date that the Company elects to redeem the Notes may not accord with the preference of individual holders, which may be disadvantageous to holders in light of market conditions or the individual circumstances of the holder of the Notes. Additionally, an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable securities at an effective yield at the same level as that of the Notes.

The Company may not be able to meet its obligations to pay or redeem the Notes.

In certain circumstances, Noteholders may require the Company to redeem all or a portion of the Notes and the Company would be required to pay all amounts then due under the Notes. In particular, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), the holders of the Notes may require the Company to redeem such holders' Notes and following an acceleration of the Notes upon an event of default, the Company would be required to pay all amounts then due under the Notes which it may not be able to meet. The Company may not be able to make required payments in connection with the Notes if the requisite regulatory approval is not received or if the Company does not have sufficient cash flows for those payments.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
 merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in this Offering
 Circular or any applicable supplement;
- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of
 its particular financial situation, the impact an investment in the Notes will have on its overall
 investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant financial markets; and
- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Notes are complex financial instruments. The Notes will not receive a credit rating, which will limit the categories of institutional investors who are able to purchase the Notes and therefore may affect the liquidity of the Notes. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in the Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

The Notes are subject to modification by a majority of Noteholders without the consent of all Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting or otherwise exercise their voting rights and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of the Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which in its opinion, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest error or an error which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, proven and (ii) that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as such (provided that, in any such case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, having regard to its rights under the Trust Deed to obtain advice from professional advisers, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. For further details of such matters and the relevant majorities required at meetings of Noteholders, see Condition 14 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Authorisation) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the corresponding provisions of the Trust Deed.

Changes in English law subsequent to the issuance of the Notes may impact the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, and no assurances can be given to Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are based on English law and administrative practices in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Offering Circular, nor can any assurance be given as to whether any such change could adversely affect the Company's ability to make payments under the Notes.

The Company is not prohibited from issuing further debt which may rank pari passu with the Notes.

There is no restriction on the amount of debt securities that the Company may issue that rank *pari passu* with the Notes. The issue of any such debt securities may reduce the amount recoverable by investors in the Notes upon the Company's bankruptcy, winding-up or liquidation.

The Notes (subject to Condition 4.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) will be unsecured and accordingly, claims of the Company's secured creditors will have priority with respect to their security over the claims of the holders of the Notes, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness.

The Company has a certain amount of secured indebtedness and may incur additional secured indebtedness under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The Notes (subject to Condition 4.1 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) will be unsecured and, accordingly, claims of the Company's secured creditors will have priority with respect to the assets securing their indebtedness over the claims of the holders of the Notes. No security has been provided over the Company's assets to secure the Notes. In the event of the Company's insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganisation, dissolution or winding-up, holders of such secured indebtedness will have prior claims to the assets that constitute their collateral.

The Trustee may request the Noteholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to its satisfaction.

In certain circumstances (including without limitation the giving of notice to the Company pursuant to Condition 9 (*Events of Default*)), the Trustee may (at its sole discretion) request Noteholders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to its satisfaction before it takes any steps and/or actions and/or institute any proceedings on behalf of Noteholders. The Trustee will not be obliged to take any such steps and/or actions and/or institute any such proceedings if not indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. Negotiating and agreeing to an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may impact on when such actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to take steps and/or actions and/or institute any such proceedings, notwithstanding the provision of an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to it, in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed or in circumstances where there is uncertainty or dispute as to the applicable laws or regulations and, to the extent permitted by the agreements and the applicable law, it will be for the Noteholders to take such actions directly.

Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity.

Under the ECB Guidelines, any repayment of an external commercial borrowing prior to its stated maturity may require the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be. Therefore, any repayment of the Notes prior to maturity as a result of early redemption pursuant to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, including under Condition 7.2 (*Redemption for Taxation Reasons*), Condition 7.3 (*Redemption for Change of Control*) or Condition 9 (*Events of Default*) would each require the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be. There can be no assurance that such approval would be obtained in a timely manner or at all. In the absence of such an approval, the Company may not be able to redeem all or any of the Notes prior to maturity.

Remittances of funds outside India pursuant to indemnification by the Company in relation to the Notes requires RBI approval.

Remittance of funds outside India by us pursuant to indemnity clauses under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Trust Deed or any other agreements in relation to the Notes requires prior RBI approval. Any approval, if and when required, for the remittance of funds outside India is at the discretion of the RBI and the Company can give no assurance that it will be able to obtain such approvals.

Noteholders will be reliant on Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg procedures to exercise certain rights under the Notes.

The Notes will be represented on issue by a Global Certificate that will be registered in the name of a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in the Global Certificate, investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in definitive form. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. While the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, the Company will discharge its payment obligation under the Notes by making payments through the relevant clearing systems. A holder of a beneficial interest in the Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and its participants to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Company has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interest in the Global Certificate.

Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the relevant clearing system and its participants to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly, holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not have a direct right thereunder to take enforcement action against the Company in the event of a default under the Notes but will have to rely upon their rights under the Trust Deed.

There is currently no secondary market for the Notes and there may be limited liquidity for Noteholders.

There is no assurance that a secondary market for the Notes will develop or, if it does develop, that it will provide the Noteholders with liquidity of investment or that it will continue for the life of the Notes. Accordingly, a Noteholder may not be able to find a buyer to buy its Notes readily or at prices that will enable the Noteholder to realise a desired yield. The market value of the Notes may fluctuate and a lack of liquidity, in particular, can have a material adverse effect on the market value of the Notes. Accordingly, the purchase of the Notes is suitable only for investors who can bear the risks associated with a lack of liquidity in the Notes and the financial and other risks associated with an investment in the Notes. An investor in the Notes must be prepared to hold the Notes for any period of time up until their maturity.

The Notes may be subject to restrictions on transfer which may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States and the company has not undertaken to effect any exchange offer for the Notes in the future. The Notes may not be offered in the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in transactions not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. The Notes and the Agency

Agreement will contain provisions that will restrict the Notes from being offered, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to the exemptions available pursuant to Regulation S, or other exemptions, under the Securities Act. Furthermore, the Trustee has not registered the Notes under any other country's securities laws. Investors must ensure that their offers and sales of the Notes within the United States and other countries comply with applicable securities laws.

Fluctuations in interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Investment in the Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes.

Legal investment laws and regulations, or the review and regulation of such by authorities, may restrict investment activities of certain investors.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) the Notes are legal investments for it, (2) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

The trading market for the Notes may be volatile and may be adversely impacted by many events.

The market for the Notes is expected to be influenced by economic and market conditions and, to varying degrees, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in India, the United States, Europe and other industrialised countries. There can be no assurance that events in India, the United States, Europe or elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price of the Notes or that economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse effect.

Corporate disclosure standards for debt securities listed on the SGX may be different from those applicable to debt securities listed elsewhere.

The Company will be subject to reporting obligations in respect of the Notes to be listed on the SGX-ST. The disclosure standards imposed by the SGX-ST may be different from those imposed by securities exchanges in other countries and as a result, the level of information that is available may not correspond to the level to which investors in the Notes are accustomed. The Company's equity securities are currently listed on the BSE and NSE. The Company is currently subject to the reporting obligations of these exchanges, but there can be no guarantee that the Company's securities will remain listed on those exchanges.

The liquidity and price of the Notes following the offering may be volatile.

The price and trading volume of the Notes may be highly volatile. Factors such as variations in the Company's revenue, earnings and cash flows and proposals of new investments, strategic alliances and/or acquisitions, prevailing interest rates and dividend rates of comparable securities, the market for similar securities and general economic conditions nationally or internationally could cause the price of the Notes to change. Any such developments may result in large and sudden changes in the trading volume and price of the Notes.

Investment in the Notes may subject investors to foreign exchange risks.

The Notes are denominated and payable in U.S. dollars. If an investor measures its investment returns by reference to a currency other than U.S. dollars, an investment in the Notes entails foreign exchange related risks, including possible significant changes in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the currency by reference to which an investor measures its investment returns, because of, among other things, economic, political and other factors over which the Company has no control. Depreciation of the U.S. dollar against such currency could cause a decrease in the effective yield of the Notes below their stated coupon rates and could result in a loss when the return on the Notes is translated into such currency. In addition, there may be tax consequences for investors as a result of any foreign exchange gains resulting from any investment in the Notes. Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Holders of the Notes may suffer erosion in the return on their investment due to inflation.

Holders of the Notes may suffer erosion in the return on their investments due to inflation. Holders of the Notes would have an anticipated rate of return based on expected. Inflation rates on the purchase of the Notes. An unexpected rise in inflation could reduce the actual returns to such holders.

Integral multiples of less than the specified denomination may result in illiquidity in the Notes.

The denomination of the Notes is U.S.\$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof. Therefore, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of U.S.\$200,000 that are not integral multiples of U.S.\$200,000. In such a case, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than U.S.\$200,000 will not receive a definitive certificate in respect of such holding of the Notes (should definitive certificates be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of the Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more denominations. If definitive certificates are issued, holders should be aware that Notes with aggregate principal amounts that are not an integral multiple of U.S.\$200,000 may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The Company may issue additional Notes in the future.

The Company may, from time to time, and without prior consultation of the Noteholders, create and issue further securities having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) or otherwise raise additional capital through such means and in such manner as it may consider necessary. There can be no assurance that such future issuance or capital raising activity will not adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks.

The Notes are expected to be rated "Ba3" by Moody's. The ratings and outlook represent the opinions of the rating agencies and their assessment of the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under the Notes and credit risks in determining the likelihood that payments will be made when due under the Notes. A rating or outlook is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. The ratings or outlook can be suspended, lowered or withdrawn at any time. The Company is not obligated to inform the holders of the Notes if the ratings or outlook are lowered or withdrawn. A reduction or withdrawal of the ratings may adversely affect the market price and liquidity of the Notes and the Company's ability to access the debt capital markets. In addition, the ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the transaction structure, the additional factors discussed in this section "Risk Factors" or any other factors that may affect the value of the Notes.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following, subject to modification and other than the words in italics, is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes which will appear on the reverse of each of the definitive certificates evidencing the Notes:

Any redemption of the Notes prior to the Maturity Date (as defined below) may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the Reserve Bank of India or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the Foreign Exchange Management (Borrowing and Lending) Regulations, 2018, the Master Direction on External Commercial Borrowings, Trade Credits and Structured Obligations dated 26 March 2019 and the Master Direction on Reporting under Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 dated 1 January 2016 (the "ECB Guidelines") in effect at the time and such approval may not be forthcoming.

The issue of U.S.\$300,000,000 5.875 per cent. Notes due 2025 (the "Notes", which term shall include, unless the context requires otherwise, any additional Notes issued in accordance with Condition 16 and consolidated and forming a single series with the Notes) was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Tata Motors Limited (the "Issuer") passed on 25 October 2019. The Notes are constituted by a trust deed (as amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Trust Deed") dated 20 November 2019 (the "Closing Date") between the Issuer and Citicorp International Limited (the "Trustee" which expression shall, where the context so permits, include its successors and all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for itself and the holders of the Notes. These terms and conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed, which includes the form of the Notes. Copies of the Trust Deed, and of the agency agreement dated the Closing Date (as amended and/or supplemented from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") relating to the Notes between the Issuer, the Trustee, the registrar, the principal paying agent, and transfer agent named in it, are available for inspection between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m., Monday to Friday (except public holidays) at the specified office of the principal paying agent for the time being (the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall include any successor principal paying agent appointed from to time in connection with the Notes) following, in each case, prior written request and proof of holding and identity to the satisfaction of the Principal Paying Agent.

References to the registrar for the time being (the "Registrar", which expression shall include any successor registrar appointed from to time in connection with the Notes) mean Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG. References to the transfer agent for the time being (the "Transfer Agent", which expression shall include any successor transfer agent appointed from to time in connection with the Notes) mean Citibank, N.A., London Branch. References to the paying agents (the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any successor paying agent appointed from to time in connection with the Notes) mean the paying agents appointed as such from time to time under the Agency Agreement, and includes the Principal Paying Agent. References to the "Agents" mean the Registrar, the Transfer Agent and the Paying Agents. The Noteholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice of those provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these terms and conditions ("these Conditions") will have the meanings given to them in the Trust Deed.

1 Form, Denomination and Title

1.1 Form and Denomination

The Notes are issued in registered form in amounts of U.S.\$200,000 (each a "Specified Denomination") each and integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000 in excess thereof (referred to as the "principal amount" of each Note). A note certificate (each a "Certificate") will be issued to each Noteholder in respect of its registered holding of Notes. Each Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded on the relevant Certificate and in the register of Noteholders which the Issuer will procure to be kept by the Registrar (the "Register") and, save as provided in Condition 2.1, each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Notes by the same holder.

1.2 Title

Title to the Notes passes only by registration in the Register. The holder of any Note will (except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it, or the theft or loss of the Certificate issued in respect of it) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" and "holder" mean the person in whose name a Note is registered.

Upon issue, the Notes will be represented by a global certificate (the "Global Certificate") registered in the name of a nominee of, and deposited with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A. These conditions are modified by certain provisions contained in the Global Certificate. See "Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds in Global Form".

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interests in the Notes represented by the Global Certificate will not be entitled to receive definitive Certificates in respect of their individual holdings of the Notes. The Notes are not issuable in bearer form.

2 Transfer of Notes and Issue of Certificates

2.1 Transfers

Subject to Condition 2.4 (*Closed Periods*) and Condition 2.5 (*Regulations*) and the terms of the Agency Agreement, a Note may be transferred in whole or in part by depositing the Certificate issued in respect of that Note, with the form of transfer on the back duly completed and signed by the Noteholder or his attorney duly authorised in writing together with any other evidence as the Registrar or the Transfer Agent may require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed such form of transfer, at the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent. No transfer of title to a Note will be valid or effective unless and until entered on the Register.

Transfers of interests in the Notes evidenced by the Global Certificates will be effected in accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

2.2 Delivery of new Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued upon transfer of Notes will, within seven business days of receipt by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent of the duly completed form of transfer endorsed on the relevant Certificate, be mailed by uninsured mail (and by airmail if overseas) at the cost of the Issuer and at the risk of the holder entitled to the Note to the address specified in the form of transfer. For the purposes of this Condition 2.2, "business day" shall mean a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Agent with whom a Certificate is deposited in connection with a transfer is located.

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificates, owners of interests in the Notes will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of Certificates. Issues of Certificates upon transfer of Notes are subject to compliance by the transferor and transferee with the certification procedures described above and in the Agency Agreement.

Where some but not all of the Notes in respect of which a Certificate is issued are to be transferred a new Certificate in respect of the Notes not so transferred (which shall not be less than the Specified Denomination) will, within seven business days of receipt by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent of the original Certificate, be mailed by uninsured mail (and by airmail if overseas) at the cost of the Issuer and at the risk of the holder of the Notes not so transferred to the address of such holder appearing on the Register or as specified in the form of transfer.

2.3 Formalities free of charge

Registration of a transfer of Notes and issuance of new Certificates will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or any Agent or the Registrar but upon (i) payment (or the giving of such indemnity and/or security and/or prefunding as the Issuer or any Agent may reasonably require) in respect of any tax, duty or other governmental charges which may be imposed in relation to such transfer; (ii) the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent (as the case may be) being satisfied in its absolute discretion with the documents of title or identity of the person making the application and (iii) the relevant Agent being satisfied that the Regulations (as defined below) concerning transfer of the Notes have been complied with.

2.4 Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Note to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on (and including) the due date for any payment of principal, premium or interest on that Note.

The Issuer shall not be required in the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 7.4 (*Provisions relating to Partial Redemption*):

- 2.4.1 to register the transfer of Notes (or parts of Notes) during the period beginning on the 65th day before the date of the partial redemption and ending on the day on which notice is given specifying the serial numbers of Notes called (in whole or in part) for redemption (both inclusive); or
- 2.4.2 to register the transfer of any Note, or part of a Note, called for redemption.

2.5 Regulations

All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfer of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement (the "Regulations"). The regulations may be changed by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee or by the Registrar with the prior written approval of the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be mailed (at the cost of the Issuer and free of charge to the Noteholder) by the Registrar to any Noteholder who requests one following written request therefor and proof of holding and identity satisfactory to the Registrar and is available for inspection by any Noteholder at the specified office of the Transfer Agent upon written request and satisfactory proof of holding and identity.

3 Status of the Notes

The Notes constitute direct, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4.1 (*Negative Pledge*)) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and (subject as stated above) rank and will rank at all times *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and at least equally with all other present and future outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, but, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by applicable laws relating to creditors' rights.

4 Covenants

4.1 Negative Pledge

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, the Issuer will not create or permit to subsist any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other security interest ("Security") on the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets or revenue present or future of the Issuer to secure any Relevant Indebtedness (as defined below), unless the Issuer, in the case of the creation of the Security, at the same time or prior thereto takes any and all action necessary to ensure that:

- 4.1.1 all amounts payable by it under the Notes and the Trust Deed, or its equivalent in any other currency, are secured by the Security equally and rateably with the Relevant Indebtedness to the satisfaction of the Trustee; or
- 4.1.2 such other Security or other arrangement (whether or not it includes the giving of Security) is provided either (i) as the Trustee shall in its absolute discretion deem not materially less beneficial to the interests of the Noteholders (provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged to exercise such discretion) or (ii) as is approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Noteholders.

4.2 Limitation on Indebtedness

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, subject to Condition 4.5 (*Suspension of Covenants*), the Issuer shall not Incur, directly or indirectly any Financial Indebtedness, unless, after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof:

4.2.1 no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default would occur as a consequence of such Incurrence or be continuing following such Incurrence; and 4.2.2 the Total Net Long Term Debt to Total Net Worth ratio for the Issuer's most recently ended semi-annual or annual period for which unconsolidated financial statements are available immediately preceding the date on which such Financial Indebtedness is incurred shall not be greater than 3.0 : 1.0.

4.3 Limitations on Asset Sales

- 4.3.1 So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, subject to Condition 4.5 (Suspension of Covenants), the Issuer shall apply any Net Cash Proceeds from an Asset Sale to:
 - (A) permanently repay unsubordinated Financial Indebtedness; or
 - (B) fund any business, services or activities engaged by the Issuer in its ordinary course of business; or
 - (C) invest in subsidiaries involved in Permitted Businesses; or
 - (D) pay a dividend, provided that, the Issuer shall not pay any such dividend in respect of or otherwise distribute such Net Cash Proceeds to its shareholders if such dividend or distribution, individually or when aggregated with all other dividends or distributions in respect of the Net Cash Proceeds from any Asset Sales in the twelve month period prior to the date of the declaration of such dividend or distribution, exceeds U.S.\$250,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.

4.4 Total Net Worth

So long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, the Issuer shall ensure that its Total Net Worth shall at all times be at least INR100 billion (on a standalone basis).

4.5 Suspension of Covenants

- 4.5.1 Following the first day (the "Suspension Date") that (a) the Notes have Notes Investment Grade Status from any one of the Rating Agencies and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer will not be subject to Condition 4.3 (*Limitation on Asset Sales*) and Condition 4.2 (*Limitation on Indebtedness*) (the "Suspended Covenants"). In the event that the Issuer is not subject to the Suspended Covenants for any period of time as a result of the preceding sentence and, on any subsequent date (the "Reversion Date"), either (i) one or more Rating Agencies have assigned ratings to the Notes below the required Notes Investment Grade Status or (ii) an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, then the Issuer will thereafter again be subject to the Suspended Covenants. The period of time between the Suspension Date and the Reversion Date is referred to in these Conditions as the "Suspension Period".
- 4.5.2 Notwithstanding that the Suspended Covenants may be reinstated, no Event of Default will be deemed to have occurred as a result of a failure to comply with the Suspended Covenants during the Suspension Period. On the Reversion Date, all Financial Indebtedness Incurred during a Suspension Period will be deemed to have been permitted. On the Reversion Date, for purposes of determining compliance with Condition 4.3 (*Limitation on Asset Sales*), the amount of Net Cash Proceeds applied in the twelve month period prior to the Reversion Date under Condition 4.3.1(C) and 4.3.1(D) shall be deemed to be zero.

4.6 Interpretation

In these Conditions, the following terms have the following meaning:

- 4.6.1 "Asset Sale" means the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of any Fixed Assets by the Issuer. Notwithstanding the preceding, none of the following items will be deemed to be an Asset Sale:
 - (A) any sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition to any member of the Issuer Group;
 - (B) any single transaction or series of related transactions that involves Fixed Assets having a Fair Market Value of less than U.S.\$50 million;
 - (C) the sale, lease or other transfer of accounts receivable, inventory, trading stock and other assets in the ordinary course of business (including the abandonment, sale or other disposition of damaged, worn out or obsolete assets or assets or intellectual property that are, in the reasonable judgment of the Issuer, no longer economically practicable to maintain or useful in the conduct of business of the Issuer);
 - (D) licences, sub-licences, subleases, assignments or other disposition by the Issuer of software or intellectual property in the ordinary course of business;
 - (E) any surrender or waiver of contract rights or settlement, release, recovery on or surrender of contract, tort or other claims in the ordinary course of business;
 - (F) the sale or other disposition of cash or cash equivalents;
 - (G) the disposition of receivables in connection with the compromise, settlement or collection thereof in the ordinary course of business or in bankruptcy or similar proceedings and exclusive of factoring or similar arrangements;
 - (H) the foreclosure, condemnation or any similar action with respect to any property or other assets or a surrender or waiver of contract rights or the settlement, release or surrender of contract, tort or other claims of any kind;
 - (I) any unwinding or termination of hedging obligations not for speculative purposes;
 - (J) the disposition of assets of the Issuer which are seized, expropriated or compulsory purchased by or by the order of any central or local government authority;
 - (K) the disposition of assets to another person whereby the Issuer leases such assets back from such person; and
 - (L) leases of Fixed Assets.
- 4.6.2 "Cash" means, at any time, the amount of cash and bank balances as stated in the latest standalone balance sheet of the Issuer.

- 4.6.3 "Cash Equivalent Investments" means investments that are short term investments (excluding equity investments) which are readily convertible into cash without incurring any significant premium or penalty.
- 4.6.4 **"Event of Default"** has the same meaning given in Condition 9.1 (*Events of Default*).
- 4.6.5 "Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any asset or property, the price which could be negotiated in an arm's length, for cash, between a willing seller and a willing and able buyer, neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. Fair Market Value will be determined by an independent third party valuer of international repute appointed by the Issuer and approved by the Issuer's management, whose determination will be conclusive and evidenced by a certificate from the same.
- 4.6.6 "Financial Indebtedness" means any indebtedness for or in respect of:
 - (A) moneys borrowed;
 - (B) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility or dematerialised equivalent;
 - (C) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other similar instrument;
 - (D) the amount of any lease liability in accordance with Ind-AS;
 - (E) receivables sold or discounted (other than any receivables to the extent they are sold on a non-recourse basis);
 - (F) any amount raised under any other transaction having the commercial effect of a borrowing and required by Ind-AS to be shown as a borrowing in the balance sheet;
 - (G) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit from fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative transaction, only the marked to market value shall be taken into account);
 - (H) shares which are expressed to be redeemable;
 - (I) any counter-indemnity obligation in respect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby or documentary letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution; or
 - (J) the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the items referred to in paragraphs (A) to (I) above.
- 4.6.7 **"Fixed Assets**" refers to assets classified as such in the Issuer's unconsolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Ind-AS.
- 4.6.8 "Incur means to incur, create, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become liable for and "Incurrence," "Incurred" and "Incurring" have meanings correlative with the foregoing.

- 4.6.9 "Ind-AS" means the Indian accounting standards.
- 4.6.10 "Issuer Group" means the Issuer and its subsidiaries.
- 4.6.11 "Notes Investment Grade Status" exists as of any time if at such time the Notes have been assigned at least one of the three following ratings: (x) "BBB-" or higher by Fitch; (y) "BBB-" or higher by S&P; or (z) "Baa3" or higher by Moody's.
- 4.6.12 "Net Cash Proceeds" with respect to any sale of any Fixed Assets of the Issuer means the cash proceeds of such sale net of payments to repay Financial Indebtedness or any other obligation outstanding at the time that either (1) is secured by a lien on such Fixed Assets or (2) is required to be paid as a result of such sale, legal fees, accountants' fees, agents' fees, discounts or commissions and brokerage, consultant fees and other fees actually incurred in connection with such sale and net of taxes paid or payable as a result thereof.
- 4.6.13 "Permitted Business" means (i) any business, services or activities engaged in by the Issuer and its subsidiaries on the Closing Date and (ii) any business, services or activities engaged in by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries that are related, complementary, incidental, ancillary or similar to any of the foregoing, or are extensions or developments of any thereof.
- 4.6.14 "Potential Event of Default" means any condition, event or act which, with the lapse of time and/or the issue, making or giving of any notice, certification, declaration, demand, determination and/or request and/or the taking of any similar action and/or the fulfilment of any similar condition, would constitute an Event of Default.
- 4.6.15 "Rating Agency" means any of Standard & Poor's Ratings Service, a division of the McGraw Hill Companies Inc. ("S&P") Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") or Fitch Inc., a subsidiary of Fimalac, S.A. ("Fitch"), and any of their successors, as applicable.
- 4.6.16 "Relevant Indebtedness" means (i) any present or future indebtedness (whether being premium, principal interest or other amounts) for or in respect of any notes, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock or other securities which (A) are payable, or confer a right to receive payment, in or by reference to any currency other than Rupees and (B) are or are intended to be or capable of being quoted, listed, ordinarily dealt in or traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other securities market, and (ii) any guarantee or indemnity of any such indebtedness.
- 4.6.17 "Rupees", "Rs.", "INR" and "₹" are a reference to the lawful currency of India.
- 4.6.18 "Total Net Long Term Debt" means at any time:
 - (A) the aggregate amount of (a) long-term borrowing, (b) the portion of other current liabilities which comprise current maturities of long term borrowing of the Issuer and (c) any guarantee or indemnity given by the Issuer in respect of an indebtedness with a maturity of more than 1 year of any person; and

(B) deducting the aggregate amount of Cash and Cash Equivalent Investments.

each as stated in, or derived from, the latest standalone financial statements of the Issuer.

4.6.19 "Total Net Worth" means at any time the aggregate of the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on share capital of the Issuer, on a standalone basis, and the amount standing to the credit of the reserves and surplus of the Issuer, on a standalone basis but deducting (to the extent included) any amounts arising from an upward revaluation of assets made at any time after 31 March 2019.

5 Interest

5.1 Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates

The Notes bear interest on their outstanding principal amount from and including the Closing Date at the rate of 5.875 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in arrear on 20 May and 20 November of each year (each an "Interest Payment Date"). The first payment (for the period from and including the Closing Date to but excluding 20 May 2020) will be made on 20 May 2020.

5.2 Interest Accrual

Each Note will cease to bear interest from and including its due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of principal in respect of the Note is improperly withheld or refused or unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment. In such event, interest will continue to accrue as provided in the Trust Deed.

5.3 Calculation of broken interest

When interest is required to be calculated in respect of a period of less than a complete Interest Period (as defined below), it shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed.

In these Conditions, the period beginning on and including the Closing Date and ending on but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date is called an "Interest Period".

Interest in respect of any Note shall be calculated per U.S.\$1,000 in principal amount of the Notes (the "Calculation Amount"). The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for any period shall be equal to the product of the rate of interest specified above, the Calculation Amount and the day-count fraction for the relevant period, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a cent being rounded upwards).

All interest payable on the Notes shall be subject to applicable laws in India, including but not limited to the ECB Guidelines.

6 Payments

6.1 Method of Payments

- 6.1.1 Payments of principal and premium (if any) shall be made (subject to surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or the Registrar if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Notes represented by such Certificates) in the manner provided in Condition 6.1.2.
- 6.1.2 Interest on each Note shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business 15 days before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Note shall be made in U.S. dollars by credit or transfer to the registered account of the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Note appearing in the Register.
- 6.1.3 For the purposes of this Condition 6.1, a Noteholder's "registered account" means the U.S. dollar account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank that processes payments in U.S. dollars, details of which appear on the Register at the close of business, in the case of principal and premium and interest due otherwise than on an Interest Payment Date, on the second Business Day (as defined below) before the due date for payment and, in the case of interest due on an Interest Payment Date, on the relevant Record Date, and a Noteholder's registered address means its address appearing on the Register at that time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Clearstream Banking S.A. or any other clearing system, each payment in respect of the Global Certificate will be made to the person shown as the holder in the Register at the close of business of the relevant clearing system on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payments, where "Clearing System Business Day" means a day on which Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A. are open for business.

6.2 Partial Payments

If the amount of principal and premium being paid upon surrender of the relevant Certificate is less than the outstanding principal amount of such Certificate, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount of principal so paid and will (if so requested by the Issuer or a Noteholder) issue a new Certificate with a principal amount equal to the remaining unpaid outstanding principal amount. If the amount of interest being paid is less than the amount then due, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount of interest so paid.

6.3 Payments subject to Applicable Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment, including but not limited to regulatory approvals prescribed by law or regulation, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8 (*Taxation*). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of any such payments.

6.4 Payment on Business Days

- 6.4.1 Where payment is to be made by transfer to a registered account, payment instructions will be initiated (for value the due date or, if that is not a Business Day (as defined below), for value the first following day which is a Business Day). In the case of a payment of principal and premium or a payment of interest due otherwise than on an Interest Payment Date, payment will be made on the Business Day on which the relevant Certificate is surrendered at the specified office of an Agent.
- 6.4.2 Noteholders will not be entitled to interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due if (i) the due date is not a Business Day or (ii) the Noteholder is late in surrendering its Certificate (if required to do so).
- 6.4.3 If any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would then fall into the next calendar month, in which event the Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

In these Conditions, "Business Day" means in relation to any place a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday, or public holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in Hong Kong, New York City, London and Mumbai and, in the case of presentation of a Certificate, in the place in which the Certificate is presented.

6.5 Default Interest

If on or after the due date for payment of any sum in respect of the Notes, payment of all or any part of such sum shall not be made against due presentation of the Certificates, the Issuer shall pay interest on the amount so unpaid from such due date up to the day of actual receipt by the relevant Noteholders (as well after as before judgment) at a rate per annum equal to 7.875 per cent. per annum. The Issuer shall pay any unpaid interest accrued on the amount so unpaid on the last Business Day of the calendar month in which such interest accrued and any interest payable under this Condition 6.5 which is not paid on the last Business Day of the calendar month in which it accrued shall be added to the overdue sum and itself bear interest accordingly. Interest at the rate(s) determined in accordance with this Condition 6.5 shall be calculated on the basis of a 360 day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed on the basis of a month of 30 days.

6.6 Agents

The Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar and the Transfer Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right, subject to the prior written approval of the Trustee and subject to the terms of the Agency Agreement under which any Agent is appointed, at any time, to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent at any time and to appoint additional or other Agents provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Principal Paying Agent, (ii) a Registrar with a specified office outside the United Kingdom, (iii) a Transfer Agent, and (iv) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed.

Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes in specified offices shall be given to the Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*).

So long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of that exchange so require, in the event that a Global Certificate is exchanged for definitive Certificates, the Issuer shall appoint and maintain a paying agent in Singapore, where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for payment or redemption. In addition, in the event that a Global Certificate is exchanged for definitive Certificates, announcement of such exchange shall be made by or on behalf of the Issuer through the SGX-ST and such announcement will include all material information with respect to the delivery of the definitive Certificates, including details of the Singapore agent.

7 Redemption and Purchase

7.1 Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, the Issuer will redeem the Notes at their principal amount (together with unpaid accrued interest thereon (if any)) on 20 May 2025 (the "Maturity Date"). The Notes may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with this Condition 7.

7.2 Redemption for Taxation Reasons

- 7.2.1 The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time on any Interest Payment Date, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders and in writing to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), at any time, at their principal amount (together with unpaid accrued interest thereon (if any)), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee (in accordance with Condition 7.2.2 below) immediately prior to the giving of such notice that (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 (Taxation) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of a Relevant Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8.2.2 (Interpretation)), or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Closing Date, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts where a payment in respect of the Notes is then due.
- 7.2.2 Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to Condition 7.2.1, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that the obligation referred to in Condition 7.2.1(ii) above cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it and the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment. The Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate and opinion without further enquiry as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out in Condition 7.2.1(ii) above in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders.

The ECB Guidelines, at the time of redemption for taxation reasons, may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before providing notice for or effecting such a redemption prior to the Maturity Date and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Notes – Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

7.3 Redemption for Change of Control

- 7.3.1 If a Change of Control (as defined below) occurs, each Noteholder shall have the right (the "Change of Control Redemption Right"), at such Noteholder's option, to require the Issuer to redeem all of such Noteholder's Note(s) in whole, but not in part, on the Change of Control Redemption Date, at a price equal to the Change of Control Redemption Amount (as defined below). None of the Trustee or the Agents shall be required to take any steps to ascertain whether a Change of Control or any event which could lead to the occurrence of a Change of Control or a Change of Control Offer (as defined below) has occurred or may occur, and shall not be liable to any person for any failure to do so and each of them shall be entitled to assume that no such event has occurred until they have received written notice to the contrary from the Issuer.
- 7.3.2 To exercise the Change of Control Redemption Right attaching to a Note on the occurrence of a Change of Control, the holder thereof must complete, sign and deposit at its own expense at any time from 9:30 am to 5:30 pm (local time in the place of deposit) on any Business Day at the specified office of any Paying Agent a notice (a "Change of Control Redemption Notice") in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent together with the relevant Certificate evidencing the Notes to be redeemed. Such Change of Control Redemption Notice may be given on the earlier of the date on which the relevant Noteholder becomes aware of the occurrence of the Change of Control and the date on which the Change of Control Notice delivered by the Issuer under Condition 7.3.4 is received by such Noteholder. No Change of Control Redemption Notice may be given after 90 days from the date of the Change of Control Notice (as detailed below).
- 7.3.3 A Change of Control Redemption Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable except where, prior to the due date of redemption, an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the Change of Control Redemption Notice and instead to give notice that the Note is immediately due and repayable under Condition 9 (*Events of Default*). The Issuer shall redeem the Notes (in whole but not in part) which form the subject of the Change of Control Redemption Notice which is not withdrawn on the Change of Control Redemption Date.

- 7.3.4 Not later than seven days after becoming aware of a Change of Control, the Issuer shall procure that notice (a "Change of Control Notice") regarding the Change of Control be delivered to the Trustee, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices) (the "Change of Control Offer") stating:
 - (A) that a Change of Control has occurred and that each Noteholder has the right to require the Issuer to redeem their Note under this Condition 7.3;
 - (B) the date of such Change of Control and, briefly, the events causing such Change of Control;
 - (C) the Change of Control Redemption Date;
 - (D) the names and addresses of all relevant Paying Agents;
 - (E) such other information relating to the Change of Control as any Noteholder may require; and
 - (F) that the Change of Control Redemption Notice pursuant to Condition 7.3.2 once validly given, may not be withdrawn and the last day on which a Change of Control Redemption Notice may be given.

7.3.5 In these Conditions:

- (A) "Control" has the meaning as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Acquisition of Shares & Takeovers) Regulations, 2011, as amended, modified or replaced, from time to time;
- (B) a "Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following:
 - (1) the Tata Group ceases to be the Promoter Group;
 - (2) any other person (acting alone or in concert with any other parties, but other than a person controlled by the Tata Group) has Control or holds, directly or indirectly, a greater percentage of the voting rights of the issued share capital of the Issuer than the Tata Group; or
 - (3) the Issuer ceases to, directly or indirectly, Control Jaguar Land Rover; or
 - (4) the Issuer ceases to hold, directly or indirectly, at least 51 per cent. of the Voting Stock of Jaguar Land Rover;
- (C) "Promoter Group" has the meaning ascribed to the term under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018;
- (D) "Change of Control Redemption Amount" means an amount equal to 101 per cent. of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to and including the redemption date;

- (E) "Change of Control Redemption Date" means the date specified in the Change of Control Redemption Notice, such date may not be less than 14 nor more than 30 days after the date of the Change of Control Redemption Notice;
- (F) "Capital Stock" means, with respect to any person, any and all shares, ownership interests, participation or other equivalents (however designated), including all ordinary shares or common or ordinary stock and all preferred shares or stock, of such person;
- (G) for the purposes of the Change of Control Redemption Right, a "person" includes any person, firm, company, corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) or two or more of the foregoing;
- (H) "Jaguar Land Rover" means Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc;
- (I) "shares" or "share capital" includes equivalent ownership interests
 (and "shareholder" and similar expressions shall be construed accordingly);

(J) "Tata Group" means

- Tata Sons Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U99999MH1917PLC000478 (Tata Sons);
- (2) Tata Power Company Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number L28920MH1919PLC000567;
- (3) Tata Steel Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number L27100MH1907PLC000260;
- (4) Tata Industries Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U44003MH1945PLC004403;
- (5) Ewart Investments Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U74999MH1922PLC001030;
- (6) Tata Chemicals Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number L24239MH1939PLC002893;
- (7) Af-Taab Investment Company Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U65990MH1979PLC021037;
- (8) Simto Investment Company Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U67120MH1983PLC031632;

- (9) Tata International Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number U51900MH1962PLC012528;
- (10) Tata Investment Corporation Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number L67200MH1937PLC002622:
- (11) The Indian Hotels Company Limited, a public limited company incorporated in India with corporate identification number L74999MH1902PLC000183;
- (12) the Subsidiaries and Holding Companies of each of the companies referred to in paragraphs (1) to (11) above; and
- (13) any other company, trust or entity whose name includes the word 'Tata' pursuant to a brand equity promotion agreement with: (x) Tata Sons, or (y) any other company, trust or entity authorised by Tata Sons to enter into such a brand equity promotion agreement;
- (K) "Voting Rights" means the right generally to vote at a general meeting of shareholders of the Issuer (irrespective of whether or not, at the time, stock of any other class or classes shall have, or might have, voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency); and
- (L) "Voting Stock" means any class or classes of Capital Stock pursuant to which the holders thereof have the general voting power under ordinary circumstances to elect members of the board of directors, managers or trustees of any person (irrespective of whether or not, at the time, shares or stock of any other class or classes shall have, or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any contingency).

The ECB Guidelines, at the time of redemption for a Change of Control, may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before providing notice for or effecting such a redemption prior to the Maturity Date and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Notes – Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

7.4 Provisions relating to Partial Redemption

If less than all of the Notes are to be redeemed at any time, selection of such Notes for redemption will be made in compliance with the rules, if any, of any clearing system through which the Notes are cleared or, if such Notes are not then listed or there are no such applicable rules, on a *pro rata* basis, provided that no Notes shall be redeemed in part not more than 30 days before the date fixed for redemption. Notice of any such selection will be given not less than 15 days before the date fixed for redemption. Each notice will specify the date fixed for redemption and the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, the serial numbers of the Notes called for redemption, the serial numbers of Notes previously called for redemption and not presented for payment and the aggregate principal amount of the Notes which will be outstanding after the partial redemption. Where some but not all of the Notes in respect of which a Certificate is issued are to be redeemed, the notice of redemption

that relates to such Certificates shall state the portion of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, and where applicable, a new Certificate in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed Notes will be issued in the name of the Noteholder thereof upon cancellation of the original Certificate. Any such new Certificate will be delivered to the specified office of a Paying Agent or (at the risk and, if mailed at the request of the Noteholders otherwise than by ordinary uninsured mail, at the expense of the Noteholder) sent by mail to the Noteholder.

7.5 Purchases

The Issuer or any of the Issuer's subsidiaries may at any time (if permitted under applicable laws) purchase Notes in any manner and at any price in the open market or otherwise. The Notes so acquired, while held on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Issuer's subsidiaries, shall not entitle the holders thereof to vote at any meetings of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders for the purposes of Conditions 9 (*Events of Default*), 11 (*Enforcement*) and 14 (*Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Authorisation*).

7.6 Cancellations

All Certificates representing Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be surrendered for cancellation to the Registrar and, upon surrender thereof, all such Notes shall be cancelled forthwith. Any Certificates so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7.7 Notices Final

Upon the expiry of any notice as is referred to in Conditions 7.2 (*Redemption for Taxation Reasons*) or 7.3 (*Redemption for Change of Control*) above the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes to which the notice refers in accordance with the terms of such Condition.

8 Taxation

8.1 Payment without Withholding

All payments in respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear and without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed, levied, collected or assessed by or on behalf of any of the Relevant Jurisdictions (as defined below), unless such withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the amounts which would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required; except that no additional amounts shall be payable in relation to any payment in respect of any Note:

8.1.1 presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who is liable to the Taxes in respect of the Note by reason of his having some connection with any Relevant Jurisdiction other than the mere holding of the Note; or

- 8.1.2 presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that a holder would have been entitled to additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of the period of 30 days assuming (whether or not such is in fact the case) that day to have been a Business Day (as defined in Condition 6.4 (*Payment on Business Days*)); or
- 8.1.3 presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would not be liable or subject to the withholding or deduction by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority; or
- 8.1.4 presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note to another third party.

8.2 Interpretation

In these Conditions:

- 8.2.1 "Relevant Date" means the date on which the payment first becomes due but, if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by a Paying Agent or the Trustee on or before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of the money having been so received, notice to that effect has been duly given to the Noteholders by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices); and
- 8.2.2 "Relevant Jurisdiction" means The Republic of India or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax (in the case of payments by the Issuer) or any other jurisdiction or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax to which the Issuer becomes subject in respect of payments made by it of principal and interest on the Notes. If the Issuer becomes subject at any time to any taxing jurisdiction other than any Relevant Jurisdiction, references in these Conditions to any "Relevant Jurisdiction" shall be construed as including references to the new Relevant Jurisdiction.

8.3 Additional Amounts

Any reference in these Conditions to any amounts in respect of the Notes shall be deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8 or under any undertakings given in addition to, or in substitution for, this Condition 8 pursuant to the Trust Deed.

Any payments made by the Issuer are required to be within the all-in-cost ceilings prescribed under the ECB Guidelines and in accordance with any specific approvals from the RBI or the designated authorized dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, obtained by the Issuer in this regard. Any payments which exceeds the all-in-cost ceilings may require the prior approval of the RBI.

9 Events of Default

9.1 Events of Default

The Trustee at its discretion may (but it is not obliged to), and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and repayable at their principal amount, together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed, if any of the following events occurs and is continuing ("Events of Default"):

- 9.1.1 **Non-payment**: If the Issuer fails to pay any principal, redemption amount or interest on any of the Notes when due and the default continues for a period of five days of its due date; or
- 9.1.2 **Breach of other obligations**: If the Issuer fails to perform or comply with any of its other obligations under these Conditions or the Trust Deed and (except where the Trustee considers the failure to be incapable of remedy, when no continuation or notice mentioned below will be required) the failure continues for the period of 30 days following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer of notice requiring the default to be remedied; or
- 9.1.3 Cross-acceleration: If (i) any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (as defined below) of the Issuer is declared due and repayable prior to its stated maturity by reason of an event of default or potential event of default (however described); (ii) the Issuer fails to make any payment in respect of any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money on the due date for payment as extended by any originally applicable grace period; (iii) any security given by the Issuer for any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money becomes enforceable; or (iv) default is made by the Issuer in making any payment due under any guarantee and/or indemnity given by it in relation to any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of any other person; provided that no event described in this Condition 9.1.3 shall constitute an Event of Default unless the Indebtedness for Borrowed Money or other relative liability due and unpaid, either alone or when aggregated (without duplication) with other amounts of Indebtedness for Borrowed Money and other liabilities due and unpaid relative to all (if any) other events specified in (i) to (iv) above which have occurred and are continuing, amounts to at least U.S.\$100,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency); or
- 9.1.4 **Winding-up**: If any order is made by any competent court or resolution is passed for the winding up or dissolution of the Issuer, save for the purposes of reorganisation on terms approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders; or
- 9.1.5 **Cessation of business**: If the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry on the whole or a substantial part of its business, save for the purposes of any reorganisation on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders; or

- 9.1.6 **Insolvency**: The Issuer stops or threatens to stop payment of, or is unable to, or admits inability to, pay, its debts (or any class of its debts) as they fall due or is deemed unable to pay its debts pursuant to or for the purposes of any applicable law, or is adjudicated or found bankrupt or insolvent; or
- 9.1.7 Liquidation and insolvency proceedings: If (i) proceedings are admitted against the Issuer under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, composition, reorganisation or other similar laws or an application is made (or documents filed with a court) for the appointment of an administrative or other receiver, manager, administrator or other similar official, or an administrative or other receiver, manager, administrator or other similar official is appointed, in relation to the Issuer or the whole or a substantial part of its assets or an encumbrancer takes possession of the whole or a substantial part of the assets of the Issuer, or a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other process is levied, enforced upon, sued out or put in force against the whole or a substantial part of the assets of the Issuer, and (ii) in any such case unless initiated by the relevant company is not discharged or stayed within 30 days; or
- 9.1.8 **Creditors arrangement**: If the Issuer (or its directors or shareholders) initiates or consents to judicial proceedings relating to itself under any applicable liquidation, insolvency, composition, reorganisation or other similar laws (including the obtaining of a moratorium) or makes a conveyance or assignment for the benefit of, or enters into any composition or other arrangement with, its creditors generally or any meeting is convened to consider a proposal for an arrangement or composition with its creditors generally; or
- 9.1.9 **Nationalisation**: Any step is taken by any person with a view to the seizure, compulsory acquisition, expropriation or nationalisation of all or a material part of the assets of the Issuer; or
- 9.1.10 **Validity**: If the validity of the Notes is contested by the Issuer, or the Issuer denies any of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or any of such obligations are or become unenforceable or invalid; or
- 9.1.11 **Analogous event**: If any event occurs which, under the laws of any Relevant Jurisdiction has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in Conditions 9.1.4 to 9.1.10 above.

The ECB Guidelines may require the Issuer to obtain the prior approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, in accordance with the ECB Guidelines before effecting a redemption of the Notes prior to the Maturity Date upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and such approval may not be forthcoming. See "Risk Factors – Risks relating to the Notes – Approval of the RBI or the designated authorised dealer Category 1 bank, as the case may be, is required for repayment of the Notes prior to maturity".

9.2 Interpretation

For the purposes of this Condition 9, "Indebtedness for Borrowed Money" means any indebtedness (whether being principal, interest or other amounts) for or in respect of any notes, bonds, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock or other securities or any borrowed money or any liability under or in respect of any acceptance or acceptance credit.

10 Prescription

Claims in respect of principal, premium (if any), and interest will become void unless presentation for payment is made as required by Condition 6 (*Payments*) within 10 years (in the case of principal and premium (if any)) and five years (in the case of interest (including any accrued interest)) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them. Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be responsible for any amounts so prescribed.

11 Enforcement

- 11.1 The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, take any proceedings or any other steps or actions (including lodging an appeal) against, in relation to or in connection with the Issuer as it thinks fit to enforce repayment of the Notes and to enforce the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Notes but it is not bound to take any such proceedings or steps or other action in relation to the Trust Deed and the Notes unless (a) it has been directed to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or requested to do so in writing by the holders of at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, and (b) it has been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.
- 11.2 No Noteholder will be entitled to take any steps, action or proceedings against the Issuer to (i) enforce any of the provisions of the Trust Deed or the Notes or (ii) take any proceedings or any other steps or actions (including the lodging of an appeal in respect of or concerning the Issuer) unless the Trustee, having become bound to do so itself, fails to do so within a reasonable period and the failure is continuing.

12 Replacement of Certificates

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations or other relevant stock exchange or other regulatory authority regulations, at the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent as may from time to time be designated by the Registrar for that purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer or the Registrar or the Transfer Agent may in their discretion require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13 Notices

13.1 Notices to the Noteholders

- 13.1.1 Notices to Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Singapore (which is expected to be the Business Times). If at any time publication in such newspaper is not practicable, notices will be valid if published in such other manner as the Issuer, with the approval of the Trustee, shall determine. Notices will, if published more than once or on different dates, be deemed to have been given on the first date on which publication is made.
- 13.1.2 Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Condition 13, in any case where the identity and addresses of all the Noteholders are known to the Issuer, notices to such holders may be given individually by recorded delivery mail to such addresses and will be deemed to have been given when received at such addresses.

So long as the Global Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A., any notice to the holders of the Bonds shall be validly given by the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking S.A., for communication by the relevant clearing system to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as required by the Conditions and shall be deemed to have been given on the date of delivery to such clearing system.

13.2 Notices from the Noteholders

Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relative Certificate, with the Registrar, or, if the Certificates are held in a clearing system, may be given through the clearing system in accordance with its standard rules and procedure.

14 Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Authorisation

14.1 Meetings of Noteholders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the modification or abrogation by Extraordinary Resolution of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed. The quorum at any meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more Eligible Persons (as defined in the Trust Deed) present holding or representing in the aggregate more than 50 per cent. in principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more Eligible Persons present whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented by him or them, except that, at any meeting the business of which includes the modification or abrogation of certain of the provisions of these Conditions and certain of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the necessary quorum for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more Eligible Persons present holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned meeting not less than one-third, of the principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders will be binding on all Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting.

14.2 Modification, Waiver, Authorisation and Determination

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement, or determine, without any such consent as aforesaid, that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default (as defined in the Trust Deed) shall not be treated as such (provided that, in any such case, it is not, in the opinion of the Trustee, having regard to its rights under the Trust Deed to obtain advice from professional advisers, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders) or may agree, without any such consent as aforesaid, to any modification which, in its opinion, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or to correct a manifest error or an error which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, proven.

14.3 Trustee to have Regard to Interests of Noteholders as a Class

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its functions (including, without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation, or determination), the Trustee shall have regard to the general interests of the Noteholders as a class but shall not have regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to individual Noteholders (whatever their number) and, in particular, shall not have regard to the consequences of any such exercise for individual Noteholders (whatever their number) resulting from their being domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders.

14.4 Notification to the Noteholders

Any modification, waiver, authorisation, or determination shall be binding on the Noteholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any modification shall be notified by the Issuer to the Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with Condition 13 (*Notices*).

15 Indemnification of the Trustee and Its Contracting with the Issuer

15.1 Indemnification and protection of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility and liability towards the Issuer and the Noteholders including provisions relieving it from taking action unless indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

In the exercise of its powers and discretions under these Conditions and the Trust Deed, the Trustee will have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and will not be responsible for any consequence for any individual Noteholder as a result of such Noteholder being connected in any way with a particular territory or taxing jurisdiction.

The Trustee may rely without liability to Noteholders, the Issuer or any other person on any report, confirmation, certificate or information from or any opinion or advice of any lawyers, accountants, financial advisers, financial institution or any other expert, whether or not addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto is limited (by its terms or by any engagement letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee

or any other person or in any other manner) by reference to a monetary cap, methodology or otherwise. The Trustee may accept and shall be entitled to rely on any such report, confirmation, certificate, information, opinion or advice and, in such event, such report, confirmation, certificate, information, opinion or advice shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee and the Noteholders.

Whenever the Trustee is required or entitled by the terms of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions to exercise any discretion or power, take any action, make any decision or give any direction, the Trustee is entitled, prior to exercising any such discretion or power, taking any such action, making any such decision or giving any such direction, to seek directions from the Noteholders by way of Extraordinary Resolution, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or liability incurred by the Issuer, the Noteholders or any other person as a result of any delay in it exercising such discretion or power, taking such action, making such decision or giving such direction as a result of seeking such direction from the Noteholders or in the event that no direction is given to the Trustee by the Noteholders.

None of the Trustee or any of the Agents shall be responsible for the performance by the Issuer and any other person appointed by the Issuer under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions or in relation to the Notes of the duties and obligations on their part expressed in respect of the same and, unless it has written notice from the Issuer to the contrary, the Trustee and each Agent shall be entitled to assume that the same are being duly performed. None of the Trustee or any Agent shall be liable to any Noteholder, the Issuer or any other person for any action taken by the Trustee or any Agent in accordance with the instructions of the Noteholders. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on any direction, request or resolution of Noteholders given by Noteholders holding the requisite principal amount of Notes outstanding or passed at a meeting of Noteholders convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed. Neither the Trustee nor any of the Agents shall be under any obligation to monitor or take any steps to ascertain whether a Change of Control or any event which could give rise to a right on the part of the Issuer to redeem the Notes or increase in Interest Rate has occurred or may occur or monitor compliance by the Issuer with the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement or these Conditions, and shall not be liable to the Noteholders or any other person for not doing SO.

Each Noteholder shall be solely responsible for making and continuing to make its own independent appraisal of and investigation into the financial condition, creditworthiness, condition, affairs, status and nature of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, and the Trustee shall not at any time have any responsibility or liability for the same and no party (including any Noteholder) shall rely on the Trustee in respect thereof.

15.2 Trustee Contracting with the Issuer

The Trust Deed also contains provisions pursuant to which the Trustee is entitled, *inter alia*, (i) to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer's subsidiaries and to act as trustee for the holders of any other securities issued or guaranteed by, or relating to, the Issuer and/or any of the Issuer's other subsidiaries, (ii) to exercise and enforce its rights, comply with its obligations and perform its duties under or in relation to any such transactions or, as the case may be, any such trusteeship without regard to the interests of, or consequences for, the Noteholders, and (iii) to retain and not be liable to account for any profit made or any other amount or benefit received thereby or in connection therewith.

Repatriation of proceeds outside India by the Issuer under an indemnity clause requires the prior approval of the RBI, which may not be forthcoming, in accordance with the extant applicable laws and regulations of India, including the rules and regulations framed under the Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999.

16 Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders create and issue further securities either having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the issue date and the first payment of interest on them) and so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) or upon such terms as the Issuer may determine at the time of their issue. References in these Conditions to the Notes include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 16 and forming a single series with the Notes. Any further securities forming a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes) constituted by the Trust Deed or any deed supplemental to it shall, and any other securities may (with the consent of the Trustee), be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed.

17 Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction

17.1 Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with, English law.

17.2 Jurisdiction of English Courts

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably agreed for the benefit of the Trustee and the Noteholders that the courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Notes (including any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Notes and accordingly has submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, waived any objection to the courts of England on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum. The Trustee and the Noteholders may take any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Notes respectively (including any suit, action or proceedings relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed or the Notes) (together referred to as "**Proceedings**") against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

17.3 Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably and unconditionally appointed Tata Limited at 18 Grosvenor Place, London SW1X 7HS, United Kingdom as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings and have undertaken that in the event of such agent ceasing so to act it will appoint such other person to accept service of process and shall deliver to the Trustee a copy of the new process agent's acceptance of that appointment within 30 days of such cessation. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

17.4 Sovereign Immunity

The Issuer has, in the Trust Deed, irrevocably and unconditionally waived and agreed not to raise with respect to the Notes any right to claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction or execution and any similar defence, and has irrevocably and unconditionally consented to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process, including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment made or given in connection with any Proceedings.

18 Rights of Third Parties

Save as contemplated in Condition 11 (Enforcement Events), no person shall have any right to enforce any term of this Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

THE GLOBAL CERTIFICATE

The Global Certificate contains the following provisions which apply to the Notes in respect of which they are issued whilst they are represented by the Global Certificate, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. Terms defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes have the same meaning as in the paragraphs below.

Promise to Pay

The Issuer, subject to and in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed, promises to pay to the registered holder hereof on 20 May 2025 and/or on such earlier date(s) as all or any of the Notes represented by the Global Certificate may become due and repayable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed, the amount payable under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes in respect of such Notes on each such date and to pay interest (if any) on the principal amount of the Notes outstanding from time to time represented by the Global Certificate calculated and payable as provided in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed together with any other sums payable under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed. At maturity, and prior to the payment of any amount due, the registered holder hereof shall surrender the Global Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar set out in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or such other office as may be specified by the Issuer and approved by the Trustee. On any redemption or purchase and cancellation of any of the Notes represented by the Global Certificate, details of such redemption or purchase and cancellation (as the case may be) shall be entered by or on behalf of the Issuer in the Schedule hereto and the relevant space in the Schedule hereto recording any such redemption or purchase and cancellation (as the case may be) shall be signed by or on behalf of the Registrar. Upon any such redemption or purchase and cancellation the aggregate principal amount outstanding of the Global Certificate and the Notes held by the registered holder hereof shall be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of such Notes so redeemed or purchased and cancelled. The aggregate principal amount outstanding of the Global Certificate and of the Notes held by the registered holder hereof following any such redemption or purchase and cancellation as aforesaid or any exchange as referred to below shall be the outstanding principal amount most recently entered in the fourth column in the Schedule hereto.

Accountholders

For so long as any of the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, each person (other than another clearing system) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) as the holder of a particular aggregate principal amount of such Notes (each an "Accountholder") (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) as to the aggregate principal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes) shall be treated as the holder of such aggregate principal amount of such Notes (and the expression "Noteholders" and references to "holding of Notes" and to "holder of Notes" shall be construed accordingly) for all purposes other than with respect to the payments on such Notes, the right to which shall be vested, as against the Issuer and the Trustee, solely in the nominee for the relevant clearing system (the "Relevant Nominee") in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Global Certificate. Each Accountholder must look solely to the Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) for its share of each payment made to the Relevant Nominee.

Exchange for Definitive Certificates and purchases

Notes represented by the Global Certificate are exchangeable and transferable only in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions of the Global Certificate and the rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

The Global Certificate will be exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for definitive certificates only:

- if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so and no alternative clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available; or
- (ii) if the Issuer would suffer a disadvantage as a result of a change in laws or regulations (taxation or otherwise) or as a result of a change in the practice of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) which would not be suffered were the Notes in definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed by two Directors of the Issuer is given to the Trustee.

Thereupon (in the case of (ii) above) the holder of the Global Certificate (acting on the instructions of (an) Accountholder(s)) may give notice to the Issuer, and (in the case of (ii) above) the Issuer may give notice to the Trustee and the holders, of its intention to exchange the Global Certificate for definitive certificates on or after the Exchange Date.

For these purposes, "**Exchange Date**" means a day specified in the notice requiring exchange falling not less than 60 days after that on which such notice is given and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent is located and (except in the case of (i) above) in the city in which the relevant clearing system is located.

Notices

For so long as the Notes are represented by a Global Certificate and such Global Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to holders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by it to the entitled Accountholders in substitution for notification as required by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST, notices shall also be published in the manner required by the rules and regulations of the SGX-ST.

Prescription

Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal or premium and interest on the Notes represented the Global Certificate will become void unless presentation for payment is made as required by Condition 6 (*Payments*) within 10 years (in the case of principal and premium) and five years (in the case of interest) from the Relevant Date, as defined in Condition 8 (*Taxation*).

Transfers

Transfers of book-entry interests in the Notes will be effected through the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective participants in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective direct and indirect participants.

Put Option

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by Global Certificates and such Global Certificates are held on behalf of a clearing system, the option of the holders provided for in Condition 7.3 (*Redemption for Change of Control*) may be exercised by an Accountholder giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent in accordance with the standard procedures of that clearing system (which may include notice being given on his instructions by that clearing system or any common depositary for it to the Principal Paying Agent by electronic means) of the principal amount of the Notes in respect of which such option is exercised and at the same time presenting or procuring the presentation of the relevant Global Certificate to the Principal Paying Agent for notation accordingly within the time limits set forth in that Condition.

Authentication

The Global Certificate shall not be or become valid or obligatory for any purpose unless and until authenticated by or on behalf of the Principal Paying Agent.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The gross proceeds of the issue of the Notes are U.S.\$300,000,000. Subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer intends to use the proceeds primarily for capital expenditure and other purposes as permitted under the ECB Guidelines and/or if required, approvals of the RBI.

CAPITALISATION

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalisation of the Company as at 30 September 2019 on an actual and adjusted basis after giving effect to the issuance of Notes offered hereby, but not to the application of the proceeds thereof as described in "Use of Proceeds". The following table should be read in conjunction with the limited reviewed consolidated financial results of the Company included in "Financial Statements". Please also refer to "Business Description – Recent Developments" of this Offering Circular.

As at 30 September 2019

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					
Indebtedness (in million) (in million) (in million) (in million) (in million) Short-term borrowings and current portion of long term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 436,516.7 6,159.0 436,516.7 6,159.0 Long-term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 739,196.9 10,429.6 739,196.9 10,429.6 Notes offered hereby - - 21,262.5 300.0 Total indebtedness 1,175,713.6 16,588.6 1,196,976.1 16,888.6 Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7		Actual		As Adjusted	
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 436,516.7 6,159.0 436,516.7 6,159.0 Long-term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 739,196.9 10,429.6 739,196.9 10,429.6 Notes offered hereby — — 21,262.5 300.0 Total indebtedness 1,175,713.6 16,588.6 1,196,976.1 16,888.6 Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7		_	•		
portion of long term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 436,516.7 6,159.0 436,516.7 6,159.0 Long-term borrowings ⁽²⁾ 739,196.9 10,429.6 739,196.9 10,429.6 Notes offered hereby — — 21,262.5 300.0 Total indebtedness 1,175,713.6 16,588.6 1,196,976.1 16,888.6 Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7	Indebtedness				
Notes offered hereby – – 21,262.5 300.0 Total indebtedness 1,175,713.6 16,588.6 1,196,976.1 16,888.6 Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7	S S	436,516.7	6,159.0	436,516.7	6,159.0
Total indebtedness 1,175,713.6 16,588.6 1,196,976.1 16,888.6 Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7	Long-term borrowings ⁽²⁾	739,196.9	10,429.6	739,196.9	10,429.6
Share capital 6,792.2 95.8 6,792.2 95.8 Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7	Notes offered hereby			21,262.5	300.0
Reserves and surplus 515,748.8 7,276.9 515,748.8 7,276.9 Total shareholders' equity 522,541.0 7,372.7 522,541.0 7,372.7	Total indebtedness	1,175,713.6	16,588.6	1,196,976.1	16,888.6
Total shareholders' equity	Share capital	6,792.2	95.8	6,792.2	95.8
	Reserves and surplus	515,748.8	7,276.9	515,748.8	7,276.9
Total capitalisation	Total shareholders' equity	522,541.0	7,372.7	522,541.0	7,372.7
	Total capitalisation	1,698,254.6	23,961.3	1,719,517.1	24,261.3

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Solely for the convenience of the reader, U.S. dollar translations of Indian Rupee amounts have been provided at a rate of U.S.\$1.00 = Rs.70.875, which was the fixing rate in Mumbai on 30 September 2019, for cable transfers in Indian rupees as published by FEDAI.

⁽²⁾ All borrowings include Lease liabilities Ind-AS 116.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

In this section, any references to "Jaguar Land Rover" are to Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Jaguar Land Rover is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TML Holdings Pte. Ltd., which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Overview

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment and offers a broad portfolio of automotive products, ranging from sub-1 ton to 49 ton GVW trucks (including pickup trucks) to small, medium, and large buses and coaches to passenger cars, premium luxury cars and SUVs. The Company's automotive segment operations include all activities relating to the development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. Through its Jaguar Land Rover business, the Company is engaged in the premium car market in developed markets such as the United Kingdom, the United States, Europe and China as well as several emerging markets such as Russia, Brazil and South Africa (among others).

The wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Jaguar Land Rover designs, develops, manufactures and sells Jaguar premium sports saloons, sports cars and luxury performance SUVs and Land Rover premium all-terrain vehicles, as well as related parts, accessories and merchandise. The Jaguar Land Rover business has a long tradition as a manufacturer of technologically advanced, premium passenger vehicles with internationally recognised brands, an exclusive product portfolio of award-winning vehicles, a global distribution network and strong research and development capabilities, including for the development of autonomous, connected and electrification technologies and shared mobility services, as well as for innovative mobility solutions aiming to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges.

The Company has a substantial presence in India and the Jaguar Land Rover business operates in four principal regional markets, namely Europe (excluding the United Kingdom and Russia), North America, the United Kingdom and China. The Company is the largest commercial vehicle manufacturer in terms of revenue in India and is ranked among the top four passenger vehicle manufacturers in terms of units sold in India during Fiscal Year 2019 (according to the Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers).

The Company also provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India through its subsidiary, Tata Motors Finance Limited ("**TMFL**"), which is an integral part of automotive business in India. The vehicle financing includes financing of new TML and Jaguar Land Rover vehicles, pre-owned vehicles including other OEM brands and corporate lending to its channel partners.

The Company's automotive operations segment is further divided into (i) Tata commercial vehicles; (ii) Tata passenger vehicles; (iii) Jaguar Land Rover; and (iv) vehicle financing. Within its automotive operations, the Company continues to focus on integration and synergy through sharing of resources, platforms, facilities for product development and manufacturing, sourcing strategy and mutual sharing of best practices.

Apart from the automotive segment, the Company is also engaged in the businesses of information technology services and machine tools and factory automation solutions.

The Company, on a consolidated basis, had revenues from operations of Rs.2,744,921.2 million (U.S.\$38,729.0 million), Rs.2,923,406.4 million (U.S.\$41,247.4 million) and Rs.3,019,384.0 million (U.S.\$42,601.5 million) in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and Rs.1,268,989.4 million (U.S.\$17,904.6 million) as at the six-months ended 30 September 2019. The Company, on a consolidated basis, achieved profits/(loss) after tax (post minority interest and share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures (net)) of Rs.74,543.6 million

(U.S.\$1,051.8 million), Rs.89,889.1 million (U.S.\$1,268.3 million) and Rs. (288,262.3 million) (U.S.\$(4,067.2 million)) in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and Rs. (39,149.0 million) (U.S.\$(552.4 million)) as at the six-months ended 30 September 2019.

Recent Developments

On 25 October 2019, Board of Directors of Company approved the issue and allotment of the following securities to Tata Sons Private Limited the promoter of the Company, on a preferential basis ("**Preferential Allotment**"), subject to Shareholders Approval from the Extraordinary General Meeting scheduled on 22 November 2019:

- (a) up to 201,623,407 Ordinary Shares at a price of Rs.150 per Ordinary Share aggregating to Rs.30,243.51 million; and
- (b) 231,333,871 convertible warrants ("Warrants"), each carrying a right exercisable by the Warrant holder to subscribe to one Ordinary Share per Warrant, at a price (including the warrant subscription price and the warrant exercise price) of Rs.150 per Warrant aggregating to Rs.34,700.08 million. An amount equivalent to 25 per cent. of the Warrant Price shall be payable at the time of subscription and allotment of each Warrant and the balance 75 per cent. of the Warrant Price shall be payable by the Warrant holder against each Warrant at the time of allotment of Ordinary Shares pursuant to exercise of the options attached to Warrant(s) to subscribe to Ordinary Share(s). The amount paid against Warrants shall be adjusted/set-off against the issue price for the resultant Ordinary Shares.

The Company expects overall proceeds of Rs.64,943.6 million from preferential allotment, of which Rs.38,918.5 million to be received upfront on allotment of Ordinary Shares and Warrants and balance on conversion of Warrants, subject to shareholders approval.

Objects of Preferential Allotment

The proceeds of the issue will be utilized for repayment of debt, meeting future funding requirements and other general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Proposed Shareholding

Details of Shareholding and Voting rights of Tata Sons Private Limited is as under:

Particulars	Pre-Preferential Allotment	Post Preferential Allotment		
Tata Sons Private Limited	As at 30 September 2019	Post Allotment of Ordinary Shares	Post Exercise of Warrants into Ordinary Shares ⁽¹⁾	
Ordinary Shares	35.30%	39.52%	43.73%	
Voting Rights	34.69%	38.88%	43.08%	

Note:

⁽¹⁾ The shareholding post exercise of Warrants as shown above is calculated assuming full exercise of Warrants and consequent allotment of the Ordinary Shares of the Company.

Details of Shareholding and Voting rights of Promoter Group is as under:

Particulars	Pre-Preferential Allotment	Post Preferential Allotment		
Promoter Group	As at 30 September 2019	Post Allotment of Ordinary Shares	Post Exercise of Warrants into Ordinary Shares ⁽¹⁾	
Ordinary Shares	38.4%	42.4%	46.4%	
Voting Rights	37.7%	41.7%	45.7%	

Note:

Rationale for Preferential Allotment

- Strengthen balance sheet in a challenging demand scenario;
- Provides rating support to the Tata Motors Group;
- Limits dilution;
- Signals strong promoter conviction on the Company's opportunity; and
- Benefits all shareholders by allowing the business to continue its investments and execute its growth strategy.

The UKEF & Commercial Loan Facilities

In October 2019, Jaguar Land Rover entered into an agreement providing for £625 million five-year amortising loan facilities, supported by a £500 million guarantee from UK Export Finance. These facilities were fully drawn as of the date of this Offering Circular.

The UK Fleet Financing Facility

In October 2019, Jaguar Land Rover entered into an agreement providing for a £100 million working capital facility for fleet buybacks, secured by a floating charge over a part of our vehicle stock. This facility was fully drawn as of the date of this Offering Circular.

History and Development of the Company

The Company was incorporated on 1 September 1945 as a public limited liability company under the Indian Companies Act VII of 1913 as Tata Locomotive and Engineering Company Limited. The Company's name was changed to Tata Engineering and Locomotive Company Limited on 24 September 1960 and to Tata Motors Limited on 29 July 2003. Tata Motors Limited is domiciled in India. The Company commenced operations as a steam locomotive manufacturer. This business was discontinued in 1971. Since 1954, the Company has been in the business of manufacturing automotive vehicles. The Company produced only commercial vehicles until 1991, when it started producing passenger vehicles as well.

⁽¹⁾ The shareholding post exercise of Warrants as shown above is calculated assuming full exercise of Warrants and consequent allotment of the Ordinary Shares of the Company.

In September 2004, the Company became the first company from India's automotive sector to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company's ADSs are traded on the NYSE under the symbol "TTM". The Company's Ordinary Shares and 'A' Ordinary Shares are traded on the BSE under the codes 500570 and 570001, respectively, and the NSE under the symbols "TATAMOTORS" and "TATAMTRDVR", respectively.

In June 2008, the Company acquired the Jaguar Land Rover business from Ford. Jaguar Land Rover is a global automotive business, which designs, manufactures and sells Jaguar luxury sedans, sports cars and luxury performance SUVs and Land Rover premium all-terrain vehicles, as well as related parts, accessories and merchandise. The Jaguar Land Rover business has internationally recognised brands, a product portfolio of award-winning luxury performance cars, luxury performance SUVs and premium all-terrain vehicles, brand-specific global distribution networks and research and development capabilities. As a part of its acquisition of the Jaguar Land Rover business, the Company acquired three major manufacturing facilities located in Halewood, Solihull and Castle Bromwich and two advanced design and engineering facilities located at Whitley and Gaydon, all in the United Kingdom, together with national sales companies in several countries.

The Company operates six principal automotive manufacturing facilities in India. These are located at Jamshedpur in the state of Jharkhand, at Pune in the state of Maharashtra, at Lucknow in the state of Uttar Pradesh, at Pantnagar in the state of Uttarakhand, at Sanand in the state of Gujarat and at Dharwad in the state of Karnataka. The Company also operates four principal automotive manufacturing facilities in the United Kingdom through its Jaguar Land Rover business, which are located at Solihull in the West Midlands, Castle Bromwich in the West Midlands, Halewood in Liverpool and its engine manufacturing centre ("EMC") at Wolverhampton in the West Midlands.

In Fiscal Year 2015, Jaguar Land Rover opened its inaugural overseas manufacturing facility in China (the "China Joint Venture"). In June 2016, Jaguar Land Rover opened a new manufacturing plant in Itatiaia, Brazil, with an annual production capacity of 24,000 units. Jaguar Land Rover now produces the I-PACE battery electric vehicle and the new Jaguar E-PACE in Graz, Austria under its manufacturing partnership with Magna Steyr. Furthermore, Jaguar Land Rover's new 150,000 units per annum manufacturing plant in Nitra, Slovakia opened in October 2018 and is currently producing the Land Rover Discovery. In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar Land Rover announced that next-generation Electric Drive Units ("EDU"), developed in collaboration with BMW, will be produced at the Company's EMC in Wolverhampton. At the same time Jaguar Land Rover announced that these EDUs will be powered by batteries assembled at a new Jaguar Land Rover Battery Assembly Centre located at Hams Hall, North Warwickshire.

The Company has expanded its international operations through mergers and acquisitions and in India, it has made strategic alliances involving non-Indian companies in recent years, including, but not limited to, the following:

- the Company has a joint venture agreement with FCA Italy Spa (previously known as Fiat Group Automobiles S.p.A., Italy), which is part of the Fiat Chrysler Automobiles Group ("FCA"). Together with the FCA, the Company operates a facility located at Ranjangaon in Maharashtra to manufacture passenger cars, engines and transmissions for the Indian and overseas markets. in December 2006, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Thonburi Automotive Assembly Plant Co. Ltd Thailand (the "Thonburi Group") to manufacture pickup trucks in Thailand.
- in October 2010, the Company acquired an 80 per cent. equity interest in Trilix Srl., Turin (Italy) ("Trilix"), a design and engineering company, in line with its objective to enhance its styling/design capabilities to meet global standards.

- Jaguar Land Rover opened a manufacturing plant for the China Joint Venture in Changshu,
 China in October 2014.
- in July 2015, Jaguar Land Rover agreed to a manufacturing partnership with Magna Steyr, an operating unit of Magna International Inc. to build certain future Jaguar Land Rover models in Graz, Austria to support Jaguar Land Rover's growth plans. The Company believes that Magna Steyr has extensive contract manufacturing expertise working with many other car manufacturers globally. The Jaguar I-PACE battery electric vehicle and the Jaguar E-PACE are currently manufactured at the plant in Graz, Austria.
- in December 2015, Jaguar Land Rover concluded an agreement with the Government of the Slovak Republic for the development of a new manufacturing plant in western Slovakia which has been producing the Land Rover Discovery since October 2018.
- on 30 March 2017, the Company's Board approved a scheme of merger and arrangement between the Company and TMLDL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The merger was completed on 30 April 2018.
- on 23 May 2018, the Company's Board approved the sale of the Company's shareholding in its wholly-owned subsidiary, TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited, to Tata Advanced Systems Limited, a Tata group company. The divestment of TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited was closed on 29 March 2019.

Organisational Structure

Tata Sons - the Company's Promoter and its Promoted Entities

Tata Sons holds equity interests in promoted companies engaged in a wide range of businesses. Tata Sons promoted entities have their origins in the trading business founded by the founder Mr Jamsetji Tata in 1868, which was developed and expanded in furtherance of his ideals by his two sons, Sir Dorabji Tata and Sir Ratan Tata, following their father's death in 1904. The businesses of Tata Sons promoted entities can be categorised under ten business sectors, namely, information technology, steel, automotive, consumer and retail, infrastructure, financial services, tourism and travel, aerospace and defence, telecom and media and trading and investments and comprised of over 100 companies, 28 amongst them publicly-listed companies, with a market capitalisation of U.S.\$145 billion (as of 31 March 2018) and a collective workforce of over 700,000 persons. The various companies promoted by Tata Sons, including the Company, are based substantially in India and had combined revenues of approximately U.S.\$111 billion as of 31 March 2018. The group operates in more than 100 countries across six continents.

With 35.3 per cent. of the Company's ordinary shares under Tata Sons' ownership as at 30 September 2019 (which has increased consistently since the last few years), the Company receives strong shareholder support and integration with Tata Sons which the Company believes has provided it a competitive advantage over its competitors and will be able to continue to leverage support from its relationship with Tata Sons and its subsidiaries and affiliates to further enhance its competitiveness to meet its customers' needs, improving management capabilities and further strengthening its brand equity and credibility. The group's foray into Financial Services commenced in 1919 under the chairmanship of Sir Dorab Tata, with the set up of New India Assurance.

The Company has for many years been a licensed user of the "Tata" brand owned by Tata Sons, and thus have gained from the use of the Tata brand and common brand equity as well as helped to grow and sustain its brand equity. The Company believes that it benefits from the use of and association with the "Tata" brand identity and accordingly, Tata Motors Limited and certain of its subsidiaries have subscribed to the Tata Brand Equity & Business Promotion Agreement and

agreed to pay an annual subscription fee to Tata Sons which is in the range of (on a standalone basis) 0.15-0.25 per cent. of the annual net income (defined as net revenues exclusive of excise duties and other governmental taxes and non-operating income), subject to a ceiling of 5 per cent. of annual profit before (defined as profit after interest and depreciation but before income tax). In Fiscal Year 2014, 2015, 2017 and 2018, no amount was paid in view of losses of Tata Motors Limited calculated on a standalone basis for these entities.

The Company believes customers associate the "Tata" brand with reliability, trust and ethical values, and its brand name is gaining significant international recognition due to the international growth strategies of various Tata companies. The Tata brand is used and its benefits are leveraged by the Company to its mutual advantage. As the Company recognises the need for enhancing its brand recognition in highly competitive markets in which the Company competes with internationally recognised brands, the Company, along with the support of Tata Sons will continue to promote the Tata brand and leverage its use in India, as well as in various international markets where the Company plans to increase its presence.

Moreover, the 'Tata' brand continues to be India's most valuable brand according to the annual assessment by Brand Finance, the world's leading brand valuation and strategy consultancy. The total value of brand 'Tata' has surged to U.S.\$19.5 billion in 2019, surpassing the combined value of the second and third most valued brands in India. In 2019, 'Tata' has been ranked 86th in the list compiled by the London-based consultancy, Brand Finance, up from 104th in 2018.

Tata Motors Group

The subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of the Company, together with the Company, forms the Tata Motors Group under Indian Law.

A core initiative of the Company was the implementation of the Organisation Effectiveness ("**OE**") program, a strategic program designed to overhaul and transform the Tata Motors Group. Pursuant to the changes implemented as a result of the OE program, the Group has drawn separate strategies for commercial vehicles, passenger vehicles and financing business from Fiscal Year 2019. As at 30 September 2019, the Company's reportable segments are as follows:

- Automotive operations: the Company's automotive segment consists of the following four reportable sub-segments:
 - Tata Commercial Vehicles: this includes commercial vehicles (SCVs and pick-ups, M&HCVs, I&LCVs and CV passenger vehicles) manufactured under the Tata and Daewoo brands (and excludes vehicles manufactured under the Jaguar Land Rover brand);
 - Tata Passenger Vehicles: this includes passenger vehicles and UVs manufactured under the Tata and Fiat brands (and excludes vehicles manufactured under the Jaguar Land Rover brand);
 - Jaguar Land Rover: this includes vehicles manufactured under the Jaguar Land Rover brand (and excludes vehicles manufactured under the Tata, Fiat, Daewoo and other brands); and
 - Vehicle Financing: this includes financing of the Tata and Jaguar Land Rover new vehicles, pre-owned vehicles including other OEMs brands and corporate lending to the Company's channel partners.
- Other operations: this consists of information technology services and machine tools and factory automation solutions.

The Company believes that this structure improves speed, agility and simplicity within its business units, and enables strong functional leadership, improved decision-making, quicker responses to changing market conditions and clear accountability.

The Company produces a wide range of automotive products, including:

 Passenger cars: the Company's range of Tata branded passenger cars include, in the hatchback category, the Nano (micro segment) and the Bolt and the Tiago (compact segment) and in the sedan category, the Tigor and the Zest (mid-sized segment). The Company has expanded its passenger car range with several variants and fuel options designed to suit various customer preferences.

The Company's Jaguar Land Rover operations has an established presence in the premium passenger car market under the Jaguar brand name. There are seven nameplates currently manufactured under the Jaguar brand name, including the F-TYPE two-seater sports coupe and convertible, the XF sedan (including the long wheel base XFL at the China Joint Venture), the XJ saloon, the XE sports saloon (including long wheel base XEL at the China Joint Venture), the F-PACE Jaguar's luxury performance SUV), the Jaguar E-PACE compact SUV (also manufactured at the China Joint Venture), and the Jaguar I-PACE (an all-electric performance SUV and Jaguar's first battery electric vehicle). In July 2019, Jaguar Land Rover ceased production of the Jaguar XJ and intend to replace it with the all-electric Jaguar XJ in the future.

• **Utility vehicles**: the Company manufactures a range of Tata branded utility vehicles, including the Harrier, the Hexa, the Nexon, the Sumo and the Safari Storme. Under the Safari brand, the Company offers two variants: the Dicor and the Safari Storme. Under the Sumo brand, the Company offers the Sumo Gold, which is an entry-level utility vehicle.

There are currently six nameplates under the Land Rover brand, comprised of the Range Rover, the Range Rover Sport, the Range Rover Evoque, the Land Rover Discovery, the Land Rover Discovery Sport, the Range Rover Velar. The Company has also revealed the new Land Rover Defender, which will be launched in spring 2020.

- Small commercial vehicles ("SCVs") and pick-up trucks: the Company manufactures a variety of SCVs (less than 3.5 tonne), including pickup trucks. This includes the Tata Ace, India's first indigenously developed mini-truck with a 0.7 tonnes payload with different fuel options, the Super Ace and Mega Ace with a 1 tonne payload and the Ace Zip with a 0.6 tonnes payload. In January 2017, the Company also launched the Xenon Yodha pick-up truck range with single cab and double cab variants and 4X2, 4X4 options. In May 2019, the Company launched India's first compact truck Tata Intra with two variants, Intra V10 and Intra V20.
- Medium and heavy commercial vehicles ("M&HCVs") and intermediate and light commercial vehicles ("I&LCVs"): the Company manufactures a variety of M&HCVs and I&LCVs which include trucks, tractors, tippers, multi-axled vehicles and pick-ups with GVW (including payload) of between 3.5 tonnes and 55 tonnes. The Company also provides fully built solutions for special applications such as garbage compactors, containers, tankers, reefers, and diesel bowser to customers and various government organisations including solutions related to national defence. In addition, through Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd. ("TDCV"), the Company manufactures a wide array range of trucks ranging from 215 horsepower to 560 horsepower, including dump trucks, tractor-trailers, mixers and cargo vehicles. The Company's signature product is the Prima and the Prima LX range of trucks, which are sold in India and South Korea and exported to a number of countries in South Asia, the Middle East and Africa. The SIGNA range is a new M&HCV trucks launched in 2016 and has been extended to several additional tractor and tipper variants. The newest addition to

this portfolio is the Ultra range panning from 7-tonne LCVs to 30-tonnne tractors in April 2018. All these platforms seamlessly integrate into the pre-increased axle load (16 to 49 tonnes) and post-increased axle load (18.5 to 55 tonnes) ranges.

• Commercial passenger vehicles: The Company manufactures a variety of passenger carriers including buses. The Company's products include the Magic and the Magic Iris (which includes an electric variant, both of which are passenger variants for commercial transportation developed on the Tata Ace platform) and the Winger. The Company also offers a range of buses, which includes the Semi Deluxe Starbus Ultra Contract Bus and the new Starbus Ultra. The Company's range of buses is intended for a variety of uses, including as intercity coaches (with both air-conditioned and non-air-conditioned luxury variants), as school transportation and as ambulances. In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company launched the deliveries of electric buses to various state road transport undertakings in India.

Operations of Other Subsidiaries

Through the Company's other subsidiary and associate companies, the Company is engaged in providing engineering and automotive solutions, construction equipment manufacturing, automotive vehicle components manufacturing and supply chain activities, machine tools and factory automation solutions, high-precision tooling and plastic and electronic components for automotive and computer applications, and automotive retailing and service operations.

- Tata Technologies Limited, is engaged in providing specialised engineering and design services, product lifecycle management and product-centric IT services to leading global manufacturers. TTL's customers are among the world's premier automotive, aerospace and consumer durables manufacturers. As of 30 September 2019, the Company owned 72.28 per cent. of TTL and TTL had 12 subsidiaries and one joint venture.
- *TML Distribution Company Limited*, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 28 March 2008. TDCL provides distribution and logistics support for distribution of the Company's products throughout India. TDCL commenced its operations in Fiscal Year 2009.
- Tata Motors Finance Limited, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 1 June 2006, with the objective of becoming a preferred financing provider for the Company's dealers' customers by capturing customer spending over the vehicle life-cycle relating to vehicles sold by it. In India, TMFL is registered with the RBI as a systemically important non-deposit taking NBFC and is classified as an asset finance company under the RBI's regulations on NBFCs. In Fiscal Year 2015, TMFL acquired 100 per cent. shareholding of Rajasthan Leasing Private Limited, which subsequently changed its name to Tata Motors Finance Solutions Private Limited and is a NBFC registered with the RBI. On 4 June 2015, Tata Motors Finance Solutions Private Limited was converted into a public limited company, named Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited. TMFSL focuses on the used vehicle financing business. On 31 March 2016, TMFL acquired 100 per cent. shareholding in Sheba, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TML and an NBFC-registered entity with the RBI, as a part of the restructuring and consolidation of financial services companies under TMFL. Pursuant to restructuring arrangements, TMFL transferred its new vehicle finance business to Sheba on 31 January 2017. During Fiscal Year 2018, TMFL changed its name to TMF Holdings Limited ("TMFHL") and Sheba changed its name to TMFL. During Fiscal Year 2019, TMFHL had acquired 26 per cent. of the share capital of Loginomic Tech Solutions Private Limited, a tech-based freight aggregator.

- Tata Motors Insurance Broking and Advisory Services Limited, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, is a licensed direct general insurance broker with IRDAI that operates in the Indian market and has plans to branch out globally to seek additional business opportunities. TMIBASL commenced business in Fiscal Year 2008 and provides end-to-end insurance solutions in the retail sector with a focus on the automobile sector. TMIBASL offers services to various OEMs in the passenger vehicle, commercial and construction equipment segments, including to the Company.
- Trilix Srl.. In October 2010, we acquired an 80% equity interest in Trilix Srl., or Trilix, a
 design and engineering company, in line with our objective to enhance our styling/design
 capabilities to meet global standards. Trilix offers design and engineering services in the
 automotive sector, including styling, architecture, packaging, surfacing, macro and microfeasibility studies and detailed engineering development. Trilix continues to implement a
 strategic growth policy and in March 2013 moved to a new facility as part of its ongoing
 implementation of this growth policy.
- Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.. In March 2004, we acquired Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd., (now known as Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd. ("TDCV")) at Gunsan in South Korea. TDCV is engaged in the business of manufacturing heavy vehicles such as cargo, trucks, dump trucks, tractor trailers and special purpose vehicle mixers.

As of 30 September 2019, the Company's operations included 101 consolidated subsidiaries, 2 joint operations, 3 joint ventures and 29 equity method affiliates, in respect of which it exercises significant influence.

Business Strategies

The Company believes that it has established, and intends to further strengthen, its position in the Indian automobile industry by investing in new products that exceed customer expectations, improving customer experiences across all its touchpoints, making rigorous cost improvements across its product range, and optimising its manufacturing and distribution strategy. The Company has pursued the strategy of increasing its presence in the global automotive markets and enhancing its product range and capabilities through strategic acquisitions/alliances. Building on the success of the Company's 'Turnaround' action plan, the Company introduced 'Turnaround 2.0' in Fiscal Year 2019. Turnaround 2.0 aims at 'Winning Decisively' in the Commercial Vehicle business, 'Winning Sustainably' in the Passenger Vehicle business and embedding 'Turnaround' into the Company's corporate culture. The Company aims to achieve consistent, competitive, cash accretive growth while Jaguar Land Rover is committed to achieving a sustainable and profitable growth comprising positive cash flows in the medium to long term with a strong focus on cost reduction and affordability of capital investments. In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar Land Rover launched 'Project Charge', a cost and cash improvement initiative which aims to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.5 billion by end of Fiscal Year 2020. The objective of this programme is to identify and implement at speed, short-term gains to improve cost, cash, revenue and profitability. Jaguar Land Rover has also launched 'Project Accelerate' for systemic, structural improvements to its business through three key workstreams (i) on-time and quality programmes; (ii) deliver competitive material cost and (iii) enhance sales performance.

To execute this vision, the Company focuses on several strategic objectives, including the following:

Continued focus on new product development

One key component of this strategy, which has delivered positive results in recent years, is the Company's focus on improving the mix of its products (by developing vehicles designed to increase our market segment penetration or market visibility).

The Company offers an extensive range of commercial vehicles (for both goods and passenger transport) as well as passenger vehicles. The Company has plans to expand the range of its product base further and is supported by its strong brand recognition in India, its understanding of local consumer preferences, in-house engineering capabilities and extensive distribution network. With growing competition, changing technologies and evolving customer expectations, the Company understands the importance of bringing new platforms to address market gaps and further enhance its existing range of vehicles to ensure customer satisfaction. The Company's capital expenditures totalled Rs.317,507.4 million, Rs.426,722.9 million and Rs.366,356.7 million during Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The Company currently plans to invest in the region of approximately Rs.390 billion in Fiscal Year 2020 in capacity, new products and technologies.

Jaquar Land Rover plans to offer an electric drivetrain option on all new models by 2020. Jaquar Land Rover's first all-electric vehicle, the all-new Jaguar I-PACE, was launched in March 2018 and went on sale in June 2018. The Range Rover and Range Rover Sport both are available in plug-in hybrid derivative and Range Rover Evoque is available in mild-hybrid variant. Starting from 2020, Jaguar Land Rover will begin the manufacture of next-generation Electric Drive Units, in collaboration with BMW, at its Engine Manufacturing Centre in Wolverhampton to be powered by batteries assembled at a new facility near Birmingham. The new Electric Drive Units and batteries will power its future battery electric and plug in-hybrids. Jaguar Land Rover continues to invest in enhancing its technological strengths through in-house R&D activities, including the development of its engineering and design centres which centralise Jaguar Land Rover's capabilities in product design and engineering, sharing premium technologies, powertrains and vehicle architectures. Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles are designed and developed by award-winning design teams, and Jaguar Land Rover is committed to a continuing programme of new product design. Collectively, Jaguar and Land Rover's product portfolio received over 200 awards from leading international motoring writers, magazines and opinion leaders from (and including) Fiscal Year 2018 to date, reflecting the strength of our model line-up and our design and engineering capabilities. Jaguar Land Rover aims to develop cleaner, safer and more efficient cars of the future that combine safety, zero emissions, zero congestion and long-term sustainable growth ("Destination Zero"). To meet this objective, Jaguar Land Rover has built strong links with academia, the UK Government and other industry sectors.

Furthermore, Jaguar Land Rover participates in advanced research consortia that bring together leading manufacturers, suppliers or academic specialists in the United Kingdom and are supported by funding from the UK Government's Technology Strategy Board.

Leveraging the Company's capabilities

The Company has manufacturing facilities across five locations in India, which delivers mobility solutions to five product lines with products ranging from 0.5 tonnes to 55 tonnes. These state-of-the-art facilities cater to the domestic and international market as well as the defence markets. The Company has delivered more than 0.5 million vehicles in Fiscal Year 2019 and over 0.2 million vehicles in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 while driving its operating costs towards benchmark levels through various initiatives and levers. The Company also continues to make its operations sustainable in terms of safety and health, corporate responsibility, and environment friendly with stringent targets in these areas enabled by various initiatives and guided by strong governance committees.

The Company believes that the foundation of its growth over the last five decades has been a deep understanding of economic conditions and customer needs, and the ability to translate this understanding into desirable products through R&D. Established in 1966, the Company's ERC in India has enabled it to successfully design, develop and produce its own range of vehicles. In addition, Jaguar Land Rover's R&D operations are built around state-of-the-art engineering facilities, extensive test tracks, testing centres, design hubs and a virtual innovation centre. The ERC in India and Jaguar Land Rover's engineering and development operations in the United

Kingdom have identified areas to leverage the facilities and resources to enhance the product development process and achieve economies of scale. Furthermore, the Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC ("TMETC"), in the United Kingdom, which is engaged in automobile research and engineering. Furthermore, the Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary, TMETC, in the United Kingdom, which is engaged in automobile research and engineering. The Company believes that its R&D capabilities will enable it to expand its product range and extend its geographical reach and to continually strive to achieve synergy wherever possible with its subsidiaries and joint ventures.

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company played a leading role in proactively driving electric mobility in India. With the aim of building a sustainable future for India, the Company has been working collaboratively on various electric and hybrid vehicle solutions. As the only OEM with an end-to-end extensive product portfolio across its passenger vehicles and commercial vehicles businesses, the Company intends to play a complimentary role in the smart cities of the future. From public transport to personal cars, from last-mile connectivity to bus rapid transit systems, from emergency response vehicles to commercial Utility Vehicles, from green and sustainable solutions to vehicles designed to amplify the driving experience, the Company strives to carry a product portfolio to connect the aspirations and needs of its customers. To build on an enabling ecosystem of sustainable technology, the Company has worked on zero emission electric variant of vehicles that have redefined the automotive landscape worldwide. The Company is also actively working on innovation by bringing ingenuity into the areas of vehicle engineering and development. The Company believes its focus on digitisation, connectivity, automation and advanced regulatory compliance is helping it to deliver exciting innovations to its customers worldwide. On its current product portfolio, the Company also offers enhancements through approaches including modular architecture strategy, enhanced powertrain solution, light weighting, and system efficiency improvement strategies.

The Company also continues to evaluate several xEV options through different technologies as part of its long-term strategy. The technologies vary from mild hybrids in one segment to a fuel cell in others, which the Company has demonstrated in Auto Expo from time to time. The Company has developed a range of electric vehicles, such as the IRIS EV, Magic EV, 12m Urban Electric Bus, Tiago EV and Tigor EV, along with E-Vision concept electric vehicle, which the Company showcased at Geneva International Motor show in March 2018. Further, the Company has announced its state-of-art electric vehicle technology "Ziptron", which will power a range of aspirational Tata Electric cars.

Jaguar Land Rover continues to invest in new technologies, including developing electric and other sustainable technologies to improve fuel economy and reduce CO_2 emissions. More recently, Jaguar Land Rover has started developing autonomous, connected and electrification technologies, as well as investing in innovative mobility solutions aiming to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges.

Jaguar Land Rover is one of the industry leaders in aluminium body structures, which contribute to the manufacture of lighter vehicles with improved fuel and CO_2 efficiency and performance, while maintaining the body stiffness that customers in the premium segment demand. Jaguar Land Rover also aims to be at the forefront of calibration and certification of emissions and fuel economy, with a number of emission-reducing technologies developed or under development, including stop-start technology as a standard feature, the 2.0-litre "in-house" Ingenium diesel and petrol engines and recently developed new EU6 Ingenium diesel and petroleum engine.

Jaguar Land Rover's autonomous strategy includes investing in driver assistance technologies to support increasing degrees of automation and including autonomous features on new models. Jaguar Land Rover's connected strategy includes investing in technology and infrastructure to support higher levels of connectivity, as exemplified by its recent announcement outlining plans to develop an engineering centre in Manchester to support the development of next-generation,

connected car technologies. Jaguar Land Rover's electrification strategy is currently exemplified by the all-electric all-new Jaguar I-PACE, which recently went on sale and the plug-in hybrid derivatives of the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport, which went on sale in Fiscal Year 2018. In July 2019, Jaguar Land Rover ceased production of the Jaguar XJ and intend to replace it with the all-electric Jaguar XJ in the future. Jaguar Land Rover's InMotion Ventures business unit focuses on developing innovative mobility solutions to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges, and invests in future transport and mobility solutions, including a U.S.\$25 million investment in Lyft in 2017 and U.S.\$3 million investment in Voyage (a US-based self-driving taxi service) in January 2018. In addition, InMotion's will launch a new premium car rental service in London, providing access to Land Rover vehicles throughout the city.

Continuing focus on high quality and enhancing customer satisfaction

One of the Company's principal goals is to achieve international quality standards for its products and services. The Company has established a procedure for ensuring quality control of outsourced components. Products purchased from approved sources undergo a supplier quality improvement process. The Company also collaborated with a major automobile oil manufacturer, Indian Oil Corporation Limited, to launch Tata Motors Genuine Oil, a single brand of affordable lubricating oils that is guaranteed by the Company for use across the Company's product lines.

The Company's has received recognition for its customer satisfaction levels. In a recent Net Promoter Score Brand Health Track Survey conducted by Millward Brown Market Research Services India Private Limited, TML Commercial Vehicles received an industry-leading score of +61 which is significantly ahead of its peers. The Company also ranked first in both sales and service satisfaction scores in the Sales Satisfaction Study Survey conducted by Nielsen (India) Private Limited in Fiscal Year 2019.

One of the Company's principal goals is to achieve international quality standards for its products and services. The Company has established a comprehensive purchasing and quality control system that is designed to consistently deliver quality products and superior service. The Company also has a program for assisting vendors from whom it purchases raw materials or components to maintain quality. Each vendor is reviewed on a quarterly basis on parameters of quality, cost and delivery, and preference is given to vendors with TS 16949 certification.

Through close coordination supported by the Company's IT systems, it monitors quality performance in the field and implements corrections on an ongoing basis to improve the performance of its products, thereby improving customer satisfaction. The Company is encouraging focused initiatives at both sales and service touch points to enhance customer experience and is striving to be the best in class. The Company believes that the reach of its sales, service and maintenance network provides it with a significant advantage over its competitors. The Company ranked second for the second consecutive year in the J.D. Power Asia Pacific 2018 India Customer Service Index Study Score.

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company's passenger vehicle segment received the following awards:

No	Media	Category	Product
1.	Autoportal	Best New Variant of the Year 2018	Tiago JTP
2.	Auto Tech Review IATIA 2018	Engine of the Year – Performance Engine of the Year	Tigor JTP
3.	Autocar India	Best Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
4.	News18	Hatchback of The Year Sedan of the Year	Tiago JTP Tigor JPT
5.	Quarter Mile Awards	Performance Car of the Year	Tiago JTP and Tigor JTP
6.	Auto Components India	JV/Partnership of the Year	JTSV
7.	Car India	Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
8.	Exhibit	Upcoming Car of the Year 2019	Tata Harrier
9.	Afaqs	Top 10 Brands Overall	Tata Motors (Passenger Vehicles)
10.	Times Auto Awards	Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
11.	Motor Vikatan	Performance Car of the Year Best Manufacturer of the Year	Tiago JTP and Tigor JTP Tata Motors
12.	Brand Equity (The Economic Times)	2nd Most Attractive Brand and Most Trusted Brand in Automotive Sector (PV)	Tata Motors

In Fiscal Year 2019, the Company's commercial vehicles segment received the following awards:

ET Now Retail Awards

No	Award Category	Awarded Model
1.	PV Manufacturer of the Year	
2.	CV of the Year	Ultra 1412
3.	LCV Cargo Mover of the Year	LPT407 EX FE
4.	HCV Rigid Cargo of the Year	Tata 4223
5.	MCV Cargo Carrier of the Year	Tata LPT 1618 5L Turbotronn
6.	Small People Mover of the Year	Winger
7.	MHCV People Mover of the Year	Magna
8.	Promising Debut of the Year	Signa 4923.T
9.	Marketing Campaign of the Year Award	Tata Ace Gold

Apollo CV Awards

No	Award Category	Awarded Model	
1.	CV Maker of the Year	Tata Motors Limited	
2.	CV/ICV People Mover of the Year	Ultra 9m Electric Bus	
3.	MCV Cargo Carrier of the Year	LPT 1618 Turbotronn	
4.	Special Application of the Year	LPT 2518 E Commerce	
5.	MCV Tipper of the Year	Prima 2530.K Lx(6x4)	
6.	ICV Cargo Carrier of the Year	ULTRA 1412	

Flywheel Awards

No	Award Category	Awarded Model/OEM
1.	Flywheel Commercial Vehicle/Medium Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Ultra 1412
2.	Flywheel CV Manufacturer of the Year	Tata Motors
3.	Flywheel Heavy Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Prima
4.	Flywheel Light Duty Truck of the Year	Tata Ace Gold

In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar and Land Rover collectively received over 200 awards from leading international motoring writers, magazines and opinion leaders, reflecting the strength of its model line-up, design and engineering capabilities. A selection of recent awards is listed below:

No	Award	Model	Awarding Institution
1.	World Car of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
2.	World Car Design of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
3.	World Green Car of the Year	I-PACE	World Car of the Year Awards
4.	European Car of the Year	I-PACE	European Car of the Year Awards
5.	Best Compact SUV	Range Rover Evoque	GQ Car Awards
6.	Best Design and Styling Award	Range Rover Velar	Autocar India

Products and environmental performance

The Company's strategy is to continue to invest in products and technologies that position it ahead of expected stricter environmental regulation and ensure that the Company benefit from a shift in consumer awareness of the environmental impact of the vehicles they drive. Jaguar Land Rover has launched plug-in hybrid derivatives of the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport, without compromising the vehicles' off-road capability or load space. Recently, Jaguar Land Rover introduced our first all-electric vehicle, the Jaguar I-PACE, which went on sale in June 2018. Jaguar Land Rover is also a global leader in the use of aluminium and other lightweight materials to reduce vehicle weight and improve CO_2 and fuel efficiency. In addition to CO_2 and fuel efficiency, all Jaguar Land Rover's powertrains have been developed to meet the world's most stringent air quality emissions regulations such as the EPA Tier 3 and LEV3, China 6b and European Eu6d-Temp under real world driving conditions described by Real Driving Emissions, ("RDE"), Level 1 ("RDE1") and future RDE Level 2, whose tests are well in advance of the 2020 introduction of RDE2 for all its new models, where emissions are limited under random driving conditions on the open road not just under laboratory conditions. Jaguar Land Rover were one of the few car manufacturer to meet the Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test Procedure (WLTP)

deadline for type approval of its vehicles, reducing the operational impact of the emissions test changes. Recognising the need to use resources responsibly, produce less waste and reduce our carbon footprint, Jaguar Land Rover is also taking measures to reduce emissions, waste and the use of natural resources in all of our operations. In the United Kingdom, Jaguar Land Rover has a goal of zero waste and carbon neutral manufacturing operations by 2020.

Mitigating cyclicality

The automobile industry is impacted by cyclicality. To mitigate the impact of cyclicality, the Company plans to continually strengthen its operations through gaining market share across different segments, and to offer a wide range of products in diverse geographies. The Company also plans to continue to strengthen its business operations other than vehicle sales, such as financing of its vehicles, spare part sales, service and maintenance contracts, sales of aggregates for non-vehicle businesses, reconditioning of aggregates and sale of castings, production aids and tooling/fixtures, to reduce the impact of cyclicality of the automotive industry.

Expanding the Company's international business

The Company's international expansion strategy involves entering new markets where the Company has an opportunity to grow and introducing new products to existing markets in order to grow its presence in such markets. The Company's international business strategy has already resulted in the growth of its international operations in select markets and chosen segments over the last five years. Based on the Company's internal assessments and data compiled by its country management team, in recent years, the Company has grown its market share across various African and Middle Eastern markets such as Tanzania, Saudi Arabia and United Arab Emirates, in addition to maintaining its dominant market position in the South Asian markets of Bangladesh, Nepal and Sri Lanka. In keeping with the Company's strategy to enter and grow in new regions, the Company has focused on business in the ASEAN countries, where in recent years the Company has entered Indonesia, Malaysia, Vietnam, Philippines and Tunisia.

The Company has also expanded its international presence through acquisitions and joint ventures. The Company's acquisition of Jaguar Land Rover has expanded its geographical presence in the overseas market significantly. Through Jaguar Land Rover, the Company now offers products in the premium performance car and premium all-terrain vehicle segments with globally recognised brands and the Company has diversified its business across markets and product segments. The Company will continue to build upon the internationally recognised brands of Jaguar Land Rover. The production of the Range Rover Evoque commenced at the China Joint Venture in October 2014 and went on general retail sale in China in February 2015. Production of the Discovery Sport was also added as the second vehicle to be manufactured at the China Joint Venture in Fiscal Year 2016, which went on general retail sale in November 2015. In September 2016, the long wheelbase Jaguar XFL went on sale followed by the long wheel base Jaguar XEL in December 2017. The E-PACE also went on sale in November 2017 and commenced sales from the China Joint Venture in September 2018. The all new Land Rover Discovery went on sale in February 2017 and the new Range Rover Velar went on sale in July 2017 with the refreshed 18 model year Range Rover and Range Rover Sport (including PHEV models) going on sale from November 2017. The multi-award-winning Jaguar I-PACE went on sale in June 2018 and the all new Evoque went on sale in February 2019. The new refreshed Jaguar XE is now available to order and the refreshed Land Rover Discovery Sport was revealed in May 2019. The new Land Rover Defender was revealed and the customer deliveries to begin from spring 2020.

During Fiscal Year 2008, the Company established a joint venture company to undertake manufacture and assembly operations in South Africa, which has been one of its largest export markets from India in terms of unit volume. The joint venture company, Tata Motors (SA) Proprietary Limited, commenced operations in July 2011. Currently, Tata Motors (SA) Proprietary Limited caters to the South African market and Mozambique markets and sold 963 units in Fiscal Year 2019.

Reducing operating costs

The Company believes that its scale of operations provides it with a significant advantage in reducing costs and the Company plans to continue to sustain and enhance this cost advantage.

The Company's ability to leverage its technological capabilities and its manufacturing facilities among its commercial vehicle and passenger vehicle businesses enables it to reduce cost. For example, the diesel engine used in its Indica was modified to engineer a new variant for use in the Ace platform, which helped to reduce the project cost. Similarly, platform sharing for the manufacture of pick-up trucks and UVs enables the Company to reduce capital investment that would otherwise be required, while allowing the Company to improve the utilisation levels at its manufacturing facilities. Where appropriate, the Company intends to apply its existing low-cost engineering and sourcing capability to Jaguar Land Rover vehicles.

The Company's vendor relationships also contribute to its cost reductions. For example, the Company believes that the vendor rationalisation program that the Company is undertaking will provide economies of scale to its vendors which would benefit its cost programs. The Company is also undertaking various internal and external benchmarking exercises that would enable it to improve the cost effectiveness of its components, systems and sub-systems.

The Company has intensified efforts to review and realign its cost structure through a number of measures such as reduction of manpower costs and rationalisation of other fixed costs, as well as streamlining its purchasing processes and building on its strong relationships with suppliers while increasing employee deployment and flexibility across its sites.

In Fiscal Year 2019, Jaguar Land Rover launched 'Project Charge', a cost and cash improvement initiative which aims to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.5 billion by end of Fiscal Year 2020. The objective of this programme is to identify and implement at speed, short-term gains to improve cost, cash, revenue and profitability. Since the implementation of Project Charge to 30 September 2019, Jaguar Land Rover has managed to achieve total cash savings of GBP2.2 billion (comprising GBP1.3 billion in investment spending, GBP0.4 billion in working capital and GBP0.5 billion in costs and profits).

Jaguar Land Rover has also launched 'Project Accelerate' for systemic, structural improvements to its business through three key workstreams (i) on-time and quality programmes; (ii) deliver competitive material cost and (iii) enhance sales performance.

Enhancing capabilities through the adoption of superior processes

Tata Sons and the entities promoted by Tata Sons, including the Company, aim at improving quality of life through leadership in various sectors of national economic significance. In pursuit of this goal, Tata Sons and the Tata Sons-promoted entities have institutionalised an approach, called the "Tata Business Excellence Model", which has been formulated along the lines of the Malcolm Baldridge National Quality Award to enable the Company to improve performance and attain higher levels of efficiency in its businesses and in discharging its social responsibility. The model aims to nurture core values and concepts embodied in various focus areas such as leadership, strategic planning, customers, markets and human resources, and to translate them to operational performance. The Company's adoption and implementation of this model seeks to ensure that its business is conducted through superior processes.

The Company has deployed a balance score card system for measurement-based management and feedback. The Company has also deployed a new product introduction process for systematic product development and a PLM system for effective product data management across its organisation. On the human resources front, the Company has adopted various processes to enhance the skills and competencies of its employees. The Company has also enhanced its performance management system with appropriate mechanisms to recognise talent and sustain

its leadership base. The Company believes these will enhance its way of doing business, given the dynamic and demanding global business environment.

Expanding customer financing activities

Financing is a critical factor in vehicle purchases and in light of the rising consumer aspirations in India, the Company continues to expand its vehicle financing activities to enhance sales. In addition to improving our competitiveness in customer attraction and retention, the Company believes that expanding the financing business may also contribute toward moderating the impact on its financial results from the cyclical nature of vehicle sales. The Company have teamed up with various public sector, cooperative and Grameen banks to introduce new financing schemes. In particular, Tata Motors Finance Limited ("TMFL") has increased its reach by opening a number of limited services branches in cities classified as tier 2 and tier 3 by the Government of India. TMFL operates through a 'hub and spoke model' and during the Fiscal Year 2019 TMFL operated out of 266 branches. The Company believes that this method has reduced turnaround times and improved customer satisfaction.

Continuing to invest in technology and technical skills

The Company believes that it is one of the most technologically advanced indigenous vehicle manufacturers in India. Over the years, the Company has enhanced its technological strengths through extensive in-house research and development activities. Further, the Company's research and development facilities at its subsidiaries, like TMETC, TDCV, TTL, and Trilix, together with the two advanced engineering and design centres of Jaguar Land Rover, have increased its capabilities in product design and engineering. In the Jaguar Land Rover business, the Company is committed to continue to invest in new technologies to develop products that meet the opportunities of the premium market, including developing sustainable technologies, like electric propulsion, to improve fuel economy and reduce CO_2 emissions and new modular longitudinal architecture. The Company considers technological leadership to be a significant factor in continued success, and therefore intends to continue to devote significant resources to upgrade its technological base.

Maintaining financial strength

The Company's cash flows from operating activities in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 was Rs.301,992.5 million, Rs.238,574.2 million and Rs.188,907.5 million, respectively, and was Rs.(72,079.9 million) and Rs.55,950.1 million for the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. The improved position in the Company's operating cash flows in the first half of Fiscal Year 2020 is primarily due to a better mix at Jaguar Land Rover' business, implementation of cost reduction programs, and prudent working capital management. The Company has established processes for project evaluation and capital investment decisions with an objective to enhance its long-term profitability.

The Company plan to continue to increase capital investment to develop new products in new and existing segments, invest in new powertrains and technologies to meet customer and regulatory requirements, and increase Jaguar Land Rover's manufacturing capacity in the United Kingdom and internationally (i.e. China, Austria and Slovakia).

The Company continues to target funding most of the its capital spending out of operating cash flow. The Company expects that the Company's strong balance sheet, including total cash and cash equivalents and financial deposits of Rs.350,746.7 million as at 30 September 2019, as well as proven access to funding from capital markets and banks, will also support the Company's investment plans as required.

Leveraging brand equity

The Company's Commercial Vehicle initiative, 'Project Neev', provides a growth program for rural India designed to promote self-employment. Local unemployed rural youth have been enrolled and trained to work from home as promoters of the Company's Commercial Vehicles. Project Neev is currently operational in 25 states in India and has engagements in 448 districts. The rural penetration drive initiated through Project Neev has deployed an approximately 9,500-member dedicated team in towns and villages with populations of less than 50,000. Project Neev currently completed its sixth wave of expansion and reorganisation called 'NEEV Overdrive' and the Company intends to expand its operations in all major states across India. This program has been appreciated and recognised in various forums.

In April 2018, the Company conducted the 'National Ultra Launch' where the Company displayed the entire ultra-range with ready-to-use fully-built vehicles. For the intermediate and light truck range, the Company organised 51 ILCV expos showcasing the complete ILCV range from TML, across 17 states with a total of more than 6,000 customers attending. In addition, the Company also organised three e-commerce expos for the e-commerce industry in Gurugram, Bengaluru and Mumbai.

Another initiative through the Company's Commercial Vehicles business is TATA-OK. TATA-OK seeks to promote the Company's Commercial Vehicles by capturing new customer segments (such as economical and used vehicle buyers), promoting the sale of new vehicles through the exchange of used Commercial Vehicles at the Company's dealerships, increasing the resale value of its Commercial Vehicles products, and facilitating deeper customer engagement and thereby promoting brand loyalty.

The Company offers a variety of support products and services for the Company's customers. Tata FleetMan, the Company's telematics and fleet management service, is designed to enable the commercial sector to boost productivity and profitability. With the goal of bringing the most advanced technology in this area to the Company's customers, the Company have entered into a partnership with UK-based Microlise Limited to introduce global standards of telematics and fleet management solutions into the Indian logistics and transport industry, to enhance Tata FleetMan's telematics systems through upgrades of the underlying technology and to develop the next generation of fleet telematics solutions for the Indian transport industry. Original equipment fitment of Tata Fleetman commenced in Fiscal Year 2016 and as of Fiscal Year 2018, the Company has covered the entire MHCV range.

In order to support customers throughout the life of their vehicles, the Company has introduced a range of value-added services under the brand "Sampoorna Seva". The Tata Alert breakdown service promises to respond to the breakdown site within four hours of notification and to return the vehicle to the road within 48 hours, covering some 3 million kilometres of Indian roads. Other key elements include a six-year, 600,000-kilometer warranty on the MHCV range and the Tata Delight loyalty program. This was coupled with the introduction of new services, such as the Tata on-site service and parts support using container workshops. These workshops are an on-site service support system that deploy a container on-site, which houses the repair equipment to carry out most routine maintenance activities for a fleet. In addition, the Company offers on-demand annual maintenance contracts, which provide maintenance solutions to all customers for a wide range of vehicles, including large fleet owners.

The Company believes customers associate the Tata name with reliability, trust and ethical values, and its brand name is gaining significant international recognition due to the international growth strategies of various Tata companies. The Tata brand is used and its benefits are leveraged by Tata companies to their mutual advantage. The Company recognises the need for enhancing its brand recognition in highly competitive markets in which the Company competes with internationally recognised brands. The Company, along with Tata Sons and other Tata companies,

will continue to promote the Tata brand and leverage its use in India, as well as in various international markets where the Company plans to increase its presence. Supported by the "Tata" brand, the Company believes its product brands such as the Tiago, Tigor, Bolt, Zest, Nexon, Hexa, Harrier, Sumo, Safari, Nano, Ace, Magic, Prima, Daewoo, Jaguar, Range Rover and Land Rover are highly regarded, and the Company will continue to nurture and promote them.

Further, both Jaguar and Land Rover brands are globally recognised as premium, class-leading and highly differentiated vehicles within their segments as evidenced by consumer demand, and with sales in 120 and 129 markets, respectively, via independent franchises, national sales companies as well as third-party importers. Founded in 1922, Jaguar has a long tradition of designing and manufacturing premium sports cars and saloons recognised for their design, engineering performance and a distinctive British style. Founded in 1948 (and celebrating its 70 year anniversary in 2018), Land Rover designs and manufactures vehicles known for their off-road capability, strength, durability and refinement. Land Rover's brand identity is built around utility, reliability, refinement, luxury and, above all, its all-terrain capability. Jaguar's heritage of elegant design, innovative engineering and ground-breaking technology has excited and delighted the world for over 80 years, whilst Land Rover is the world's favourite SUV brand.

Business and Operations

The Company's total sales (including international business sales, Jaguar Land Rover sales and excluding sales by the China Joint Venture) are set forth in the table below for the following periods:

		Fiscal Year					Six-mont	hs ende	ed 30 Sept	ember
	2017		2018		2019		2018		2019	
	Units	<u>%</u>	Units	%	Units	<u>%</u>	Units	%	Units	%
Passenger cars	310,171	28.4	291,299	23.9	286,730	22.5	137,742	23.1	107,520	22.7
UVs	385,480	35.3	473,273	38.7	460,056	36.1	194,175	32.6	185,187	39.0
Commercial vehicles	396,097	36.3	456,552	37.4	527,286	41.4	263,224	44.3	181,978	38.3
Total	1,091,748	100.0	1,221,124	100.0	1,274,072	100.0	595,141	100.0	474,685	100.0

The Company sold 1,091,748, 1,221,124 and 1,274,072 units worldwide in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and sold 595,141 and 474,685 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. The sales in Fiscal Year 2019 consist of 761,786 units of Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles and 512,286 units of Jaguar Land Rover vehicles (excluding wholesale to the China Joint Venture), whilst sales in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 consist of 248,508 units of Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles and 226,177 units of Jaguar Land Rover vehicles (excluding wholesale to the China Joint Venture).

In terms of units sold, the Company's largest market is India where it sold 480,915, 616,801 and 693,756 units during Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively (constituting 44.1 per cent., 50.5 per cent., and 54.5 per cent. of total sales in the respective corresponding periods) and sold 336,884 and 230,315 units during six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, respectively (constituting 56.6 per cent. and 48.5 per cent. of total sales in the respective corresponding periods), followed by China where the company sold 125,207 units in Fiscal Year 2017 (constituting 11.5 per cent. of total sales in the respective corresponding periods) and North America where the Company sold 136,447 and 133,237 during Fiscal Year 2018 and 2019, respectively (constituting 11.2 per cent. and 10.5 per cent. of total sales in the respective corresponding periods) and sold 55,824 and 59,166 units during six-months ended 30 September

2018 and 2019, respectively (constituting 9.4 per cent., and 12.5 per cent. of total sales in the respective corresponding periods).

Revenue from the Company's automotive and related activities before intersegment eliminations were Rs.2,726,924.1 million, Rs.2,903,846.4 million and Rs.2,996,556.1 million for Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and were Rs.1,375,037 million and Rs.1,260,163.7 million for the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, respectively and accounted for 99.1 per cent., 98.0 per cent. and 98.3 per cent. of the Company's total revenue for Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and 98.2 per cent. and 98.1 per cent. of the Company's total revenue for the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. Tata and other brand vehicles (including spares and financing thereof) constituted 25.5 per cent. and 21.7 per cent. of the Company's total automotive revenues before inter-segment elimination for Fiscal Year 2019 and the six-months ended 30 September 2019, respectively, while Jaguar Land Rover constituted 74.6 per cent and 78.3 per cent., respectively.

Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles

Performance in Indian Market

According to data released by the Society of Indian Automobile Manufacturers in Fiscal Year 2019, the Indian automotive industry (passenger vehicles and commercial vehicles) recorded a 5.9 per cent. growth in domestic sales as compared to a 10.1 per cent. and 8.2 per cent. growth in Fiscal Year 2018 and 2017, respectively. The passenger vehicle segment grew 2.8 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 (as compared to 7.3 per cent. and 9.6 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 and 2017, respectively) due to continued consumption demand and strong rural growth. The commercial vehicle industry in India registered a 17.1 per cent. growth in Fiscal Year 2019 as compared to 21.7 per cent. and 4.2 per cent. growth in Fiscal Year 2018 and 2017, respectively. The drivers for growth in Fiscal Year 2019 were the implementation of GST, infrastructure growth supported by the GoI, high investments in e-commerce segment driving the demand for last mile transportation requirements, growth in replacement demand and improved financing and resilience in rural demand.

The Company maintained its leading position in the commercial vehicle category in the industry in India, which was characterised by increased competition during the year. The passenger vehicle market also continued to be subject to intense competition. A principal reason for the increase in the volume of sales in India of Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles, is the revival of the demand with the entry of new products and continued economic growth.

Commercial Vehicle industry in India de-grew by 24.3 per cent. in first half of Fiscal Year 2020 and Passenger Vehicle in India de-grew by 23.1 per cent. The Company's Commercial vehicle and Passenger Vehicle growth in the first half of Fiscal Year 2020 was impacted by subdued demand, liquidity stress and low freight availability for cargo operators and general economic slowdown. The Company is focusing on retails acceleration to remain proactive and agile for potential demand pickup.

The following table sets forth the Company's market share in various categories in the Indian market based on wholesale volumes for the following periods:

Civ months

		Fiscal Year		ended 30 September
_	2017	2018	2019	2019
		(pe	rcentages)	
Passenger Vehicles	5.2	5.7	6.3	4.8
Passenger Cars	6.5	6.2	5.9	3.9
UVs ⁽¹⁾	2.0	4.6	7.0	6.1
Commercial Vehicles	44.4	45.1	45.1	42.8
I&LCVs ⁽²⁾	42.4	44.9	45.4	46.3
M&HCVs	55.1	54.3	55.0	56.2
SCVs and pick-ups	37.5	39.6	40.1	37.2
CV passenger vehicles	46.0	45.3	44.0	42,5
Total Four-Wheel Vehicles	12.7	14.1	15.5	13.3

Notes:

Passenger vehicles

Industry-wide sales of passenger vehicles in India increased by 2.8 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019, compared to a 7.3 per cent. and 9.6 per cent. growth in Fiscal Year 2018 and 2017, respectively. Utility vehicles sales also witnessed growth during Fiscal Year 2019 due to continued consumption demand and strong rural growth.

Reflecting the growth in the Indian passenger vehicles sector, the Company's passenger vehicles sales in India were 155,260, 184,743 and 210,500 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, which was an increase of 19.0 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and an increase of 13.9 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018, due to new product offerings introduced by the Company. The Indian Passenger vehicle industry has witnessed a slowdown with the de-growth of 23.1 per cent. in the first half of Fiscal Year 2020 as compared to the first half of Fiscal Year 2019. The Company's volumes de-grew by 41.1 per cent. in the first half of Fiscal Year 2020 as compared to the first half of Fiscal Year 2019 The Company is focused on retail acceleration and system stock reduction.

	Fiscal Year			Six-mont 30 Sep	
	2017	2018	2019	2018	2019
			(units)		
Passenger Vehicles					
Passenger Cars	136,479	134,860	131,035	69,992	32,245
UVs	18,781	49,883	79,465	37,107	30,868
Total Passenger Vehicles	155,260	184,743	210,500	107,099	63,113

⁽¹⁾ UVs market share data includes the market share for Vans V1 category (i.e. Tata Venture) and excludes Vans V2 segment (i.e. Tata Ace Magic).

⁽²⁾ LCVs market share data includes the market shares for Vans V2 category (i.e. Tata Ace Magic) in accordance with SIAM's classification of passenger vehicles. It includes intermediate commercial vehicles for Fiscal Year 2018.

Commercial vehicles

Industry sales of commercial vehicles in India were and 729,360, 887,316 and 1,038,834 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, representing an increase by 21.7 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and an increase by 17.1 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018. Industry sales in the M&HCV segment were 211,198, 247,659 and 274,750 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, representing a growth of 17.3 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and 10.9 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018. The M&HCV industry in India has shown signs of recovery since July 2017. The implementation of GST, restrictions on overloading and infrastructure growth supported by the government has boosted demand. Industry sales of I&LCV reported an increase of 21.7 per cent. to 125,471 units in Fiscal Year 2019, from 103,131 units in Fiscal Year 2018 whilst sales stood at 80,625 units in Fiscal Year 2017. Industry sales of SCVs and pick-ups were 324,090, 421,084 and 515,491 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, representing an increase by 29.9 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and an increase by 22.4 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018. The I&LCV and SCV industry growth is mainly due to high investments in e-commerce segments, which is driving demand for last-mile transportation requirements, growth in replacement demand, improved financing and recovery in rural demand. Industry sales of CV passenger vehicles reported a marginal increase of 6.7 per cent. to 123,122 units in Fiscal Year 2019, from 115,442 units in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to an increase of 1.8 per cent. increase in Fiscal Year 2018, from 113,447 units in Fiscal Year 2017 due to muted demand from state transportation undertakings.

The sales of the Company's commercial vehicles in India outperformed the industry with a growth rate of 23.3 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and 17.2 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018, where sales in India were 324,175, 399,821 and 468,788 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The Company's sales decreased by 29.5 per cent. to 163,694 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 from 232,255 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018. The Commercial vehicle growth was impacted by subdued demand, liquidity stress and low freight availability for cargo operators and general economic slowdown.

	Fiscal Year			Six-months ended 30 September		
	2017	2018	2019	2018	2019	
			(units)			
Commercial Vehicles						
I&LCVs	34,166	46,343	57,015	26,511	21,967	
M&HCVs	116,403	134,455	151,004	77,031	42,621	
SCVs and pick-ups	121,411	166,746	206,655	99,857	77,407	
CV passenger vehicles	52,195	52,277	54,114	28,856	21,699	
Total Commercial Vehicles	324,175	399,821	468,788	232,255	163,694	

Sales and Distribution

The Company's sales and distribution network in India as at 31 March 2019 comprises over 6,600 touch contact points for sales and service for its passenger and commercial vehicle businesses. In line with its growth strategy, the Company formed a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary, TDCL, in March 2008, to act as a dedicated distribution and logistics management company to support the sales and distribution operations of its vehicles in India. The Company believes this has improved the efficiency of its selling and distribution operations and processes. The Company uses a network of service centres on highways and a toll-free customer assistance centre to provide 24-hour road-side assistance (including replacement of parts) to vehicle owners.

TDCL provides distribution and logistics support for vehicles manufactured at the Company's facilities and has set up stocking points at some of its plants and at different places throughout India. TDCL helps the Company to improve planning, inventory management, transport management and timely delivery. The Company has a customer relations management system at all of its dealerships and offices across the country, which supports users both within the Company and among its distributors in India and abroad.

The Company markets its commercial and passenger vehicles in several countries in Africa, the Middle East, South East Asia, South Asia and Latin America, as well as in Australia, Russia and the Commonwealth of Independent States countries. The Company has a network of distributors in all such countries where it exports its vehicles. Such distributors have created a network of dealers and branch offices and facilities for sales and after-sales servicing of the Company's products in their respective markets. The Company has also stationed overseas resident sales and service representatives in various countries to oversee its operations in the respective territories.

Competition

The Company faces competition from various domestic and foreign automotive manufacturers in the Indian automotive market. Improving infrastructure and robust growth prospects compared to other mature markets have attracted a number of international companies to India who have either formed joint ventures with local partners or have established independently owned operations in India. Global competitors bring with them decades of international experience, global scale, advanced technology and significant financial resources, and as a result, competition is likely to further intensify in the future. The Company has designed its products to suit the requirements of the Indian market based on specific customer needs such as safety, driving comfort, fuel efficiency and durability. The Company believes that its vehicles are suited to the general conditions of Indian roads and the local climate. The vehicles have also been designed to comply with applicable environmental regulations currently in effect. The Company also offers a wide range of optional configurations to meet the specific needs of its customers. The Company intends to develop and is developing products to strengthen its product portfolio in order to meet the increasing customer expectation of owning world class products.

Seasonality

Demand for the Company's vehicles in the Indian market is subject to seasonal variations. Demand generally peaks between January and March, although there is a decrease in demand in February just before release of the Gol's fiscal budget. Demand is usually lean from April to July and picks up again in the festival season from September onwards, with a decline in December due to year end.

Exports

The Company is expanding its international business and export operations, which have been ongoing since its inception in 1961. The Company has a global presence in more than 46 countries, including all SAARC countries, South Africa, Africa, Middle East, Southeast Asia and Ukraine. The Company markets a range of products including M&HCV trucks, SCV trucks, buses, pickups and small CVs.

The Company's overall sales in the international markets (on a standalone basis) was 64,221, 52,404 and 53,140 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and was 27,797 and 16,247 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, respectively. Those sales decreased by 18.4 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017, increased by 1.4 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018 and decreased by 41.6 per cent. in the six-months ended 30 September 2019. The Company's top five export destinations for

vehicles manufactured in India were Bangladesh, Nepal, Sri Lanka, Tanzania and Senegal, which accounted for 82 per cent. and 98 per cent. of the exports of commercial vehicles and passenger vehicles, respectively. The Company intends to strengthen its position in the geographic areas it is currently operating in and exploring possibilities of entering new markets with similar market characteristics to the Indian market. The Company received several significant orders in Fiscal Year 2019.

Jaguar Land Rover

Jaguar Land Rover markets and sells vehicles through a global sales and distribution network designed to achieve geographically diversified sales and facilitate growth in key markets, including Europe (excluding the United Kingdom and Russia), North America, the United Kingdom, China and other overseas market (including Brazil and Russia). Over the years, Jaguar Land Rover have expanded its global sales and distribution network and achieved diversification of revenue beyond our historical core markets.

Jaguar Land Rover's success in established markets and strong brand recognition ensure that the Jaguar Land Rover business are well positioned to capture sales growth in emerging markets. The Company believes the growth potential in emerging markets with growing affluent populations will counterbalance the expected lower rate of sales growth in more developed markets and offers significant opportunities to further increase and diversify our sales volumes. Jaguar Land Rover established a manufacturing joint venture in China with Chery which currently manufactures the Range Rover Evoque, the Land Rover Discovery Sport, the long wheel base Jaguar XFL, the long wheel base Jaguar XEL and the Jaguar E-PACE for the local market, to further support growth in China. In India, Jaguar Land Rover opened a national sales company ("NSC") to expand its presence in this key market. Currently, the Jaguar XJ, the Jaguar XF, the Jaguar XE, the Range Rover Evoque and the Land Rover Discovery Sport vehicles are manufactured for local sales at a facility operated by the Company in Pune, India. In June 2016, the production of the Land Rover Discovery Sport and the Range Rover Evoque for local sales commenced at our manufacturing facility in Brazil.

Total wholesales of Jaguar Land Rover vehicles (excluding the China Joint Venture) with a breakdown between Jaguar and Land Rover brand vehicles are set forth in the table below for the following periods:

	Fiscal Year						Six-mont	hs ende	ed 30 Sept	ember
	2017		2018		2019		2018		2019	
	Units	%	Units	%	Units	%	Units	%	Units	%
Jaguar	169,284	31.7	150,484	27.6	153,757	30.3	70,971	31.3	64,611	28.7
Land Rover	365,462	68.3	394,814	72.4	354,138	69.7	155,434	68.7	160,703	71.3
Total	534,746	100.0	545,298	100.0	507,895	100.0	226,405	100.0	225,314	100.0

Jaguar

Jaguar wholesale volumes were 169,284, 150,484 and 153,757 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, reflecting a decrease by 11.1 per cent in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and a 2.2 per cent. increase in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018 as the introduction of the E-Pace and award winning all-electric I-PACE, were partially offset by lower sales volume other more established models, primarily F-PACE and XE. Wholesale volumes were 64,611 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019, down 9.0 per cent. compared to 70,971 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018.

Land Rover

Land Rover wholesale volumes were 365,462, 394,814 and 354,138 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, reflecting an increase by 8.0 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and a 10.3 per cent. decrease in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to units in Fiscal Year 2018 as sales of the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport (including hybrid models) as well as a full year of Range Rover Velar sales were offset by lower volumes of more established models, mainly in China, and the run out of the first-generation Range Rover Evoque in Q3 ahead of the launch of the new Evoque. Wholesale volumes were 160,703 units as at the six-months ended 30 September 2019, up 3.4 per cent. compared to 155,434 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018.

In Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, wholesale volumes of the China Joint Venture were 66,060, 88,212 and 57,428 units, reflecting a 33.5 per cent. increase by in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and a 34.9 per cent. decrease in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018. This is primarily reflecting the challenging market conditions in China. In the six-months ended 30 September 2019, wholesale volumes of the China Joint Venture were 27,725 units, down 22.6 per cent. compared to the 35,807 units in six-months ended 30 September 2018.

In Fiscal Year 2019, wholesale volumes (excluding sales from the China Joint Venture) were up in the United Kingdom (4.1 per cent.), but down in other regions including North America (2.4 per cent.), Europe (6.1 per cent.), China (38.8 per cent.) and overseas markets (5.5 per cent.). The introduction of new and refreshed models led by the Jaguar E-PACE, award winning I-PACE, Range Rover Velar and the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport were offset by lower sales of more established models, mainly in China, and the run-out of the first-generation Range Rover Evoque in the third quarter ahead of the launch of the new Evoque. Jaguar Land Rover has revealed a new Land Rover Defender, the toughest and most capable Land Rover, customer deliveries to begin from spring 2020.

Performance in key geographical markets on retail basis (including China Joint Venture)

	Fiscal Year			Six-months ended 30 September		
	2017	2018	2019	2018	2019	
			(units)			
North America	123,527	129,319	139,778	61,179	60,683	
Jaguar	41,578	40,855	36,768	15,281	14,042	
Land Rover	81,949	88,464	103,010	45,898	46,641	
United Kingdom	124,755	108,759	117,995	56,065	55,241	
Jaguar	39,132	32,078	38,515	18,851	17,901	
Land Rover	85,623	76,681	79,400	37,214	37,340	
Europe	141,043	133,592	127,566	56,589	53,927	
Jaguar	40,332	36,248	49,474	22,034	19,129	
Land Rover	100,711	97,344	78,092	34,555	34,798	
China	125,207	150,116	98,922	55,454	50,547	
Jaguar	29,351	44,705	32,797	18,892	17,030	
Land Rover	95,856	105,411	66,125	36,562	33,517	
Other overseas markets	89,477	92,523	94,734	46,110	37,170	
Jaguar	22,455	20,674	22,644	11,006	8,761	
Land Rover	67,022	71,849	72,090	35,104	28,409	
Total	604,009	614,309	578,915	275,397	257,568	

Retail volumes (including retail sales from the China Joint Venture) in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 were 604,009, 614,309 and 578,915 units, respectively, which was a 1.7 per cent. increase in Fiscal Year 2018 compared to Fiscal Year 2017 and a 5.8 per cent. decrease in Fiscal Year 2019 compared to Fiscal Year 2018 as the introduction of new and refreshed models led by the Jaguar E-PACE, award winning I-PACE, Range Rover Velar and the refreshed Range Rover and Range Rover Sport were offset by lower sales of more established models, mainly in China, and the run-out of the first-generation Range Rover Evoque in the third-quarter ahead of the launch of the new Evoque (now available).

Retail volumes (including retail sales from the China Joint Venture) in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019 were 275,397 and 257,568 units, respectively, which was a 6.5 per cent. decrease in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 compared to the same period last year. Strong growth in Range Rover Evoque, Range Rover Sport, I-Pace offset by de-growth in other models. China recovery started with Q2FY20 growth of 24.3 per cent.

- North America: Economic performance in North America remained generally favourable in Fiscal Year 2019 with solid GDP but industry vehicle sales were slightly lower year-on-year at 0.5 per cent. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 123,527, 129,319 and 139,778 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 where Jaguar Land Rover saw an increase of 4.7 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2018, an increase of 8.1 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2019. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 61,179 and 60,683 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, a decrease of 0.8 per cent. for the six-months ended 30 September 2019.
- United Kingdom: Industry vehicle sales fell 3.7 per cent. in Fiscal Year 2019 in the United Kingdom as diesel vehicle sales declined 25.9 per cent. year-on-year and the Brexit uncertainty continued. With the Brexit deadline extended to the end of January, uncertainty remains over any potential deals. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 124,755, 108,759 and 117,915 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 where Jaguar Land Rover saw a decrease of 12.8 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2018, increase of 8.4 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2019. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 56,065 and 55,241 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, a decrease of 1.5 per cent. for the six-months ended 30 September 2019.
- *Europe*: GDP growth in Europe was mixed in Fiscal Year 2019 and lagged at the end of the year as economic growth in Germany slowed and Italy entered recession. Industry volumes in Europe were down 0.9 per cent. and Jaguar Land Rover retail sales were 141,043, 133,592 and 127,566 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 where Jaguar Land Rover saw a decrease of 5.3 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2018, a decrease of 4.5 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2019 primarily as a result of continuing diesel uncertainty, Brexit and the change to more stringent World Harmonized Light Vehicle Testing Procedure emissions testing regime. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 56,589 and 53,927 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019, a decrease of 4.7 per cent. for the six-months ended 30 September 2019.
- China: Economic growth continued to slow in China during Fiscal Year 2019 as weaker market conditions and trade tension with the U.S. continued. Compounded by uncertainty driven by import duties in July, as a result, industry vehicle sales declined by 8.3 per cent. year-on-year and Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes (including sales from the China Joint Venture) were 125,207, 150,116 and 98,922 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 where Jaguar Land Rover saw an increase of 19.9 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2018, a decrease of 34.1 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2019. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 55,454 and 50,547 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, a decrease of 8.8 per cent. for the six-months ended 30 September 2019. Jaguar Land Rover has started returning to growth in a tough market, with all the key performance indicators (like Retail target achievement, Retailer Return on Sales, Local Registration Rate and Retailer Stock Index) started improving.

• Other overseas markets: Jaguar Land Rover's retail volumes in other overseas markets were 89,477, 92,523 and 94,734 units in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, where Jaguar Land Rover saw an increase of 3.4 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2018, an increase of 2.4 per cent. for Fiscal Year 2019. Jaguar Land Rover retail volumes were 46,110 and 37,170 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, a decrease of 19.4 per cent. for the six-months ended 30 September 2019.

Sales and Distribution

As at 30 September 2019, Jaguar Land Rover distributes its vehicles in 119 markets for Jaguar and 127 markets for Land Rover globally. Sales locations for Jaguar Land Rover vehicles are operated as independent franchises. Jaguar Land Rover is represented in its key markets through national sales companies ("NSCs") as well as third-party importers. Jaguar Land Rover has regional offices in certain select countries that manage customer relationships, vehicle supplies and provide marketing and sales support to their regional importer markets. The remaining importer markets are managed from the United Kingdom.

Jaguar Land Rover products are sold through the Company's dealerships to retail customers. Jaguar Land Rover products are also sold to fleet customers, including daily rental car companies, commercial fleet customers, leasing companies, and governments. As a consequence, Jaguar Land Rover has a diversified customer base, which reduces its independence on any single customer or group of customers.

As at 30 September 2019, Jaguar Land Rover's global sales and distribution network comprised of 23 NSCs, 77 importers, 2 export partners and 2,862 franchise sales retailers (contracts) 1,599 sites (1,303 of which are joint Jaguar and Land Rover dealers).

Competition

Jaguar Land Rover operates in a globally competitive environment and faces competition from established premium and other vehicle manufacturers who aspire to move into the premium performance car and premium SUV markets, some of which are much larger than the Company. Jaguar vehicles compete primarily against other European brands such as Audi, Porsche, BMW and Mercedes Benz as well as the U.S. brand Tesla. Land Rover and Range Rover vehicles compete largely against SUVs from companies such as Audi, BMW, Infiniti, Lexus, Mercedes Benz, Porsche, Volvo and Volkswagen.

Seasonality

Jaguar Land Rover sales volume is impacted by the bi-annual change in age-related registration plates of vehicles in the United Kingdom, where new age-related plate registrations take effect in March and September. This has had an impact on the re-sale value of the vehicles because sales are clustered around the time of the year when the vehicle registration number change occurs. Seasonality in most other markets is driven by introduction of new model year vehicles and derivatives. Furthermore, Western European markets tend to be impacted by summer and winter holidays, and the Chinese market tends to be affected by the Lunar New Year holidays in either January or February, the PRC National Day holiday and the Golden Week holidays in October. The resulting sales profile therefore influences operating results on a quarterly basis.

Other Operations

In addition to the Company's automotive operations, it is also involved in other business activities, including information technology services and machine tools and factory automation solutions. The Company's revenue from other operations before inter-segment eliminations was Rs.31,840.6 million, Rs.32,523.6 million and Rs.36,260.7 million in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 and was Rs.18,165 million and Rs.15,225.1 million in the six-months ended

30 September 2018 and 2019. Revenues from other operations represented 1.2 per cent., 1.1 per cent. and 1.2 per cent. of total revenue before inter-segment eliminations in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019 and represented 1.3 per cent. and 1.2 per cent. of total revenue before inter-segment eliminations for the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019, respectively.

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.

In March 2004, the Company acquired Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd., (now known as Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd. at Gunsan in South Korea. TDCV, one of the Company's subsidiary company, engaged in the design, development and manufacturing of M&HCVs, witnessed a decrease in its overall sales by 24.8 per cent. to 6,672 units in Fiscal Year 2019 from 8,870 units in Fiscal Year 2018, and a decrease by 24.1 per cent. to 2,608 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 from 3437 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018. Its overall sales in Fiscal Year 2017 was 10,317 units. In its domestic market of South Korea, TDCV's sales decreased by 36.3 per cent. from 6,859 units in Fiscal Year 2018 to 4,371 units in Fiscal Year 2019 and decreased by 23.7 per cent. to 1,860 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 from 2,438 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018, primarily due to lower industry volumes and aggressive discounting and marketing strategies of importers. Its domestic sales in Fiscal Year 2017 was 8,795 units.

The combined market share was 29.6 per cent, 26.5 per cent. and 21.1 per cent., in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively and was 21.6 per cent. and 20 per cent. in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. The export market scenario continued to remain challenging in Fiscal Year 2019 due to factors such as local currency depreciation against the U.S. dollar, continuing statutory regulations to reduce imports, the slowdown in Chinese economy impacting commodity exporting countries and increased dealer inventory and impact of U.S. sanction on Iran. However, TDCV could increase its export sales to 2,301 units in Fiscal Year 2019, 14.4 per cent. higher compared to 2,011 units in Fiscal Year 2018 and decreased its export sales by 25.1 per cent. to 748 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2019 from 999 units in the six-months ended 30 September 2018. TDCV' export sales in Fiscal Year 2017 was 1,522 units. TDCV is working on an aggressive turnaround plan to obtain a sustainable profitable growth in the coming years.

Tata Technologies Limited

Tata Technologies Limited is engaged in providing specialised engineering and design services, product lifecycle management and product-centric IT services to leading global manufacturers. TTL's customers are among the world's premier automotive, aerospace and consumer durables manufacturers. As of 30 September 2019, the Company owned 72.28 per cent. of TTL and TTL had 12 subsidiaries and one joint venture.

TML Distribution Company Limited

TDCL, incorporated on 28 March 2018, is the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary engaged in the provision of distribution and logistics support for distribution of the Company's products throughout India. TDCL commenced its operations in Fiscal Year 2009.

Tata Motors Insurance Broking and Advisory Services Limited

Tata Motors Insurance Broking and Advisory Services Limited ("TMIBASL"), the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, is a licensed direct general insurance broker with IRDAI that operates in the Indian market and has plans to branch out globally to seek additional business opportunities. TMIBASL commenced business in Fiscal Year 2008 and provides end-to-end insurance solutions in the retail sector with a focus on the automobile sector. TMIBASL offers services to various OEMs in the passenger vehicle, commercial and construction equipment segments, including to the Company.

Tata Motors Finance Limited

Tata Motors Finance Limited, the Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated on 1 June 2006, with the objective of becoming a preferred financing provider for the Company's dealers' customers by capturing customer spending over the vehicle life-cycle relating to vehicles sold by it. In India, TMFL is registered with the RBI as a systemically important non-deposit taking NBFC and is classified as an asset finance company under the RBI's regulations on NBFCs. In Fiscal Year 2015, TMFL acquired 100 per cent. shareholding of Rajasthan Leasing Private Limited, which subsequently changed its name to Tata Motors Finance Solutions Private Limited and is a NBFC registered with the RBI. On 4 June 2015, Tata Motors Finance Solutions Private Limited was converted into a public limited company, named Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited. TMFSL focuses on the used vehicle financing business. On 31 March 2016, TMFL acquired 100 per cent. shareholding in Sheba, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TML and an NBFC-registered entity with the RBI, as a part of the restructuring and consolidation of financial services companies under TMFL. Pursuant to restructuring arrangements, TMFL transferred its new vehicle finance business to Sheba on 31 January 2017. During Fiscal Year 2018, TMFL changed its name to TMF Holdings Limited ("TMFHL") and Sheba changed its name to TMFL. During Fiscal Year 2019. TMFHL had acquired 26 per cent, of the share capital of Loginomic Tech Solutions Private Limited, a tech-based freight aggregator.

TMFL disbursed Rs.92,976 million, Rs.154,060 million and Rs.219,930 million in vehicle financing in India during Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively, and disbursed Rs.87,530 million and Rs.62,230 million in the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019. During Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, 22 per cent., 25 per cent. and 26 per cent., respectively, of the Company's vehicle sales in India, on a consolidated basis, were made by the dealers through financing arrangements with Company's captive financing subsidiary, while 24 per cent. and 28 per cent. as at the six-months ended 30 September 2018 and 2019 were made by the dealers through financing arrangements with Company's captive financing subsidiary. The Company follows specified internal procedures, including quantitative guidelines, for selection of its finance customers and assist in managing default and repayment risks in its portfolio. The Company originates all contracts through its authorised dealers and direct marketing agents with whom they have agreements with. All of the Company's marketing, sales and collection activities are undertaken through dealers or by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Research and Development

Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles

The Company has over the years committed and will continue to commit significant resources towards its R&D activities. The Company's R&D focuses on developing and acquiring the technology, core competencies and skill sets required for the timely delivery of its envisaged future product portfolio with industry-leading features across its range of commercial vehicles and passenger vehicles. For the passenger vehicles product range, the Company's focus is on design, driver satisfaction and connected car technologies. For the commercial vehicle product range, the Company's focus is on enhancing fuel-efficiency, minimising the total cost of ownership and providing maximum overall value. The Company continues to endeavour to adapt technologies for its product range to meet the requirements of a globally competitive market. The Company also undertaken programs for development of vehicles, which run on alternate fuels such as LPG, CNG, bio-diesel, electric-traction and hydrogen.

The Company's R&D activities involve product development, environmental technologies and vehicle safety. The Company's ERC, established in 1966, is one of the few in-house automotive R&D centres in India recognised by the Gol. The ERC is headquartered at Pune with branches at Jamshedpur and Lucknow in India, Trilix in Italy and TMETC in United Kingdom.

The Company plans to continue its endeavours in the R&D space to develop vehicles with reduced cost, time to market and shorter product life cycles. The Company aims for the timely and successful conclusion of technology projects so as to begin their induction into mainstream products, which will lead to a promising future. The Company's focus is going to be building technology, capability, scale and capacities in R&D to be able to ride the emerging trends. The Company is now focusing more on accelerated testing and validation and are using a lot of digital tools for the simulation process. The Company has charted a massive jump from 181st rank last year to 2nd rank in India's Most Attractive Brands 2018 study carried out by Trust Research Advisory. The Company believes it has been able to stay ahead of the curve and create superior offerings for the customer.

Jaguar Land Rover

Jaguar Land Rover develops and manufactures technologically advanced vehicles to meet the requirements of a globally competitive market. Jaguar Land Rover's R&D operations currently consist of a team of engineers operating within a co-managed Jaguar and Land Rover engineering group, sharing premium technologies, powertrain designs and vehicle architecture. Jaguar Land Rover's vehicles are designed and developed by award-winning design teams, and we are committed to a continuing programme of new product design. Jaguar Land Rover have modern safety test facilities for testing and developing new products. These include a pedestrian safety testing facility, a pendulum impact test facility and a gravity-powered impact rig for occupant protection and vehicle structural development.

Jaguar Land Rover's product design and development centres are equipped with computer-aided design, manufacture and engineering tools, with sophisticated hardware, software and other IT infrastructure to create a digital product development environment and virtual testing and validation, aiming to reduce the product development cycle time and data management. Jaguar Land Rover works with Intel at the Open Software Technology Center in Portland, Oregon in the United States to develop next-generation in-vehicle technologies, helping us enhance our future vehicle infotainment systems and provide incubator space for budding automotive technology entrepreneurs.

Jaguar Land Rover's R&D activities are currently strongly concentrated on creating a sustainable fleet CO₂ emissions profile for 2020 and beyond. In addition to CO₂ and fuel efficiency, all Jaguar Land Rover's powertrains have been developed to meet the world's most stringent air quality emissions regulations such as the EPA Tier 3, the LEV3, China 6b and European Eu6d-Temp under real world driving conditions described by Real Driving Emissions, ("RDE"), Level 1 ("RDE1") and future RDE Level 2 where emissions are limited under random driving conditions on the open road not just under laboratory conditions.

Jaguar Land Rover develops and manufactures technologically advanced vehicles. Jaguar Land Rover's R&D operations are built around state-of-the-art engineering facilities, test tracks, testing centres, design hubs and a virtual innovation centre with a focus in development of autonomous, connected and electrification technologies and shared mobility services, as well as investing in innovative mobility solutions aiming to overcome and address future travel and transport challenges. The Company's ERC in India and Jaguar Land Rover's engineering and development operations in the United Kingdom work to enhance the product development process and achieve economies of scale.

Jaguar Land Rover's two primary design and development centres are equipped with computer-aided design and manufacturing and engineering tools configured to support a product development cycle plan. In recent years, Jaguar Land Rover has refreshed the entire Jaguar range under a unified concept and design language and has continued to enhance the design of Land Rover's range of all-terrain vehicles. The majority of Jaguar Land Rover's products are designed and engineered in the United Kingdom.

Properties, Facilities and Production Capacity

Properties and Facilities

The Company produces vehicles and related components and carry out other businesses through various manufacturing facilities. In addition to its manufacturing facilities, the Company's properties include sales offices and other sales facilities in major cities, repair service facilities and research and development facilities. As of 30 September 2019, the Company owns a substantial proportion of its principal facilities both within India and overseas, while the remaining facilities are on leased premises. The Company has principal facilities located across India, including but not limited to Pune (Pimpri, Chinchwad, Chikhali⁽¹⁾, Maval), Pune (Hinjewadi)⁽¹⁾, Mumbai, Satara, Pune (Ranjangaon), Jamshedpur, Lucknow⁽¹⁾, Bengaluru⁽²⁾, Dharwad, Sanand, Kochi, Delhi, Hyderabad⁽²⁾ and Chennai⁽¹⁾. The Company has principal facilities located outside of India, including but not limited to Singapore, South Korea, Thailand, United Kingdom (including Solihull, Castle Bromwich, Halewood, Gaydon, Whitley and Wolverhampton), Spain, Morocco, South Africa, Indonesia, Austria, Brazil, Slovakia and Italy.

Substantially all of the Company's owned properties are subject to mortgages in favour of secured lenders and debenture trustees for the benefit of secured debenture holders. A significant portion of the Company's property, plants and equipment, except those in the United Kingdom, is pledged as collateral securing indebtedness incurred by the Company. The Company believes that there are no material environmental issues that may affect its utilisation of these assets.

The Company has additional property interests in various locations around the world for limited manufacturing, sales offices, and dealer training and testing. The majority of these are housed within leased premises.

The Company considers all of its principal manufacturing facilities and other significant properties to be in good condition and adequate to meet the needs of its operations.

Production Capacity

The following table shows the Company's production capacity as at 31 March 2019 and production levels by plant and product type in Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019.

	Production Capacity	Production Levels			
	as at 31 March	Fiscal Year			
	2019	2017	2018	2019	
	(in units)		(in units)		
Tata Motors Plants in India ⁽¹⁾					
M&HCVs, LCVs, UVs and passenger cars Jaguar Land Rover ⁽²⁾⁽⁵⁾	1,429,700	529,927	601,695	677,095	
UVs, passenger cars	776,000	620,287	549,891	492,372	
Other subsidiary companies' plants					
(excluding Jaguar Land Rover) ⁽³⁾					
M&HCVs, buses, bus bodies and pick-up trucks	22,000	21,858	21,036	7,657	
Joint operations ⁽⁴⁾ (passenger vehicles)	100,000	12,234	30,655	38,082	

⁽¹⁾ Land at each of these locations is held under an operating lease.

⁽²⁾ Some of the facilities are held under an operating lease and some are owned.

Notes:

- (1) This refers to estimated production capacity on a double-shift basis for all plants (except the Uttarakhand plant for which capacity is on a three-shift basis) for the manufacture of vehicles and replacement parts.
- (2) Production capacity is on a three-shift basis. Includes assembly plant in Brazil and vehicles manufactured under the manufacturing agreement with Magna Steyr in Graz, Austria.
- (3) The plants are located in South Korea, South Africa and Thailand.
- (4) Excludes production of engines/powertrains.
- (5) Includes capacity at the China Joint Venture.

Intellectual Property

The Company creates, owns, and maintains a wide array of intellectual property assets throughout the world that are among its most valuable assets. The Company's intellectual property assets include patents, trademarks, copyrights designs, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights. Patents relate to the Company's innovations and products; trademarks secured relate to its brands and products, copyrights are secured for creative content; and designs are secured for aesthetic features of products/components. The Company proactively and aggressively seeks to protect its intellectual property in India and other countries.

As part of the acquisition of the Jaguar Land Rover business, ownership (or co-ownership, as applicable) of core intellectual property associated with Jaguar Land Rover was transferred to the Company. However, such intellectual property is ultimately owned by Jaguar Land Rover entities. Additionally, perpetual royalty-free licenses to use other essential intellectual property from the relevant third parties have been granted to the Company for use in Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles. Jaguar and Land Rover own registered designs to protect the design of their vehicles in several countries.

In varying degrees, all the Company's intellectual property is important to it. In particular, the Tata, Jaguar, Land Rover and Range Rover brands are integral to the conduct of its business, a loss of which could lead to dilution of its brand image and have a material adverse effect on the Company's business.

During Fiscal Year 2019, the Company filed 86 patent applications and 113 design applications. In respect of applications filed in earlier years, 104 patents have been granted and 37 designs registered. Both filing and grant details include India and international jurisdictions.

Components, Raw Materials and Suppliers

Components and Raw Materials

The principal materials and components required by the Company for use in Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles are: steel sheets (for in-house stampings) and plates; iron and steel castings and forgings; items such as alloy wheels, tires, fuel injection systems, batteries, electrical wiring systems, electronic information systems and displays; interior systems such as seats, cockpits, doors, plastic finishers and plastic functional parts, glass and consumables (paints, oils, thinner, welding consumables, chemicals, adhesives and sealants) and fuels. The Company also requires aggregates such as axles, engines, gear boxes and cams for its vehicles, which are manufactured in-house or by its subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures/operations and strategic suppliers.

The principal materials and components required by the Company for use in its Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles are steel and aluminium in sheet (for in-house stamping) or externally pre-stamped form, aluminium castings and extrusions, iron and steel castings and forgings and items such as alloy wheels, tires, fuel injection systems, batteries, electrical wiring systems, electronic

information systems and displays, leather trimmed interior systems such as seats, cockpits, doors, plastic finishers and plastic functional parts, glass and consumables (paints, oils, thinner, welding consumables, chemicals, adhesives and sealants), rare earth minerals and fuels. The Company also requires certain highly functional components such as axles, engines and gear boxes for its vehicles, which are mainly manufactured by strategic suppliers for use in its Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles.

Initiatives

As part of the Company's strategy to become a value-for-money vehicle manufacturer, the Company has undertaken various initiatives to reduce its fixed and variable costs. In India, the Company started an e-sourcing initiative in 2002, pursuant to which the Company procures some supplies through reverse auctions. The Company also uses external agencies as third-party logistic providers. This has resulted in space and cost savings. The Company's initiatives to leverage information technology in supply chain activities have resulted in improved efficiency through real time information exchange and processing with its suppliers. Jaguar Land Rover has also commenced the production of its own "in-house" four-cylinder diesel and gasoline engines.

Suppliers and Purchase Agreements

The Company has an extensive supply chain for procuring various components. The Company's associate company, Tata AutoComp Systems Ltd., manufactures automotive components and collaborates with international manufacturers into India by setting up joint ventures with them. The Company has initiated a supplier optimisation initiative for Indian domestic suppliers. This initiative will rationalise the current supply base enabling scale cost benefits, improved quality and balance in volume cyclicality. This also improves supplier relationships, giving the Company better access to technologies and support in vehicle development for new programmes. The Company has also entered into long term purchase agreements for some critical components such as transmissions and engines. The Company has established contracts with certain commodity suppliers to cover its own as well as its suppliers' requirements in order to moderate the effect of volatility in commodity prices. The Company has also undertaken special initiatives to reduce material consumption through value engineering and value analysis techniques.

The Jaguar Land Rover business works with its suppliers to meet its requirements for parts and components. The Jaguar Land Rover business has established quality control programs to ensure that externally purchased raw materials and components are monitored and meet its quality standards. Jaguar Land Rover also outsources many of the manufacturing processes and activities to various suppliers. Where this is the case, Jaguar Land Rover provides training to outside suppliers. Jaguar Land Rover also continues to work with its suppliers to optimise procurement.

Suppliers are appraised based on or long-term requirements through a number of platforms such as vendor council meetings, council regional chapter meetings, national vendor meetings and location-specific vendor meetings. The Company also take efforts to assess supplier financial risk.

Capital and Product Development Expenditures

The Company's capital expenditures totalled Rs.317,507.4 million, Rs.426,722.9 million and Rs.366,356.7 million during Fiscal Year 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The Company's capital expenditure during the past three fiscal years related primarily to new product development and capacity expansion for new and existing products to meet market demand as well as investments towards improving quality, reliability and productivity that are each aimed at increasing operational efficiency.

The Company intends to continue to invest in its business units in general, and in research and product development in particular, over the next several years in order to improve its existing product range, develop new products and platforms and to build and expand its portfolio in the passenger vehicle and commercial vehicle categories. The Company believes this would strengthen its position in the Indian automotive market and help the Company to grow its market share internationally.

Insurance Coverage

The Indian insurance industry is predominantly state-owned and insurance tariffs are regulated by the IRDAI. The Company has insurance coverage from insurers of recognised financial standing which it considers reasonably sufficient to cover all normal risks associated with its operations (including business interruptions) and which the Company believes are in accordance with industry standards in India. The Company has obtained coverage for product liability for some of its vehicle models in several countries to which the Company exports vehicles. TDCV has insurance coverage as is required and applicable to cover all normal risks in accordance with industry standards in South Korea, including product liability. In accordance with treasury policy, Jaguar Land Rover has maintained insurance coverage that is reasonably adequate to cover normal risks associated with the operation of its business, such as coverage for people, property and assets, including construction, general, auto and product liability. The Company has also taken insurance coverage on Directors and Officers liability to minimise risks associated with international litigations for the Company and its subsidiaries.

All such insurances are in full force and effect. The Company is able to renew its existing insurance coverage, as and when such policies expire or to obtain comparable coverage from similar institutions as may be necessary or appropriate to conduct its business, as now conducted.

Employees

The Company employed approximately 82,797 and 81,090 permanent employees as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The average number of flexible (temporary, trainee and contractual) employees for Fiscal Year 2019, was approximately 31,647 (including joint operations) compared to 38,017 in Fiscal Year 2018.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of persons employed by the Company's business segments and by geographic location as of 31 March 2019.

Segment	As at 31 March 2019 No. of employees
Automotive	73,394
Other	9,403
Total	82,797
Location	As at Fiscal Year 2019 No. of employees
Location India	710 411 10041 1041 =010
	No. of employees

Training and Development

The Company is committed to the development of the Company's employees to strengthen their functional, managerial and leadership capabilities. The Company has a focused approach with the objective of addressing all capability gaps and preparing the Company's employees to adapt to fast changing external environment in order to meet the Company's strategic objectives. To achieve this, the Company has established the Tata Motors Academy, which addresses development needs of various segments of the Company's workforce through a structured approach. As an integral part of the Tata Motors Academy, the Company's learning advisory council, which includes senior leaders from different parts of organisation, aims to align its learning and development efforts, more closely with its business needs and priorities. In addition, Jaguar Land Rover nurtures and retain talent through the Jaguar Land Rover Academy, an environment offering accredited learning for the employees at every stage of their career.

Environmental Matters

Tata Commercial Vehicles and Tata Passenger Vehicles

As with other participants in the automobile industry around the world, the Company is exposed to regulatory risks related to climate change. The design and development of fuel-efficient vehicles and vehicles running on alternative renewable energy have become a priority as a result of fossil fuel scarcity escalating price and growing awareness about energy efficiency among customers.

The Company has implemented its climate change policy which addresses key climate change issues related to products, processes and services. The Company is committed to reduction of greenhouse gases emissions throughout the lifecycle of the Company's products. The Company's sustainability strategy is aligned with global and national policies of future mobility solutions. Accordingly, the Company is working extensively on low carbon product development across its commercial vehicle and passenger vehicle segments. The Company already launched a range of advanced technology vehicles, which would not only help mitigation of climate change risk, but also curb rising urban air pollution. The Company is actively involved in partnerships with technology providers to embrace energy efficient technologies not only for products but also for processes and are also participating actively in various national committees in India, which are working on formulating policies and regulations for improvement of the environment, including through the reduction of greenhouse gases.

The Company is continually developing products to meet the current and future emission standards in India and other countries. In order to manage regulatory and general risks of climate change, the Company is increasingly investing the design and development of new advanced technologies. With the growing need for fuel-efficiency and reduction in road emission for vehicles, innovative technologies are needed to support the changing scenario and achieving targets. The Company is evaluating several xEV options through different technologies as part of its long-term strategy. The technologies vary from mild hybrids in one segment to a fuel cell in others, which the Company has demonstrated in Auto Expo from time to time. The Company has developed a range of electric vehicles, such as the IRIS EV, Magic EV, 12m Urban Electric Bus, Tiago EV and Tigor EV, along with E-Vision concept electric vehicle, which the Company showcased at Geneva International Motor show in March 2018.

The Company has made substantial investments in the area of wind and solar power to increase its renewable energy capacity. The Company has signed power purchase agreements with renewable energy producers. In addition to renewable energy, the Company has taken several energy conservation initiatives, which helped it in reducing its greenhouse gas emissions. Besides energy and carbon, the Company is working on zero waste to landfill/incineration through the 'Value from Hazardous Waste' initiative. The 'Zero Liquid Discharge' is another initiative directed to recycle/reuse treated effluent so as to reduce water consumption. All of the Company's manufacturing facilities in India are certified for ISO-14001.

Jaguar Land Rover

The Jaguar Land Rover's production facilities are subject to a wide range of environmental, health and safety requirements. These requirements address, among other things, air emissions, wastewater discharges, accidental releases into the environment, human exposure to hazardous materials, the storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of wastes and hazardous materials, the investigation and clean-up of contamination, process safety and the maintenance of safe conditions in the workplace. Many of the Jaguar Land Rover's operations require permits and controls to monitor or prevent pollution. The Jaguar Land Rover has incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures to ensure compliance with current and future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or their more stringent enforcement.

The Jaguar Land Rover's business and manufacturing process results in the emission of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide. Jaguar Land Rover has a climate change agreement in the United Kingdom, which covers Jaguar Land Rover's three vehicle manufacturing plants and one of the Jaguar Land Rover's special operations facilities. This requires the Jaguar Land Rover to deliver a 15 per cent. reduction in energy use per vehicle by 2020 compared to the 2008 baseline.

Jaguar Land Rover is also registered as a participant in the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme (the "CRC Scheme"), which regulates emissions from electricity and gas use in its non-vehicle manufacturing activities in the United Kingdom. Jaguar Land Rover purchased carbon allowances under this scheme for the first time in 2015 and in each year thereafter, most recently in Fiscal Year 2019 in respect of the 2017-18 scheme year. Changes to the energy taxation regime in the United Kingdom saw the removal of the CRC Scheme from the end of the 2018-2019 scheme year. Her Majesty's Treasury advised that any changes to the energy tax regime would need to be cost neutral and consequently, Jaguar Land Rover will see an increase in climate change levy paid on the energy the Jaguar Land Rover consumes in lieu of the removal of CRC in Fiscal Year 2019-2020. Jaguar Land Rover will purchase the remaining carbon allowances required under the CRC Scheme by October 2019.

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company faces claims and assertions by various parties. The Company assesses such claims and assertions and monitors the legal environment on an ongoing basis, with the assistance of external legal counsel where appropriate. The Company records a liability for any claims where a potential loss is probable and capable of being estimated and discloses such matters in its financial statements, if material. For potential losses which are considered reasonably possible, but not probable, the Company provides disclosure in the financial statements, but does not record a liability in its financial statements unless the loss becomes probable. Should any new developments arise, such as a change in law or rulings against the Company, the Company may need to make provisions in its financial statements, which could adversely impact its reported financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, if significant claims are determined against the Company and the Company is required to pay all or a portion of the disputed amounts, there could be a material adverse effect on its business and profitability. Certain claims that are above Rs.200 million are set out in Note 39 of the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Certain claims that are below Rs.200 million pertain to indirect taxes, labour and other civil cases. Other claims against the Company pertain to motor accidents in India involving vehicles that were damaged in accidents while being transferred from the Company's manufacturing plants to regional sales offices, product liability claims and consumer complaints. Some of these other claims relate to the replacement of vehicles parts and/or compensation for deficiencies in services provided by the Company or its dealers.

Capital investments underway as of 31 March 2014, included the investment of Rs.3,098.8 million to build an automobile manufacturing facility at Singur in West Bengal for Nano project. In October 2008, the Company moved the Nano project from Singur in West Bengal to Sanand in Gujarat. In June 2011, the newly elected Government of West Bengal (the "West Bengal Government") enacted a law known as the Singur Land Rehabilitation & Development Act, 2011 and, by virtue of the provisions of abovementioned law, the West Bengal Government took possession of land. In response, the Company challenged the law's constitutionality, where in June 2012, the Calcutta High Court declared the law unconstitutional and restored the Company's rights under the land lease agreement. The West Bengal Government subsequently filed an appeal in the Supreme Court of India in August 2012.

As of the date of this Offering Circular, the appeal remains ongoing, and the timeline for its resolution is uncertain and the result is uncertain. In Fiscal Year 2015, the Company's management made a provision for carrying the capital cost of buildings at Singur amounting to Rs.3,098.8 million, excluding other assets (such as electrical installations) and expenses written off/provided in earlier years, security expenses, lease rent and claim for interest on the whole amount (including Rs.3,098.8 million).

There are two main issues in the case, namely: (i) the West Bengal Government's acquisition of the land from the original landowners (ii) and the leasing of the acquired land by the West Bengal Government to the Company. In January 2008, the Calcutta High Court upheld the West Bengal Government's acquisition of the land for the purpose of leasing it to the Company to set up the plant for manufacturing Tata Nano vehicles. The losing parties appealed the Calcutta High Court's judgment to the Supreme Court of India. In August 2016, the Supreme Court of India declared the acquisition of the land for the project by the West Bengal Government illegal and directed that the land be returned to the landowners. Because the Supreme Court of India held that the land acquisition was illegal, the West Bengal Government's subsequent appeal regarding the Singur Act's constitutionality before the Supreme Court of India was rendered moot and withdrawn. The Supreme Court of India's decision also rendered the West Bengal Government's lease of the land to the Company unviable. However, the lease agreement contained a clause stating that, if the acquisition was deemed illegal, the West Bengal Government would indemnify the Company for the capital cost it had incurred on the site. The lease agreement also provided for arbitration as a mechanism to resolve any dispute between the Company and the West Bengal Government.

When the Company raised its claim for compensation for indemnification for capital and other costs, the West Bengal Government declined to grant the same. The Company sought arbitration pursuant to the lease agreement in order to resolve the dispute. After arbitration commenced, the Company filed its claim for compensation before the arbitral tribunal comprising two retired judges from the Calcutta High Court and presided over by a retired judge from the Supreme Court of India. The arbitration proceedings before the arbitral tribunal commenced in May 2019 and the proceeding remains ongoing as of the date of this Offering Circular.

The CCI initiated an inquiry against the Company and other car manufacturers (collectively, the "Indian OEMs") pursuant to allegations that the Indian OEMs engaged in anticompetitive conduct by not making genuine spare parts of automobiles manufactured by the Indian OEMs freely available in the open market in India. In an order dated 25 August 2014, the CCI held that the Indian OEMs had violated the provisions of Sections 3 and 4 of the Competition Act, 2002, and imposed a penalty of 2 per cent. of the average total revenues for three years. Subsequently, the Company and other Indian OEM's filed a writ petition before the Delhi High Court challenging the constitutionality of Sections 22(3) and 27(b) of the Indian Competition Act, under which the order was passed and the penalty imposed.

In April 2019, the Delhi High Court directed the petitioners to approach the National Company Law Appellate Tribunal ("NCLAT") for further deliberation on the merits. The Company has filed a special leave petition before the Supreme Court of India challenging the Delhi High Court's order, which was admitted by the Supreme Court of India. The Supreme Court of India has also continued the stay on recovery of the penalty imposed by the CCI. Further hearings on the matter are expected to be held later in the year.

A SEBI Order, dated 6 March 2018, directed the Company to conduct an internal inquiry within three months into the leakage of information relating to its financial results for the quarter ended December 2015 and to take appropriate actions against those responsible. The Company hired Ernst & Young LLP to conduct an internal investigation. The report was submitted to SEBI on 11 June 2018. There has been no further communication from SEBI.

The Company, consequent to an order of the Supreme Court of India in the case of *R.C Gupta and Ors. Vs Regional Provident Fund Commissioner, Employees Provident Fund Organization and Ors*, evaluated the impact on its employee pension scheme and concluded that this is not applicable to the Company based on external legal opinion and hence it is not probable that there will be an outflow of resources. The Company filed an intervention application with the Supreme Court of India on April 2019.

REGULATIONS AND POLICIES IN INDIA

Regulations on Automobile in India

Automotive Mission Plan, 2016-2026

The automotive mission plan 2016-2026 (the "AMP 2026") is the collective vision of the GoI and the Indian automotive industry, in which the goal is for the vehicles, auto components, and tractor industries to reach certain size benchmarks over the next ten years and also contribute to India's development, global footprint, technological maturity, competitiveness, and institutional structure and capabilities. AMP 2026 also seeks to define the trajectory of specific regulations and policies that govern research, design, technology, testing, manufacturing, imports/exports, sales, use, repair, and scrapping of automotive vehicles, components and services.

The vision statement of AMP 2026 – "Vision 3/12/65" – states: "By 2026, the Indian automotive industry will be among the top three of the world in engineering, manufacture and export of vehicles and auto components, and will encompass safe, efficient and environment friendly conditions for affordable mobility of people and transportation of goods in India comparable with global standards, growing in value to over 12 per cent. of India's GDP, and generating an additional 65 million jobs".

AMP 2026 envisages that the GoI and the Indian automotive industry will work together to strengthen India's position in the global automotive industry. AMP 2026 is intended to help the Indian automotive industry to focus on its strengths and improve its competitiveness in select segments, achieve the annual production target of Rs.1,616,000 crores to Rs.1,889,500 crores in terms of its size, and establish its "Right to Win" on the global stage.

The Auto Policy, 2002

The auto policy was introduced by the Department of Heavy Industry, Ministry of Heavy Industries and Public Enterprises of the Government of India in March 2002, with the aims, among other things, of promoting a globally competitive automotive industry that would emerge as a global source for automotive components, establishing an international hub for manufacturing small, affordable Passenger Cars, ensuring a balanced transition to open trade at a minimal risk to the Indian economy and local industry, encouraging modernization of the industry and facilitating indigenous design, research and development, as well as developing domestic safety and environment standards on par with international standards.

The Government of India has also released the draft National Auto Policy, 2018 for holistic development of automobile sector in India. The key policy guidelines proposed by the draft National Auto Policy, 2018, among other things, include rollout of a comprehensive long-term (10 year) roadmap that will define the emission standards applicable after Bharat Stage VI with a target of harmonizing with the most stringent global standards by 2028, CAFE standards by 2025, introduction of a composite length and emissions based criterion for vehicle taxation, harmonization of key standards and testing methods and evaluation of accession to the UNECE WP.29 1958 agreement within the next five years, harmonization of AIS and BIS standards for safety critical auto components over next three years and defining long-term roadmap for incentives and infrastructure investments for green mobility. Further, the draft National Auto Policy, 2018 suggests set up of a 'Technology Acquisition Fund' to acquire technologies through licensing agreements, joint ventures or acquisitions, tax exemption on different levels of research and development expenditure, and lower import duties on capital goods, equipment and machinery for manufacture of new technology components.

Auto Fuel Vision & Policy 2025

The Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas constituted an expert committee under the Chairmanship of Shri Saumitra Chaudhuri, Member Planning Commission on 19 December 2012. Its objective was to recommend auto fuel quality applicable through model year 2025. The committee in its draft report has recommended Bharat Stage IV compliant fuel across the country by 2017 and Bharat Stage V compliant fuel with 10ppm of sulphur will be made available from 2020 onwards. The draft report proposes nationwide Bharat Stage V emission norms for new four-wheelers from model year 2020 and for all 4 wheelers from model year 2021. It also recommends Bharat Stage VI emissions norms from 2024 onwards. In May 2014, the expert committee submitted its recommendations to the Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas, which proposed the implementation of emission standards one year earlier than the expert committee's recommendations, which would result in the implementation of Bharat Stage V emission standards starting in model year 2019 and Bharat Stage VI emissions standards starting in model year 2023. However, in January 2016, the Gol decided to implement the Bharat Stage VI emission standards even earlier by skipping Bharat Stage V emission standards. As such, the Bharat Stage VI standards will be made applicable from 1 April 2020 to all categories of vehicles across India. This two-stage migration is going to be a huge challenge from developmental and capex investment perspectives.

Faster Adoption and Manufacturing of Hybrid & Electric Vehicles ("FAME") Scheme

The Gol announced the FAME scheme in March 2015. This scheme, in furtherance of the National Electric Mobility Mission Plan ("**NEMMP**"), is intended to support plug-in hybrid electronic vehicles or xEV, market development and its manufacturing network to achieve self-sustenance by focusing on four areas: technology development, demand creation, pilot projects, and public charging infrastructure. FAME envisions collaboration between the government, industry and academia to develop and promote the xEV market in India.

Central Motors Vehicles Rules, 1989

Chapter V of the Central Motor Vehicle Rules, 1989 (the "CMV Rules") sets out provisions relating to the construction, equipment and maintenance of motor vehicles, including specifications for dimensions, gears, indicators, reflectors, lights, horns, safety belts and others. The CMV Rules govern emission standards for vehicles operating on CNG, gasoline, liquefied petroleum gas and diesel.

On and from the date of commencement of the CMV (Amendment) Rules, 1993, every manufacturer must submit the prototype of every vehicle to be manufactured by it for testing by the Vehicle Research and Development Establishment of the Ministry of Defense of the GoI, the Automotive Research Association of India, Pune, the Central Farm Machinery Testing and Training Institute, Budni (MP), the Indian Institute of Petroleum, Dehradun, the Central Institute of Road Transport, Pune, the International Centre for Automotive Technology, Manesar the Global Automotive research Centre, Chennai, the National Automotive Test Tracks (NATRAX), Indore or such other agencies as may be specified by the central government for granting a certificate by that agency as to the compliance of provisions of the Motor Vehicles Act, and the CMV Rules.

The CMV rules also require the manufacturers to comply with notifications in the Official Gazette, issued by the GoI to use such parts, components or assemblies in the manufacture of certain vehicles according to standards specified by either the Automotive Industry Standards Committee or the Bureau of Indian Standards.

Emission and Safety in India

The GoI, starting in April 2017, mandated Bharat Stage IV standards, which are equivalent to Euro IV standards, for all vehicles across India. All categories of the Company's vehicles currently manufactured are compliant with Bharat Stage IV standards. Bharat Stage VI standards will be applicable across the country starting 1 April 2020.

The Supreme Court of India in its judgement, dated 24 October 2018, directed that no motor vehicle conforming to the emission standards of Bharat Stage IV shall be sold or registered in the entire country with effect from 1 April 2020. Hence, the Company's product plan, migration, manufacturing and product launches are being synchronised to fulfil these requirements.

CAFE standards for M1 category vehicles

The CAFE standards are applicable to M1 category vehicles from April 2017. As a result, the Company is required to demonstrate CAFE compliance for its passenger vehicles, commercial vehicles and electronic vehicle M1 models. The Company has successfully complied with the Phase 1 CAFE requirements for Fiscal Year 2017 and Fiscal Year 2018. Through the use of the CAFE calculator, the Company regularly monitors production volumes and process to ensure that organisational level CAFE compliance (which involves the Company producing enough fuel-efficient models to compensate for those models having higher CO2 emissions in g/km) is established at all times during the year. Any non-compliance could lead to penalties, product recalls and/or other punitive measures. To support the Company's compliance obligations, the Company's overall product portfolio needs to be enhanced with the incorporation of electric and hybrid vehicles as well as the inclusion of environmental-friendly technological features in existing and forthcoming models.

Heavy Duty Fuel-Efficiency Norms

The Ministry of Power issued the notification for Heavy Duty Fuel-Efficiency Norms for Diesel Vehicles of categories M3 and N3 with GVW of 12 tonne and above. Every vehicle of the specified categories must meet fuel-efficiency targets mentioned in notifications based on constant speed fuel consumption tests conducted at 40 km/h and 60 km/h. Phase 1 is applicable starting 1 April 2018 for vehicles complying with Bharat Stage IV emission standards and Phase 2 will be applicable from 1 April 2021 for vehicles complying with Bharat Stage VI emission standards. However, the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways ("MoRTH"), which is the nodal agency for implementation of Heavy Duty Fuel Efficiency Norms, has not yet notified constant speed fuel consumption standards in the CMV Rules.

Crash and other safety requirements for Motor Vehicles

We believe that India has a well-established regulatory framework administered by the MoRTH. Recently, the GoI has embarked on a wide-ranging program to institute standardised safety features for a variety of motor vehicles. Crash safety requirements, such as full frontal, offset frontal and lateral impact, have been made mandatory for all new models starting 1 October 2017 and from 1 October 2019 for all existing models of vehicle categories as specified in the individual standards. A pedestrian compliance program has been instituted for all new models from 1 October 2018 and for all existing models from 1 October 2020. Passenger vehicles will require additional safety features such as driver airbag, safety belt reminders for driver and co-driver, reverse parking alert system, speed alert system and manual override for central locking system from 1 July 2019 onwards. Furthermore, the provisioning of child lock systems have been prohibited in M1 transport category vehicles from 1 July 2019.

Anti-lock braking system ("**ABS**") has been mandated for all M1 and M2 category passenger vehicles starting from 1 April 2018 and 1 April 2019, for new models and existing models, respectively. The Gol has also mandated advanced braking requirements for all motor vehicles which would become applicable progressively from 2021 onwards.

To facilitate informed consumer decision-making, the GoI is in the process of formulating the Bharat New Vehicle Safety Assessment Programme, a star-rating based system of safety assessment for passenger vehicles.

Fitment of vehicle location tracking system and emergency buttons have been mandated for national permit vehicles from 2 November 2018 and for all passenger public service vehicles from 1 January 2019.

Additionally, the MoRTH has also mandated the compliance with the Truck Body Code for all N2, N3 category vehicles in two phases (Phase I and Phase II) from 1 October 2018 and 1 October 2019, respectively. The MoRTH has issued the notification incorporating compliance with advanced requirements for fully-built buses manufactured on and after 1 April 2019 supplied by original equipment body builders. This calls for compliance to requirements such as acceleration, noise, vibration and harshness limits, multiplexing for wiring harness and fitment of fire detection and suppression systems. The reverse parking alert system for all buses and trucks including SCVs has been mandated from 1 April 2020. Many revised standards are now being mandated for various component and system level requirements such as fuel tanks, mirrors, light signalling devices, steering gears and effort, retro reflective devices in Fiscal Year 2019 and Fiscal Year 2020. Additionally, the MoRTH has mandated the fitment of high security registration plates by the vehicle manufacturer and dealers on all motor vehicles manufactured on or after 1 April 2019.

India is a signatory to the 1998 UNECE Agreement on Global Technical Regulations and has voted in favour of all 11 global technical regulations ("GTRs"). The Company works closely with the Gol to participate in WP 29 World Forum Harmonization activities.

The Motor Vehicles (Amendment) Act, 2019 ("MVAA 2019") addresses vehicle recalls, road safety, traffic management and accident insurance, among other matters. The MVAA 2019 provides for civil and criminal liability on manufacturers selling vehicles in contravention of the standards specified in the MVAA 2019 or required by the GoI to recall their vehicles. Further, the MVAA 2019 provides for the creation of the National Road Safety Board to provide advice to the central and state governments on all aspects of road safety and traffic management. The provisions of the MVAA 2019 are being notified in a phased manner and may vary from State to State.

The Company is working towards meeting all applicable regulations which it believes are likely to come into effect in various markets in the near future. The Company believes its vehicles also comply with the various safety regulations in effect in the other international markets where it currently operates.

Environmental Regulations

The Company's manufacturing units must ensure compliance with various environmental legislation. Significant legislation for the Company's business include the Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974, the Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981, the Environment (Protection) Act, 1986 and the Hazardous and Other Wastes (Management and Transboundary Movement) Rules, 2016. The basic purpose of these statutes is to control, abate and prevent pollution. In order to achieve these objectives, PCBs, which are vested with diverse powers to deal with water and air pollution, have been set up in each state. The PCBs are responsible for setting the standards for maintenance of clean air and water, directing the installation of pollution control devices in industries and undertaking inspection to ensure that units or plants are functioning in compliance with the standards prescribed. These authorities also have the power of search, seizure and investigation.

All of the Company's manufacturing plants are either in possession of current and valid consents to operate, and hazardous waste authorisations or are in the process of renewing the same from the respective PCBs of the states where they operate. In 2016, the Ministry of Environment, Forests & Climate Change ("MoEFCC") under the GoI re-vamped several national level legislations governing waste management such as the Plastic Waste Management Rules, 2016, the Bio-Medical Waste ("BMW") Management Rules, 2016, E-waste Management Rules, 2016, and the Construction and Demolition ("C&D") Waste Management Rules, 2016. All the Company's plants have analysed these new regulations for its applicability and aligned their compliance practices accordingly.

The MoEFCC (under the GoI) receives proposals for expansion, modernisation and establishment of projects and assess the impact of such projects on the environment, before it grants environmental clearances for the proposed projects under the Environmental Impact Assessment Notification and Rules. All of the Company's manufacturing plants have obtained environmental clearances for specific projects in the past as and when mandated.

The Company ensures that all prescribed standards are followed for management of waste and the Company has made significant investments toward pollution control and environmental protection at its manufacturing plants.

The Gol intends to regulate end-of-life vehicles ("**ELVs**"), which would be applicable to passenger cars and two-wheelers. The authorised collection and dismantling centres ("**ACDCs**") would be equipped to handle commercial vehicles as well. The purpose of the ELV policy is to remove vehicles that are endangering the environment and public safety.

Recently, the Central Pollution Control Board has formulated the draft guidelines for environmentally sound management of ELVs for implementation on the principle of shared responsibility that mandates the specific roles for the stakeholders in the electric vehicle value chain which includes government authorities, manufacturers, recyclers, dealers/intermediaries, insurers and consumers.

Regulation of Imports and Exports

Quantitative restrictions on imports into India were removed with effect from 1 April 2001, pursuant to India's World Trade Organization obligations, and imports of capital goods and automotive components were placed under the open general license category.

Automobiles and automotive components may, generally, be imported into India without a license from the GoI subject to their meeting Indian standards and regulations, as specified by designated testing agencies. As a general matter, cars, UVs and SUVs in CBU condition may be imported at 60 per cent. basic customs duty. However, cars with cost, insurance and freight value of more than U.S.\$40,000 or with engine capacities more than 3000 cubic centimetres for petrol variants and 2500 cubic centimetres for diesel variants or with both, may be imported at a 100 per cent. basic customs duty. The Basic Customs Duty rate as on 30 September 2019 on Commercial Vehicles (trucks) imported in completely built up unit is 30 per cent. and if trucks are imported in CKD condition (engine or gear box or transmission in pre-assembled form but not mounted on a chassis or a body assembly) then Basic Customers Duty rate is 25 per cent. For imported components of vehicles, the Basic Customs Duty rate ranges from 7.5 to 15 per cent.

The MoRTH issued the notification regarding the acceptance of international standards (such as the United Nation Economic Commission for Europe (the "ECE") or Japanese) for direct import of CKD units without any need of domestic type approval by amending provisions of CMV Rules 92 and 126. Under the modified rules, the compliance of a part, component or assembly shall be deemed to be established for the purpose of CMV Rules 124 and 126. Furthermore, vehicle manufacturers can import unused right-hand drive CBUs or CKDs directly or through their authorised representative, up to 2500 units of M1 and up to 500 units of other categories of vehicles annually, compliant with the international standard (the ECE or Japanese) without any need for domestic CMV Rules Type Approval for Sales and Registration.

The FDI Policy

Automatic approval for foreign equity investments up to 100 per cent. is allowed in the automobile manufacturing sector under the FDI Policy.

Indian Taxes

For further information on Indian taxation, see "Taxation" section of this Offering Circular.

Goods and Services Tax

The introduction of the GST from 1 July 2017 was a very significant step in the field of indirect tax reforms in India. By subsuming a large number of central and state taxes into a single tax, the aim was to mitigate cascading or double taxation and pave the way for a common national market.

The salient features of GST are:

- Applicable on "supply" of goods or services as against the earlier concept of tax on manufacture of goods or on sale of goods or on provision of services.
- Based on the principle of destination-based consumption taxation as against the present principle of origin-based taxation.
- Dual GST with the central and the states simultaneously levying it on a common base.
- Replaced the taxes earlier levied and collected by the central, namely: (a) central excise duty, (b) duties of excise (medicinal and toilet preparations), (c) additional duties of excise (goods of special importance), (d) additional duties of excise (textiles and textile products), (e) additional duties of customs (commonly known as CVD), (f) special additional duty of customs, (g) service tax, (h) cesses and surcharges insofar as they relate to supply of goods or services.
- State taxes that were subsumed within the GST are (a) state VAT, (b) the CST, (c) purchase tax, (d) luxury tax, (e) entry tax (all forms), (f) entertainment tax (except those levied by the local bodies), (g) taxes on advertisements, (h) taxes on lotteries, betting and gambling, (i) state cesses and surcharges insofar as they relate to supply of goods or services.

The GST rates together with the GST compensation cess rates applicable to vehicles as of 30 September 2019 are listed below:

Commodity	GST Rate	GST Compensation Cess Rate
Commodity	- GST hate	——————————————————————————————————————
Small cars (diesel)	28 per cent.	3 per cent.
Small cars (gasoline)	28 per cent.	1 per cent.
Motor vehicles for transport of 10 to 13 persons		
(including the driver)	28 per cent.	15 per cent.
Motor vehicles for more than 13 persons	28 per cent.	_
Chassis fitted with engine for more than 13 persons	28 per cent.	_
Chassis fitted with engine for trucks	28 per cent.	_
Safari, SUVs and UVs	28 per cent.	22 per cent.
Car – motor vehicle of engine capacity not exceeding		
1500 cc	28 per cent.	17 per cent.
Motor vehicle of engine capacity exceeding 1500 cc and		
other than SUV	28 per cent.	20 per cent.
Truck	28 per cent.	_

Environmental, Fiscal and Other Overseas Governmental Regulations

The Company's Jaguar Land Rover business has significant operations in the United Kingdom, North America, Europe, China and other markets that have stringent and ever evolving regulations relating to vehicle emissions. Compliance with the proposed tightening of vehicle emissions regulations by the European Union may entail significant costs. Although Jaguar Land Rover is pursuing various technologies to meet the different environmental standards, the costs of compliance can be significant to its operations and may adversely and materially impact its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Article 50 of the Treaty of Lisbon was triggered on 29 March 2017 to start the process for the United Kingdom to leave the European Union. The general election on 8 June 2017, concluded in a hung parliament and resulted in the Conservatives forming a coalition government with the Democratic Unionist Party of Northern Ireland. The formation of a coalition government adds to the uncertainty emanating from the circumstances surrounding Brexit. This uncertainty has weighed on the economic performance of the United Kingdom with recent higher inflation leading to a rise of 0.25 per cent. in the base interest rate adding further pressure to economic growth. In addition, a rise in UK vehicle tax in April 2017 as well as higher taxes levied on diesel vehicles have adversely impacted automotive industry sales.

Greenhouse gas/CO2/fuel economy legislation

Current legislation in Europe limits the passenger car fleet average greenhouse gas emissions to 130 grams of CO_2 per kilometre for 100 per cent. of new cars from 2015. Different targets apply to each manufacturer based on their respective fleets of vehicles and average weight. Jaguar Land Rover has received a permitted derogation from the weight-based target requirement available to small volume and niche manufacturers. As a result, Jaguar Land Rover is permitted to reduce emissions by 25 per cent. from 2007 levels rather than meeting a specific CO_2 emissions target. Jaguar Land Rover had an overall target in 2015 of an average of 178.0 grams of CO_2 per kilometre for its full fleet of vehicles registered in the EU that year, with Jaguar Land Rover and Tata Motors Group monitored as a single "pooled" entity for compliance with this target (for Jaguar Land Rover alone, this number is 179.8 grams per kilometre). In the European Environment Agency report "Monitoring of CO_2 emission from Passenger Cars – Data 2016 – Final data", the Company's fleet delivered 150 grams of CO_2 per kilometre, well below the mandated target.

The European Union has regulated target reductions for 95 per cent. of a manufacturer's full fleet of new Passenger Cars registered in the European Union in 2020 to average 95 grams of $\rm CO_2$ per kilometre, rising to 100 per cent. in 2021. The new rule for 2020 contains an extension of the niche manufacturers' derogation and permits us to reduce the Company's emissions by 45 per cent. from 2007 levels, which enables Jaguar Land Rover to have an overall target of 132 grams of $\rm CO_2$ per kilometre.

In the United States, both CAFE standards and greenhouse gas emissions standards are imposed on manufacturers of passenger cars and light trucks. The NHTSA has set the federal CAFE standards for Passenger Car and light trucks to meet an estimated combined average fuel economy level of 35.5 miles per U.S. gallon for 2016 model year vehicles. Meanwhile, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the "EPA") and the NHTSA issued a joint rule to reduce the average greenhouse gas emissions from passenger car, light trucks and medium-duty passenger vehicles for model years 2012 to 2026 to 250 grams of CO₂ per mile, approximately 6.63 litre/100 km or 35.5 miles per U.S. gallon if the requirements were met only through fuel economy standards. The U.S. federal government extended this program to cars and light trucks for model years 2017 through 2025, targeting an estimated combined average emissions level of 243 grams of CO₂ per mile in 2017 and 163 grams per mile in 2025, which is equivalent to 54.5 miles per gallon if achieved exclusively through fuel economy standards. However, in August

2018, the EPA and the NHTSA issued a Notice of Proposed Rule Making to amend CAFE and greenhouse gas targets for 2021 to 2026 model year inclusive under the new "Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient" standards program directed by the Trump administration. Among many proposals was the relaxation of targets as well as other detail changes. Jaguar Land Rover responded to the 60-day comment period and the formal response to comments from the EPA and the NHTSA are expected during April 2019. In addition, many other markets either have or will shortly define similar greenhouse gas emissions standards, including Brazil, Canada, China, the European Free Trade Association, India, Japan, Mexico, Saudi Arabia, South Korea, Switzerland and Taiwan.

Although California is currently empowered to implement more stringent greenhouse gas emissions standards, it has, so far, elected to accept the existing U.S. federal standards for compliance with the state's own requirements. The California Air Resources Board enacted regulations that deem manufacturers of vehicles for model years 2012 through 2016 that were in compliance with the EPA greenhouse gas emissions regulations to also be in compliance with California's greenhouse gas emission regulations. In November 2012, the California Air Resources Board accepted the federal standard for vehicles with model years 2017 to 2025 for compliance with the state's own greenhouse gas emission regulations. The "Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient" standards program looks to revoke California's waiver to implement its own greenhouse gas standards in favour of a single national standard with no state by state waiver or opt out.

However, California is moving forward with other stringent emission regulations for vehicles, including the zero-emission vehicle regulation (the "ZEV"), which requires manufacturers to increase their sales of ZEVs year-on-year, up to an industry average of 22 per cent. of vehicles sold in the state by 2025. The precise sales required in order to meet a manufacturer's obligation in any given model year depend on the size of the manufacturer and the level of technology sold (for example, transitional zero emission technologies, such as PHEVs, can account for at least a proportion of a manufacturer's obligation, but these technologies earn compliance credits at a different rate from pure ZEVs). Other compliance mechanisms are available under ZEV, such as banking and trading of credits generated through the sale of eligible vehicles. The Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient" standards program looks to revoke California's waiver to implement its own ZEV regulation and the subsequent adoption by other states under the EPA Clean Air Act Section 177. The Company understands various existing "Section 177 States" have declared their intentions to challenge the "Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient" standards program in court. As such, once the EPA and the NHTSA announce their program expected in April 2019, the Company expects there be a long a complex litigation process to ensue before final standards are agreed or enacted.

Jaguar Land Rover is fully committed to meeting these current, as yet unmodified standards and any ensuing standards, technology deployment plans incorporated into cycle plans are directed at achieving these standards. These plans include the use of lightweight materials, including aluminium, which will contribute to overall lighter vehicles, thereby improving fuel-efficiency, reducing parasitic losses through the driveline and improvements in aerodynamics. The plans also include the development and installation of smaller and more efficient engines in existing Jaguar Land Rover vehicles and other drivetrain efficiency improvements, including the use of eight-speed or nine-speed transmissions in some of Jaquar Land Rover's vehicles. Jaquar Land Rover continues to introduce smaller vehicles such as the Jaguar XE, its most fuel-efficient Jaguar yet and to continue lightening new models as demonstrated with the aluminium construction of the all-new Discovery Sport. The technology deployment plans also include the research, development and deployment of hybrid-electric vehicles. These technology deployment plans require significant investment. Local excise tax initiatives are a key consideration in ensuring Jaguar Land Rover products meet customer needs for environmental footprint and cost of ownership concerns as well as continued access to major city centres (such as London and Paris' Ultra Low Emission Zones and similar low emissions areas being contemplated in other major urban centres).

Non-greenhouse gas emissions legislation

The European Union has adopted Euro 6, the latest in a series of more stringent standards for emissions of other air pollutants from passenger vehicles and LCVs, such as nitrogen oxide, carbon monoxide, hydrocarbons and particulates. Euro 6 incorporates the introduction of real driving emissions ("RDE"), as a complement to laboratory testing to measure compliance. As a first step, manufacturers will be required to reduce the discrepancy between laboratory compliance values and RDE procedure values to a conformity factor of a maximum of 2.1 (110 per cent.) for new models by September 2017 for passenger cars and by September 2018 for LCVs. Following that, manufacturers will be required to reduce this discrepancy to a conformity factor of a maximum of 1.43 (43 per cent.) by January 2020 for new models of passenger cars and by January 2021 for new models of LCVs. On 13 December 2018, the European Court of Justice declared that the European Commission had no power to amend the oxides of nitrogen limits under Euro 6 RDE tests by applying correction factors with the correction/conformity factors amount to amending the limits. Furthermore, even if technical constraints justified the approach taken, the approach taken made it impossible to know whether the Euro 6 standard is complied with during the tests. The cities of Paris, Brussels and Madrid brought an action for annulment of the not-to-exceed emission limits for oxides of nitrogen under the Euro 6 standard's RDE tests. These limits were applied to the limits in the standard in order to take account of statistical and technical uncertainties in the RDE tests. Hungary has declared its plans to appeal the ruling.

Starting in 2017, there was a move to the new WLTP in Europe to address global concerns on more customer-correlated fuel economy certified levels as well as air quality concerns. It is expected that other countries will follow suit and introduce similar requirements. All programs are fully compliant.

In California, the low-emission vehicle ("**LEV3**") regulations as well as the ZEV regulations place ever-stricter limits on emissions of particulates, nitrogen oxides, hydrocarbons, organics and greenhouse gases from passenger cars and light trucks. These regulations require ever-increasing levels of technology in engine control systems, on-board diagnostics and after treatment systems affecting the base costs of the Company's powertrains. California's LEV3 and ZEV regulations cover model years 2015 to 2025. Additional stringency of evaporative emissions also requires more-advanced materials and joints solutions to eliminate fuel evaporative losses, all for much longer warranty periods (up to 150,000 miles in the United States).

In addition, in April 2014, the Tier 3 Motor Vehicle Emission and Fuel Standards issued by the EPA ("**Tier 3**") were finalised. With Tier 3, the EPA has established more stringent vehicle emissions standards broadly aligned to the LEV3 standards for 2017 to 2025 model year vehicles. The EPA made minor amendments to these Tier 3 standards in January 2015.

While Europe and the United States lead the implementation of these emissions programs, other nations and states typically follow on with adoption of similar regulations two to four years thereafter. For example, China's Stage IV targets a national average fuel consumption of 5.0 L/100 km by 2021. In response to severe air quality issues in Beijing and other major Chinese cities, the Chinese government has adopted more stringent emissions standards beginning in 2019.

To comply with the current and future environmental standards, the Company may have to incur substantial capital and research and development expenditures to upgrade products and manufacturing facilities, which would have a material and adverse impact on the Company's cost of production and results of operations.

Noise legislation

The European Commission adopted new rules, which apply to new homologations from July 2016, to reduce noise produced by cars, vans, buses, coaches and light and heavy trucks. Noise limit values would be lowered in two steps of each two A-weighted decibels for vehicles other than trucks, and one A-weighted decibel in the first step and two in the second step for trucks. Compliance would be achieved over a ten-year period from the introduction of the first phase.

Vehicle safety legislation

Jaguar Land Rover's products are certified in all markets in which they are sold and compliance is achieved through vehicle certification in respective countries. Many countries use, and in many instances adopted into their own regulatory frameworks, the regulations and technical requirements provided through the ECE series of vehicle regulations.

Vehicles sold in Europe are subject to vehicle safety regulations established by both the European Union and by individual member states, if any. In 2009, the European Union enacted a new regulation to establish a simplified framework for vehicle safety, repealing more than 50 existing directives and replacing them with a single regulation aimed at incorporating relevant United Nations standards. Following the incorporation of the United Nations standards commenced in 2012, the European Commission requires new model cars to have electronic stability control systems and has introduced regulations relating to low-rolling resistance tires, tire pressure monitoring systems and requirements for heavy vehicles to have advanced emergency braking systems and lane departure warning systems. The new safety requirements came into force from November 2014 for all new vehicles sold in the EU market. The new mandatory measures include safety belt reminders, electric car safety requirements, easier child seat anchorages, tire pressure monitoring systems and gear shift indicators.

The NHTSA issues federal motor vehicle safety standards covering a wide range of vehicle components and systems such as airbags, seatbelts, brakes, windshields, tires, steering columns, displays, lights, door locks, side impact protection and fuel systems. Jaguar Land Rover is required to test new vehicles and equipment and assure their compliance with these standards before selling them in the United States. It is also required to recall vehicles found to have defects that present an unreasonable risk to safety or which do not conform to the required Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards, and to repair them without charge to the owner. The financial cost and impact on consumer confidence of such recalls can be significant depending on the repair required and the number of vehicles affected. The Company has no investigations relating to alleged safety defects or potential compliance issues pending before the NHTSA.

These standards add to the cost and complexity of designing and producing vehicles and equipment. In recent years, the NHTSA has mandated, among other things:

- a system for collecting information relating to vehicle performance and customer complaints, as well as data from foreign recalls to assist in the early identification of potential vehicle defects as required by the Transportation Recall Enhancement, Accountability, and Documentation Act; and
- enhanced requirements for frontal and side impact, including a lateral pole impact.

Furthermore, the Cameron Gulbransen Kids Transportation Safety Act of 2007 requires the NHTSA to enact regulations related to rearward visibility and brake-to-shift interlock, and to consider regulating the automatic reversal functions on power windows. The costs to meet these proposed regulatory requirements may be significant.

As of 27 July 2018, Jaguar Land Rover has one issue under investigation by the NHTSA. The investigation concerns a defective condition in the electronically-controlled door latch system while certain vehicles were in motion. Jaguar Land Rover is co-operating fully with the NHTSA and has submitted its response to the NHTSA.

While vehicle safety regulations in Canada are similar to those in the United States, many other countries have requirements different from those in the United States. The differing requirements among various countries create complexity and increase costs such that the development and production of a common product that meets the country regulatory requirements of all countries is not possible. Gran tourismo racers ("GTRs") developed under the auspices of the United Nations, continue to have an increasing impact on automotive safety activities, as indicated by the European Union legislation. In 2008, GTRs on electronic stability control, head restraints and pedestrian protection were each adopted by the United Nations World Forum for the Harmonisation of Vehicle Regulations and are now in different stages of national implementation. While global harmonisation is fundamentally supported by the automobile industry in order to reduce complexity, national implementation may still introduce subtle differences into the system.

Export Promotion Capital Goods

Since Fiscal 1997, the Company has benefited from participation in the Export Promotion Capital Goods Scheme (the "EPCG Scheme") which permits it to import capital equipment under a special licence at a substantially reduced customs duty. The Company's participation in this scheme is subject to the Company fulfilling an obligation to export goods manufactured or produced by the use of capital equipment imported under the EPCG Scheme to the value of a multiple of the cost plus insurance and freight value of these imports or customs duty saved over a period of 6, 8 and 12 years from the date of obtaining the special licence. As at 31 March 2019, the Company holds 32 licences which require it to export its products of a value of approximately Rs.39.93 billion (U.S.\$0.56 billion) between the years 2016 to 2025, and the Company carefully monitors its progress in meeting its incremental milestones. After fulfilling some of the export obligations as per the provisions of Foreign Trade Policy, as on 31 March 2019, the Company, on a consolidated basis, has remaining obligations to export products of a value of approximately Rs.21.20 billion (U.S.\$0.30 billion) by March 2025. In the event that the export obligation under the EPCG Scheme is not fulfilled, the Company would have to pay the differential between the reduced and normal duty on the goods imported along with interest. In view of the Company's past record of exceeding its export milestones, and its current plans with respect to its export markets, the Company does not currently foresee any impediments to meeting its export obligation in the required time frame.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Board of Directors

Pursuant to the Company's Articles, the number of its directors cannot be less than three or more than fifteen directors. At present, the Company's board of directors (the "**Board**") comprises of nine directors.

The Company's Articles provides that the board of directors of Tata Steel has the right to nominate one director to the Board. As of 30 September 2019, Tata Steel owns 0.0034 per cent. of the Company's Ordinary Shares and does not own any 'A' Ordinary Shares. In addition, the Company's Articles also provides that: (a) debenture holders of the Company have the right to nominate one director (being a "Debenture Director"), if the trust deeds relating to outstanding debentures require the holders to nominate a director; and (b) financial institutions in India, have the right to nominate two directors (being a "Financial Institutions Director") to the Board pursuant to the terms of the loan agreements. As of the date of this Offering Circular, there are no Debenture Directors or Financial Institutions Directors on the Board and there are no relevant debentures or loan agreements outstanding that would empower financial institutions in India to nominate directors to the Board. The Company's directors are not required to hold any of its Shares by way of qualification.

Brief Profile of the Directors and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Natarajan Chandrasekaran, Chairman

Mr. Chandrasekaran was appointed as a non-executive board chairman and director of the Company with effect from 17 January 2016. Mr. Chandrasekaran was appointed as a director on the board of India's central bank, the Reserve Bank of India, in 2016. Currently, he is also the Chairman of the board of Tata Sons Private Limited, the holding company and promoter of more than 100 Tata operating companies. Mr. Chandrasekaran is also the Chairman of the Society and Board of Governor of the Indian Institute of Management - Lucknow, a member on the Court of the Indian Institute of Science - Bangalore, International Advisory Council of the Bocconi University - Milan and on the International Advisory Board of the Singapore Economic Development Board. Mr. Chandrasekaran attended the Regional Engineering College, Trichy, Tamil Nadu, where he completed a master's degree in Computer Applications before joining TCS in 1986. Mr. Chandrasekaran business leadership has been recognised by several corporate and community organisations, and he has received numerous awards, including Business Leader of the Year at the ET Awards for Corporate Excellence 2016; CNBC TV 18 - 'Indian Business Icon' 2014; CNN-IBN Indian of the Year 2014 (business category); 'Best CEO' for 2013 and 2014 by Business Today; and 'Best CEO' 2010-15 Institutional Investor's Annual All-Asia Executive Team rankings.

Mr. Om Prakash Bhatt, Independent Director

Mr. Bhatt was appointed as an independent director of the Company with effect from 9 May 2017. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Bhatt was the Chairman of State Bank Group from 1 July 2006 to 31 March 2011, which includes State Bank of India, India's largest commercial bank; five associate banks in India; five overseas banks; SBI Life, the country's largest private life insurer; SBI Capital Markets, India's leading investment bank; SBI Fund Management; and other subsidiaries spanning diverse activities; from general insurance to custodial services. Under his leadership, SBI rose on the global list rankings of Fortune 500. Mr. Bhatt also previously served as Chairman of Indian Banks' Association, the apex body of Indian banks and was appointed as the government's nominee on the India-U.S. CEO Forum, Indo-French CEO Forum and Indo-Russia CEO Forum, forging links with a cross section of the world's business leaders. Mr. Bhatt is a graduate in Science and a post graduate in English Literature (Gold Medalist).

Ms. Hanne Sorensen, Independent Director

Ms. Sorensen was appointed as an independent director of the Company with effect from 3 January 2018. Ms. Sorensen is presently on the board of directors and committees thereof of Delhivery Private Limited, LafargeHolcim Limited, Ferrovial S.A., Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc, Tata Consultancy Services Limited and Sulzer Limited. During the period between 1994 and 2016, she was engaged in various roles within the A.P. Moller – Maersk A/S Group in Denmark, a conglomerate comprising of eight main companies, primarily specialising in the energy and transportation segment, amongst others as the CEO of Damco, the Hague, Netherlands, a supply chain management company specialising in retail, lifestyle, FMCG, technology and chemicals from 2014 to 2016, as the CEO of Maersk Tankers, Copenhagen, from 2012 to 2013; and as the Senior VP and Chief Commercial Officer of Maersk Line, Copenhagen, from 2008 to 2012. Ms. Sorensen is a Danish national and holds an MSc in Economics and Management from the University of Aarhus.

Ms. Vedika Bhandarkar, Independent Director

Ms. Bhandarkar was appointed as an independent director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2019. Ms. Bhandarkar is also a board member of the Jai Vakeel Foundation, an institution focused on children and adults with intellectual disability. She also serves as a part time member of the Banks Board Bureau. Ms. Bhandarkar brings more than 25 years of experience, building teams and businesses with Indian and international financial institutions. Before joining the Company, she has been engaged as a senior leader in India with Water.org a not-for-profit organisation, overseeing the organisation's strategy, growth and water and sanitation program expansion in the country. She was also Vice Chairman and Managing Director at Credit Suisse Securities (India) Private Limited from 2010 to 2015, and also a part of the seven-member Credit Suisse, Asia Investment Banking Department Operating Committee and the Global IBD Management Committee. From 1998 to 2010, she served as the Managing Director and Head of Investment Banking at J.P. Morgan in India. She began her career with ICICI Bank in 1989 where she worked at ISec, a joint venture between ICICI and J.P. Morgan. She holds an MBA from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad and B.Sc from the MS University.

Dr Ralf Speth, Non-Executive Director and Non-Independent Director

Dr Speth was appointed as a non-executive director and non-independent director of the Company with effect from 10 November 2010. Dr Speth was appointed as CEO at Jaguar Land Rover on 18 February 2010. He is on the board of directors of Jaguar Land Rover Automobile PLC, UK. Prior to joining the Company, Dr Speth had previously served with BMW for 20 years where he joined Ford Motor Company's Premier Automotive Group as Director of Production, Quality and Product Planning thereafter. Dr Speth earned a degree in Engineering from Rosenheim University, Germany and holds a Doctorate in Mechanical Engineering and Business Administration from Warwick University.

Mr. Guenter Butschek, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Mr. Butschek was appointed as the Company's CEO and Managing Director with effect from 15 February 2016. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Butschek served as the Chief Operating Officer of the Airbus Group and was also a member of the Group Executive Committee of the Airbus Group. Mr. Butschek had also previously served at Daimler AG, where he gained more than 25 years of experience in international automotive management and held positions in various departments, including productions, industrialisation and procurement. Mr. Butschek graduated from the University of Cooperative Education Stuttgart, Germany with a degree in business administration and economics.

Mr. P. B. Balaji, Chief Finance Officer

Mr. Balaji was appointed as the Company's CFO with effect from 14 November 2017. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Balaji was the Vice President, Finance for Unilever America, Supply Chain, based out of Switzerland, responsible for financial aspects of that supply chain. Mr. Balaji was also previously the Group Chief Accountant of Unilever worldwide based in London, Mr. Balaji was also previously has served as the Vice President, Finance for the Home and Personal Care business in India, served as the Vice President, Treasury for the AAR region based out of Singapore and was also the Executive Director Finance & IT and CFO of Hindustan Unilever Limited and a member of its Stakeholders' Relationship, Corporate Social Responsibility and Risk Management Committees. Mr. Balaji joined Hindustan Unilever Limited's Management Trainee programme in May 1993 and has worked in number of roles in finance and supply chain over a period of 20 years. Mr. Balaji holds a Bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from IIT Chennai and has a PGDM from IIM Kolkata.

Shareholding of Directors and Chief Financial Officer

As of 30 September 2019, the Company's directors and senior management, in their sole and joint names, beneficially held an aggregate of 20,000 Ordinary Shares (approximately 0.0007 per cent. of the Company's issued share capital) and did not hold any 'A' Ordinary Shares of the Company.

The following table provides information about the Company's directors and executive officers as at 30 September 2019:

Name	Position	Date of birth	Year appointed as Director, executive officer or CFO	Expiration of term	Ordinary Shares beneficially owned as of 30 September 2019 ⁽¹⁾	'A' Ordinary Shares beneficially owned as of 30 September 2019 ⁽¹⁾
Mr. N. Chandrasekaran ⁽²⁾	Non-Executive Chairman	2 June 1963	2017	2033	-	-
Mr. O.P. Bhatt	Independent Director	7 March 1951	2017	2022	_	_
Mr. Hanne Sorensen	Independent Director	18 September 1965	2018	2023	_	_
Mr. Vedika Bhandarkar ⁽³⁾	Independent Director	19 December 1967	2019	2024	_	_
Mr. Ralf Speth	Non-Executive	9 September 1955	2010	2020	_	_
Mr. Guenter Butschek	CEO and Managing Director	21 October 1960	2016	2021	-	-
Mr. P. B. Balaji	CFO	9 September 1969	2017	2034	20,000	-

Notes:

⁽¹⁾ Each of the company's directors and executive officers beneficially owned less than 1 per cent. of the Company's shares as of 30 September 2019.

⁽²⁾ Subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election by the members at the annual general meeting of the Company in 2019, pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act.

⁽³⁾ Appointed as a non-executive independent director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2019.

Board Practices

The Board is comprised of six directors as of the date of this offering circular, which is commensurate with the Company's size and consistent with the board sizes of other companies in the industry. The Board consists of executive, non-executive and independent directors. Appointments of new directors are recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee for consideration by the full Board and the Company's shareholders at each year's annual general meeting.

The roles of the Chairman and the CEO and Managing Director are distinct and separate with appropriate powers being delegated to the Managing Director to perform the day to day activities of managing the Company. In the Group, there are two CEOs, namely (i) the CEO and Managing Director of the Company, whose scope includes managing the Group, but excluding the Jaguar Land Rover Group and (ii) the CEO of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc, who is also a non-executive director of the Company and whose scope covers managing Jaguar Land Rover. The respective boards of the Company and Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc have delegated day-to-day running of the group to the two CEO's within certain limits, above which matters must be escalated to the board for determination.

The Board, along with its committees, provides leadership and guidance to the Company's management, in particular with respect to corporate governance, business strategies and growth plans, the identification of risks and their mitigation strategies, entry into new businesses, product launches, demand fulfilment and capital expenditure requirements, and the review of the Company's plans and targets.

The Board has delegated powers to its committees through written/stated specific written and stated terms of reference and scope and oversees the functioning operations of the committees through various circulars and minutes. The committees operate as empowered agents of the Board in accordance with their respective charter and/or terms of reference.

Board Effectiveness Evaluation

Pursuant to provisions of the Companies Act and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (the "Listing Regulations"), the Board is required to carry out an annual evaluation of its own performance, the performance of its committees and individual directors, as well as an evaluation of the independent directors by the entire Board, in the absence of independent directors, of their performance and fulfilment of the independence criteria prescribed under the Companies Act and the Listing Regulations. The performance of the Board and individual directors is evaluated by the Board and involves input from all the directors. The performance of the committees is evaluated by the Board and involves input from committee members.

The criteria for the performance evaluation of the Board included factors such as directors' composition and structure and the effectiveness of the Board's processes, information flow and functioning. The criteria for performance evaluation of the committees included factors such as the composition of the committees and the effectiveness of committee meetings. The criteria for performance evaluation of the individual Directors included factors such as the Director's contribution to the Board and committee meetings including preparation on the issues to be discussed, meaningful and constructive contribution and input during meetings. In addition, the chairperson was evaluated on the key aspects of his role.

The Company also conducted familiarisation programs for Independent Directors in order to apprise the Directors about their roles, rights and responsibilities in the Company, the nature of the industry in which it operates, the Company's business model and related matters.

The Board also undertakes the Company's subsidiaries' oversight functions through review of their performance against their set targets, advises them on growth plans and, where necessary, gives strategic guidelines. While the Company's subsidiaries have their respective boards of directors, and their management is responsible for their performance, the Board oversees the performance of the Company's subsidiaries on a quarterly basis in order to exercise oversight over the performance and functioning of its subsidiaries. At a specific annual meeting of the Company's audit committee, the chief executive officers and the chief financial officers of the Company's subsidiaries make presentations on significant issues in audit, internal control and risk management in the Company's subsidiaries. At least one independent director of the Company is also a director on the board of directors of the Company's unlisted material subsidiaries. The Audit Committee also reviews the financial statements, especially the investments made by the unlisted subsidiaries. The meeting minutes of the Company's subsidiaries are also placed before the Company's Board, with attention drawn to significant transactions and arrangements entered into by the Company's subsidiaries.

Committees

The Audit Committee

The audit committee (the "Audit Committee") is comprised of three non-executive independent directors: Ms. Vedika Bhandarkar (as Chairman), Mr. O. P. Bhatt and Ms. Hanne Sorensen. The Audit Committee functions according to its charter that defines its composition, authority, responsibility and reporting functions in accordance with the Companies Act and the applicable laws and regulations and is reviewed from time to time. Provided below is a brief summary of the responsibilities of the Audit Committee:

- reviewing, with the management, the quarterly/annual financial statements before submission to the Board;
- reviewing, with the management, the Company's external auditors and internal auditors, identifying weakness or deficiencies and recommending improvements to the management;
- recommending the appointment/removal of the statutory auditor, cost auditor, fixing audit
 fees, name of audit firm and approving non-audit/consulting services provided by the
 statutory auditors' firms to the Company and its subsidiaries; evaluating auditors'
 performance, qualifications, experience, and independence and pending proceedings
 relating to professional misconduct, if any;
- reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, including the structure of the internal audit department, staffing and seniority of the chief internal auditor, coverage and frequency of internal audit, appointment, removal, performance and terms of remuneration of the chief internal auditor;
- reviewing the findings of any internal investigation by the internal auditor into matters involving suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to the Board;
- reviewing the functionality of the vigilance mechanism under the Company's whistle blower policy;
- reviewing the financial statements and investments made by subsidiary companies and subsidiary oversight relating to areas such as adequacy of the internal audit structure and function of the subsidiaries, their status of audit plan and its execution, key internal audit observations, risk management and the control environment;

- reviewing the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and;
- approving and reviewing policies in relation to the implementation of the Group's Code of Conduct to note the dealings by designated persons in securities of the Company and to provide directions on any penal action to be initiated, in case of any violation of the Group's Code of Conduct.

The Audit Committee has also adopted policies for the approval of services to be rendered by the Company's independent statutory auditors, based on a procedure for ensuring such auditor's independence and objectivity, as well as for the oversight of audit work for streamlining the audit process across the Company's subsidiaries. The chief internal auditor reports to the Audit Committee to ensure independence of the internal audit processes.

The Audit Committee relies on the expertise and knowledge of the management, the internal auditors and the independent statutory auditor in carrying out its oversight responsibilities. It also uses external expertise, if required. The management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of the Company's financial statements, including consolidated statements, accounting and financial reporting principles. The management is also responsible for internal control over financial reporting, and all procedures are designed to ensure compliance with accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations, as well as to objectively review and evaluate the adequacy, effectiveness and quality of the Company's system of internal control.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The nomination and remuneration committee (the "Nomination and Remuneration Committee") is comprised of two non-executive independent directors, Mr. O. P. Bhatt (Chairman) and Ms. Hanne Sorensen and one non-executive director, Mr. N. Chandrasekaran.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee functions according to its charter, which defines its objective, composition, meeting requirements, authority, power, responsibilities and reporting and evaluation functions in accordance with the Companies Act. The following is a summary of the principal terms of reference of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

- making recommendations to the Board regarding the establishment and composition of the Board and its committees including the formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a Director;
- reviewing, periodically, the composition of the Board with the objective of achieving an optimum balance of size, skills, independence, knowledge, age, gender and experience;
- devising a policy on Board diversity;
- recommending to the Board the appointment and reappointment or removal of Directors, in accordance with the criteria laid down, including Independent Directors on the basis of reports on the performance evaluation of the Independent Directors;
- recommending the Board the appointment of key management personnel (within the meaning of the Companies Act) as the CEO, CFO, company secretary and senior management of the Company;
- carrying out an evaluation of every Director's performance and supporting the Board and Independent Directors in evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and individual Directors;

- overseeing the performance review process for key management personnel and the senior management of the Company, with a view that there is an appropriate cascading of Company's goals and targets, and on annual basis, reviewing the performance of the Directors, key management personnel and senior management and recommending their remuneration;
- recommending the remuneration policy for Directors, key management personnel, the senior management of the Company and other employees;
- overseeing the Company's human resources philosophy, human resources strategy and the efficacy of human resources practices, including those for leadership development, rewards and recognition, talent management and succession planning (specifically for the Board, key management personnel and executive team of the Company); and
- implementing and administering any employee stock option scheme(s) approved by the Board, establishing, amending or rescinding any rules and regulations relating to the scheme(s), and make any other determinations that it deems necessary or desirable in connection with the scheme(s).

Stakeholders Relationship Committee

Pursuant to the Companies Act, the Company's Investors' Grievance Committee was renamed as the Stakeholders' Relationship Committee with effect from 8 November 2013. The Stakeholders' Relationship Committee currently comprises of two non-executive independent directors, Ms. Vedika Bhandarkar (Chairperson) and Ms. Hanne Sorensen, as well as the CEO and Managing Director, Mr. Guenter Butschek, and functions in accordance with the Companies Act. The principal functions of the Stakeholders' Relationship Committee are as follow:

- resolving grievances of security holders of the Company, including complaints related to transfer or transmission of shares, non-receipt of annual report, non-receipt of declared dividends, issuance of new or duplicate certificates and general meetings;
- reviewing measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights by shareholders;
- reviewing adherence to the service standards adopted by the Company in respect of various services being rendered by registrar and transfer agent;
- reviewing various measures and initiatives taken by the Company for reducing the quantum
 of unclaimed dividends and ensuring timely receipt of dividend warrants, annual reports,
 statutory notices by the shareholders of the Company;
- overseeing statutory compliance relating to all securities including dividend payments and transfer of unclaimed amounts to the Company's investor education and protection fund;
- conducting a shareholder's satisfaction survey to ascertain the level of satisfaction amongst shareholders; and
- suggesting and driving implementation of various investor-friendly initiatives.

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

The corporate social responsibility committee (the "Corporate Social Responsibility Committee") was reconstituted on 8 November 2013 in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, comprising of two non-executive independent directors, Mr. O.P. Bhatt (Chairman) and Ms. Vedika Bhandarkar and the CEO and Managing Director, Mr. Guenter Butschek. Following are the terms of reference of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee:

- formulate and recommend to the Board a corporate social responsibility policy which shall indicate the activities to be undertaken by the Company as required under the Companies Act:
- recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the Company's corporate social responsibility activities; and
- monitor the Company's corporate social responsibility policy from time to time.

Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee (the "**Risk Management Committee**") is comprised of one non-executive independent director, the CEO and Managing Director and the CFO: Ms. Sorensen (Chairperson), Mr. Guenter Butschek and Mr. P B Balaji. Below is a brief description of the Risk Management Committee's terms of reference:

- review the Company's risk governance structure, risk assessment and risk management policies, practices and guidelines and procedures, including the risk management plan;
- review and approve the enterprise risk management framework;
- review the Company's risk appetite and strategy relating to key risks, including product risk
 and reputational risk, cyber security risk, commodity risk, risks associated with the financial
 assets and liabilities such as interest risk, credit risk, liquidity exchange rate funding risk and
 market risk, as well as the guidelines, policies and processes for monitoring and mitigating
 such risks;
- oversee the Company's process and policies for determining risk tolerance and review management's measurement and comparison of overall risk tolerance to established levels;
- review and analyse risk exposure related to specific issues, concentrations and limit excesses and provide oversight of risk across the organisation;
- review compliance with enterprise risk management policy, monitor breaches and trigger trips of risk tolerance limits and direct action; and
- carry out any other function as is referred by the Board from time to time.

The Safety, Health & Sustainability Committee

The safety, health and sustainability committee (the "Safety, Health & Sustainability Committee") comprises of one non-executive independent director, Ms. Hanne Sorensen and the CEO and Managing Director, Mr. Guenter Butschek. The Committee's objective is to review the Company's safety, health and sustainability practices. The terms of reference of the Safety, Health & Sustainability Committee include the following:

- taking a holistic approach to safety, health and sustainability matters in decision making;
- providing direction to Group in carrying out its safety, health and sustainability function;
- framing broad guidelines and policies with regard to safety, health and sustainability;
- overseeing the implementation of these guidelines and policies; and
- reviewing the Company's safety, health and sustainability policies, processes and systems periodically and recommend improvements from time to time.

The Management Team of the Company

The Management Team of the Company comprises of Mr. Guenter Butschek, CEO and Managing Director, Mr. P.B. Balaji, CFO, Mr. Mayank Pareek, President – Passenger Vehicles Business Unit, Mr. Girish Wagh, President – Commercial Vehicles Business Unit, Mr. Rajendra Petkar, Chief Technology Officer, Mr. Thomas Flack, Chief Purchasing Officer, Mr. Shailesh Chandra, President – Electric Mobility Business and Corporate Strategy and Mr. Ravindra Kumar G.P., President and Chief Human Resources Officer. The Management Team provides oversight on strategy and key aspects of the Company's business operations.

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Principal Shareholders

The Company is a widely held, listed company with approximately 1,139,577 shareholders for ordinary shares and 191,422 shareholders for 'A' ordinary shares as at 30 September 2019.

The following table shows the principal shareholders of the Company, who beneficially owned 1 per cent. or more of the 2,887,348,694 ordinary shares and 508,502,371 'A' ordinary shares outstanding at that time, as shown in its share register as at 30 September 2019:

Ordinary Shares

Name of Shareholder	Holding	Percentage
Tata Sons Pvt. Limited and Subsidiaries ⁽¹⁾	1,107,927,731	38.37
Citibank N.A. (2)	321,159,910	11.12
Life Insurance Corporation of India	147,202,039	5.10
Government of Singapore	70,708,698	2.45
Reliance Capital Trustee Co Ltd - Funds	99,431,364	3.44
SBI-ETF Sensex	38,629,937	1.34
Reliance Capital Trustee Co Ltd – Funds	99,431,364	3.44

Notes:

'A' Ordinary Shares

The holders of 'A' ordinary shares are entitled to receive a dividend for any financial year at five percentage points more than the aggregate rate of dividend declared on ordinary shares for that financial year but are entitled to one vote for every ten 'A' ordinary shares held as per the terms of its issue and the Articles.

Name of Shareholder	Holding	Percentage
ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund	60,457,049	11.89
Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund	59,734,740	11.75
Government of Singapore	32,583,583	6.41
HDFC Trustee Co Ltd A/C HDFC Dual Advantage Fund	23,571,614	4.64
Government Pension Fund Global	23,250,532	4.57
Franklin Templeton Investment Funds	17,635,576	3.47
UTI – Arbitrage Fund	15,690,329	3.09
SBI – ETF Sensex	14,412,725	2.83
Monetary Authority of Singapore	9,862,262	1.94
HSBC Global Investment Funds – Indian Equity*	8,158,048	1.60

⁽¹⁾ As of 30 September 2019, the combined ordinary and 'A' ordinary shareholding of Tata Sons along with its subsidiaries as on 30 September 2019 was 1,107,976,897 representing 37.71 per cent. of the total voting rights in the Company. Tata Sons' subsidiaries, Tata Investment Corporation Limited, Tata Industries Limited and Simto Investment Company Ltd. hold 11,000,000, 72,203,630 and 59,583 ordinary shares of the Company, respectively, and Ewart Investments Limited holds 3,084,542 ordinary shares and 440,645 'A' ordinary shares of the Company.

⁽²⁾ Citibank, N.A., as depository for the Company's ADSs, was the holder on record at 30 September 2019 of 321,159,910 ordinary shares on behalf of the beneficial owners of deposited shares.

Name of Shareholder	Holding	Percentage
Eastspring Investments India Equity Open Limited	7,157,655	1.41
Reliance Capital Trustee Co Ltd-A/C Reliance Index Fund	6,810,800	1.34
Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund	6,100,461	1.20
HDFC Standard Life Insurance Company Limited	5,302,596	1.04
Kotak Balanced Advantage Fund	5,209,639	1.02

Neither the Company's ordinary shares nor 'A' ordinary shares entitle the holder to any preferential voting rights.

The Company is not, directly or indirectly, owned or controlled by any other corporation or by any government or by any other natural or legal persons severally or jointly. The Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a later time result in its change of control.

Share Capital

The Company's authorised share capital as on the date of this offering circular is Rs.40 billion (U.S.\$651 million) divided into 4 billion ordinary shares of Rs.2 each, 1 billion 'A' ordinary shares of Rs.2 each (the ordinary shares and the 'A' ordinary shares are hereinafter together referred to as ordinary shares or shares unless otherwise specifically mentioned to the contrary) and 300 million convertible cumulative preference shares of Rs.100 each.

Under the Companies Act, as well as the Company's Articles, if its share capital is divided into different classes of shares, all or any of the rights or privileges attached to each class of shares may be varied, modified, abrogated or dealt with, with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths of the issued shares of that class, or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the issued shares of that class. The Company's Articles further provide that the rights conferred upon the holders of the shares of any class issued with preferred or other rights shall not, unless otherwise expressly prohibited by the terms of the issue of the shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking *pari passu* thereto.

Employee Stock Option Scheme

Pursuant to the resolution dated 23 May 2018 passed by the Board and the special resolution passed by the Company's shareholders at the annual general meeting on 3 August 2018, the Company approved the Tata Motors Limited Employees Stock Option Scheme 2018 (the "2018 Option Scheme"). The major objectives of the 2018 Option Scheme are to (i) ring fence key employees of the Company during the critical turn around phase and incentivise them to drive long term objectives of the Company, (ii) ensure employee pay-offs match the long gestation period of certain key initiatives, (iii) drive ownership behaviour and collaboration among employees, and (iv) reward, retain and motivate eligible employees of for their performance and participation in the growth and profitability of the Company. The 2018 Option Scheme is administered by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee under the powers delegated by the Board. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is authorised to interpret the 2018 Option Scheme, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the 2018 Option Scheme and to make any other determinations that it deems necessary for the administration and implementation of the 2018 Option Scheme.

The maximum number of options under the 2018 Option Scheme shall not exceed 13,800,000 that would entitle the grantees to acquire, in one or more tranches, not exceeding 13,800,000 equity shares and the number of options that may be granted to eligible employees under the 2018 Option Scheme in any one year should not exceed 335,000 options. The options granted under the 2018 Option Scheme would vest within a maximum period of five years from the date of grant of such options. In terms of the 2018 Option Scheme, the options shall vest in three equal tranches (i.e., 30 September 2021, 30 September 2022 and 30 September 2023). Pursuant to the abovementioned approvals, an aggregate of 7,812,427 options were granted to eligible employees during Fiscal Year 2019 under the 2018 Option Scheme. The number of options granted on 6 September 2018 were 4,995,690 and the number of options granted on 28 March 2019 were 2,816,737.

TAXATION

The information provided below does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations which may be relevant to a decision to purchase the Notes. Neither these statements nor any other statements in this Offering Circular are to be regarded as advice on the tax position of any holder of the Notes or of any person acquiring, selling or otherwise dealing with the Notes or on any tax implications arising from the acquisition, sale or other dealings in respect of the Notes. The statements do not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Notes and do not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers in securities) may be subject to special rules.

Potential investors are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes, including the effect of any state or local taxes, under the tax laws applicable in India or the country of which they are residents.

India

The following is a summary of the principal existing Indian tax consequences for non-resident investors subscribing to the Notes issued by the Issuer. The summary is based on existing Indian taxation law and practice in force at the date of this Offering Circular and is subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. The summary does not constitute legal or tax advice and is not intended to represent a complete analysis of the tax consequences under Indian law of the acquisition, ownership or disposal of the Notes. Potential investors should, therefore, consult their own tax advisors regarding the Indian tax consequences, as well as the tax consequences under any other applicable taxing jurisdiction of acquiring, owning and disposing of the Notes.

Payments through India

Any payments the Issuer makes on the Notes, including additional amounts made through India would be subject to the regulations of RBI.

Taxation of interest

Interest on the Notes may not be subject to taxes in India if the proceeds of the issuance of the Notes are used for purposes of business carried on by the Issuer outside India or for the purposes of making or earning any income from any source outside India. However, should the proceeds be used for the purposes of the business of the Issuer or for the purposes of making or earning any income from any source in India, non-resident investors would be liable to pay tax on the interest paid on the Notes at the rate of five per cent. (plus applicable surcharge, and Health and Education cess) under Section 115A of the Income Tax Act, 1961 ("IT Act") subject to and in accordance with the existing conditions contained in the IT Act as the Notes are long term bonds in foreign currency issued between October 1, 2014 and June 30, 2020 in accordance with section 115A read with section 194LC of the IT Act and CBDT Circular No. 15/2014 dated October 17, 2014. The rates of tax will stand reduced if the beneficial recipient is a resident of a country with which the Government of India has entered into an agreement for granting relief of tax or for avoidance of double taxation (each a "Tax Treaty") and the provisions of such treaty, which provide for the taxation in India of income by way of interest at a rate lower than that stated above. The interest payable will be subject to withholding taxes in India, subject to conditions as detailed in section titled "Withholding of taxes" discussed below. In case, there is any difference between amounts withheld in respect of interest paid on the Notes and the final Indian tax liability for such interest, the non-resident investor would be obligated to pay the additional income tax or claim refund as the case may be, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the IT Act. The non-resident Noteholders shall be obliged to provide all necessary information and documents, as may be required by the Issuer.

Taxation of gains arising on disposal

Any gains arising to a non-resident investor from disposal of the Notes held (or deemed as held) as a capital asset will generally be chargeable to income tax in India if the Notes are regarded as property situated in India. A non-resident investor generally will not be chargeable to income tax in India from disposal of the Notes held as a capital asset, provided that the Notes are regarded as being situated outside India. The issue as to where the Notes should properly be regarded as being situated is not free from doubt. The ultimate decision, however, will depend on the view taken by Indian tax authorities on the position with respect to the situs of the rights being offered in respect of the Notes. There is a possibility that the Indian tax authorities may treat the Notes as being situated in India as the Issuer is incorporated in and a resident in India.

If the Indian tax authorities treat the Notes as being situated in India, as the Issuer is incorporated and resident India, upon disposal of the Notes:

- (i) a non-resident investor who has held the Notes for a period of more than 36 months immediately preceding the date of their disposal, would be liable to pay Long Term capital gains tax at the rate of 10 per cent. of the capital gains (plus applicable surcharge, and Health and Education cess) in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961. These rates are subject to any lower rate provided for by an applicable Tax Treaty;
- (ii) a non-resident investor who has held the Notes for a period of 36 months or less would be liable to pay Short Term capital gains tax at rates ranging up to 40 per cent. (plus applicable surcharge, and Health and Education cess) of capital gains depending on the legal status of the non-resident investor and his/her taxable income in India, subject to any lower rate provided for by an applicable Tax Treaty; and
- (iii) any gains arising to a non-resident investor from disposal of the Notes held as stock-in-trade would be subject to income tax in India to the extent, if any, that the gains are attributable to a "business connection in India" or, in case where a Tax Treaty is applicable, to a "permanent establishment" of the non-resident investor in India. A non-resident investor would be liable to pay Indian tax on such gains at rates of tax ranging up to 40 per cent. (plus applicable surcharge, and Health and Education cess) depending upon the legal status of the non-resident investor and his/her taxable income in India, subject to any lower rate provided for by an applicable Tax Treaty. The taxation, if any, of capital gains would also depend upon the provisions/benefits available under the relevant Tax Treaty, subject to fulfilment of the conditions prescribed.

If applicable under the tax law, tax shall be withheld by the person making any payment to a non-resident on long-term capital gains at 10 per cent. and short-term capital gains ranging up to 40 per cent., depending on the legal status of the recipient of income, subject to any lower rate provided for by an applicable Tax Treaty. Tax payable shall be computed in such manner as prescribed in this regard under the IT Act. For the purpose of tax withholding, the non-resident Noteholders may be obliged to provide all prescribed information/documents, including tax residency certificate (issued by the tax authorities of the country in which the Noteholder is resident) for claiming the Tax Treaty benefits.

Potential investors should, in any event, consult their own tax advisors on the tax implication on transfer of Notes.

Withholding of taxes

If interest payable on the Notes is subject to tax in India, there is a requirement to withhold tax presently at the rate of five per cent. (plus applicable surcharge, and Health and Education cess), subject to any lower rate of tax provided for by an applicable Tax Treaty. In respect of interest income on long term bonds to non-residents, pursuant to section 206AA of the Income Tax Act, 1961, the payee is not required to provide permanent account number to the payer. Hence, the Noteholders being nonresidents are not required to provide their permanent account number.

Pursuant to the Conditions of the Notes, all payments of, or in respect of, principal and interest on the Notes, will be made free and clear of and without withholding or deduction on account of any present or future taxes within India unless it is required by law, in which case pursuant to Condition 8 (Taxation), the Issuer will pay additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amount received by the Noteholders after the withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would have been receivable in respect of the Notes in the absence of the withholding or the deduction, subject to certain exceptions.

With respect to interest on the Notes that is not subject to taxes in India (where the proceeds of the issuance of the Notes are used for the purposes of business carried on by our Company outside India or otherwise), our Company may be required to apply annually for an exemption from withholding tax under section 195(2) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

Taxation of persons ordinarily resident in India

Any income received in respect of the Notes by a person ordinarily resident in India under the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961, may generally be subject to tax in India according to the personal or corporate rate of tax applicable, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of any applicable Tax Treaty.

Wealth Tax

No wealth tax is payable at present in relation to the Notes.

Estate Duty

No estate duty is payable at present in relation to the Notes. There are no inheritance taxes or succession duties currently imposed in respect of the Notes held outside India.

Gift Tax

No gift tax is payable at present in relation to the Notes in India.

Stamp Duty

A transfer of the Notes outside India will not give rise to any Indian stamp duty liability unless brought into India. Stamp duty would be payable if the Notes are brought into India for enforcement or for any other purpose. This stamp duty will have to be paid within a period of 3 months from the date the Notes are first received in India. The amount of stamp duty payable would depend on the applicable Stamp Act of the relevant state into which the Notes are brought.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commonly known as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. The Issuer may be a foreign financial institution for these purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including India) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions.

Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are published in the U.S. Federal Register and Notes characterised as debt (or which are not otherwise characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be "grandfathered" for the purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date. However, if additional notes (as described under "Terms and Conditions - Further Issues") that are not distinguishable from such previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA.

Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes.

CLEARANCE AND SETTLEMENT OF THE NOTES

The information set out below is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (together, the "Clearing Systems") currently in effect. The information in this section concerning the Clearing Systems has been obtained from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but none of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers takes any responsibility for the accuracy of this section. Investors wishing to use the facilities of any of the Clearing Systems are advised to confirm the continued applicability of the rules, regulations and procedures of the relevant Clearing System. None of the Issuer and any other party to the Agency Agreement will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Notes held through the facilities of any Clearing System or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests. Custodial and depositary links have been established with the Clearing Systems to facilitate the initial issue of the Notes and transfers of the Notes associated with secondary market trading.

Clearing Systems

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each hold securities for participating organisations and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions by electronic book-entry transfer between their respective account holders. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg provide their respective participants with, among other things, various services including safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg also deal with domestic securities markets in several countries through established depositary and custodial relationships. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across which their respective participants may settle trades with each other.

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg participants are worldwide financial institutions, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear, or Clearstream, Luxembourg participant, either directly or indirectly.

Distributions of principal with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will be credited, to the extent received by the Principal Paying Agent, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participants in accordance with the relevant Clearing System's rules and procedures.

Registration and Form

Book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be evidenced by the Global Certificate, registered in the name of nominee of the common depositary of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The Global Certificate will be held by a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Beneficial ownership in the Notes will be held through financial institutions as direct and indirect participants in Euroclear, and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

The aggregate holdings of book-entry interests in the Notes in Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be reflected in the book-entry accounts of each such institution. Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and every other intermediate holder in the chain to the beneficial owner of book-entry interests in the Notes will be responsible for establishing and

maintaining accounts for their participants and customers having interests in the book-entry interests in the Notes. The Registrar will be responsible for maintaining a record of the aggregate holdings of Notes registered in the name of the nominee of the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or if individual Certificates are issued in the limited circumstances, holders of Notes represented by those individual Certificates. The Principal Paying Agent will be responsible for ensuring that payments received by it from the Issuer for holders of interests in the Notes holding through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are credited to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

The Issuer will not impose any fees in respect of the Notes, however, holders of book-entry interests in the Notes may incur fees normally payable in respect of the maintenance and operation of accounts in Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Clearance and Settlement Procedures

Initial Settlement

Upon their original issue, the Notes will be in global form represented by the Global Certificate. Interests in the Notes will be in uncertificated book-entry form. Purchasers electing to hold book-entry interests in the Notes through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg accounts will follow the settlement procedures applicable to conventional eurobonds. Book-entry interests in the Notes will be credited to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg participants' securities clearance accounts on the business day following the Closing Date against payment (for value the Closing Date).

Secondary Market Trading

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg to purchasers of book-entry interests in the Notes through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and will be settled using the procedures applicable to conventional participants.

General

Although the foregoing sets out the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg in order to facilitate the transfers of interests in the Notes among participants of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, none of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is under any obligation to perform or continue to perform the procedures referred to above, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time.

None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Agents or any of their respective agents will have any responsibility for the performance by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Subscription Agreement

The Joint Lead Manager have, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 13 November 2019 (the "Subscription Agreement"), agreed, subject to the provisions of the Subscription Agreement, to subscribe or procure subscribers for the aggregate principal amount of Notes.

The Joint Lead Managers initially propose to offer the Notes at the issue price listed on the cover page of this Offering Circular.

The Issuer will be paying a combined management and underwriting commission to the Joint Lead Managers and will reimburse the Joint Lead Managers in respect of certain of their expenses. The Issuer has also agreed to indemnify the Joint Lead Managers against certain liabilities incurred in connection with the issue of the Notes. The Subscription Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to payment of the issue price to the Issuer.

In addition, the Issuer might pay a commission to certain private banks in connection with the distribution of the Notes to their clients. This commission (if paid) will be based on the principal amount of the Notes so distributed and may be deducted from the purchase price for the Notes payable by such private banks upon settlement.

The Notes are a new issue of securities for which there currently is no market. The Joint Lead Managers have advised the Issuer that they intend to make a market in the Notes as permitted by applicable law. They are not obligated, however, to make a market in the Notes and any market-making may be discontinued at any time at their sole discretion. Accordingly, no assurance can be given as to the development or liquidity of any market for the Notes.

The Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates may purchase the Notes for its own account or enter into secondary market transactions or derivative transactions relating to the Notes, including, without limitation, purchase, sale (or facilitation thereof), stock borrowing or credit or equity-linked derivatives such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps, at the same time as the offering of the Notes. Such transactions may be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties and separately from any existing sale or resale of the Notes to which this Offering Circular relates (notwithstanding that such selected counterparties may also be a purchaser of the Securities). As a result of such transactions, the Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates may hold long or short positions relating to the Notes. Each of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may also engage in investment or commercial banking and other dealings in the ordinary course of business with the Issuer or their respective affiliates from time to time and may receive fees and commissions for these transactions. In addition to the transactions noted above, each of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may. from time to time after completion of the offering of the Notes, engage in other transactions with, and perform services for, the Issuer or their respective affiliates in the ordinary course of their business. The Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates may also purchase Notes for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view to distribution or may hold Notes on behalf of clients or in the capacity of investment advisors. While the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates have policies and procedures to deal with conflicts of interests, any such transactions may cause the Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates or its clients or counterparties to have economic interests and incentives which may conflict with those of an investor in the Notes. The Joint Lead Managers may receive returns on such transactions and has no obligation to take, refrain from taking or cease taking any action with respect to any such transactions based on the potential effect on a prospective purchaser of the Notes. Such transactions would be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties and separately from any existing sale or resale of the Notes to which this Offering Circular relates (notwithstanding that such selected counterparties may also be purchasers of the Notes).

If a jurisdiction into which the Notes are sold requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and a Joint Lead Manager or any affiliate of such Joint Lead Manager is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by that Joint Lead Manager or its affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

Selling Restriction

General

The Joint Lead Managers will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers the Notes or has in its possession or distributes this Offering Circular or any other offering material related to the Notes.

None of the Issuer nor any of the Joint Lead Managers makes any representation that any action will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Joint Lead Managers or the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the Notes, or the possession, circulation or distribution of this Offering Circular or any other material relating to the Notes, in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor such other material may be distributed or published, in or from any country or jurisdiction, except in compliance with any applicable rules and regulations of such country or jurisdiction.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Each Joint Lead Manager represents that it has not offered or sold, and agrees that it will not offer or sell, any Notes constituting part of its allotment within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S under the Securities Act. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

United Kingdom

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

- (a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA")) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Hong Kong

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

(a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO") and any rules made under the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of

Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and

(b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

Singapore

Each Joint Lead Manager has acknowledged that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the "SFA")) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- (i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of In-vestments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act"). Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

People's Republic of China

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that the Notes are not being offered or sold and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the People's Republic of China (for such purposes, not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), except as permitted by the securities laws of the People's Republic of China.

India

This Offering Circular has not and will not be registered, produced or published as an offer document prospectus (whether a prospectus in respect of a public offer or information memorandum or private placement offer cum application letter or other offering material in respect of any private placement, under the Companies Act or any other applicable Indian laws) with the Registrar of Companies in India, the Securities and Exchange Board of India, the Indian stock exchanges or any other statutory or regulatory body of like nature in India save and except for any information from any part of this Offering Circular which is (i) mandatorily required to be disclosed or filed in India under any applicable Indian laws, including but not limited to, the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations 2015, as amended, and under the listing agreement with any Indian stock exchange pursuant to the SEBI LODR Regulations or (ii) pursuant to the sanction of any regulatory and adjudicatory body in India.

The Notes will not be offered or sold, and have not been offered or sold, in India and this Offering Circular or any other offering document or material relating to the Notes will not be circulated or distributed and have not been circulated or distributed, directly or indirectly, to any person or the public or any member of the public in India or otherwise generally distributed or circulated in India. The Notes have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold in India in circumstances which would constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Act and other applicable Indian law for the time being in force.

This Offering Circular or any material relating to the Notes has not been and will not be circulated or distributed to any prospective investor who is not a resident of an FATF or IOSCO compliant jurisdiction, and the Notes will not be offered or sold or transferred and have not been offered or sold or transferred to any person who is not a resident of an FATF or IOSCO compliant jurisdiction.

For the purposes of this section, FATF compliant jurisdiction and IOSCO compliant jurisdiction shall have the following meaning:

"FATF compliant jurisdiction" – a country that is a member of Financial Action Task Force ("FATF") or a member of a FATF-style regional body; and should not be a country identified in the public statement of the FATF as (a) a jurisdiction having a strategic anti-money laundering or combating the financing of terrorism deficiencies to which counter measures apply; or (b) a jurisdiction that has not made sufficient progress in addressing the deficiencies or has not committed to an action plan developed with the FATF to address the deficiencies.

"IOSCO compliant jurisdiction" – a country whose securities market regulator is a signatory to the International Organization of Securities Commission's ("IOSCO's") Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding (Appendix A Signatories) or a signatory to bilateral Memorandum of Understanding with the Securities and Exchange Board of India for information sharing arrangements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND IND-AS

The financial information included herein is prepared and presented in accordance with Ind-AS. Certain differences exist between IFRS and Ind-AS which might be material to the financial information herein. The matters described below summarise certain differences between IFRS and Ind-AS that may be material. The Issuer is responsible for preparing the Summary below. The Issuer has not prepared a complete reconciliation of its consolidated financial statements and related footnote disclosures between IFRS and Ind-AS and has not quantified such differences. Accordingly, no assurance is provided that the following Summary of differences between IFRS and Ind-AS is complete. In making an investment decision, investors must rely upon their own examination of the Issuer, the terms of the offering and the financial information. Potential investors should consult their own professional advisors for an understanding of the differences between IFRS and Ind-AS, and how those differences might affect the financial information herein.

Topic IFRS IND-AS

First time adoption

IFRS 1. 1 gives detailed guidance on preparation of the first **IFRS** financial To statements. help overcome number of а practical challenges for a first-time adopter, there are certain mandatory exemptions/voluntary exemptions from the full retrospective application.

- 1. Ind-AS 101 gives detailed guidance on preparation of the first Ind-AS financial To statements. help overcome number of а practical challenges for a first-time adopter, there are mandatory exemptions/voluntary exemptions from the full retrospective application. Ind-AS 101 gives few additional voluntary exemptions/modifications as compared to IFRS. For example,
 - The first-time adopter shall account for the resulting change in the retained earnings as at transition date except in certain instances specific it where requires adjustment in goodwill. specific such instances where IFRS 1 allows adjustment in goodwill, the under Ind-AS it can be adjusted with capital reserve to the extent adjustment such amount does not exceed the balance available in capital reserve.

Topic IFRS IND-AS

- to exemptions provided under IFRS 1, also provides certain optional exemptions relating to long term foreign currency monetary items and service concessions arrangements relating to toll roads.
- IFRS 1 Appendix B gives Exceptions to the retrospective application of other IFRSs. It does not cover impairment of financial assets.
- Exceptions under Ind-AS 101 covers impairment of assets under Appendix B vide paragraphs B8D-B8G for Exceptions to the retrospective applications of other Ind-AS.
- 3. The IFRS 1 provides various examples of first IFRS financial statements. There is no statutory requirement under any legislation for compliance with IFRS.
- Paragraph 3 of Ind-AS 101 specifies that an entities first financial statements are the first annual financial statements in accordance with Ind-AS notified under the Companies Act 2013.

Presentation of financial statements

A complete set of financial statements under IFRS comprises:

- A complete set of financial statements under Ind-AS comprises:
- Statement of financial position as at the end of the financial year.
- 1. Balance sheet as at the end of the financial year.
- 2. Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. For Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year there is an option of presentation as single statement or two separate statements.
- 2. Statement of Profit and Loss. For Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year there is an option of presentation as single statement or two separate statements.
- 3. The words 'authorisation of the financial statements for issue' have been used in the context of financial statements considered for the purpose of events after the reporting period.
- The words 'approval of the financial statements for issue' have been used in the context of financial statements considered for the purpose of events after the reporting period.
- 4. The words 'fair presentation' is used.
- 4. The words 'true and fair view' has been used.
- 5. There is option to individual entities to follow different terminology for titles of financial statements.
- Ind-AS removes the alternatives by giving one terminology to be used by all entities.
- 6. IFRS permits the periodicity for example 52 weeks for preparation of financial statements.
- Ind-AS does not permit periodicity such as 52 weeks for preparation of financial statements.

Topic	IFRS	IND-AS

- 7. IFRS requires an entity to prepare an analysis of expenses recognised in profit of loss using a classification based on either their nature or their function within the equity.
- Ind-AS requites only nature wise classification of expenses.

8. As per Ind-AS, long term loan arrangement need not be classified as current on account of breach of material provision, for which the lender has agreed to waive before approval of financial statements for issue.

Statement of Cash Flows

- In case of other than financial entities, IAS 7 gives an option to classify the interest paid and interest and dividend received as item of operating cash flows.
- In Ind-AS there is no such option and requires the interest paid and interest and dividend received to be classified as item of financing activity and investing activity, respectively.
- IFRS gives an option to classify the dividend paid as an item of operating activity.
- Ind-AS requires dividend paid to be classified as a part of financing activity only.

Business Combinations

- IFRS excludes from its scope business combinations of entities under common control.
- Ind-AS gives guidance for business combinations of entities under common control.
- IFRS requires bargain purchase gain arising on business combination to be recognised in profit or loss.
- Ind-AS requires bargain purchase gain arising on business combination to be recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as capital reserve, unless there is no clear evidence for the underlying reason classification of the business combination as a bargain purchase, in which case it shall be recognised directly in equity as capital reserve.

Operating segments

This IFRS is applicable to listed entities only.

This Ind-AS is applicable as per Companies Act 2013 and Rules.

Related party disclosures

 In IFRS no provisions are specified for disclosures which conflict with the confidentiality requirements of statue/regulations. In Ind-AS, disclosures which conflict with the confidentiality requirements of statue/regulations are not required to be made since accounting standard cannot override legal/regulatory requirements. Topic IFRS IND-AS

- 2. In IFRS, close family members of key managerial personnel are defined.
- 2. Ind-AS 24 does not include the word relatives. It only elaborates the definition of close members of the family of key management personnel to include persons identified as relatives in previous GAAP or in Companies Act, 2013.

Government Grant

- I. IFRS gives an option to present grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at their fair value in the balance sheet either by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.
- Prior to amendment of Ind-AS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, Ind-AS required presentation of grants related to assets in balance sheet only by setting up the grant as deferred income. The option to present grants by deduction of the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of asset was not available under Ind-AS. With effect from 20 September 2018, Ind-AS 20 has been amended to align with IAS 20 and hence currently there is no difference between Ind-AS and IFRS.

Inventories

In case of function wise classification inventory expense is recognised as cost of sales whereas in case of nature classification the inventory expense is recognised by reference making as 'changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress' and raw materials consumed in profit and loss statement.

Ind-AS allows only nature wise classification of inventory expense.

Separate Financial Statements

- IFRS requires to disclose the reason for preparing separate financial statements if not required by law.
- 2. IFRS allows entity to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their Separate Financial Statements.
- As the Companies Act 2013 mandates preparation of separate financial statements, Ind-AS has been modified to remove such requirements.
- Ind-AS does not permit use of equity method as it is not a measurable basis like cost and fair value but is a manner of consolidation and therefore would lead to inconsistent accounting conceptually.

Topic	IFRS			
Leases	IFRS 16 provides that if lessee	Since I		

IFRS 16 provides that if lessee applies fair value model in IAS 40 to its investment property, it shall apply that fair value model to the right-of use assets that meet the definition of investment property. It requires to classify cash payments for interest portion of lease liability applying requirements of IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows. IAS 7 provides option of treating interest paid as

Since Ind-AS 40, Investment Property, does not permit the use of fair value model (paragraph 34 has been deleted in Ind-AS 116). Paragraph 50(b) has been modified in Ind-AS 116 to specify that cash payments for interest portion of lease liability will be classified as financing activities applying Ind-AS 7. Ind-AS takes effect from 1 April 2019.

Investment property

Investment property is measured initially at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement. Investment property can subsequently be measured using the cost or the fair value model, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

operating or financing activity.

Investment property are to be measured using the cost model. Fair value model is not permitted. Detailed disclosures pertaining to fair value have to be given.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 provides that all types of penalties which may be levied in the performance of a contract should be considered in the nature of variable consideration for recognising revenue.

Ind-AS 115 has been amended to provide that penalties shall be accounted for as per the substance of the contract. Where the penalty is inherent in the determination of transaction price, it shall form part of the variable consideration, otherwise the same should not be considered for determining the consideration and the transaction price shall be considered as fixed.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1 Incorporation and Authorisations

The Issuer is incorporated under the laws of India. The Issuer's registered office is located at Bombay House 24, Homi Mody Street Mumbai 400 001.

The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the issue and performance of its obligations under the Notes. The issue of the Notes was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 25 October 2019.

2 Listing

Approval-in-principle has been received from the SGX-ST for permission to deal in and quotation for the Notes on the SGX-ST. The Notes will be traded on the SGX-ST in a minimum board lot size of S\$200,000 for so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST. Admission to the official list of the SGX-ST and quotation of the Notes is not to be taken as an indication of the merits of the Issuer, the Group or the Notes.

The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions or reports contained herein. For so long as the Notes are listed on the SGX-ST and the rules of the SGX-ST so require, in the event that a Global Certificate is exchanged for individual certificates, and unless the Issuer obtains an exemption from the SGX-ST, the Issuer will appoint and maintain a paying agent in Singapore where the individual certificates may be presented or surrendered for payment or redemption. In addition, in the event that a Global Certificate is exchanged for individual certificates, an announcement of such exchange will be made by or on behalf of the Issuer through the SGX-ST and such announcement will include all material information with respect to the delivery of the individual certificates, including details of the paying agent in Singapore.

3 Clearing Systems

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The International Securities Identification Number and the Common Code in respect of the Notes is XS2079668609 and 207966860, respectively.

4 Legal Entity Identifier

The legal entity identifier of the Issuer is L28920MH1945PLC004520.

5 No Significant Change

Except as disclosed in this Offering Circular,

- (a) there has been no material adverse change in the Group's financial position or prospects since 30 September 2019; and
- (b) there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 30 September 2019.

6 Litigation

Except as disclosed in this Offering Circular, neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is involved in any litigation or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts

which are material in the context of the issue of the Notes nor so far as the Issuer is aware is any such litigation or arbitration pending or threatened as of the date of this Offering Circular.

7 Related Party Transactions

For a list of related party transactions of the Issuer, refer to Note 43 of the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 44 of the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements.

8 Financial Statements

The 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, each included in this Offering Circular have been audited by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants. The H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results included in this Offering Circular has been reviewed on a limited review basis by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants.

The H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results, the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, each incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular have been audited by B S R & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants. The 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements incorporated by reference into this Offering Circular have been audited by Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered Accountants.

9 Documents

For so long as any Notes remain outstanding, physical copies (and English translations, which will be accurate and direct translations, where the documents in question are not in English) of the following documents will be available, during usual business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m.) on any weekday (except public holidays), for inspection by Noteholders at the offices of the Principal Paying Agent:

- (a) the constitutive documents of the Issuer;
- (b) a copy of this Offering Circular together with any supplement to this Offering Circular;
- (c) the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement; and
- (d) (i) the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, (ii) the 2019 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, the 2018 Audited Standalone Financial Statements and the 2017 Audited Standalone Financial Statements, and (iii) the H1-2020 Limited Reviewed Consolidated Financial Results and the H1-2020 Audited Standalone Financial Results.

INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

		Page
1	Six Months Ended 30 September 2019	
	Independent Auditor's Limited Review Report	F-2
	Statement of Limited Review Consolidated Financial Results	F-9
2	Year ended 31 March 2019	
	Independent Auditor's Report	F-14
	Consolidated Balance Sheet	F-23
	Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss	F-24
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	F-25
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-27
	Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements	F-29
3	Year ended 31 March 2018	
	Independent Auditor's Report	F-121
	Consolidated Balance Sheet	F-126
	Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss	F-127
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	F-128
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-130
	Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements	F-132
4	Year ended 31 March 2017	
	Independent Auditor's Report	F-212
	Consolidated Balance Sheet	F-217
	Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss	F-218
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	F-219
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	F-221
	Notes forming part of Consolidated Financial Statements	F-223

BSR&Co.LLP

Chartered Accountants

5th Floor, Lodha Excelus, Apollo Mills Compound N. M. Joshi Marg, Mahalaxmi Mumbai - 400 011 India Telephone +91 (22) 4345 5300 Fax +91 (22) 4345 5399

Limited Review Report on Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Results and Unaudited Consolidated Year to Date Results of Tata Motors Limited under Regulation 33 and Regulation 52 read with Regulation 63(2) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

To the Board of Directors of Tata Motors Limited

- 1. We have reviewed the accompanying Statement of unaudited consolidated financial results of Tata Motors Limited ("the Parent") and its subsidiaries (the Parent (including its joint operations) and its subsidiaries together referred to as 'the Group'), and its share of the net loss after tax and total comprehensive loss of its associates and joint ventures for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and year to dated results for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019 ("the Statement"), being submitted by the Parent pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 33 and Regulation 52 read with Regulation 63(2) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended ('Listing Regulations').
- 2. This Statement, which is the responsibility of the Parent's management and approved by the Parent's Board of Directors, has been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in Indian Accounting Standard 34, "Interim Financial Reporting" ("Ind AS 34"), prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India and in compliance with Regulation 33 of the Listing Regulations. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Statement based on our review.
- 3. We conducted our review of the Statement in accordance with the Standard on Review Engagements (SRE) 2410, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity", issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
 - We also performed procedures in accordance with the circular issued by the SEBI under Regulation 33(8) of the Listing Regulations, to the extent applicable.
- 4. The Statement includes the results of the entities mentioned in Annexure 1.
- 5. Based on our review conducted and procedures performed as stated in paragraph 3 above and based on the consideration of the review reports of other auditors referred to in paragraph 6 below, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying Statement, prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement principles laid down in the aforesaid Indian Accounting Standard and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, has not disclosed the information required to be disclosed in terms of Regulation 33 of the Listing Regulations, including the manner in which it is to be disclosed, or that it contains any material misstatement.

m

Page 1 of 7

B S R & Co (a partnership firm with Registration No. BA61223) converted into B S R & Co. LLP (a Limited Liability, Partnership with LLP Registration No. AAB-8181) with affect from October 14, 2013

Registered Office: 5th Floor, Lodha Excelus Apollo Mills Compound N. M. Joshi Marg, Mahalaxmi Mumbai - 400 011. India Limited Review Report on Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Results and Unaudited Consolidated Year-to-Date Results of Tata Motors Limited under Regulation 33 and Regulation 52 read with Regulation 63(2) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (Continued)

6. We did not review the interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of one joint operation included in the standalone audited interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of the Parent, whose results reflect total assets of Rs. 6,088.89 crores as at 30 September 2019 and total revenues of Rs. 1,142.36 crores and Rs. 2,900.85 crores, total net profit after tax of Rs. 36.04 crores and Rs. 128.06 crores and total comprehensive income of Rs. 35.88 crores and Rs. 127.40 crores for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, respectively, and cash inflows (net) of Rs. 25.38 crores for period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, as considered in the standalone audited interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of the Parent. The interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of this joint operation have been audited by other auditor whose report has been furnished to us, and our conclusion in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of this joint operation, is based solely on the report of such other auditor and the procedures performed by us as stated in paragraph 3 above.

We did not review the interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of 69 stepdown subsidiaries included in the Statement, whose interim financial statements / financial information / financial results reflect total assets of Rs. 207,582.90 crores as at 30 September 2019 and total revenues of Rs. 53,269.09 crores and Rs. 99,399.18 crores, total net profit/(loss) after tax (net) of Rs. 1,236.49 crores and Rs. (2,116.07) crores and total comprehensive loss (net) of Rs. 433.16 crores and Rs. 3,651.39 crores, for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, respectively, and cash outflows (net) of Rs. 5,319.31 crores for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, as considered in the consolidated unaudited financial results. The consolidated unaudited financial results also includes the Group's share of net loss after tax (net) of Rs. 368.15 crores and Rs. 616.90 crores and total comprehensive loss (net) of Rs. 365.27 crores and Rs. 614.28 crores, for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, respectively, as considered in the Statement, in respect of four associates and one joint venture, whose interim financial statements / financial information / financial results have not been reviewed by us. These interim financial statements / financial information / financial results have been reviewed by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our conclusion on the Statement, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these step-down subsidiaries, associates and joint venture, is based solely on the report of the other auditors and the procedures performed by us as stated in paragraph 3 above.

Of the 69 step-down subsidiaries listed above, the financial statements / financial information / financial results of two step-down subsidiaries which are located outside India have been prepared under the generally accepted accounting principles ('GAAPs') applicable in their respective countries and which have been reviewed by the respective auditors under generally accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective countries. The Parent's management has converted these financial statements / financial information / financial results from accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries to Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. We have reviewed these conversion adjustments made by the Parent's management. Our conclusion in so far as it relates to such subsidiaries located outside India is based on the reports of other auditors under the aforementioned GAAPs in respective countries and the aforesaid conversion adjustments prepared by the Parent's management and reviewed by us.

Our conclusion on the Statement is not modified in respect of the above matters.



Limited Review Report on Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Results and Unaudited Consolidated Year-to-Date Results of Tata Motors Limited under Regulation 33 and Regulation 52 read with Regulation 63(2) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (Continued)

7. The Statement includes the interim financial statements / financial information / financial results of eight subsidiaries and twelve step-down subsidiaries which have not been reviewed / audited, whose interim financial statements / financial information / financial results reflect total assets of Rs. 19,574.49 crores as at 30 September 2019 and total revenues of Rs. 376.35 crores and Rs. 947.97 crores, total net profit/(loss) after tax (net) of Rs. (82.49) crores and Rs. 128.43 crores and total comprehensive income/(loss) (net) of Rs. (82.59) crores and Rs 128.09 crores for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, respectively, and cash outflows (net) of Rs. 766.53 crores for period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, as considered in the Statement. The Statement also includes the Group's share of net profit/(loss) (net) after tax of Rs. (1.50) crores and Rs. 2.50 crores and total comprehensive income/(loss) (net) of Rs. (1.50) crores and Rs. 2.50 crores for the quarter ended 30 September 2019 and for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 September 2019, respectively, as considered in the consolidated unaudited financial results, in respect of five associates and two joint ventures, based on their interim financial statements/ financial information / financial results which have not been reviewed / audited. According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, these interim financial statements / financial information / financial results are not material to the Group.

Our conclusion on the Statement is not modified in respect of the above matter.

8. The impact of uncertainties due to United Kingdom (UK) exiting the European Union on our review

In respect of a material step-down subsidiary with significant operations in UK, the financial statements/financial information/financial results of which has been reviewed by another auditor, we report the uncertainties related to the effects of Brexit, relevant to understanding of our review of the consolidated unaudited financial results. Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK, and at the date of this report its effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown. A review cannot be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Mumbai 25 October 2019 For BSR & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Vijay Mathur Partner

Membership No: 046476

UDIN: 19046476AAAADH5239

Page 3 of 7

Limited Review Report on Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Results and Unaudited Consolidated Year-to-Date Results of Tata Motors Limited under Regulation 33 and Regulation 52 read with Regulation 63(2) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (Continued)

460	1: List of entities consolidated as at 30 September 2019
Sr. no	List of subsidiaries, associates, joint operations and joint controlled entities
1	(A) TATA MOTORS - DIRECT SUBSIDIARIES
.5.	Concorde Motors (India) Limited
2	Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC
3	Tata Motors Insurance Broking and Advisory Services Limited
4	TMF Holdings Limited
5	TML Holdings Pte. Limited
6	TML Distribution Company Limited
7	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A.
8	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocerries Maghreb SA
9	Trilix S.r.l.
10	Tata Precision Industries Pte. Limited
11	Tata Technologies Limited
12	Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited
13	Brabo Robotics and Automation Limited (Incorporated with effect from 17 July 2019)
	(B) TATA MOTORS - INDIRECT SUBSIDIARIES
	(i) Subsidiaries of TML Holdings Pte. Ltd.
14	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited
15	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Company Limited
16	Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited
17	Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Limited
18	PT Tata Motors Indonesia
19	PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia
20	TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Limited
21	Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc
	(ii) Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc
22	Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited
	(iii) Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited
23	Jaguar Land Rover Limited
24	Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co. Ltd
25	Limited Liability Company "Jaguar Land Rover" (Russia)
	(iv) Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co. Ltd
26	Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Services Company Limited
	(v) Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover Limited
27	Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH
28	Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited
29	JLR Nominee Company Limited (dormant)
30	Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH



Annexure 1 (Continued)

Total Control	e 1 (Continued)
Sr. no	List of subsidiaries, associates, joint operations and joint controlled entities
2.00	(B) TATA MOTORS - INDIRECT SUBSIDIARIES (Contd.)
31	Jaguar Land Rover Classic Deutschland GmbH
32	Jaguar Land Rover North America LLC
33	Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV
34	Jaguar Land Rover Portugal - Veículos e Peças, Lda.
35	Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited
36	Jaguar Land Rover Italia Spa
37	Jaguar Land Rover Korea Company Limited
38	Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC
39	Jaguar Land Rover France, SAS
40	Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Veículos LTDA
41	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited
42	Jaguar Land Rover India Limited
43	Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL
44	Jaguar Land Rover Belux NV
45	Jaguar Cars South Africa (Pty) Limited
46	Jaguar Cars Limited
47	Land Rover Exports Limited
48	Land Rover Ireland Limited
49	The Daimler Motor Company Limited
50	Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited
51	S.S. Cars Limited
52	The Lanchester Motor Company Limited
53	Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited
54	Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o
55	Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd.
56	Jaguar Racing Limited
57	InMotion Ventures Limited
58	Jaguar Land Rover Colombia S.A.S
59	Jaguar Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited
60	Jaguar Land Rover Mexico, SAPi de CV
61	Jaguar Land Rover Servicios Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
62	Jaguar Land Rover Taiwan Company LTD
63	Jaguar Land Rover Classic USA LLC (incorporated on 1 June 2018)
64	Jaguar Land Rover Hungary KFT
65	Jaguar Land Rover Ventures Limited (incorporated on 16 May 2019)
66	Spark44 (JV) Limited
67	(vi) Subsidiaries of Spark44 (JV) Limited
67	Spark44 Pty. Ltd. (Sydney)
68 69	Spark44 GMBH (Frankfurt)
70	Spark44 LLC (LA & NYC) Spark44 Shanghai Limited (Shanghai)
71	Spark44 Middle East DMCC (Dubai)
	Spanker Winding East Divice (Dubai)



Page 5 of 7

Sr. no	
	List of subsidiaries, associates, joint operations and joint controlled entities
	(B) TATA MOTORS - INDIRECT SUBSIDIARIES (Contd.)
72	Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Limited (Mumbai)
73	Spark44 Limited (London & Birmingham)
74	Spark44 Pte Ltd (Singapore)
75	Spark44 Communication SL (Madrid)
76	Spark44 SRL (Rome)
77	Spark44 Seoul Limited (Seoul)
78	Spark44 Japan KK (Tokyo)
79	Spark44 Canada Inc (Toronto)
80	Spark44 Pty. Limited (South Africa)
81	Spark44 Taiwan Limited (Taiwan)
82	Spark44 Colombia S.A.S (Colombia)
	(vii) Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited
83	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (Pty) Limited
	(viii) Subsidiaries of InMotion Ventures Limited
84	Lenny Insurance Limited (Name Change from InMotion Ventures 1 Limited w.e.f 6 September 2019)
85	InMotion Ventures 2 Limited
86	InMotion Ventures 3 Limited
87	InMotion Ventures 4 Limited
	(ix) Subsidiaries of Tata Technologies Ltd.
88	Tata Technologies Pte. Limited
89	Tata Technologies (Thailand) Limited
90	Tata Technologies Inc.
91	Tata Manufacturing Technologies (Shanghai) Co. Limited
92	INCAT International Plc.
93	INCAT GmbH
94	Tata Technologies Europe Limited
95	Escenda Engineering AB
96	Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
97	Cambric GmbH
98	Cambric Limited
99	Tata Technologies SRL Romania
	(x) Subsidiaries of TMF Holdings Ltd. (Formerly Tata Motors Finance Limited)
100	Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited
101	Tata Motors Finance Limited (Name changed from Sheba Properties Limited w.e.f 30 June 2017)
	(C) TATA MOTORS – ASSOCIATES
102	Jaguar Cars Finance Limited
103	Synaptiv Limited
104	Cloud Car Inc
105	Drive Club Service Pte Ltd
106	Automobile Corporation of Goa Limited



Page 6 of 7

Annexure 1 (Continued)

	(C) TATA MOTORS - ASSOCIATES (continued)
107	Nita Company Limited
108	Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Limited
109	Tata Precision Industries (India) Limited
110	Tata AutoComp Systems Limited
111	Loginomic Tech Solutions Private Limited
	(D) TATA MOTORS - JOINT OPERATIONS
112	Tata Cummins Private Limited
113	Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited
	(E) TATA MOTORS - JOINT VENTURES
114	Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited
115	JT Special Vehicles Private Limited
116	Tata HAL Technologies Limited





TATA MOTORS LIMITED

Regd.Office: Bombay House, 24, Homi Mody Street, Mumbal 400 001. CIN £28920MH1945PLC004520

(f in crores) STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE QUARTER AND SIX MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 Year ended Quarter ended Six months ended September 30, June 30, September 30, September 30 March 31, Particulars 2018 Unaudited 2019 2018 2019 I Revenue from operations (a) Revenue (b) Other operating income 64,763.39 60 830 16 71 292 79 125 593.55 137,249,57 299 190 59 668.56 1,305.39 1,350.56 2,747.81 636,83 688.29 Total Revenue from operations (a)+(b)
Other income (includes Government incentives) 65:431.95 61.486.99 71.981.08 126,898,94 138,600,13 301,938,40 672.56 835.99 748.22 1,508.55 1,435.23 2,965.31 Total Income (i + ii) 66,104.51 62,302,98 72,729,30 128,407,49 140,035.36 304,903.71 (a) Cost of materials consumed Cost of materials consumed
 Basis adjustment on hedge accounted derivatives 36:403.07 39 406 68 44.921.05 75.809.75 88 138 91 182 254 45 (414.26) 4,608.77 (424.43) (843.72) (1,245.37) 13,258.83 (348.85 3.049.31 3.088.81 6,138,12 Purchase of products for sale 9,059,16 (1,620.46) 15,002.58 3,546.93 2,053.28 33,243.87 5,758.60 Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale Employee benefits expense 1,023.99 7,283.01 (3,156.84) 8,212.35 (7,368.72) 16,735.56 (2.644.45 7,719.57 Finance costs. 1.835.36 1.711.57 1.226.86 2,602,13 115.98 5,299.67 1,098.72 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net) Depreciation and amortisation expense 905.91 23,590.63 137.53 499.87 253.51 1,507.13 5,111.72 5,941.20 10,411.29 11,798.33 (9) 1.068.48 Product development/Engineering expenses 794 00 1.892.72 2.019.01 4 224 57 Other expenses

Amount transferred to capital and other accounts 14,140,18 (4,377,97) 14,289,41 (4,106.92) 29,525.93 (10,260.98) 62,238.12 (19,659.59) 15.263.09 28.429.59 (5,148.12) (8,484.89) Total expenses (IV) 65.522.37 65,432,34 73,022,45 130.954.71 142,912,74 306,623,30 Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (iii - IV) 582,14 (3,129,36) (293.15) (2,547.22) (1,719.59) (2,877.38 Exceptional Items (a) Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost 147.93 86.58 108,82 195.40 (b) Employee separation cost 1,371,45 Provision/(reversal) for impairment of capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development (net)
Provision/(reversal) for cost of closure of operation of a subsidary (83.11 93 21 (83.11 93 21 180 97 437.08 (51.31) 437.08 (51.31) 381.01 27,837,91 (e) Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover (f) Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary company
(g) Provision for loans given to a Joint venture 8.75 8.75 (b) Others 109.27 Profit/(loss) before tax (V - VI) Tax expense/(credit) (net) 621,23 (3,238,18) (823.44) (2,616.95) (3,407.67) (31,371.15) (a) Current tax (b) Deferred tax 274 82 439.89 550 88 714.71 1 280 95 2 225 23 170.65 445.47 (243.82) 196.07 (73.17) 641.54 (1,404.68) (143.73) (4,662.68) (2,437.45) Total tax expense/(credit) (not) 271.90 (3,258.49) Profit/(loss) for the period from continuing operations (VII - VIII) Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associates (net) 175.76 (363.46) (1,095,34) 85.85 (3,263.94) 391.88 (3,434.25) (28,933.70) (245.41) (608.87) 209.50 Profit (loss) for the period (IX + X) (187.70) (3.679.66) (1.009.49 (3,867.36) (2.872.06) (28,724,20) Attributable to: (a) Shareholders of the Company (216,56) (3,698,34) (1.048.80) (3,914,90) (2,951,17) (28.826.23) (b) Non-controlling interests Other comprehensive (ncome/(loss) ΧI Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss (A) (i) (2,081.66) 1,369.80 (1,085.06) (711.86) 1,869,45 (4,260.75) (ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss (218.07) (330.55 items that will be reclassified to profit and loss (B) (i) (269.01) (2,700.42) 6.045.25 (2,969.43) 1,525.20 153.16 (2,016.01) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit and loss Total other comprehensive income/(loss) (2,019.07) 4,846.62 (3,417.28) (5,575.77) 3,217.26 ΧII Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (net of tax) (XI + XII) (2,206.77) (5,077,87) 3,837.13 (7,284,64) 345.20 (34,299,97) Attributable to: (a) Shareholders of the Company (2,234.39) (5,089.52) 3,781.19 (7,323.91) 248.61 (34,401.73) (b) Non-controlling interests 27.62 11.65 55.94 39.27 96.59 101.76 Paid-up equity share capital (face value of ₹2 each) 679,22 679.22 679.22 679.22 679.22 679.22 Reserves excluding revaluation reserves (as per Balance Sheet of previous accounting year) Earnings per share (EPS) 59,477.47 Ordinary shares (face value of ₹2 each) (10.89) (8.69) (84.89) (84.89) Basic EPS. (0.64) (3,09) (11.53) (0.64)(10.89) (8.69) (3.09)(11.53)'A' Ordinary shares (face value of ₹2 each) (i) Basic EPS (ii) Diluted EPS (10.80 (0.64 (11:53) (8.69) (84.89 Diluted EPS

F-9

(0.64)

(10.89)

(3.09)

(11.53)

(8.69)

(84.89)

		As as Ci-tambia 30	(₹ in crores)
		As at September 30,	As at March 31,
		2019	2019 Audited
* 0.055		Unaudited	Audited
ASSET			
(1)	Non-current assets	71,085.59	72,619.86
	(a) Property, plant and equipment	9,303.97	8,538.17
	(b) Capital work-in-progress	6,465.82	0,236.17
	(c) Right to use assets (d) Goodwill	739.19	747.87
		35,129.56	37,866.74
	(e) Other intangible assets (f) Intangible assets under development	27,417.68	23,345.67
		4,563.82	4,743.38
	(g) Investment in equity accounted investees	4,303.02	4,743.30
	(h) Financial assets:		4 407 54
	(i) Other investments	1,303.65	1,497.51
	(ii) Finance receivables	21,395,28	22,073,17
	(iii) Loans and advances	410.16	407.42
	(iv) Other financial assets	3,678.38	2,809.18
	(i) Deferred tax assets (net)	5,473.91	5,151.11
	(j) Non-current tax assets (net)	1,061.95	1,024.56
	(k) Other non-current assets	2,255.43	2,938.73
		190,284.39	183,763.37
(2)	Current assets		
	(a) Inventories	39,247.71	39,013.73
	(b) Investment in equity accounted investees (held for sale)	•	591.50
	(c) Financial assets:		
	(i) Other Investments	6,182.16	8,938.33
	(ii) Trade receivables	14,952.82	18,996.17
	(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	18,350.00	21,559.80
	(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	9,536.04	11,089.02
	(v) Finance receivables	9,969.00	11,551.52
	(vi) Loans and advances	1,061.05	1,268.70
	(vii) Other financial assets	3,557.62	3,213.56
	(d) Current tax assets (net)	175.60	184.37
	(e) Assets classified as held-for-sale	176.80	162.24
	(f) Other current assets	6,734.61	6,862.22
		109,943.41	123,431.16
	TOTAL ASSETS	300,227.80	307,194.53
EQUI	TY AND LIABILITIES		
	Equity		
	(a) Equity Share capital	679.22	679.22
	(b) Other Equity	51,574.88	59,500.34
	Equity attributable to owners of Tata Motors Ltd	52,254.10	60,179.56
	Non-controlling interests	622.07	523.06
		52,876.17	60,702.62
	Liabilities		
(1)	Non-current liabilities	1	
	(a) Financial liabilities:	72.040.00	70 077 67
	(i) Borrowings and lease liabilities	73,919.69	70,973.67
	(ii) Other financial liabilities	2,975.85	2,792.71
	(b) Provisions	12,567.38	11,854.85
	(c) Deferred tax liabilities (net)	1,413.84	1,491.04
	(d) Other non-current liabilities	15,299.78	13,922.21
(2)	Current liabilities	106,176.54	101,034.48
(2)	(a) Financial liabilities:	-	
		21,545.39	20,150.26
	77.	21,543.39	20,130.20
	(ii) Trade payables (a) Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises	110 00	130.69
		118.68	
	(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises	59,969.89	68,382.84
	(iii) Acceptances	2,140.59	3,177.14
	(iv) Other financial liabilities	39,314.29	32,855.65
	(b) Provisions	9,405.19	10,196.75
	(c) Current tax liabilities (net)	886.64	1,017.64
	(d) Other current liabilities	7,794.42	9,546.46
	TOTAL COLUMN AND MADULTICS	141,175.09	145,457.43
	TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	300,227.80	307,194.53



Statement of Unaudited Consolidated Cash Flows			
	For six mo	nths ended	Year ended
		nber 30,	March 31,
	2019	2018	2019
	Unau	dited	Audited
Cash flows from operating activities:		(2.022.00)	120 224 20)
Profit/(Loss) for the year Adjustments for:	(3,867.36)	(2,872.06)	(28,724.20)
Depreciation and amortisation expense	10,411.29	11,798.33	23,590.63
Allowances for finance receivables	339.24	78.40	320:24
Allowances for trade and other receivables	30.30	136.96	214.19
Inventory write-down	268.95	269.27	608,63
Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost	-		147.93
Employee separation cost	114.50	-	1,367.22
Provision/(reversal) for impairment of capital work in progress and intangibles under development	(83:11)	93.21	
Provision/(Reversal) for costs of closure of operations of a subsidiary company	(51.31)	1	381.01
Provision for loan given to a foint venture	8.75	457.00	552.52
Provision for Impairment in Jaguar Land Rover		-	27,837.91
Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary	-	-	(376.98)
Exceptional items-Others	-	-	109,27
Marked-to-market on investments measured at Fair value through profit or loss	196.10	(69,33)	(238.54)
Loss on sale of assets (including assets scrapped/written off) (net)	415.72	332.21	1,106.56
Profit on sale of investments (net)	(74.71)	(58.10)	(128.61)
Gain on fair value of below market interest loans Share of (profit)/loss of joint ventures and associates (net)	608.87	(391,88 <u>)</u>	(13.37) (209.50)
Tax expense (net)	641.54	{143.73}	(2,437,45)
Finance costs	3,546.93	2,602.13	5,758.60
Interest income	(591.32)	(317.18)	(786.46)
Dividend income	(20.89)		(17.28)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	(645.70)	808.24	252.63
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in following assets and liabilities	11,247.79	12,686.81	28,762.43
Finance receivables Trade receivables	1,950.91 3,556.40	(4,609.80) 2,274.27	(10,063.79) 954.70
Loans and advances and other financial assets	144.34	82.39	230.13
Other current and non-current assets.	(593.44)		294.88
Inventories	(1,759.91)	(8,234.80)	2,068.64
Trade payables and acceptances	(7,792.98)		(4,683.69)
Other current and non-current liabilities	266.07	(816,49)	4,365.55
Other financial liabilities	680.37	165.79	(30.01)
Provisions	(1,412.12)	2,051.82	(348.66)
Cash generated from operations income tax paid (net)	5,297.43 (702.42)	(5,407.41) (1,800.58)	21,550.18 (2,659.43)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities	5,595.01	(7,207.99)	18,890.75
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(6,810.62)	(9,419.27)	(17,419.55)
Payments for other intangible assets	(7,719.28)		(17,883.97)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	19.10	23.04	67.23
Investments in Mutual Fund (purchased)/sold (net)	2,882.08	3,780,69	5,639.02
Loan given to a Joint venture Investment in equity accounted investees	(1.70)	(3.75) (20.99)	(3.75) (9.31)
investments - others	(45.66)	(12.40)	(130.01)
Loan given to others	,,	,	(3.42)
Proceeds from sale of investments in a subsidiary company		-	532.96
Proceeds from sale of investments in other companies	5.28	5.57	5.18
Interest received	561,71	293.13	760.52
Dividend received	19.75	16.74	17.28 214.98
Dividend received from equity accounted investees increase in short term inter-corporate deposits	14.26 (6.67)	212.16 (6.50)	(1.98)
Deposits with financial institution	(250.00)	(3.30)	(500,03)
Realisation of deposit with financial institution	250.00	-	- 1
Deposits/restricted deposits with banks	(12,626.20)	(11,411.60)	(24,331.07)
Realisation of deposits/restricted deposits with banks	13,657.67	23,345.02	33,342.59
Payments for acquisition of minority stake of subsidiary Net cash used in investing activities	(10,050.28)	(3,050.78)	(7.76)
ries sesio internatival acristries	140,030,28)	(3,030.78)	(19,711.09)
Cash flows from financing activities:	1		
Proceeds from long-term borrowings	7,264.48	12,401.47	26,101.85
Repayment of long-term borrowings	(3,247.22)		
Proceeds from derivatives of long-term borrowings	143.71		
Proceeds from short-term borrowings	6,228.35	21,282.69	20,112.46
Repayment of short-term borrowings Payments towards Right to use Assets	(16,339.85) (653.09)	(22,149.61)	(21,852.13)
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months)	11,582.12	4,832,25	4,913.90
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests shareholders of subsidiaries (including dividend		.,002.20	.,
distribution tax)	(46.38)	(36.25)	(94.74)
Interest paid (including discounting charges paid \$641.61 crores (September 30, 2018)			
₹585.52 crores,March 31, 2019 ₹1,201.20 crores}]	(3,614.88)	(3,191,50)	(7,005.09)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	1,317,24	8,202,35	8,830.37
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents as at April 01, (opening balance)	(3,138.03) 21,559.80	{2,056,42} 14,716.75	8,010.03 14,715.75
Reversal of/(Classified as) held for sale	2,,337.60	(150.04)	243.94
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	(71.77)	232.93	(1,410.92)
Cash and cash equivalents as at September 30/March 31, (closing balance)	18,350.00	12,743.22	21,559.80
Non-cash transactions:			
Nability towards property, plant and equipment and intangible asests purchased on			
credit/deferred credit	6,398.71	6,112.86	7,286.32
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash			1
transactions: Exchange differences	304.45	3,525,21	1,120.15
exchange differences Amortisation of prepaid discounting charges	(60.28)	3,525,21 77.71	158.10



Segment wise Revenue, Results, Assets and Liabilities
The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment includes all activities relating to development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. The Company provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India. The vehicle financing is intended to drive sale of vehicles by providing financing to the dealers' customers and as such is an integral part of automotive business. The operating results for Vehicle Financing has been adjusted only for finance cost for the borrowings sourced by this segment.

*Held for sale as at March 31, 2019

- Operating segments consist of:
 a) Automotive: The Automotive segment consists of four reportable sub-segments: Tata Commercial Vehicles, Tata Passenger Vehicles, Jaguar Land Rover and Vehicle Financing
 b) Others: Others will consist of IT services and machine tools and factory automation solutions.
 This segment information is provided to and reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).
 The reportable segment information for the corresponding previous preiods reported have been changed to make them comparable.

l l	Particulars	September 30,	Quarter ended June 30,	September 30,		ths ended mber 30	Year ended March 31,
			19	2018	2019	2018	2019
	Communit Parisasis >		1	Unaudited			Audited
A.	Segment Revenue : Revenue from operations			ĺ	İ		
1.	Automotive and related activity		}				
ļ	- Tata and other brands vehicles		ļ				
- 1	(a) Commercial Vehicle	8,712.65	11,079.42	15,056.93	19,792,07	28,926.10	58,137.
- 1	(b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable	2,056.22 28.16	3,168.35 46.44	3,406.98 37.85	5,244.57 74.60	6,805.33 60.60	14,469. 110.
- 1	- Vehicle Financing	1,118.32	1,059,97	947.06	2,178,29	1,680.15	3,700
	- Jaguar and Land Rover	53,065,86	45,660.98	51,951.28	98,726.84	100,084.40	223,513
- 1	Less: Intra segment eliminations	. •		(35.60)	-	(52.88)	(275
ũ.	-Total	64,981.21	61,035,16	71,364.50	126,016:37	137,503,70	299,655
ա.	Others Total Segment Revenue	761.84 65,743.05	760.67 61,795.83	945.95 72,310.45	1,522.51	1,816.50	3,626 303,281
	Less: Inter segment revenue	(311.10)		(329.37)	(639,94)		(1,343
	Revenue from Operations	65,431.95		71,981.08	126,898.94		301,938
в.	Segment results before other income (excluding Government Grants),						
	finance costs, foreign exchange gain/(loss) (net), exceptional items and tax:				1		
	Automotive and related activity						
- }	- Tata and other brands vehicles						
-	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle	48.91	455,76	1,193.49	504.67	2,250,69	4,116
-	(c) Corporate/Unallocable	(940.53) (93.01)		(291.02) (88.63)	(1,258.10) (161.35)		(1,387 (362
ļ	Vehicle Financing (net off finance costs pertaining to borrowings source by the segment)	(71.83)		32.50	(177.45)		(362
- 1	- Jaguar and Land Rover	2,512.74	(2,390.61)	(396.42)	122.13	(2,049.31)	(1,278
-	Less: Intra segment eliminations	<u> </u>	l				
ji.	-Total Others	1,456.28	(2,426.38)	449.92	(970.10)		773
	Ottel Segment results	97,34 1,553.62	86.03 (2,340.35)	182.25 632.17	183,37 (786,73)	321.03 (336.62)	505 1,276
	Less: Inter segment eliminations	(13.72)	(37.37)	(38.95)	(51.09)		(120
	Net Segment results	1,539.90	(2,377.72)	593,22	(837.82)		1,158
	Add/(Less): Other income (excluding Govt. Grants)	198,73	292.09	240.33	490.82	465.10	1,170
	Add/(Less): Finance costs (excluding pertaining to borrowings sourced by the vehicle finance						
•	segment) Add/(Less) : Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (net)	(1,040,51)		(626.83)	(1,946.71)		(3,142
	Add/(Less) : Exceptional items	(115.98)	(137.53)	(499.87)	(253,51)	(1,507.13)	(905
- 1	- Tata and other brands vehicles]	
	(e) Commercial Vehicle	151.31	-	(437.08)	151.31	(437,08)	(556
- 1	(b) Passenger Vehicle	(17.08)		(93.21)	(17.13)		(118
-	(c) Corporate/Unallocable - Total Tata and other brands vehicles	(8.75)	(0,09)	-	(8.84)	-	376
-	- Jaguar and Land Rover	(86,39)	(108.68)	_ :	(195.07)		(29,353
ļ	Total Profit before tax	621.23	(3,238.18)	(823.44)	(2,616,95)	(3,407.67)	(31,371.
一					As at	As at	
-			As at June 30,		September 30,		As at March
ا ہ	A		2019		2019	2018	2019
	Segment Assets Automotive and related activity		Unaudited		Unac	rdited	Audited
٠ ۱							
- 1	- Tata and other brands vehicles						
	- Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle		29.142.10		27.904.83	28 282 04	26 927
			29,142.10 19,206.61		27,904.83 18,329,87	28,282.04 14,815.75	
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable		19,206.61 2,950.31		18,329.87 2,388.10	14,815.75 7,337.26	19,446
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unaflocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40	19,446 1,648 162
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporale/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 36,987.43		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54	19,446 1,648 162 38,261
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34	19,446 1,648 162 38,261
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unaflocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguer and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 36,987.43 170.511.60		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33)	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Totat - (o) Orders		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 36,987.43 170,511.60		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,359.00 26.73	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguer and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Totat (e) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 25,73 3,048.57	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Totat - (o) Orders		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 36,987.43 170,511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55		18,329.87 2,386.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 26,73 3,048.57	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unatiocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Othera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 25,73 3,048.57	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170,511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.84)		18,329.87 2,386.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13)	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 26,73 3,048.57 301,432.30 (1,244.00)	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 258,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225
i.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguer and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 289,359.00 26,73 3,046.57 301,432.30 (1,244.00) 300,188.30	19,446 1,548 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658
ii.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unaflocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguer and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Othera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles - (a) Corporate/Unaflocable		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.64) 259,800.16		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,552.48	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 26,73 3,048.57 301,432.30 (1,244.00) 300,188.30	19,446 1,648 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658
ii.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguer and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Others - Total: (e) Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170,511.60 258,964.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.46 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 215,777,34 (610,33) 298,350,00 30,485,57 30,485,57 30,485,57 30,485,57 30,485,57 426,72 5,91	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658
1.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Othera (b) Assets classified as held for sale Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others*		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.64) 259,800.16		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,552.48	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 215,777.34 (610.33) 298,350.00 26,73 3,048.57 301,432.30 (1,244.00) 300,188.30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2,2,4,318
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Omera (b) Assets Classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others* - Add - Unallocable assets		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 36,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,59 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,66 3,963,91 594,72 36,040,26		18,329,87 2,388,10 176,80 35,641,42 178,574,46 263,015,48 2,241,13 265,256,61 (1,404,13) 263,852,48 417,50 1,94 3,562,22 582,16 31,811,50	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 (510.33) 298,350.06 (610.33) 298,350.06 (1,244.00) 300,188.30 426.72 5.91 4.640.74 5.44.57 30,562.06	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2,4,318 591 44,201
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment climinations - Total: (a) Omera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Total Assets		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 -(1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,56 3,963.91 594.72		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 552.16	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 215,777,352,60 26,73 30,48,57 301,432,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 258,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unaflocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unaflocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others* - Votal Assets - Segment Liabilities		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 36,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,59 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,66 3,963,91 594,72 36,040,26		18,329,87 2,388,10 176,80 35,641,42 178,574,46 263,015,48 2,241,13 265,256,61 (1,404,13) 263,852,48 417,50 1,94 3,562,22 582,16 31,811,50	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 (510.33) 298,350.06 (610.33) 298,350.06 (1,244.00) 300,188.30 426.72 5.91 4.640.74 5.44.57 30,562.06	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 258,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets International Control of the Segment Assets - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others* - Add : Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 36,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,59 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,66 3,963,91 594,72 36,040,26		18,329,87 2,388,10 176,80 35,641,42 178,574,46 263,015,48 2,241,13 265,256,61 (1,404,13) 263,852,48 417,50 1,94 3,562,22 582,16 31,811,50	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 (510.33) 298,350.06 (610.33) 298,350.06 (1,244.00) 300,188.30 426.72 5.91 4.640.74 5.44.57 30,562.06	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2,4,318 591 44,201
	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Totat (a) Omera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add - Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Audionalisities - Audionali		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,927.43 170,511.60 258,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,406.84) 259,800,16 422.20 2.56 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,623.91		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.62 263,015.46 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 582.16 31,811.50 300,227.80	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (510,33) 298,350,06,57 30,46,57 301,432,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,582,06 335,368,30	19.446, 1,546, 1
5	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets International Control of the Segment Assets - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others* - Add : Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 -(1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,56 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 2,241.13 263,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 582.16 31,811.50 300,227.80	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 215,777,352,60 28,753,60 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 5,91 4,640,74 54,57 30,562,06 336,368,30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201 307,194
5. 5.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (e) Othera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others* - Add : Unallocable assets - Tetal Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 38,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,55 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,56 3,963,91 594,72 38,040,26 300,823,91		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 283,015.48 2,241.13 263,852.46 1,404.13] 263,852.46 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 582.16 31,811.50 300,227.80	14,815.75 7,337.26 255.40 32,501.54 (610.33) 298,359.06 (10.33) 298,359.06 (11.244.00) 300,188.30 426.72 5.91 4.640.74 544.57 30,562.06 335,368.30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201 307,194
D. 1	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (e) Othera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Intra segment eliminations Net Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets - Intervent in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Othera* - Add - Unallocable assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 -(1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,56 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 2,241.13 263,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 582.16 31,811.50 300,227.80	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 215,777,352,60 28,753,60 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 30,48,57 5,91 4,640,74 54,57 30,562,06 336,368,30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,863 (1,225 257,658 422 4,318 591 44,201 307,194
5.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Ornera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add - Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Nutromotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Total Ansets - Segment Liabilities - (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Cosporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170,511.60 259,966.45 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2.66 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91 15,216.56 3,324.03 1,424.67		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.62 263,015.46 2241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 552.16 31,811.50 300.227.80	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (510,33) 298,360,57 30,46,57 30,48,57 30,48,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,562,06 335,368,30 1,200,54 613,94 100,170,85	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201 307,194
n.	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (c) Othera (d) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Othera* - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Othera* - Add: Unallocable activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,56 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91 15,216.56 3,324.03 1,422.67 649.38 105,593.87		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 2,241.13 263,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 552.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 1,216.19 730.60 106,486.03	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (510,33) 29,350,00 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,562,06 336,368,30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658 422 2 4,318 591 44,201 307,194 15,937 3,667 1,752 711 107,296 (337
5	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Omera (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Intra and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others' - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Joss: Intra segment eliminations - Total		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 38,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,55 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,56 3,963,91 594,72 38,040,26 300,823,91 15,216,56 3,324,03 1,424,67 649,38 105,593,87		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 263,552.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 562.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 1,216.19 730.60 106,486.08	14,815,75 7,337,26 7,337,26 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (610,33) 298,359,05 3048,57 30,482,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 4,640,74 5,445,7 30,562,06 336,368,30	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,883 (1,225 257,658. 422. 2. 4,318. 591, 44,201. 307,194. 15,937. 3,667. 1,752. 711. 107,296. (337.
n. ((a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (c) Othera (d) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Othera* - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Othera* - Add: Unallocable activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,56 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91 15,216.56 3,324.03 1,422.67 649.38 105,593.87		18,329.87 2,388.10 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 2,241.13 263,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 552.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 1,216.19 730.60 106,486.03	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (510,33) 295,350,00 28,73 30,48,57 301,432,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,562,06 335,388,30 1,200,54 613,94 100,170,85 (533,03) 120,731,70,85 (533,03)	19,446, 1,648, 162; 38,261, 170,433, 256,879, 2,003. 258,883, (1,225, 257,658. 422; 2,4,318, 591, 44,201, 307,194; 15,937, 3,667, 1,752, 711, 107,296, (337, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 125,047, 166, 166, 166, 166, 166, 166, 166, 16
D. 1	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Ornera (b) Assets Cassified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Lass: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Johnes - Di Labilities directly associated with assets classified as held-for-sale - Fotal Segment Liabilities - Fotal Segment Liabilities		19,206,61 2,950,31 168,40 38,987,43 170,511,60 258,966,45 2,242,55 261,209,00 (1,408,84) 259,800,16 422,20 2,56 3,963,91 594,72 38,040,26 300,823,91 15,216,56 3,324,03 1,424,67 649,38 105,593,87		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.48 2,241.13 263,552.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 562.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 1,216.19 730.60 106,486.08	14,815,75 7,337,26 7,337,26 2,555,40 32,501,54 216,777,34 (610,33) 298,350,06 300,188,30 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 444,57 30,562,06 335,368,30 1,200,54 100,170,85 (533,03) 120,731,70 82,37 1,220,28	19,446 1,648 162 38,261 170,433 256,879 2,003 258,863 (1,225 257,658 422 4,318 591 44,201 307,194 15,937 3,667 1,752 711 107,296 (337,
D. 1. (()	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total (a) Others (b) Assets classified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets Less: Inter segment eliminations Net Segment Assets Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others' - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Comporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others' - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Labilities - Jaguar and Land Rover - Labilities directly associated with assets classified as held-for-sale - Total Segment Liabilities - But Assets		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 38,987.43 170.511.60 258,966.45 2,242.53 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2,66 3,963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91 15,216.56 3,324.03 1,424.67 649.38 105,593.87 126,208.51 764.84 126,973.35 (335.05)		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.46 263,015.49 263,015.49 263,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 3,562.22 552.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 12,216.19 730.60 106,486.08 124,271.74 731.59 125,003.33 (360.31)	14,815,75 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 215,773,35,260 28,73 30,48,57 301,432,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,562,06 316,388,30 16,441,10 2,838,30 1,200,54 613,94 100,170,85 (533,03) 120,731,70 120,731,70 120,731,70 (2,204,35	26,927. 19,446. 1,648. 162. 38,261. 170,433. 256,879. 256,879. 257,658. 422. 2. 4,318. 591. 44,201. 307,194. 15,937. 3,687. 1,752. 711. 107,296. (337,129,047. 529,047.
D. 1. ()	(a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Tata and other brands vehicles - Assets held for sale - Vehicle Financing - Jeguar and Land Rover Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total: (a) Ornera (b) Assets Cassified as held for sale - Total Segment Assets - Less: Inter segment eliminations - Net Segment Assets - Investment in equity accounted investees - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Others - Add: Unallocable assets - Total Assets - Segment Liabilities - Automotive and related activity - Tata and other brands vehicles (a) Commercial Vehicle (b) Passenger Vehicle (c) Corporate/Unallocable - Vehicle Financing - Jaguar and Land Rover - Lass: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Jaguar and Land Rover - Less: Intra segment eliminations - Total - Johnes - Di Labilities directly associated with assets classified as held-for-sale - Fotal Segment Liabilities - Fotal Segment Liabilities		19,206.61 2,950.31 168.40 36,927.43 170,511.60 268,966.46 2,242.55 261,209.00 (1,408.84) 259,800.16 422.20 2.56 3.963.91 594.72 36,040.26 300,823.91 15,216.56 3,324.03 1,424.67 649.38 105,593.87 126,208.51 764.84		18,329.87 2,388.10 176.80 35,641.42 178,574.62 263,015.46 2,241.13 265,256.61 (1,404.13) 263,852.48 417.50 1.94 417.50 3.562.22 582.16 31,811.50 300,227.80 12,736.97 3,101.90 1,216.19 730.60 106,486.08 124,271.74 731.59	14,815,75 7,337,26 7,337,26 255,40 32,501,54 (510,33) 298,350,53 3,046,57 301,432,30 (1,244,00) 300,188,30 426,72 5,91 4,640,74 544,57 30,562,06 335,368,30 16,441,10 2,836,30 1,200,54 613,94 613,94 100,170,85 (533,03) 120,731,70 82,37 1,202,28 122,034,35	19,446, 1,648, 162: 38,261, 170,433, 256,879, 257,658, 422: 2,318, 591, 44,201, 307,194, 15,937, 1,752, 711, 107,296, (337, 129,647, 529, 129,676,

Notes:-

- 1) The above results were reviewed and recommended by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on October 25, 2019.
- The Company has adopted Ind AS 116 with modified retrospective approach, with effect from April 1, 2019. Accordingly, the comparative periods have not been restated. The cumulative effect of initial application of the standard of ₹196.14 crores has been recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as at April 1, 2019. The Company has recognized ₹5,583.62 crores as right to use assets and lease liability of ₹5,779.76 crores as on the date of transition i.e. April 1, 2019. Further, an amount of ₹1,035.97 crores has been reclassified from non-current/current assets to right to use assets for prepaid operating lease rentals. In the statement of profit and loss account for the quarter and six months ended September 30, 2019 the nature of expenses in respect of operating leases has changed from lease rent in previous period to depreciation for the right to use asset and finance cost for interest accrued on lease liability. In respect of leases that were classified as finance lease, applying Ind AS 17, an amount of ₹415.43 crores has been reclassified from property, plant and equipment to right to use assets. The Company has identified certain additional arrangements as leases as per Ind AS 116, during quarter ended September 30, 2019. There is no material impact on profit/(loss) after tax and earnings per share for the quarter and six months ended September 30, 2019, on adoption of Ind AS 116.
- 3) Given the delay in completing the sale, the Company has reassessed the position on "Held for Sale" for the investment in associate Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Ltd. Accordingly, the Company concluded that the investment no longer meet the criteria of "Held for Sale" as per Ind AS 105. The investments in Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Ltd is transferred from current to non-current investments.
- 4) Subsequent to the quarter ended September 30, 2019, Jaguar Land Rover completed and drew down in full a £625 million (₹5,456.33 crores) five-year amortising loan facility backed by a £500 million (₹4,365.07 crores) guarantee from UK Export Finance (UKEF). In addition, Jaguar Land Rover has signed a new £100 million (₹873,01 crores) working capital facility for fleet buybacks.
- 5) The Statutory Auditors have carried out a limited review of the consolidated financial results for the quarter and six months ended September 30, 2019.

Tata Motors Limited

Guenter Butschek
CEO & Managing Director

Z

Mumbai, October 25, 2019

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Members of Tata Motors Limited

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (hereinafter referred to as the 'Holding Company") and its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group"), its associates and its joint ventures and joint operations, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and joint operations as were audited by the other auditors, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ("Act") in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, its associates, joint ventures and joint operations as at 31 March 2019, of its consolidated loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of the Act. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment and based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements of components audited by them, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Description of Key Audit Matter

 The impact of uncertainties due to the United Kingdom exiting the European Union (Brexit), reported by the component auditor of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc (hereinafter referred to as JLR Group)

All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates, in particular as described in the key audit matters on the valuation of long-life intangible assets and capitalisation of product engineering costs (together referred to as "the key audit matters affected" and explained in section 4 and 5 below) and related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements (see section 7 below). All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the JLR Group's future prospects and performance.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic events for the UK and at the date of this report its effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty of outcomes, with the full range of possible effects unknown.

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The component auditor developed a standardised approach to the consideration of the uncertainties arising from Brexit in planning and performing the audit. Their procedures included:

- Brexit knowledge: The component auditor considered the JLR Group's directors' assessment of Brexit-related sources of risk for the JLR Group's business and financial resources compared with their own understanding of the risks. They considered the directors' plans to take action to mitigate the risks;
- Sensitivity analysis: When addressing the key audit
 matters affected and other areas that depend on forecasts,
 they compared the directors' analysis to their assessment
 of the full range of reasonably possible scenarios resulting
 from Brexit uncertainty and, where forecast cash flows
 are required to be discounted, considered adjustments to
 discount rates for the level of remaining uncertainty;
- Assessing transparency: Other than assessing individual disclosures as part of their procedures on the key audit matters affected, the component auditor considered all of the Brexit related disclosures together, comparing the overall picture against their understanding of the risks.

However, no audit should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a company and this is particularly the case in relation to Brexit.

Description of Key Audit Matter

Impairment testing of long-life property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of passenger vehicles cash generating unit

The Holding Company has identified passenger vehicle segment as a separate cash generating unit ('CGU'). The history of losses in the passenger vehicle business led the

Holding Company to perform an impairment assessment as at $31 \, \text{March} \, 2019$.

The annual impairment testing of passenger vehicle CGU involves significant judgements and estimates in assessing the recoverable value. The recoverable value is considered to be the higher of the Holding Company's assessment of the value in use (VIU) and fair value less cost of disposal (FVLCD).

There is a risk over the Holding Company's assessment and measurement of impairment due to:

- VIU: uncertainties involved in forecasting of cash flows, including key assumptions such as future sales volumes, prices, margins, overheads, growth rates and weighted average cost of capital.
- FVLCD: uncertainties involved in identifying appropriate comparable companies, estimating their market multiple and estimating the depreciated replacement cost of fixed assets.

(Refer note 2{r} of the consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures included:

- Identification: Obtained an understanding of Holding Company's evaluation of identification of passenger vehicles segment as a cash generating unit;
- Controls: Tested management review controls on the assumptions including underlying cash flow forecasts and impact of macro-economic factors on the forecasts. Tested management's review of the discounted cash flow calculations performed to support the impairment assessment including benchmarking of key assumptions (discount rates, growth rate) and assessment of sensitivities;
- Completeness and accuracy of the VIU model: Obtained valuation computation performed by the Holding Company for its impairment assessment and agreed the mathematical accuracy of the VIU by recalculating the cash flow build up;
- Cash flow forecast assumptions: Involved independent valuation specialists to assist in the evaluation of the assumptions (discount rate which included comparing the weighted average cost of capital with sector averages for the relevant markets in which the CGU operates and long-term growth rate) and challenged the key assumptions and judgements within the build up of the cash flow forecast (such as future sales volumes and prices, margins, overheads etc.) and methodologies used by the Holding Company and its experts;
- Sensitivity analysis: Assessed the sensitivity of the outcome of impairment assessment to changes in key assumptions such as volumes and margins;

 FVLCD assumptions: Compared the market multiple used in the FVLCD to comparative companies and to market data sources with the assistance of specialists.

Description of Key Audit Matter

3. Capitalisation of product development cost by the Holding Company

Product development costs incurred on new vehicle platforms, engines, transaxles and new vehicles are recognised as intangible assets only when technical feasibility has been established, the Holding Company has committed technical and commercial resources to complete the development and use the intangible asset and it is probable that the asset will generate future economic benefits.

The costs capitalised during the year include the cost of technical know-how expenses, materials, direct labour, inspecting and testing charges, designing cost, software expenses and directly attributable overhead expenditure incurred up to the date the intangible asset is available for use including interest capitalised.

The capitalisation of product development cost is considered to be a key audit matter given that the assessment of the capitalisation criteria set out in Ind AS 38 'Intangible Assets' is made at an early stage of product development and there are inherent challenges with accurately predicting the future economic benefit, which must be assessed as 'probable' for capitalisation to commence. There is a risk therefore that development cost may get capitalised where the relevant criteria has not been met.

(Refer note 2{p} and note 6 of the consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures included:

- Controls: Tested the Holding Company's design and implementation and operating effectiveness of controls around initiation of capitalisation of the product development cost including:
 - management review controls over calculations of the future economic benefit of the projects;
 - observed management's validation of relevant data elements and benchmarking the assumptions;
 - evaluating management's assessment of whether costs recorded meet the capitalisation criteria;
 - observed management's assessment of sensitivity of the impact of the changes in key assumptions;
 - discussed with senior management and challenged management assumptions including key inputs such as volumes, expected revenues and associated costs on projects which have lower headroom.

- Test of details: On selected sample of amounts capitalised, we tested:
 - · costs incurred towards projects;
 - inspected the technical team's approvals for initiation of capitalisation;
 - reviewed the central cost allocation for the year and determined costs capitalised are 'directly attributable' including the interest capitalised.

Description of Key audit matter

4. Impairment testing of long-life intangible assets, reported by the component auditor of JLR Group

The JLR Group holds a significant amount of long-life intangible assets in a separate cash generating unit. The weak trading performance in China and the falling market capitalisation of the Holding Company, led JLR Group to perform an impairment assessment at both 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2019.

The JLR Group recognised an impairment of $\ref{27,837.91}$ crores during the year ended 31 March 2019 in connection with the aforesaid CGU.

The recoverable value is considered to be the higher of the JLR Group's assessment of the value in use ("VIU") methodology and fair value less costs of disposal ("FVLCD") methodology. There is a risk over the JLR Group's assessment and measurement of impairment and therefore the impairment of long-life intangible assets due to:

- VIU Model using optimistic expectations of key assumptions such as future sales volumes, gross margins, overheads and capital expenditure.
- FVLCD Model using optimistic adjustments to those cashflows used within the VIU model to reflect a market valuation of the JLR Group.

(Refer note $2 \{ r \}$ and note 7 of the consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures applied by the auditor of the component (JLR Group) included:

- Historical accuracy: Evaluated historical forecasting accuracy of key inputs, including cash forecasts by comparing the historical forecasts to the actual results;
- Historical comparisons: Assessed appropriateness of JLR Group's assumptions used in the cash flow projections by comparing those, where appropriate, to historical trends in volumes and margins.
- Benchmarking assumptions: Assessed appropriateness
 of the JLR Group's assumptions used in the cash flow
 projections by comparing to externally derived data in
 relation to key inputs such as sales volumes and cost
 inflation and where appropriate taking into consideration
 historical trends in volumes and margins.

- Benchmarking assumptions: Compared the JLR Group's discount rate and long-term growth rate calculation to external benchmark data and comparative companies' rates and reperformed the discount rate calculation using the Capital Asset Pricing Model with the assistance of their valuation specialists;
- Sensitivity analysis: Performed a sensitivity analysis over the reasonably possible combination of changes in the forecasts including the impact of potential downside scenarios including a hard Brexit, US tariffs and a slower-than-expected resurgence in the China market;
- Comparing valuations: Assessed the JLR Group's reconciliation between the estimated share of the Holding Company's market valuation and its VIU and FVLCD;
- Benchmarking assumptions: Compared the earnings multiple used in the FVLCD to comparative companies and to market data sources with the assistance of specialists;
- Assessing transparency: Assessed the completeness and accuracy of the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and ensured that the disclosure reflects the impact of reasonably possible downside assumptions on the amount of impairment.

Description of Key audit matter

Capitalisation of product engineering costs, reported by the component auditor of JLR Group

The application of the capitalisation criteria set out in IAS 38 by the JLR Group involves key judgements around the date capitalisation commences.

As a result of noting that the JLR Group capitalises a high proportion of costs related to its product development spend compared to its peers and the JLR group recognising an impairment charge of ₹27,837.91 crores over long-life assets during the year, the component auditor assessed that there is a risk of material misstatement.

The application of the capitalisation criteria set out in IAS 38 by the JLR Group involves key judgements whether the nature of costs capitalised are directly attributable.

 $(Refer note \ 2\{p\} \ and \ note \ 6 \ of the \ consolidated \ financial \ statements)$

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures applied by the auditor of the component (JLR Group) included:

Controls: Tested the control over the JLR Group's retrospective review of historically forecast material production costs at the point capitalisation commenced against actual costs observed in manufacture, being a key input to management's assessment of whether future economic benefit of development projects is probable; and the control over the JLR Group's judgements as to whether indirect personnel and overhead costs are considered directly attributable.

- Benchmarking assumptions: Compared the assumptions applied in JLR Group's assessment of economic viability to externally derived data in relation to key inputs such as projected volume sales;
- Assessing forecasts: Assessed the JLR Group's economic viability calculation by comparing relevant factors to source documentation, application of downside sensitivities to stress test assumptions; and work over the JLR Group's overall forecasts;
- Historical comparison: Performed a retrospective review to compare and assess previous economic viability assumptions against the actual outturn;
- Comparing valuations: Compared the volumes used in the economic viability forecast produced by the JLR Group to the value in use model used in the impairment of long-life assets' assessment for consistency;

Description of Key audit matter

Valuation of pension liabilities, as reported by the component auditor of JLR Group

Small changes in the key assumptions applied to the valuation of the liabilities being the discount rate, inflation rate and mortality / life expectancy used to value the JLR Group's pension obligation (before deducting scheme assets) would have a significant effect on the JLR Group's net pension deficit. The risk is that these assumptions are inappropriate resulting in an inappropriate valuation of scheme liabilities.

(Refer note 2(s) and note 37 of the consolidated financial statements)

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures applied by the auditor of the component (JLR Group) included:

- Controls: Tested the controls over the assumptions applied in the valuation and inspected the JLR Group's annual validation of the assumptions used by its actuarial expert. Tested the controls operating over selection and monitoring of its actuarial expert for competence and objectivity;
- Benchmarking assumptions: Challenged, with the support
 of their own actuarial specialists, the key assumptions
 applied to the valuation of the liabilities, being the discount
 rate, inflation rate and mortality/ life expectancy against
 externally derived data;
- Assessing transparency: Considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in respect of the sensitivity of the deficit to these assumptions.

Description of Key audit matter

Going concern, as reported by the component auditor of JLR Group

The financial statements of JLR Group have been prepared on a Going Concern basis.

That judgement is based on an evaluation of the inherent risks to the JLR Group's business model, in particular, risks associated with political uncertainty, and how those risks might affect the JLR Group's financial resources or ability to continue operations over a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements of the JLR Group.

The risks most likely to adversely affect the JLR Group's available financial resources over this period were:

- The impact of trading disputes between the US and China and the US and EU (leading to potential tariff changes), which are disrupting sales behaviour and consumer confidence in China and the US, and with the potential to cause significant costs to the export of goods;
- The impact of Brexit on the JLR Group's supply chain and on the export of goods by not maintaining free and frictionless trade.

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The audit procedures applied by the auditor of the component (JLR Group) included:

- Funding assessment: Evaluated JLR Group's financing terms;
- Key dependency assessment: Assessed sufficiency of JLR Group's resources to repay the debt falling due in at least the 18 months from the date of approval of the financial statements.
- Historical accuracy: Evaluated historical forecasting accuracy of key inputs, including cash forecasts by comparing to the actual results.
- Historical comparisons: Assessed appropriateness of assumptions used in the cash flow projections by comparing those, where appropriate, to historical trends in volumes and margins.
- Benchmarking assumptions: Assessed appropriateness
 of assumptions used in the cash flow projections by
 comparing to externally derived data in relation to key
 inputs such as sales volumes and cost inflation and where
 appropriate taking into consideration historical trends in
 volumes and margins.
- Sensitivity analysis: Considered sensitivities over the level of available financial resources indicated by the JLR Group's financial forecasts taking account of reasonably possible (but not unrealistic) adverse effects that could arise from these risks individually and collectively, such as increased tariffs as a result of Brexit, the US-EU and US-China trade disputes and tariff challenges;

Other Information

The Holding Company's management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Holding Company's annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed and based on the work done/ audit report of other auditors, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Holding Company's management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of the Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs, consolidated profit/loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group including its associates and joint ventures and joint operations in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures and joint operations are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of each company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective management and Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates, joint ventures and joint operations are responsible for assessing the ability of each company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates, joint ventures and joint operations is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of each company.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
 consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
 error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
 those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
 appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
 detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
 higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
 collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
 or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the appropriateness of this assumption. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group (company and subsidiaries) as well as associates and joint ventures and joint operations to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of such entities or business activities within the Group and its associates and joint ventures and joint operations to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, of which we are the independent auditors. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial information of such entities. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further described in para (a) of the section titled 'Other Matters' in this audit report.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along with the consideration of audit reports of the other auditors referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matters

(a) We did not audit the financial statements / financial information of three subsidiaries, seventy-seven step-down subsidiaries and one joint operation, whose financial statements / financial information reflect total assets of ₹225,217.80 crores as at 31 March 2019, total revenues of ₹234,568.66 crores and net cash flows amounting to ₹5,632.82 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements The consolidated financial statements also include the Group's share of net profit (and other comprehensive income) of ₹22.16 crores for the year ended 31 March 2019, in respect of six associates and two jointly controlled entities, whose financial statements / financial information have not

been audited by us. These financial statements / financial information have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, joint operation, associates and jointly controlled entities is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Certain of these subsidiaries and step-down subsidiaries are located outside India whose financial statements and other financial information have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries and which have been audited by other auditors under generally accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective countries. The Holding Company's Management has converted the financial statements of such subsidiaries and step-down subsidiaries located outside India from accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries to accounting principles generally accepted in India. We have audited these conversion adjustments made by the Holding Company's Management. Our opinion in so far as it relates to the balances and affairs of such subsidiaries and step-down subsidiaries located outside India is based on the reports of other auditors and the conversion adjustments prepared by the Management of the Holding Company and audited by us.

(b) The financial statements / financial information of four subsidiaries and six step-down subsidiaries, whose financial statements / financial information reflect total assets of ₹19,393.52 crores as at 31 March 2019, total revenues of ₹1,548.83 crores and net cash flows amounting to ₹181.42 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements have not been audited either by us or by other auditors. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group's share of net profit (and other comprehensive income) of ₹3.41 crores for the year ended 31 March 2019, as considered in the consolidated financial statements, in respect of one associate and one jointly controlled entity, whose financial statements / financial information have not been audited by us or by other auditors. These unaudited financial statements / financial information have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, associate and jointly controlled entity, is based solely on such unaudited financial statements / financial information. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us by the Management, these financial statements / financial information are not material to the Group.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and the financial statements / financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

- A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements of such subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, joint operations, associates, and jointly controlled entities as were audited by other auditors, as noted in the 'Other Matters' paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:
 - a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.
 - In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.
 - c) The consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
 - d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act.
 - e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 2019 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates, and jointly controlled entities incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its joint operations, associates, and jointly controlled entities incorporated in India is disqualified as on 31 March 2019 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.
 - f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities incorporated in India and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in "Annexure A".
- B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors' Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditor's) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities, as noted in the 'Other Matters' paragraph:

- The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2019 on the consolidated financial position of the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities. Refer note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
- iii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law or Ind AS, for material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts. Refer note 46(j) to the consolidated financial statements in respect of such items as it relates to the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities.
- iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company or its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities incorporated in India during the year ended 31 March 2019.
- iv. The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been made in the financial statements since they do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
- C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' report under section 197(16):

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on the reports of the statutory auditors of such subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities incorporated in India which were not audited by us, the remuneration paid during the current year by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities to its directors is in accordance with the provisions of Section 197 of the Act, as applicable. The remuneration paid to any director by the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities is not in excess of the limit laid down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.

For B S R & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Yezdi Nagporewalla

Place: Mumbai Partner
Date: 20 May 2019 Membership No: 049265

Annexure A to the Independent Auditors' Report - 31 March 2019

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid Consolidated Financial Statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act")

(Referred to in paragraph A(f) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' section of our report of even date)

Opinion

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended 31 March 2019, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (hereinafter referred to as "the Holding Company") and such companies incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 2013 which are its subsidiary companies, its joint operations, its associates and its jointly controlled entities, as of that date.

In our opinion, the Holding Company and such companies incorporated in India which are its subsidiary companies, its joint operations, its associates and its jointly controlled entities, have, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2019, based on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements criteria established by such companies considering the essential components of such internal controls stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the "Guidance Note").

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Company's management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements based on the criteria established by the respective company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as "the Act").

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under

Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors of the relevant joint operation, associates and jointly controlled entity in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matter paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to consolidated financial statements

A company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to consolidated financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Other matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements in so far as it relates to one joint operation, two associates and one jointly controlled entity, which are companies incorporated in India, is based solely on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

For BSR&Co.LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Yezdi Nagporewalla

Mumbai Partner 20 May 2019 Membership No: 049265

Consolidated Balance Sheet

			(₹ in crores)
	Notes	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
I. ASSETS		March 31, 2013	March 31, 2010
(1) NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
(a) Property, plant and equipment	3	72,619.86	73,867.84
(b) Capital work-in-progress		8,538.17	16,142.94
(c) Goodwill	5	747.87	116.45
(d) Other intangible assets	6 (a)	37,866.74	47,429.57
(e) Intangible assets under development	6 (b)	23,345.67	23,890.56
(f) Investment in equity accounted investees	8	4,743.38	4,887.89
(g) Financial assets:		1 (07 51	707.70
(i) Other investments	9	1,497.51	763.76
(ii) Finance receivables	17	22,073.17	15,479.53
(iii) Loans and advances	1112	407.42	495.41
(iv) Other financial assets		2,809.18	4,563.87
(h) Deferred tax assets (net)	21	5,151.11	4,158.70
(i) Non-current tax assets (net) (i) Other non-current assets	19	1,024.56	899.90
(j) Other non-current assets	19	2,938.73	2,681.25
(2) CURRENT ASSETS		183,763.37	195,377.67
(a) Inventories	13	39,013.73	42,137.63
	8 (c)	591.50	42,137.03
(b) Investment in equity accounted investees (held for sale) (c) Financial assets:	O(L)	591.50	497.33
	10	8.938.33	14.663.75
(i) Other investments (ii) Trade receivables	14	18.996.17	19,893.30
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	15	21.559.80	14,716.75
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	16	11,089.02	19,897.16
(v) Finance receivables	- 1 0	11,551.52	8,401.65
(vi) Loans and advances	11	1,268.70	1,451.14
(vii) Other financial assets	12	3,213.56	3,857.64
(d) Current tax assets (net)		184.37	208.91
(e) Assets classified as held-for-sale	46 (b)	162.24	2,585.19
(f) Other current assets	20	6,862.22	7,662.37
(i) Other current assets		123,431.16	135,972.84
TOTAL ASSETS		307,194,53	331,350.51
II. EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
EQUITY			
(a) Equity share capital	22	679.22	679.22
(b) Other equity *	23	59,500.34	94,748.69
Equity attributable to owners of Tata Motors Ltd		60,179.56	95,427.91
Non-controlling interests		523.06	525.06
		60,702.62	95,952.97
LIABILITIES			
(1) NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES			
(a) Financial liabilities:			
(i) Borrowings	25	70,973.67	61,199.50
(ii) Other financial liabilities	27	2,792.71	2,739.14
(b) Provisions	29	11,854.85	10,948.44
(c) Deferred tax liabilities (net)	21	1,491.04	6,125.80
(d) Other non-current liabilities	30	13,922.21	11,165.19
(2)		101,034.48	92,178.07
(2) CURRENT LIABILITIES			
(a) Financial liabilities:		20.452.20	40.70/05
(i) Borrowings	26	20,150.26	16,794.85
(ii) Trade payables		170.00	1//0/
(a) Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises		130.69	144.24
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises		68,382.84	71,894.17
(iii) Acceptances	28	3,177.14	4,901.42
(iv) Other financial liabilities		32,855.65	31,267.49
(b) Provisions (c) Current tax liabilities (net)	29	10,196.75 1,017.64	7,953.50 1,559.07
(d) Liabilities directly associated with Assets held-for-sale	46 (b)	1,017.04	1,559.07
(e) Other current liabilities		9.546.46	7.634.55
(e) Other current dabitities	31	145,457.43	143,219.47
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		307,194.53	331,350.51
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	1 74 004	307,134.53	331,330.51

^{*} Includes other comprehensive income relating to assets held for sale amounting to ₹ (6.64) crores as at March 31, 2018. See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

In terms of our report attached For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] Chairman F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633] V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908]

Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO and Managing Director

S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948] ED and Chief Operating Officer

P B BALAJI Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss

		Notes	Year ended	(₹ in crores)
		Notes	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
l.	Revenue from operations	32		•
	(a) Revenue		299,190.59	289,386.25
	(b) Other Operating Revenues		2,747.81 301,938.40	2,954.39 292,340.64
II.	Total revenue from operations Other income (includes Government grants)	33	2,965.31	3,957.59
iii.	Total Income (I+II)		304,903.71	296,298,23
IV.	Expenses:		304,303.71	250,250.25
	(a) Cost of materials consumed			
	(i) Cost of materials consumed		182,254.45	173,371.19
	(ii) Basis adjustment on hedge accounted derivatives		(1,245.37) 13,258.83	(1,378.60) 15,903.99
	(b) Purchase of products for sale (c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale		2,053.28	(2,046.58)
	(d) Excise duty		2,033.26	790.16
	(e) Employee benefits expense	34	33.243.87	30,300.09
	(f) Finance costs	35	5,758.60	4,681.79
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)		905.91	(1,185.28)
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense		23,590.63	21,553.59
	(i) Product development/Engineering expenses	7.0	4,224.57	3,531.87
	(j) Other expenses (k) Amount transferred to capital and other account	36	62,238.12 (19.659.59)	60,184.21 (18,588.09)
	Total Expenses (IV)		306,623.30	287,118.34
V.	Profit before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)		(1,719.59)	9,179.89
VI.	Exceptional Items:		(1,713.33)	3,173.03
	(a) Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost/(credit)	46 (d)	147.93	(3,609.01)
	(b) Employee separation cost	46 (f)	1,371.45	3.68
	(c) Provision for / impairment of capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development (net)	46 (c)	180.97	1,641.38
	(d) Provision for costs of closure of operation of a subsidiary company	46 (e)	381.01	-
	(e) Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover	46 (a)	27,837.91	
	(f) Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary company (g) Others	46 (j) 46 (i)	(376.98) 109.27	(11.19)
VII.	Profit/(Loss) before tax (V-VI)	40 (1)	(31,371.15)	11,155.03
VIII.	Tax expense/(credit) (net):	21	(31,371.13)	11,133.03
	(a) Current tax (including Minimum Alternate Tax)		2,225.23	3,303.46
	(b) Deferred tax		(4,662.68)	1,038.47
	Total tax expense/(credit)		(2,437.45)	4,341.93
IX.	Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (VII-VIII)		(28,933.70)	6,813.10
X. XI.	Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net) Profit/(loss) for the year (IX+X)	8	209.50 (28.724.20)	2,278.26 9.091.36
ΛΙ.	Attributable to:		(20,724.20)	9,091.36
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		(28,826.23)	8.988.91
	(b) Non-controlling interests		102.03	102.45
XII.	Other comprehensive income/(loss):			
	(A) (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:		(
	(a) Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)		(2,561.26)	4,676.51
	(b) Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (net) (c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net)		35.60 11.15	42.86 (7.16)
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net) (d) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges of forecast inventory purchases		(1,746.24)	1.227.74
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss		697.41	(991.02)
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (B) (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:			(/
	 (a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations 		(2,010.22)	9,518.15
	(b) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges		52.82	18,069.71
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net)		(58.61)	429.41
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss		3.58 (5,575.77)	(3,403.69) 29,562.51
	Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (net of tax) Attributable to:		(5,575.77)	29,562.51
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		(5,575.50)	29.535.61
	(b) Non-controlling interests		(0.27)	26.90
XIII.	Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (net of tax) (XI+XII)		(34,299.97)	38,653.87
	Attributable to:		(=,,,,,,==)	
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		(34,401.73)	38,524.52
XIV.	(b) Non-controlling interests Faccings per equity share (FDS)	44	101.76	129.35
VI A	Earnings per equity share (EPS) (a) Ordinary shares (face value of 2 each):	44		
	(i) Basic EPS	₹	(84.89)	26.46
	(ii) Diluted EPS	₹	(84.89)	26.45
	(b) 'A' Ordinary shares (face value of 2 each):		(555)	25.15
	(i) Basic EPS	₹	(84.89)	26.56
	(ii) Diluted EPS	₹	(84.89)	26.55
See a	accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements			

In terms of our report attached For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

For and on behalf of the Board N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] Chairman F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633] V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908] Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO and Managing Director

S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948] ED and Chief Operating Officer

P B BALAJI Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

	Year ended	(₹ in crores Year ended
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit/(Loss) for the year	(28,724.20)	9,091.36
Adjustments for:	(),	.,
Depreciation and amortisation expense	23,590.63	21,553.59
Allowances for finance receivables	320.24	43.30
Allowances for trade and other receivables	214.19	14.57
Inventory write-down	608.63	607.42
Provision for costs of closure of operations of a subsidiary company	381.01	
Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover	27,837.91	
Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service cost/(credit)	147.93	(3,609.01)
Employee separation cost	1,367.22	(5,005.01)
Exceptional items- Others	109.27	(11.19)
Marked-to-market on investments measured at fair value through profit or loss	(238.54)	(32.05)
	1,106.56	2,382.55
Loss on sale of assets/impairment (including assets scrapped/written off) (net) Profit on sale of investments (net)	(128.61)	(129.26)
· ·		(129.20)
Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary	(376.98)	- (c.o.2)
Gain on fair value of below market interest loans	(13.37)	(6.02)
Fair value gain on disposal of joint venture	(222.50)	(19.06)
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	(209.50)	(2,278.26)
Tax expense (net)	(2,437.45)	4,341.93
Finance costs	5,758.60	4,681.79
Interest income	(786.46)	(711.81)
Dividend income	(17.28)	(15.77)
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss (net)	252.63	(2,591.80)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in following assets and liabilities	28,762.43	33,312.28
Finance receivables	(10,063.79)	(6,361.22)
Trade receivables	954.70	(4,326.58)
Loans and advances and other financial assets	230.13	(3,343.38)
Other current and non-current assets	294.88	151.25
Inventories	2,068.64	(3,560.43)
Trade payables and acceptances	(4,683.69)	7,320.34
Other current and non-current liabilities	4,365.55	(4,756.95)
Other financial liabilities	(30.01)	1,541.98
Provisions	(348.66)	6,901.29
Cash generated from operations	21,550.18	26,878.58
Income tax paid (net)	(2,659.43)	(3,021.16)
Net cash from operating activities	18,890.75	23,857.42
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(17,419.55)	(19,865.43)
Payments for other intangible assets	(17,883.97)	(15,213.49)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	67.23	30.30
Investments in Mutual Fund (purchased)/sold (net)	5,639.02	2,361.09
Excess of cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary company		14.45
Investment in equity accounted investees	(9.31)	(4.21)
Investments in others	(130.01)	(328.78)
Loans given to others	(3.42)	(320.70)
Loans given to others Loans given to joint ventures and associates	(3.75)	
Proceeds from sale of investments in a subsidiary company	532.96	
Proceeds from sale of investments in a subsidiary companies Proceeds from sale of investments in other companies	5.18	19.43
Interest received	760.52	690.47
IIILEI ESCI ECCIVEU	700.52	030.47

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Dividend received	17.28	15.77
Dividend received from equity accounted investees	214.98	1.781.64
Deposits with financial institution	(500.03)	1,701.04
Deposits/restricted deposits with banks	(24,331.07)	(48,260.05)
Realisation of deposits/restricted deposits with banks	33,342.59	52,557.20
(Increase) / decrease in short term Inter-corporate deposits	(1.98)	-
Payments for acquisition of minority stake of subsidiary	(7.76)	_
Net cash used in investing activities	(19,711.09)	(26,201.61)
Cash flows from financing activities:	(==,=====,	(==,=====,
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance (net of issue expenses)	_	0.00*
Proceeds from long-term borrowings	26,101.86	15,145.21
Repayment of long-term borrowings	(13,345.89)	(10,587.25)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings	20,112.46	15,008.73
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(21,852.13)	(19,376.62)
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months)	4,913.90	7,328.24
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests shareholders of subsidiaries (including dividend distribution tax)	(94.74)	(95.96)
Interest paid [including discounting charges paid ₹1,201.20 crores (March 31,2018 ₹918.90 crores)]	(7,005.09)	(5,410.64)
Net cash from financing activities	8,830.37	2,011.71
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	8,010.03	(332.48)
Cash and cash equivalents as at April 01, (opening balance)	14,716.75	13,986.76
Reversal of/(classified as) held for sale	243.94	(243.94)
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	(1,410.92)	1,306.41
Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, (closing balance)	21,559.80	14,716.75
Non-cash transactions:		
Liability towards property, plant and equipment and intangible assets purchased on credit/deferred credit	7,286.32	8,346.54
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash transactions:		
Exchange differences	1,120.15	2,768.03
Classified as held for sale	-	(142.55)
Amortisation of prepaid discounting charges	158.19	202.70
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements		
* less than ₹50,000/-		

In terms of our report attached		For and on behalf of the Board	
For B S R & Co. LLP	N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863]	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]	GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
Chartered Accountants	Chairman		CEO and Managing Director
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022		F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]	
			S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
		V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]	ED and Chief Operating Officer

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA

artner O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] P B BALAJI

Membership No. 049265 Group Chief Financial Officer

R SPETH [DIN:03318908]

H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]
Directors Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 20, 2019 Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2019

A. Equity Share Capital

	≥)	(₹ in crores)													
Particulars	Equity Share Cap	are Capital													
Balance as at April 1, 2018		679.22													
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance		'													
Balance as at March 31, 2019		679.22													
B. Other Equity														<u>r</u>	(# in crosse)
Particulars				Reserves							Other co	Other components of equity	fequity		
	Securities Premium F	Share- based ra payments reserve	Capital Debenture redemption reserve reserve	្ត្រី	Special reserve	Eamed surplus reserve	Capital Reserve	Retained earnings	Equity I instruments I through Other Comprehensive Income	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	utable ners of Motors imited	Non- controlling interests	Total other equity
Balance as at April 1, 2018	18,891.93	ļ ·	2.28 1,085.94		379.43	44.06 1	1,164.20 7	71,818.12	22.82 (3,6	(3,626.04)	143.98	4,621.23	94,748.69	525.06 9	95,273.75
Effect of transition to Ind AS 115					ı			(41.80)	ı				(41.80)	ı	(41.80)
Profit/(loss) for the year			1		ı		- (2	(28,826.23)			1		(28,826.23)	102.03 (28,724.20)	8,724.20)
Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the year		1	1	1			-	(2,174.01)	44.19 (1,150.98)		(225.86)	(2,068.84)	(5,575.50)	(0.27) (5	(0.27) (5,575.77)
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year	ı	ı		,	,	,	- (3	(31,000.24)	44.19 (1,1	(1,150.98)	(225.86)	(225.86) (2,068.84)	(34,401.73)	101.76 (34,299.97)	4,299.97)
Amounts recognised in inventory			1						9) -	(825.60)	11.08		(814.52)		(814.52)
Acquisition of minority		1	1		1			1.26	ı		1	•	1.26	(8.02)	(7.76)
Realised gain on investments held at fair value through Other comprehensive income	1	1	1	1				4.93	(4.93)	1	,	'	ı	1	•
Dividend paid (including dividend tax)	ı	ı		1			ı		ı	ı	ı	1	ı	(94.74)	(94.74)
Share-based payments		8.44	1		1			'	ı			'	8.44		8.44
Transfer (from)/to retained earnings	'	'		'	61.40	1.59	'	(62.99)		'		1	'	,	'
Balanceas at March 31, 2019	18,891.93	8.44	2.28 1,085.94	200.74	440.83	45.65 1	1,164.20 4	40,719.28	62.08 (5,602.62)	(02.62)	(20.80)	2,552.39	59,500.34	523.06 6	60,023.40
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements	nsolidated fin	ancial stat	ements				요	r and on be	For and on behalf of the Board	_					
In terms of our report attached For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022	id V/W-100022		N CHANDRASEKARAN <i>[DIN: 00121863]</i> Chairman	SEKARAN [DIN: 001	21863]	2 L	I MUNJEE S NAYAR [N MUNJEE <i>[DIN:00010180</i>] FS NAYAR <i>[DIN:00003633]</i>	lo 11		GUENTER CEO and M	GUENTER BUTSCHEK (DIN: 07427375) CEO and Managing Director	JIN: 07427; ctor	575]
VEZDINAGOODEWAALIA							>	KJAIRATH	V K JAIRATH <i>[DIN:00391684</i>]	84]		ED and Chi	S B BORWAINNAK (DIN. 01793940) ED and Chief Operating Officer	orv 33340, Officer	
Tezul Nagburewalla Partner Membership No. 049265							0	P BHATT	O P BHATT <i>[DIN:00548091]</i>	1]		P B BALAJI Group Chiel	P B BALAJI Group Chief Financial Officer	ficer	
-							œ	SPETH [D	R SPETH [DIN:03318908]			HKSETHN	IA (FCS: 3507	,	
							J	Directors				Company S	Company Secretary		

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2018 A. Equity Share Capital

Particular Par	A. Equity Share Capital		₹ in crores)													
Securities Capital Dehentor Reserves Foreign February Fe	Particulars	Equity Sha	are Capital													
Secretary Secr	Balance as at April 1, 2017		679.22													
Securities	Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance		*													
Securities Capital Debenture Reserve reser	Balance as at March 31, 2018		679.22													
Securities Cepital Debenius Reserve	*less than ₹50,000/-															
Securities	B. Other Equity														2)	in crores)
Securities Carcinida periadra Special Enned Carcinida Prenium redundure Reserve Reserve Prenium redundure Reserve Rese	Particulars				Reserves							Other co	mponents of	equity		
18,891.93 228 1,085.94 165.79 292.46 3218 1,164.20 590.5314 19.26 17.911.65 17		_	Capital D edemption re reserve	-				Capital Reserve	_	Equity instruments through Other comprehensive Income	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	Attributable to Owners of can Tata Motors Limited	Non- controlling interests	Total other equity
1.00 1.00	Balance as at April 1, 2017	18,891.93		,085.94					59,053.14		17,911.63)		(5,300.13)	57,382.67		7,835.84
Part	Profit / (loss) for the period								8,988.91					8,988.91	102.45	9,091.36
No.	Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year	1			ı	1	ı		3,909.10	42.86	15,444.99	217.30	9,921.36	29,535.61	26.90	9,562.51
1.1156 0.00	Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year	1			1	1	ı		.2,898.01	42.86	15,444.99	217.30	9,921.36	38,524.52		8,653.87
Higher Company Compa	Amounts recognised in inventory	1	•	•	1	1	1	•	•	•	(1,159.40)	0.90	1	(1,158.50)		1,158.50
Itions For the proof of the Board For the For th	Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	*00:0			1	1	ı	ı	1		1	1	1	1	1	0.00
115 115	Minority interest on acquisitions during the year	1			1	1	ı	1	1		1	ı	ı	1	98.62	98.62
tts treating t	Distribution to Minority	1					1		•	•		1	•	į	(39.99)	(39.99
https:	Minority interest changes during the year	1			1	1	ı				1	1	i	1	(60.12)	(60.12
18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 200.74 379.43 44.06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06	Realised gain on investments held at fair value through Other comprehensive income	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0.78	(0.78)	ı	1	1	ı	1	·
earnings 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 200.74 379.43 44.06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 200.74 379.43 44.06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 200.74 379.43 44.06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 4,06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 4,06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 4,06 1,164.20 71,818.12 2.282 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 18,891.93 2.28 1,085.94 1,085	Dividend paid (including dividend tax)	1										1	•		(25.97)	(55.97
018 18,991.93 2.28 1,085.94 200.74 379,43 44,06 1,164.20 71,818.12 22.82 (3,626.04) 143.98 4,621.23 94,748.69 525.06 0 consolidated financial statements For and on behalf of the Board For and on behalf of the Board GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 0722 chebal N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJJE [DIN: 00003633] GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07742 Chairman F S NAYAR [DIN: 00003633] S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 0179394 S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 0179394 O P BHATT [DIN: 00391884] PB BALAJI PB BALAJI R SPETH [DIN: 03318908] H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Directors Mumbai, May 20, 2019	Transfer (from)/to retained earnings	1			34.96		11.88		(133.81)					*,		
consolidated financial statements In CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] IN MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] Chairman (48W/W-100022 Chairman F S NAYAR [DIN:0003633] V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908] Directors	Balance as at March 31, 2018	18,891.93	2.28 1,	085.94	200.74 3		44.06 1,1	164.20 7	1,818.12	22.82	(3,626.04)	143.98	4,621.23	94,748.69		5,273.75
ched N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] ched N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] (48W/W-100022 Chairman F S NAYAR [DIN:00031684] (48W/W-100022 V K JAIRATH [DIN:00548091] (50 P BHATT [DIN:005318908] P SPETH [DIN:035318908]	* less than ₹50,000/-															
iched N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] Chairman FS NAYAR [DIN:00003633] V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908]	See accompanying notes to consolidate	ed financial sta	itements					P.	r and on bel	half of the Bo	ard					
V K.JAIRATH [DIN:00391684] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908] Directors	In terms of our report attached For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100	1022	N C	:HANDRAS sirman	EKARAN	[DIN: 001	21863]		N MUNJEE F S NAYAR	[DIN:00010] [DIN:00003	7180] 633]		GUENTER I CEO and M.	BUTSCHEK [I anaging Direc	DIN: 07427 ctor . 01 793973	375]
Directors	YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265							, , ,	V K JAIRAT O P BHATT R SPETH [I	H [DIN:0039 [DIN:00548 DIN:0331890	11684] 3091] 38]		ED and Chi	ef Operating (Financial Of A FFCS: 3507	Officer Ficer 7]	2
	Mumbai, May 20, 2019								Directors				<i>Company</i> S Mumbai, Ma	<i>iecretary</i> ay 20, 2019		

1. Background and operations

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries and joint operations, (collectively referred to as "the Company" or "Tata Motors"), designs, manufactures and sells a wide range of automotive vehicles. The Company provides financing for the vehicles sold by dealers of the Company in certain markets. The Company also manufactures engines for industrial and marine applications, aggregates such as axles and transmissions for commercial vehicles and factory automation equipment, and provides information technology services.

Tata Motors Limited is a public limited Company incorporated and domiciled in India and has its registered office in Mumbai, India. As at March 31, 2019, Tata Sons Private Limited together with its subsidiaries, owns 38.52% of the Ordinary shares and 0.09% of 'A' Ordinary shares of the Company, and has the ability to significantly influence the Company's operation.

The Company's operations include the Jaguar Land Rover business (referred to as JLR or Jaguar Land Rover).

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on May 20, 2019.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS as notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act").

b. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below.

c. Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company (a) has power over the investee, (b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and (c) has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements listed above. In assessing control, potential voting rights

that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Inter-company transactions and balances including unrealised profits are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company's equity. The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if it results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance. Changes in the Company's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. When the Company loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under Ind-AS 109 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint operations

Certain of the Company's activities, are conducted through joint operations, which are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Company recognises, in the consolidated financial statements, its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of these joint operations incurred jointly with the other partners, along with its share of income from the sale of the output and any assets, liabilities and expenses that it has incurred in relation to the joint operation.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below.

Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control those policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below.

Equity method of accounting (equity accounted investees)

An interest in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date in which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture and are recognised initially at cost. The Company's investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share

of profits or losses and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments in the nature of net investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

When the Company transacts with an associate or joint venture of the Company, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Company's interest in its associate or joint venture.

d. Business combination

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. Acquisition related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except certain assets and liabilities required to be measured as per the applicable standard.

Purchase consideration in excess of the Company's interest in the acquiree's net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill. Excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration is recognised, after reassessment of fair value of net assets acquired, in the Capital Reserve.

e. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions, that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected. In particular, information about significant areas

of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are included in the following notes:

- Note 3 and 6 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – Useful lives and impairment
- ii) Note 5 Impairment of goodwill
- iii) Note 6 and 7 Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets
- iv) Note 21 Recoverability/recognition of deferred tax assets
- v) Note 29 Provision for product warranty
- vi) Note 37 Assets and obligations relating to employee benefits
- vii) Note 17 Allowances for credit losses for finance receivables

f. Revenue recognition

The Company generates revenue principally from -

 a) Sale of products – (i) commercial and passenger vehicles and vehicle parts and (ii) Sales of other products - certain software products and other automotive products

The Company recognises revenues on the sale of products, net of discounts, sales incentives, customer bonuses and rebates granted, when products are delivered to dealers or when delivered to a carrier for export sales, which is when control including risks and rewards and title of ownership pass to the customer. Sale of products is presented net of excise duty where applicable and other indirect taxes.

The consideration received in respect of transport arrangements for delivering of vehicles to the customers are recognised net of their costs within revenues in the income statement.

Revenues are recognised when collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

Sale of services - maintenance service and extended warranties for commercial and passenger vehicles, software support services and insurance broking services. Income from sale of maintenance services and extended warranties, including software services are recognised as income over the relevant period of service or extended warranty.

When the Company sells products that are bundled with maintenance service or extended period of warranty, such services are treated as a separate performance obligation only if the service or warranty is optional to the customer or includes an additional service component. In such cases, the transaction price allocated towards such maintenance service or extended period of warranty is recognised as a contract liability until the service obligation has been met.

The Company operates certain customer loyalty programs under which customer is entitled to reward points on the spend towards Company's products. The reward points earned by customers can be redeemed to claim discounts on future purchase of certain products or services. Transaction price allocated towards reward points granted to customers is recognised as a deferred income liability and transferred to income when customers redeem their reward points.

For certain sale of services wherein performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time, any amount received in advance is recorded as contract liability and recognised as revenue when service is rendered to customers. Any amount of income accrued but not billed to customers in respect of such contracts is recorded as a contract asset. Such contract assets are transferred to Trade receivables on actual billing to customers.

Refund liabilities comprise of obligation towards customers to pay for discounts and sales incentives.

Proceeds from sale of vehicles for which the Company or any of its subsidiaries have retained buy back obligation in future is recorded as a liabilities – (i) Proceeds received in excess of agreed buy back price is recognised as Deferred income liability and (ii) the agreed buy back price is recognised as Buy back liability. Deferred income liability is recognised as operating lease income on time proportionate basis over date of sale and date of buy back.

- Financing revenues Interest income from financing transactions and income from leasing of vehicles to customers.
- finance and service charges are accrued on the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables using the effective interest method.

q. Government grants and incentives

Other income includes export and other recurring and non-recurring incentives from Government (referred as "incentives").

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the relevant conditions and the grant will be received.

These are recognised in the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss, either on a systematic basis when the Company recognises, as expenses, the related costs that the grants are intended to compensate or, immediately if the costs have already been incurred. Government grants related to assets are deferred and amortised over the useful life of the asset. Government grants related to income are presented as an offset against the related expenditure, and government grants that are awarded as incentives with no ongoing performance obligations to the Company are recognised as income in the period in which the grant is received.

h. Cost recognition

Costs and expenses are recognised when incurred and are classified according to their nature.

Expenditure capitalised represents employee costs, stores and other manufacturing supplies, and other expenses incurred for construction including product development undertaken by the Company.

i. Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

i) Product warranty expenses

The estimated liability for product warranties are recorded when products are sold. These estimates are established using historical information on the nature, frequency and average cost of warranty claims and management estimates regarding possible future incidences based on actions on product failures. The timing of outflows will vary as and when warranty claim will arise, being typically up to six years. The Company also has back-to-back contractual arrangement with its suppliers in the event that a vehicle fault is proven to be a supplier's fault.

Estimates are made of the expected reimbursement claim based upon historical levels of recoveries from supplier, adjusted for inflation and applied to the population of vehicles under warranty as on balance sheet date. Supplier reimbursements are recognised as separate asset.

ii) Residual risk

In certain markets, the Company is responsible for the residual risk arising on vehicles sold by dealers under leasing arrangements. The provision is based on the latest available market expectations of future residual value trends. The timing of the outflows will be at the end of the lease arrangements being typically up to three years.

iii) Legal and product liability

Legal and product liability provision is recorded in respect of compliance with regulations and known litigations which impact the Company. The product liability claim primarily relates to motor accident claims, consumer complaints, dealer terminations, personal injury claims and compliance with regulations.

iv) Environmental liability

Environmental liability relates to various environmental remediation cost such as asbestos removal and land clean up. The timing of when these costs will be incurred is not known with certainty.

j. Foreign currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupees, which is the functional currency of Tata Motors Limited. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the

date of transaction. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are re-measured into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss except to the extent, exchange differences which are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings, are capitalised as part of borrowing costs.

For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated to Indian rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date, and the income and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising on such translation are recognised as currency translation reserve under equity. Exchange differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously recognised in currency translation reserve in equity are not reclassified from equity to profit or loss until the disposal of the operation.

k. Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss except when they relate to items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case tax is also recognised outside profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for business combination. In the case of a business combination the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination. Current income taxes are determined based on respective taxable income of each taxable entity and tax rules applicable for respective tax jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilised business loss and depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed separately for each taxable entity and for each taxable jurisdiction. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry forwards and unused tax credits could be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is

settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l. Cash & cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term (three months or less from the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

m. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share has been computed by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Partly paid up shares are included as fully paid equivalents according to the fraction paid up. Diluted earnings per share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares and dilutive potential shares, except where the result would be anti-dilutive.

n. Inventories

Inventories (other than those recognised consequent to the sale of vehicles subject to repurchase arrangements) are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw materials, components and consumables are ascertained on a first in first out basis. Cost, including fixed and variable production overheads, are allocated to work-in-progress and finished goods determined on a full absorption cost basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost of completion and selling expenses. Inventories include vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements. These vehicles are carried at cost to the Company and are amortised in changes in inventories of finished goods to their residual values (i.e., estimated second hand sale value) over the term of the arrangement.

o. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation less accumulated impairment, if any. Freehold land is measured at cost and is not depreciated. Heritage assets, comprising antique vehicles purchased by the Company, are not depreciated as they are

considered to have a residual value in excess of cost. Residual values are re-assessed on an annual basis. Cost includes purchase price, taxes and duties, labour cost and direct overheads for self-constructed assets and other direct costs incurred up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use.

Interest cost incurred for constructed assets is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings, if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset. Depreciation is provided on the Straight Line Method (SLM) over the estimated useful lives of the assets considering the nature, estimated usage, operating conditions, past history of replacement, anticipated technological changes, manufacturer's warranties and maintenance support. Taking into account these factors, the Company and its domestic group companies have decided to retain the useful life hitherto adopted for various categories of property, plant and equipment, which are different from those prescribed in Schedule II of the Act.

Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Type of Asset	Estimated
	useful life
Buildings, Roads, Bridge and culverts	4 to 60 years
Plant, machinery and equipment	3 to 30 years
Computers and other IT assets	3 to 6 years
Vehicles	3 to 11 years
Furniture, fixtures and office appliances	3 to 21 years

The useful lives and method of deprecation is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as change in accounting estimates. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

Depreciation is not recorded on capital work-in-progress until construction and installation are complete and the asset is ready for its intended use.

p. Other intangible assets

Intangible assets purchased, including those acquired in business combinations, are measured at cost or fair value as of the date of acquisition where applicable less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite-life assessment continues to

be supportable. If not, the change in the useful-life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Type of Asset	Estimated useful life
Patents and technological knowhow	2 to 12 years
Computer software	1 to 8 years
Customer related intangibles - dealer network	20 years
Intellectual property rights	3 to 10 years

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Internally generated intangible asset

Research costs are charged to the statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they are incurred. Product development costs incurred on new vehicle platform, engines, transmission and new products are recognised as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Company has committed technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate probable future economic benefits. The costs capitalised include the cost of materials, direct labour and directly attributable overhead expenditure incurred up to the date the asset is available for use. Interest cost incurred is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset. Product development cost is amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 24 months to 120 months. Product development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any.

q. Leases

At the inception of a lease, the lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, based on the substance of the lease arrangement.

Assets taken on finance lease

A finance lease is recognised as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of

the minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also capitalised and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets taken on operating lease

Leases other than finance leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognised on the Company's balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

r. Impairment

i) Goodwill

Cash generating units to which goodwill is allocated are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Goodwill impairment loss recognised is not reversed in subsequent period.

Property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that any property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives may be impaired. If any such impairment exists the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to determine the extent of impairment, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or earlier, if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable amount is

the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of Profit and Loss.

s. Employee benefits

i) Pension plans

Jaguar Land Rover operate defined benefit pension plans for certain of its subsidiaries, which are contracted out of the second state pension scheme until April 5, 2016. The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee administered funds. The plans provide for monthly pension after retirement as per salary drawn and service period as set out in rules of each fund.

Contributions to the plans by the Jaguar Land Rover subsidiaries take into consideration the results of actuarial valuations. The plans with a surplus position at the year-end have been limited to the maximum economic benefit available from unconditional rights to refund from the scheme or reduction in future contributions. Where the subsidiary group is considered to have a contractual obligation to fund the pension plan above the accounting value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation is recognised. A separate defined contribution plan is available to employees of Jaguar Land Rover. Costs in respect of this plan are charged to the statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

ii) Gratuity

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries and joint operations in India have an obligation towards gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in employment or on termination of employment of an amount equivalent to 15

300

to 30 days salary payable for each completed year of service. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries make annual contributions to gratuity funds established as trusts or insurance companies. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries in India account for the liability for gratuity benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

iii) Superannuation

Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries in India have two superannuation plans, a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. An eligible employee as on April 1, 1996 could elect to be a member of either plan. Employees who are members of the defined benefit superannuation plan are entitled to benefits depending on the years of service and salary drawn. The monthly pension benefits after retirement range from 0.75% to 2% of the annual basic salary for each year of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for superannuation benefits payable in future under the plan based on an actuarial valuation.

With effect from April 1, 2003, this plan was amended and benefits earned by covered employees have been protected as at March 31, 2003. Employees covered by this plan are prospectively entitled to benefits computed on a basis that ensures that the annual cost of providing the pension benefits would not exceed 15% of salary. During the year ended March 31, 2015, the employees covered by this plan were given a one-time option to exit from the plan prospectively. Furthermore, the employees who opted for exit were given one- time option to withdraw accumulated balances from the superannuation plan. Separate irrevocable trusts are maintained for employees covered and entitled to benefits. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries contribute up to 15% or ₹ 150,000, whichever is lower, of the eligible employees' salary to the trust every year. Such contributions are recognised as an expense when incurred. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries have no further obligation beyond this contribution.

iv) Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana (BKY)

Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana is an unfunded defined benefit plan for employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries. The benefits of the plan include pension in certain cases, payable up to the date of normal superannuation had the employee been in service, to an eligible employee at the time of death or permanent disablement, while in service, either as a result of an injury or as certified by the appropriate authority. The monthly payment to dependents of the deceased/disabled employee under the plan equals 50% of the salary drawn at the time of death or accident or a specified amount, whichever is greater. Tata Motors Limited and these subsidiaries account for the liability for BKY benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

v) Provident fund and family pension

In accordance with Indian law, eligible employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries and joint operations are entitled to receive benefits in respect of provident fund, a defined contribution plan, in which both employees and the Company make monthly contributions at a specified percentage of the covered employees' salary (currently 12% of employees' salary). The contributions, as specified under the law, are made to the provident fund and pension fund set up as an irrevocable trust by Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries or to respective Regional Provident Fund Commissioner and the Central Provident Fund under the State Pension scheme. The interest rate payable to the members of the trust shall not be lower than the statutory rate of interest declared by the Central Government under the Employees Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and shortfall, if any, shall be made good by the Company. The embedded interest rate guarantee is considered to be defined benefit. The liability in respect of the short fall of interest earnings of the Fund is determined on the basis of an actuarial valuation. There is no shortfall as at March 31, 2019.

vi) Severance indemnity

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited, or TDCV, a subsidiary company incorporated in Korea; has an obligation towards severance indemnity, a defined benefit retirement plan, covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump sum payment to all employees with more than one year of employment equivalent to 30 days' salary payable for each completed year of service.

vii) Post-retirement medicare scheme

Under this unfunded scheme, employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries receive medical benefits subject to certain limits on amounts of benefits, periods after retirement and types of benefits, depending on their grade and location at the time of retirement. Employees separated from the Company as part of an Early Separation Scheme, on medical grounds or due to permanent disablement are also covered under the scheme.

Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for the liability for post-retirement medical scheme based on an actuarial valuation.

viii) Compensated absences

Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries and joint operations provide for the encashment of leave or leave with pay subject to certain rules. The employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future encashment. The liability is provided based on the number of days of unutilised leave at each balance sheet date on the basis of an actuarial valuation.

ix) Remeasurement gains and losses

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return on assets (excluding interest) relating to retirement benefit plans, are recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurement recorded in other comprehensive income is not reclassified to statement of Profit and Loss. Actuarial gains and losses relating to long-term employee benefits are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they arise.

x) Measurement date

The measurement date of retirement plans is March 31.

xi) The present value of the defined benefit liability and the related current service cost and past service cost are measured using projected unit credit method.

t. Dividends

Any dividend declared by Tata Motors Limited is based on the profits available for distribution as reported in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (Standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India or Ind AS. Indian law permits the declaration and payment of dividend out of profits for the year or previous financial year(s) as stated in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (Standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India, or Ind AS after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of Schedule II to the Companies Act.

However, in the absence or inadequacy of the said profits, it may declare dividend out of free reserves, subject to certain conditions as prescribed under the Companies (Declaration and Payment of Dividend) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, in certain years the net income reported in these financial statements may not be fully distributable. The amount available for distribution is ₹ Nil as at March 31, 2019 (₹ Nil as at March 31, 2018).

u. Segments

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment comprises of four reportable sub-segments i.e. Tata Commercial Vehicles, Tata Passenger Vehicles, Jaguar Land Rover and Vehicle Financing. Other operating segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds for disclosure and have been aggregated.

v. Financial instruments

i) Classification, initial recognition and measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets other than equity instruments are classified into categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and at amortised cost. Financial assets that are equity instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. Financial instruments are recognised on the balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initially, a financial instrument is recognised at its fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial instruments

are recognised in determining the carrying amount, if it is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial instruments are measured according to the category in which they are classified.

Financial assets at amortised cost: Financial assets having contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold such assets in order to collect such contractual cash flows are classified in this category. Subsequently, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income: These include financial assets that are equity instruments and are designated as such upon initial recognition irrevocably. Subsequently, these are measured at fair value and changes therein, are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, net of applicable deferred income taxes. Dividends from these equity investments are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss when the right to receive payment has been established. When the equity investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are immediately recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives, unless they are designated as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting is applied, financial assets which have contractual cash flows which are not in the nature of solely principal and interest payments (like hybrid instruments having embedded derivatives) are classified into this category. These are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss.

Equity instruments: An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interests in the assets of the Company after deducting all of

its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: Derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from the host contract, unless they are designated as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting is applied, are classified into this category. These are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss.

Other financial liabilities: These are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

ii) Determination of fair value

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price (fair value of the consideration given or received).

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company determines the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets using the quoted bid prices (financial assets held) or quoted ask prices (financial liabilities held) and using valuation techniques for other instruments. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow method and other valuation models.

iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when these are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset that is at amortised cost. Loss allowance in respect of financial assets other than finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to life time expected credit losses and is calculated as the difference between their carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Loss allowance for finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected losses if credit risk on such assets has not increased significantly since initial recognition. An allowance equal to life time expected losses is provided if credit risk has increased significantly from the date of initial recognition. Credit risk is determined to have increased significantly when a finance receivable contract becomes sixty/ninety days past due. Such impairment loss is recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss. If the amount of an impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. The reversal is recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss.

v) Hedge accounting

The Company uses foreign currency forward and option contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to highly probable forecast transactions. The Company designates these forward and option contracts in a cash flow hedging relationship by applying the hedge accounting principles. These forward and option contracts are stated at fair value at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of these forward and option contracts that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised in other comprehensive income (net of tax) and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss in the periods in which the forecasted transaction occurs. For forwards and options, forward premium and the time value are not considered part of the hedge.

These are treated as cost of hedge and the changes in fair value attributable to time value is recognised in the other comprehensive

income along with the changes in fair value determined to be effective portion of the hedge. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained there until the forecast transaction occurs. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss for the year.

w. Recent accounting pronouncements

 New accounting pronouncements adopted by the Company during the current financial year

Ind AS 115 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersede most revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance applicable for previous periods. The core principle of the new standard is for companies to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to which company expects to be entitled to exchange for those goods or services. The new standard also requires entities to give enhanced disclosures about revenue and provide quidance for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements. The Company adopted Ind AS 115 effective from April 1, 2018, with a modified retrospective approach. The figures for the comparative periods are not restated. There is no significant impact on Company's profit after tax as a result of adoption of Ind AS 115.

There is a change in the basis of measurement of revenue for certain contracts in which performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time and revenue is measured as a percentage to the work completed. For such contracts, revenue is measured in accordance with Ind AS 115, when the Company has satisfied

a performance obligation by transferring the promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to the customer i.e. when the customer obtains control of the asset and establishes an unconditional right to receive the consideration. There is impact of ₹41.80 crores to the opening retained earnings on account of this change in measurement.

The Company makes transport arrangements for delivering its vehicles to the dealers. In accordance with the principles of Ind AS 115, the Company has determined itself to be acting as agent under these arrangements. Freight costs which were previously recognised as costs are netted off from revenue in accordance with the guidance under Ind AS 115.

Certain pay-outs made to dealers such as infrastructure support payments are treated as variable components of consideration and therefore in accordance with Ind AS 115, are recognised as revenue deductions. These costs were previously reported as other expenses.

These changes in presentation in the income statement resulted in decrease in both revenues and expenses by ₹3,809.03 crores for the year ended March 31, 2019.

Adoption of the standard has given rise to new financial statement categories in the statement of financial position, being "contract assets" and "contract liabilities." These items arise through advance payment received from customers or advance delivery of goods and services in excess of or ahead of billing at the contract level. In addition, disclosure requirements are extended.

Incentives received from Government are included under other income, which were previously presented under other operating income under revenue from operations.

Ind AS 21 - The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

The amendment effective April 1, 2018, clarifies on the accounting of transaction that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The appendix explains that the date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability. If there are multiple payments

or receipts in advance, a date of transaction is established for each payment or receipt. There is no impact in the consolidated financial statements on adoption of this amendment.

ii) New accounting standards not yet adopted

In March 2019, MCA issued Ind AS 116 - Leases which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract and replaces the previous standard on leasing, Ind AS 17 -Leases. Ind AS 116, which is not applicable to service contracts, but only applicable to leases or lease components of a contract, defines a lease as a contract that conveys to the customer (lessee) the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Ind AS 116 eliminates the classification of leases for the lessee as either operating leases or finance leases as required by Ind AS 17 and instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model whereby a lessee is required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term that is greater than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value, and to recognise depreciation of leased assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the Statement of Profit and Loss. As Ind AS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17, a lessor will continue to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases and to account for those two types of leases differently.

The Company will be adopting Ind AS 116 with a modified retrospective approach with effect from April 1, 2019. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard will be recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Figures for comparative periods will not be restated.

The Company will use the exemption option available for existing leases and apply the available exemptions regarding the recognition of short term leases and low value leasing assets. Basis assessment, the Company arrangements under operating leases, which are currently off Balance sheet, will be recorded as right to use assets and the future obligations in respect of such leases will be recorded as a liability in the Balance sheet as at April 1, 2019. The Company

will use following practical expedients of Ind AS 116 at the date of initial application:

- With leases previously classified as operating leases according to Ind AS 17, the lease liability will be measured at the present value of the outstanding lease payments, discounted by the incremental borrowing rate at April 1, 2019. The respective right-of-use asset is generally recognised at an amount equal to the lease liability;
- An impairment review is not performed for right of use assets. Instead, right-of-use asset is adjusted by the amount of any provision for onerous leases recognised in the Balance sheet.
- Regardless of their original lease term, leases for which the lease term ends latest on March 31, 2020, are recognised as short-term leases;
- At the date of initial application, the measurement of a right-to-use asset excludes the initial direct costs; and
- Hindsight is considered when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the leases.

Amendments issued by MCA to existing standards

MCA issued following amendments to certain standards which will be effective from financial year beginning April 1, 2019.

i) Amendments to Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments: Prepayment of loans

The amendments notified in Ind AS 109 pertain to classification of a financial instruments with prepayment feature with negative compensation. Negative compensation arises where the terms of the contract of the financial instrument permit the holder to make repayment or permit the lender or issuer to put the instrument to the borrower for repayment before the maturity at an amount less than the unpaid amounts of principal and interest. Earlier, there was no guidance on classification of such instruments.

According to the amendments, these types of instruments can be classified as measured at amortised cost, or measured at fair value through

profit or loss, or measured at fair value through other comprehensive income by the lender or issuer if the respective conditions specified under Ind AS 109 are satisfied. Similarly, the holder may classify them either measured at fair value through profit or loss or measured at amortised cost in accordance with conditions of Ind AS 109.

ii) Amendments to Ind AS 12, Income Taxes - Deferred taxes on Dividends and uncertain tax treatment

An entity is required to create a corresponding liability for payment of Dividend Distribution Tax (DDT) when it recognises a liability to pay a dividend. The liability for DDT shall be recorded in statement of Profit and Loss, other comprehensive income or equity, as the case may be. Currently, the Company is recognising dividend distribution tax on dividends paid to shareholders in the statement of changes in equity, as per the amendment, the Company will recognise dividend distribution tax on dividend distributed to shareholders as income tax expense in its statement of Profit and Loss.

Another amendment relates to tax consequence of an item whose tax treatment is uncertain. Tax treatment of an item is considered as uncertain when there is uncertainty whether the relevant taxation authority will accept the tax treatment of that item or not. For example, if an entity has not included a particular income in taxable profit, it will be considered as uncertain tax treatment if its acceptability by taxation authority is uncertain. The amendment has been brought by introducing a new Appendix C to Ind AS 12.

If there is uncertainty over tax treatment of an item:

- An entity should determine an approach or method that predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. Based on the approach, the entity shall determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments.
- It shall assess whether it is probable that the taxation authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment, assuming that the authority has full right to examine the treatment and has full knowledge of all related information.

3. If it is probable that the taxation authority will accept the tax treatment, there will be no impact on the amount of taxable profits/losses, tax bases, unused tax losses/credits and tax rates. In vice-versa case, the entity shall show the effect of the uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment on amount of related aforesaid items by using either the most likely outcome or the expected outcome of the uncertainty.

iii) Amendment to Ind AS 19, Employee Benefits: Changes in Employee benefit plan

When a change to a plan by way of either an amendment, curtailment or settlement takes place, Ind AS 19 requires a company to remeasure its net defined benefit liability or asset.

The amendments to Ind AS 19 require a company to use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current service

cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan. Until now, Ind AS 19 did not specify how to determine these expenses for the period after the change to the plan.

iv) Amendments to Ind AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Ind AS 109 excludes interest in associates and joint ventures that are accounted for in accordance with Ind AS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures from its scope. This amendment to Ind AS 28 clarifies that Ind AS 109 should be applied to financial instruments, including long-term interests in associates and joint venture, that, in substance, form part of an entity's net investment in associate or joint venture, to which the equity method is not applied.

The Company is evaluating impact of above amendments issued by MCA to existing accounting standards.

(x) The following subsidiary companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding either directly or through subsidiaries		
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018	
	Direct Subsidiaries				
1	TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited (ceased to be subsidiary w.e.f. March 29, 2019)	India	-	100	
2	Concorde Motors (India) Limited	India	100	100	
3	Tata Motors Insurance Broking & Advisory Services Limited	India	100	100	
4	Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC	UK	100	100	
5	Tata Technologies Limited	India	72.28	72.29	
6	TMF Holdings Limited (formerly known as Tata Motors Finance Limited)	India	100	100	
7	Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited	India	51	51	
8	TML Holdings Pte. Limited	Singapore	100	100	
9	TML Distribution Company Limited	India	100	100	
10	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A.	Spain	100	100	
11	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocerries Maghreb SA	Могоссо	100	100	
12	Trilix S.r.l. (Shareholding increased from 80% to 100% w.e.f. Deccember 6, 2018)	Italy	100	80	
13	Tata Precision Industries Pte. Limited	Singapore	78.39	78.39	
	Indirect subsidiaries *				
14	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited	South Korea	100	100	
15	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Company Limited	South Korea	100	100	
16	Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	95.87	95.49	
17	Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Limited	South Africa	60	60	
18	PT Tata Motors Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100	
19	Tata Technologies (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	72.28	72.29	
20	Tata Technologies Pte Limited	Singapore	72.28	72.29	
21	INCAT International Plc.	UK	72.28	72.29	
22	Tata Technologies Europe Limited	UK	72.28	72.29	
23	Escenda Engineering AB	UK	72.28	72.29	
24	INCAT GmbH.	Germany	72.28	72.29	
25	Tata Technologies Inc.	USA	72.34	72.35	
26	Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	72.34	72.35	
27	Cambric Limited	USA	72.31	72.32	
28	Cambric GmbH	Germany	72.34	72.35	
29	Tata Technologies SRL Romania	Romania	72.31	72.32	

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Name of the Subsidiary company Country of incorporation	% of holding e or through s	
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
30	Tata Manufacturing Technologies (Shanghai) Limited	China	72.28	72.29
31	Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc	UK	100	100
32	Jaguar Land Rover Limited	UK	100	100
33	Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH	Austria	100	100
34	Jaguar Land Rover Belux NV	Belgium	100	100
35	Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited	Japan	100	100
36	Jaguar Cars South Africa (Pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100
37	JLR Nominee Company Limited	UK	100	100
38	The Daimler Motor Company Limited	UK	100	100
39	Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	UK	100	100
40	S.S. Cars Limited	UK	100	100
41	The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	UK	100	100
42	Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH	Germany	100	100
43	Jaguar Land Rover Classic Deutschland GmbH (Incorporated w.e.f. August 10, 2018)	Germany	100	-
44	Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited	UK	100	100
45	Jaguar Land Rover North America LLC	USA	100	100
46	Land Rover Ireland Limited	Ireland	100	100
47	Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV	Netherlands	100	100
48	Jaguar Land Rover Portugal - Veiculos e Pecas, Lda.	Portugal	100	100
49	Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited	Australia	100	100
50	Jaguar Land Rover Italia Spa	Italy	100	100
51	Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL	Spain	100	100
52	Jaguar Land Rover Korea Company Limited	South Korea	100	100
53	Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co. Limited	China	100	100
54	Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC	Canada	100	100
55	Jaguar Land Rover France, SAS	France	100	100
56	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100
57	Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil industria e Comercio de Veiculos LTDA	Brazil	100	100
58	Limited Liability Company "Jaguar Land Rover" (Russia)	Russia	100	100
59	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited	UK	100	100
60	Jaguar Land Rover India Limited	India	100	100
61	Jaguar Cars Limited	UK	100	100
62	Land Rover Exports Limited	UK	100	100

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding either directly or through subsidiaries		
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018	
63	Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	UK	100	100	
64	Jaguar Racing Limited	UK	100	100	
65	InMotion Ventures Limited	UK	100	100	
66	InMotion Ventures 1 Limited	UK	100	100	
67	InMotion Ventures 2 Limited	UK	100	100	
68	InMotion Ventures 3 Limited	UK	100	100	
59	InMotion Ventures 4 Limited (Incorporated w.e.f January 4, 2019)	UK	100	-	
70	Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Services Company Limited	China	100	100	
71	Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia S.R.O	Slovakia	100	100	
72	Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd	Singapore	100	100	
73	Jaguar Land Rover Columbia S.A.S	Columbia	100	100	
74	PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100	
75	Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited	India	100	100	
76	Tata Motors Finance Limited (formerly known as Sheba Properties Limited)	India	100	100	
77	TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Limited	Nigeria	100	100	
78	Jaguar Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited	Ireland	100	100	
79	Spark44 (JV) Limited	UK	50.50	50.50	
30	Spark44 Pty. Ltd.	Australia	50.50	50.50	
31	Spark44 GMBH	Germany	50.50	50.50	
32	Spark44 LLC	USA	50.50	50.50	
33	Spark44 (Shanghai) Limited	China	50.50	50.50	
34	Spark44 DMCC	UAE	50.50	50.50	
35	Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Limited	India	50.50	50.50	
36	Spark44 Limited (London & Birmingham)	UK	50.50	50.50	
37	Spark44 Pte Ltd	Singapore	50.50	50.50	
38	Spark44 Communication SL	Spain	50.50	50.50	
39	Spark44 SRL	Italy	50.50	50.50	
90	Spark44 Limited (Seoul Ltd)	Когеа	50.50	50.50	
91	Spark44 Japan KK	Japan	50.50	50.50	
92	Spark44 Canada Inc	Canada	50.50	50.50	
93	Spark44 South Africa (Pty) Limited	South Africa	50.50	50.50	
94	Spark44 Colombia S.A.S. (Incorporated w.e.f. May 10, 2018)	Columbia	50.50	-	

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding e or through s	•
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
95	Spark44 Taiwan Limited (Incorporated w.e.f. May 7, 2018)	Taiwan	50.50	-
96	Jaguar Land Rover Taiwan Company Limited	Taiwan	100	100
97	Jaguar Land Rover Servicios Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	100	100
98	Jaguar Land Rover Mexico,S.A.P.I. de C.V.	Mexico	100	100
99	Jaguar Land Rover Hungary KFT (Incorporated w.e.f. July 30, 2018)	Hungary	100	-
100	Jaguar Land Rover Classic USA LLC (Incorporated w.e.f. June 1, 2018)	USA	100	-

Effective holding % of the Company directly and through its subsidiaries.

The following Jointly controlled companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr No	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding e or through s	•
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Join	t Operations			
1	Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	India	50	50
2	Tata Cummins Private Limited	India	50	50
Join	t Ventures			
3	Tata HAL Technologies Limited **	India	36.14	36.16
4	Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited	China	50	50
5	JT Special Vehicles Pvt. Limited	India	50	50

^{**} Effective holding % of the Company as it is a Joint Venture of Tata Technologies Ltd

The following associates companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding of through s	•
			As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
1	Automobile Corporation of Goa Limited	India	47.19	47.19
2	Nita Company Limited	Bangladesh	40.00	40.00
3	Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Limited	India	39.99	39.99
4	Tata Precision Industries (India) Limited	India	39.19	39.19
5	Tata AutoComp Systems Limited	India	26.00	26.00
6	Jaguar Cars Finance Limited	UK	49.90	49.90
7	Cloud Car Inc	USA	26.30	26.30
8	Synaptiv Limited	UK	37.50	33.33
9	DriveClubService Pte. Ltd.	Singapore	25.07	25.07
10	Loginomic Tech Solutions Private Limited ("TruckEasy") (Acquired stake w.e.f. July 10, 2018)	India	26.00	-

Notes Forming Part of Consolidated Financial Statements 3. Property, plant and equipment

			Owr	Owned assets				Ğ	Given on lease			Taken	Taken on lease		Total
	Land Br	Buildings	Plant and Furniture Vehicles Computers equipment and fixtures	urniture and fixtures	Vehicles (omputers	Heritage Land Assets	nd Buildings		Vehicles	Plant and Vehicles Buildings equipment		Plant and Furniture Computers equipment and fixtures	Computers	
Cost as at April 1, 2018	7,338.59 16	5,492.94 1	16,492.94 100,067.26	1,425.29	353.12	1,943.15	354.68 23.24	24 33.41	11 5.16	31.23	59.09	158.84	4 4.31	186.15	128,476.46
Additions	,	6,827.03	16,309.96	225.51	75.63	537.45	24.38	- 0.49	6	. 33.88	8.15	38.11	_	•	24,080.59
Currency translation differences	(47.36)	(474.78)	(1,628.70)	(19.90)	(0.64)	(29.94)	(4.92) (0.38)	(0.62)	. (2		. (0.41)	(5.24)		•	(2,212.89)
Reversal of assets classified as Held for sale		27.11	45.55	36.89	3.88	156.82					- 36.78	0.63	- 2	•	307.66
Disposal	(4.97)	(31.43)	(5,571.00)	(46.37)	(44.68)	(272.38)	(1.37)			. (2.36)	(6.23)				(5,980.79)
Cost as at March 31, 2019	7,286.26 22	,840.87	22,840.87 109,223.07 1	1,621.42	387.31	2,335.10	372.77 22.86	35.28	8 5.16	62.75	97.38	192.34	4.31	186.15	186.15 144,671.03
Accumulated depreciation/impairment as at April 1, 2018	,	3,299.91	49,073.11	718.35	179.83	1,058.69		- 0.93	33 4.12	90.9	5 20.99	71.06	5 1.51	174.06	54,608.62
Depreciation for the year		908.24	10,815.73	125.50	64.55	247.97		- 2.66	99	. 3.04	90.6	16.28	3 0.86	6.51	12,200.42
Writeoff/impairment of assets			10,515.08	144.34	6.05	234.82	161.69			i.	·	56.72	-	•	11,118.70
Currency translation differences		(49.09)	(445.69)	(7.02)	(0.03)	(9.76)		- (0.01)	1)		- 0.29	(0.23)		•	(508.54)
Reversal of assets classified as Held for sale		12.11	13.12	16.70	2.18	101.50					- 13.93	09:0		•	160.14
Disposal		(22.91)	(5,192.52)	(39.05)	(38.15)	(232.20)				. (1.13)	(2.21)				(5,528.17)
Accumulated depreciation/impairment as at March 31, 2019		148.26	4,148.26 64,778.83	958.82	214.43	1,404.02	161.69	- 3.58	8 4.12	76.7	42.08	144.43	3 2.37	180.57	72,051.17
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2019	7,286.26 18	18,692.61	44,444.24	662.60	172.88	931.08	211.08 22.86	36 29.70	70 1.04	54.78	55.30	47.91	1.94	5.58	72,619.86
Cost as at April 1, 2017	6,761.98 12	12,014.30	79,560.14	1,218.13	290.95	1,766.77	423.35 20.11	11 29.46	÷6 8:95	8.14	149.57	416.15	5 4.31	178.87	102,851.18
Additions	294.61	3,155.56	15,698.18	146.43	109.02	263.54	. 0	0.72		. 25.00	8.50	3.52	-	7.28	19,712.36
Asset acquired in Business Combination		2.06	0.22	42.73		13.12				i.	. 0.10			•	58.23
Assets classified as held for sale		(27.11)	(366.90)	(40.73)	(3.88)	(160.69)					. (100.20)	(0.63)	-	1	(700.14)
Currency translation differences	282.00	1,355.91	8,374.91	121.91	11.47	143.85	50.00 2.	2.41 3.98	. 86		. 2.68	39.67	- '		10,388.79
Write off of assets		•	(536.82)	•	•		(110.06)							1	(646.88)
Disposal		(7.78)	(2,662.47)	(63.18)	(54.44)	(83.44)	(8.61)	- (0.03)	(3.79)	1.91	(1.56)	(299.87)		•	(3,187.08)
Cost as at March 31, 2018	7,338.59 16	16,492.94	100,067.26	1,425.29	353.12	1,943.15	354.68 23.24	24 33.41	1 5.16	31.23	29.09	158.84	4.31	186.15	128,476.46
Accumulated depreciation as at April 1, 2017	. 2	2,445.47	38,476.07	600.90	179.59	1,003.48		- 0.73	73 3.08	3.66	35.59	344.04	. 0.65	163.36	43,256.62
Depreciation for the year		652.15	9,838.20	133.52	44.68	176.24		- 0.13	1.32	3.70	5.60	7.24	98.0 +	10.70	10,874.34
Write off of assets			(389.08)											•	(389.08)
Assets classified as held for sale		(13.07)	(115.43)	(13.36)	(2.58)	(92.56)					. (20.98)	(09:0)	-	•	(261.58)
Currency translation differences		218.14	3,718.80	54.38	6.19	51.96		- 0.07			. 0.78	20.25		•	4,070.57
Disposal		(2.78)	(2,455.45)	(57.09)	(48.05)	(77.43)			- (0.28)	(1.30)		(299.87)	- (1	(2,942.25)
Accumulated depreciation as at March 31, 2018		3,299.91	49,073.11	718.35	179.83	1,058.69		- 0.93	3 4.12	90.9	20.99	71.06	1.51	174.06	54,608.62

4. Leases

The Company has taken land, buildings, plant and equipment, computers and furniture and fixtures under operating and finance leases. The following is the summary of future minimum lease rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases and finance leases entered into by the Company:

(₹ in crores)

						(\ 111 C1 O1 E3)
	As al	: March 31, 20	19	As al	: March 31, 20	18
	Operating	Fina	ance	Operating	Fina	ance
	Minimum Lease Payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Present value of minimum lease payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Present value of minimum lease payments
Not later than one year	1,099.41	33.00	29.59	880.80	25.39	22.23
Later than one year but not later than five years	2,626.12	97.09	79.12	2,152.78	28.25	22.19
Later than five years	2,496.83	249.25	64.76	2,334.29	38.06	24.56
Total minimum lease commitments	6,222.36	379.34	173.47	5,367.87	91.70	68.98
Less: future finance charges		(205.87)			(22.72)	
Presentvalueofminimumleasepayments		173.47			68.98	
Included in the financial statements as:						
Other financial liabilities - current (refer note 28)			17.30			22.23
Long-term borrowings (refer note 25)			156.17			46.75
			173.47			68.98

Total operating lease rent expenses were ₹1,077.42 crores and ₹1,022.39 crores for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

5. Goodwill

(₹ in crores)

		(< 111 C1 01 C3)
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	116.45	673.32
Impairment	(8.11)	-
Classified as held for sale	-	(557.91)
Reversal of held for sale	639.92	-
Currency translation differences	(0.39)	1.04
Balance at the end	747.87	116.45

As at March 31, 2019, goodwill of ₹107.95 crores and ₹639.92 crores relates to the passenger vehicles - automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles) and "others" segment, respectively. As at March 31, 2018, goodwill of ₹108.10 crores and ₹8.35 crores relates to the passenger vehicles - automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles) and Jaguar Land Rover Segment, respectively.

As at March 31, 2019, goodwill of ₹639.92 crores has been allocated to software consultancy and service cash generating unit. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use. Value in use has been determined based on future cash flows, after considering current economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, growth rates and anticipated future economic conditions.

As at March 31, 2019, the estimated cash flows for a period of 5 years were developed using internal forecasts, and a pre-tax discount rate of 12.72% The cash flows beyond 5 years have been extrapolated assuming 2% growth rates. The management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

6. (a) Other intangible assets

							(₹ in crores)
	Software	Patents and technological know how	Customer related	Intellectual property rights and other intangibles	Indefinite life trade marks and patents	Product development	Total
Cost as at April 1, 2018	6,301.52	1,522.12	561.28	327.10	5,706.31	70,197.81	84,616.14
Additions	844.69	2.18	-	44.59	-	12,053.59	12,945.05
Fully amortised not in use	(434.51)	(38.20)	-	(8.28)	-	(8,651.82)	(9,132.81)
Reversal of Assets classified as Held for sale	248.83	1.75	48.69	-	-	-	299.27
Currency translation differences	(192.36)	(28.35)	(11.96)	(8.45)	(109.70)	(1,278.75)	(1,629.57)
Cost as at March 31, 2019	6,768.17	1,459.50	598.01	354.96	5,596.61	72,320.83	87,098.08
Accumulated amortisation/impairment as at April 1, 2018	3,235.38	1,383.86	273.12	98.12	-	32,196.09	37,186.57
Amortisation for the year	1,043.48	76.83	29.35	39.57	-	10,200.98	11,390.21
Write off/Impairment of assets	669.40	-	61.73	47.40	1,316.88	8,092.86	10,188.27
Reversal of Assets classified as Held for sale	170.63	0.48	11.00	-	-	-	182.11
Asset fully amortised not in use	(434.51)	(38.20)	-	(8.28)	-	(8,651.82)	(9,132.81)
Currency translation differences	(53.93)	(25.76)	(5.23)	(2.32)	14.11	(509.89)	(583.02)
Accumulated amortisation/impairment as at March 31, 2019	4,630.45	1,397.21	369.97	174.49	1,330.99	41,328.22	49,231.33
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2019	2,137.72	62.29	228.03	180.47	4,265.62	30,992.61	37,866.74
Cost as at April 1, 2017	5,212.84	1,313.68	516.61	194.99	5,003.50	47,746.09	59,987.71
Additions	847.20	42.75	22.31	61.53	-	16,464.77	17,438.56
Asset acquired in Business Combination	12.62	-	-	33.59	-	-	46.21
Assets classified as held for sale	(248.83)	(1.68)	(48.69)	-	-	-	(299.20)
Currency translation differences	694.31	167.37	71.05	36.99	702.81	7,217.99	8,890.52
Write off assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fully amortised not in use	(216.62)	-	-	-	-	(1,231.04)	(1,447.66)
Cost as at March 31, 2018	6,301.52	1,522.12	561.28	327.10	5,706.31	70,197.81	84,616.14
Accumulated amortisation as at April 1, 2017	2,214.78	1,096.05	225.43	39.62	-	20,735.63	24,311.51
Amortisation for the year	997.26	135.07	26.09	53.67	-	9,467.16	10,679.25
Assets Held for Sale	(170.05)	(0.64)	(10.96)	-	-	-	(181.65)
Fully amortised not in use	(216.62)	-		-	-	(1,231.04)	(1,447.66)
Currency translation differences	297.30	153.38	32.56	4.83	-	3,224.34	3,712.41
Write off assets	112.71	-	-	-	-	-	112.71
Accumulated amortisation as at March 31, 2018	3,235.38	1,383.86	273.12	98.12	-	32,196.09	37,186.57
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2018	3,066.14	138.26	288.16	228.98	5,706.31	38,001.72	47,429.57

6. (b) Intangible assets under development

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	23,890.56	23,512.01
Additions	18,235.26	16,877.22
Transferred to cost of other intangible assets	(12,898.28)	(17,286.12)
Transferred to Held for Sale	-	(190.10)
Reversal of Held for Sale	12.54	-
Write off/impairment	(5,386.48)	(1,596.26)
Currency translation impact	(507.93)	2,573.81
Balance at the end	23,345.67	23,890.56

⁽c) The useful life of trademarks and brands in respect of the acquired Jaguar Land Rover businesses have been determined to be indefinite as the Company expects to generate future economic benefits indefinitely from these assets.

⁽d) During the year ended March 31, 2014, legislation was enacted that allows United Kingdom (UK) companies to elect for the Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditures incurred since April 1, 2013, instead of the existing super-deduction rules. As a result of this election by the Company's subsidiary in the UK, ₹835.06 crores and ₹871.75 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, the proportion relating to capitalised product development expenditure, have been off set against intangibles under development.

7. Impairment of Jaguar Land Rover Business

The Company is of the view that the operations of its subsidiary Jaguar Land Rover (JLR) represent a single cash-generating unit ('CGU'). Management performed an impairment assessment as at March 31, 2019. The recoverable value was determined by Value in Use ('VIU'), which was marginally higher than the Fair Value less Cost of Disposal ('FVLCD') of the relevant assets of the CGU. The recoverable amount was lower than the carrying value of the CGU and this resulted in an impairment charge of ₹27,837.91 crores recognised within 'Exceptional items' as at March 31, 2019.

The approach and key (unobservable) assumptions used to determine the CGU's VIU were as follows:

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Growth rate applied beyond approved forecast period	1.90%	2.00%
Pre-tax discount rate	11.80%	8.70%

The Company has considered it appropriate to undertake the impairment assessment with reference to the latest business plan which includes a 5 year cash flow forecast. The growth rates used in the value in use calculation reflect those inherent within the JLR's business plan, which is primarily a function of the JLR's cycle plan assumptions, past performance and management's expectation of future market developments through to 2023/24. The future cash flows consider potential risks given the current economic environment and key assumptions, such as volume forecasts and margins. The Company has assessed the potential impacts of changes, if any, in tax and treaty arrangements globally, including proposed exit of the United Kingdom from European Union (Brexit) and the US Tariffs. The potential impact of reasonably possible outcomes of these events has been included in the VIU calculations.

The cash flows for the year 2023/24 are extrapolated into perpetuity assuming a growth rate as stated above which is set with reference to weighted-average GDP growth of the countries in which JLR operates.

The impairment loss of ₹27,837.91 crores has been allocated initially against goodwill of ₹8.11 crores and thereafter the residual amount has been allocated on a pro-rated basis as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	(1111111111)
	As at
	March 31, 2019
Property, plant and equipment	10,857.01
Capital work-in-progress	1,656.08
Goodwill	8.11
Other intangible assets	10,187.34
Intangible assets under development	5,129.37
Total	27,837.91

Sensitivity to key assumptions

The change in the following assumptions used in the impairment review would, in isolation, lead to an increase to the aggregate impairment loss recognised as at March 31, 2019 (although it should be noted that these sensitivities do not take account of potential mitigating actions):

	As at
	March 31, 2019
Increase in discount rate by 1%	10,082.87
Decrease in long-term growth rate applied beyond approved forecast period by 0.5%	4,371.66
Decrease in projected volume by 5%	38,892.37
Decrease in projected gross margin by 1%	18,898.60

8. Investments in equity accounted investees:

(a) Associates:

The Company has no material associates as at March 31, 2019. The aggregate summarised financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in associates	1,039.34	933.34

(₹ in crores)

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Company's share of profit/(loss) in associates*	111.06	118.30
Company's share of other comprehensive income in associates	8.32	(1.90)
Company's share of total comprehensive income in associates	119.38	116.40

- (i) Fair value of investment in an equity accounted associate for which published price quotation is available, which is a level 1 input, was ₹169.69 crores and ₹338.04 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The carrying amount as at March 31, 2019 and 2018 was ₹138.70 crores and ₹141.48 crores, respectively.
- (ii) During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Group purchased 26% of the share capital of Loginomic Tech Solutions Pvt. Limited for ₹2.66 crores. The investment is accounted for as equity accounted investments as the Group has significant influence.

(b) Joint ventures:

(i) Details of the Company's material joint venture is as follows:

Name of joint venture	Principal	Principal place	% holding	
	activity	of the business	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited (Chery)	Manufacture and assembly of vehicles	China	50%	50%

Chery is a limited liability company, whose legal form confers separation between the parties to the joint arrangement. There is no contractual arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that indicate that the parties to the joint venture have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. Accordingly, Chery is classified as a joint venture. The summarised financial information in respect of Chery that is accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Current assets	6,770.19	8,231.79
Non-current assets	13,024.47	12,218.49
Current liabilities	(9,992.36)	(9,929.83)
Non-current liabilities	(1,104.24)	(1,418.41)

(₹ in crores)

		(1
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:		
Cash and cash equivalents	2,860.13	4,046.68
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(2,516.19)	(388.52)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(1,104.23)	(1,399.96)
Share of net assets of material joint venture	4,349.03	4,551.02
Other consolidation adjustments	(53.49)	(101.62)
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,295.54	4,449.40

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Revenue	15,571.50	23,787.61
Net income/(loss)	111.95	4,338.13
Other comprehensive income	-	121.79
Total comprehensive income for the year	111.95	4,459.92
The above net income includes the following:		
Depreciation and amortisation	1,885.76	1,194.78
Interest income	(109.20)	(229.87)
Interest expense (net)	126.63	60.90
income tax expense/(credit)	57.81	1,163.05

Reconciliation of above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

(₹ in crores)

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Net assets of the joint venture	8,698.06	9,102.04
Proportion of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,349.03	4,551.02
Other consolidation adjustments	(53.49)	(101.62)
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,295.54	4,449.40

During the year ended March 31, 2019, a dividend of GBP 21.69 Million (₹199.03 crores) was received by a subsidiary in UK from Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Ltd. (2018: GBP 206.46 Million, ₹1,764.49 crores)

(ii) The aggregate summarised financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint ventures	-	2.50

(₹ in crores)

		(
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Company's share of profit/(loss) in immaterial joint ventures*	(2.50)	16.25
Company's share of other comprehensive income in immaterial joint ventures	-	-
Company's share of total comprehensive income in immaterial joint ventures	(2.50)	16.25

(c) Summary of carrying amount of the Company's interest in equity accounted investees:

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Carrying amount in immaterial associates	447.84	435.99
Carrying amount in immaterial associates (held for sale)	591.50	497.35
Carrying amount in material joint venture	4,295.54	4,449.40
Carrying amount in immaterial joint ventures	-	2.50
Total	5,334.88	5,385.24
Current (held for sale)	591.50	497.35
Non current	4,743.38	4,887.89
Total	5,334.88	5,385.24

(d) Summary of Company's share of profit/(loss) in equity accounted investees:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial associates	111.06	118.30
Share of profit/(loss) in material joint venture	55.98	2,169.07
Share of profit/(loss) on other adjustments in material joint venture	44.96	(25.36)
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial joint ventures	(2.50)	16.25
	209.50	2,278.26

(e) Summary of Company's share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees:

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Share of other comprehensive income in immaterial associates	11.15	(10.96)
Currency translation differences-immaterial associates	(2.83)	9.06
Currency translation differences-material joint venture	(55.78)	420.35
	(47.46)	418.45

^{*} Company's share of profit/(loss) of the equity accounted investees has been determined after giving effect for the subsequent amortisation/depreciation and other adjustments arising on account of fair value adjustments made to the identifiable net assets of the equity accounted investee as at the date of acquisition and other adjustment arising under the equity method of accounting.

9. Other Investments - non-current

(₹ in crores)

		(₹ In crores
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Investments - measured at Fair value throu	gh Other Comprehensive Income	
Quoted:		
Equity shares	303.39	36.64
Unquoted:		
Equity shares	437.90	371.26
Total	741.29	407.90
(b) Investments - measured at Fair value throu	gh profit or loss	
Quoted:		
(i) Equity shares (refer note below)	423.14	-
(ii) Mutual funds	28.84	-
Unquoted:		
(i) Non-cumulative redeemable preference	shares 5.40	0.40
(ii) Cumulative redeemable preference share	res 2.50	2.50
(iii) Equity shares (refer note below)	124.28	246.82
(iv) Convertible debentures	149.08	85.40
(v) Others	19.10	16.86
Total	752.34	351.98
(c) Investments - measured at amortised cost		
Unquoted:		
Non-convertible debentures	3.88	3.88
Total	3.88	3.88
Total (a+b+c)	1,497.51	763.76
Aggregate book value of quoted investments	726.53	36.64
Aggregate market value of quoted investments	726.53	36.64
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments	770.98	727.12

Note

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company's investments in Lyft Incorporated got listed in NASDAQ stock exchange. The carrying value of these equity shares are ₹423.14 crores and ₹204.70 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

10. Other Investments - current

		_	
		As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a)	Investments - measured at Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income		
	Quoted:		
	Equity Shares	0.92	303.28
(b)	Investments - measured at Fair value through profit and loss		
	Unquoted:		
	Mutual funds	1,191.90	1,601.00
	Total	1,191.90	1,601.00
(c)	Investments - measured at amortised cost		
	Unquoted:		
	Mutual funds	7,745.51	12,759.47
	Total	7,745.51	12,759.47
То	tal (a+b+c)	8,938.33	14,663.75
Ag	gregate book value of unquoted investments	8,937.41	14,360.47
Ag	gregate book value of quoted investments	0.92	303.28
Ag	gregate market value of quoted investments	0.92	303.28

11. Loans and advances

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Non-current		
Secured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to channel partners (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹Nil and ₹7.30 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively).	180.49	237.03
Unsecured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to employees	26.29	28.06
(b) Loan to joint arrangements	3.75	-
(c) Others (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹8.46 crores and ₹41.68 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.)	196.89	230.32
Total	407.42	495.41
Current		
Secured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to channel partners	74.06	18.84
Unsecured, considered good:		
(a) Advances to supplier, contractors etc. (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹179.86 crores and ₹165.10 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively)	1,177.87	1,431.98
(b) Loans to channel partners (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹9.90 crores and ₹Nil as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.)	14.46	-
(c) Inter corporate deposits	2.31	0.32
Total	1,268.70	1,451.14

12. Other Financial Assets

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Non-current		
(a) Derivative financial instruments	911.14	2,846.90
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	9.03	2.60
(c) Restricted deposits	75.11	69.06
(d) Margin money / cash collateral with banks	329.07	104.80
(e) Government grant receivables	508.08	467.14
(f) Recoverable from suppliers	968.23	1,072.19
(g) Other deposits	8.52	1.18
Total	2,809.18	4,563.87

Margin money with banks in restricted cash deposits consists of collateral provided for transfer of finance receivables. Restricted deposits as at March 31, 2019 and 2018 includes ₹45.26 crores and ₹50.76 crores, respectively, held as a deposit in relation to ongoing legal cases.

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Current		
(a) Derivative financial instruments	1,235.54	2,476.13
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	17.37	3.89
(c) Government grant receivable	500.31	411.39
(d) Deposit with financial institutions	500.00	-
(e) Recoverable from suppliers	959.05	966.23
(f) Lease receivables	1.29	-
Total	3,213.56	3,857.64

13. Inventories*

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Raw materials and components	2,328.44	3,019.28
(b) Work-in-progress	3,891.76	4,043.17
(c) Finished goods	31,512.70	33,875.53
(d) Stores and spare parts	201.38	208.72
(e) Consumable tools	500.23	375.56
(f) Goods-in-transit - Raw materials and components	579.22	615.37
Total	39,013.73	42,137.63

Note:

- (i) Inventories of finished goods include ₹4,380.71 crores and ₹4,023.61 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, relating to vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements.
- (ii) Cost of inventories (including cost of purchased products) recognised as expense during the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 amounted to ₹228,342.42 crores and ₹217,338.62 crores, respectively.
- (iii) During the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded inventory write-down expense of ₹608.63 crores and ₹607.42 crores, respectively.
- * Excludes ₹95.80 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

14. Trade receivables (Unsecured)*

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Receivables considered good	18,996.17	19,893.30
Credit impaired receivables	970.10	1,261.67
	19,966.27	21,154.97
Less: Allowance for credit impaired receivables	(970.10)	(1,261.67)
Total	18,996.17	19,893.30

^{*} Excludes ₹524.58 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Cash on hand	29.21	31.42
(b) Cheques on hand	385.60	399.44
(c) Balances with banks	7,885.13	8,907.19
(d) Deposit with banks	13,259.86	5,378.70
	21,559.80	14,716.75

16. Bank Balances

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
With upto 12 months maturity:		
(a) Earmarked balances with banks (refer note below)	365.23	493.87
(b) Margin money / cash collateral with banks	149.58	41.71
(c) Bank deposits	10,574.21	19,361.58
Total	11,089.02	19,897.16

Note:

Earmarked balances with bank includes ₹250.93 crores and ₹248.60 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively held as security in relation to interest and repayment of bank borrowings. Out of these deposits, ₹94.27 crores and ₹85.09 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively are pledged till the maturity of the respective borrowings.

17. Finance Receivables

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Finance receivables	34,457.74	25,070.75
Less: allowance for credit losses	(833.05)	(1,189.57)
Total	33,624.69	23,881.18
Current portion	11,551.52	8,401.65
Non-current portion	22,073.17	15,479.53
Total	33,624.69	23,881.18

Changes in the allowance for credit losses in finance receivables are as follows:

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	1,189.57	3,597.51
Allowances made during the year	320.24	43.30
Written off	(676.76)	(2,451.24)
Balance at the end	833.05	1,189.57

18. Allowance for trade and other receivables

Change in the allowances for trade and other receivables are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	1,477.62	1,517.03
Assets classified as held for sale	-	(13.05)
Allowances made during the year	214.19	14.57
Written off	(397.44)	(45.49)
Foreign exchange translation differences	(35.33)	4.56
Reversal of Assets classified as held for sale	13.05	-
Balance at the end	1,272.09	1,477.62

19. Other non-current assets *

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Capital advances	385.88	284.53
(b) Taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹1.84 crores and ₹Nil as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.)	1,081.90	1,049.63
(c) Prepaid rentals on operating leases	362.57	381.72
(d) Prepaid expenses	768.42	762.59
(e) Recoverable from insurance companies	318.80	185.99
(f) Others	21.16	16.79
Total	2,938.73	2,681.25

^{*} Excludes ₹83.56 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

20. Other Current Assets *

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Advances and other receivables (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹43.87 crores and ₹Nil as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.)	434.07	364.02
(b) GST/VAT, other Taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government (Net of allowances for credit impaired balances ₹ 58.06 crores and ₹1.86 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.)	5,071.95	5,674.80
(c) Prepaid expenses	1,210.68	1,440.35
(d) Recoverable from insurance companies	35.75	26.97
(e) Others	109.77	156.23
Total	6,862.22	7,662.37

^{*} Excludes ₹33.75 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

21. Income taxes

The domestic and foreign components of profit/(loss) before income tax is as follows:

in	in cr	in cro

		(111 010105)
	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Profit/(loss) before income taxes		
India	2,641.69	(963.60)
Other than India	(34,012.84)	12,118.63
Total	(31,371.15)	11,155.03

The domestic and foreign components of income tax expense is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

		(111 01 01 00)
	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Current taxes		
India	503.43	242.00
Other than India	1,721.80	3,061.46
Deferred taxes		
India	(323.75)	48.49
Other than India	(4,338.93)	989.98
Total income tax expense	(2,437.45)	4,341.93

The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Profit/(Loss) before tax	(31,371.15)	11,155.03
Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities	(5,390.45)	2,248.91
Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost	(189.12)	(409.98)
Items (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax :		
- foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net)	(8.28)	133.62
- interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment	62.16	33.78
- Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments	(1.55)	(5.01)
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees	127.78	917.01
Deferred tax assets not recognised because realisation is not probable	473.87	990.23
Previously recognised deferred tax assets written down on account of impairment of Jaguar	2,698.15	-
Land Rover business		
Utilisation/credit of unrecognised tax losses, unabsorbed depreciation and other tax benefits	(701.64)	(358.33)
Impact of change in statutory tax rates	454.04	539.26
Profit on sale of investments-subsidiaries and Others	(93.20)	-
Others	130.79	252.44
Income tax expense reported	(2,437.45)	4,341.93

The UK Finance Act 2016 was enacted during the year ended March 31, 2017 which included provisions for a reduction in the UK Corporation tax rate to 17% with effect from April 1, 2020. Accordingly, UK deferred tax has been provided at rates applicable when the temporary difference is expected to reverse.

Included within 'Impact of change in statutory tax rates' is a charge of ₹464.84 crores for the impact of the change in the US Federal rate from 35% to 21% on deferred tax assets for the year ended March 31, 2018.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2019 are as follows:

	Opening balance	Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 15	Adjusted Opening Balance	Reversal of items classified as held for Sale in earlier year	Recognised in profit or loss	Recognised in/reclassified from other comprehensive income	MAT Credit Utilised	Divestment of a subsidiary company	Closing balance
Deferred tax assets:									
Unabsorbed depreciation	2,564.73		2,564.73	2.43	(16.12)	(0.01)		12.44	2,563.47
Business loss carry forwards	4,961.49	8.45	4,969.94	1	(1,925.59)	(72.39)		•	2,971.96
Expenses deductible in future years:								•	
- provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others	3,021.39	1	3,021.39	2.12	391.11	0.22	ı	2.45	3,417.29
Compensated absences and retirement benefits	842.63	1	842.63	13.24	3.27	385.85	ı	1.30	1,246.29
Minimum alternate tax carry-forward	38.19	1	38.19	3.78	81.78	1	(1.58)	(15.55)	106.62
Property, plant and equipment	92.65	•	92.65	1	4,825.89	10.82	•	•	4,929.36
Derivative financial instruments	755.25	1	755.25	0.39	(2.24)	471.92	1	•	1,225.32
Unrealised profit on Inventory	1,507.92	1	1,507.92	1	(381.15)	15.10	ı	1	1,141.87
Others	1,140.24	1	1,140.24	1.52	168.14	(51.85)	ı	0.82	1,258.87
Total deferred tax assets	14,924.49	8.45	14,932.94	23.48	3,145.09	759.66	(1.58)	1.46	18,861.05
Deferred tax liabilities:			'						
Property, plant and equipment	2,740.07	1	2,740.07	5.60	(114.26)	(11.97)		7.21	2,626.65
Intangible assets	12,183.85	1	12,183.85	(2.74)	(1,242.05)	(188.11)	ı	1	10,750.95
Undistributed earnings in subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees	1,939.72	1	1,939.72	ı	(233.04)*	(17.46)	1	1	1,689.22
Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary subsequent to disposal of controlling equity interest	16.95	ı	16.95	ı	1	1	1	1	16.95
Others	11.00	1	11.00	12.10	71.76	22.35	•	•	117.21
Total deferred tax liabilities	16,891.59	•	16,891.59	14.96	(1,517.59)	(195.19)	•	7.21	15,200.98
Net assets/(liabilities)	(1,967.10)	8.45	(1,958.65)	8.52	4,662.68	954.85	(1.58)	(5.75)	3,660.07
Deferred tax assets									₹ 5,151.11

^{*} Net off ₹**360.82 crores** reversed on dividend distribution by subsidiaries.

As at March 31, 2019, unrecognised deferred tax assets amount to ₹5,393.93 crores and ₹5,605.09 crores, which can be carried forward indefinitely and up to a specified period, respectively. These relate primarily to depeciation carry forwards, other deductible temporary differences and business losses. The deferred tax asset has not been recognised on the basis that its recovery is not probable in the foreseeable future.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets expire unutilised based on the year of origination as follows:

March 31,	(₹ in crores)
2020	52.50
2021	56.10
2022	69.94
2023	885.95
2024	716.14
Thereafter	3,824.46

The Company has not recognised deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries amounting to ₹44,551.06 crores and ₹74,589.17 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, because it is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences associated with such undistributed profits and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2018 are as follows:

(₹ in crores) Opening MAT Credit Classified Closina Recognised Recognised balance in profit in/reclassified Utilised as held balance or loss from other for Sale comprehensive income Deferred tax assets: Unabsorbed depreciation 2,574.50 1.86 1.58 (13.21)2,564.73 Business loss carry forwards 3,292.38 1,340.70 328.41 4,961.49 Expenses deductible in future years: 72.85 123.31 provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others 2.828.72 (3.49)3.021.39 (722.47)(13.70)Compensated absences and retirement benefits 2,172.96 (594.16)842.63 38.19 Minimum alternate tax carry-forward 74.92 1.26 (34.21)(3.78)Property, plant and equipment 111.90 (30.83)11.58 92.65 Derivative financial instruments 4,428.94 (582.98)(3,090.32)(0.39)755.25 1,609.40 (303.82)202.34 1,507.92 Unrealised profit on inventory 796 44 200.77 152.37 (9.34)1,140.24 (2,864.89)Total deferred tax assets 17,890.16 (22.66)(34.21)(43.91) 14,924.49 Deferred tax liabilities: 2.702.20 8.39 (15.87)2.740.07 Property, plant and equipment 45.35 530.51 2.74 Intangible assets 10.484.89 1,165.71 12,183.85 Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries joint 508.16* 1,337.63 93.93 1,939.72 operations and equity accounted investees Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary 16.95 16.95 subsequent to disposal of controlling equity interest Derivative financial instruments 23.12 (23.12)Others 42.03 (8.12)(13.29)(9.62)11.00 Total deferred tax liabilities 14,606.82 1,015.82 1,291.70 (22.75) 16,891.59 Net assets/(liabilities) 3.283.34 (1,038.48)(4,156.59)(34.21)(21.17) (1,967.10) ₹ 4,158.70 Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities ₹ 6,125.80

^{*} Net of ₹ 408.85 crores reversed on dividend distributions by subsidiaries.

22. Equity Share Capital

			(₹ in crores,
		As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
(a) Au	thorised:		
(i)	400,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	800.00	800.00
	(as at March 31, 2018: 400,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
(ii)	100,00,00,000 A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	200.00	200.00
	(as at March 31, 2018: 100,00,00,000 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
(iii)	30,00,00,000 Convertible Cumulative Preference shares of ₹100 each	3,000.00	3,000.00
	(as at March 31, 2018: 30,00,00,000 shares of ₹100 each)		
	Total	4,000.00	4,000.00
(b) Iss	rued [Note (j)]:		
(i)	288,78,43,046 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	577.57	577.57
	(as at March 31, 2018: 288,78,43,046 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
(ii)	50,87,36,110 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	101.75	101.75
	(as at March 31, 2018: 50,87,36,110 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
	Total	679.32	679.32
(c) Su	bscribed and called up:		
(i)	288,73,48,694 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	577.47	577.47
	(as at March 31, 2018: 288,73,48,694 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
(ii)	50,85,02,371 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each	101.70	101.70
	(as at March 31, 2018: 50,85,02,371 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)		
		679.17	679.17
(d) Ca	lls unpaid - Ordinary shares	(0.00)*	(0.00)*
	310 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹1 outstanding on each) and 260 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹0.50 outstanding on each)		
	(as at March 31, 2018: 310 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹1 outstanding on each) and 260 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹0.50 outstanding on each)		
(e) Pa	id-up (c+d):	679.17	679.17
(f) Fo	rfeited - Ordinary shares	0.05	0.05
Tol	ral (e + f)	679.22	679.22

(g) The movement of number of shares and share capital

	Year ended Marc	th 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018	
	(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)	(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)
(i) Ordinary shares				
Balance as at April 1	2,887,348,694	577.47	2,887,348,428	577.47
Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	-	-	266	0.00*
Balance as at March 31	2,887,348,694	577.47	2,887,348,694	577.47
(ii) 'A' Ordinary shares				
Balance as at April 1	508,502,371	101.70	508,502,291	101.70
Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	-	-	80	0.00*
Balance as at March 31	508,502,371	101.70	508,502,371	101.70

- (h) The entitlements to 4,94,352 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2018 : 4,94,352 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) and 2,33,739 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2018 : 2,33,739 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) are subject matter of various suits filed in the courts / forums by third parties for which final order is awaited and hence kept in abeyance.
- * less than ₹50 000/-

(i) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares :

(i) Ordinary shares and 'A' Ordinary shares both of ₹2 each :

- The Company has two classes of shares the Ordinary shares and the 'A' Ordinary shares both of ₹2 each (together referred to as shares). In respect of every Ordinary share (whether fully or partly paid), voting rights shall be in the same proportion as the capital paid up on such Ordinary share bears to the total paid up Ordinary share capital of the Company. In case of every 'A' Ordinary share, if any resolution is put to vote on a poll or by postal ballot at any general meeting of shareholders, the holder shall be entitled to one vote for every ten 'A' Ordinary shares held as per the terms of its issue and if a resolution is put to vote on a show of hands, the holder of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to the same number of votes as available to holders of Ordinary shares.
- The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the
 ensuing Annual General Meeting. Further, the Board of Directors may also declare an interim dividend.
 The holders of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive dividend for each financial year at
 five percentage point more than the aggregate rate of dividend declared on Ordinary shares for that
 financial year.
- In the event of liquidation, the shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholdings.

(ii) American Depositary Shares (ADSs) and Global Depositary Shares (GDSs):

- Each ADS and GDS underlying the ADR and GDR respectively represents five Ordinary shares of ₹2 each. A holder of ADS and GDS is not entitled to attend or vote at shareholders meetings. An ADS holder is entitled to issue voting instructions to the Depositary with respect to the Ordinary shares represented by ADSs only in accordance with the provisions of the Company's ADSs deposit agreement and Indian Law. The depositary for the ADSs and GDSs shall exercise voting rights in respect of the deposited shares by issue of an appropriate proxy or power of attorney in terms of the respective deposit agreements.
- Shares issued upon conversion of ADSs and GDSs will rank pari passu with the existing Ordinary shares of ₹2 each in all respects including entitlement of the dividend declared.

(j) Number of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5 percent of the issued share capital:

			As a	As at March 31, 2019 As at		t March 31, 2018
			% Issued Share Capital	No. of Shares	% Issued Share Capital	No. of Shares
(i)	Ord	inary shares :				
	(a)	Tata Sons Private Limited	34.69%	1,01,91,56,523	32.72%	96,13,81,852
	(b)	Life Insurance Corporation of India	5.02%	14,73,73,493	5.08%	14,92,95,627
	(c)	Citibank N A as Depository	#	32,36,96,360	#	43,70,24,750
(ii)	Ά' (Ordinary shares :				
	(a)	ICICIPrudentialBalancedAdvantageFund	11.98%	6,09,11,219	9.44%	4,79,98,379
	(b)	Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund	11.71%	5,95,34,740	8.74%	4,44,31,036
	(c)	HDFC Large Cap Fund	-	-	5.15%	2,62,02,083
	(d)	Government of Singapore	6.51%	3,30,82,933	6.78%	3,44,87,840

[#] held by Citibank, N.A. as depository for American Depository Receipts (ADRs) and Global Depository Receipts (GDRs)

(k) Information regarding issue of shares in the last five years

- (a) The Company has not issued any shares without payment being received in cash.
- (b) The Company has not issued any bonus shares.
- (c) The Company has not undertaken any buy-back of shares.

23. Other components of equity

(a) The movement of Currency translation reserve is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	4,621.23	(5,300.13)
Exchange differences arising on translating the net assets of foreign operations (net)	(2,010.23)	9,491.95
Net change in translation reserve - equity accounted investees (net)	(58.61)	429.41
Balance at the end	2,552.39	4,621.23

(b) The movement of Equity instruments held as fair value through other comprehensive income(FVTOCI) is as follows:

Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
22.82	(19.26)
43.80	42.86
0.39	-
(4.93)	(0.78)
62.08	22.82
	43.80 0.39 (4.93)

(c) The movement of Hedging reserve is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	(3,626.04)	(17,911.63)
Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	(8,485.30)	8,700.95
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	1,606.17	(1,626.88)
(Gain)/loss reclassified to profit or loss	7,077.94	10,328.81
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) reclassified to profit or loss	(1,345.20)	(1,957.86)
Amounts reclassified from hedge reserve to inventory	(1,024.92)	(1,431.40)
Income tax related to amounts reclassified from hedge reserve to inventory	194.73	271.97
Balance at the end	(5,602.62)	(3,626.04)

(d) The movement of Cost of hedging reserve is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Balance at the beginning	143.98	(74.22)
Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	(262.32)	267.69
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	51.03	(50.42)
(Gain)/loss reclassified to profit or loss	(18.94)	-
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) reclassified to profit or loss	4.40	-
Amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	13.65	1.15
Income tax related to amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	(2.60)	(0.22)
Balance at the end	(70.80)	143.98

(e) Summary of Other components of equity:

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Currency translation reserve	2,552.39	4,621.23
Equity instruments held as FVTOCI	62.08	22.82
Hedging reserve	(5,602.62)	(3,626.04)
Cost of hedging reserve	(70.80)	143.98
Total	(3,058.95)	1,161.99

24. Notes to reserves and dividends

(a) Securities premium

The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Securities premium account.

(b) Retained earnings

Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date.

(c) Capital redemption reserve

The Indian Companies Act, 2013 (the "Companies Act") requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free reserves or securities premium account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to a capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the Balance Sheet. The capital redemption reserve account may be applied by the company, in paying up unissued shares of the company to be issued to shareholders of the company as fully paid bonus shares. Tata Motors Limited established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of preference shares issued in earlier years.

(d) Debenture redemption reserve

The Companies Act requires that where a company issues debentures, it shall create a debenture redemption reserve out of profits of the company available for payment of dividend. The company is required to maintain a Debenture Redemption Reserve of 25% of the value of debentures issued, either by a public issue or on a private placement basis. The amounts credited to the debenture redemption reserve may not be utilised by the company except to redeem debentures.

(e) Reserve for research and human resource development

In terms of Article 9 of the Act on Special Taxation Restriction in Korea, Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited (TDCV, a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited) is entitled for deferment of tax in respect of expenditures incurred on product development cost subject to fulfillment of certain conditions, by way of deduction from the taxable income, provided that TDCV appropriates an equivalent amount from "Retained Earnings" to "Reserve for Research and Human Resource Development".

The deferment is for a period of three years and from the fourth year onwards one-third of the reserve is offered to tax and an equal amount is then transferred from the reserve to "Retained earnings available for appropriation".

(f) Special reserve

The special reserve represents the reserve created by two subsidiaries of Tata Motors Limited pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (the "RBI Act") and related regulations applicable to those companies. Under the RBI Act, a non-banking finance company is required to transfer an amount not less than 20% of its net profit to a reserve fund before declaring any dividend. Appropriation from this reserve fund is permitted only for the purposes specified by the RBI.

(g) Earned surplus reserve

Under the Korean commercial code, TDCV is required to appropriate at least 10% of cash dividend declared each year to a legal reserve until such reserves equal to 50% of capital stock. This reserve may not be utilised for cash dividends, but may only be used to offset against future deficits, if any, or may be transferred to capital stock.

(h) Hedge Reserve

Effective portion of fair value gain/(loss) on all financial instruments designated in cash flow hedge relationship are accumulated in hedge reserve.

(i) Cost of hedge reserve

Fair value gain/(loss) attributable to cost of hedge on all financials instruments designated in cash flow hedge relationship are accumulated in cost of hedge reserve.

(j) Capital Reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration.

(k) Dividends

The final dividend is recommended by the Board of Directors and is recorded in the books of accounts upon its approval by the Shareholders.

For the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, considering the accumulated losses in the Tata Motors Limited Standalone, no dividend is permitted to be paid to the Members, as per the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder.

(I) Share-based payments reserve

Share-based payments reserve represents amount of fair value, as on the date of grant, of unvested options and vested options not exercised till date, that have been recognised as expense in the statement of Profit and Loss till date.

(m) Reserve for Equity instruments through other comprehensive income

Fair value gain loss arising on equity investment that are designated as held at fair value through Other comprehensive income is included here.

25. Long-term borrowings

(₹ in crores)

		(\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Secured:		
(a) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	1,765.40	2,005.58
(b) Collateralised debt obligations	1,564.91	592.49
(c) Term loans:		
(i) from banks	9,744.57	4,909.55
(ii) other parties	196.93	201.31
(d) Finance lease obligations	156.17	46.75
Unsecured:		
(a) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	7,187.29	8,694.50
(b) Term loans:		
(i) from banks	18,182.90	8,753.12
(ii) other parties	44.07	55.67
(c) Senior notes	31,344.61	35,045.72
(d) Others	786.82	894.81
Total	70,973.67	61,199.50

26. Short-term borrowings

(₹ in crores)

			(X III CI OI ES)
		As at	As at
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Sec	ured:		
(a)	Loans from banks	7,990.00	5,104.30
(b)	Loans from other parties	187.87	171.11
Uns	ecured:		
(a)	Loans from banks	946.83	851.89
(b)	Inter corporate deposits from associates	73.00	86.00
(c)	Commercial paper	10,952.56	10,581.55
	Total	20,150.26	16,794.85

Collaterals

Inventory, trade receivables, finance receivables, other financial assets, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of ₹30,885.05 crores and ₹18,196.91 crores are pledged as collateral/security against the borrowing as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Notes:

Nature of Security (on loans including interest accrued thereon):

Long Term Borrowings

(A) Non convertible debentures

(i) Rated, Listed, Secured, 9.95% Coupon, Non-Convertible Debentures amounting to ₹200 crores included within Current maturities of Long-term borrowings in note 28 are secured by a pari passu charge by way of an English mortgage of the Company's freehold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand in the State of Gujarat.

- (ii) Privately placed non-convertible debentures amounting to ₹1,765.40 crores included within Long-term borrowings in note 25 and ₹1,956.01 crores included within Current maturities of long-term borrowings in note 28 are fully secured by:
 - (a) First pari passu charge on residential flat of Tata Motors Finance Limited (TMFL) an indirect subsidiary of the Company
 - (b) Pari passu charge is created in favour of debenture trustee on :
 - All receivables of TMFL arising out of loan and lease transactions,
 - All book debts, trade advances forming part of movable property of TML.
 - (c) Any other security as identified by TMFL and acceptable to the debenture trustee.

(B) Collateralised debt obligations

Collateralised debt obligation represent amount received against finance receivables securitised/assigned, which does not qualify for derecognition. The repayments are due from financial year ending March 31, 2020 to March 31, 2024.

(C) Long-term loan from banks/financial institution and Government

- (i) Term loans from banks amounting to ₹7,877.31 crores included within long-term borrowings in note 25 and ₹1,557.81 crores included within current maturities of long-term borrowings in note 28 are secured by a pari-passu charge in favour of the security trustee on all receivables of TMFL arising out of loan, lease transactions and trade advances, all other book debts, receivables from pass through certifictes in which company has invested and such other current assets as may be identified by TMFL from time to time and accepted by the relevant lender/security trustee.
- (ii) Term loans from banks amounting to ₹1,279.68 crores included within long-term borrowings in note 25 and ₹214.59 crores included within current maturities of long-term borrowings in note 28 are secured by way of a charge created on all receivables of Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited (TMFSL) arising out of loan, trade advances; and all other book debts, receivables from pass through certificates in which company has invested; and such other current assets as may be identified by TMFSL from time to time and accepted by the relevant lender.
- (iii) Term loan from banks of ₹**587.58 crores** included within Long-term borrowings in note 25 and ₹**88.48 crores** included within Current maturities of Long-term borrowings in note 28 is taken by joint operation Fiat India Automobiles Private Ltd which is due for repayment from June 2019 to May 2023. The loan is secured by first charge over fixed assets procured from its loan/jeep project.
- (iv) The term loan from others of ₹587.08 crores (recorded in books at ₹146.73 crores) is due for repayment from the quarter ending March 31, 2033 to quarter ending March31, 2039, along with simple interest at the rate of 0.10% p.a.The loan is secured by a second and subservient charge (creation of charge is under process) over Company's free hold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand plant in the State of Gujarat.
- (v) The term loan from others of ₹69.34 crores (recorded in books at ₹24.70 crores) is due for repayment from the quarter ending June 30, 2030 to March 31, 2033, along with a simple interest of 0.01% p.a. The loan is secured by bank qurantee for the due performance of the conditions as per the terms of the agreement.
- (vi) The term loan from others of ₹25.50 crores included within Long -term borrowings in note 25 and ₹9.00 crores included within current maturity of long-term borrowings in note 28 are secured by pari passu first charge on fixed assets of Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited.

(D) Short-term borrowings

Loans, cash credits, overdrafts and buyers line of credit from banks are secured by hypothecation of existing current assets of the Company viz. stock of raw materials, stock in process, semi-finished goods, stores and spares not relating to plant and machinery (consumable stores and spares), bills receivable and book debts including receivable from hire purchase / leasing and all other moveable current assets except cash and bank balances, loans and advances of the Company both present and future.

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS: TERMS

(A) Senior notes (Euro MTF listed debt)

The senior notes of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc (JLR) are listed on the Euro MTF market, which is a listed market regulated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

			·
Currency	Amount (in million)	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
USD	500	3,446.40	3,248.52
GBP	400	3,600.58	3,666.48
GBP	400	3,596.98	3,659.84
USD	500	3,468.65 *	3,271.36
USD	700	-	4,584.47
USD	500	3,471.30 *	3,273.84
GBP	300	2,703.68	2,750.46
EUR	650	5,036.70	5,211.24
USD	500	3,458.55	3,156.93
USD	500	3,898.95	-
		32,681.79	32,823.13
	USD GBP USD USD USD GBP EUR	(in million) USD 500 GBP 400 USD 500 USD 700 USD 700 USD 500 GBP 300 EUR 650 USD 500	(in million) March 31, 2019 USD 500 3,446.40 GBP 400 3,600.58 GBP 400 3,596.98 USD 500 3,468.65 * USD 700 - USD 500 3,471.30 * GBP 300 2,703.68 EUR 650 5,036.70 USD 500 3,458.55 USD 500 3,898.95

^{*} Classified as other current liabilities being maturity before March 31, 2020.

(B) Senior notes (SGX-ST listed debt)

The senior notes of Tata Motors Limited and TML Holdings Pte Ltd are listed on the SGX-ST market, which is a listed market regulated by the Singapore Stock Exchange.

Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2019 are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

Particulars	Currency	Amount (in million)	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
5.750% Senior Notes due 2024	USD	250	1,718.73	1,619.43
5.750% Senior Notes due 2021	USD	300	2,079.16	1,948.77
4.625% Senior Notes due 2020	USD	262.532	1,804.88	3,238.86
			5,602.77	6,807.06

⁽C) Non convertible debentures amounting to ₹8,952.69 crores included within long-term borrowing in note 25 and ₹3,826.69 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings in note 28 bear interest rate ranging from 7.28% to 11.50% and maturity ranging from April 2019 to March 2029.

(D) Loan from banks/ financial institutions consists of:

(i) Term loans amounting to ₹12,981.94 crores included within long-term borrowings in note 25 and ₹2,402.28 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings in note 28 bearing floating interest rate based on marginal cost of funds lending rate (MCLR) of respective bank having maturity ranging from April, 2019 to March 2023.

- (ii) External commercial borrowings in foreign currencies amounting to ₹2,229.85 crores included within long-term borrowing in note 25 and ₹82.70 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings in note 28 bearing floating interest rate based on LIBOR having maturity ranging from May 2023 to June 2025.
- (iii) Foreign currency term loan amounting to ₹5,908.63 crores included within long-term borrowing in note 25 bearing floating interest rate that are linked to LIBOR maturity ranging from July 2020 to July 2023.
- (iv) Foreign currency syndicate loan amounting to ₹6,834.37 crores included within long-term borrowing in note 25 bearing floating interest rate that are linked to LIBOR maturity ranging from October 2022 to January 2025.

Short Term Borrowings: Terms

- (i) Short-term loan from banks and other parties(financial institutions) consists of cash credit, overdrafts, short term loan, bill discounting amounting to ₹2,511.92 crores bearing fixed rate of interest ranging from 8.00% to 10.25% and ₹6,610.13 crores bear floating rate of interest based on MCLR of respective banks and other bench mark rates.
- (ii) Commercial paper are unsecured short term papers issued at discount bearing no coupon interest. The yield on commercial paper issued by the Company ranges from 7.21% to 9.10%.

27. Other financial liabilities - non-current

(₹ in crores)

		As at	As at
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	2,662.44	2,450.20
(b)	Liability towards employee separation scheme	79.10	85.22
(c)	Others	51.17	203.72
	Total	2,792.71	2,739.14

28. Other financial liabilities - current

			(111 01 01 05)
		As at	As at
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Current maturities of long-term borrowings	15,051.41	10,956.12
(b)	Interest accrued but not due on borrowings	1,059.58	1,095.72
(c)	Liability towards vehicles sold under repurchase arrangements	4,243.65	4,423.58
(d)	Liability for capital expenditure	7,046.74	8,219.45
(e)	Deposits and retention money	407.87	202.29
(f)	Derivative financial instruments	4,742.53	6,207.66
(g)	Liability towards Investors Education and Protection Fund under Section 125 of the		
	Companies Act, 2013 (IEPF) not due	21.08	22.79
(h)	Others	282.79	139.88
	Total	32,855.65	31,267.49
Note	s:		
Curr	ent maturities of long term borrowings consist of :		
(i)	Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures (Secured)	2,156.01	2,524.28
(ii)	Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures (Unsecured)	1,670.68	1,586.43
(iii)	Collateralised debt obligation	1,482.42	728.09
(iv)	Finance lease obligation	17.30	22.23
(v)	Senior Notes	6,939.95	4,584.47
(vi)	Term loans from banks and others (Secured)	1,869.88	635.62
(vii)	Term loans from banks and others (Unsecured)	615.17	875.00
(viii)	Others	300.00	=
	Total	15,051.41	10,956.12

29. Provisions

(₹ in crores)

			, ,
		As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Nor	n-current		
(a)	Employee benefits obligations	826.35	738.00
(b)	Product warranty	10,097.01	9,453.60
(c)	Legal and product liability	391.31	219.95
(d)	Provision for residual risk	277.62	254.76
(e)	Provision for environmental liability	138.12	150.05
(f)	Annual maintenance contract	2.90	9.26
(g)	Other provisions	121.54	122.82
	Total	11,854.85	10,948.44
Cur	rent		
(a)	Employee benefit obligations	1,107.87	106.64
(b)	Product warranty	7,404.25	6,481.50
(c)	Legal and product liability	1,395.12	1,099.92
(d)	Provision for residual risk	85.12	62.20
(e)	Provision for environmental liability	125.47	97.88
(f)	Annual maintenance contract	23.95	46.20
(g)	Other provisions	54.97	59.16
	Total	10,196.75	7,953.50

		Year ended March 31, 2019		
	Product warranty	Legal and product Liability	Provision for residual risk	Provision for environmental liability
Balance at the beginning	15,935.10	1,319.87	316.96	247.93
Adjustment on initial application of Ind AS 115	(137.65)	-	-	-
Provision made during the year *	10,422.26	1,465.48	72.49	100.94
Provision used during the year	(8,608.77)	(985.73)	(23.95)	(79.93)
Impact of discounting	191.25	-	-	-
Impact of foreign exchange translation	(300.93)	(13.19)	(2.76)	(5.35)
Balance at the end	17,501.26	1,786.43	362.74	263.59
Current	7,404.25	1,395.12	85.12	125.47
Non-current	10,097.01	391.31	277.62	138.12

^{*} Provision made during the year includes estimated recovery from suppliers $\ref{2.96}$ crores.

30. Other non-current liabilities *

(₹ in crores)

		As at	As at
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Contract liabilities (refer note below)	4,673.09	4,111.62
(b)	Government grants	3,019.48	2,890.14
(c)	Employee benefits obligations	6,110.12	4,100.76
(d)	Others	119.52	62.67
	Total	13,922.21	11,165.19

^{*} Excludes ₹246.57 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

31. Other current liabilities *

(₹ in crores)

		As at	As at
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Contract liabilities (refer note below)	4,577.38	3,756.27
(b)	Government grants	258.89	86.51
(c)	Statutory dues (VAT, Excise, Service Tax, GST, Octroi etc)	3,913.94	3,176.86
(d)	Others	796.25	614.91
	Total	9,546.46	7,634.55

Note:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended
	March 31, 2019
(a) Opening contract liabilities (regrouped on transition to Ind AS 115)	7,867.89
Transition impact of Ind AS 115	276.69
Amount recognised in revenue during the year	(3,578.39)
Amount received in advance during the year	4,958.05
Amount refunded to customers during the year	(217.55)
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale	71.77
Currency translation	(127.99)
Closing contract liabilities	9,250.47

Performance obligations in respect of amount received for future maintenance service and extended warranty will be fulfilled over a period of 6 years from year ending March 31, 2020 till March 31, 2025.

		(₹ in crores)
		As at
		March 31, 2019
(b)	Contract liabilities comprise of the following:	
	Advances received from customers - current	1,739.61
	Deferred revenue - current	2,837.77
	Deferred revenue -Non-current	4,673.09
	Total contract liabilities	9,250.47

Until the previous year, Advance received from customers and deferred revenue were separately presented which currently as per Ind AS 115 are presented as contract liabilities.

Government grants include:

- (i) ₹245.93 crores as at March 31, 2019 and ₹187.67 crores as at March 31, 2018 grants relating to property, plant and equipment relate to duty saved on import of capital goods and spares under the EPCG scheme. Under such scheme, the Company is committed to export prescribed times of the duty saved on import of capital goods over a specified period of time. In case such commitments are not met, the Company would be required to pay the duty saved along with interest to the regulatory authorities.
- (ii) ₹2,963.01 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹2,702.00 crores as at March 31, 2018) relating to Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditure incurred since April 1, 2013.

^{*} Excludes ₹174.89 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

32. Revenue from Operations

(₹ in crores)

			(1110103)
		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Sale of products (refer note 1 & 2 below)		
	(i) Sale of vehicles	258,566.52	250,891.18
	(ii) Sale of spare parts	24,031.89	19,936.23
	(iii) Sale of miscellaneous products	10,383.46	12,920.91
	Total Sale of products	292,981.87	283,748.32
(b)	Sale of services	2,809.17	3,033.90
(c)	Finance revenues	3,399.55	2,604.03
		299,190.59	289,386.25
(d)	Other operating revenues	2,747.81	2,954.39
	Total	301,938.40	292,340.64

Note:

(1) Includes exchange gain/(loss) (net) on hedges reclassified from hedge reserve to statement of Profit and Loss (10,274.11)

(2) Consequent to the introduction of Goods and Service Tax (GST) with effect from July 1, 2017, Central Excise, Value Added Tax (VAT), etc have been replaced by GST. In accordance with Ind AS 18/Ind AS 115 on Revenue/Revenue from contracts with customers and Schedule III of the Companies Act, 2013, GST, GST Compensation Cess, etc. are not included in Sale of products for applicable periods. In view of the aforesaid restructuring of indirect taxes, Sale of products for the year ended March 31, 2019 are not comparable with the previous period. Following additional information is being provided to facilitate such comparison:

Prev	rious Period		(₹ in crores)
		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Sale of products	292,981.87	283,748.32
(b)	Excise duty	-	(1,166.77)
(c)	Sale of products (net of excise duty) (a)- (b)	292,981.87	282,581.55

33. Other income

(₹ in crores)

		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Interest income	786.46	711.81
(b)	Dividend income	17.28	15.77
(c)	Profit on sale of investments measured at FVTPL	128.61	129.26
(d)	Incentives (refer note 1 & 2 below)	1,794.42	3,068.70
(e)	MTM on investments measured at FVTPL	238.54	32.05
Tota	l	2,965.31	3,957.59

Note:

- (1) Incentives include exports and other incentives of ₹**621.38 crores** and ₹934.88 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively and ₹**812.61 crores** and ₹387.67 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively received by foreign subsidiaries on Tax credit on qualifying expenditure for research and development.
- (2) Consequent to clarifications published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India during the year ended March 31, 2019; various Government Grants (incentives) have been reported as "Other Income". Previously, these were reported as "Other Operating Revenue" in the Statement of Profit and Loss. The change is retrospectively applied by reclassifying the previous year to confirm to current year's presentation and is not considered material to the Company's prior period financials statements.

34. Employee benefits expense

(₹ in crores)

		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a)	Salaries, wages and bonus	26,508.97	23,686.45
(b)	Contribution to provident fund and other funds	2,885.55	3,218.30
(c)	Staff welfare expenses	3,849.35	3,395.34
Tota	l	33,243.87	30,300.09

Share based payments

Long Term Incentive Plan

A subsidiary of the Company operates a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) arrangement for certain employees. The scheme provides a cash payment to the employee based on a specific number of phantom shares at grant and the share price of Tata Motors Limited at the vesting date. The cash payment is dependent on the performance of the underlying shares of Tata Motors Limited shares over the 3 year vesting period and continued employment at the end of the vesting period. The fair value of the awards is calculated using a Black-Scholes model at the grant date. The fair value is updated at each reporting date as the awards are accounted for as cash-settled plan. The inputs into the model are based on the Tata Motors Limited historic data, the risk-free rate and the weighted average fair value of shares, in the scheme at the reporting date. During the year ended March 31, 2016, the subsidiary company issued its final LTIP based on the share price of Tata Motors Limited. The amount released in relation to the LTIP was ₹9.18 crores and ₹8.55 crores for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company considers these amounts as not material and accordingly has not provided further disclosures as required by Ind AS 102 "Share -based payment"

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the subsidiary launched a new long-term employment benefit scheme which provides cash payment to certain employees based on subsidiary's performance against long-term business metrics. This new LTIP scheme has been accounted for in accordance with Ind AS 19 "Employee benefits".

Employee Stock Options

The Company has alloted share based incentives to certain employees during the year ended March 31, 2019, under Tata Motors Limited Employee Stock Options Scheme 2018, approved by Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC).

As per the scheme, the number of shares that will vest is conditional upon certain performance measures determined by NRC. The performance conditions are measured over vesting period of the options granted which ranges from 3 to 5 years. The performance measures under this scheme include growth in sales, earnings and free cash flow. The options granted under this scheme is exercisable by employees till one year from date of its vesting.

The Company has granted 78,12,427 number of options during the year ended March 31, 2019 at an exercise price of ₹345/-. Option granted will vest equally each year starting from 3 years from date of grant up to 5 years from date of grant. Number of shares that will vest range from 0.5 to 1.5 per option granted depending on performance measures.

	(₹ in crores)
	Year ended
	March 31, 2019
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year	-
Granted during the year	7,812,427
Forfeited/Expired during the year	-
Exercised during the year	-
Outstanding at the end of the year	7,812,427
Maximum/Minimum number of shares to be issued for outstanding options	11,718,641/
(conditional on performance measures)	3,906,214

The Company has estimated fair value of options granted during the year using Black Scholes model. The following assumptions were used for calculation of fair value of options granted during the year ended March 31, 2019.

Assumption factor	Estimates
Risk free rate	7%-8%
Expected life of option	4-6 years
Expected volatility	33%-37%

35. Finance costs

(₹ in crores)

		(1110103)
	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a) Interest	5,970.80	4,987.93
Less: Interest capitalised*	(1,512.85)	(1,294.32)
Add: Exchange fluctuation considered as interest cost	38.10	6.19
	4,496.05	3,699.80
(b) Discounting charges	1,262.55	981.99
Total	5,758.60	4,681.79

^{*} Represents borrowing costs capitalised during the year on qualifying assets (property plant and equipment and product development).

The weighted average rate for capitalisation of interest relating to general borrowings was approximately **5.45%** and 4.26% for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

36. Other expenses

(₹ in crores)

		Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(a)	Processing charges	1,634.36	1,339.08
(b)	Consumption of stores & spare parts	2,444.15	2,210.56
(c)	Power & fuel	1,585.93	1,308.08
(d)	Information Technology (IT) related/Computer expenses	2,340.45	2,143.18
(e)	Engineering expense	5,275.58	5,278.84
(f)	MTM (gain)/loss on commodity derivatives	(84.75)	214.63
(g)	Warranty and product liability expenses	11,890.70	7,700.07
(h)	Freight, transportation, port charges etc.	7,804.47	10,742.12
(i)	Publicity	8,729.63	8,968.59
(j)	Allowances for trade and other receivables	214.19	14.57
(k)	Allowances for finance receivables	320.24	43.30
(l)	Works operation and other expenses (note below)	20,083.17	20,221.19
Tota	ol.	62,238.12	60,184.21

Note:

Works operation and other expenses:

		Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(i)	Auditors' remuneration		
	(i) Audit fees	67.78	55.59
	(ii) Tax Audit fees	1.07	1.62
	(iii) All other fees	1.58	4.72
тот	AL	70.43	61.93

37 Employee benefits

Defined Benefit Plan

Pension and post retirement medical plans

The following table sets out the funded and unfunded status and the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the pension and the post retirement medical plans in respect of Tata Motors, its Indian subsidiaries and joint operations:

	Pension benefits Po		Post retirement medical Benefits	
	2019	2018	2019	2018
Change in defined benefit obligations :				
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of				
the year	1,024.79	980.76	154.05	183.86
Current service cost	74.63	72.25	8.04	10.20
Interest cost	75.70	68.76	11.51	13.06
Remeasurements (gains) / losses	-			
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(1.19)	(16.03)	-	(11.40)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	14.19	22.88	8.11	(2.70)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments	59.27	10.50	(15.03)	(28.96)
Benefits paid from plan assets	(71.31)	(116.85)		-
Benefits paid directly by employer	(5.82)	(5.98)	(9.42)	(10.01)
Past service cost - Plan amendment	0.39	8.50	(1.99)	
Acquisition/(Divestment)	(2.39)	-	(1.87)	-
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	1,168.26	1,024.79	153.40	154.05
Change in plan assets:				
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	906.04	841.78	-	
Acquisition/(Divestment)	(1.25)	-	-	
Interest income	71.60	63.33	-	=
Remeasurements gains / (losses)	-	-		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest cost)	2.70	(2.69)	-	-
Employer's contributions	117.26	120.47	-	-
Benefits paid	(71.31)	(116.85)	-	
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	1,025.04	906.04	-	-
Amount recognised in the balance sheet consists of:				
Present value of defined benefit obligation	1,168.26	1,024.79	153.40	154.05
Fair value of plan assets	1,025.04	906.04	-	
Net liability	(143.22)	(118.75)	(153.40)	(154.05)
Amounts in the balance sheet:	(= 151==)	(220.70)	(200.10)	(20 1100)
Non-current assets	1.64	1.57	-	
Non-current liabilities	(144.86)	(106.98)	(153.40)	(142.01)
Liabilities for asset classified as held for sale	<u>-</u>	(13.34)	-	(12.04)
Net liability	(143.22)	(118.75)	(153.40)	(154.05)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income consists of:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		Post retirement i	medical benefits
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Remeasurements (gains)/losses	62.91	(6.66)	(45.14)	(38.22)
	62.91	(6.66)	(45.14)	(38.22)

Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits	
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Defined benefit obligation	983.70	141.08
Fair value of plan assets	961.23	126.29

Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation less than plan assets:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension	Pension benefits	
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018	
Defined benefit obligation	62.17	778.18	
Fair value of plan assets	63.81	779.75	

Information for unfunded plans:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		Post retirement r	medical benefits
	As at	As at	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Defined benefit obligation	122.39	105.53	153.40	154.05

Net pension and post retirement medical cost consist of the following components:

	Pension benefits		Post retirement medical benefits		
	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018	
Service cost	74.63	72.25	8.04	10.20	
Net interest cost/(income)	4.10	5.43	11.51	13.06	
Past service cost - Plan amendment	0.39	8.50	(1.99)	-	
Net periodic cost	79.12	86.18	17.56	23.26	

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognised in other comprehensive income.

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		Pension benefits Post retirement m	
	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Remeasurements				
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(2.70)	2.69	-	-
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(1.19)	(16.03)	-	(11.40)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	14.19	22.88	8.11	(2.70)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	59.27	10.50	(15.03)	(28.96)
Total recognised in other comprehensive income	69.57	20.04	(6.92)	(43.06)
Total recognised in statement of operations and other comprehensive income	148.69	106.22	10.64	(19.80)

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension and post retirement medical plans are set out below:

	Pension benefits Pos		Post retirement r	Post retirement medical benefits	
	As at	As at As at		As at	
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Discount rate	6.75% - 7.70%	7.5% - 8.0%	7.6%	8.0%	
Rate of increase in compensation					
level of covered employees	5.75% - 12.0%	5.0% - 12.0%	NA	NA	
Increase in health care cost	NA	NA	6.0%	6.0%	

Plan Assets

The fair value of Company's pension plan asset as of March 31, 2019 and 2018 by category are as follows:

	Pension be	enefits
	Plan assets as	of March 31
	2019	2018
Asset category:		
Cash and cash equivalents	6.5%	6.0%
Debt instruments (quoted)	66.9%	68.4%
Debt instruments (unquoted)	0.9%	0.3%
Equity instruments (quoted)	2.6%	1.7%
Deposits with Insurance companies	23.1%	23.6%
	100.0%	100.0%

The Company's policy is driven by considerations of maximising returns while ensuring credit quality of the debt instruments. The asset allocation for plan assets is determined based on investment criteria prescribed under the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961, and is also subject to other exposure limitations. The Company evaluates the risks, transaction costs and liquidity for potential investments. To measure plan asset performance, the Company compares actual returns for each asset category with published bench marks.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2019 is 14.41 years (2018: 14.51 years)

The Company expects to contribute **₹96.67 crores** to the funded pension plans in FY 2019-20.

The table below outlines the effect on the service cost, the interest cost and the defined benefit obligation in the event of a decrease/increase of 1% in the assumed rate of discount rate, salary escalation and health care cost:

Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on defined benefit obligation	Impact on service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase by 1%	Decrease by ₹84.55 crores	Decrease by ₹19.34 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹95.12 crores	Increase by ₹20.62 crores
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹91.31 crores	Increase by ₹21.66 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹81.02 crores	Decrease by ₹19.03 crores
Health care cost	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹19.34 crores	Increase by ₹4.27 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹16.26 crores	Decrease by ₹3.97 crores

Severance indemnity plan

Severance indemnity is a funded plan of Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicles Limited (TDCV), a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited.

The following table sets out, the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the severance indemnity plan.

(₹ in crores)

		(1110103)
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Change in defined benefit obligation:		
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	425.63	348.26
Service cost	52.52	45.26
Interest cost	11.13	7.90
Remeasurements (gains) / losses		
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	36.83	(0.14)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(21.34)	14.70
Benefits paid from plan assets	(73.89)	(7.08)
Benefits paid directly by employer	(8.95)	(3.49)
Foreign currency translation	0.40	20.22
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	422.33	425.63
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	405.36	324.53
Interest income	10.97	8.15
Remeasurements gain / (loss)		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(5.99)	(5.13)
Employer's contributions	30.92	65.64
Benefits paid	(82.84)	(7.08)
Foreign currency translation	1.65	19.25
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	360.07	405.36

Amount recognised in the balance sheet consist of:

	As a	. As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Present value of defined benefit obligation	422.32	425.63
Fair value of plan assets	360.07	405.36
Net liability	(62.25)	(20.27)
Amounts in the balance sheet:		
Non- current liabilities	(62.25)	(20.27)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity consists of:

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Remeasurements (gains) / losses	(55.64)	(77.12)
	(55.64)	(77.12)

Net severance indemnity cost consist of the following components:

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Service cost	52.52	45.26
Net interest cost	0.16	(0.25)
Net periodic pension cost	52.68	45.01

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognised in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity plan:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended
	•	March 31, 2018
Remeasurements (gains) / losses		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	5.99	5.13
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	36.83	(0.14)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(21.34)	14.70
Total recognised in other comprehensive income	21.48	19.69
Total recognised in statement of operations and other comprehensive income	74.16	64.70

The assumptions used in accounting for the Severance indemnity plan is set out below:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Discount rate	2.0%	2.8%
Rate of increase in compensation level of covered employees	3.5%	3.5%

The table below outlines the effect on the service cost, the interest cost and the defined benefit obligation in the event of a decrease/increase of 1% in the assumed rate of discount rate, salary escalation rate:

Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on scheme liabilities	Impact on service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 44.01 crores	Decrease by ₹ 12.32 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹ 51.62 crores	Increase by ₹ 13.56 crores
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹ 50.30 crores	Increase by ₹ 14.86 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 43.82 crores	Decrease by ₹ 12.84 crores

Severance indemnity plans asset allocation by category is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Deposit with banks	100%	100%

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2019 is 11.01 years (2018: 10.65 years)

The Company expects to contribute ₹ 17.91 crores to the funded severance indemnity plans in FY 2019-20.

Jaguar Land Rover Pension plan

Jaguar Land Rover Ltd UK, have pension arrangements providing employees with defined benefits related to pay and service as set out in the rules of each fund.

The UK defined benefit schemes are administered by a separate fund that is legally separated from the Company. The trustees of the pension schemes are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the schemes and all other governance matters. The board of trustees must be composed of representatives of the Company and plan participants in accordance with the plan's regulations.

Through its defined benefit pension plans the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to corporate bond yields; if plan assets under perform compared to the corporate bonds discount rate, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans hold a significant proportion of equity type assets, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term while providing volatility and risk in the short-term.

As the plans mature, the Company intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities.

However, the Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities and the strength of the supporting group, a level of continuing equity type investments is an appropriate element of the Company's long term strategy to manage the plans efficiently.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans' bond holdings and interest rate hedging instruments.

Inflation risk

Some of the Company's pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against high inflation). The plans hold a significant proportion of assets in index linked gilts, together with other inflation hedging instruments and also assets which are more closely correlated with inflation. However an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit to some degree.

Life expectancy

The majority of the plan's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plan's liabilities. This is particularly significant in the UK defined benefit plans, where inflationary increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

The following table sets out the disclosure pertaining to employee benefits of Jaguar Land Rover Limited

(₹ in crores)

	Pension	benefits
	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Change in defined benefit obligation:		
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	76,780.04	80,667.69
Service cost	1,449.05	1,856.13
Interest cost	1,981.47	2,058.43
Remeasurements (gains)/losses		
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(453.31)	(1,799.04)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	4,965.37	(3,017.78)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	327.69	(848.75)
Past service cost /(credit)	379.90	(3,609.01)
Plan settlement	-	(180.76)
Benefits paid	(5,657.37)	(8,444.13)
Member contributions	13.58	32.48
Foreign currency translation	(1,519.93)	10,064.78
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	78,266.49	76,780.04
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	72,737.89	68,845.49
Interest Income	1,904.02	1,866.13
Remeasurements gains/(losses)		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	2,362.62	(997.46)
Employer's contributions	2,407.81	2,455.42
Members contributions	13.58	32.48
Plan settlement	-	(174.95)
Benefits paid	(5,657.37)	(8,444.13)
Expenses paid	(118.65)	(77.77)
Foreign currency translation	(1,409.80)	9,232.68
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	72,240.10	72,737.89

	Pension benefits		
	Year ended	Year ended Year ended	
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Present value of defined benefit obligation	78,266.49	76,780.04	
Fair value of plan Assets	72,240.10	72,737.89	
Net liability	(6,026.39)	(4,042.15)	

- (₹	In	CL	OL.	es
١.	•	11 1	u	OI.	CO

		(< 111 Cl Ol e3)	
	Pension benefits		
	Year ended Year en		
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Amount recognised in the balance sheet consist of:			
Non- current assets	-	-	
Non -current liabilities	(6,026.39)	(4,042.15)	
Net liability	(6,026.39)	(4,042.15)	

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		
	As at	As at	
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Remeasurements (gains)/losses	827.34	(1,649.79)	
	827.34	(1,649.79)	

Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		
	As at	As at	
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Current service cost	1,449.05	1,856.13	
Past service cost/(credit)	379.90	(3,609.01)	
Administrative expenses	118.65	77.77	
Plan settlement	-	(5.81)	
Net interest cost/(income) (Including onerous obligations)	77.45	192.30	
Net periodic pension cost	2,025.05	(1,488.62)	

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income

(₹ in crores)

	Pension	benefits
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(453.31)	(1,799.04)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	4,965.37	(3,017.78)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	327.69	(848.75)
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(2,362.62)	997.46
Total recognised in other comprehensive income	2,477.13	(4,668.11)
Total recognised in statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income	4,502.18	(6,156.73)

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension plans are set out below:

	Pension benefits		
	Year ended	Year ended	
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018	
Discount rate	2.4%	2.7%	
Expected rate of increase in compensation level of covered employees	2.4%	2.3%	
Inflation increase	3.2%	3.1%	

For the valuation as at March 31, 2019, the mortality assumptions used are the SAPS table, in particular S2PxA tables and the Light Table for members of the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

For the Jaguar Pension Plan, scaling factor of 112% to 118% have been used for male members and scaling factor of 101% to 112% have been used for female members.

For the Land Rover Pension Scheme, scaling factor of 107% to 112% have been used for male members and scaling factor of 101% to 109% have been used for female members.

For the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan, an average scaling factor of 94% has been used for male members and an average scaling factor of 84% has been used for female members.

For the valuation as at March 31, 2018, the mortality assumptions used are the SAPS table, in particular S2PxA tables and the Light Table for members of the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan. A scaling factor of 113% to 119% have been used for male members and scaling factor of 102% to 114% have been used for female members for the Jaguar Pension Plan, scaling factor of 108% to 113% have been used for male members and scaling factor of 102% to 111% have been used for female members for the Land Rover Pension Scheme and 95% for males and 85% for females for Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

There is an allowance for future improvements in line with the CMI (2018) projections and an allowance for long-term improvements of 1.25% per annum (2018, CMI (2017) projections with 1.25% per annum improvements).

The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are (years)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Retiring today :		
Males	21.0	21.3
Females	23.2	23.4
Retiring in 20 years :		
Males	22.4	22.5
Females	25.1	25.1

Pension plans asset allocation by category is as follows:

	As a	t March 31, 20:	19	As at March 31, 2018		
	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total
Equity Instruments						
Information Technology	716.65	-	716.65	1,218.16	-	1,218.16
Energy	304.75	-	304.75	516.79	-	516.79
Manufacturing	522.30	-	522.30	885.93	-	885.93
Financials	822.41	-	822.41	1,393.50	-	1,393.50
Others	2,272.41	-	2,272.41	3,848.27	-	3,848.27
	4,638.52	-	4,638.52	7,862.65	-	7,862.65
Debt Instruments						
Government	22,709.35	-	22,709.35	35,169.67	-	35,169.67
Corporate Bonds (Investment Grade)	1,351.98	15,328.05	16,680.03	184.57	16,943.46	17,128.03
Corporate Bonds (Non Investment Grade)	-	5,547.26	5,547.26	-	5,389.42	5,389.42
	24,061.33	20,875.31	44,936.64	35,354.24	22,332.88	57,687.12
Property Funds						
UK	-	2,211.26	2,211.26	=	1,522.70	1,522.70
Other	-	2,076.36	2,076.36	-	1,476.55	1,476.55
	-	4,287.62	4,287.62	-	2,999.25	2,999.25
Cash and Cash equivalents	1,904.79	-	1,904.79	2,010.94	-	2,010.94

(₹ in crores)

	Δς a	t March 31, 20	19	As at March 31, 2018			
	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	
Other							
Hedge Funds	-	2,803.29	2,803.29	-	3,285.33	3,285.33	
Private Markets	38.17	3,039.29	3,077.46	18.46	2,325.57	2,344.03	
Alternatives	139.46	7,337.30	7,476.76	4,337.38	1,974.89	6,312.27	
	177.63	13,179.88	13,357.51	4,355.84	7,585.79	11,941.63	
Derivatives							
Foreign exchange contracts	-	147.82	147.82	-	9.23	9.23	
Interest Rate and inflation	-	2,967.20	2,967.20	-	2,104.10	2,104.10	
	-	3,115.02	3,115.02	-	2,113.33	2,113.33	
Collateralised debt obligations	•	-	-	-	(11,877.03)	(11,877.03)	
Total	30,782.27	41,457.83	72,240.10	49,583.67	23,154.22	72,737.89	

^{*} determined on the basis of quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

The split of Level 1 assets is 62% (2018: 71%), Level 2 assets 24% (2018: 20%) and Level 3 assets 14% (2018: 9%). Private market holdings are classified as Level 3 instruments. Included in the value for Government bonds, Interest Rate and Inflation derivatives are Repo transactions, as noted above.

The sensitivity analysis below is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the consolidated balance sheet.

Assumption Change in assumption		Impact on scheme liabilities	Impact on service cost		
Discount rate	Increase/decrease by 0.25%	Decrease/increase by ₹3,852.13 crores	Decrease/increase by ₹76.16 crores		
Inflation rate	Increase/decrease by 0.25%	Increase/decrease by ₹3,339.84 crores	Increase/decrease by ₹72.49 crores		
Mortality rate	Increase/decrease by 1 year	Increase/decrease by ₹2,773.24 crores	Increase/decrease by ₹46.80 crores		

Jaguar Land Rover contributes towards the UK defined benefit schemes. The April 5, 2018 valuations were completed in December 2018, As a result of these valuations it is intended to eliminate the pension scheme funding deficits over the 10 years to March 31, 2028. There is currently no additional liability over the Projected benefit obligation. The current agreed contribution rate for defined benefit accrual is 22% of pensionable salaries in the UK reflecting the 2017 benefit structure.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at March 31, 2019 is 19.00 years (2018: 20.04 years).

With the new benefit structure effective April 6, 2017, the expected net periodic pension cost for the year ended March 31, 2020 is ₹1,502.48 crores. The Company expects to pay ₹2,018.73 crores to its defined benefit schemes in the year ended March 31, 2020.

Defined contribution plan

The Company's contribution to defined contribution plans aggregated ₹1,186.21 crores, ₹899.59 crores for years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

38. Commitments and contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Company faces claims and assertions by various parties. The Company assesses such claims and assertions and monitors the legal environment on an ongoing basis, with the assistance of external legal counsel, wherever necessary. The Company records a liability for any claims where a potential loss is probable and capable of being estimated and discloses such matters in its financial statements, if material. For potential losses that are considered possible, but not probable, the Company provides disclosure in the financial statements but does not record a liability in its accounts unless the loss becomes probable.

The following is a description of claims and assertions where a potential loss is possible, but not probable. The Company believes that none of the contingencies described below would have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Litigation

The Company is involved in legal proceedings, both as plaintiff and as defendant. There are claims which the Company does not believe to be of material nature, other than those described below.

Income Tax

The Company has ongoing disputes with income tax authorities relating to tax treatment of certain items. These mainly include disallowed expenses, the tax treatment of certain expenses claimed by the Company as deductions and the computation of, or eligibility of, the Company's use of certain tax incentives or allowances.

Most of these disputes and/or disallowances, being repetitive in nature, have been raised by the income tax authorities consistently in most of the years.

The Company has a right of appeal to the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), or CIT (A), the Dispute Resolution Panel, or DRP, and to the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal, or ITAT, against adverse decisions by the assessing officer, DRP or CIT (A), as applicable. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal to the ITAT against adverse decisions by the CIT (A) or DRP. The Company has a further right of appeal to the Bombay High Court or the Hon'ble Supreme Court against adverse decisions by the appellate authorities for matters involving substantial question of law. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal.

As at March 31, 2019, there are matters and/or disputes pending in appeal amounting to ₹520.48 crores, which includes ₹75.53 crores in respect of equity accounted investees (₹303.09 crores, which includes ₹2.18 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2018).

Customs, Excise Duty and Service Tax

As at March 31, 2019, there are pending litigations for various matters relating to customs, excise duty and service tax involving demands, including interest and penalties, of ₹1,025.45 crores, which includes ₹5.41 crores in respect of equity accounted investees (₹1,671.71 crores, which includes ₹5.02 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2018). These demands challenged the basis of valuation of the Company's products and denied the Company's claims of Central Value Added Tax, or CENVAT, credit on inputs. The details of the demands for more than ₹20 crores are as follows:

The Excise Authorities have raised a demand for ₹90.72 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹90.72 crores as at March 31, 2018), on account of alleged undervaluation's of ex-factory discounts given by Company on passenger vehicles through invoices. The matter is being contested by the Company before the Bombay High Court.

As at March 31, 2019, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand and penalty of ₹243.24 crores, (₹239.95 crores as at March 31, 2018), due to the classification of certain chassis (as dumpers instead of goods transport vehicles) which were sent to automotive body builders by the Company, which the Excise Authorities claim requires the payment of the National Calamity Contingent Duty, or NCCD. The Company has obtained a technical expert certificate on the classification. The appeal is pending before the Custom Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal.

The Excise Authorities had denied the Company's claim of a CENVAT credit of ₹20.14 crores (₹36.03 crores as at March 31, 2018) claimed by the Company from Fiscal 1992 to Fiscal 2013, on technical grounds. The matter is being contested by the Company before the Appellate Authorities.

As at March 31, 2019, the Excise Authorities had levied penalties and interest amounting to ₹90.32 crores (₹679.88 crores as at March 31, 2018) with respect to CENVAT credit claimed by the Company from March 2010 to June 2017, on inputs, stating that vehicles manufactured at Uttarakhand plant are "Exempted Products" and the Company may not claim a CENVAT credit on these vehicles. The Company has challenged this demand as NCCD and the automobile cess is assessed on those vehicles, which are "duties of excise". Therefore, the Company asserts that these vehicles are not "Exempted Products". The matter is being contested by the Company before the Appellate Authorities.

As at March 31, 2019, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand amounting to ₹29.54 crores (₹29.54 crores as at March 31, 2018) on pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales service charges incurred by dealers on Company's products on the alleged grounds that the pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales services are provided by the dealer on behalf of the Company and should be included in excisable value of the vehicle. The case is pending before Tribunal

As at March 31, 2019, the Exicse Authorities have confirmed demand & penalty totalling to ₹90.88 crores (₹90.88 crores as at March 31, 2018) towards vehicles allegedly sold below cost of production with an intention to penetrate the market. The matter is being contested by the Company before the Appellate Authorities.

The Excise Authorities had denied the Company's claim of a CENVAT credit of ₹81.51 crores as at March 31, 2019 on various inputs services like Authorised Service Station Services, Erection, Commissioning & Installation Services, Common Services etc. claimed by the Company from financial year 2006 to 2017. The matters are being contested by the Company before the Appellate Authorities.

As at March 31, 2019, the Excise Authorities have confirmed the demand and penalty totalling to ₹92.42 crores alleging undervaluation of products sold by the Company. The matter is being contested by the Company before Appellate Authorities.

As at March 31, 2019, demand and penalty totalling to ₹23.50 crores has been confirmed for alleged non-payment of service tax on services like Event Management Services (RCM), Authorised Service Station Services, Heat Treatment Services etc. The matter is being contested by the Company before Appellate Authorities.

Sales Tax

The total sales tax demands (including interest and penalty), that are being contested by the Company amount to $\mathbf{₹1,168.89}$ crores, which includes $\mathbf{₹12.40}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2019 ($\mathbf{₹1,096.18}$ crores, which includes $\mathbf{₹10.85}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2018). The details of the demands for more than $\mathbf{₹20}$ crores are as follows:

The Sales Tax Authorities have raised demand of ₹260.15 crores (₹269.38 crores as at March 31, 2018) towards rejection of certain statutory forms for concessional lower/nil tax rate (Form F and Form C) on technical grounds such as late submission, single form issued against different months / quarters dispatches / sales, etc. and denial of exemption from tax in absence of proof of export for certain years. The Company has contended that the benefit cannot be denied on technicalities, which are being complied with. The matter is pending at various levels.

The Sales Tax authorities have denied input tax credit and levied interest and penalty thereon due to varied reasons aggregating to ₹487.96 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹435.96 crores as at March 31, 2018). The reasons for disallowing credit was mainly due to taxes not paid by vendors, incorrect method of calculation of set off as per the department, alleging suppression of sales as per the department etc. The matter is contested in appeal.

Sales Tax demand aggregating ₹80.02 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹95.75 crores as at March 31, 2018) has been raised by Sales Tax Authorities for non submission of Maharashtra Trial Balance. The matter is contested in appeal.

The Sales Tax Authorities have raised demand for Entry Tax liability at various states amounting to ₹64.14 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹23.92 crores as at March 31, 2018). The Company is contesting this issue.

In case of one of the joint operation, Fiat India Automobiles Pvt. Ltd. (FIAPL) the Sales Tax Authorities have held back the refund of VAT on debit notes raised for Take or Pay arrangements (TOP) totaling to ₹51.60 crores pertaining to financial years 2009-10 to 2014-15. The department is of the view that TOP is not part of sale and hence tax to be paid. The matter is contested in appeal.

Other Taxes and Dues

Other amounts for which the Company may contingently be liable aggregate to ₹436.08 crores, which includes ₹21.54 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2019 (₹367.02 crores, which includes ₹1.76 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2018). Following are the cases involving more than ₹20 crores:

The municipal authorities in certain states levy octroi duty (a local indirect tax) on goods brought inside the municipal limits at rates based on the classification of goods. Demands aggregating ₹61.65 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹61.65 crores as at March 31, 2018) had been raised demanding higher octroi duties on account of classification disputes relating to components purchased for the manufacture of vehicles and retrospective increase in octroi rates relating to past periods. The dispute relating to classification is presently pending before the Bombay High Court and the other dispute is pending before the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India.

As at March 31, 2019, property tax amounting to ₹63.81 crores (₹56.84 crores as at March 31, 2018) has been demanded by the local municipal authorities in respect of vacant land of the Company in the plant in Pimpri, Chinchwad and Chikali Pune. The Company has filed Special Leave Petition (SLP) before the Supreme Court against an unfavorable decision of the Bombay High Court. The Hon'ble Supreme Court has disposed of the SLP and remanded the matter back to the local municipal corporation for fresh adjudication.

As at March 31, 2019, Sales tax / VAT amounting to ₹32.47 crores (₹30.54 crores as at March 31, 2018) has been demanded by local authorities on dealers in respect of spare parts used for carrying out warranty repair. The dispute is pending before the Hon'ble Supreme Court.

As at March 31, 2019, possession tax amounting to ₹36.25 crores have been demanded in respect of motor vehicles in the possession of the manufacturer and the authorisation of trade certificate granted under the Central Motor Vehicle Rules, 1989. The matter is being contested before the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India.

Other claims

There are other claims against the Company, the majority of which pertain to government body investigations with regards to regulatory compliances, motor accident claims, product liability claims and consumer complaints. Some of the cases also relate to the replacement of parts of vehicles and/or the compensation for deficiencies in the services by the Company or its dealers.

The Hon'ble Supreme Court of India ("SC") by their order dated February 28, 2019, set out the principles based on which allowances paid to the employees should be identified for inclusion in basic wages for the purposes of computation of Provident Fund contribution. Subsequently, a review petition against this decision has been filed and is pending before the SC for disposal. Further, there are interpretative challenges and considerable uncertainty, including estimating the amount retrospectively. Pending the outcome of the review petition and directions from the EPFO, the impact for past periods, if any, is not ascertainable reliably and consequently no financial effect has been provided for in the consolidated financial statements. The Company has made a provision on a prospective basis, from the date of the SC order.

The Company has, consequent to an Order of the Hon'ble Supreme Court of India in the case of R.C. Gupta and Ors. Vs Regional Provident Fund Commissioner, Employees Provident Fund Organisation and Ors., evaluated the impact on its employee pension scheme and concluded that this is not applicable to the Company based on external legal opinion and hence it is not probable that there will be an outflow of resources.

Post the sale of investments of TAL Manufacturing Solutions Ltd. (TAL) to Tata Advanced Systems Ltd. (TASL), the Company has continued its performance guarantee amounting to ₹691.49 crores (USD 100 million) in respect of TAL's obligations to its customer to cover the event post the share sale, against a back-to-back indemnity by TASL to the Company. Steps are currently under way to transfer the said guarantee to TASL in due course.

Commitments

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of plant and machinery, equipment and various civil contracts of a capital nature amounting to ₹11,529.23 crores, as at March 31, 2019 (₹10,018.66 crores as at March 31, 2018), which are yet to be executed.

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of intangible assets of a capital nature amounting to ₹567.57 crores as at March 31, 2019, (₹581.39 crores as at March 31, 2018), which are yet to be executed.

Under the joint venture agreement with Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited, the Company is committed to contribute $\mathbf{\overline{73,606.40}}$ crores as at March 31, 2019 ($\mathbf{\overline{73,622.12}}$ crores as at March 31, 2018) towards its share in the capital of the joint venture of which $\mathbf{\overline{72,962.40}}$ crores ($\mathbf{\overline{72,975.31}}$ crores as at March 31, 2018) has been contributed as at March 31, 2019. As at March 31, 2019, the Company has an outstanding commitment of $\mathbf{\overline{7644.00}}$ crores ($\mathbf{\overline{7646.81}}$ crores as at March 31, 2018).

The Company has contractual obligation towards Purchase Commitment for ₹20,159.77 crores (₹13,222.63 crores as on March 31, 2018).

39. Capital Management

The Company's capital management is intended to create value for shareholders by facilitating the meeting of long-term and short-term goals of the Company.

The Company determines the amount of capital required on the basis of annual operating plans and long-term product and other strategic investment plans. The funding requirements are met through equity, convertible and non-convertible debt securities, senior notes and other long-term/short-term borrowings. The Company's policy is aimed at combination of short-term and long-term borrowings.

The Company monitors the capital structure on the basis of total debt to equity ratio and maturity profile of the overall debt portfolio of the Company.

Total debt includes all long and short-term debts as disclosed in notes 25, 26 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements. Equity comprises all components excluding (profit)/loss on cash flow hedges and foreign currency translation reserve.

The following table summarises the capital of the Company:

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Equity*	63,803.79	94,794.02
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt	35,201.67	27,750.97
Long-term debt	70,973.67	61,199.50
Total debt	106,175.34	88,950.47
Total capital (Debt + Equity)	169,979.13	183,744.49

^{*} Details of equity :

	As at March 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018
Total equity as reported in balance sheet	60,702.62	95,952.97
Currency translation reserve attributable to		
- Shareholders of Tata Motors Limited	(2,552.39)	(4,621.23)
- Non-controlling interests	(19.86)	(19.78)
Hedging reserve	5,673.42	3,482.06
Equity as reported above	63,803.79	94,794.02

40. Disclosure on financial instruments

This section gives an overview of the significance of financial instruments for the Company and provides additional information on balance sheet items that contain financial instruments.

The details of significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2019.

(₹ in crores)

Fin	ancial assets	Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments - FVTPL		Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
(a)	Other investments - non-current	-	741.29	752.34	3.88	-	-	1,497.51	1,497.51
(b)	Investments - current	-	0.92	1,191.90	7,745.51	-	-	8,938.33	8,938.33
(c)	Trade receivables	18,996.17	-	-	-	-	-	18,996.17	18,996.17
(d)	Cash and cash equivalents	21,559.80	-	-	-	-	-	21,559.80	21,559.80
(e)	Other bank balances	11,089.02	-	-	-	-	-	11,089.02	11,089.02
(f)	Loans and advances - non-current	407.42	-	-	-	-	-	407.42	407.42
(g)	Loans and advances - current	1,268.70	-	-	-	-	-	1,268.70	1,268.70
(h)	Finance receivable - current	11,551.52	-	-	-	-	-	11,551.52	11,551.52
(i)	Finance receivable - non-current	22,073.17	-	-	-	-	-	22,073.17	21,877.53
(j)	Other financial assets - non-current	1,898.04	-	-	-	523.23	387.91	2,809.18	2,809.18
(k)	Other financial assets - current	1,978.02	-	-	-	344.57	890.97	3,213.56	3,213.56
	Total	90,821.86	742.21	1,944.24	7,749.39	867.80	1,278.88	103,404.38	103,208.74

(₹ in crores)

Fin	ancial liabilities	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Other financial liabilities	carrying	Total fair value
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) (note below)	-	-	86,025.08	86,025.08	82,960.03
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	-	20,150.26	20,150.26	20,150.26
(c)	Trade payables	-	-	68,513.53	68,513.53	68,513.53
(d)	Acceptances	-	-	3,177.14	3,177.14	3,177.14
(e)	Other financial liabilities - non-current	195.90	2,466.54	130.27	2,792.71	2,792.71
(f)	Other financial liabilities - current	982.39	3,760.14	13,061.71	17,804.24	17,804.24
	Total	1,178.29	6,226.68	191,057.99	198,462.96	195,397.91

Note:

- 1 Includes USD denominated bonds designated as cash flow hedges against forecasted USD revenue amounting to ₹6,914.88 crores (USD 1,000 million)
- 2 Includes ₹3,458.55 crores designated as hedged item in fair value hedge relationship. This includes a loss of ₹44.56 crores on account of fair value changes attributable to the hedged interest rate risk.

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2018.

(₹ in crores)

Financial assets	Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments - FVTPL	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
(a) Other investments - non-current	-	407.90	351.98	3.88	-	-	763.76	763.76
(b) Investments - current	-	303.28	1,601.00	12,759.47	-	-	14,663.75	14,663.75
(c) Trade receivables	19,893.30	-	-	-	-	-	19,893.30	19,893.30
(d) Cash and cash equivalents	14,716.75	-	-	-	-	-	14,716.75	14,716.75
(e) Other bank balances	19,897.16	-	-	-	-	-	19,897.16	19,897.16
(f) Loans and advances - non-current	495.41	-	-	-	-	-	495.41	495.41
(g) Loans and advances - current	1,451.14	-	-	-	-	-	1,451.14	1,451.14
(h) Finance receivable - current	8,401.65	-	-	-	-	-	8,401.65	8,401.65
(i) Finance receivable - non-current	15,479.53	-	-	-	-	-	15,479.53	15,421.94
(j) Other financial assets - non-current	1,716.97	-	-	-	489.03	2,357.87	4,563.87	4,563.87
(k) Other financial assets - current	1,381.51	-	-	-	878.80	1,597.33	3,857.64	3,857.64
Total	83,433.42	711.18	1,952.98	12,763.35	1,367.83	3,955.20	104,183.96	104,126.37

(₹ in crores)

_						, ,
Fin	ancial liabilities	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Other financial liabilities	Total carrying value	Total fair value
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) (note below)	-	-	72,155.62	72,155.62	72,871.82
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	-	16,794.85	16,794.85	16,794.85
(c)	Trade payables	-	-	72,038.41	72,038.41	72,038.41
(d)	Acceptances	-	-	4,901.42	4,901.42	4,901.42
(e)	Other financial liabilities - non-current	177.23	2,272.97	288.94	2,739.14	2,739.14
(f)	Other financial liabilities - current	1,329.43	4,878.23	14,103.71	20,311.37	20,311.37
	Total	1,506.66	7,151.20	180,282.95	188,940.81	189,657.01

Note:

- 1 Includes USD denominated bonds designated as cash flow hedges against forecasted USD revenue amounting to ₹11,166.44 crores (USD 1,700 million)
- 2 Includes ₹3,156.00 crores designated as hedged item in fair value hedge relationship. This includes a loss of ₹92.80 crores on account of fair value changes attributable to the hedged interest rate risk.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3, as described below.

Quoted prices in an active market (Level 1): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This category consists quoted equity shares, quoted corporate debt instruments and mutual fund investments.

Valuation techniques with observable inputs (Level 2): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities, measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e; as prices) or indirectly (i.e; derived from prices). This level of hierarchy includes Company's over-the-counter (OTC) derivative contracts.

Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). Fair values are determined in whole or in part, using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data. The main items in this category are investments in certain unquoted debentures and equity.

(₹ in crores)

				(1 11 01 01 00)			
	As at March 31, 2019						
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total			
Financial assets measured at fair value							
(a) Investments	1,948.19	-	738.26	2,686.45			
(b) Derivative assets	-	2,146.68	-	2,146.68			
Total	1,948.19	2,146.68	738.26	4,833.13			
Financial liabilities measured at fair value							
(a) Derivative liabilities	-	7,404.97	-	7,404.97			
Total	-	7,404.97	-	7,404.97			

(₹ in crores)

				(111 01003)				
		As at March 31, 2018						
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total				
Financial assets measured at fair value								
(a) Investments	1,940.92	-	723.24	2,664.16				
(b) Derivative assets	-	5,323.03	-	5,323.03				
Total	1,940.92	5,323.03	723.24	7,987.19				
Financial liabilities measured at fair value								
(a) Derivative liabilities	-	8,657.86	-	8,657.86				
Total	-	8,657.86	-	8,657.86				

The following table provides an analysis of fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on recurring basis, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 categories:

				(1 11 01 01 00)			
	As at March 31, 2019						
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total			
Financial assets not measured at fair value							
(a) Investments	7,745.51	-	3.88	7,749.39			
(b) Finance receivables	-	-	33,429.05	33,429.05			
Total	7,745.51	-	33,432.93	41,178.44			
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value							
(a) Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowing)	35,285.15	47,674.88	-	82,960.03			
(b) Short-term borrowings	-	20,150.26	-	20,150.26			
Total	35,285.15	67,825.14	-	103,110.29			

(₹ in crores)

				(1		
	As at March 31, 2018					
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total		
Financial assets not measured at fair value						
(a) Investments	12,759.47	-	3.88	12,763.35		
(b) Finance receivables	-	-	23,823.59	23,823.59		
Total	12,759.47	-	23,827.47	36,586.94		
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value						
(a) Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowing)	39,949.70	32,922.12	-	72,871.82		
(b) Short-term borrowings	-	16,794.85	-	16,794.85		
Total	39,949.70	49,716.97	-	89,666.67		

The short-term financial assets and liabilities are stated at amortised cost which is approximately equal to their fair value.

Derivatives are fair valued using market observable rates and published prices together with forecast cash flow information where applicable.

The fair value of finance receivables has been estimated by discounting expected cash flows using rates at which loans of similar credit quality and maturity would be made and internal assumptions such as expected credit losses and estimated collateral value for repossessed vehicles as at March 31, 2019 and 2018. Since significant unobservable inputs are applied in measuring the fair value, finance receivables are classified in Level 3.

The fair value of borrowings which have a quoted market price in an active market is based on its market price and for other borrowings the fair value is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows, using a discount rate equivalent to the risk-free rate of return, adjusted for the credit spread considered by the lenders for instruments of similar maturity and credit quality.

Costs of certain unquoted equity instruments has been considered as an appropriate estimate of fair value because of a wide range of possible fair value measurements and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Company has chosen to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as the management believe that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, than reflecting changes in fair value immediately in profit or loss.

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments. However, there are inherent limitations in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates presented above are not necessarily indicative of all the amounts that the Company could have realised or paid in sale transactions as of respective dates. As such, the fair value of the financial instruments subsequent to the respective reporting dates may be different from the amounts reported at each year end.

Offsetting

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to offsetting where there is currently a legally enforceable right to set off recognised amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability, simultaneously.

Certain derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to master netting arrangements, whereby in the case of insolvency, derivative financial assets and financial liabilities with the same countries will be settled on a net basis.

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset, in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2019:

(₹ in crores)

		Gross amount recognised	Gross amount recognised as set off in the	Net amount presented in the	enforceable	Amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement	Net amount after offsetting
			balance sheet	balance sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	
Fin	ancial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	2,146.68	-	2,146.68	(1,717.37)	-	429.31
(b)	Trade receivables	19,105.24	(109.07)	18,996.17	-	-	18,996.17
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	25,433.47	(3,873.67)	21,559.80	-	-	21,559.80
	Total	46,685.39	(3,982.74)	42,702.65	(1,717.37)	-	40,985.28
Fin	ancial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	7,404.97	-	7,404.97	(1,717.37)	-	5,687.60
(b)	Trade payable	68,622.60	(109.07)	68,513.53	-	-	68,513.53
(c)	Loans from banks/financial institutions (short- term & current maturities of long term debt)	39,075.34	(3,873.67)	35,201.67	-	-	35,201.67
	Total	115,102.91	(3,982.74)	111,120.17	(1,717.37)	-	109,402.80

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2018:

(₹ in crores)

	Gross amount recognised	Gross amount recognised as set off in the	Net amount presented in the	enfor	s subject to an ceable master g arrangement	after
		balance sheet	balance sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	Unsecung
Financial assets						
(a) Derivative financial instruments	5,323.03	-	5,323.03	(4,905.82)	-	417.21
(b) Trade receivables	19,990.57	(97.27)	19,893.30	-	-	19,893.30
(c) Cash and cash equivalents	16,384.33	(1,667.58)	14,716.75	-	-	14,716.75
Total	41,697.93	(1,764.85)	39,933.08	(4,905.82)	-	35,027.26
Financial liabilities						
(a) Derivative financial instruments	8,657.86	-	8,657.86	(4,905.82)	-	3,752.04
(b) Trade payable	72,135.68	(97.27)	72,038.41	-	-	72,038.41
(c) Loans from banks/financial institutions (short-term & current maturities of long term debt)	29,418.55	(1,667.58)	27,750.97	-	-	27,750.97
Total	110,212.09	(1,764.85)	108,447.24	(4,905.82)	-	103,541.42

(b) Transfer of financial assets

The Company transfers finance receivables in securitisation transactions and direct assignments. In such transactions the Company surrenders control over the receivables, though it continues to act as an agent for the collection of receivables. Generally in such transactions, the Company also provides credit enhancements to the transferee.

Because of the existence of credit enhancements in such transactions, the Company continues to have the obligation to pay to the transferee, limited to the extent of credit enhancement provided, even if it does not collect the equivalent

amounts from the original asset and hence continues to retain substantially all risks and rewards associated with the receivables, and as a result of which such transfer or assignment does not meet the derecognition criteria, resulting in the transfer not being recorded as sale. Consequently, the proceeds received from such transfers are recorded as collateralised debt obligations.

Further the Company transfers certain trade receivables under the debt factoring arrangements. These do not qualify for derecognition, if the recourse arrangement is in place. Consequently the proceeds received from such transfers with a recourse arrangements are recorded as loans from banks / financial institutions and classified under short-term borrowings.

The carrying amount of trade receivables and finance receivables along with the associated liabilities is as follows:

Nature of Asset	As at Marcl	n 31, 2019	As at March 31, 2018		
	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	
(a) Trade receivables	1,031.46	1,031.46	1,507.44	1,507.44	
(b) Finance receivables	3,033.83 ¹	3,047.33	1,306.91 ¹	1,320.58	

Net of provision of ₹**38.03 crores** and ₹22.62 crores as at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

(c) Cash flow hedges

As at March 31, 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries have a number of financial instruments designated in a hedging relationship. The Company and its subsidiaries use both foreign currency forward and option contracts, cross currency interest rate swaps and other currency options to hedge changes in future cash flows as a result of foreign currency and interest rate risk arising from sales and purchases and repayment of foreign currency bonds. The Company and its subsidiaries have also designated some of its U.S. dollar denominated bonds as hedging instruments in a cash flow hedging relationship to hedge the changes in future cash flows as a result of foreign currency risk arising from future anticipated sales.

The Company and its subsidiaries also have a number of foreign currency options and other currency options, which are entered into as an economic hedge of the financial risks of the Company. These contracts do not meet the hedge accounting criteria of Ind AS 109, hence the change in fair value of these derivatives are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss.

Options are designated on spot discounted basis. The time value of options are identified as cost of hedge. Changes in the time value of options are recognised in Cost of Hedge reserve. Changes in the spot intrinsic value of options is recognised in Hedge reserve. Changes in fair value arising from own and counter-party credit risk in options and forward exchange contracts are considered ineffective in the hedge relationship and thus the change in fair value of forward exchange contracts attributable to changes in credit spread are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss. Cross currency basis spread was historically included in the hedging relationship. Any ineffectiveness arising out of cross currency basis spread is recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss as it arises. Cross currency basis spread arising from forward exchange contracts entered after 1st January 2018 is identified as cost of hedge and accordingly changes in fair value attributable to this is recognised in cost of hedge reserve.

Changes in fair value of foreign currency derivative and bonds, to the extent determined to be an effective hedge, is recognised in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion of the fair value change is recognised in statement of Profit and Loss. The fair value gain/losses recorded in Hedge reserve and Cost of Hedge reserve is recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss when the forecasted transactions occur. The accumulated gain/losses in hedge reserve and cost of hedge reserve are expected to be recognised in statement of Profit or Loss during the years ending March 31, 2020 to 2024.

(₹ in crores)

		(X III CI UI es)
	As at	As at
	March 31,2019	March 31,2018
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency derivative contracts entered for cash flow hedges		
of forecast sales recognised in hedging reserve	(6,045.46)	6,533.29
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency derivative contracts entered for cash flow hedges		
of forecast inventory purchases recognised in hedging reserve	(1,746.28)	1,227.74
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency bonds designated as cash flow hedges of		
forecast sales recognised in hedging reserve	(942.91)	1,243.52
Fair value gain/(loss) of cross currency interest rate swaps entered for cash flow hedges		
of repayment of foreign currency denominated borrowings recognised in hedging reserve	44.60	(35.91)
Fair value gain/(loss) of interest rate swaps entered for cash flow hedges of payment of		
interest on borrowings benchmarked to LIBOR	(57.57)	
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in Hedging reserve	(8,747.62)	8,968.64
Gain/(loss) reclassified from Hedging reserve and recognised in 'Revenue from operations'		
in the statement of Profit and Loss on occurance of forecast sales	(6,956.21)	(10,274.11)
Gain/(loss) reclassified out of Hedging reserve and recorded in Inventory in the Balance		
sheet on occurance of forecast purchases	1,011.27	1,430.25
Gain/(loss) reclassified from Hedging reserve and recognised in 'Foreign exchange (gain)/		
loss (net)' in the statement of Profit and Loss on account of forecast transactions no longer		
expected to occur	(102.79)	(54.70)
Gain/(loss) reclassified from Hedging reserve	(6,047.73)	(8,898.56)
Gain/(loss) on foreign currency derivatives not hedge accounted, recognised in 'Foreign		
exchange (gain)/loss (net)' in the statement of Profit and Loss	(749.80)	1,176.20
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in 'Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)' in the statement of		
Profit and Loss on account of ineffectiveness arising from foreign currency basis spread on		
forward contracts designated in cash flow hedge relationship	(133.64)	381.64
	(883.44)	1,557.84

(d) Financial risk management

In the course of its business, the Company is exposed primarily to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices, liquidity and credit risk, which may adversely impact the fair value of its financial instruments.

The Company has a risk management policy which not only covers the foreign exchange risks but also other risks associated with the financial assets and liabilities such as interest rate risks and credit risks. The risk management policy is approved by the board of directors. The risk management framework aims to:

- Create a stable business planning environment by reducing the impact of currency and interest rate fluctuations on the Company's business plan.
- · Achieve greater predictability to earnings by determining the financial value of the expected earnings in advance.

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of any loss in future earnings, in realisable fair values or in future cash flows that may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity price fluctuations, liquidity and other market changes. Future specific market movements cannot be normally predicted with reasonable accuracy.

(a) Foreign currency exchange rate risk:

The fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates may have potential impact on the income statement and equity, where any transaction references more than one currency or where assets/liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the respective consolidated entities.

Considering the countries and economic environment in which the Company operates, its operations are subject to risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates in those countries. The risks primarily relate to fluctuations in U.S. dollar, GBP, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen, Singapore dollar and Euro, against the respective functional currencies of Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries.

The Company, as per its risk management policy, uses foreign exchange and other derivative instruments primarily to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate exposure. Furthermore, any movement in the functional currencies of the various operations of the Company against major foreign currencies may impact the Company's revenues from its international operations. Any weakening of the functional currency may impact the Company's cost of imports and cost of borrowings and consequently may increase the cost of financing the Company's capital expenditures.

The Company evaluates the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations by assessing its exposure to exchange rate risks. It hedges a part of these risks by using derivative financial instruments in accordance with its risk management policies.

The foreign exchange rate sensitivity is calculated for each currency by aggregation of the net foreign exchange rate exposure of a currency and a simultaneous parallel foreign exchange rates shift in the foreign exchange rates of each currency by 10%.

The following analysis is based on the gross exposure as of the relevant balance sheet dates, which could affect the income statement. There is no exposure to the income statement on account of translation of financial statements of consolidated foreign entities. Furthermore, the exposure as indicated below is mitigated by natural hedges resulting from anticipated revenue and cost in foreign currency expected to arise in future as well as certain derivative contracts entered into by the Company.

The following table sets forth information relating to foreign currency exposure other than risk arising from derivatives contract as of March 31, 2019:

(₹ in crores)

	U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	GBP	Japanese Yen	Others ¹	Total
(a) Financial assets	22,765.97	12,594.09	1,985.31	1,600.67	339.86	2,718.46	42,004.36
(b) Financial liabilities	39,089.20	32,226.04	3,850.11	5,926.98	440.59	2,828.53	84,361.45

Others mainly include currencies such as the Russian rouble, Singapore dollars, Swiss franc, Australian dollars, South African rand, Thai baht and Korean won.

10% appreciation/depreciation of the respective foreign currencies with respect to functional currency of the Company would result in increase/decrease in the Company's net income before tax by approximately ₹4,200.44 crores for financial assets and decrease/increase in Company's net income before tax by approximately ₹7,744.66 crores for financial liabilities respectively for the year ended March 31, 2019 and decrease/increase in the Company's other comprehensive income by approximately ₹691.49 crores in respect of financial liabilities designated in cash flow hedges for the year ended March 31, 2019.

The following table set forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives) as of March 31, 2018:

(₹ in crores)

	U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	GBP	Japanese Yen	Others	Total
(a) Financial assets	13,531.07	12,817.17	4,997.72	1,511.50	475.02	4,165.24	37,497.72
(b) Financial liabilities	36,909.10	31,192.69	5,398.91	6,371.66	545.65	3,538.95	83,956.96

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is measured by using the cash flow sensitivity for changes in variable interest rates. Any movement in the reference rates could have an impact on the Company's cash flows as well as costs.

The Company is subject to variable interest rates on some of its interest bearing liabilities. The Company's interest rate exposure is mainly related to debt obligations. The Company also uses a mix of interest rate sensitive financial instruments to manage the liquidity and fund requirements for its day to day operations like short term non-convertible bonds and short term loans.

In its financing business, the Company enters into transactions with customers which primarily result in receivables at fixed rates. In order to manage this risk, the Company has a policy to match funding in terms of maturities and interest rates and also for certain part of the portfolio, the Company does not match funding with maturities, in order to take advantage of market opportunities.

The Company also enters into arrangements of securitisation of receivables in order to reduce the impact of interest rate movements. Further, Company also enters into interest rate swap contracts with banks to manage its interest rate risk.

As at March 31, 2019 and 2018 financial liability of ₹30,284.89 crores and ₹21,018.28 crores respectively, was subject to variable interest rates. Increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would result in an impact (decrease/increase in case of net income) of ₹302.85 crores and ₹210.18 crores on income for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The model assumes that interest rate changes are instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve. Although some assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods to re-pricing, these may not react correspondingly to changes in market interest rates. Also, the interest rates on some types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate with changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types of assets may change with a lag.

The risk estimates provided assume a parallel shift of 100 basis points interest rate across all yield curves. This calculation also assumes that the change occurs at the balance sheet date and has been calculated based on risk exposures outstanding as at that date. The period end balances are not necessarily representative of the average debt outstanding during the period.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

The Company uses cross currency interest rate swaps to hedge some of its exposure to interest rate arising from variable rate foreign currency denominated debt. The Company and its subsidiaries also uses cross currency interest rate swaps to convert some of its foreign currency denominated fixed rate debt to floating rate debt.

(c) Equity Price risk

Equity Price Risk is related to the change in market reference price of the investments in equity securities.

The fair value of some of the Company's investments in equity securities exposes the Company to equity price risks. In general, these securities are not held for trading purposes. These investments are subject to changes in the market price of securities.

The fair value of some of the Company's investment in quoted equity securities measured at FVOCI as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, was ₹304.31 crores and ₹340.48 crores, respectively. A 10% change in prices of these securities held as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, would result in an impact of ₹30.43 crores and ₹34.05 crores on equity, respectively.

The fair value of some of the Company's investments in quoted equity securities measured at FVTPL as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, was ₹423.14 crores and ₹Nil, respectively. A 10% change in prices of these securities measured at FVTPL held as of March 31, 2019 and 2018, would result in an impact of ₹42.31 crores and ₹Nil on statement of Profit and Loss, respectively.

(Note: The impact is indicated on equity and profit and loss before consequential tax impact, if any).

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from counter-party failure to repay or service debt according to the contractual terms or obligations. Credit risk encompasses both the direct risk of default and the risk of deterioration of creditworthiness as well as concentration risks.

Financial instruments that are subject to concentrations of credit risk, principally consist of investments in debt instruments, trade receivables, finance receivables, loans and advances and derivative financial instruments. None of the financial instruments of the Company result in material concentrations of credit risks.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk was ₹1,02,812.99 crores as at March 31, 2019 and ₹1,03,506.52 crores as at March 31, 2018, being the total of the carrying amount of balances with banks, short term deposits with banks, trade receivables, finance receivables, margin money and other financial assets excluding equity investments.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

None of the Company's cash equivalents, including time deposits with banks, are past due or impaired. Regarding trade receivables and other receivables, and other loans or receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there were no indications as at March 31, 2019, that defaults in payment obligations will occur.

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment loss

The ageing of trade receivables and finance receivables as of balance sheet date is given below. The age analysis have been considered from the due date.

Trade receivables

(₹ in crores)

						(1110100)
	As at March 31, 2019			As at March 31, 20		
	Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net
Period (in months)						
(a) Not due	15,089.88	(32.41)	15,057.47	15,951.89	(21.56)	15,930.33
(b) Overdue up to 3 months	3,108.65	(13.10)	3,095.55	3,281.94	(37.15)	3,244.79
(c) Overdue 3-6 months	251.69	(18.37)	233.32	224.36	(35.48)	188.88
(d) Overdue more than 6 months	1,516.05	(906.22)	609.83 ¹	1,696.78	(1,167.48)	529.30
Total	19,966.27	(970.10)	18,996.17	21,154.97	(1,261.67)	19,893.30

Trade receivables consist of a large number of various types of customers, spread across geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of these trade receivables and where appropriate, allowance for losses are provided.

¹ Trade receivables overdue more than six months include ₹513.08 crores as at March 31, 2019 (₹462.22 crores as at March 31, 2018, outstanding from state government organisations in India, which are considered recoverable.

The Company makes allowances for losses on its portfolio of finance receivable on the basis of expected future collection from receivables. The future collection are estimated on the basis of past collection trend which are adjusted for changes in current circumstances as well as expected changes in collection on account of future with respect to certain macro economic factor like GDP growth, fuel price and inflation.

Finance receivables²

		As at Ma	rch 31, 2019		As at Ma	rch 31, 2018
	Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net
Period (in months)						_
(a) Not due ³	33,634.95	(608.20)	33,026.75	23,914.24	(762.15)	23,152.09
(b) Overdue up to 3 months	429.47	(19.44)	410.03	452.63	(15.45)	437.18
(c) Overdue more than 3 months	393.32	(205.41)	187.91	703.88	(411.97)	291.91
Total	34,457.74	(833.05)	33,624.69	25,070.75	(1,189.57)	23,881.18

² Finance receivables originated in India.

³ Allowance in the "Not due" category includes allowance against installments pertaining to impaired finance receivables which have not yet fallen due.

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company cannot meet its financial obligations. The objective of liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient liquidity and ensure that funds are available for use as per requirements.

The Company has obtained fund and non-fund based working capital lines from various banks. Furthermore, the Company has access to funds from debt markets through commercial paper programs, non-convertible debentures, fixed deposits from public, senior notes and other debt instruments. The Company invests its surplus funds in bank fixed deposit and liquid and liquid plus schemes of mutual funds, which carry no/low mark to market risks. The Company has also invested 15% of the public deposits/non-convertible debentures (taken by the Company) falling due for repayment in the next 12 months in bank deposits, to meet the regulatory norms of liquidity requirements.

The Company also constantly monitors funding options available in the debt and capital markets with a view to maintaining financial flexibility.

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as at March 31, 2019:

Financial liabilities

(₹ in crores)

	Carrying	Due in	Due in	Due in 3rd	Due after	Total
	amount	1st Year	2nd Year	to 5th Year	5th Year	contractual
						cash flows
(a) Trade payables and acceptances	71,690.67	71,690.67	-	-	-	71,690.67
(b) Borrowings and interest thereon	107,234.92	40,893.54	18,470.53	44,033.57	19,818.26	123,215.90
(c) Derivative liabilities	7,404.97	5,369.66	2,834.10	1,364.31	300.14	9,868.21
(d) Other financial liabilities	12,132.40	12,002.13	52.55	49.40	55.64	12,159.72
Total	198,462.96	129,956.00	21,357.18	45,447.28	20,174.04	216,934.50

Contractual maturities of borrowings includes cash flows relating to collateralised debt obligations. This represents the amount received against the transfer of finance receivables in securitisation transactions and/or direct assignments, which do not qualify for derecognition. The liability of the Company in such cases is limited to the extent of credit enhancements provided. The contractual maturities of such collateralised debt obligations are as follows:

Financial liabilities

(₹ in crores)

	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Collateralised debt obligations	3,047.33	1,482.42	1,013.40	551.51	3,047.33

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as at March 31, 2018:

Financial liabilities

		Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
(a)	Trade payables and acceptances	76,939.83	76,939.83	-	-	-	76,939.83
(b)	Borrowings and interest thereon	90,046.19	31,349.98	14,909.70	40,002.72	16,401.49	102,663.89
(c)	Derivative liabilities	8,657.86	6,207.66	2,968.80	1,218.82	120.76	10,516.04
(d)	Other financial liabilities	13,296.93	13,026.82	153.23	87.48	79.64	13,347.17
	Total	188,940.81	127,524.29	18,031.73	41,309.02	16,601.89	203,466.93

The contractual maturities of such collateralised debt obligations are as follows:

Financial liabilities

(₹ in crores)

	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Collateralised debt obligations	1,320.58	728.09	592.49	-	1,320.58

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and risk management

The Company has entered into variety of foreign currency, interest rates and commodity forward contracts and options to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity price risk. The counterparty is generally a bank. These financial exposures are managed in accordance with the Company's risk management policies and procedures.

The Company also enters into interest rate swaps and interest rate currency swap agreements, mainly to manage exposure on its fixed rate or variable rate debt. The Company uses interest rate derivatives or currency swaps to hedge exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on principal and interest payments for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies.

Specific transactional risks include risks like liquidity and pricing risks, interest rate and exchange rate fluctuation risks, volatility risks, counter-party risks, settlement risks and gearing risks.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments are determined using valuation techniques based on information derived from observable market data.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

		(,
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2019	March 31, 2018
(a) Foreign currency forward exchange contracts and options	(5,242.65)	(3,708.93)
(b) Commodity Derivatives	101.95	(0.24)
(c) Others including interest rate and currency swaps	(117.59)	374.34
Total	(5,258.29)	(3,334.83)

The gain/(loss) on commodity derivative contracts, recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss was ₹84.74 crores gain and ₹214.63 crores gain for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Foreign exchange sensitivity in respect of company's exposure to forward and option contract:

(₹ in crores)

		((111 C1 C1 C3)
	As	at As at
	March 31, 20:	19 March 31, 2018
10% depreciation of foreign currency:		
Gain/(loss) in hedging reserve	2,316.	97 4,532.90
Gain/(loss) in statement of Profit and loss	(675.2	27) 213.42
10% Appreciation of foreign currency:		
Gain/(loss) in hedging reserve	(2,629.2	28) (5,335.38)
Gain/(loss) in statement of Profit and loss	2,179.	83 (134.65)

In respect of the Company's commodity derivative contracts, a 10% depreciation/appreciation of all commodity prices underlying such contracts, would have resulted in an approximate (loss)/gain of ₹(479.79) crores/₹479.79 crores and ₹(461.42)/₹461.42 crores in the statement of Profit and Loss for the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Exposure to gain/loss on derivative instruments offset to some extent the exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk as disclosed above.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

41. Disclosure on Financials instruments designated as hedging instrument in cashflow hedge

The details of cash flow hedges entered by the Company to hedge interest rate risk arising on floating rate borrowings and by one of the Company's subsidiaries to hedge the currency fluctuation of its functional currency (GBP) against foreign currencies to hedge future cash flow arising from revenue and cost of materials is as follows:

Outstanding contracts	Average	erage strike rate Nominal amounts (£ in million)			Carrying value		
					(₹in d	rores)	
	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at	
	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	
Foreign currency forwards							
Cash flow hedges - USD							
Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.674	0.659	1,356.8	1,724.9	(1,584.84)	(1,148.02)	
Between 1-5 years	0.699	0.676	1,679.3	2,659.9	(1,003.76)	(581.39)	
Cash flow hedges - Chinese Yuan							
Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.105	0.102	2,131.9	2,974.0	(1,381.19)	(2,774.27)	
Between 1-5 years	0.108	0.105	1,298.7	2,581.9	(394.63)	(767.81)	
Cash flow hedges -Euro							
Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP							
<1 year	0.863	0.817	2,691.4	1,602.1	133.96	1,200.62	
Between 1-5 years	0.907	0.868	3,180.6	2,818.8	(642.62)	1,108.34	
Cash flow hedges - Other							
<1 year	0.002	-	1,799.7	1,748.3	17.20	(567.55)	
Between 1-5 years	0.004	-	881.1	1,559.7	101.37	370.98	
Foreign currency options							
Cash flow hedges - USD							
Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.716	0.743	157.6	48.3	(9.96)	25.84	
Between 1-5 years	0.698	0.706	265.8	258.4	(28.06)	113.51	
Cash flow hedges - Chinese Yuan							
Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.000	0.103	-	10.3	-	-	
Between 1-5 years	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Cash flow hedges -Euro							
Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP							
<1 year	0.966	0.963	806.7	534.3	(71.50)	(23.07)	
Between 1-5 years	0.970	0.969	849.3	1,560.4	(21.72)	105.20	
Cash flow hedges of foreign exchange risk on recognised debt							
Cross currency interest rate swaps							
USD							
<1 year	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Between 1-5 years	-	-	-	-	-	-	
>5 years	0.759	0.759	379.6	379.6	100.47	(258.40)	

Outstanding contracts	Average	strike rate	Nominal	amounts	Carrying value		
		_	(£ in million)		(₹ in c	rores)	
	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at	
	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	
EURO							
<1 year	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Between 1-5 years	-	-	-	-	-	-	
>5 years	0.891	-	445.6	-	(133.05)	-	
Total foreign currency							
derivative instruments			17,924.1	20,460.9	(4,918.34)	(3,196.0)	
Debt instruments denominated in foreign currency							
USD							
< 1 year	0.736	0.673	735.8	471.0	(6,950.58)	(4,614.23)	
Between 1-5 years	0.000	0.736	-	735.8	-	(6,561.44)	
Total debt instruments denominated							
in foreign currency			735.8	1,206.8	(6,950.58)	(11,175.67)	

Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk arising on floating rate borrowings

	Average	Average strike rate		amounts	Carrying value	
			(USD in	million)	(₹ in crores)	
	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at	As at
	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018	March 31 2019	March 31 2018
Interest rate swaps linked to LIBOR						
>5 years	2.86%	-	237.5	-	(57.57)	-
Total derivatives designated in hedge relationship					(4,975.9)	(3,196.0)
Total debt instruments designated in hedge relationship					(6,950.6)	(11,175.7)

42. Segment reporting

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment includes all activities relating to development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. The Company provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India. The vehicle financing is intended to drive sale of vehicles by providing financing to the dealers' customers and as such is an integral part of automotive business. The operating results for Vehicle Financing has been adjusted only for finance cost for the borrowings sourced by this segment.

A core recent initiative of the Company was the implementation of the Organisation Effectiveness (OE) program, a strategic program designed to overhaul and transform the Company. Pursuant to the changes implemented as a result of the OE program, the Company has drawn separate strategies for commercial vehicles, passenger vehicles and financing business from Fiscal 2019. Consequent to these changes, the automotive segments has the following four reportable segments commencing Fiscal 2019:

- Automotive: The Automotive segment consists of four reportable sub-segments: Tata Commercial Vehicles, Tata Passenger Vehicles, Jaquar Land Rover and Vehicle Financing.
- b) Others: Others consist of IT services and machine tools and factory automation solutions.

This segment information is provided to and reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).

The reportable segment information for the corresponding previous preiod reported has been updated to make it comparable.

Table and other Pand Vehicles Total State Total Stat	Particulars				Ŗ	or the year er	For the year ended/as at March 31, 2019	:h 31, 2019				
Commercial Passanger Unalicable Total Flamcing Land segment				Aut	omotive and r	elated activit	ñ			Others	Inter	Total
Commetted Passenger Unallocable Total Financing Related Passenger Unallocable Total Financing Relations Power eliminations Vehicles Vehicles (1.387.70) 1.06.0 7.26.80.4 3.50.299 2.25.513.58 - 299.655.61 2.282.79 - 79.46 - 79.46 1.06.19 2.25.513.58 (275.65) - 1.343.28 - 81.37.10 14,69.80 1.10.60 72,717.50 3,700.18 22.513.58 (275.65) 299.655.61 3,62.67 4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 2,301.84 (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 505.44 4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 505.44 4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 505.44 4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 73.46.88 161.71 1,664.87 1,416.15 1,524.3 3,233.46 1,865 20,255.06 - (29.651.56) - (29.651.56) 2,692.74 -		Tat	a and other bra	and vehicles	П	Vehicle	Jaguar	Intra-	Total		segment	
S613710 14,390.34 110.60		Commercial Vehicles	Passenger L Vehicles	Inallocable	Total	Financing	Land Rover e	segment Liminations			euminations	
Sel137.10 14.39034 11060 72.65804 350.39 223.51358 - 299.655.61 2.02.79	Revenues:											
1,352,20	xternal revenue	58,137.10	14,390.34	110.60	72,638.04	3,503.99	223,513.58	1	299,655.61	2,282.79	1	301,938.40
\$4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 2,301.84 (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 505.44 4,116.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 2,301.84 (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 505.44 - (1,16.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 773.12 505.44 - (1,16.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 773.12 505.44 - (1,16.16 (1,387.79) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) - (29,583.06) - (29,583.06) - (29,681.56) - (29,681.56) - (1,16.48) (1,16.48) 3,760.7 (298.50) - (29,383.06) - (29,681.56) - (29,681.56) - (1,16.48) (1,17.84) (1,17.84) (1,17.84) - (29,681.56) - (29,681.56) - (1,18.18) (1,18.18) (1,18.18) (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) (1,18.18) (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18) - (1,18.18)	nter-segment/intra-segment revenue	•	79.46		79.46	196.19	1	(275.65)		1,343.28	(1,343.28)	-
4,116.16 (1,38779) (362.97) 2,365.40 2,301.84 (1,278.47) - 3,388.77 5,05.44 (C (2,615.65) - (2,615.65) - (2,615.65) - (2,615.65) - (2,6	otal revenues	58,137.10	14,469.80	110.60	72,717.50	3,700.18	223,513.58	(275.65)	299,655.61	3,626.07	(1,343.28)	(1,343.28) 301,938.40
4,116.16 (1,38779) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 7773.12 505.44 (Col. 1,180.4) 376.07 (298.50) - (29,353.06) - (29,651.56) - (29,651	arnings before other income (exctuding nentives), finance costs, foreign exchange ain/(toss) (net), exceptional items and tax:	4,116.16	(1,387.79)	(362.97)	2,365.40	2,301.84	(1,278.47)	ı	3,388.77	505.44	(120.18)	3,774.03
4,116.16 (1,38779) (362.97) 2,365.40 (313.81) (1,278.47) - 773.12 505.44 (Control of the control	inance costs pertaining to borrowings ourced bu vehicle financing segment				1	(2,615,65)	1	1	(2.615.65)	1	1	(2.615.65)
(556.53) (11804) 376.07 (298.50) - (29,353.06) - (29,651.56) - 1,664.87 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 18.65 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 - 4.167 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1,762.4) - - - - 422.54 - <t< td=""><td>egment results</td><td>4,116.16</td><td>(1,387.79)</td><td>(362.97)</td><td>2,365.40</td><td>(313.81)</td><td>(1,278.47)</td><td></td><td>773.12</td><td>505.44</td><td>(120.18)</td><td>1,158.38</td></t<>	egment results	4,116.16	(1,387.79)	(362.97)	2,365.40	(313.81)	(1,278.47)		773.12	505.44	(120.18)	1,158.38
(556.53) (118.04) 376.07 (298.50) - (29,353.06) - (29,651.56) - 1,664.87 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 18.65 20,212.58 - 23,646.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 - - 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1.7 - - 162.24 162.24 - - - 162.24 -	econciliation to Profit before tax:											
(556.53) (118.04) 376.07 (298.50) - (29,553.06) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (29,651.56) - (21,20.38 3,032.46 3,233.45 18.65 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 16.24 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.24 - 16.24 16.2	ther income(excluding incentives)											1,170.89
1,664.87 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 1865 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 35,692.2 66.45 - - 41.67 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1.7 - - 162.24 162.24 2.67 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - 591.50 - - - - - - - - - 591.50 -	nance costs (excluding pertaining borrowings sourced by vehicle nancing segment)											(3,142.95)
(556.53) (118.04) 376.07 (298.50) - (29,353.06) - (29,651.56) - 1,664.87 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 1865 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 - - 41.67 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (11.71) - - 162.24 2,67 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - - -<	preign exchange gain/(loss) (net)											(905.91)
1,66487 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 18.65 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 - - - 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1648.49 48.022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1,2) - - 162.24 - - - - - 162.24 - - - - 4,22.54 2.67 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - - <	ceptional items gain/(loss) (net)	(556.53)	(118.04)	376.07	(298.50)		(29,353.06)	ı	(29,651.56)	1	1	(29,651.56)
1,664.87 1,416.15 152.43 3,233.45 18.65 20,212.58 - 23,464.68 161.71 2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 36,569.22 66.45 - - 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1,762.24) -<	rofit before tax											(31,371.15)
2,120.38 3,032.46 76.35 5,229.19 71.96 31,268.07 - 56,569.22 66.45 - - - 41.67 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1 - - 162.24 162.24 - - - 162.24 - - - - 4,22.54 2.67 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - - - - - - - - - 591.50 - <td>epreciation and amortisation expense</td> <td>1,664.87</td> <td>1,416.15</td> <td>152.43</td> <td>3,233.45</td> <td>18.65</td> <td>20,212.58</td> <td> 1</td> <td>23,464.68</td> <td>161.71</td> <td>(35.76)</td> <td>23,590.63</td>	epreciation and amortisation expense	1,664.87	1,416.15	152.43	3,233.45	18.65	20,212.58	1	23,464.68	161.71	(35.76)	23,590.63
4167 4167 (0.72) 75.37 - 116.32 93.18 26,927.43 19,46.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1 162.24 162.24 - 162.24 2.67 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - 591.50	pital expenditure	2,120.38	3,032.46	76.35	5,229.19	71.96	31,268.07	1	36,569.22	66.45	1	36,635.67
26,927.43 19,446.38 1,648.49 48,022.30 38,261.58 170,433.61 - 256,717.49 2,003.74 (1 - - - 162.24 - - 162.24 - - 162.24 - - - 162.24 - - - 162.24 - - - - - 162.24 - <	nare of profil/(loss) of equity accounted vestees (net)			41.67	41.67	(0.72)	75.37		116.32	93.18	1	209.50
s 422.54 - 162.24 - 162.24 - 162.24 - 162.24 - 162.24 - 162.25 4,318.17 - 4,743.38 - 591.50 - 15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711.43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	gment assets	26,927.43	19,446.38	1,648.49	48,022.30	38,261.58	170,433.61		256,717.49	2,003.74	(1,225.25)	257,495.98
\$ 422.54	sets classified as held for sale			162.24	162.24	1			162.24	1	1	162.24
591.50 - 591.50	vestment in equity accounted investees	422.54	1		422.54	2.67	4,318.17	•	4,743.38	•	1	4,743.38
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711,43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	vestment in equity accounted investees eld for sale)	•	•	,	ı	'	,	1	,	591.50	'	591.50
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711,43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	econciliation to total assets:											
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711.43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	her Investments											10,435.84
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711.43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	urrent and non-current tax assets (net)											1,208.93
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711.43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	ther unallocated financial assets ²											27,405.55
15,937.65 3,687.73 1,752.13 21,377.51 711.43 107,296.26 (337.65) 129,047.55 529.07	otal assets											307,194.53
abilities classified as held-for-sale	egment liabilities	15,937.65	3,687.73	1,752.13	21,377.51	711.43	107,296.26	(337.65)	129,047.55	529.07	(252.06)	129,324.56
econciliation to total liabilities: orrowings urrent tax liabilities (net) eferred tax liabilities (net) ther unallocated financial liabilities ³	abilities classified as held-for-sale	'	1	1	1	•	1	1	1	1	1	_
orrowings urrent tax liabilities (net) eferred tax liabilities (net) ther unallocated financial liabilities³	econciliation to total liabilities:											
urrent tax liabilities (net) eferred tax liabilities (net) ther unallocated financial liabilities ³ btal liabilities	orrowings											106,175.34
eferred tax Liabilities (net) ther unallocated financial Liabilities ³ State Unabilities	urrent tax liabilities (net)											1,017.64
ther unallocated financial liabilities ³	eferred tax liabilities (net)											1,491.04
otal Liabilities	ther unallocated financial liabilities 3											8,483.33
	otal liabilities											246,491.91

Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Fiat brand vehicles.
 Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income.
 Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

Particulars				Ŗ	r the year en	For the year ended/as at March 31, 2018	:h 31, 2018				
			Auto	Automotive and related activity	elated activity	-			Others	Inter-	Total
	Tat Commercial Vehicles	Tata and other brand vehicles ¹ al Passenger Unallocable is Vehicles	ind vehicles ¹ nallocable	Total	Vehicle Financing	Jaguar Land Rover e	aguar Intra- Land segment Rover eliminations	Total	ŭ	segment eliminations	
Revenues:											
External revenue	49,373.55	13,190.78	169.69	62,734.02	2,800.22	224,831.05		290,365.29	1,975.35	1	292,340.64
Inter-segment/intra-segment revenue	1	151.26	1	151.26	1	1	(131.91)	19.35	1,277.01	(1,296.36)	•
Total revenues	49,373.55	13,342.04	169.69	62,885.28	2,800.22	2,800.22 224,831.05	(131.91)	(131.91) 290,384.64	3,252.36	(1,296.36) 292,340.64	292,340.64
Earnings before other income (excluding incentives), finance costs, foreign exchange gain/(loss) (net), exceptional items and tax:	3,595.32	(3,045.92)	(254.13)	295.27	1,808.31	9,408.80	,	11,512.38	422.32	(147.19)	11,787.51
Finance costs pertaining to borrowings sourced by vehicle financing segment					(1,905.30)			(1,905.30)			(1,905.30)
Segment results	3,595.32	(3,045.92)	(254.13)	295.27	(66.96)	9,408.80		9,607.08	422.32	(147.19)	9,882.21
Reconciliation to Profit before tax:											
Other income(excluding incentives)											888.89
Finance costs (excluding pertaining to borrowings sourced by vehicle financing segment)											(2,776.49)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (net)											1,185.28
Exceptional items gain/(loss) (net)	(166.66)	(800:00)	1	(99.996)	1	2,941.80	1	1,975.14	1	1	1,975.14
Profit before tax											11,155.03
Depreciation and amortisation expense	1,589.97	1,486.33	145.74	3,222.04	18.34	18,257.09		21,497.47	56.12	1	21,553.59
Capital expenditure	1,402.40	1,977.39	85.98	3,465.77	47.15	39,093.99		42,606.91	84.16	(18.78)	42,672.29
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees (net)	•	,	30.18	30.18	1	2,138.92	1	2,169.10	109.16	1	2,278.26
Segment assets	27,903.07	16,400.05	2,583.51	46,886.63	27,653.16	199,513.67	(1,140.94)	272,912.52	13.26	(886.02)	272,039.76
Assets classified as held for sale			223.33	223.33				223.33	2,756.91	(395.05)	2,585.19
Investment in equity accounted investees	383.00	2.50	1	385.50	1	4,502.39		4,887.89	1	1	4,887.89
Investment in equity accounted investees (held for sale)	'	1	,		,				497.35	,	497.35
Reconciliation to total assets:											
Other investments											15,427.51
Current and non-current income tax assets											1,108.81
Deferred income taxes											4,158.70
Other unallocated financial assets ²											30,645.30
Total assets										_	331,350.51
Segment liabilities	14,714.92	3,137.17	2,719.83	20,571.92	724.40	107,864.26	(09.766)	128,162.98	84.01	(315.22)	127,931.77
Liabilities classified as held-for-sale	1	1	ı	ı	1	ı	•	ı	1,070.18	1	1,070.18
Reconciliation to total liabilities:											
Borrowings											88,950.47
Current income tax liabilities											1,559.07
Deferred income taxes											6,125.80
Other unallocated financial liabilities ³											9,760.25

Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Fiat brand vehicles.
 Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income.
 Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

Entity-wide disclosures

Information concerning principal geographic areas is as follows:

Net sales to external customers by geographic area by location of customers:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(a) India	68,087.44	58,659.18
(b) United States of America	52,472.91	44,991.88
(c) United Kingdom	49,113.81	50,456.60
(d) Rest of Europe	49,814.17	46,393.27
(e) China	30,414.75	42,635.26
(f) Rest of the World	52,035.32	49,204.45
Total	301,938.40	292,340.64

Non-current assets (Property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets, other non-current assets and Goodwill) by geographic area:

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(a) India	29,626.94	27,222.38
(b) United States of America	291.99	299.00
(c) United Kingdom	101,436.47	124,201.80
(d) Rest of Europe	9,470.80	7,242.06
(e) China	140.92	166.11
(f) Rest of the World	2,513.76	2,697.73
Total	143,480.88	161,829.08

Information about product revenues:

	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(a) Tata and Fiat vehicles	68,870.87	58,093.58
(b) Tata Daewoo commercial vehicles	3,911.66	4,828.79
(c) Finance revenues	3,399.55	2,604.03
(d) Jaguar Land Rover vehicles	223,513.58	224,831.05
(e) Others	2,242.74	1,983.19
Total	301,938.40	292,340.64

43. Related-party transactions

The Company's related parties principally consist of Tata Sons Private Limited, subsidiaries and joint ventures of Tata Sons Private Limited, the Company's associates and their subsidiaries, joint operations and joint ventures of the Company. The Company routinely enters into transactions with these related parties in the ordinary course of business. The Company enters into transactions for sale and purchase of products and services with its associates, joint operations and joint ventures. Transactions and balances with its own subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation.

The following table summarises related-party transactions and balances included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended/as at March 31, 2019:

Particulars	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Pvt Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint arrangements	Total
Purchase of products	2,369.10	2.46	3,940.77	202.80	6,515.13
Sale of products	328.40	2,946.55	825.32	828.10	4,928.37
Services received	46.20	1.13	-	1,866.80	1,914.13
Services rendered	21.70	765.32	6.04	116.30	909.36
Bills discounted	-	-	-	5,493.78	5,493.78
Purchase of property, plantand equipment	13.50	-	-	0.80	14.30
Purchase of Investments	7.20	-	-	-	7.20
Sale of Investments	-	-	-	533.35	533.35
Interest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/paid, (net)	(12.40)	(199.13)	(26.22)	23.10	(214.65)
Finance given (including loans and equity)	-	5.75	-	-	5.75
Finance taken (including loans and equity)	177.00	-	-	-	177.00
Finance taken, paid back (including loans and equity)	210.00	-	-	-	210.00
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon		3.75		3.80	7.55
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	23.00	-	-	3.60	26.60
Trade and other receivables	55.60	132.15	-	198.80	386.55
Trade payables	304.30	2.59	246.10	372.90	925.89
Acceptances	-	-	-	69.13	69.13

The following table summarises related-party transactions included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended/as at March 31, 2018:

(₹ in crores)

Particulars	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Pvt Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint arrangements	Total
Purchase of products	2,605.70	-	3,163.10	171.30	5,940.10
Sale of products	201.60	6,008.21	545.49	709.10	7,464.40
Services received	8.90	550.09	0.16	1,735.30	2,294.45
Services rendered	19.00	1,207.72	4.34	24.10	1,255.16
Bills discounted	-	-	-	4,135.03	4,135.03
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	62.40	-	-	0.20	62.60
Purchase of Investments	-	2.50	-	-	2.50
Interest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/paid, (net)	(9.50)	(1,764.49)	(4.60)	26.30	(1,752.29)
Finance taken (including loans and equity)	489.00	-	-	-	489.00
Finance taken, paid back (including loans and equity)	489.00	-	-	-	489.00
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon		-	-	4.00	4.00
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	56.00	-	-	4.80	60.80
Trade and other receivables	63.30	1,037.14	(0.07)	151.10	1,251.47
Trade payables	149.60	0.25	184.88	335.70	670.43
Acceptances	-	-	-	220.16	220.16
Deposits given as security	-	-	-	3.00	3.00

Note: With the introduction of GST from July 1, 2017, the related party transactions reported does not include indirect tax component. The previous year figures to that extent is not comparable.

Details of significant transactions are given below:

P	articulars	Nature of relationship	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
i)	Services rendered			
	Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited	Joint ventures	765.32	1,207.72
ii)	Bill discounted			
	Tata Capital	Tata Sons Pvt Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint arrangements	5,493.78	4,135.03
iii)	Sale of Investment in a Subsidiary compa	nny		
	Tata Advanced Systems Ltd. (TASL)	Tata Sons Pvt Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint arrangements	533.35	-

Compensation of key management personnel:

(₹ in crores)

Particulars	Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
Short-term benefits	63.39	79.84
Post-employment benefits*	5.46	1.76
Share based payment	0.44	-

The compensation of CEO and Managing Director is ₹26.32 crores and ₹26.42 crores for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The compensation of CEO at Jaguar Land Rover is ₹31.82 crores and ₹40.08 crores for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

* Excludes provision for encashable leave and gratuity for certain key management personnel as a separate actuarial valuation is not available.

Refer note 37 of information on transactions with post-employment benefit plans.

44. Earnings per Share ("EPS")

			Year ended March 31, 2019	Year ended March 31, 2018
(a)	Profit / (Loss) for the period	₹crores	(28,826.23)	8,988.91
(b)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	2,887,348,474	2,887,348,357
(c)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	508,502,371	508,502,336
(d)	The nominal value per share (Ordinary and 'A' Ordinary)	₹	2.00	2.00
(e)	Share of profit / (loss) for Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	₹crores	(24,509.73)	7,638.57
(f)	Share of profit / (loss) for 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS*	₹crores	(4,316.50)	1,350.34
(g)	Earnings Per Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	(84.89)	26.46
(h)	Earnings Per 'A' Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	(84.89)	26.56
(i)	Profit after tax for Diluted EPS	₹crores	#	8,988.91
(j)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	#	2,887,348,357
(k)	Add: Adjustment for Options relating to warrants and shares held in abeyance	Nos.	#	494,469
(L)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	#	2,887,842,826
(m)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	#	508,502,336
(n)	Add: Adjustment for 'A' Ordinary shares held in abeyance	Nos.	#	233,774
(o)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	#	508,736,110
(p)	Share of profit for Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	₹crores	#	7,638.23
(q)	Share of profit for 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS*	₹crores	#	1,350.68
(r)	Earnings Per Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	(84.89)	26.45
(s)	Earnings Per 'A' Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	(84.89)	26.55

^{* &#}x27;A' Ordinary shareholders are entitled to receive dividend at 5 percentage points more than the aggregate rate of dividend determined by the Company on Ordinary shares for the financial year.

Note:

Employee Stock options are not considered to be dilutive based on the average market price of ordinary shares during the period.

[#] Since there is a loss for the year ended March 31, 2019 potential equity shares are not considered as dilutive and hence Diluted EPS is same as Basic EPS.

45. Additional information as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, of enterprises consolidated as subsidiary / Associates / Joint Ventures

(₹ in crores) As % of As % of Name of enterprises **Net Assets** As % of Share of Share As % of Amount (total assets consolidated profit or (loss) consolidated of OCI comprehensive consolidated net assets minus total (profit) or loss OCI income liabilities) Parent Tata Motors Ltd 35.82% 21,558.50 (6.60)% 1,903.94 0.41% (23.05)(5.47)% 1,880.89 **Subsidiaries** Indian TAL Manufacturing Solutions Ltd 0.00% (0.20)% 56.60 0.00% (0.16)% 56.60 (Till March 29, 2019) Concorde Motors (India) Ltd 0.01% 6.43 0.37% (105.69) (0.00)% 0.11 0.31% (105.58) Tata Motors Finance Ltd 4.93% 2,966.77 (0.71)% 203.88 (0.10)% 5.53 (0.61)% 209.41 Tata Technologies Ltd 1 26% 759 25 (0.66)% 191 18 (0.04)% 2 1 5 (0.56)% 193 33 Tata Motors Insurance Broking & 0.06% 33.12 (0.06)%17.89 (0.00)%0.20 (0.05)%18.09 Advisory Services Ltd (0.00)% TML Distribution Company Ltd 0.67% 400.96 (0.16)%46.50 0.03(0.14)%46 53 TMF Holdings Limited (0.01)% 0.00% (0.01)% 7.00% 4.213.78 3.69 (0.03)3.66 1.158.21 1.92% (0.34)% 99.43 (0.01)% 0.51 (0.29)% 99.94 Tata Motors Financial Solutions Ltd 0.22% 132.03 (0.04)% 12.97 0.03% (1.83)(0.03)% 11.14 Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd Jaguar Land Rover India Limited 0.43% 259.96 0.08% (23.00)(0.31)% 17.02 0.02% (5.98)Foreign Tata Daewoo Commercial 3.80% 2,284.59 0.62% (179.12)0.17% (9.50)0.55% (188.62)Vehicle Co. Ltd Tata Motors European 0.51% 308.20 0.10% (27.81)0.00% 0.08% (27.81)Technical Centre Plc Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd 0.02% 14.43 (0.00)% 1.34 (0.02)% 1.37 (0.01)% 2.71 Tata Motors (Thailand) Ltd (1.09)% (658.14)1.74% (501.18)0.49% (27.05)1.54% (528.23)TML Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore 15.85% 9 540 38 (4.65)% 1.339.07 (6.81)% 379.80 (5.00)% 1.718.87 Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A (1.26)% (755.61)0.07% (20.12)0.00% 0.06% (20.12)(0.06)% (36.25)0.00% (0.55)0.00% 0.00% (0.55)Tata Hispano Motors Carroceries Maghreb 0.04% 26.37 0.07% 0.00% (21.26)0.06% (21.26)(0.00)% (0.21)0.00% (1.08)0.00% 0.00% (1.08)Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd PT Tata Motors Indonesia 0.35% 213.03 0.01% (2.11)0.00% 0.01% (2.11)0.07% 44.18 (0.00)% 0.84 0.02% (0.87)0.00% (0.03)INCAT International Plc. Tata Technologies Inc. 0.64% 386.62 (0.04)% 11.39 (0.37)% 20.87 (0.09)% 32.26 Tata Technologies de 0.01% 5.80 0.00% (0.56)0.01% (0.48)0.00% (1.04)Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

								(₹ in crores)
Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets		As % of consolidated (profit) or loss	Share of profit or (loss)		Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
Cambric Limited, Bahamas	0.03%	19.35	0.00%	(0.89)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.89)
Cambric GmbH (in process of liquidation)	0.00%	1.83	0.00%	(0.06)	0.00%	(0.20)	0.00%	(0.26)
Tata Technolgies SRL, Romania	0.07%	39.61	(0.05)%	14.31	0.06%	(3.09)	(0.03)%	11.21
Tata Manufacturing Technologies Consulting (Shanghai) Limited	0.10%	60.50	(0.08)%	22.06	0.01%	(0.45)	(0.06)%	21.61
Tata Technologies Europe Limited	1.35%	813.07	(0.40)%	114.94	0.36%	(19.92)	(0.28)%	95.02
Escenda Engineering AB	0.00%	0.48	0.01%	(2.45)	(0.05)%	2.76	(0.00)%	0.31
INCAT GmbH (in process of liquidation)	0.03%	17.68	(0.00)%	0.28	0.01%	(0.71)	0.00%	(0.44)
Tata Technologies (Thailand) Limited	0.02%	11.90	(0.00)%	1.28	(0.01)%	0.52	(0.01)%	1.80
TATA Technologies Pte Ltd.	1.28%	771.88	(0.01)%	1.78	(0.79)%	43.93	(0.13)%	45.71
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc	31.84%	19,162.09	(0.14)%	40.02	0.00%	-	(0.12)%	40.02
Jaguar Land Rover Limited (formerly knwon as Land Rover Holdings Ltd.)	119.88%	72,146.08	108.05%	(31,146.30)	64.61%	(3,602.44)	101.01%	(34,748.74)
Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited	67.91%	40,868.11	(0.72)%	206.76	0.00%	-	(0.60)%	206.76
JLR Nominee Company Limited	0.00%	0.00	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited	3.02%	1,819.27	(0.43)%	123.09	0.00%	-	(0.36)%	123.09
Jaguar Cars Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Land Rover Exports Limited (Business transferred to Jaguar Land Rover Exports Ltd)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Daimler Motor Company Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
S S Cars Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	0.02%	13.58	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Jaguar Collection Limited (Dissolved June 19, 2018)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Cars (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	
Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o.	8.44%	5,079.43	(0.60)%	173.81	1.89%	(105.12)	(0.20)%	68.69
Jaguar Racing Limited	0.02%	14.30	(0.01)%	4.31	0.00%	-	(0.01)%	4.31
InMotion Ventures Limited	0.18%	107.50	(0.60)%	171.72	0.00%	-	(0.50)%	171.72
InMotion Ventures 1 Limited	(0.00)%	(1.35)	0.00%	(1.33)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(1.33)

								(₹ in crores)
Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets		As % of consolidated (profit) or loss			Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
InMotion Ventures 2 Limited	(0.03)%	(16.00)	0.05%	(15.53)	0.00%	-	0.05%	(15.53)
InMotion Ventures 3 Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
InMotion Ventures 4 Limited (Incorporated w.e.f January 4, 2019)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited	0.01%	6.25	(0.02)%	4.44	(0.00)%	0.21	(0.01)%	4.65
Spark44 (JV) Ltd	0.41%	248.89	0.02%	(4.43)	0.00%	-	0.01%	(4.43)
Spark44 Limited (London & Birmingham)	0.00%	-	(0.10)%	29.70	0.00%	-	(0.09)%	29.70
Spark44 Pty Ltd (Sydney)	0.00%	-	(0.01)%	2.32	(0.01)%	0.44	(0.01)%	2.76
Spark44 GmbH (Frankfurt)	0.00%	-	(0.02)%	5.90	(0.02)%	1.12	(0.02)%	7.02
Spark44 GLLC (LA & NYC)	0.00%	-	(0.02)%	6.68	(0.02)%	1.27	(0.02)%	7.95
Spark44 Limited (Shanghai)	0.00%	-	(0.03)%	7.35	(0.03)%	1.40	(0.03)%	8.75
Spark44 Middle East DMCC (Dubai)	0.00%	-	(0.05)%	15.11	(0.05)%	2.87	(0.05)%	17.98
Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Pte Ltd (Mumbai)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.26)	0.00%	(0.05)	0.00%	(0.31)
Spark44 Pte Ltd (Singapore)	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	1.17	(0.00)%	0.22	(0.00)%	1.39
Spark44 Communications SL (Madrid)	0.00%	-	(0.01)%	2.08	(0.01)%	0.40	(0.01)%	2.48
Spark44 SRL (Rome)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.85)	0.00%	(0.16)	0.00%	(1.01)
Spark44 Limited (Seoul)	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	1.33	(0.00)%	0.25	(0.00)%	1.58
Spark44 K.K. (Tokyo)	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	1.18	(0.00)%	0.22	(0.00)%	1.40
Spark44 Canada Inc (Toronto)	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	0.43	(0.00)%	0.08	(0.00)%	0.51
Spark44 South Africa (Pty) Limited	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	0.40	(0.00)%	0.08	(0.00)%	0.48
Spark44 Colombia S.A.S (Colombia) (Incorporated w.e.f. May 10,2018)	(0.00)%	(0.20)	0.00%	(0.20)	0.00%	(0.23)	0.00%	(0.43)
Spark44 Taiwan Limited (Taiwan) (Incorporated w.e.f. May 7,2018)	0.00%	0.19	(0.00)%	0.19	(0.00)%	0.22	(0.00)%	0.41
Limited Liability Company Jaguar Land Rover (Russia)	1.01%	610.74	(0.67)%	193.52	0.00%	-	(0.56)%	193.52
Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co Ltd (previously Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd)	24.85%	14,954.59	(2.60)%	750.16	0.00%	-	(2.18)%	750.16
Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Service Co. Ltd	(0.01)%	(4.84)	(0.04)%	11.61	0.00%	-	(0.03)%	11.61
Jaguar Land Rover Colombia SAS	(0.03)%	(20.94)	0.01%	(2.61)	0.00%	-	0.01%	(2.61)
Jaguar Landrover Mexico S.A.P I de C.V	0.07%	43.85	(0.03)%	7.21	0.00%	-	(0.02)%	7.21

As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets	As % of	Share of	As % of	Share	As % of	America
net assets		consolidated (profit) or loss	profit or (loss)	consolidated OCI		comprehensive income	Amount
0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
0.09%	52.52	(0.05)%	14.82	0.00%	-	(0.04)%	14.82
0.07%	42.10	(0.08)%	24.17	0.00%	-	(0.07)%	24.17
0.67%	405.44	(0.09)%	25.82	(0.03)%	1.53	(0.08)%	27.35
0.40%	242.34	(0.09)%	24.81	0.00%	-	(0.07)%	24.81
0.01%	6.02	0.00%	(0.43)	(0.03)%	1.86	(0.00)%	1.43
0.37%	220.16	(0.30)%	87.56	0.00%	-	(0.25)%	87.56
0.93%	556.98	(0.30)%	86.03	0.00%	-	(0.25)%	86.03
0.09%	54.53	(0.06)%	17.27	0.00%	-	(0.05)%	17.27
0.41%	249.36	(0.37)%	106.99	0.00%	-	(0.31)%	106.99
3.89%	2,342.29	(2.64)%	760.11	(0.00)%	0.02	(2.21)%	760.13
0.47%	282.16	(0.24)%	68.53	0.00%	-	(0.20)%	68.53
0.41%	247.31	(0.19)%	54.24	0.00%	-	(0.16)%	54.24
0.86%	518.73	(0.18)%	50.91	0.00%	-	(0.15)%	50.91
0.08%	48.51	(0.08)%	24.26	0.00%	-	(0.07)%	24.26
0.05%	30.06	(0.08)%	24.30	0.00%	-	(0.07)%	24.30
0.07%	40.41	0.05%	(14.67)	0.00%	-	0.04%	(14.67)
0.03%	20.22	(0.05)%	15.10	0.00%	-	(0.04)%	15.10
(0.04)%	(22.60)	0.10%	(29.17)	0.00%	-	0.08%	(29.17)
0.00%	0.58	(0.00)%	0.46	(0.00)%	0.03	(0.00)%	0.49
0.03%	16.76	0.01%	(2.81)	0.01%	(0.57)	0.01%	(3.38)
0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
	0.09% 0.07% 0.67% 0.40% 0.01% 0.37% 0.93% 0.09% 0.41% 0.86% 0.041% 0.86% 0.005% 0.07% 0.03% (0.04)% 0.00%	0.00% - 0.09% 52.52 0.07% 42.10 0.67% 405.44 0.40% 242.34 0.01% 6.02 0.37% 220.16 0.93% 556.98 0.09% 54.53 0.41% 249.36 3.89% 2,342.29 0.47% 282.16 0.41% 247.31 0.86% 518.73 0.08% 48.51 0.05% 30.06 0.07% 40.41 0.03% 20.22 (0.04)% (22.60) 0.03% 16.76	0.00% - 0.00% 0.09% 52.52 (0.05)% 0.07% 42.10 (0.08)% 0.67% 405.44 (0.09)% 0.40% 242.34 (0.09)% 0.01% 6.02 0.00% 0.37% 220.16 (0.30)% 0.93% 556.98 (0.30)% 0.09% 54.53 (0.06)% 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 3.89% 2,342.29 (2.64)% 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 0.41% 247.31 (0.19)% 0.86% 518.73 (0.18)% 0.08% 48.51 (0.08)% 0.07% 40.41 0.05% 0.03% 20.22 (0.05)% (0.04)% (22.60) 0.10% 0.03% 16.76 0.01% 0.03% 16.76 0.01%	0.00% - 0.00% - 0.09% 52.52 (0.05)% 14.82 0.07% 42.10 (0.08)% 24.17 0.67% 405.44 (0.09)% 25.82 0.40% 242.34 (0.09)% 24.81 0.01% 6.02 0.00% (0.43) 0.37% 220.16 (0.30)% 86.03 0.93% 556.98 (0.30)% 86.03 0.09% 54.53 (0.06)% 17.27 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 3.89% 2,342.29 (2.64)% 760.11 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 68.53 0.41% 247.31 (0.19)% 54.24 0.86% 518.73 (0.18)% 50.91 0.08% 48.51 (0.08)% 24.30 0.07% 40.41 0.05% (14.67) 0.03% 20.22 (0.05)% 15.10 (0.04)% (22.60) 0.10% (29.17) <	0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% 0.09% 52.52 (0.05)% 14.82 0.00% 0.07% 42.10 (0.08)% 24.17 0.00% 0.67% 405.44 (0.09)% 25.82 (0.03)% 0.40% 242.34 (0.09)% 24.81 0.00% 0.01% 6.02 0.00% (0.43) (0.03)% 0.37% 220.16 (0.30)% 87.56 0.00% 0.93% 556.98 (0.30)% 86.03 0.00% 0.09% 54.53 (0.06)% 17.27 0.00% 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 0.00% 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 0.00% 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 68.53 0.00% 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 68.53 0.00% 0.86% 518.73 (0.18)% 50.91 0.00% 0.08% 48.51 (0.08)% 24.30 0.00%	0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.09% 52.52 (0.05)% 14.82 0.00% - 0.07% 42.10 (0.08)% 24.17 0.00% - 0.67% 405.44 (0.09)% 25.82 (0.03)% 1.53 0.40% 242.34 (0.09)% 24.81 0.00% - 0.01% 6.02 0.00% (0.43) (0.03)% 1.86 0.37% 220.16 (0.30)% 87.56 0.00% - 0.93% 556.98 (0.30)% 86.03 0.00% - 0.09% 54.53 (0.06)% 17.27 0.00% - 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 0.00% - 3.89% 2.342.29 (2.64)% 760.11 (0.00)% 0.02 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 68.53 0.00% - 0.41% 247.31 (0.19)% 54.24 0.00% -	0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% - 0.00% 0.09% 52.52 (0.05)% 14.82 0.00% - (0.04)% 0.07% 42.10 (0.08)% 24.17 0.00% - (0.07)% 0.67% 405.44 (0.09)% 25.82 (0.03)% 1.53 (0.08)% 0.40% 242.34 (0.09)% 24.81 0.00% - (0.07)% 0.01% 6.02 0.00% (0.43) (0.03)% 1.86 (0.00)% 0.37% 220.16 (0.30)% 87.56 0.00% - (0.25)% 0.93% 556.98 (0.30)% 86.03 0.00% - (0.25)% 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 0.00% - (0.05)% 0.41% 249.36 (0.37)% 106.99 0.00% - (0.20)% 0.47% 282.16 (0.24)% 68.53 0.00% - (0.20)% 0.41% 247.31

(₹	in	сгог	·62)

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	-	As % of consolidated (profit) or loss	Share of profit or (loss)	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Co. Ltd.	0.03%	20.88	0.00%	(1.07)	(0.04)%	2.16	(0.00)%	1.09
PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	(0.01)%	(8.03)	0.09%	(25.09)	0.00%	-	0.07%	(25.09)
TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Ltd	(0.00)%	(0.18)	0.00%	(0.14)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.14)
Minority Interests in all subsidiaries	S							
Indian								
Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd	(0.11)%	(64.54)	0.02%	(6.36)	(0.02)%	0.89	0.02%	(5.47)
Tata Technologies Ltd	(0.74)%	(442.56)	0.29%	(82.79)	0.05%	(2.59)	0.25%	(85.38)
Foreign								
Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd	(0.01)%	(5.78)	0.00%	(0.53)	(0.02)%	0.84	(0.00)%	0.31
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.00%	0.03	(0.00)%	0.23	0.00%	-	(0.00)%	0.23
Spark 44 Ltd	(0.10)%	(59.77)	0.12%	(33.28)	0.00%	-	0.10%	(33.28)
Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	0.08%	49.56	(0.07)%	20.70	(0.02)%	1.13	(0.06)%	21.83
Joint operations								
Indian								
Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	2.96%	1,782.30	(0.33)%	95.10	0.01%	(0.32)	(0.28)%	94.78
Tata Cummins Private Ltd	0.87%	523.25	(0.44)%	127.80	0.00%	(0.05)	(0.37)%	127.75
Adjustments arising out of consolidation	(252.47)%	(151,934.60)	14.62%	(4,215.07)	39.84%	(2,221.37)	18.71%	(6,436.44)
Sub - total (a)		54,844.68		(29,035.73)		(5,528.04)		(34,563.77)
Joint ventures (as per proportionate o	onsolidation / in	vestment as pe	r the equity me	thod				
Indian								
JT Special Vehicle (P) Ltd	0.00%	-	0.01%	(2.50)	0.00%	-	0.01%	(2.50)
Tata HAL Technologies Ltd.	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Foreign								
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co Ltd	7.14%	4,295.54	(0.35)%	100.94	1.00%	(55.78)	(0.13)%	45.16
Sub - total (b)		4,295.54		98.44		(55.78)		42.66

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	-	As % of consolidated (profit) or loss	Share of profit or (loss)		Share of OCI co	As % of omprehensive income	Amount
Associates (Investment as per the e	quity method)							
Indian								
Tata AutoComp Systems Ltd	0.41%	243.88	(0.11)%	31.90	(0.19)%	10.54	(0.12)%	42.44
Automobile Corporation of Goa Ltd	0.24%	144.60	(0.03)%	9.06	0.01%	(0.35)	(0.03)%	8.71
Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Ltd	0.98%	591.05	(0.32)%	93.18	(0.02)%	0.96	(0.27)%	94.14
Loginomic Tech Solutions Private Limited (TruckEasy) (Acquired stake w.e.f. July 10, 2018)	0.00%	1.94	0.00%	(0.72)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.72)
Foreign								
Nita Company Ltd	0.06%	34.80	(0.01)%	3.22	(0.04)%	2.30	(0.02)%	5.52
Tata Precision Industries (India) Ltd	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Synaptiv Limited	0.00%	1.41	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.03)	0.00%	(0.03)
CloudCar Inc	0.03%	16.35	0.09%	(25.69)	0.09%	(5.01)	0.09%	(30.70)
DriveClubService Pte. Ltd.	0.00%	1.74	(0.00)%	0.11	0.00%	(0.03)	(0.00)%	0.08
Jaguar Cars Finance Limited	0.01%	3.12	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.06)	0.00%	(0.06)
Sub - total (c)		1,039.34		111.06		8.32	_	119.38
Total (b+c)		5,334.88	100.00%	209.50	100.00%	(47.46)	100.00%	162.04
Total (a + b + c)	100.00%	60,179.56	100.00%	(28,826.23)	100.00%	(5,575.50)	100.00% (3	34,401.73)

46. Other Notes

(a) The following subsidiaries have been considered on unaudited basis. Details for the same as per individual entity's financials are as under:

	сго	

Particulars	Net Worth As at March 31, 2019	Total Revenue for the year ended March 31, 2019	Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash & Cash equivalent during 2018-2019
Subsidiaries:			
Trilix S.r.l	26.37	56.26	(17.65)
TML Holding Pte Ltd	9,540.38	-	97.28
Concorde Motors India Limited	6.43	1,215.08	94.58
Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC	308.20	183.46	(1.38)
Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	5.80	18.96	(1.42)
INCAT International Plc.	44.18	-	(0.03)
INCAT GmbH.	17.68	-	(0.07)
Cambric Limited	19.35	-	1.37
Tata Technologies SRL Romania	39.61	75.06	8.86
Cambric GmbH	1.83	-	(0.12)
Total	10,009.83	1,548.82	181.42
For the year ended / as at March 31, 2018	9,714.24	1,305.66	568.38

- (b) As at March 31, 2019, certain assets of the Company related to defence business and investment in Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Limited (equity accounted investees) are classified as "Held for Sale" as they meet the criteria laid out under Ind AS 105. Given the delay in completing the sale, the Company has reassessed the position on "Held for Sale" for the assets and liabilities of Tata Technologies Ltd. Accordingly, the Company concluded that these assets and liabilities no longer meets the criteria of "Held for Sale" as per Ind AS 105.
- (c) Exceptional debit of ₹180.97 crores and ₹1,641.38 crores for the year ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, relates to provision for impairment of certain intangibles under development and capital work-in-progress.
- (d) (i) The exceptional credit of ₹3,609.01 crores (GBP 437.40 million) for the year ended March 31, 2018, relates to the amendment of the Defined Benefit scheme of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc. On April 3, 2017, Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc approved and communicated to its Defined Benefit scheme members that the Defined Benefit Scheme rules were to be amended with effect from April 6, 2017 so that amongst other changes, retirement benefit will be calculated on a career average basis rather than based upon a member's final salary at retirement. These changes were effective from April 6, 2017 and as a result of the re-measurement of the scheme's liabilities, the past service credit has been recognised in year ended March 31, 2018.
 - (ii) During quarter ended December 31, 2018, the High Court in United Kingdom ruled that pension scheme are required to equalise male and female member's benefit for the inequalities within guaranteed minimum pension (GMP) earned between May 17, 1990 and April 5, 1997. Based on this, the Company reassessed its obligations under its existing Jaguar Land Rover pension plans and recorded an additional liability of an amount of ₹147.93 crores (GBP 16.5 million) as past services during the year ended March 31, 2019.
- (e) On July 31, 2018, the Company decided to cease its current manufacturing operations of Tata Motors Thailand Ltd. Accordingly, the relevant restructuring costs of ₹381.01 crores have been accounted in the year ended March 31, 2019.

- (f) During the year ended March 31, 2019, Jaguar Land Rover has announced a voluntary redundancy programme and accordingly had an exceptional charge of ₹1,367.22 crores (GBP 149.40 million).
- (g) During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company has sold investment in TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited to Tata Advanced Systems Ltd (TASL).
- (h) Warranty cost recoverable from suppliers has been reclassified as other financial asset from Loans and Advances. Accordingly, previous year comparative amount of ₹828.52 crores have also been reclassified. This change is not considered material and does not affect the accompanying statement of Profit and Loss, total comprehensive income and cash flows of the Company.
- (i) The Company has entered into an agreement for transfer of its Defence undertaking, which had a value of ₹209.27 crores as at December 31, 2017 to Tata Advanced Systems Ltd (transferee company), for an upfront consideration of ₹100 crores and a future consideration of 3% of the revenue generated from identified Specialised Defence Projects for upto 15 years from the financial year ended FY 2020 subject to a maximum of ₹1,750 crores. The future consideration of 3% of revenue depends on future revenue to be generated from the said projects by the transferee company. On account of the same, the Company has recognised a provision of ₹109.27 crores, which may get reversed in future once projects start getting executed from FY 2020 onwards. The assets related to defence undertaking are classified as "Held for Sale" as they meet the criteria laid out under Ind AS 105
- (j) The Company has a process whereby periodically all long term contracts (including derivative contracts) are assessed for material foreseeable losses. At the year end, the Company has reviewed and ensured that adequate provision as required under any law/accounting standards for material foreseeable losses on such long term contracts (including derivative contracts) has been made in the books of account.

In terms of our report attached		For and on behalf of the Board	
For B S R & Co. LLP	N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863]	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]	GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
Chartered Accountants	Chairman		CEO and Managing Director
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022		F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]	
			S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
		V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]	ED and Chief Operating Officer
YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA			
Partner		O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]	P B BALAJI
Membership No. 049265			Group Chief Financial Officer
		R SPETH [DIN:03318908]	
			H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]
		Directors	Company Secretary
Mumbai, May 20, 2019			Mumbai, May 20, 2019

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Tata Motors Limited

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (hereinafter referred to as "the Holding Company") and its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group"), its joint operations, its associates and its jointly controlled entities, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, for the year then ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated financial statements").

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

The Holding Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as "the Act") that give a true and fair view of the consolidated state of affairs, consolidated profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group including its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group and its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its joint operations, associates, jointly controlled entities are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group and of its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities to continue as

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. While conducting the audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under Section 143 (10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the Holding Company's preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We are also responsible to conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of Group and of its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause Group and its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities to cease to continue as a going concern.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in sub-paragraph 2 (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other financial information of the subsidiaries, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities as at 31 March 2018, and their consolidated profit and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Other Matters

- The comparative financial information of the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities for the year ended 31 March 2017 prepared in accordance with Ind AS included in these consolidated financial statements have been audited by the predecessor auditor. The report of the predecessor auditor on the comparative financial information dated 23 May 2017 expressed an unmodified opinion.
- We did not audit the financial statements/ financial information of three subsidiaries, seventy-one step-down subsidiaries and one joint operation, whose financial statements/ financial information reflect total assets of ₹ 264,026.34 crores and net assets of ₹ 98,271.10 crores as at 31 March 2018, total revenues of ₹ 240,841.01 crores and net cash inflows amounting to ₹ 152.35 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group's share of net profit of ₹ 2,266.54 crores for the year ended 31 March, 2018, as considered in the consolidated financial statements, in respect of five associates and three jointly controlled entities, whose financial statements / financial information have not been audited by us. These financial statements / financial information have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, joint operation, associates and jointly controlled entities and our report in terms of subsection (3) of Section 143 of the Act, insofar as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, joint operation, associates and jointly controlled entities is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Of the three subsidiaries and seventy-one step-down subsidiaries listed above, the financial statements/ financial information of three subsidiaries and ten step-down subsidiaries which are located outside India have been prepared under the generally accepted accounting principles ('GAAPs') applicable in their respective countries

and which have been audited by the respective auditors under generally accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective countries. The Holding Company's management has converted these financial statements/financial information from accounting principles generally accepted in their respective countries to Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. We have audited these conversion adjustments made by the Holding Company's management. Our opinion in so far as it relates to such subsidiaries and step-down subsidiaries located outside India is based on the reports of other auditors under the aforementioned GAAPs in the respective countries and the aforesaid conversion adjustments prepared by the Holding Company's management and audited by us.

(b) We did not audit the financial statements / financial information of four subsidiaries and eight step-down subsidiaries, whose financial statements / financial information reflect total assets of ₹ 18,454.64 crores and net assets of ₹ 9,714.24 crores as at 31 March 2018, total revenues of ₹ 1,305.67 crores and net cash inflows amounting to ₹ 568.39 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group's share of net profit of ₹ 2.67 crores for the year ended 31 March 2018, as considered in the consolidated financial statements, in respect of three associates and one jointly controlled entity whose financial statements / financial information have not been audited by us.

These financial statements / financial information are unaudited and have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entity, and our report in terms of sub-sections (3) of Section 143 of the Act in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entity, is based solely on such unaudited financial statements / financial information. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us by the Management, these financial statements / financial information are not material to the Group.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and the financial statements / financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other auditors on separate financial statements and the other financial information of subsidiaries, step-down subsidiaries, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities, as noted in the 'other matter' paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

- a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements.
- b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.
- c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
- In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the Act.
- e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on 31 March 2018 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entity incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entity incorporated in India is disqualified as on 31 March 2018 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Art
- f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entity incorporated in India and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in "Annexure Δ"
- g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditor's) Rules, 2014, in our opinion

- and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditors on separate financial statements as also the other financial information of the subsidiaries, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities, as noted in the 'Other matter' paragraph:
- The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial position of the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities. Refer Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
- ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law or Ind AS, for material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts. Refer Note 45 (h) to the consolidated financial statements in respect of such items as it relates to the Group, its joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entities.
- iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entity incorporated in India during the year ended 31 March 2018
- iv. The disclosures in the consolidated financial statements regarding holdings as well as dealings in specified bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have not been made since they do not pertain to the financial year ended 31 March 2018.

For **B S R & Co. LLP** *Chartered Accountants*Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Mumbai 23 May 2018 **Yezdi Nagporewalla** *Partner*Membership No: 049265

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report – 31 March 2018

(Referred to in paragraph (f) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' section of our report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act")

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Tata Motors Limited ("the Company" or "the Holding Company") and its subsidiary companies, its joint operations, its associates and its jointly controlled entity, which are companies incorporated in India, as at 31 March 2018 in conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the Holding Company for the year ended on that data

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, its joint operations, its associates and jointly controlled entity, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established by the respective company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the "Guidance Note") and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matter paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, joint operations, associates and jointly controlled entity, which are companies incorporated in India, have, in all material respects,

an adequate internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as at 31 March 2018, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria established by the respective company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the ICAI.

entity, which are companies incorporated in India, is based solely on the corresponding reports of the other auditors. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

For B S R & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Other matter

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in so far as it relates to one joint operation, one associate and one jointly controlled

Yezdi Nagporewalla Mumbai Partner

23 May 2018

Membership No: 049265

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(₹ in crores)

			(₹ in crores
	Notes	As at	As at
ASSETS		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
(1) NON-CURRENT ASSETS		<u> </u>	
(a) Property, plant and equipment	3	73,867.84	59,594.56
(b) Capital work-in-progress		16,142.94	10,186.83
(b) Capital work-in-progress (c) Goodwill (d) Other intangible assets (e) Intangible assets under development (f) Investments in equity accounted investees	5	116.45	673.32
(d) Other intangible assets (e) Intangible assets under development	6 (a) 6 (b)	47,429.57 23,890.56	35,676.20 23,512.01
(f) Investments in equity accounted investees	7	4,887.89	4,606.01
(g) Financial assets			
(i) Other Investments	8	763.76	690.76
(ii) Finance receivables (iii) Loans and advances	16 10	15,479.53 495.41	10,753.13 753.66
(ii) Other financial assets	10	4.563.87	2,911.12
(h) Deferred tax assets (net)	20	4,158.70	4,457.34
(i) Non-current tax assets (net) (i) Other non-current assets		899.90	972.31
(i) Other non-current assets	18	2,681.25	2,847.36
(a) CURRENT ACCETS		195,377.67	157,634.61
(2) CURRENT ASSETS (a) Inventories	12	42.137.63	35,085.3
(a) Inventories (b) Investments in equity accounted investees (held-for-sale)	7 (c)	42,137.03	33,063.3
(b) Investments in equity accounted investees (held-for-sale) (c) Financial assets	, (c)	757.55	
(i) Other investments	9	14,663.75	15,041.15
(ii) Trade receivables	13	19,893.30	14,075.55
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	14	14,716.75	13,986.76
(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above (v) Finance receivables		19,897.16 8,401.65	22,091.12 6,810.12
(vi) Loans and advances	10	2,279.66	710.45
(vii) Other financial assets	11	3,029.12	1,555.94
(d) Current tax assets (net)		208.91	223.36
(e) Assets classified as held-for-sale (f) Other current assets	45 (c)	2,585.19	
(f) Other current assets	19	7,662.37 135,972.84	6,539.99 116,119.7 5
TOTAL ASSETS		331,350,51	273,754,36
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		00.,000.0.	2, 0,, 00
(1) EQUITY			
(a) Equity share capital	21	679.22	679.22
(b) Other equity* Equity attributable to owners of Tata Motors Limited	22	94,748.69 95,427.91	57,382.67 58,061,89
Non-controlling interests		525.06	453.17
Tron controlling intersect		95,952.97	58,515.06
LIABILITIES			
(2) NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		······································	
(a) Financial liabilities (i) Borrowings	24	61.199.50	60,629.18
(ii) Other financial liabilities		2,739.14	11,409.58
(b) Provisions	28	10.948.44	9.004.46
(b) Provisions (c) Deferred tax liabilities (net) (d) Other non-current liabilities	20	6,125.80	1,174.00
(d) Other non-current liabilities	29	11,165.19	17,392.56
(3) CURRENT LIABILITIES		92,178.07	99,609.78
(a) Financial liabilities		<u> </u>	
(i) Borrowings	25	16.794.85	13.859.94
(ii) Trade payables		72,038,41	57.698.33
(iii) Acceptances	-	4,901.42	4,834.24
(iv) Other financial liabilities	27	31,267.49	25,634.83
(b) Provisions	28	7,953.50	5,807.76
(c) Current tax liabilities (net)		1,559.07	1,392.58
(d) Liabilities directly associated with Assets held-for-sale	45 (c)	1,070.18	
(e) Other current liabilities	30	7,634.55	6,401.84
		143,219.47	115.629.52

^{*} Includes other comprehensive income relating to assets held for sale amounting to ₹ (6.64) crores as at March 31, 2018 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]

For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA *Partner*Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]
V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]
F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]
O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]
R SPETH [DIN:03318908]
Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
CEO and Managing Director
S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
ED and Chief Operating Officer
P B BALAJI
Group Chief Financial Officer
H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]
Company Secretary
Mumbai, May 23, 2018

For and on behalf of the Board

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

(₹ in crores)

				(< iii crores)
		Notes	Year ended	Year ended
			March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
 I.	Revenue from operations	31	295,409.34	274,492.12
II.	Other income	32	888.89	754.54
III.	Total Income (I+II)		296,298.23	275,246.66
IV.	Expenses			
	(a) Cost of materials consumed			
	(i) Cost of materials consumed		173,371.19	160,147.12
	(ii) Basis adjustment on hedge accounted derivatives		(1,378.60)	(777.57)
	(b) Purchases of products for sale		15,903.99	13,924.53
	(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale (d) Excise duty		(2,046.58) 790.16	(7,399.92) 4,799.61
	(e) Employee benefits expense	33	30,300.09	28,332.89
	(f) Finance costs	34	4,681.79	4,238.01
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	J4	(1,185.28)	3,910.10
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense		21,553.59	17,904.99
	(i) Product development/Engineering expenses		3,531.87	3,413.57
	(j) Other expenses	35	60,184.21	55,430.06
	(k) Amount capitalised		(18,588.09)	(16,876.96)
	Total Expenses (IV)		287,118.34	267,046.43
V.	Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)		9,179.89	8,200.23
VI.	Exceptional items		•	
	(a) Defined benefit pension plan amendment past service credit	45(e)	(3,609.01)	-
	(b) Employee separation cost		3.68	67.61
	(c) Provision for impairment of capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development	45 (d)	1,641.38	-
	(d) Others	45 (f) & (g)	(11.19)	(1,182.17)
VII.	Profit/(loss) before tax (V-VI)		11,155.03	9,314.79
VIII.	Tax expense/(credit) (net)	20	•	
	(a) Current tax		3,303.46	3,137.66
	(b) Deferred tax		1,038.47	113.57
	Total tax expense/(credit)		4,341.93	3,251.23
IX.	Profit for the year from continuing operations (VII-VIII)	7	6,813.10	6,063.56
Χ.	Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	/	2,278.26 9,091.36	1,493.00 7,556.56
XI.	Profit for the year (IX+X) Attributable to:		9,091.56	7,330.30
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		8,988.91	7,454.36
	(b) Non-controlling interests		102.45	102.20
XII.	Other comprehensive income/(loss):		102.43	102.20
	(A) (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:			
	(a) Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)		4,676.51	(7,823.75)
	(b) Quoted equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income		42.86	83.15
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net)		(7.16)	(6.08)
	(d) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges of forecast inventory purchases		1,227.74	2,026.77
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss		(991.02)	867.35
	(B) (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:			
	(a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations		9,518.15	(9,678.58)
	(b) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges		18,069.71	(15,565.66)
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net)		429.41	(304.70)
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss		(3,403.69)	2,906.93
	Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (net of tax)		29,562.51	(27,494.57)
	Attributable to:			
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		29,535.61	(27,460.30)
XIII.	(b) Non-controlling interests Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (net of tax) (XI+XII)		26.90 38,653.87	(34.27) (19,938.01)
AIII.	Attributable to:		36,033.67	(19,936.01)
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		38,524.52	(20,005.94)
	(b) Non-controlling interests		129.35	67.93
XIV.	Earnings per equity share (EPS)	43	120.00	07.53
- 41 V -	(A) Ordinary shares (face value of ₹ 2 each) :	75		
	(i) Basic EPS	₹	26.46	21.94
	(ii) Diluted EPS	₹	26.45	21.93
	(B) 'A' Ordinary shares (face value of ₹ 2 each) :			
	(i) Basic EPS	₹	26.56	22.04
,	(ii) Diluted EPS	₹	26.55	22.03

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements As per our report of even date attached

For **B S R & Co. LLP** Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]

F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908]

V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]

Directors

For and on behalf of the Board

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO and Managing Director S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948] ED and Chief Operating Officer P B BALAJI Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

		(₹ in cror
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year endo March 31, 20
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Profit/(loss) after tax	9,091.36	7,556.5
Adjustments for:		
Depreciation and amortisation expense	21,553.59	17,904.9
Allowances/(reversal) for finance receivables	43.30	(28.1
Allowances/(reversal) for trade and other receivables	14.57	132.9
Inventory write-down	607.42	295.
Exceptional items-others	(11.19)	(1,182.
Exceptional items- Defined benefit pension plan amendment	(3,609.01)	
Marked-to-market on investments measured at Fair value through profit or loss	(32.05)	(5.6
Loss on sale of assets (including provision for impairment, assets scrapped/written off) (net)	2,382.55	373.
Impairment of Goodwill	-	14.
Profit on sale of investments (net)	(129.26)	(176.
Gain on fair value of below market interest loans	(6.02)	(46.5
Fair value gain on disposal of joint venture	(19.06)	(
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	(2,278.26)	(1,493.0
Tax expense (net)	4,341.93	3,251.
Interest / dividend (net)	3,954.21	3,665.
Foreign exchange gain (net)	(2,591.80)	(1,422.7
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in following assets and liabilities	33,312.28	28,840
Finance receivables	(6,361.22)	(1,783.6
Trade receivables	(4,326.58)	(2,368.6
Loans and advances and other financial assets	(3,343.38)	379
	•••••	
Other current and non-current assets	151.25	(1,274.9
Inventories	(3,560.43)	(6,620.
Trade payables and acceptances	7,320.34	9,300
Other current and non-current liabilities	(4,756.95)	1,911
Other financial liabilities	1,541.98	744
Provisions	6,901.29	2,965.
Cash generated from operations	26,878.58	32,094
Income tax paid (net)	(3,021.16)	(1,895
Net cash from operating activities	23,857.42	30,199
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(19,865.43)	(16,071.
Payments for other intangible assets	(15,213.49)	(14,395.
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	30.30	53.
Investments in Mutual Fund (purchased)/sold (net)	2,361.09	1,914.
Loans to others	-	(9.7
Repayment of loan by other	-	0
Repayment of loan by joint operation	-	132.
Excess of cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary company	14.45	
Investment in equity accounted investees	(4.21)	(106.9
Investments - others	(328.78)	(6.3
Proceeds from sale of investments in other companies	19.43	50
Interest received	690.47	638
Dividend received	15.77	10
Dividend received from equity accounted investees	1,781.64	609
Decrease in short-term inter-corporate deposit		30.
Deposits with financial institution	_	(35.0
Deposits/restricted deposits with banks	(48,260.05)	(45,127.
Realisation of deposits/restricted deposits with banks	52,557.20	34,232
	32,337.20	J 4 ,2J2

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(₹in c	rores)
--------	--------

		(K III CI OI E
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Cash flows from financing activities:	March 31, 2010	14la1C11 31, 2017
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance (net of issue expenses)	0.00*	4.55
Proceeds from long-term borrowings	15.145.21	18.384.52
Proceeds from issue of shares to minority shareholders	-	0.62
Repayment of long-term borrowings	(10,587.25)	(9,212.13
Proceeds from short-term borrowings	15,008.73	15,005.26
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(19,376.62)	(11,753.71
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months)	7.328.24	(766.25
Distribution to Minoritu	(39.99)	(, 00.20
Dividend paid (including dividend distribution tax)	-	(73.00
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests shareholders of subsidiaries including dividend distribution tax)	(55.97)	(48.22
nterest paid [including discounting charges paid ₹ 918.90 crores March 31, 2017 ₹ 666.40 crores)]	(5,410.64)	(5,336.34
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	2,011.71	6,205.30
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(332.48)	(1,675.33
Cash and cash equivalents as at April 1, (opening balance)	13,986.76	17,153.6
Classified as held for sale	(243.94)	
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	1,306.41	(1,491.52
Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, (closing balance)	14,716.75	13,986.7
Non-cash transactions:		
Liability towards property, plant and equipment and intangible assets purchased on credit/deferred credit	8,346.54	3,346.3
ncrease/(decrease) in liabilities arising from financing activities on account of non-cash transactions:		
Exchange differences	2,768.03	(2,671.09
Classified as held for sale	(142.55)	
	202.70	257.4

As per our report of even date attached

For B S R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA *Partner*Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]

V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]

F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]

O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]

Directors

R SPETH [DIN:03318908]

For and on behalf of the Board

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
CEO and Managing Director
S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
ED and Chief Operating Officer
P B BALAJI
Group Chief Financial Officer
H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]
Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended March 31, 2018

A. Equity Share Capital

s)	al	2	*	2
(₹ in crores)	Equity Share Capital	679.22		679.22
	Particulars	Balance as at April 1, 2017 679.22	Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	Balance as at March 31, 2018

* less than ₹ 50,000/-

B. Uther Equity Particulars	Securities	Capital	Debenture	Reserve for	Special	Earned	Capital	Retained	0	Other components of equity	ofequity		Attributable	-NoN	(₹ in crores) Total other
	Premium Account	pe .		research and human resource development	reserve	surplus	Reserve	1	Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	to Owners of Tata Motors Limited	controlling interests	equity
Balance as at April 1, 2017	18,891.93	2.28	1,085.94	165.78	292.46	32.18	1,164.20	59,053.14	(19.26)	(17,911.63)	(74.22)	(5,300.13)	57,382.67	453.17	57,835.84
Profit for the period								8,988.91					8,988.91	102.45	9,091.36
Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the year	1	1	-		1			3,909.10	42.86	15,444.99	217.30	9,921.36	29,535.61	26.90	29,562.51
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	•	•	•					12,898.01	42.86	15,444.99	217.30	9,921.36	38,524.52	129.35	38,653.87
Amounts recognised in inventory			1							(1,159.40)	06:0		(1,158.50)	1	(1,158.50)
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	*,	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	•		1	1	II		*.
Minority interest on acquisitions during the year			1				-		£		1	1	1	98.62	98.62
Distribution to Minority	1			1					1	1				(39.99)	(39.99)
Minority interest changes during the year			1			1	1							(60.12)	(60.12)
Realised gain on investments held at fair value through Other comprehensive income	1	I	ı	I				0.78	(0.78)	I			ı		•
Dividend paid (including dividend tax)	1			1						1				(55.97)	(55.97)
Transfer (from)/to retained earnings				34.96	86.97	11.88		(133.81)							
Balance as at March 31, 2018	18,891.93	2.28	1,085.94	200.74	379.43	44.06	1,164.20	71,818.12	22.82	(3,626.04)	143.98	4,621.23	94,748.69	525.06	95,273.75
* less than ₹ 50,000/-															
See accompanying notes to financial statements	ncial statem	ents													
As per our report of even date attached	ached									For and o	For and on behalf of the Board	he Board			

For B S R & Co. LLP	N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863]	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]	GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
Chartered Accountants	Chairman		CEO and Managing Director
Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022		V K JAIKATH [UIN:UU391684]	S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
VETTO IN A COODEWAY		F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]	ED and Chief Operating Officer

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary P B BALAJI O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN:03318908]

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

Directors

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended March 31, 2017

A. Equity Share Capital

				(₹ in e	(₹ in crores)										
Particulars				Equity Share Capital	Capital										
Balance as at April 1, 2016					679.18										
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance and amounts received on unpaid calls	es held in ab I calls	eyance and	_		0.04										
Balance as at March 31, 2017	7				679.22										
B. Other Equity														≥)	(₹ in crores)
Particulars	Securities	Capital	Debenture	Reserve for	Special	Earned	Capital	Retained	윰	Other components of equity	of equity		Attributable	Non-	Total other
	Premium Account	redemption reserve	redemption reserve	research and human resource development	reserve	surplus reserve	Reserve	earnings [—]	Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	to Owners of Tata Motors Limited	controlling interests	equity
Balance as at April 1, 2016	18,887.42	2.28	1,042.15	165.78	292.46	24:00	1,164.20	58,292.89	(102.70)	(6,152.15)	4.70	4,652.20	78,273.23	432.84	78,706.07
Profit for the period								7,454.36					7,454.36	102.20	7,556.56
Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the period								(6,569.14)	83.44	(10,943.35)	(78.92)	(9,952.33)	(27,460.30)	(34.27)	(27,494.57)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	1	•	•	•				885.22	83.44	(10,943.35)	(78.92)	(9,952.33)	(20,005.94)	67.93	(19,938.01)
Amounts recognised in inventory	•		•						' '	(816.13)			(816.13)		(816.13)
Dividend paid (including dividend tax)							1	(73.00)					(73.00)	(48.22)	(121.22)
Issue of shares held in abeyance	4.51		1				ı					•	4.51		4.51
Issue of shares to minority shareholders	1											1		0.62	0.62
Transfer to debenture redemption reserve			43.79					(43.79)							
Transfer (from)/to retained earnings	,	,				8.18	•	(8.18)			,			,	
Others												1			
Balance as at March 31, 2017	18,891.93	2.28	1,085.94	165.78	292.46	32.18	1,164.20	59,053.14	(19.26)	(17,911.63)	(74.22)	(5,300.13)	57,382.67	453.17	57,835.84
* less than ₹50,000/~ See accompanying notes to financial statements	ial statement	γı													
As per our report of even date attached	peq									For and on behalf of the Board	behalf of t	he Board			
For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022	V-100022	20	N CHANDRAS Chairman	N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] Chairman	N: 00121863	2]	N MUI	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] V K JAIRATH [DIN:0039168	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]		GUEN CEO a S B BC	TER BUTS nd Managii DRWANKA	GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO and Managing Director S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 07793948]	07427375] 13948]	
YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA							FSN/	VAR (DIN:C	F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]		ED and Chie	d Chief Ope	ED and Chief Operating Officer P B BALAJI	J.	
rai triei Membership No. 049265							RSPE	O P BHAI I [DIN:00346031] R SPETH [DIN:03318908]	318908]		Group H K SI	Group Chief Financial Off H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Socretary	Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Socretary		
Misses Mai 23 2018							Č				41100	פווש ספרופני	ecretary		

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

Directors

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

1. Background and operations

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries and joint operations, (collectively referred to as "the Company" or "Tata Motors"), designs, manufactures and sells a wide range of automotive vehicles. The Company provides financing for the vehicles sold by dealers of the Company in certain markets. The Company also manufactures engines for industrial and marine applications, aggregates such as axles and transmissions for commercial vehicles and factory automation equipment, and provides information technology services.

Tata Motors Limited is a public limited Company incorporated and domicited in India and has its registered office in Mumbai, India. As at March 31, 2018, Tata Sons Limited together with its subsidiaries, owns 36.46% of the Ordinary shares and 0.09% of 'A' Ordinary shares of the Company, and has the ability to significantly influence the Company's operation.

The Company's operations include the Jaguar Land Rover business (referred to as JLR or Jaguar Land Rover).

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on May 23, 2018.

2. Significant accounting policies

a. Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS as notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act").

b. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below.

c. Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company (a) has power over the investee, (b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and (c) has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements listed above. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Inter-company transactions and balances including unrealised profits are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company's equity. The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if it results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Company loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any noncontrolling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed off. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under Ind-AS 109 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint operations

Certain of the Company's activities, are conducted through joint operations, which are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Company recognizes, in the consolidated financial statements, its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of these joint operations incurred jointly with the other partners, along with its share of income from the sale of the output and any assets, liabilities and expenses that it has incurred in relation to the joint operation.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below.

Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control those policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below.

Equity method of accounting (equity accounted investees)

An interest in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date in which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture and are recognised initially at cost. The Company's investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share of profits or losses and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments in the nature of net investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

When the Company transacts with an associate or joint venture of the Company, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Company's interest in its associate or joint venture.

d. Business combination

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. Acquisition related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except certain assets and liabilities required to be measured as per the applicable standard.

Purchase consideration in excess of the Company's interest in the acquiree's net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill. Excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration is recognised, after reassessment of fair value of net assets acquired, in the Capital Reserve.

e. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions, that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are included in the following notes:

- Note 3 and 6 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – Useful lives and impairment
- ii) Note 5 Impairment of goodwill
- iii) Note 6 Impairment of indefinite life intangible
- iv) Note 20 Recoverability/recognition of deferred tax
- v) Note 28 Provision for product warranty
- vi) Note 36 Assets and obligations relating to employee benefits
- vii) Note 16 Allowances for credit losses for finance receivables

f. Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or receivable.

i) Sale of products

The Company recognises revenues on the sale of products, net of discounts, sales incentives, customer bonuses and rebates granted, when products are delivered to dealers or when delivered to a carrier for export sales, which is when title and risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer.

Revenues are recognised when collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

For sale with repurchase agreements, revenue is measured as the difference between the initial sale price and the agreed repurchase price. Such revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the terms of the agreement.

ii) Finance revenues

Finance and service charges are accrued on the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables using the effective interest method.

g. Government grants and incentives

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the relevant conditions and the grant will be received. These are recorded at fair value where applicable.

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss, either on a systematic basis when the Company recognizes, as expenses, the related costs that the grants are intended to compensate or, immediately if the costs have already been incurred.

Government grants related to assets are deferred and amortised over the useful life of the asset. Government grants related to income are presented as an offset against the related expenditure, and government grants that are awarded as incentives with no ongoing performance obligations to the Company are recognised as income in the period in which the grant is received.

h. Cost recognition

Costs and expenses are recognised when incurred and are classified according to their nature.

Expenditure capitalised represents employee costs, stores and other manufacturing supplies, and other expenses incurred for construction including product development undertaken by the Company.

i. Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

i) Product warranty expenses

The estimated liability for product warranties are recorded when products are sold. These estimates are established using historical information on the nature, frequency and average cost of warranty claims and management estimates regarding possible future incidences based on actions on product failures. The timing of outflows will vary as and when warranty claim will arise, being typically up to six years.

The Company also has back-to-back contractual arrangement with its suppliers in the event that a vehicle fault is proven to be a supplier's fault. Estimates are made of the expected reimbursement claim based upon historical levels of recoveries from supplier, adjusted for inflation and applied to the population of vehicles under warranty as on balance sheet date.

Supplier reimbursements are recognised as separate asset.

ii) Residual risk

In certain markets, the Company is responsible for the residual risk arising on vehicles sold by dealers under leasing arrangements. The provision is based on the latest available market expectations of future residual value trends. The timing of the outflows will be at the end of the lease arrangements – being typically up to three years.

iii) Legal and product liability

Legal and product liability provision is recorded in respect of compliance with regulations and known litigations which impact the Company. The product liability claim primarily relates to motor accident claims, consumer complaints, dealer terminations, personal injury claims and compliance with regulations.

iv) Environmental liability

Environmental liability relates to various environmental remediation cost such as asbestos removal and land clean up. The timing of when these costs will be incurred is not known with certainty.

j. Foreign currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupees, which is the functional currency of Tata Motors Limited.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and

liabilities are re-measured into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of profit and loss except to the extent, exchange differences which are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings, are capitalised as part of borrowing costs.

For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated to Indian rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date, and the income and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising on such translation are recognised as currency translation reserve under equity.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously recognised in currency translation reserve in equity are not reclassified from equity to profit or loss until the disposal of the operation.

k. Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of profit and loss except when they relate to items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case tax is also recognised outside profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for business combination. In the case of a business combination the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Current income taxes are determined based on respective taxable income of each taxable entity and tax rules applicable for respective tax jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilised business loss and depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed separately for each taxable entity and for each taxable jurisdiction. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and unused tax credits could be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

l. Cash & cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term (three months or less from the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value

m. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share has been computed by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Partly paid up shares are included as fully paid equivalents according to the fraction paid up. Diluted earnings per share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares and dilutive potential shares, except where the result would be anti-dilutive.

n. Inventories

Inventories (other than those recognised consequent to the sale of vehicles subject to repurchase arrangements) are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw materials, components and consumables are ascertained on a first in first out basis. Cost, including fixed and variable production overheads, are allocated to work-in-progress and finished goods determined on a full absorption cost basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost of completion and selling expenses.

Inventories include vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements. These vehicles are carried at cost to the Company and are amortised in changes in inventories of finished goods to their residual values (i.e., estimated second hand sale value) over the term of the arrangement.

o. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation less accumulated impairment, if any.

Freehold land is measured at cost and is not depreciated.

Heritage assets, comprising antique vehicles purchased by the Company, are not depreciated as they are considered to have a residual value in excess of cost. Residual values are re-assessed on an annual basis.

Cost includes purchase price, taxes and duties, labour cost and direct overheads for self-constructed assets and other direct costs incurred up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use.

Interest cost incurred for constructed assets is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings, if no

specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset.

Depreciation is provided on the Straight Line Method (SLM) over the estimated useful lives of the assets considering the nature, estimated usage, operating conditions, past history of replacement, anticipated technological changes, manufacturers warranties and maintenance support. Taking into account these factors, the Company and its domestic group companies have decided to retain the useful life hitherto adopted for various categories of property, plant and equipment, which are different from those prescribed in Schedule II of the Act.

Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Type of Ass	et			Estimated useful
Buildings, culverts	Roads,	Bridge	and	4 to 60 years
Plant, mach	inery and	equipm	ent	3 to 30 years
Computers and other IT assets			3 to 6 years	
Vehicles				3 to 11 years
Furniture, appliances	fixtures	and	office	3 to 21 years

The useful lives and method of deprication is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as change in accounting estimates.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

Depreciation is not recorded on capital work-in-progress until construction and installation are complete and the asset is ready for its intended use.

p. Other intangible assets

Intangible assets purchased, including those acquired in business combinations, are measured at cost or fair value as of the date of acquisition where applicable less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite-life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful-life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Type of Asset	Estimated useful life
Patents and technological know-how	2 to 12 years
Computer software	1 to 8 years

Customer related intangibles - 20 years dealer network

Intellectual property rights 3 to 10 years

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Internally generated intangible asset

Research costs are charged to the statement of profit and loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Product development costs incurred on new vehicle platform, engines, transmission and new products are recognised as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Company has committed technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate probable future economic benefits.

The costs capitalised include the cost of materials, direct labour and directly attributable overhead expenditure incurred up to the date the asset is available for use.

Interest cost incurred is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset.

Product development cost is amortised over a period of 24 months to 120 months or on the basis of actual production or planned production volume over such period.

Product development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any.

q. Leases

At the inception of a lease, the lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, based on the substance of the lease arrangement.

Assets taken on finance lease

A finance lease is recognised as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also capitalised and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets taken on operating lease

Leases other than finance leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognised on the Company's balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

r. Impairment

i) Goodwill

Cash generating units to which goodwill is allocated are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Goodwill impairment loss recognised is not reversed in subsequent period.

Property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that any property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives may be impaired. If any such impairment exists the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to determine the extent of impairment, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or earlier, if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cashgenerating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

s. Employee benefits

i) Pension plans

Jaguar Land Rover operate defined benefit pension plans for certain of its subsidiaries, which are contracted out of the second state pension scheme until April 5, 2016. The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee administered funds. The plans provide for monthly pension after retirement as per salary drawn and service period as set out in rules of each fund.

Contributions to the plans by the Jaguar Land Rover subsidiaries take into consideration the results of actuarial valuations. The plans with a surplus position at the year-end have been limited to the maximum economic benefit available from unconditional rights to refund from the scheme or reduction in future contributions. Where the subsidiary group is considered to have a contractual obligation to fund the pension plan above the accounting value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation is recognised.

A separate defined contribution plan is available to employees of Jaguar Land Rover. Costs in respect of this plan are charged to the statement of profit and loss as incurred.

ii) Gratuity

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries and joint operations in India have an obligation towards gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump-sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in employment or on termination of employment of an amount equivalent to 15 to 30 days salary payable for each completed year of service. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries make annual contributions to gratuity funds established as trusts or insurance companies. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries in India account for the liability for gratuity benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

iii) Superannuation

Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries in India have two superannuation plans, a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. An eligible employee as on April 1, 1996 could elect to be a member of either plan.

Employees who are members of the defined benefit superannuation plan are entitled to benefits depending on the years of service and salary drawn. The monthly pension benefits after retirement range from 0.75% to 2% of the annual basic salary for each year of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for superannuation benefits

payable in future under the plan based on an actuarial valuation.

With effect from April 1, 2003, this plan was amended and benefits earned by covered employees have been protected as at March 31, 2003. Employees covered by this plan are prospectively entitled to benefits computed on a basis that ensures that the annual cost of providing the pension benefits would not exceed 15% of salary.

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the employees covered by this plan were given a one-time option to exit from the plan prospectively. Furthermore, the employees who opted for exit were given one-time option to withdraw accumulated balances from the superannuation plan.

Separate irrevocable trusts are maintained for employees covered and entitled to benefits. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries contribute up to 15% or ₹150,000, whichever is lower, of the eligible employees' salary to the trust every year. Such contributions are recognised as an expense when incurred. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries have no further obligation beyond this contribution.

iv) Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana (BKY)

Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana is an unfunded defined benefit plan for employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries. The benefits of the plan include pension in certain cases, payable up to the date of normal superannuation had the employee been in service, to an eligible employee at the time of death or permanent disablement, while in service, either as a result of an injury or as certified by the appropriate authority. The monthly payment to dependents of the deceased/disabled employee under the plan equals 50% of the salary drawn at the time of death or accident or a specified amount, whichever is greater. Tata Motors Limited and these subsidiaries account for the liability for BKY benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

v) Provident fund and family pension

In accordance with Indian law, eligible employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries and joint operations are entitled to receive benefits in respect of provident fund, a defined contribution plan, in which both employees and the Company make monthly contributions at a specified percentage of the covered employees' salary (currently 12% of employees' salary). The contributions, as specified under the law, are made to the provident fund and pension fund set up as an irrevocable trust by Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries or to respective Regional Provident Fund Commissioner and the Central Provident Fund under the State Pension scheme. The interest rate payable to the members of the trust shall not be lower than the statutory rate of interest declared by the Central Government under the Employees Provident Funds and Miscellaneous

Provisions Act,1952 and shortfall, if any, shall be made good by the Company. The embedded interest rate guarantee is considered to be defined benefit. The liability in respect of the short fall of interest earnings of the Fund is determined on the basis of an actuarial valuation. There is no shortfall as at March 31, 2018.

vi) Severance indemnity

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited, or TDCV, a subsidiary company incorporated in Korea; has an obligation towards severance indemnity, a defined benefit retirement plan, covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump sum payment to all employees with more than one year of employment equivalent to 30 days' salary payable for each completed year of service.

vii) Post-retirement medicare scheme

Under this unfunded scheme, employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries receive medical benefits subject to certain limits on amounts of benefits, periods after retirement and types of benefits, depending on their grade and location at the time of retirement. Employees separated from the Company as part of an Early Separation Scheme, on medical grounds or due to permanent disablement are also covered under the scheme. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for the liability for post-retirement medical scheme based on an actuarial valuation.

viii) Compensated absences

Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries and joint operations provide for the encashment of leave or leave with pay subject to certain rules. The employees are entitled to accumulate leave subject to certain limits, for future encashment. The liability is provided based on the number of days of unutilised leave at each balance sheet date on the basis of an actuarial valuation.

ix) Remeasurement gains and losses

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return on assets (excluding interest) relating to retirement benefit plans, are recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurement recorded in other comprehensive income is not reclassified to statement of profit and loss.

Actuarial gains and losses relating to long-term employee benefits are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the period in which they arise.

x) Measurement date

The measurement date of retirement plans is March 31.

xi) The present value of the defined benefit liability and the related current service cost and past service cost are measured using projected unit credit method.

t. Dividends

Any dividend declared by Tata Motors Limited is based on the profits available for distribution as reported in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India or Indian GAAP or Ind AS. Indian law permits the declaration and payment of dividend out of profits for the year or previous financial year(s) as stated in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (Standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India, or Ind AS after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of Schedule II to the Companies Act. However, in the absence or inadequacy of the said profits, it may declare dividend out of free reserves, subject to certain conditions as prescribed under the Companies (Declaration and Payment of Dividend) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, in certain years the net income reported in these financial statements may not be fully distributable. The amount available for distribution is ₹ Nil as at March 31, 2018 (₹ Nil as at March 31, 2017).

u. Segments

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment comprises two reportable segments i.e. Tata and other brand vehicles, including financing thereof and Jaguar Land Rover. Other operating segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds for disclosure and have been aggregated.

v. Financial instruments

i) Classification, initial recognition and measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets other than equity instruments are classified into categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and at amortised cost. Financial assets that are equity instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities.

Financial instruments are recognised on the balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initially, a financial instrument is recognised at its fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial instruments are recognised in determining the carrying amount, if it is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial instruments are measured according to the category in which they are classified.

Financial assets at amortised cost: Financial assets having contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold such assets in order to collect such contractual cash flows are classified in this category. Subsequently, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income: These include financial assets that are equity instruments and are designated as such upon initial recognition irrevocably. Subsequently, these are measured at fair value and changes therein, are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, net of applicable deferred income taxes.

Dividends from these equity investments are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the right to receive payment has been established.

When the equity investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Derivatives, unless they are designated as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting is applied, financial assets which have contractual cash flows which are not in the nature of solely principal and interest payments (like hybrid instruments having embedded derivatives) are classified into this category. These are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Equity instruments: An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interests in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from the host contract, unless they are designated as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting is applied, are classified into this category. These are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

Other financial liabilities: These are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

ii) Determination of fair value:

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price (fair value of the consideration given or received). Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company determines the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets using the quoted bid prices (financial assets held) or quoted ask prices (financial liabilities held) and using valuation techniques for other instruments. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow method and other valuation models.

iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial

The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when these are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

iv) Impairment of financial assets:

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset that is at amortised cost.

Loss allowance in respect of financial assets other than finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to life time expected credit losses and is calculated as the difference between their carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate

Loss allowance for finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected losses if credit risk on such assets has not increased significantly since initial recognition. An allowance equal to life time expected losses is provided if credit risk has increased significantly from the date of initial recognition. Credit risk is determined to have increased significantly when a finance receivable

contract becomes sixty/ninety days past due. Such impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. If the amount of an impairment loss decreases in a subsequent period, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. The reversal is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

v. Hedge accounting

The Company uses foreign currency forward and option contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to highly probable forecast transactions. The Company designates these forward and option contracts in a cash flow hedging relationship by applying the hedge accounting principles.

These forward and option contracts are stated at fair value at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of these forward and option contracts that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised in other comprehensive income (net of tax) and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the periods in which the forecasted transaction occurs.

For forwards and options, forward premium and the time value are not considered part of the hedge. These are treated as cost of hedge and the changes in fair value attributable to time value is recognised in the other comprehensive income along with the changes in fair value determined to be effective portion of the hedge.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained there until the forecast transaction occurs.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of profit and loss for the year.

w. Recent accounting pronouncement

Ind AS 115 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersede most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the new standard is for companies to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration

(that is, payment) to which the Company expects to be entitled to exchange for those goods or services. The new standard also will result in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance for transactions that were not previously addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve guidance for multiple-element arrangements. Ind AS 115 is effective from April 1, 2018.

The Company will be adopting Ind AS 115 with a modified retrospective approach. The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard will be recorded as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. The figures for the comparative periods will not be restated. The Company has assessed that the profit impact of Ind AS 115 adoption will not be significant to the Consolidated financial statements

The Company has assessed that there will be change in the basis of measurement of revenue for certain contracts in which performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time and revenue is measured as a percentage to the work completed. For such contracts, revenue will be measured in accordance with Ind AS 115, when the Company has satisfied a performance obligation by transferring the promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to the customer i.e. when the customer obtains control of the asset and establishes an unconditional right to receive the consideration. There will be no significant impact to the opening retained earnings on account of this change in measurement.

The Company makes transport arrangements for delivering its vehicles to the dealers. The gross consideration received in respect of these arrangements are recognised and presented with revenue in the statement of profit and loss. The cost associated with these arrangements are presented within freight cost in the statement of profit and loss. In accordance with Ind AS 115, the Company has determined that it is an agent in providing these services, and therefore the gross consideration received, net off cost associated with respect to these arrangements will be presented within

revenue. Certain payouts made to dealers such as infrastructure support payments are to be treated as variable components of consideration and will therefore in accordance with Ind AS 115, be recognised as revenue deductions in future. These costs are presently reported as other expenses. These change in presentation in the income statement will result in decrease in both revenues and expenses.

The introduction of the Standard will give rise to new financial statement categories in the statement of financial position, being "contract assets" and "contract liabilities." These items can arise through advance payment received from customers or advance delivery of goods and services in excess of or ahead of billing at the contract level. In addition, disclosure requirements are extended.

Incentives received from Government will be included under other income, which is currently presented under other operating income under revenue from operations.

Further, Ind AS 115, will allow for transitional arrangements for modified and fulfilled contracts, and clarify the identification of performance obligations, principal-agent relationships, and licenses. The application of these amendments is also not expected to have any major impact on the Group's profitability, liquidity and capital resources or financial position.

Ind AS 21 - The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

The amendment effective April 1, 2018, clarifies on the accounting of transaction that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The appendix explains that the date of the transaction, for the purpose of determining rate, is the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of transaction is established for each payment or receipt. The Company is evaluating the impact of this amendment on its financial statements.

(x) The following subsidiary companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding e or through s	-
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
	Direct Subsidiaries			
1	TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited	India	100	100
2	Concorde Motors (India) Limited	India	100	100
3	Tata Motors Insurance Broking & Advisory Services Limited	India	100	100
4	Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC	UK	100	100
5	Tata Technologies Limited	India	72.29	72.32
6	TMF Holdings Limited (formerly known as Tata Motors Finance Limited)	India	100	100
7	Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited	India	51	51
8	TML Holdings Pte. Limited	Singapore	100	100
9	TML Distribution Company Limited	India	100	100
10	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A.	Spain	100	100
11	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocerries Maghreb SA	Могоссо	100	100
12	Trilix S.r.l	Italy	80	80
13	Tata Precision Industries Pte. Limited	Singapore	78.39	78.39
	Indirect subsidiaries *			
14	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited	South Korea	100	100
15	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Company Limited	South Korea	100	100
16	Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	95.49	95.28
17	Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Limited	South Africa	60	60
18	PT Tata Motors Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100
19	Tata Technologies (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	72.29	72.32
20	Tata Technologies Pte Limited	Singapore	72.29	72.32
21	INCAT International Plc.	UK	72.29	72.32
22	Tata Technologies Europe Limited	UK	72.29	72.32
23	Escenda Engineering AB (Tata Technologies Europe Limited acquired 100% stake in the Company w.e.f. May 1, 2017)	UK	72.29	-
24	INCAT GmbH.	Germany	72.29	72.32
25	Tata Technologies Inc.	USA	72.35	72.37
26	Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	72.35	72.37
27	Cambric Limited	USA	72.32	72.32
28	Cambric UK Limited (Dissolved w.e.f. May 23, 2017)	UK	72.35	72.32
29	Cambric GmbH	Germany	72.35	72.32

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding e	-
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
30	Midwest Managed Services Inc.(Merged into Tata Technologies Inc. w.e.f. February 28, 2018)	USA	-	72.32
31	Tata Technologies SRL Romania	Romania	72.32	72.32
32	Tata Manufacturing Technologies (Shanghai) Limited	China	72.29	72.32
33	Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc	UK	100	100
34	Jaguar Land Rover Limited	UK	100	100
35	Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH	Austria	100	100
36	Jaguar Land Rover Belux NV	Belgium	100	100
37	Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited	Japan	100	100
38	Jaguar Cars South Africa (Pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100
39	JLR Nominee Company Limited	UK	100	100
40	The Daimler Motor Company Limited	UK	100	100
41	The Jaguar Collection Limited	UK	100	100
42	Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	UK	100	100
43	S.S. Cars Limited	UK	100	100
44	The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	UK	100	100
45	Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH	Germany	100	100
46	Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited	UK	100	100
47	Jaguar Land Rover North America LLC	USA	100	100
48	Land Rover Ireland Limited	Ireland	100	100
49	Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV	Netherlands	100	100
50	Jaguar Land Rover Portugal - Veiculos e Pecas, Lda.	Portugal	100	100
51	Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited	Australia	100	100
52	Jaguar Land Rover Italia Spa	Italy	100	100
53	Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL	Spain	100	100
54	Jaguar Land Rover Korea Company Limited	South Korea	100	100
55	Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co. Limited	China	100	100
56	Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC	Canada	100	100
57	Jaguar Land Rover France, SAS	France	100	100
58	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100
59	Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil industria e Comercio de Veiculos LTDA	Brazil	100	100
60	Limited Liability Company "Jaguar Land Rover" (Russia)	Russia	100	100
61	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited	UK	100	100

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding e or through s	-
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
62	Jaguar Land Rover India Limited	India	100	100
63	Jaguar Cars Limited	UK	100	100
64	Land Rover Exports Limited	UK	100	100
65	Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	UK	100	100
66	Jaguar Racing Limited	UK	100	100
67	InMotion Ventures Limited	UK	100	100
68	InMotion Ventures 1 Limited	UK	100	100
69	InMotion Ventures 2 Limited	UK	100	100
70	InMotion Ventures 3 Limited	UK	100	100
71	Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Services Company Limited	China	100	100
72	Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o	Slovakia	100	100
73	Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd	Singapore	100	100
74	Jaguar Land Rover Columbia S.A.S	Columbia	100	100
75	PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100
76	Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited	India	100	100
77	Tata Motors Finance Limited (formerly known as Sheba Properties Limited)	India	100	100
78	TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Limited	Nigeria	100	100
79	Jaguar Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited (Incorporated w.e.f. July 28, 2017)	Ireland	100	-
80	Spark44 (JV) Limited(Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	UK	50.50	_
81	"Spark44 Pty. Ltd. (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)"	Australia	50.50	-
82	Spark44 GMBH (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Germany	50.50	-
83	Spark44 LLC (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	USA	50.50	-
84	Spark44 Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	China	50.50	_
85	Spark44 DMCC (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	UAE	50.50	-
86	Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	India	50.50	-
87	Spark44 Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	UK	50.50	_
88	Spark44 Pte Ltd (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Singapore	50.50	-
89	Spark44 Communication SL (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Spain	50.50	-
90	Spark44 SRL (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Italy	50.50	-
91	Spark44 Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Когеа	50.50	-

Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary company	Country of incorporation	% of holding either directly or through subsidiaries	
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
92	Spark44 Japan KK (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Japan	50.50	-
93	Spark44 Canada Inc (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	Canada	50.50	_
94	Spark44 South Africa (Pty) Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	South Africa	50.50	-
95	Jaguar Land Rover Taiwan Company Limited (Incorporated w.e.f.November 17, 2017)	Taiwan	100.00	-
96	Jaguar Land Rover Servicios Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (Incorporated w.e.f. October 2, 2017)	Mexico	100.00	-
97	Jaguar Land Rover Mexico, S.A.P.I. de C.V.(Incorporated w.e.f. October 2, 2017)	Mexico	100.00	-

^{*} Effective holding % of the Company directly and through its subsidiaries.

(iv) The following Jointly controlled companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr	Name of the jointly controlled company	Country of	% of holding e	either directly
No.		incorporation	or through s	subsidiaries
			As at March	As at March
			31, 2018	31, 2017
Join	t operations			
1	Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	India	50	50
2	Tata Cummins Private Limited	India	50	50
Join	t Ventures			
3	Tata HAL Technologies Limited **	India	36.16	36.16
4	Spark 44 (JV) Limited (Subsidiary w.e.f. August 31, 2017)	UK	-	50
5	Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited	China	50	50
6	JT Special Vehicles Pvt. Limited	India	50	50

^{**} Effective holding % of the Company as it is a Joint Venture of Tata Technologies Ltd

(v) The following associate companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

Sr No.	Name of the associate company	Country of incorporation	% of holding either directly or through subsidiaries		
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017	
1	Automobile Corporation of Goa Limited	India	47.19	47.19	
2	Nita Company Limited	Bangladesh	40.00	40.00	
3	Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Limited	India	39.99	39.99	
4	Tata Precision Industries (India) Limited	India	39.19	39.19	
5	Tata AutoComp Systems Limited	India	26.00	26.00	
6	Jaguar Cars Finance Limited	UK	49.90	49.90	
7	Cloud Car Inc	USA	26.30	42.60	
8	Synaptiv Limited	UK	33.33	33.33	
9	DriveClubService Pte. Ltd. (Associate w.e.f. July 13, 2017)	Singapore	25.07	_	

3. Property, plant and equipment

			ð	Owned assets					Given on lease	ease				Take	Taken on lease	
	Land	Buildings	Plant and equipment	Furniture and fixtures	Vehicles Computers	Computers	Heritage Assets	Land	Buildings I	Plant and equipment	Vehicles	Buildings	Plant and equipment	Furniture Computers and fixtures	Computers	Total
Cost as at April 1, 2017	6,761.98	12,014.30	79,560.14	1,218.13	290.95	1,766.77	423.35	20.11	29.46	8.95	8.14	149.57	416.15	4.31	178.87	102,851.18
Additions	294.61	3,155.56	15,698.18	146.43	109.02	263.54	I	0.72			25.00	8.50	3.52		7.28	19,712.36
Asset acquired in Business Combination		2.06	0.22	42.73		13.12						0.10				58.23
Assets classified as held for sale		(27.11)	(366.90)	(40.73)	(3.88)	(160.69)	,				'	(100.20)	(0.63)	1		(700.14)
Currency translation differences	282.00	1,355.91	8,374.91	121.91	11.47	143.85	20.00	2.41	3.98		•	2.68	39.67			10,388.79
Write off of assets			(536.82)				(110.06)				•			1		(646.88)
Disposal		(7.78)	(2,662.47)	(63.18)	(54.44)	(83.44)	(8.61)		(0.03)	(3.79)	(1.91)	(1.56)	(299.87)			(3,187.08)
Cost as at March 31, 2018	7,338.59	16,492.94	100,067.26	1,425.29	353.12	1,943.15	354.68	23.24	33.41	5.16	31.23	59.09	158.84	4.31	186.15	128,476.46
Accumulated depreciation as at April 1, 2017	-	2,445.47	38,476.07	06'009	179.59	1,003.48	•		0.73	3.08	3.66	35.59	344.04	0.65	163.36	43,256.62
Depreciation for the period		652.15	9,838.20	133.52	44.68	176.24			0.13	1.32	3.70	5.60	7.24	0.86	10.70	10,874.34
Writeoff of assets	1		(389.08)				I				1					(389.08)
Assets classified as held for sale		(13.07)	(115.43)	(13.36)	(2.58)	(92.56)						(20.98)	(0.60)			(261.58)
Currency translation differences	1	218.14	3,718.80	54.38	6.19	51.96	•		0.07		,	0.78	20.25	ı		4,070.57
Disposal		(2.78)	(2455.45)	(57.09)	(48.05)	(77.43)				(0.28)	(1.30)		(299.87)			(2,942.25)
Accumulated depreciation as at March 31,2018	•	3,299.91	49,073.11	718.35	179.83	1,058.69	•	•	0.93	4.12	90.9	20.99	71.06	1.51	174.06	54,608.62
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2018	7,338.59	13,193.03	50,994.15	706.94	173.29	884.46	354.68	23.24	32.48	1.04	25.17	38.10	87.78	2.80	12.09	73,867.84
Cost as at April 1, 2016	7,161.52	12,164.18	79,478.20	1,241.33	279.69	1,634.42	497.78	23.17	34.55	21.93		144.06	563.00		174.25	103,418.08
Additions	21.87	1,114.12	9,324.76	136.73	44.79	313.64	1.48			0.04	8.14	12.43	0.99	4.31	4.62	10,987.92
Currency translation differences	(421.41)	(1,175.59)	(8,824.25)	(130.46)	(11.50)	(138.39)	(75.91)	(3.06)	(2.09)		1	(6.73)	(67.85)	-	1	(10,860.24)
Disposal		(88.41)	(418.57)	(29.47)	(22.03)	(42.90)				(13.02)	•	(0.19)	(79.99)			(694.58)
Cost as at March 31, 2017	6,761.98	12,014.30	79,560.14	1,218.13	290.95	1,766.77	423.35	20.11	29.46	8.95	8.14	149.57	416.15	4.31	178.87	102,851.18
Accumulated depreciation as at April 1, 2016		2,170.86	34,138.35	544.05	158.59	910.29			0.75	9.27		29.44	378.06		151.35	38,491.01
Depreciation for the year		507.70	8,074.51	133.78	43.46	169.64			0.15	2.15	3.66	6.78	94.13	0.65	12.01	9,048.62
Write off of assets	1	1	102.04						1		1				1	102.04
Currency translation differences	•	(183.91)	(3,551.59)	(20.77)	(4.81)	(41.24)			(0.17)			(0.44)	(48.16)			(3,881.09)
Disposal	-	(49.18)	(287.24)	(26.16)	(17.65)	(35.21)	-	-	-	(8.34)	-	(0.19)	(79.99)	-	-	(503.96)
Accumulated depreciation as at March 31, 2017	'	2,445.47	38,476.07	06:009	179.59	1,003.48	1	1	0.73	3.08	3.66	35.59	344.04	0.65	163.36	43,256.62
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2017	6,761.98	9,568.83	41,084.07	617.23	111.36	763.29	423.35	20.11	28.73	5.87	4.48	113.98	72.11	3.66	15.51	59,594.56

4. Leases

The Company has taken land, buildings, plant and equipment, computers and furniture and fixtures under operating and finance leases. The following is the summary of future minimum lease rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases and finance leases entered into by the Company:

(₹ in crores)

						(
	As	at March 31, 20	118	As a	et March 31, 20	17
	Operating	Fina	ance	Operating	Fina	ance
	Minimum	Minimum	Present value	Minimum	Minimum	Present value
	Lease	Lease	of minimum	Lease	Lease	of minimum
	Payments	Payments	lease	Payments	Payments	lease
	_		payments			payments
Not later than one year	880.80	25.39	22.23	659.77	25.82	22.12
Later than one year but not later than five years	2,152.78	28.25	22.19	1,787.14	41.71	33.81
Later than five years	2,334.29	38.06	24.56	1,464.55	37.22	20.23
Total minimum lease commitments	5,367.87	91.70	68.98	3,911.46	104.75	76.16
Less: future finance charges		(22.72)			(28.61)	
Present value of minimum lease payments		68.98			76.14	
Included in the financial statements as:						
Other financial liabilities - current (refer note 27)			22.23			22.13
Long-term borrowings (refer note 24)			46.75			54.01
			68.98		-	76.14

Total operating lease rent expenses were ₹ 1,022.39 crores and ₹ 822.48 crores for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

5. Goodwill

(₹ in crores)

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	673.32	759.80
Impairment	-	(14.25)
Classified as held for sale	(557.91)	-
Currency translation differences	1.04	(72.23)
Balance at the end	116.45	673.32

As at March 31, 2018, goodwill of ₹ 116.45 crores relates to the automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles including financing thereof). As at March 31, 2017, goodwill of ₹ 115.41 crores and ₹ 557.91 crores relates to the automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles including financing thereof) and "others" segment, respectively.

As at March 31, 2018, goodwill of ₹ 99.09 crores has been allocated to a joint operation Fiat India Automobiles Pvt. Ltd., cash generating unit. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use. Value in use has been determined based on future cash flows, after considering current economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, growth rates and anticipated future economic conditions.

As at March 31, 2018, the estimated cash flows for a period of 5 years were developed using internal forecasts, and a pre-tax discount rate of 12.40%. The cash flows beyond 4 years have been extrapolated assuming 2% growth rates. The management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

6.(a) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets	Software	Patents and technological know how	Customer related	Intellectual property rights and other intangibles	Indefinite life trade marks and patents	Product development	Total
Cost as at April 1, 2017	5,212.84	1,313.68	516.61	194.99	5,003.50	47,746.09	59,987.71
Additions	847.20	42.75	22.31	61.53	-	16,464.77	17,438.56
Asset acquired in Business Combination	12.62	-	-	33.59	-	-	46.21
Assets classified as held for sale	(248.83)	(1.68)	(48.69)	_	-		(299.20)
Currency translation differences	694.31	167.37	71.05	36.99	702.81	7,217.99	8,890.52
Write off assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fully amortised not in use	(216.62)	-	-	-	-	(1,231.04)	(1,447.66)
Cost as at March 31, 2018	6,301.52	1,522.12	561.28	327.10	5,706.31	70,197.81	84,616.14
Accumulated amortisation as at April 1, 2017	2,214.78	1,096.05	225.43	39.62	-	20,735.63	24,311.51
Amortisation for the period	997.26	135.07	26.09	53.67	_	9,467.16	10,679.25
Assest Held for Sale	(170.05)	(0.64)	(10.96)	_	_	-	(181.65)
Fully amortised not in use	(216.62)	-	-	-	-	(1,231.04)	(1,447.66)
Currency translation differences	297.30	153.38	32.56	4.83	-	3,224.34	3,712.41
Write off assets	112.71	-	-	-	-	-	112.71
Accumulated amortisation as at March 31, 2018	3,235.38	1,383.86	273.12	98.12	-	32,196.09	37,186.57
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2018	3,066.14	138.26	288.16	228.98	5,706.31	38,001.72	47,429.57
Cost as at April 1, 2016	5,966.68	1,525.56	605.00	82.08	5,902.17	50,681.24	64,762.73
Additions	797.70	1.79	-	129.43	-	7,943.73	8,872.65
Currency translation differences	(821.48)	(213.67)	(88.39)	(13.14)	(898.67)	(7,231.70)	(9,267.05)
Disposal	-		-	(3.38)	-	-	(3.38)
Fully amortised not in use	(730.06)	-	-	-	-	(3,647.18)	(4,377.24)
Cost as at March 31, 2017	5,212.84	1,313.68	516.61	194.99	5,003.50	47,746.09	59,987.71
Accumulated amortisation as at April 1, 2016	2,493.19	1,149.93	228.27	39.71	-	19,306.74	23,217.84
Amortisation for the year	756.87	131.20	28.97	1.06	-	7,938.27	8,856.37
Fully amortised not in use	(730.06)	-	-	_	_	(3,647.18)	(4,377.24)
Currency translation differences	(305.22)	(183.14)	(31.81)	(1.15)	-	(2,862.20)	(3,383.52)
Disposal	-	(1.94)	-	-	-	-	(1.94)
Accumulated amortisation as at March 31, 2017	2,214.78	1,096.05	225.43	39.62	-	20,735.63	24,311.51
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2017	2,998.06	217.63	291.18	155.37	5,003.50	27,010.46	35,676.20

(b) Intangible assets under development

	For the year e	nded March 31,
	2018	2017
Balance at the beginning	23,512.01	19,367.97
Additions	16,877.22	15,125.50
Transferred to cost of other intangible assets	(17,286.12)	(7,986.70)
Transferred to held for sale	(190.10)	-
Write off / provision for impairment	(1,596.26)	(130.74)
Currency translation impact	2,573.81	(2,864.02)
Balance at the end	23,890.56	23,512.01

⁽c) The useful life of trademarks and brands in respect of the acquired Jaguar Land Rover businesses have been determined to be indefinite as the Company expects to generate future economic benefits indefinitely from these assets.

The indefinite life intangible assets have been allocated to the Jaguar Land Rover businesses. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use. Value in use has been determined based on future cash flows after considering current economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, growth rates and anticipated future economic conditions.

The estimated cash flows for a period of five years were developed using internal forecast, and a pre-tax discount rate of 8.7%. The cash flows beyond five years have been extrapolated assuming 2.0% growth rate. The management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

7. Investments in equity accounted investees:

(a) Associates:

The Company has no material associates as at March 31, 2018. The aggregate summarised financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

		(₹ in crores)
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in associates	933.34	872.63
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Company's share of profit/(loss) in associates*	118.30	110.93
Company's share of other comprehensive income in associates	(1.90)	(15.51)
Company's share of total comprehensive income in associates	116.40	95.42

- (i) Fair value of investment in an equity accounted associate for which published price quotation is available, which is a level 1 input, was ₹ 338.04 crores and ₹ 192.22 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The carrying amount as at March 31, 2018 was ₹ 141.48 crores and ₹ 136.84 crores, as at March 31, 2017, respectively.
- (ii) During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Group purchased 25.08% of the share capital of Driveclubservice Pte. Limited for ₹3.01 crores. In addition, the Group also purchased 1 per cent of the share capital of Driveclub Limited, the wholly owned subsidiary of Driveclubservice Pte. Limited. However, the Group has 25.83% of the voting rights, being the 1% of share capital held and the indirect shareholding held through Driveclubservice Pte. Limited. Both Driveclubservice Pte. Limited and Driveclub Limited are therefore accounted for as equity accounted investments as the Group has significant influence over the companies.

(b) Joint ventures:

(i) Details of the Company's material joint venture is as follows:

Name of joint venture	Principal activity	Principal place of	% holding as at Ma	erch 31,
		the business	2018	2017
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited (Chery)	Manufacture and assembly of vehicles	China	50%	50%

Chery is a limited liability company, whose legal form confers separation between the parties to the joint arrangement. There is no contractual arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that indicate that the parties to the joint venture have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. Accordingly, Chery is classified as a joint venture. The summarised financial information in respect of Chery that is accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

		(₹ in crores)
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Current assets	8,231.79	7,608.28
Non-current assets	12,218.49	8,852.56
Current liabilities	(9,929.83)	(7,565.07)
Non-current liabilities	(1,418.41)	(1,424.97)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:		
Cash and cash equivalents	4,046.68	5,025.85
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(388.52)	(1.70)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(1,399.96)	(1,416.88)
Share of net assets of material joint venture	4,551.02	3,735.40
Other consolidation adjustments	(101.62)	(66.79)
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,449.40	3,668.61

	Year ended Year ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Revenue	23,787.61 18,960.13
Net income/(loss)	4,338.13 2,732.06
Other comprehensive income	121.79 -
Total comprehensive income for the year	4,459.92 2,732.06
The above net income includes the following:	
Depreciation and amortisation	1,194.78 920.11
Interest income	(229.87) (99.32)
Interest expense (net)	60.90 70.66
Income tax expense/(credit)	1,163.05 901.44

Reconciliation of above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Net assets of the joint venture	9,102.04	7,470.80
Proportion of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,551.02	3,735.40
Other consolidation adjustments	(101.62)	(66.79)
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	4,449.40	3,668.61

During the year ended March 31, 2018, a dividend of GBP 206.46 Million(₹ 1,764.49 crores) was received by a subsidiary in UK from Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Ltd.(2017 : GBP 68 Million, ₹ 592.88 crores)

(ii) The aggregate summarised financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint ventures	2.50	64.77

During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company acquired a further 10,000 'B' shares in Spark 44 (JV) Ltd (Spark 44), increasing its share of the voting rights of Spark 44 from 50% to 50.5%. In addition, Spark 44's Articles of Association together with the Shareholder Agreement were amended to give Jaguar Land Rover Limited control of Spark 44 as the majority shareholder.

Prior to this, Jaguar Land Rover Limited had joint control over Spark44 (JV) Limited and equity accounted for Spark44 (JV) Limited as a Joint Venture. Following the additional share purchase and change to Articles of Association and Shareholder Agreement Spark44 (JV) Limited has been consolidated as a subsidiary from August 31, 2017.

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Company's share of profit/(loss) in immaterial joint ventures*	16.25	27.65
Company's share of other comprehensive income in immaterial joint ventures	-	(13.03)
Company's share of total comprehensive income in immaterial joint ventures	16.25	14.62

(c) Summary of carrying amount of the Company's interest in equity accounted investees:

	-	
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Carrying amount in immaterial associates	435.99	872.63
Carrying amount in immaterial associates (held for sale)	497.35	-
Carrying amount in material joint venture	4,449.40	3,668.61
Carrying amount in immaterial joint ventures	2.50	64.77
Total	5,385.24	4,606.01
Current (held for sale)	497.35	-
Non current	4,887.89	4,606.01
Total	5,385.24	4,606.01

(d) Summary of Company's share of profit/(loss) in equity accounted investees:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial associates	118.30	110.93
Share of profit/(loss) in material joint venture	2,169.07	1,366.03
Share of profit/(loss) on other adjustments in material joint venture	(25.36)	(11.61)
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial joint ventures	16.25	27.65
	2,278.26	1,493.00

(e) Summary of Company's share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Share of other comprehensive income in immaterial associates	(10.96)	(4.00)
Currency translation differences-immaterial associates	9.06	(11.51)
Currency translation differences-material joint venture	420.35	(280.16)
Currency translation differences-immaterial joint ventures	-	(13.03)
	418.45	(308.70)

^{*} Company's share of profit/(loss) of the equity accounted investees has been determined after giving effect for the subsequent amortisation/depreciation and other adjustments arising on account of fair value adjustments made to the identifiable net assets of the equity accounted investee as at the date of acquisition and other adjustment arising under the equity method of accounting.

8. Other Investments - non-current

		(₹ in crores)
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
(a) Investments - measured at Fair value through Other Comprehen	sive Income	
Quoted:		
Equity shares	36.64	260.29
Unquoted:		
Equity shares	371.26	369.98
Total	407.90	630.27
(b) Investments - measured at Fair value through profit or loss		
Quoted:		
Mutual fund	-	25.09
Unquoted:		
(i) Non-cumulative redeemable preference shares	0.40	1.40
(ii) Cumulative redeemable preference shares	2.50	6.50
(iii) Equity shares	246.82	-
(iv) Convertible debentures	85.40	7.08
(v) Others	16.86	16.54
TOTAL	351.98	56.61
(c) Investments - measured at amortised cost		
Unquoted:		
Non-convertible debentures	3.88	3.88
Total	3.88	3.88
TOTAL (a+b+c)	763.76	690.76
Aggregate book value of quoted investments	36.64	285.38
Aggregate market value of quoted investments	36.64	285.38
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments	727.12	405.38

9. Other Investments - current

		(₹ in crores)
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
(a) Investments - measured at fair value through other comprehensive income		
Quoted:		
Equity Shares	303.28	-
(b) Investments - measured at fair value through profit and loss		
Unquoted:		
(i) Mutual funds	1,601.00	3,040.54
(ii) Advance against investments	-	0.40
Total	1,904.28	3,040.94
(c) Investments - measured at amortised cost		
Unquoted:		
Mutual funds	12,759.47	12,000.21
Total	12,759.47	12,000.21
TOTAL (a+b)	14,663.75	15,041.15
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments	14,360.47	15,041.15
Aggregate book value of quoted investments	303.28	-
Aggregate market value of quoted investments	303.28	-

10. Loans and advances

	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Non-current		
Secured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to channel partners (Net of provision ₹ 7.30 crores and ₹ 16.41 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.)	237.03	195.61
Unsecured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to employees	28.06	27.73
(b) Loans to others	-	40.80
(c) Others (Net of provision ₹ 41.68 crores and ₹ Nil as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.)	230.32	489.52
Total	495.41	753.66
Current		
Secured, considered good:		
(a) Loans to channel partners	18.84	25.79
Unsecured, considered good:		
(a) Advances to supplier, contractors etc. (Net of provision ₹ 165.10 crores and ₹ 119.57 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively)	2,260.50	684.35
(b) Inter corporate deposits	0.32	0.31
Total	2,279.66	710.45

11. Other financial assets

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Non-current		
(a) Derivative financial instruments	2,846.90	2,775.34
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	2.60	2.40
(c) Restricted deposits	69.06	57.19
(d) Margin money / cash collateral with banks	104.80	74.56
(e) Government grant receivables	467.14	-
(f) Other deposits	1.18	1.63
(g) Others-supplier recovery	1,072.19	-
Total	4,563.87	2,911.12

Margin money with banks in restricted cash deposits consist of collateral provided for transfer of finance receivables. Restricted deposits as at March 31, 2018 and 2017 include ₹ 50.76 crores and ₹ 32.37 crores, respectively, held as a deposit in relation to ongoing legal cases.

Current		
(a) Derivative financial instruments	2,476.13	1,510.18
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	3.89	5.76
(c) Term /Fixed deposit other than Banks	-	40.00
(d) Government grant receivable	411.39	-
(e) Others-supplier recovery	137.71	-
Total	3,029.12	1,555.94

12. Inventories

		_
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
(a) Raw materials and components	3,019.28	2,159.53
(b) Work-in-progress	4,043.17	3,642.56
(c) Finished goods	33,875.53	28,235.17
(d) Stores and spare parts	208.72	216.12
(e) Consumable tools	375.56	297.66
(f) Goods-in-transit - Raw materials and components	615.37	534.27
Total	42,137.63	35,085.31

Note:

- (i) Inventories of finished goods include ₹ 4,023.61 crores and ₹ 2,637.94 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, relating to vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements.
- (ii) Cost of inventories (including cost of purchased products) recognised as expense during the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 amounted to ₹ 2,17,338.62 crores and ₹ 2,03,087.37 crores, respectively.
- (iii) During the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded inventory write-down expense of ₹ 607.42 crores and ₹ 372.51 crores, respectively.
- (iv) Excludes ₹ 95.80 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

13. Trade receivables (Unsecured)*

(₹ in	crores)
-------	---------

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Considered good	19,893.30	14,075.55
Considered doubtful	1,261.67	1,377.44
	21,154.97	15,452.99
Less : Allowances for doubtful trade receivables	(1,261.67)	(1,377.44)
Total	19,893.30	14,075.55

^{*} Excludes ₹ 524.58 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

14. Cash and cash equivalents

		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
(a)	Cash on hand	31.42	32.62
(b)	Cheques on hand	399.44	111.31
(c)	Balances with banks	8,907.19	8,462.76
(d)	Deposit with banks	5,378.70	5,380.07
	Total	14,716.75	13,986.76

15. Bank balances

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
With upto 12 months maturity:		
(a) Earmarked balances with banks	493.87	238.36
(b) Margin money / cash collateral with banks	41.71	_
(c) Bank deposits	19,361.58	21,852.76
Total	19,897.16	22,091.12

Note:

Earmarked balances with bank include ₹ 248.60 crores and ₹ 186.14 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively held as security in relation to interest and repayment of bank borrowings. Out of these deposits, ₹ 85.09 crores and ₹ 118.64 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively are pledged till the maturity of the respective borrowing.

16. Finance receivables

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Finance receivables	25,070.75	21,160.76
Less: allowance for credit losses	(1,189.57)	(3,597.51)
Total	23,881.18	17,563.25
Current portion	8,401.65	6,810.12
Non-current portion	15,479.53	10,753.13
Total	23,881.18	17,563.25

Changes in the allowance for credit losses in finance receivables are as follows:

(₹ in crores) Year ended Year ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 Balance at the beginning 3,597.51 5,006.69 Allowances made/(reversed) during the year 43.30 (28.15)Written off (2,451.24) (1,381.03) Balance at the end 1,189.57 3,597.51

17. Allowance for trade and other receivables

Change in the allowances for trade and other receivables are as follows:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	1,517.03	1,483.71
Assets classified as held for sale	(13.05)	-
Allowances made/(reversed) during the year	14.57	132.93
Written off	(45.49)	(134.03)
Foreign exchange translation differences	4.56	34.42
Balance at the end	1,477.62	1,517.03

18. Other non-current assets*

		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
a)	Capital advances	284.53	562.52
b)	Taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government	1,049.63	1,125.26
c)	Prepaid rentals on operating leases	381.72	326.10
d)	Prepaid expenses	762.59	631.24
e)	Others	202.78	202.24
	Total	2,681.25	2,847.36

^{*}Excludes ₹ 83.56 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

19. Other current assets*

		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
a)	Advances and other receivables	364.02	402.94
b)	GST/VAT, other Taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government (Net of provision ₹ 1.86 crores and ₹ 3.61 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.)	5,674.80	4,904.80
c)	Prepaid expenses	1,440.35	1,106.21
e)	Others	183.20	126.04
	Total	7,662.37	6,539.99

^{*}Excludes ₹ 33.75 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

20. Income taxes

The domestic and foreign components of profit/(loss) before income tax is as follows:		(₹ in crores)
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Profit/(loss) before income taxes		
India	(963.60)	(2,657.73)
Other than India	12,118.63	11,972.52
Total	11,155.03	9,314.79
The domestic and foreign components of income tax expense is as follows:		
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Current taxes		
India	242.00	184.55
Other than India	3,061.46	2,953.11
Deferred taxes		
India	48.49	186.00
Other than India	989.98	(72.43)
Other than India Total income tax expense	989.98 4,341.93	(72.43) 3,251.23
Total income tax expense	4,341.93	3,251.23
Total income tax expense	4,341.93 Year ended	3,251.23 Year ended
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows:	4,341.93 Year ended March 31, 2018	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax :	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98)	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58)
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax : - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net)	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98)	Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58)
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78 (5.01)	7,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78 (5.01)	7,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees Deferred tax assets not recognised because realization is not probable	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78 (5.01)	7,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17 2,243.94
Total income tax expense The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Pfofit /(Loss) before tax Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost Items (net) not deductible for tax /not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees Deferred tax assets not recognised because realization is not probable Utilization/credit of unrecognised tax losses, unabsorbed depreciation and other tax benefits	Year ended March 31, 2018 11,155.03 2,248.91 (409.98) 133.62 33.78 (5.01) - 917.01 990.23 (358.33)	3,251.23 Year ended March 31, 2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17 2,243.94 (350.90)

The UK Finance Act 2016 was enacted during the year ended March 31, 2017 which included provisions for a reduction in the UK Corporation tax rate to 17% with effect from April 1, 2020. Accordingly, UK deferred tax has been provided at rates applicable when the temporary difference is expected to reverse.

Included within 'Impact of change in statutory tax rates' is a charge of $\stackrel{?}{\sim}$ 464.84 crores for the impact of the change in the US Federal rate from 35% to 21% on deferred tax assets for the year ended March 31, 2018.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2018 are as follows:

						(₹ in crores)
	Opening balance	Recognised in profit or loss	Recognised in/ reclassified from other comprehensive income	MAT Credit Utilised	Classified as held for sale	Closing balance
Deferred tax assets:						
Unabsorbed depreciation	2,574.50	1.86	1.58	-	(13.21)	2,564.73
Business loss carry forwards	3,292.38	1,340.70	328.41	-	-	4,961.49
Expenses deductible in future years:	-					
- provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others	2,828.72	72.85	123.31	_	(3.49)	3,021.39
Compensated absences and retirement benefits	2,172.96	(722.47)	(594.16)	-	(13.70)	842.63
Minimum alternate tax carry-forward	74.92	1.26	-	(34.21)	(3.78)	38.19
Property, plant and equipment	111.90	(30.83)	11.58	-	-	92.65
Derivative financial instruments	4,428.94	(582.98)	(3,090.32)	-	(0.39)	755.25
Inventory	1,609.40	(303.82)	202.34	-	_	1,507.92
Others	796.44	200.77	152.37	-	(9.34)	1,140.24
Total deferred tax assets	17,890.16	(22.66)	(2,864.89)	(34.21)	(43.91)	14,924.49
Deferred tax liabilities:						
Property, plant and equipment	2,702.20	8.39	45.35	-	(15.87)	2,740.07
Intangible assets	10,484.89	530.51	1,165.71	-	2.74	12,183.85
Undistributed earnings in subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees	1,337.63	508.16 *	93.93	-	-	1,939.72
Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary subsequent to disposal of controlling equity interest	16.95	-	-	-	-	16.95
Derivative financial instruments	23.12	(23.12)	-	-	-	_
Others	42.03	(8.12)	(13.29)	-	(9.62)	11.00
Total deferred tax liabilities	14,606.82	1,015.82	1,291.70	-	(22.75)	16,891.59
Net assets/(liabilities)	3,283.34	(1,038.48)	(4,156.59)	(34.21)	(21.16)	(1,967.10)
Deferred tax assets						4,158.70
Deferred tax liabilities						(6,125.80)

^{*} Net of ₹ **408.85 crores** reversed on dividend distribution by subsidiaries.

As at March 31, 2018, unrecognised deferred tax assets amount to ₹ 3,461.67 crores and ₹ 6,257.80 crores, which can be carried forward indefinitely and up to a specified period, respectively. These relate primarily to depreciation carry forwards, other deductible temporary differences and business losses. The deferred tax asset has not been recognised on the basis that its recovery is not probable in the foreseeable future.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets expire unutilised based on the year of origination as follows:

March 31,	(₹ in crores)
2019	29.72
2020	54.35
2021	320.39
2022	90.58
2023	1,217.18
Thereafter	4,545.58

The Company has not recognised deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries amounting to 74,589.17 crores and 40,965.53 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, because it is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences associated with such undistributed profits and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2017 are as follows:

	Opening balance	Recognised in profit or loss	Recognised in/ reclassified from other comprehensive income	Closing balance
Deferred tax assets:				
Unabsorbed depreciation	2,010.81	563.75	(0.06)	2,574.50
Business loss carry forwards	3,234.23	293.99	(235.84)	3,292.38
Expenses deductible in future years:				
- provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others	4,034.57	(1,063.87)	(141.98)	2,828.72
Compensated absences and retirement benefits	1,186.90	(1.20)	987.26	2,172.96
Minimum alternate tax carry-forward	58.26	16.66	-	74.92
Property, plant and equipment	216.83	(72.74)	(32.19)	111.90
Derivative financial instruments	2,296.64	(35.07)	2,167.37	4,428.94
Unrealised profit on inventory	1,223.34	534.47	(148.41)	1,609.40
Others	652.10	205.49	(61.15)	796.44
Total deferred tax assets	14,913.68	441.48	2,535.00	17,890.16
Deferred tax liabilities:				
Property, plant and equipment	2,743.13	(41.01)	0.08	2,702.20
Intangible assets	11,258.14	576.72	(1,349.97)	10,484.89
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries joint operations and equity accounted investees	1,343.63	23.81*	(29.81)	1,337.63
Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary subsequent to disposal of controlling equity interest	16.95	-	-	16.95
Derivative financial instruments	4.04	19.32	(0.24)	23.12
Others	65.54	(23.79)	0.28	42.03
Total deferred tax liabilities	15,431.43	555.05	(1,379.66)	14,606.82
Net assets/(liabilities)	(517.75)	(113.57)	3,914.66	3,283.34
Deferred tax assets				4,457.34
Deferred tax liabilities				(1,174.00)

^{*} Net of ₹ 365.36 crores reversed on dividend distributions by subsidiaries.

21. Equity Share Capital

•			(₹ in crores)
		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
(a)	Authorised:		
	(i) 400,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	800.00	700.00
	(as at March 31, 2017: 350,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
	(ii) 100,00,00,000 A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	200.00	200.00
	(as at March 31, 2017: 100,00,00,000 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
***************************************	(iii) 30,00,00,000 Convertible Cumulative Preference shares of ₹ 100 each	3,000.00	3,000.00
***************************************	(as at March 31, 2017: 30,00,00,000 shares of ₹ 100 each)		
	TOTAL	4,000.00	3,900.00
(b)	Issued [Note (j)]:		
	(i) 288,78,43,046 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	577.57	577.57
	(as at March 31, 2017: 288,78,43,046 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
	(ii) 50,87,36,110 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	101.75	101.75
	(as at March 31, 2017: 50,87,36,110 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
	Total	679.32	679.32
(c)	Subscribed and called up:		
	(i) 288,73,48,694 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	577.47	577.47
	(as at March 31, 2017: 288,73,48,428 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
	(ii) 50,85,02,371 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each	101.70	101.70
	(as at March 31, 2017: 50,85,02,291 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each)		
(d)	Calls unpaid - Ordinary shares	(0.00)*	(0.00)*
	310 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each (₹ 1 outstanding on each) and 260 Ordinary		
	shares of ₹ 2 each (₹ 0.50 outstanding on each)		
	(as at March 31, 2017: 310 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each (₹ 1 outstanding on each)		
	and 260 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each (₹ 0.50 outstanding on each))		
(e)	Paid-up (c+d):	679.17	679.17
(f)	Forfeited - Ordinary shares	0.05	0.05
	Total (e + f)	679.22	679.22

⁽g) The movement of number of shares and share capital

		(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)	(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)
		Year ended Marc	:h 31, 2018	Year ended Marc	th 31, 2017
(i)	Ordinary shares				
	Balance as at April 1	2,887,348,428	577.47	2,887,203,602	577.44
	Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	266	0.00*	144,826	0.03
	Balance as at March 31	2,887,348,694	577.47	2,887,348,428	577.47
(ii)	'A' Ordinary shares				
	Balance as at April 1	508,502,291	101.70	508,476,704	101.70
	Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	80	0.00*	25,587	0.00*
	Balance as at March 31	508,502,371	101.70	508,502,291	101.70

⁽h) The entitlements to 4,94,352 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each (as at March 31, 2017 : 4,94,618 Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each) and 2,33,739 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each (as at March 31, 2017 : 2,33,819 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each) are subject matter of various suits filed in the courts / forums by third parties for which final order is awaited and hence kept in abeyance.

^{*} less than ₹ 50,000/-

- (i) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares:
 - (i) Ordinary shares and 'A' Ordinary shares both of ₹ 2 each :
 - The Company has two classes of shares the Ordinary shares and the 'A' Ordinary shares both of ₹ 2 each (together referred to as shares). In respect of every Ordinary share (whether fully or partly paid), voting rights shall be in the same proportion as the capital paid up on such Ordinary share bears to the total paid up Ordinary share capital of the Company. In case of every 'A' Ordinary share, if any resolution is put to vote on a poll or by postal ballot at any general meeting of shareholders, the holder shall be entitled to one vote for every ten 'A' Ordinary shares held as per the terms of its issue and if a resolution is put to vote on a show of hands, the holder of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to the same number of votes as available to holders of Ordinary shares.
 - The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Further, the Board of Directors may also declare an interim dividend. The holders of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive dividend for each financial year at five percentage point more than the aggregate rate of dividend declared on Ordinary shares for that financial year.
 - In the event of liquidation, the shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholdings.
 - (ii) American Depository Shares (ADSs) and Global Depository Shares (GDSs):
 - Each ADS and GDS underlying the ADR and GDR respectively represents five Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each. A holder of ADS and GDS is not entitled to attend or vote at shareholders meetings. An ADS holder is entitled to issue voting instructions to the Depository with respect to the Ordinary shares represented by ADSs only in accordance with the provisions of the Company's ADSs deposit agreement and Indian Law. The depository for the ADSs and GDSs shall exercise voting rights in respect of the deposited shares by issue of an appropriate proxy or power of attorney in terms of the respective deposit agreements.
 - Shares issued upon conversion of ADSs and GDSs will rank pari passu with the existing Ordinary shares of ₹ 2 each in all respects including entitlement of the dividend declared.
- (j) Number of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5 percent of the issued share capital:

		As at March 31, 2018		As at March 31, 2017	
		% Issued Share Capital	No. of Shares	% Issued Share Capital	No. of Shares
Ordir	nary shares :				
(a)	Tata Sons Limited	32.72%	96,13,81,852	28.71%	82,89,70,378
(b)	Life Insurance Corporation of India	5.08%	14,92,95,627	5.18%	14,94,23,428
(c)	Citibank N A as Depository	#	43,70,24,750	#	53,04,96,280
'A' Or	rdinary shares :				
(a)	HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund	*	34,40,000	8.19%	4,16,71,282
(b)	ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund	9.44%	4,79,98,379	-	-
(c)	Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund	8.74%	4,44,31,036	_	-
(d)	HDFC Large Cap Fund	5.15%	2,62,02,083	-	-
(e)	Government of Singapore	6.78%	3,44,87,840	*	21,602,490
(f)	Franklin Templeton Mutual Fund	*	1,42,99,041	5.96%	3,03,29,225
	(a) (b) (c) 'A' Oi (a) (b) (c) (d) (e)	 (b) Life Insurance Corporation of India (c) Citibank N A as Depository 'A' Ordinary shares: (a) HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund (b) ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund (c) Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund (d) HDFC Large Cap Fund (e) Government of Singapore 	Ordinary shares: (a) Tata Sons Limited 32.72% (b) Life Insurance Corporation of India 5.08% (c) Citibank N A as Depository # 'A' Ordinary shares: (a) HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund (b) ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund 9.44% (c) Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund 8.74% (d) HDFC Large Cap Fund 5.15% (e) Government of Singapore 6.78%	Ordinary shares: (a) Tata Sons Limited 32.72% 96,13,81,852 (b) Life Insurance Corporation of India 5.08% 14,92,95,627 (c) Citibank N A as Depository # 43,70,24,750 'A' Ordinary shares: (a) HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund (b) ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund 9.44% 4,79,98,379 (c) Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund 8.74% 4,44,31,036 (d) HDFC Large Cap Fund 5.15% 2,62,02,083 (e) Government of Singapore 6.78% 3,44,87,840	Ordinary shares: (a) Tata Sons Limited 32.72% 96,13,81,852 28.71% (b) Life Insurance Corporation of India 5.08% 14,92,95,627 5.18% (c) Citibank N A as Depository # 43,70,24,750 # (a) HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund * 34,40,000 8.19% (b) ICICI Prudential Balanced Advantage Fund 9.44% 4,79,98,379 - (c) Franklin India Smaller Companies Fund 8.74% 4,44,31,036 - (d) HDFC Large Cap Fund 5.15% 2,62,02,083 - (e) Government of Singapore 6.78% 3,44,87,840 *

[#] held by Citibank, N.A. as depository for American Depository Receipts (ADRs) and Global Depository Receipts (GDRs)

- (k) Information regarding issue of shares in the last five years
 - (a) The Company has not issued any shares without payment being received in cash.
 - (b) The Company has not issued any bonus shares.
 - (c) The Company has not undertaken any buy-back of shares.

^{*} Less than 5%

22. Other components of equity

(a) The movement of Currency translation reserve is as follows:

		(₹ in crores)
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	(5,300.13)	4,652.20
Exchange differences arising on translating the net assets of foreign operations (net)	9,491.95	(9,647.63)
Net change in translation reserve - equity accounted investees (net)	429.41	(304.70)
Balance at the end	4,621.23	(5,300.13)

(b) The movement of Equity instruments held as fair value through other comprehensive income(FVTOCI) is as follows:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	(19.26)	(102.70)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	42.86	83.44
Fair value (gain)/loss reclassified to retained earnings on equity instruments held as FVTOCI (net)	(0.78)	-
Balance at the end	22.82	(19.26)

(c) The movement of Hedging reserve is as follows:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	(17,911.63)	(6,152.15)
Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	8,700.95	(23,738.38)
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	(1,626.88)	4,558.18
(Gain)/loss reclassified to profit or loss	10,328.81	10,296.01
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) reclassified to profit or loss	(1,957.86)	(2,059.16)
Amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	(1,431.40)	(1,020.39)
Income tax related to amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	271.97	204.26
Balance at the end	(3,626.04)	(17,911.63)

(d) The movement of Cost of hedging reserve is as follows:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Balance at the beginning	(74.22)	4.70
Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges of inventory	186.13	(106.02)
Income tax relating to gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	(35.47)	-
Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges of forecast sales	81.56	9.50
Income tax relating to gain/loss recognised on cash flow hedges	(14.95)	17.60
Amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	1.15	-
$Income \ tax \ related \ to \ amounts \ removed \ from \ hedge \ reserve \ and \ recognised \ in \ inventory$	(0.22)	-
Balance at the end	143.98	(74.22)

(e) Summary of Other components of equity:

		(₹ in crores)
	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Currency translation reserve	4,621.23	(5,300.13)
Equity instruments held as FVTOCI	22.82	(19.26)
Hedging reserve	(3,626.04)	(17,911.63)
Cost of hedging reserve	143.98	(74.22)
Total	1,161.99	(23,305.24)

23. Notes to reserves and dividends

(a) Securities premium

The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Securities Premium Account.

(b) Retained earnings

Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date.

(c) Capital redemption reserve

The Indian Companies Act, 2013 (the "Companies Act") requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free reserves or securities premium account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the Balance Sheet. The capital redemption reserve account may be applied by the Company, in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares. Tata Motors Limited established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of preference shares issued in earlier years.

(d) Debenture redemption reserve

The Companies Act requires that where a company issues debentures, it shall create a debenture redemption reserve out of profits of the Company available for payment of dividend. The company is required to maintain a Debenture Redemption Reserve of 25% of the value of debentures issued, either by a public issue or on a private placement basis. The amounts credited to the debenture redemption reserve may not be utilised by the Company except to redeem debentures.

(e) Reserve for research and human resource development

In terms of Article 9 of the Act on Special Taxation Restriction in Korea, Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited (TDCV, a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited) is entitled for deferment of tax in respect of expenditures incurred on product development cost subject to fulfillment of certain conditions, by way of deduction from the taxable income, provided that TDCV appropriates an equivalent amount from "Retained Earnings" to "Reserve for Research and Human Resource Development".

The deferment is for a period of three years and from the fourth year onwards one-third of the reserve is offered to tax and an equal amount is then transferred from the reserve to "Retained earnings available for appropriation".

(f) Special reserve

Special reserve represents the reserve created by two subsidiaries of Tata Motors Limited pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (the "RBI Act") and related regulations applicable to those companies. Under the RBI Act, a non-banking finance company is required to transfer an amount not less than 20% of its net profit to a reserve fund before declaring any dividend. Appropriation from this reserve fund is permitted only for the purposes specified by the RBI.

(g) Earned surplus reserve

Under the Korean commercial code, TDCV is required to appropriate at least 10% of cash dividend declared each year to a legal reserve until such reserves equal to 50% of capital stock. This reserve may not be utilised for cash dividends, but may only be used to offset against future deficits, if any, or may be transferred to capital stock.

(h) Hedge Reserve

Effective portion of fair value gain/(loss) on all financial instrument designated in cash flow hedge relationship are accumulated in hedge reserve.

(i) Cost of hedge reserve

Fair value gain/(loss) attributable to cost of hedge on all financial instrument designated in cash flow hedge relationship are accumulated in cost of hedge reserve.

(j) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration.

(k) Dividends

The final dividend is recommended by the Board of Directors and is recorded in the books of account upon its approval by the shareholders. For the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, considering the losses in the Tata Motors Limited (standalone), No dividend is permitted to be paid to the members, as per the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules framed thereunder.

24. Long-term borrowings

(₹ in crores)

			(\ 111 C101 E3)
		As at	As at
		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Secu	red:		
(a)	Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	2,005.58	3,045.24
(b)	Collateralised debt obligations	592.49	453.99
(c)	Term loans:		
	(i) from banks	4,909.55	4,062.68
	(ii) other parties	201.31	141.84
(d)	Finance lease obligations	46.75	54.01
Unse	ecured:		
(a)	Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	8,694.50	8,668.80
(b)	Term loans:		
	(i) from banks	8,753.12	9,475.88
	(ii) other parties	55.67	54.12
(c)	Senior notes	35,045.72	34,227.81
(d)	Others	894.81	444.81
Tota	l	61,199.50	60,629.18

25. Short-term borrowings

(₹ in crores)

		As at	As at
		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Secu	Secured:		
(a)	Loans from banks	5,104.30	4,795.01
(b)	Loans from other parties	171.11	79.77
Unse	ecured:		
(a)	Loans from banks	851.89	733.58
(b)	Loans from other parties	-	15.91
(c)	Inter corporate deposits from associates	86.00	56.00
(d)	Commercial paper	10,581.55	8,179.67
Tota	l	16,794.85	13,859.94

Collaterals

Inventory, trade receivables, finance receivables, other financial assets, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of ₹ 18,196.91 crores and ₹ 17,105.18 crores are pledged as collateral/security against the borrowing as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Notes:

Nature of Security (on loans including interest accrued thereon):

Long Term Borrowing

- (A) Non convertible debentures
 - (i) Rated, Listed, Secured, 9.95% Coupon, Non-Convertible Debentures amounting to ₹200 crores included within Long-term borrowings in note 24 and 10.25% Coupon, Non-Convertible Debentures amounting to ₹500 crores included within Current maturities of long-term borrowings in note 27 are secured by a pari passu charge by way of an English mortgage of the Company's freehold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand in the State of Gujarat. 10.25% Coupon Non-Convertible Debentures amounting ₹500 crores has been classified as current liabilities, since the Company has exercised call option to redeem in full, at the end of 8th year from the date of allotment i.e. on April 30, 2018.
 - (ii) Privately placed non-convertible debentures amounting to ₹1,805.58 crores included within Long-term borrowings in note 24 and ₹2,024.28 crores included within Current maturities of long-term borrowings in note 27 are fully secured by:
 - (a) First pari passu charge on residential flat of Tata Motors Finance Limited (TMFL), formerly known as Sheba Properties Limited (SPL), an indirect subsidiary of the Company
 - (b) Pari passu charge is created in favour of debenture trustee on :
 - All receivables of TMFL arising out of loan and lease transactions,
 - All book debts, trade advances forming part of movable property of SPL.
 - (c) Any other security as identified by TMFL acceptable to the debenture trustee.
- (B) Collateralised debt obligation

Collateralised debt obligation represent amount received against finance receivables securitised/assigned, which does not qualify for derecognition. The repayment are due from financial year ending March 31, 2019 to March 31, 2020.

- (C) Long-term loan from banks/financial institutions and Government
 - (i) Term loans from banks amounting to ₹3,704.11 crores included within long-term borrowings and ₹184.82 crores included within current maturities of long-term borrowings are secured by a pari-passu charge in favour of the security trustee on all receivables of TMFL arising out of loan, lease, all other book debts; and such other current assets as may be identified by

TMFL from time to time and accepted by the relevant lender/security trustee.

- (ii) Term loans from banks amounting to ₹570.00 crores included within long-term borrowings are secured by way of a charge created on all receivables of Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited (TMFSL) arising out of loan, lease, trade advacnes and all other book debts; and such other current assets as may be identified by TMFSL from time to time and accepted by the relevant lender.
- (iii) The term loan of ₹584.82 crores (recorded in books at ₹133.39 crores) is due for repayment from the quarter ending March 31, 2033 to quarter ending March 31, 2038, along with simple interest at the rate of 0.10% p.a. The loan is secured by a second and subservient charge (creation of charge is under process) over Company's freehold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand plant in the State of Gujarat.
- (iv) The term loan of ₹53.90 crores (recorded in books at ₹18.87 crores) is due for repayment from the quarter ending June 30, 2030 to March 31, 2033, along with a simple interest of 0.01% p.a. The loan is secured by bank gurantee for the due performance of the conditions as per the terms of the agreement.
- (v) Loans from Banks and External Commercial Borrowings (ECB) amounting to ₹635.45 crores included within long-term borrowings and ₹112.42 crores included within current maturity of long-term borrowings are secured by exclusive first charge on building and all movable fixed assets and also by hypothecation of existing current assets of the Company viz. stock of raw materials, stock in process, semi-finished goods, stores and spares not relating to plant and machinery (consumable stores and spares), bills receivable and book debts including receivable from hire purchase / leasing and all other movable current assets except cash and bank balances, loans and advances of the Company both present and future.
- (vi) The term loan of ₹49.05 crores included within Long -term borrowings and ₹4.95 crores included within current maturity of long-term borrowing are secured by pari passu first charge on fixed assets of Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited.

(D) Short-term borrowings

Loans, cash credits, overdrafts and buyers line of credit from banks are secured by hypothecation of existing current assets of the Company viz. stock of raw materials, stock in process, semi-finished goods, stores and spares not relating to plant and machinery (consumable stores and spares), bills receivable and book debts including receivable from hire purchase / leasing and all other movable current assets except cash and bank balances, loans and advances of the Company both present and future.

Long-Term Borrowings: Terms

(A) Senior notes (Euro MTF listed debt)

The senior notes of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc (JLR) are listed on the Euro MTF market, which is a listed market regulated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2018 are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

		_		
Particulars:	Currency	Amount	As at	As at
		(in million)	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
5.625% Senior Notes due 2023	USD	500	3,248.52	3,209.63
3.875% Senior Notes due 2023	GBP	400	3,666.48	3,210.84
5.000% Senior Notes due 2022	GBP	400	3,659.84	3,202.76
3.500% Senior Notes due 2020	USD	500	3,271.36	3,229.86
4.125% Senior Notes due 2018*	USD	700	4,584.47	4,518.52
4.250% Senior Notes due 2019	USD	500	3,273.84	3,231.48
2.750% Senior Notes due 2021	GBP	300	2,750.46	2,406.52
2.200% Senior Notes due 2024	EUR	650	5,211.24	4,466.88
4.500% Senior Notes due 2027	USD	500	3,156.92	-
			32,823.13	27,476.49

^{*} Classified as other financial liabilities - current being maturity before March 31, 2019.

(B) Senior notes (SGX-ST listed debt)

The senior notes of Tata Motors Limited and TML Holdings Pte Ltd are listed on the SGX-ST market, which is a listed market regulated by the Singapore Stock Exchange.

Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2018 are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

Particulars:	Currency	Amount	As at	As at
		(in million)	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
5.750% Senior Notes due 2024	USD	250	1,619.43	1,595.81
5.750% Senior Notes due 2021	USD	300	1,948.77	1,924.98
4.625% Senior Notes due 2020	USD	500	3,238.86	3,230.53
	•		6,807.06	6,751.32

- (C) Non convertible debentures amounting to ₹10,700.08 crores included within long-term borrowing and ₹4,110.71 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings bear interest rate ranging from 7.28% to 11.50% and maturity ranging from April 2018 to September 2024.
- (D) Loan from banks/ financial institutions consists of:
 - (i) Term loan amounting to ₹7,253.74 crores included within long-term borrowings and ₹1,423.25 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings bearing floating interest rate based on marginal cost of funds lending rate (MCLR) of respective bank having maturity ranging from April, 2018 to March 2023.
 - (ii) External commercial borrowings in foreign currencies amounting to ₹629.86 crores included within long-term borrowing and ₹83.95 crores included within current maturities of long term borrowings bearing floating interest rate based on LIBOR maturing in May 2023.
 - (iii) Foreign currency term loan amounting to ₹5,828.12 crores included within long-term borrowing bearing floating interest rate that are linked to LIBOR with maturity ranging from July 2020 to July 2023.

Short Term Borrowings - Terms:

- (i) Short-term loan from banks and other parties(financial institutions) consist of cash credit, overdrafts, short term loan, bill discounting amounting to ₹1,096.54 crores bearing fixed rate of interest ranging from 6.77% to 8.70% and ₹5,030.85 crores bear floating rate of interest based on MCLR of respective banks and other bench mark rates.
- (ii) Commercial paper are unsecured short term papers, issued at discount bearing no coupon interest. The yield on commercial paper issued by the Company ranges from 6.08% to 8.15%.

26. Other financial liabilities - non-current

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
a) Derivative financial instruments	2,450.20	11,259.57
b) Liability towards employee separation scheme	85.22	72.36
c) Others	203.72	77.65
Total	2,739.14	11,409.58

27. Other financial liabilities - current

		As at	As at
		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
a)	Current maturities of long-term borrowings	10,956.12	4,114.86
ь)	Interest accrued but not due on borrowings	1,095.72	943.24
c)	Liability towards vehicles sold under repurchase arrangements	4,423.58	2,828.38
d)	Liability for capital expenditure	8,219.45	3,120.40
e)	Deposits and retention money	202.29	201.50
f)	Derivative financial instruments	6,207.66	14,257.95
g)	Deferred payment liability	-	70.08
h)	Liability towards Investors Education and Protection Fund		
	under Section 125 of the Companies Act, 2013 (IEPF) not due	22.79	27.75
i)	Others	139.88	70.67
Tot	al	31,267.49	25,634.83

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Notes:		
Current maturities of long term borrowings consist of :		
i) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures (Secured)	2,524.28	1,852.30
ii) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures (Unsecured)	1,586.43	950.00
iii) Collateralised debt obligation	728.09	573.39
iv) Finance lease obligation	22.23	22.13
v) Senior Notes	4,584.47	-
vi) Term loans from banks and others	1,510.62	717.04
Total	10,956.12	4,114.86

28. Provisions

			-
		As at	As at
		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
No	n-current		
a)	Employee benefits obligations	738.00	732.97
ь)	Product warranty	9,453.60	7,360.69
c)	Legal and product liability	219.95	384.52
d)	Provision for residual risk	254.76	219.07
e)	Provision for environmental liability	150.05	178.00
f)	Annual maintenance contract	9.26	16.66
g)	Other provisions	122.82	112.55
Tot	al	10,948.44	9,004.46
Cui	rent		
a)	Employee benefit obligations	106.64	68.93
b)	Product warranty	6,481.50	4,670.64
c)	Legal and product liability	1,099.92	881.49
d)	Provision for residual risk	62.20	54.80
e)	Provision for environmental liability	97.88	96.58
f)	Annual maintenance contract	46.20	33.73
g)	Other provisions	59.16	1.59
Tot	al	7,953.50	5,807.76

	Year ended March 31, 2018			
	Product warranty	Legal and product Liability	Provision for residual risk	Provision for environmental liability
Balance at the beginning	12,031.33	1,266.00	273.87	274.58
Provision made / (reversed) during the year *	8,533.88	209.13	44.10	(14.79)
Provision used during the year	(6,590.59)	(316.65)	(21.11)	(45.64)
Impact of discounting	152.14	_	_	-
Impact of foreign exchange translation	1,813.03	161.39	20.10	33.78
Provision for asset classified as held for sale	(4.69)	_	_	-
Balance at the end	15,935.10	1,319.87	316.96	247.93
Current	6,481.50	1,099.92	62.20	97.88
Non-current	9,453.60	219.95	254.76	150.05

^{*} Provision made during the year includes estimated recovery from supplies ₹ 1,042.93 crores.

29. Other non-current liabilities*

(₹ in crores)

			(
		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
a)	Deferred revenue	7,001.76	5,161.37
b)	Employee benefits obligations	4,100.76	11,984.02
c)	Others	62.67	247.17
	Total	11,165.19	17,392.56

^{*}Excludes ₹ 246.57 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

30. Other current liabilities*

_			
		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
a)	Advances received from customers	1,431.25	1,711.15
b)	Statutory dues (VAT, Excise, Service Tax, GST, Octroi etc)	3,176.86	2,658.93
c)	Deferred revenue	2,411.53	1,764.98
d)	Others	614.91	266.78
	Total	7,634.55	6,401.84

Deferred revenue include:

- (i) ₹ 187.67 crores as at March 31, 2018 and ₹ 227.92 crores as at March 31, 2017 grants relating to property, plant and equipment relate to duty saved on import of capital goods and spares under the EPCG scheme. Under such scheme, the Company is committed to export prescribed times of the duty saved on import of capital goods over a specified period of time. In case such commitments are not met, the Company would be required to pay the duty saved along with interest to the regulatory authorities.
- (ii) ₹ 2,702.00 crores as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 2,047.24 crores as at March 31, 2017) relating to Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditure incurred since April 1, 2013.
- * Excludes ₹ 174.89 crores classified as held for sale as at March 31, 2018.

31. Revenue from Operations

		Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
a)	Sale of products (refer note 1 & 2 below)	283,748.32	265,436.34
b)	Sale of services	3,033.90	2,432.51
c)	Finance revenues	2,604.03	2,429.23
d)	Other operating revenues (refer note 3 below)	6,023.09	4,194.04
	Total	295,409.34	274,492.12
No	re:		
(1)	Includes exchange gain/(loss) (net) on hedges reclassified from hedge reserve to statement of profit or loss $$	(10,274.11)	(9,928.70)

⁽²⁾ Consequent to the introduction of Goods and Service Tax (GST) with effect from July 1, 2017, Central Excise, Value Added Tax (VAT), etc have been replaced by GST. In accordance with Ind AS 18 on Revenue and Schedule III of the Companies Act, 2013, GST, GST Compensation Cess, etc. are not included in sale of products for applicable periods. In view of the aforesaid restructuring

of indirect taxes, sale of products for the year ended March 31, 2018 are not comparable with the previous periods. Following additional information is being provided to facilitate such comparison:

(₹ in crores)

		Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
a)	Sale of products	283,748.32	265,436.34
ь)	Excise duty	(1,166.77)	(4,642.46)
c)	Sale of products (net of excise duty) (a)- (b)	282,581.55	260,793.88

3) Other operating revenue include incentives form Governments of ₹ 1,555.58 crores and ₹ 1,485.63 crores for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. This includes ₹ 387.67 crores and ₹ 561.04 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, received by a foreign subsidiary as an indirect tax incentive that requires the subsidiary to meet certain criteria relating to vehicle efficiency and investment in engineering and research and development and ₹ 338.78 crores and ₹ 504.72 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively for Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditure.

32. Other income

-		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31,	March 31,
		2018	2017
a)	Interest income	711.81	562.21
b)	Dividend income	15.77	10.51
c)	Profit on sale of investments measured at FVTPL	129.26	176.14
d)	MTM on investments measured at FVTPL	32.05	5.68
	Total	888.89	754.54

33. Employee benefits expense

		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31,	March 31,
		2018	2017
a)	Salaries, wages and bonus	23,686.45	22,409.51
b)	Contribution to provident fund and other funds	3,218.30	2,826.23
c)	Staff welfare expenses	3,395.34	3,097.15
	Total	30,300.09	28,332.89

A subsidiary of the Company operates a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) arrangement for certain employees. The scheme provides a cash payment to the employee based on a specific number of phantom shares at grant and the share price of Tata Motors Limited at the vesting date. The cash payment is dependent on the performance of the underlying shares of Tata Motors Limited over the 3 year vesting period and continued employment at the end of the vesting period. The fair value of the awards is calculated using a Black-Scholes model at the grant date. The fair value is updated at each reporting date as the awards are accounted for as cash-settled plan. The inputs into the model are based on the Tata Motors Limited historic data, the risk-free rate and the weighted average fair value of shares, in the scheme at the reporting date. During the year ended March 31, 2016, the subsidiary company issued its final LTIP based on the share price of Tata Motors Limited. The amount released in relation to the LTIP was ₹ 8.55 crores and ₹70.13 crores for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The Company considers these amounts as not material and accordingly has not provided further disclosures as required by Ind AS 102 "Share-based payment".

During the year ended March 31, 2017, the subsidiary has launched a new long-term employment benefit scheme which provides a cash payment to certain employees based on subsidiary's performance against long-term business metrics. This new LTIP scheme has been accounted for in accordance with Ind AS 19 "Employee benefits".

34. Finance costs

(₹ in crores)

		Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
a)	Interest	4,987.93	4,778.68
b)	Less: Interest capitalised*	(1,294.32)	(1,294.10)
c)	Add: Exchange fluctuation considered as interest cost	6.19	-
		3,699.80	3,484.58
d)	Discounting charges	981.99	753.43
	Total	4,681.79	4,238.01

^{*} Represents borrowing costs capitalised during the year on qualifying assets (property plant and equipment and product development).

The weighted average rate for capitalisation of interest relating to general borrowings was approximately **4.26**% and 4.40% for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

35. Other expenses

		Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
(a)	Processing charges	1,339.08	1,172.03
(b)	Consumption of stores & spare parts	2,210.56	2,419.11
(c)	Power and fuel	1,308.08	1,159.82
(d)	Information Technology (IT) related/Computer expenses	2,143.18	2,202.51
(e)	Engineering expense	5,278.84	4,273.72
(f)	MTM (gain)/loss on commodity derivatives	214.63	918.40
(g)	Warranty and product liability expenses	7,700.07	8,106.37
(h)	Freight, transportation, port charges etc.	10,742.12	9,754.71
(i)	Publicity	8,968.59	8,698.68
(j)	Allowances/(reversal) for trade and other receivables	14.57	132.93
(k)	Allowances/(reversal) for finance receivables	43.30	(28.15)
(L)	Works operation and other expenses (note below)	20,221.19	16,619.93
	Total	60,184.21	55,430.06

Note

Works operation and other expenses:

		Year ended	Year ended
		March 31,	March 31,
		2018	2017
(i)	Auditors' remuneration		
	(i) Audit fees	55.59	59.28
	(ii) Tax Audit fees	1.62	2.70
	(iii) All other fees	4.72	4.07
	Total	61.93	66.05

36. Employee benefits

Defined Benefit Plan

Pension and post retirement medical plans

The following table sets out the funded and unfunded status and the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the pension and the post retirement medical plans in respect of Tata Motors, its Indian subsidiaries and joint operations:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		Post retirement medical benefits	
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Change in defined benefit obligations :				
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	980.76	923.86	183.86	160.05
Current service cost	72.25	65.71	10.20	8.19
Interest cost	68.76	69.51	13.06	12.33
Remeasurements (gains) / losses				
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(16.03)	(0.96)	(11.40)	2.17
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	22.88	16.01	(2.70)	21.82
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments	10.50	(6.50)	(28.96)	(10.46)
Benefits paid from plan assets	(116.85)	(77.89)	-	-
Benefits paid directly by employer	(5.98)	(8.98)	(10.01)	(10.24)
Past service cost - Plan amendment	8.50	-	-	-
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	1,024.79	980.76	154.05	183.86
Change in plan assets:				
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	841.78	799.69	-	-
Interest income	63.33	60.05	-	-
Remeasurements gains / (losses)				
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest cost)	(2.69)	26.41	-	-
Employer's contributions	120.47	33.52	-	-
Benefits paid	(116.85)	(77.89)	-	-
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	906.04	841.78	-	-
Amount recognised in the balance sheet consists of:				
Present value of defined benefit obligation	1,024.79	980.76	154.05	183.86
Fair value of plan assets	906.04	841.78	-	-
Net liability	(118.75)	(138.98)	(154.05)	(183.86)
Amounts in the balance sheet:				
Non-current assets	1.57	6.55	-	-
Non-current liabilities	(106.98)	(145.53)	(142.01)	(183.86)
Liabilities for asset classified as held for sale	(13.34)		(12.04)	-
Net liability	(118.75)	(138.98)	(154.05)	(183.86)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income consists of:

adjustments on plan liabilities

other comprehensive income

Total recognised in other comprehensive income

Total recognised in statement of profit and loss and

	Pension benefits		Post retirement medical benefits	
	As at March	As at March	As at March	As at March
	31, 2018	31, 2017	31, 2018	31, 2017
Remeasurements (gains) / losses	(6.66)	(26.70)	(38.22)	4.84
	(6.66)	(26.70)		
Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation in exce	ess of plan asse	ts:		
				benefits
			As at	As at
			March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Defined benefit obligation			141.08	795.37
Fair value of plan assets			126.29	757.55
Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation less th	nan plan assets:			
			Pension	benefits
			As at	As at
			March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Defined benefit obligation			778.18	77.69
Fair value of plan assets			779.75	84.23
Information for unfunded plans:			773.73	04.23
iniormation for unrunded plans.				
	Pension As at	benefits As at	Post retirement As at	medical benefits As at
		As at March 31, 2017		
	1 101011011, 2010	1 10101101,2017	1 10101101,2010	1 10101101,2017
Defined benefit obligation	105.53	107.70	154.05	183.86
Net pension and post retirement medical cost consist of the followin	g components:			
	Pension	benefits		medical benefits
	Year ended	Year ended	Year ended	
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Service cost	72.25	65.71	10.20	8.19
Net interest cost / (income)	5.43	9.46	13.06	
Past service cost - Plan amendment	8.50	-	-	-
Net periodic cost	86.18	75.17	23.26	20.52
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognised in otl	her comprehens	sive income.		
	Pension	benefits	Post retirement	medical benefits
	Year ended	Year ended	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Remeasurements				
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest	2.69	(26.41)	-	-
expense)				
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(16.03)	(0.96)	(11.40)	2.17
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	22.88	16.01	(2.70)	21.82
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience	10.50	(6.50)	(28.96)	(10.46)

20.04

106.22

(17.86)

57.31

(43.06)

(19.80)

13.53

34.05

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension and post retirement medical plans are set out below:

	Pension	Pension benefits		Post retirement medical benefits	
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017		As at March 31, 2017	
Discount rate	7.5% - 8.0%	6.75%-7.5%	8.0%	7.3%	
Rate of increase in compensation					
level of covered employees	5.0% - 12.0%	4.0% - 11.0%	NA	NA	
Increase in health care cost	NA	NA	6.0%	6.0%	

Plan Assets

The fair value of Company's pension plan asset as of March 31, 2018 and 2017 by category are as follows:

Asset category:		Pension benefits		
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017		
Cash and cash equivalents	6.0%	1.0%		
Debt instruments (quoted)	68.4%	72.0%		
Debt instruments (unquoted)	0.3%	5.0%		
Equity instruments (quoted)	1.7%	1.0%		
Deposits with Insurance companies	23.6%	21.0%		
	100.0%	100.0%		

The Company's policy is driven by considerations of maximizing returns while ensuring credit quality of the debt instruments. The asset allocation for plan assets is determined based on investment criteria prescribed under the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961, and is also subject to other exposure limitations. The Company evaluates the risks, transaction costs and liquidity for potential investments. To measure plan asset performance, the Company compares actual returns for each asset category with published bench marks.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2018 is 14.51 years (2017: 16.06 years)

The Company expects to contribute ₹ 85.63 crores to the funded pension plans in Fiscal 2019.

The table below outlines the effect on the service cost, the interest cost and the defined benefit obligation in the event of a decrease/increase of 1% in the assumed discount rate, salary escalation and health care cost:

Assumption	Change in accumation	Impact on defined basefit	Impost so service seet and
Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on defined benefit obligation	Impact on service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 91.80 crores	Decrease by ₹ 21.11 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹ 106.73 crores	Increase by ₹ 21.67 crores
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹ 81.51 crores	Increase by ₹ 19.50 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 72.24 crores	Decrease by ₹ 18.62 crores
Health care cost	Increase by 1%	Increase by₹ 19.12 crores	Increase by ₹ 4.57 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 16.07 crores	Decrease by ₹ 3.72 crores

Severance indemnity plan

Severance indemnity is a funded plan of Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicles Limited (TDCV), a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited

The following table sets out, the amounts recognised in the financial statements for the severance indemnity plan.

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Change in defined benefit obligation:		
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	348.26	333.92
Service cost	45.26	48.62
Interest cost	7.90	6.34
Remeasurements (gains) / losses		
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	(0.14)	(15.65)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	14.70	(19.53)
Benefits paid from plan assets	(7.08)	(4.26)
Benefits paid directly by employer	(3.49)	(1.35)
Foreign currency translation	20.22	0.17
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	425.63	348.26
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	324.53	261.76
Interest income	8.15	5.58
Remeasurements gain / (loss)		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(5.13)	(2.54)
Employer's contributions	65.64	64.64
Benefits paid	(7.08)	(4.68)
Foreign currency translation	19.25	(0.23)
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	405.36	324.53
Amount recognised in the balance sheet consist of:		
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Present value of defined benefit obligation	425.63	348.26
Fair value of plan assets	405.36	324.53
Net liability	(20.27)	(23.73)
Amounts in the balance sheet:		
Non- current liabilities	(20.27)	(23.73)
	of:	
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity consists of		
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity consists of	As at	
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity consists of the severance independent cons		As at March 31, 2017 (96.81)

Net severance indemnity cost con				(₹ in crores
			Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Service cost			45.26	48.62
Net interest cost			(0.25)	0.76
Net periodic pension cost			45.01	49.38
Other changes in plan assets and I	penefit obligation recognised in o	other comprehensive inco	me for severance in	demnity plan:
			Year ended March 31, 2018	Year endec March 31, 2017
Remeasurements (gains) / losses				
Return on plan assets, (excluding	amount included in net Interest e	expense)	5.13	2.54
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising fr	om changes in financial assumpt	ions	(0.14)	(15.65)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising fr	om changes in experience adjust	ments on plan liabilities	14.70	(19.53)
Total recognised in other comprel	nensive income		19.69	(32.64)
Total recognised in statement of p	profit and loss and other compreh	nensive income	64.70	16.74
The assumptions used in accounti	ng for the Severance indemnity p	olan is set out below:		
			As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
Discount rate			2.8%	2.3%
Rate of increase in compensation	level of covered employees		3.5%	3.0%
The table below outlines the effect ncrease of 1% in the assumed rate			fit obligation in the e	vent of a decrease
Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on defined be oblig	enefit Impact o ation	n service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 41.49 c	rores Decrease	e by ₹ 11.32 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹ 48.43 c	rores Increase	by ₹ 12.43 crores
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹ 47.59 c	rores Increase	by ₹ 13.26 crores
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹ 41.60 c	rores Decrease	e by ₹ 11.46 crores
Severance indemnity plans asset a	llocation by category is as follow	 /S:		
co. c. c. co mocriming promo doset t				

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2018 is 10.65 years (2017: 10.85 years)

100%

100%

The Company expects to contribute ₹ 23.79 crores to the funded severance indemnity plans in Fiscal 2019.

Deposit with banks

Jaguar Land Rover Pension plan

Jaguar Land Rover Ltd UK, have pension arrangements providing qualifying employees with defined benefits related to pay and service as set out in the rules of each fund.

The UK defined benefit schemes are administered by a separate fund that is legally separated from the Company. The trustees of the pension schemes are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme is responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the schemes and all other governance matters. The board of trustees must be composed of representatives of the Company and plan participants in accordance with the plan's regulations.

Through its defined benefit pension plans the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to corporate bond yields; if plan assets under perform compared to the corporate bonds discount rate, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans hold a significant proportion of equity type assets, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term while providing volatility and risk in the short-term.

As the plans mature, the Company intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities.

However, the Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities and the strength of the supporting group, a level of continuing equity type investments is an appropriate element of the Company's long term strategy to manage the plans efficiently.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans' bond holdings and interest rate hedging instruments.

Inflation risk

Some of the Company's pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The plans hold a significant proportion of assets in index linked gilts, together with other inflation hedging instruments and also assets which are more loosely correlated with inflation. However an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit to some degree.

Life expectancy

The majority of the plan's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plan's liabilities. This is particularly significant in the UK defined benefit plans, where inflationary increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

The following table sets out the disclosure pertaining to employee benefits of Jaguar Land Rover Limited

(₹ in crores)

	Pension benefits		
•	As at	As at	
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017	
Change in defined benefit obligation:			
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	80,667.69	73,179.07	
Service cost	1,856.13	1,735.73	
Interest cost	2,058.43	2,410.74	
Remeasurements (gains) / losses			
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(1,799.04)	(666.24)	
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	(3,017.78)	20,469.33	
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(848.75)	(1,867.22)	

	Pension benefits	
	As at	As al
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Past service cost	(3,609.01)	-
Plan settlement	(180.76)	-
Benefits paid	(8,444.13)	(1,972.42)
Member contributions	32.48	17.53
Foreign currency translation	10,064.78	(12,638.83)
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	76,780.04	80,667.69
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	68,845.49	67,803.30
Interest Income	1,866.13	2,261.71
Remeasurements gains / (losses)		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(997.46)	10,072.49
Employer's contributions	2,455.42	1,989.95
Members contributions	32.48	17.53
Plan settlement	(174.95)	-
Benefits paid	(8,444.13)	(1,972.42)
Expenses paid	(77.77)	(78.90)
Foreign currency translation	9,232.68	(11,248.17)
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	72,737.89	68,845.49

Amount recognised in the balance sheet consist of:

	Pension b	Pension benefits	
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017	
Present value of defined benefit obligation	76,780.04	80,667.69	
Fair value of plan assets	72,737.89	68,845.49	
Net liability	(4,042.15)	(11,822.20)	
Amount recognised in the balance sheet consist of:			
Non- current assets	-	3.81	
Non -current liabilities	(4,042.15)	(11,826.01)	
Net liability	(4,042.15)	(11,822.20)	

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income consist of:

	Pension b	Pension benefits	
	As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017	
Remeasurements (gains) / losses	(1,649.79)	3,018.32	
	(1,649.79)	3,018.32	

Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components:

(₹ in crores)

	Pension	penefits
	Year ended	Year ended
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Current service cost	1,856.13	1,735.73
Past service cost	(3,609.01)	-
Administrative expenses	77.77	78.90
Plan settlement	(5.81)	-
Net interest cost / (income) (Including onerous obligations)	192.30	149.03
Net periodic pension cost	(1,488.62)	1,963.66

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income

	Pension benefits	
	Year ended Year er	
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(1,799.04)	(666.24)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	(3,017.78)	20,469.33
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(848.75)	(1,867.22)
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	997.46	(10,072.49)
Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses	-	(17.53)
Total recognised in other comprehensive income	(4,668.11)	7,845.85
Total recognised in statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income	(6,156.73)	9,809.51

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension plans are set out below:

	Pension benefits	
	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Discount rate	2.7%	2.6%
Expected rate of increase in compensation level of covered employees	2.3%	3.7%
Inflation increase	3.1%	3.2%

For the valuation as at March 31, 2018, the mortality assumptions used are the SAPS base table, in particular S2PxA tables and the Light table for members of the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

For the Jaguar Pension Plan, scaling factors of 113% to 119% have been used for male members and scaling factors of 102% to 114% have been used for female members.

For the Land Rover Pension Scheme, scaling factors of 108% to 113% have been used for male members and scaling factors of 102% to 111% have been used for female members.

For the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan, an average scaling factor of 95% has been used for male members and an average scaling factor of 85% has been used for female members.

For the valuation as at March 31, 2017, the mortality assumption used are the SAPS base table, in particular S2NxA tables and the light table for member of Jaguar Executive Pension Plan. A scaling factor of 120% for males and 110% for females has been used for Jaguar Pension Plan, 115% for males and 105% for females for Land Rover Pension scheme, and 95% for males and 85% for females for the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

There is an allowance for future improvements in line with the CMI (2017) projections and an allowance for long-term improvements of 1.25% per annum (2017, CMI (2014) projections with 1.25% per annum improvements).

The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are (years)		
Retiring today :		
Males	21.3	21.5
Females	23.4	24.5
Retiring in 20 years :		
Males	22.5	23.3
Females	25.1	26.3

Pension plans asset allocation by category is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

						(₹ in crores)
	As at March 31,					
•		2018			2017	
_	Quoted *	Unquoted	Total	Quoted *	Unquoted	Total
Equity Instruments						
Information Technology	1,218.16	_	1,218.16	1,149.04	_	1,149.04
Energy	516.79	-	516.79	493.60	-	493.60
Manufacturing	885.93	_	885.93	841.55	_	841.55
Financials	1,393.50	_	1,393.50	1,327.06	_	1,327.06
Others	3,848.27	-	3,848.27	3,649.43	-	3,649.43
	7,862.65	-	7,862.65	7,460.68	-	7,460.68
Debt Instruments						
Government	35,169.67	_	35,169.67	23,709.13	_	23,709.13
Corporate Bonds (Investment Grade)	184.57	16,943.46	17,128.03	161.84	16,758.23	16,920.07
Corporate Bonds (Non Investment Grade)	_	5,389.42	5,389.42	995.30	3,350.03	4,345.33
	35,354.24	22,332.88	57,687.12	24,866.27	20,108.26	44,974.53
Property Funds						
UK	_	1,522.70	1,522.70	-	1,537.45	1,537.45
Other	-	1,476.55	1,476.55	-	1,262.33	1,262.33
	-	2,999.25	2,999.25	-	2,799.78	2,799.78
Cash and Cash equivalents	2,010.94	-	2,010.94	752.54	-	752.54
Other						
Hedge Funds	-	3,285.33	3,285.33	-	3,261.02	3,261.02
Private Markets	18.46	2,325.57	2,344.03	-	1,407.98	1,407.98
Alternatives	4,337.38	1,974.89	6,312.27	2,646.04	3,066.81	5,712.85
	4,355.84	7,585.79	11,941.63	2,646.04	7,735.81	10,381.85
Derivatives						
Foreign exchange contracts	_	9.23	9.23	-	137.56	137.56
Interest Rate and inflation	-	2,104.10	2,104.10	-	9,159.98	9,159.98
	-	2,113.33	2,113.33	-	9,297.54	9,297.54
Collateralised debt obligations	-	(11,877.03)	(11,877.03)	-	(6,821.43)	(6,821.43)
Total	49,583.67	23,154.22	72,737.89	35,725.53	33,119.96	68,845.49

 $^{^{\}star}$ $\,\,$ determined on the basis of quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

The split of Level 1 assets is 71% (2017: 66%), Level 2 assets 20% (2017: 27%) and Level 3 assets 9% (2017: 7%). Private market holdings are classified as Level 3 instruments. Included in the value for Government bonds, Interest Rate and Inflation derivatives are Repo transactions, as noted above.

The sensitivity analysis below is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the consolidated balance sheet.

Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on defined obligation	benefit	Impact on service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase / decrease by 0.25%	Decrease/increase ₹ 4,074.37 crores	by	Decrease/increase by ₹ 74.75 crores
Inflation rate	Increase / decrease by 0.25%	Increase/decrease ₹ 3,468.98 crores	by	Increase/decrease by ₹ 88.59 crores
Mortality rate	Increase / decrease by 1 year	Increase/decrease ₹ 2,219.45 crores	by	Increase/decrease by ₹ 47.99 crores

Jaguar Land Rover contributes towards the UK defined benefit schemes. Following the April 5, 2015 valuations, it is intended to eliminate the pension scheme funding deficits over the 10 years following the valuation date. As at 31 March 2018, there is no additional liability; however, following the changes to the defined benefit schemes' rules in April 2017, an additional obligation may arise in the future. The current agreed contribution rate for defined benefit accrual is 31% of pensionable salaries in the UK. Deficit contribution levels remain in line with the schedule of contributions agreed following the 2015 statutory valuation. Both the ongoing and deficit contribution rates these are expected to reduce following the completion of the 2018 statutory valuation during 2019.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at March 31, 2018 is 20.04 years (2017: 21.60 years).

With the new benefit structure effective April 6, 2017, the expected net periodic pension cost for the year ended March 31, 2019 is ₹2,120.39 crores. The Company expects to pay ₹2,371.71 crores to its defined benefit schemes in the year ended March 31, 2019.

Defined contribution plan

The Company's contribution to defined contribution plans aggregated $\ref{899.59}$ crores, $\ref{754.95}$ crores for years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

37. Commitments and contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Company faces claims and assertions by various parties. The Company assesses such claims and assertions and monitors the legal environment on an ongoing basis, with the assistance of external legal counsel, wherever necessary. The Company records a liability for any claims where a potential loss is probable and capable of being estimated and discloses such matters in its financial statements, if material. For potential losses that are considered possible, but not probable, the Company provides disclosure in the financial statements but does not record a liability in its accounts unless the loss becomes probable.

The following is a description of claims and assertions where a potential loss is possible, but not probable. The Company believes that none of the contingencies described below would have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Litigation

The Company is involved in legal proceedings, both as plaintiff and as defendant. There are claims which the Company does not believe to be of material nature, other than those described below.

Income Tax

The Company has ongoing disputes with income tax authorities relating to tax treatment of certain items. These mainly include disallowed expenses, the tax treatment of certain expenses claimed by the Company as deductions and the computation of, or eligibility of, the Company's use of certain tax incentives or allowances.

Most of these disputes and/or disallowances, being repetitive in nature, have been raised by the income tax authorities consistently in most of the years.

The Company has a right of appeal to the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), or CIT (A), the Dispute Resolution Panel, or DRP, and to the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal, or ITAT, against adverse decisions by the assessing officer, DRP or CIT (A), as applicable. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal to the ITAT against adverse decisions by the CIT (A) or DRP. The Company has a further right of appeal to the Bombay High Court or the Supreme Court against adverse decisions by the appellate authorities for matters involving substantial question of law. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal.

As at March 31, 2018, there are matters and/or disputes pending in appeal amounting to $\ref{303.09}$ crores, which includes $\ref{2.18}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees ($\ref{2.18}$ torres, which includes $\ref{2.18}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2017).

Customs, Excise Duty and Service Tax

As at March 31, 2018, there are pending litigations for various matters relating to customs, excise duty and service tax involving demands, including interest and penalties, of ₹1,671.71 crores, which includes ₹ 5.02 crores in respect of equity accounted investees (₹ 1,464.22 crores, which includes ₹5.99 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2017). These demands challenged the basis of valuation of the Company's products and denied the Company's claims of Central Value Added Tax, or CENVAT, credit on inputs. The details of the demands for more than ₹ 20 crores are as follows:

The Excise Authorities have raised a demand for ₹ 90.72 crores as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 90.72 crores as at March 31, 2017), on account of alleged undervaluation's of ex-factory discounts given by Company on passenger vehicles through invoices. The matter is being contested by the Company before the Bombay High Court.

As at March 31, 2018, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand and penalty of ₹ 239.95 crores (₹ 218.23 crores as at March 31, 2017), due to the classification of certain chassis (as dumpers instead of goods transport vehicles) which were sent to automotive body builders by the Company, which the Excise Authorities claim requires the payment of the National Calamity Contingent Duty, or NCCD. The Company has obtained a technical expert certificate on the classification. The appeal is pending before the Custom Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal.

The Excise Authorities had denied the Company's claim of a CENVAT credit of ₹ **36.03 crores** as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 24.96 crores as at March 31, 2017) claimed by the Company from Fiscal 1992 to Fiscal 2013, on technical grounds. The matter is being contested by the Company before the appellate authorities.

As at March 31, 2018, the Excise Authorities had levied penalties and interest amounting to ₹ 679.88 crores (₹679.88 crores as at March 31, 2017) with respect to CENVAT credit claimed by the Company from March 2010 to November 2012, on inputs, stating that vehicles manufactured at Uttarakhand plant are "Exempted Products" and the Company may not claim a CENVAT credit on these vehicles. The Company has challenged this demand as NCCD and the automobile cess is assessed on those vehicles, which are "duties of excise". Therefore, the Company asserts that these vehicles are not "Exempted Products". The matter is being contested by the Company before the appellate authorities.

As at March 31, 2018, the Service Tax Authorities have raised Service Tax demand of ₹ 54.85 crores, wherein department alleged that the fee charged for securitisation contract by one of our subsidiary, TMFL are not adequate. The matter is being contested by TMFL before the appellate authorities.

As at March 31, 2018, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand amounting to ₹ 29.54 crores (₹ 29.54 crores as at March 31, 2017) on pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales service charges incurred by dealers on Company's products on the alleged grounds that the pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales services are provided by the dealer on behalf of the Company and should be included in excisable value of the vehicle. The case is pending before Tribunal.

As at March 31, 2018, the Exicse Authorities have confirmed demand & penalty totalling to ₹ 90.88 crores (₹ Nil crores as at March 31, 2017) towards vehicles allegedly sold below cost of production with an intention to penetrate the market. The matter is being contested by the Company before appellate Authorities.

As at March 31, 2018, the Exicse Authorities have filed Appeal before appellate authority against the Order of adjudicating authority allowing CENVAT credit of service tax of ₹36.15 crores (₹ 36.15 crores as at March 31, 2017) availed on consulting engineers services.

Sales Tax

The total sales tax demands (including interest and penalty), that are being contested by the Company amount to ₹1,096.18 crores, which includes ₹10.85 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2018 (₹1,057.93 crores, which includes ₹11.54 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2017). The details of the demands for more than ₹ 20 crores are as follows:

The Sales Tax Authorities have raised demand of ₹ 269.38 crores (₹ 208.59 crores as at March 31, 2017) towards rejection of certain statutory forms for concessional lower/nil tax rate (Form F and Form C) on technical grounds such as late submission, single form issued against different months / quarters dispatches / sales, etc. and denial of exemption from tax in absence of proof of export for certain year The Company has contended that the benefit cannot be denied on technicalities, which are being complied with. The matter is pending at various levels.

The Sales Tax authorities have denied input tax credit and levied interest and penalty thereon due to varied reasons aggregating to ₹ 435.96 crores as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 305.46 crores as at March 31, 2017). The reasons for disallowing credit was mainly due to Taxes not paid by Vendors, incorrect method of calculation of set off as per the department, alleging suppression of sales as per the department etc. The matter is contested in appeal.

As at March 31, 2018, Sales Tax demand aggregating ₹95.75 crores has been raised by Sales Tax Authorities for non submission of Maharashtra Trial Balance. This is relating to VAT assessment for the financial year 2010-2013. The matter is contested in appeal.

As at March 31, 2018, the Sales Tax Authorities have raised demand for Entry Tax liability at various states amounting to ₹ 23.92 crores. The Company is contesting this issue.

Other Taxes and Dues

Other amounts for which the Company may contingently be liable aggregate to ₹ 367.02 crores, which includes ₹ 1.76 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 300.01 crores, which includes ₹ 1.76 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2017). Following are the cases involving more than ₹ 20 crores:

The municipal authorities in certain states levy octroi duty (a local indirect tax) on goods brought inside the municipal limits at rates based on the classification of goods. Demands aggregating ₹ 61.65 crores as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 61.65 crores as at March 31, 2017) had been raised demanding higher octroi duties on account of classification disputes relating to components purchased for the manufacture of vehicles and retrospective increase in octroi rates relating to past periods. The dispute relating to classification is presently pending before the Bombay High Court and the other dispute is pending before the Supreme Court.

As at March 31, 2018, property tax amounting to ₹ 56.84 crores (₹ 53.70 crores as at March 31, 2017) has been demanded by the local municipal authorities in respect of vacant land of the Company in the plants in Pimpri, Chinchwad and Chikhali. The Company has filed Special Leave Petition (SLP) before the Supreme Court against an unfavorable decision of the Bombay High Court. The Supreme Court has disposed of the SLP and remanded the matter back to the local municipal corporation for fresh adjudication.

As at March 31, 2018, Sales tax / VAT amounting to ₹ 30.54 crores (₹ 29.95 crores as at March 31, 2017) has been demanded by local authorities on dealers in respect of spare parts used for carrying out warranty repairs. The dispute is pending before the Supreme Court.

Other claims

There are other claims against the Company, the majority of which pertain to government body investigations with regards to regulatory compliances, motor accident claims, product liability claims and consumer complaints. Some of the cases also relate to the replacement of parts of vehicles and/or the compensation for deficiencies in the services by the Company or its dealers.

Commitments

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of plant and machinery, equipment and various civil contracts of a capital nature amounting to ₹ 10,018.66 crores, which includes ₹ 12.73 crores in respect of equity

accounted investees as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 19,610.93 crores, which includes ₹ 1,403.80 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2017), which are yet to be executed.

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of intangible assets of a capital nature amounting to ₹ **581.39 crores** as at March 31, 2018, (₹ 640.21 crores as at March 31, 2017), which are yet to be executed.

Under the joint venture agreement with Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited, the Company is committed to contribute $\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 3,622.12 crores as at March 31, 2018 ($\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 3,295.60 crores as at March 31, 2017) towards its share in the capital of the joint venture of which $\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 2,975.31 crores ($\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 2,707.10 crores as at March 31, 2017) has been contributed as at March 31, 2018. As at March 31, 2018, the Company has an outstanding commitment of $\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 646.81 crores ($\mathbf{\mathfrak{F}}$ 588.50 crores as at March 31, 2017).

The Company has contractual obligation towards Purchase Commitment for ₹ 13,222.63 crores (₹ 12,186.90 crores as at March 31, 2017).

38. Capital Management

The Company's capital management is intended to create value for shareholders by facilitating the meeting of long-term and short-term goals of the Company.

The Company determines the amount of capital required on the basis of annual operating plans and long-term product and other strategic investment plans. The funding requirements are met through equity, convertible and non-convertible debt securities, senior notes and other long-term/short-term borrowings. The Company's policy is aimed at combination of short-term and long-term borrowings.

The Company monitors the capital structure on the basis of total debt to equity ratio and maturity profile of the overall debt portfolio of the Company.

Total debt includes all long and short-term debts as disclosed in notes 24, 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements. Equity comprises all components excluding (profit)/loss on cash flow hedges and foreign currency translation reserve.

The following table summarizes the capital of the Company:

March 31, 2018 March			(₹ in crores)
Equity* 94,794.02 81,808 Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 27,750.97 17,974 Long-term debt 61,199.50 60,62 Total debt 88,950.47 78,603 Total capital (Debt + Equity) 183,744.49 160,412		As at	As at
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 27,750.97 17,974 Long-term debt 61,199.50 60,62 Total debt 88,950.47 78,603 Total capital (Debt + Equity) 183,744.49 160,412		March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Long-term debt 61,199.50 60,62 Total debt 88,950.47 78,603 Total capital (Debt + Equity) 183,744.49 160,412	Equity*	94,794.02	81,808.56
Total debt 88,950.47 78,603 Total capital (Debt + Equity) 183,744.49 160,412	Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt	27,750.97	17,974.80
Total capital (Debt + Equity) 183,744.49 160,412	Long-term debt	61,199.50	60,629.18
	Total debt	88,950.47	78,603.98
* Dotails of equity:	Total capital (Debt + Equity)	183,744.49	160,412.54
Details of equity.	* Details of equity :		

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
Total equity as reported in balance sheet	95,952.97	58,515.06
Currency translation reserve attributable to		
- Shareholders of Tata Motors Limited	(4,621.23)	5,300.13
- Non-controlling interests	(19.78)	7.52
Hedging reserve	3,482.06	17,985.85
Equity as reported above	94,794.02	81,808.56

39. Disclosure on financial instruments

This section gives an overview of the significance of financial instruments for the Company and provides additional information on balance sheet items that contain financial instruments.

The details of significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2018.

Financial assets	Cash and other financial assets at amortised	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments -	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
(a) Other investments - non-current	1	407.90	351.98	3.88	'		763.76	763.76
(b) Investments - current	1	303.28	1,601.00	12,759.47	1	1	14,663.75	14,663.75
(c) Trade receivables	19,893.30		-	•	•	1	19,893.30	19,893.30
(d) Cash and cash equivalents	14,716.75	•		•	•	•	14,716.75	14,716.75
(e) Other bank balances	19,897.16	•	-	1	1	-	19,897.16	19,897.16
(f) Loans and advances - non-	495.41	•		•	-	•	495.41	495.41
(a) I pans and advances - current	2,279,66			-	1	-	2,279,66	2,279.66
	8,401.65		-	-	1	-	8,401.65	8,401.65
(i) Finance receivable - non-current	15,479.53	•					15,479.53	15,421.94
(j) Other financial assets - non-	1,716.97	•		1	489.03	2,357.87	4,563.87	4,563.87
CUrrent (V) Other financial accets - current	55290			•	878 RD	1 597 33	Z029 12	Z 02912
	83,433.42	711.18	1,952.98	12,763.35	1,367.83	3,955.20	104,183.96	104,126.37
Financial Liabilities	Derivatives other than		Derivatives in hedging		Other financial	Total carrying value		Total fair value
	in hedging relationship	tionship	relationship	. 0	liabilities			
 (a) Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term 		1		1	72,155.62	72,15	72,155.62	72,871.82
borrowings) (note below)								
(b) Short-term borrowings					16,794.85	16,79	16,794.85	16,794.85
(c) Trade payables			-		72,038.41	72,0	72,038.41	72,038.41
(d) Acceptances		•			4,901.42	76'4	4,901.42	4,901.42
(e) Other financial liabilities -		177.23	2,272.97	_	288.94	2,7.	2,739.14	2,739.14
non-current (f) Other financial liabilities - current		1 3 2 9 7.3	5C 878 //	2	17, 103 71	2 UC	20 र11 र7	20 211 27
Total		506.66	7.151.20		180 282 95	188 940 87	1.37	189 657 01
		22:20	Y >1'		00,404,00	2	-	

Note:

Includes USD denominated bonds designated as cash flow hedges against forecasted USD revenue amounting to ₹ 11,166,44 crores (USD 1,700 million)

Inculdes ₹ 3,156.00 crores designated as hedged item in fair value hedge relationship. This includes a loss of ₹ 92.80 crores on account of fair value changes attributable to the hedged intrest rate risk.

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2017.

Financial assets	Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments -	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
(a) Other investments - non-current	1	630.27	, 56.61	3.88	1	1	690.76	92.069
(b) Investments - current	1	•	. 3,040.94	12,000.21		1	15,041.15	15,041.15
(c) Trade receivables	14,075.55			•	-		14,075.55	14,075.55
(d) Cash and cash equivalents	13,986.76		-	-	-	-	13,986.76	13,986.76
(e) Other bank balances	22,091.12	•			1	1	22,091.12	22,091.12
(f) Loans and advances - non-	753.66	•	1		•		753.66	753.66
current								
(g) Loans and advances - current	710.45				1	1	710.45	710.45
(h) Finance receivable - current	6,810.12				1	1	6,810.12	6,810.12
(i) Finance receivable - non-current	10,753.13	•	-	•			10,753.13	10,718.92
(j) Other financial assets - non-	135.78	•			1,156.97	1,618.37	2,911.12	2,911.12
current								
(k) Other financial assets - current	45.76			1	424.00	1,086.18	1,555.94	1,555.94
TOTAL	69,362.33	630.27	3,097.55	12,004.09	1,580.97	2,704.55	89,379.76	89,345.55
Financial liabilities	Derivatives other than		Derivatives in hedging		Other financial	Total carrying value		Total fair value
	in hedging relationship	ationship	relationship	Ь	liabilities			
(a) Long-term borrowings (including		1		1	64,744.04	64,744.04	4.04	66,339.97
current maturities of long-term borrowings) (note below)								
(b) Short-term borrowings		-			13,859.94	13,859.94	9.94	13,859.94
(c) Trade payables				-	57,698.33	57,698.33	8.33	57,698.33
(d) Acceptances					4,834.24	4,83	4,834.24	4,834.24
(e) Other financial liabilities - non-		1,169.84	10,089.73	. 2	150.01	11,409.58	9.58	11,409.58
(f) Other financial liabilities - current		3,541.10	10,716.85	2	7,262.02	21,519.97	9.97	21,519.97
TOTAL		4,710.94	20,806.58		148,548.58	174,066.10	36.10	175,662.03

Note:

Includes USD denominated bonds designated as cash flow hedges against forecasted USD revenue amounting to ₹ 7,782.00 crores (USD 1,200 million)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3, as described below.

Quoted prices in an active market (Level 1): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This category consists quoted equity shares, quoted corporate debt instruments and mutual fund investments.

Valuation techniques with observable inputs (Level 2): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities, measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e; as prices) or indirectly (i.e; derived from prices). This level of hierarchy includes Company's over-the-counter (OTC) derivative contracts.

Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). Fair values are determined in whole or in part, using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data. The main items in this category are investments in certain unquoted debentures and equity.

(₹ in crores)

			As at March 31	, 2018	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	1940.92	-	723.24	2,664.16
(b)	Derivative assets	-	5,323.03	-	5,323.03
	Total	1940.92	5,323.03	723.24	7,987.19
Fina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
(a)	Derivative laibilities	-	8,657.86	_	8,657.86
	Total	-	8,657.86	-	8,657.86
			As at March 31	, 2017	
	_	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	3,326.32	-	401.50	3,727.82
(b)	Derivative assets	-	4,285.52	_	4,285.52
	TOTAL	3,326.32	4,285.52	401.50	8,013.34
Fina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
(a)	Derivative liabilities	-	25,517.52	-	25,517.52
	Total	-	25,517.52	-	25,517.52
(a)		-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	

The following table provides an analysis of fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on recurring basis, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 categories:

/-			,
17	ın	CLU	res

					(₹ in crores)
			As at March 3	1, 2018	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets not measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	12,759.47	_	3.88	12,763.35
(b)	Finance receivables	-	-	23,823.59	23,823.59
	Total	12,759.47	-	23,827.47	36,586.94
Fina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current				
	maturities of long term borrowing)	39,949.70	32,922.12	-	72,871.82
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	16,794.85	-	16,794.85
	Total	39,949.70	49,716.97	-	89,666.67
			As at March 3	31, 2017	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets not measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	12,000.21	-	3.88	12,004.09
(b)	Finance receivables	-	-	17,529.04	17,529.04
	Total	12,000.21	-	17,532.92	29,533.13
Fina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current	35,323.52	31,016.45	-	66,339.97
	maturities of long term borrowing)				
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	13,859.94		13,859.94
(c)	Other financial liabilities - non-current	-	-	-	-
	Total	35,323.52	44,876.39	-	80,199.91

The short-term financial assets and liabilities are stated at amortised cost which is approximately equal to their fair value.

Derivatives are fair valued using market observable rates and published prices together with forecast cash flow information where applicable.

The fair value of finance receivables has been estimated by discounting expected cash flows using rates at which loans of similar credit quality and maturity would be made and internal assumptions such as expected credit losses and estimated collateral value for repossessed vehicles as at March 31, 2018 and 2017. Since significant unobservable inputs are applied in measuring the fair value, finance receivables are classified in Level 3.

The fair value of borrowings which have a quoted market price in an active market is based on its market price and for other borrowings the fair value is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows, using a discount rate equivalent to the risk-free rate of return, adjusted for the credit spread considered by the lenders for instruments of similar maturity and credit quality.

Costs of certain unquoted equity instruments have been considered as an appropriate estimate of fair value because of a wide range of possible fair value measurements and Cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Company has chosen to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as the management believe that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, as opposed to reflecting changes in fair value immediately in profit or loss.

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments. However, there are inherent limitations in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates presented above are not necessarily indicative of all the amounts that the Company could have realised or paid in sale transactions as of respective dates. As such, the fair value of the financial instruments subsequent to the respective reporting dates may be different from the amounts reported at each year end.

Offsetting

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to offsetting where there is currently a legally enforceable right to set off recognised amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability, simultaneously.

Certain derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to master netting arrangements, whereby in the case of insolvency, derivative financial assets and financial liabilities with the same countries will be settled on a net basis.

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset, in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2018:

		Gross amount recognised	Gross amount recognised	Net amount presented in the balance	Amounts sub enforceable ma arranger	ster netting	Net amount after offsetting
		-	as set off in the balance sheet	sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	·
Fina	ncial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	5,323.03	-	5,323.03	(4,905.82)	-	417.21
(b)	Trade receivables	19,990.57	(97.27)	19,893.30	-	-	19,893.30
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	16,384.33	(1,667.58)	14,716.75	-	-	14,716.75
	Total	41,697.93	(1,764.85)	39,933.08	(4,905.82)	-	35,027.26
Fina	ncial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	8,657.86	-	8,657.86	(4,905.82)	-	3,752.04
(b)	Trade payable	72,135.68	(97.27)	72,038.41	-	-	72,038.41
(b) (c)	Loans from banks/ financial institutions (short-term & current maturities of long term debt	29,418.55	(1,667.58)	27,750.97	-	-	27,750.97
	Total	110,212.09	(1,764.85)	108,447.24	(4,905.82)	-	103,541.42

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset, in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2017:

		Gross amount recognised	Gross amount recognised	Net amount presented in the balance	Amounts sub enforceable ma arranger	ster netting	Net amount after offsetting
			as set off in the balance sheet	sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	
Fina	ncial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	4,285.52	-	4,285.52	(3,402.13)	_	883.39
(b)	Trade receivables	14,103.26	(27.71)	14,075.55	-	-	14,075.55
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	14,237.61	(250.85)	13,986.76	-	-	13,986.76
	Total	32,626.39	(278.56)	32,347.83	(3,402.13)	-	28,945.70
Fina	ncial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	25,517.52	-	25,517.52	(3,402.13)	-	22,115.39
(b)	Trade payable	57,726.04	(27.71)	57,698.33	-	-	57,698.33
(c)	Loans from banks/ financial institutions (short-term & current maturities of long term debt)	18,225.65	(250.85)	17,974.80	-	-	17,974.80
	Total	101,469.21	(278.56)	101,190.65	(3,402.13)	-	97,788.52

(b) Transfer of financial assets

The Company transfers finance receivables in securitisation transactions and direct assignments. In such transactions the Company surrenders control over the receivables, though it continues to act as an agent for the collection of receivables. Generally in such transactions, the Company also provides credit enhancements to the transferee.

Because of the existence of credit enhancements in such transactions, the Company continues to have the obligation to pay to the transferee, limited to the extent of credit enhancement provided, even if it does not collect the equivalent amounts from the original asset and hence continues to retain substantially all risks and rewards associated with the receivables, and as a result of which such transfer or assignment does not meet the derecognition criteria, resulting in the transfer not being recorded as sale. Consequently, the proceeds received from such transfers are recorded as collateralised debt obligations.

Further the Company transfers certain trade receivables under the debt factoring arrangements. These do not qualify for derecognition, if the recourse arrangement is in place. Consequently the proceeds received from such transfers with a recourse arrangements are recorded as loans from banks / financial institutions and classified under short-term borrowings.

The carrying amount of trade receivables and finance receivables along with the associated liabilities is as follows:

(₹ in crores)

					(1
		As at Mar	ch 31, 2018	As at Marc	ch 31, 2017
Natu	ure of Asset	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities
(a)	Trade receivables	1,507.44	1,507.44	1,494.87	1,494.87
(b)	Finance receivables	1,306.91 ¹	1,320.58	1,004.38	1,027.12

¹Net of provision of ₹ 22.62 crores, ₹ 29.00 crores as at March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(c) Cash flow hedges

As at March 31, 2018, the Company and its subsidiaries have a number of financial instruments in a hedging relationship. The Company and its subsidiaries use both foreign currency forward and option contracts, cross currency interest rate swaps and other currency options to hedge changes in future cash flows as a result of foreign currency and interest rate risk arising from sales and purchases and repayment of foreign currency bonds. The Company and its subsidiaries have also designated some of its U.S. dollar denominated bonds as hedging instruments in a cash flow hedging relationship to hedge the changes in future cash flows as a result of foreign currency risk arising from future anticipated sales.

The Company and its subsidiaries also have a number of foreign currency options and other currency options, which are entered into as an economic hedge of the financial risks of the Company. These contracts do not meet the hedge accounting criteria of Ind AS 109, hence the change in fair value of these derivatives are recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss.

Options are designated on spot discounted basis. The time value of options are identified as cost of hedge. Changes in the time value of options are recognised in Cost of Hedge reserve. Changes in the spot intrinsic value of options is recognised in Hedge reserve. Changes in fair value arising from own and counter-party credit risk in options and forward exchange contracts are considered ineffective in the hedge relationship and thus the change in fair value of forward exchange contracts attributable to changes in credit spread are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Cross currency basis spread was historically included in the hedging relationship. Any ineffectiveness arising out of cross currency basis spread is recognised in the statement of profit and loss as it arises. Cross currency basis spread arising from forward exchange contracts entered after 1st January 2018 is identified as cost of hedge and accordingly changes in fair value attributable to this is recognised in cost of hedge reserve.

Changes in fair value of foreign currency derivative and bonds, to the extent determined to be an effective hedge, is recognised in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion of the fair value change is recognised in statement of Profit and Loss. The fair value gain/losses recorded in Hedge reserve and Cost of Hedge reserve is recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the forecasted transactions occur. The accumulated gain/losses in hedge reserve and cost of hedge reserve are expected to be recognised in statement of profit or loss during the years ending March 31, 2019 to 2023.

(₹ in crores)

		(\ III cloles)
	As at March 31,2018	As at March 31,2017
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency derivative contracts entered for cash flow hedges of forecast sales recognised in hedging reserve	6,533.29	(24,547.60)
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency derivative contracts entered for cash flow hedges of forecast inventory purchases recognised in hedging reserve	1,227.74	2,026.77
Fair value gain/(loss) of foreign currency bonds designated as cash flow hedges of forecast sales recognised in hedging reserve	1,243.52	(1,314.07)
Fair value gain/(loss) of cross currency interest rate swaps entered for cash flow hedges of repayment of foreign currency denominated borrowings recognised in hedging reserve	(35.91)	-
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in hedging reserve	8,968.64	(23,834.90)
Gain/(loss) reclassified from hedging reserve and recognised in 'Revenue from Operation' in the statement of profit and loss on occurrence of forecast sales	(10,274.11)	(9,928.70)
Gain/(loss) reclassified out of hedging reserve and recorded in inventory in the Balance sheet on occurrence of forecast purchases	1,430.25	1,020.39
Gain/(loss) reclassified from hedging reserve and recognised in 'Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)' in the statement of profit and loss on account of forecast transactions no longer expected to occur	(54.70)	(367.31)
Gain/(loss) reclassified from hedging reserve	(8,898.56)	(9,275.62)
Gain/(loss) on foreign currency derivatives not hedge accounted, recognised in 'Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)' in the statement of profit and loss	1,176.20	(2,041.94)
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in 'Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)' in the statement of profit and loss on account of ineffectiveness arising from foreign currency basis spread on forward contracts designated in cash flow hedge relationship	381.64	(231.78)

(d) Financial risk management

In the course of its business, the Company is exposed primarily to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices, liquidity and credit risk, which may adversely impact the fair value of its financial instruments.

The Company has a risk management policy which not only covers the foreign exchange risks but also other risks associated with the financial assets and liabilities such as interest rate risks and credit risks. The risk management policy is approved by the board of directors. The risk management framework aims to:

- Create a stable business planning environment by reducing the impact of currency and interest rate fluctuations on the Company's business plan.
- · Achieve greater predictability to earnings by determining the financial value of the expected earnings in advance.

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of any loss in future earnings, in realizable fair values or in future cash flows that may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity price fluctuations, liquidity and other market changes. Future specific market movements cannot be normally predicted with reasonable accuracy.

(a) Foreign currency exchange rate risk:

The fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates may have potential impact on the income statement and equity, where any transaction references more than one currency or where assets/liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the respective consolidated entities.

Considering the countries and economic environment in which the Company operates, its operations are subject to risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates in those countries. The risks primarily relate to fluctuations in U.S. dollar, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen, Singapore dollar and Euro, against the respective functional currencies of Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries.

The Company, as per its risk management policy, uses foreign exchange and other derivative instruments primarily to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate exposure. Furthermore, any movement in the functional currencies of the various operations of the Company against major foreign currencies may impact the Company's revenues from its international operations. Any weakening of the functional currency may impact the Company's cost of imports and cost of borrowings and consequently may increase the cost of financing the Company's capital expenditures.

The Company evaluates the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations by assessing its exposure to exchange rate risks. It hedges a part of these risks by using derivative financial instruments in accordance with its risk management policies.

The foreign exchange rate sensitivity is calculated for each currency by aggregation of the net foreign exchange rate exposure of a currency and a simultaneous parallel foreign exchange rates shift in the foreign exchange rates of each currency by 10%.

The following analysis is based on the gross exposure as of the relevant balance sheet dates, which could affect the income statement. There is no exposure to the income statement on account of translation of financial statements of consolidated foreign entities. Furthermore, the exposure as indicated below is mitigated by some of the derivative contracts entered into by the Company as disclosed at clause (iv) below.

The following table sets forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives disclosed at clause (iv) below) as at March 31, 2018:

(₹ in crores)

								(
		U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	GBP	Japanese Yen	Others ¹	Total
(a)	Financial assets	13,531.07	12,817.17	4,997.72	1,511.50	475.02	4,165.24	37,497.72
(b)	Financial liabilities	36,909.10	31,192.69	5,398.91	6,371.66	545.65	3,538.95	83,956.96

¹Others mainly include currencies such as the Russian rouble, Singapore dollars, Swiss franc, Australian dollars, South African rand, Thai baht and Korean won.

10% appreciation/depreciation of the respective foreign currencies with respect to functional currency of the Company would result in increase/decrease in the Company's net income before tax by approximately ₹ 3,749.77 crores for financial assets and decrease/increase in Company's net income before tax by approximately ₹ 8,395.70 crores for financial liabilities respectively for the year ended March 31, 2018.

The following table set forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives disclosed at clause (iv) below) as at March 31, 2017:

		U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	Japanese Yen	Others ²	Total
(a)	Financial assets	10,498.74	9,862.42	4,000.96	127.98	4,432.32	28,922.42
(b)	Financial liabilities	37,547.87	21,301.83	3,399.19	538.22	2,939.25	65,726.36

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is measured by using the cash flow sensitivity for changes in variable interest rates. Any movement in the reference rates could have an impact on the Company's cash flows as well as costs.

The Company is subject to variable interest rates on some of its interest bearing liabilities. The Company's interest rate exposure is mainly related to debt obligations. The Company also uses a mix of interest rate sensitive financial instruments to manage the liquidity and fund requirements for its day to day operations like short term non-convertible bonds and short term loans.

In its financing business, the Company enters into transactions with customers which primarily result in receivables at fixed rates. In order to manage this risk, the Company has a policy to match funding in terms of maturities and interest rates and also for certain part of the portfolio, the Company does not match funding with maturities, in order to take advantage of market opportunities.

The Company also enters into arrangements of securitization of receivables in order to reduce the impact of interest rate movements. Further, Company also enters into interest rate swap contracts with banks to manage its interest rate risk.

As at March 31, 2018 and 2017 financial liability of ₹ 21,018.28 crores and ₹ 18,928.36 crores, respectively, was subject to variable interest rates. Increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would result in an impact (decrease/increase in case of net income) of ₹ 210.18 crores and ₹ 189.28 crores on income for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The model assumes that interest rate changes are instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve. Although some assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods to re-pricing, these may not react correspondingly to changes in market interest rates. Also, the interest rates on some types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate with changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types of assets may change with a lag.

The risk estimates provided assume a parallel shift of 100 basis points interest rate across all yield curves. This calculation also assumes that the change occurs at the balance sheet date and has been calculated based on risk exposures outstanding as at that date. The period end balances are not necessarily representative of the average debt outstanding during the period.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

The Company uses cross currency interest rate swaps to hedge some of its exposure to interest rate arising from variable rate foreign currency denominated debt. The Company and its subsidiaries also uses cross currency interest rate swaps to convert some of its foreign currency denominated fixed rate debt to floating rate debt.

(c) Equity Price risk

Equity Price Risk is related to the change in market reference price of the investments in equity securities.

The fair value of some of the Company's investments in equity securities exposes the Company to equity price risks. In general, these securities are not held for trading purposes. These investments are subject to changes in the market price of securities. The fair value of some of the Companies investment in quoted equity securities as of March 31, 2018 and 2017, was ₹ 340.48 crores and ₹ 260.29 crores, respectively. A 10% change in equity prices of available-for-sale securities held as of March 31, 2018 and 2017, would result in an impact of ₹ 34.05 crores and ₹ 26.03 crores on equity, respectively.

(Note: The impact is indicated on equity before consequential tax impact, if any).

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from counterparty failure to repay or service debt according to the contractual terms or obligations. Credit risk encompasses both the direct risk of default and the risk of deterioration of creditworthiness as well as concentration risks.

Financial instruments that are subject to concentrations of credit risk, principally consist of investments in debt instruments, trade receivables, finance receivables, loans and advances and derivative financial instruments. None of the financial instruments of the Company result in material concentrations of credit risks.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk was ₹1,03,506.52 crores as at March 31, 2018 and ₹ 88,716.87 crores as at March 31, 2017, being the total of the carrying amount of balances with banks, short term deposits with banks, trade receivables, finance receivables, margin money and other financial assets excluding equity investments.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

None of the Company's cash equivalents, including time deposits with banks, are past due or impaired. Regarding trade receivables and other receivables, and other loans or receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there were no indications as at March 31, 2018, that defaults in payment obligations will occur.

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment loss

The ageing of trade receivables and finance receivables as of balance sheet date is given below. The age analysis have been considered from the due date.

(₹ in crores)

Trad	e receivables	As a	at March 31, 20)18	As a	et March 31, 20)17
		Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net
Peri	od (in months)						
(a)	Not due	15,951.89	(21.56)	15,930.33	11,943.87	(90.99)	11,852.88
(b)	Overdue up to 3 months	3,281.94	(37.15)	3,244.79	1,771.82	(31.98)	1,739.84
(c)	Overdue 3-6 months	224.36	(35.48)	188.88	185.93	(25.49)	160.44
(d)	Overdue more than 6 months	1,696.78	(1,167.48)	529.30 ¹	1,551.37	(1,228.98)	322.39
	Total	21,154.97	(1,261.67)	19,893.30	15,452.99	(1,377.44)	14,075.55

Trade receivables consist of a large number of various types of customers, spread across geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of these trade receivables and where appropriate, allowance for losses are provided.

The Company makes allowances for losses on its portfolio of finance receivable on the basis of expected future collection from receivables. The future collection are estimated on the basis of past collection trend which are adjusted for changes in current circumstances as well as expected changes in collection on account of future with respect to certain macro economic factor like GDP growth, fuel price and inflation.

Fina	nce receivables ²	As a	at March 31, 20	118	As at March 31, 2017			
		Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net	
Period (in months)								
(a)	Not due ³	23,914.24	(762.15)	23,152.09	18,004.78	(1,604.08)	16,400.70	
(b)	Overdue up to 3 months	452.63	(15.45)	437.18	298.24	(20.39)	277.85	
(c)	Overdue more than 3 months	703.88	(411.97)	291.91	2,857.74	(1,973.04)	884.70	
	Total	25,070.75	(1,189.57)	23,881.18	21,160.76	(3,597.51)	17,563.25	

² Finance receivables originated in India.

(iii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company cannot meet its financial obligations. The objective of liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient liquidity and ensure that funds are available for use as per requirements.

The Company has obtained fund and non-fund based working capital lines from various banks. Furthermore, the Company has access to funds from debt markets through commercial paper programs, non-convertible debentures, fixed deposits from public, senior notes and other debt instruments. The Company invests its surplus funds in bank fixed deposit and liquid and liquid plus schemes of mutual funds, which carry no/low mark to market risks. The Company has also invested 15% of the public deposits/non-convertible debentures (taken by the Company) falling due for repayment in the next 12 months in bank deposits, to meet the regulatory norms of liquidity requirements.

¹ Trade receivables overdue more than six months include ₹ **462.22 crores** as at March 31, 2018 (₹ 212.29 crores as at March 31, 2017, outstanding from state government organizations in India, which are considered recoverable.

³ Allowance in the "Not due" category includes allowance against installments pertaining to impaired finance receivables which have not yet fallen due.

The Company also constantly monitors funding options available in the debt and capital markets with a view to maintaining financial flexibility.

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as at March 31, 2018:

							(₹ in crores)
Financial liabilities		Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
(a)	Trade payables and acceptances	76,939.83	76,939.83	-	-	-	76,939.83
(b)	Borrowings and interest thereon	90,046.19	31,349.98	14,909.70	40,002.72	16,401.49	102,663.89
(c)	Derivative liabilities	8,657.86	6,207.66	2,968.80	1,218.82	120.76	10,516.04
(d)	Other financial liabilities	13,296.93	13,026.82	153.23	87.48	79.64	13,347.17
	Total	188,940.81	127,524.29	18,031.73	41,309.02	16,601.89	203,466.93

Contractual maturities of borrowings includes cash flows relating to collateralised debt obligations. This represents the amount received against the transfer of finance receivables in securitisation transactions and/or direct assignments, which do not qualify for derecognition. The liability of the Company in such cases is limited to the extent of credit enhancements provided. The contractual maturities of such collateralised debt obligations are as follows:

Financial liabilities	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Collateralised debt obligations	1,320.58	728.09	592.49	-	-	1,320.58

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as at March 31, 2017:

Fina	ncial liabilities	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
(a)	Trade payables	57,698.33	57,698.33	-	-	-	57,698.33
(b)	Acceptances	4,834.24	4,834.24	-	_	_	4,834.24
(c)	Borrowings and interest thereon	79,547.22	21,733.53	13,055.95	39,614.01	19,358.94	93,762.43
(d)	Derivative liabilities	25,517.52	15,791.87	10,470.86	6,052.83	1.15	32,316.71
(e)	Other financial liabilities	6,468.79	6,318.78	30.53	69.78	78.89	6,497.98
	Total	174,066.10	106,376.75	23,557.34	45,736.62	19,438.98	195,109.69

The contractual maturities of such collateralised debt obligations are as follows:

Financial liabilities	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Collateralised debt obligations	1,027.38	629.67	367.07	110.82	-	1,107.56

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and risk management

The Company has entered into variety of foreign currency, interest rates and commodity forward contracts and options to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity price risk. The counter-party is generally a bank. These financial exposures are managed in accordance with the Company's risk management policies and procedures.

The Company also enters into interest rate swaps and interest rate currency swap agreements, mainly to manage exposure on its fixed rate or variable rate debt. The Company uses interest rate derivatives or currency swaps to hedge exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on principal and interest payments for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies.

Specific transactional risks include risks like liquidity and pricing risks, interest rate and exchange rate fluctuation risks, volatility risks, counter-party risks, settlement risks and gearing risks.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments are determined using valuation techniques based on information derived from observable market data.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is as follows:

			(₹ in crores)
		As at March 31, 2018	As at March 31, 2017
(a)	Foreign currency forward exchange contracts and options	(3,708.93)	(21,685.18)
(b)	Commodity Derivatives	(0.24)	385.66
(c)	Others including interest rate and currency swaps	374.34	67.52
	Total	(3,334.83)	(21,232.00)

The gain/loss on commodity derivative contracts, recognised in the statement of Profit and Loss was ₹ 214.63 crores gain and ₹ 918.40 crores gain for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Foreign exchange sensitivity in respect of company's exposure to forward and option contract:

	As at	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
10% Depreciation of foreign currency:		
Gain/(loss) in hedging reserve	4,532.90	12,194.42
Gain/(loss) in statement of Profit and loss	213.42	(90.35)
10% Appreciation of foreign currency:		
Gain/(loss) in hedging reserve	(5,335.38)	(13,011.69)
Gain/(loss) in statement of Profit and loss	(134.65)	816.50

In respect of the Company's commodity derivative contracts, a 10% depreciation/appreciation of all commodity prices underlying such contracts, would have resulted in an approximate (loss)/gain of (₹ 461.42) crores/ ₹ 461.42 crores and (₹461.24) / ₹461.24 crores in the statement of profit and loss for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Exposure to gain/loss on derivative instruments offset to some extent the exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk as disclosed above.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

40. Disclosure of financial instruments designated as hedging instrument in cash flow hedge

The details of cash flow hedges entered into by one of the Company's subsidiaries to hedge the currency fluctuation of its functional currency (GBP) against foreign currencies to hedge future cash flows arising from revenue and repayment of borrowing cost of materials is as follows:

Outstanding contracts	Average st	rike rate _	Nominal a £ in mi		Fair value ₹ in crores		
	As at March	As at March	As at March	As at March	As at March	As at March	
	31, 2018	31, 2017	31, 2018	31, 2017	31, 2018	31, 2017	
Fx Forwards			-			-	
Cash flow hedges - USD							
Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.659	0.667	1,724.9	2,767.7	(1,148.02)	(4,228.80)	
Between 1-5 years	0.676	0.668	2,659.9	4,850.8	(581.39)	(6,228.30)	
Cash flow hedges - Chinese							
Yuan							
Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy -							
GBP							
<1 year	0.102	0.100	2,974.0	3,435.7	(2,774.27)	(3,874.38)	
Between 1-5 years	0.105	0.102	2,581.9	4,132.3	(767.81)	(2,096.60)	
Cash flow hedges -Euro							
Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP							
<1 year	0.817	0.795	1,602.1	1,574.1	1,200.62	977.50	
Between 1-5 years	0.868	0.804	2,818.8	2,327.5	1,108.34	1,464.62	
Detween 1 o georg	0.000	0.001	2,010.0	2,027.0	1,100.01	., 10 1.02	
Cash flow hedges - Other	•						
<1 year	-	-	1,748.3	1,675.7	(567.55)	(2,483.39)	
Between 1-5 years	-	-	1,559.7	1,829.5	370.98	(1,459.77)	
Fx Options							
Cash flow hedges - USD							
Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP							
<1 year	0.743	0.760	48.3	11.4	25.84	_	
Between 1-5 years	0.706	0.728	258.4	127.4	113.51	5.66	
Cash flow hedges - Chinese					······		
Yuan							
Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy -	••••		***************************************		•	***************************************	
GBP							
<1 year	0.103	0.105	10.3	10.5	-	-	
Between 1-5 years	-	0.103	-	10.3	-	1.62	
Cash flow hedges -Euro							
Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP							
<1 year	0.963	0.956	534.3	186.5	(23.07)	(28.32)	
Between 1-5 years	0.969	0.969	1,560.4	1,588.9	105.20	(158.60)	
Cross currency interest rate							
SWaps							
Buy - USD / Sell - GBP							
Between 1-5 years	0.759	-	379.6	-	(258.40)	-	
Detricent to gents	0., 33		3,3.0		(23370)		
USD denominated Bonds	0.673		471.0		(4,614.23)		
<1 year	0.736		735.8		(6,561.44)		
Between 1-5 years	-	0.803	-	963.0	_	(7,964.60)	

41. Segment reporting

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment includes all activities relating to development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. The Company provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India. The vehicle financing is intended to drive sale of vehicles by providing financing to the dealers' customers and as such is an integral part of automotive business. The financing activity is assessed as an integral part of the overall automotive business. The operating results of the financing activity does not include all of the interest or cost of funds employed for the purposes of financing, and therefore the operating results of this activity is not used to make decisions about resources to be allocated or to asses performance.

The Company's products mainly include Tata and other brand vehicles and Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles.

As at March 31, 2018, the automotive segment is bifurcated into the following:

Tata and other brand vehicles, including financing thereof and Jaguar Land Rover.

The Company's other segment comprises primarily activities relating to information technology or IT services, machine tools and factory automation solutions.

The segment information presented is in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company. Segment revenues, expenses and results include inter-segment transfers. Such transfers are undertaken either at competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar goods or at contracted rates. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

(₹ in crores)

							(\ III CI OI es)
		Fo	or the year end	ed /as at Marc	h 31, 2018		
_		Auto	omotive and re	lated activity			
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof) ¹	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter- segment eliminations	Total
Revenues:							
External revenue	66,469.13	226,964.86	-	293,433.99	1,975.35	-	295,409.34
Inter-segment/intra- segment revenue	151.25	-	(131.91)	19.34	1,277.01	(1,296.35)	-
Total revenues	66,620.38	226,964.86	(131.91)	293,453.33	3,252.36	(1,296.35)	295,409.34
Earnings before other income, finance cost, foreign exchange gain / (loss) (net), exceptional items and tax	2,103.58	9,408.80	-	11,512.38	422.32	(147.19)	11,787.51
Reconciliation to Profit							
before tax:							
Other income							888.89
Finance costs							(4,681.79)
Foreign exchange gain/ (loss) (net)							1,185.28
Exceptional items							1,975.14
Profit before tax							11,155.03
Depreciation and amortisation expense	3,240.38	18,257.09	-	21,497.47	56.12	-	21,553.59
Capital expenditure	3,512.92	39,093.99	-	42,606.90	84.16	(18.78)	42,672.29
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees (net)	30.18	2,138.92	-	2,169.10	109.16	-	2,278.26

		Fo	or the year end	ed /as at Marc	h 31, 2018		
•		Auto	omotive and rel	ated activity			
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof) 1	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter- segment eliminations	Total
Segment assets	73,398.85	199,513.67	-	272,912.52	13.26	(886.02)	272,039.76
Assets classified as held for sale	223.33	-	-	223.33	2,756.91	(395.05)	2,585.19
Investment in equity accounted investees	385.50	4,502.39	-	4,887.89	_	-	4,887.89
Investment in equity accounted investees (held for sale)	-	-	-	-	497.35	-	497.35
Reconciliation to total assets:							
Other Investments							15,427.51
Current and non-current tax assets (net)			-				1,108.81
Deferred tax assets (net)			-				4,158.70
Other unallocated financial assets ²							30,645.30
Total assets							331,350.51
Segment liabilities	20,298.72	107,864.26	-	128,162.98	84.01	(315.22)	127,931.77
Liabilities classified as held-for-sale	-	-	-	_	1,070.18	-	1,070.18
Reconciliation to total liabilities:							
Borrowings				•			88,950.47
Current tax liabilities (net)			-				1,559.07
Deferred tax liabilities (net)							6,125.80
Other unallocated financial liabilities ³							9,760.25
Total liabilities							235,397.54

¹ Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Fiat brand vehicles.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income.

³ Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

							(₹ in crores)
_			or the year end		h 31, 2017		
_		Auto	omotive and re	lated activity			
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof) ¹	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter- segment eliminations	Total
Revenues:							
External revenue	56,292.59	216,388.82	-	272,681.41	1,810.71	-	274,492.12
Inter-segment/intra- segment revenue	156.19	-	(145.19)	11.00	1,373.35	(1,384.35)	-
Total revenues	56,448.78	216,388.82	(145.19)	272,692.41	3,184.06	(1,384.35)	274,492.12
Earnings before other income, finance cost, foreign exchange gain / (loss) (net), exceptional items and tax	207.05	15,117.07	-	15,324.12	471.90	(202.22)	15,593.80
Reconciliation to Profit before tax:							
Other income							754.54
Finance costs							(4,238.01)
Foreign exchange gain/ (loss) (net)							(3,910.10)
Exceptional items	-	•					1,114.56
Profit before tax							9,314.79
Depreciation and amortisation expense	3,157.71	14,650.51	_	17,808.22	96.77	_	17,904.99
Capital expenditure	4,018.58	27,783.03	_	31,801.61	124.12	(174.99)	31,750.74
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees (net)	25.21	1,384.37	-	1,409.58	83.42	-	1,493.00
Segment assets	64,890.05	154,654.50	_	219,544.55	2,205.13	(1,023.72)	220,725.96
Investment in equity accounted investees	377.31	3,835.72	-	4,213.03	392.98	-	4,606.01
Reconciliation to total assets:			······································				
Other investments							15,731.91
Current and non-current income tax assets		-					1,195.67
Deferred income taxes	······································	•					4,457.34
Other unallocated financial assets ²							27,037.47
Total assets							273,754.36

		F	or the year end	ed /as at March	31, 2017		
		Aut	omotive and re	lated activity			
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof) ¹	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter- segment eliminations	Total
Segment liabilities	17,548.81	89,478.99	-	107,027.80	747.75	(250.44)	107,525.11
Reconciliation to total liabilities:							
Borrowings			•	***************************************		-	78,603.98
Current income tax liabilities			•			-	1,392.58
Deferred income taxes			•	-			1,174.00
Other unallocated financial liabilities ³			•				26,543.63
Total liabilities							215,239.30

¹ Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Fiat brand vehicles.

Entity-wide disclosures

Information concerning principal geographic areas is as follows:

Net sales to external customers by geographic area by location of customers:

/-		١.
Ιŧ	ın	crores)

		Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
(a)	India	59,593.18	47,101.21
(b)	United States of America	44,991.88	42,935.31
(c)	United Kingdom	51,356.29	50,588.18
(d)	Rest of Europe	46,393.27	47,122.48
(e)	China	43,394.13	41,369.40
(f)	Rest of the World	49,680.59	45,375.54
	Total	295,409.34	274,492.12

Non-current assets (Property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets, other non-current assets and Goodwill) by geographic area:

	As At	As at
	March 31, 2018	March 31, 2017
India	27,222.38	28,347.32
United States of America	299.00	251.84
United Kingdom	124,201.80	96,966.41
Rest of Europe	7,242.06	1,306.66
China	166.11	91.04
Rest of the World	2,697.73	3,005.75
Total	161,829.08	129,969.02
	United States of America United Kingdom Rest of Europe China Rest of the World	India 27,222.38 United States of America 299.00 United Kingdom 124,201.80 Rest of Europe 7,242.06 China 166.11 Rest of the World 2,697.73

² Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income.

 $^{^{\}rm 3}$ Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

Information about product revenues:

(₹ in crores) Year ended Year ended March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 59,027.59 (a) Tata and Fiat vehicles 48,069.14 (b) Tata Daewoo commercial vehicles 4,828.79 5,793.30 (c) Finance revenues 2,604.03 2,429.23 (d) Jaguar Land Rover vehicles 226,964.86 216,388.82 1,984.07 (e) Others 1,811.63

295,409.34

274,492.12

42. Related-party transactions

TOTAL

The Company's related parties principally consist of Tata Sons Limited, subsidiaries and joint arrangements of Tata Sons Limited, the Company's associates and their subsidiaries, joint operations and joint ventures of the Company. The Company routinely enters into transactions with these related parties in the ordinary course of business. The Company enters into transactions for sale and purchase of products and services with its associates, joint operations and joint ventures. Transactions and balances with its own subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation.

The following table summarizes related-party transactions and balances for the year ended/as at March 31, 2018:

	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint ventures	Total
Purchase of products	2,605.70	-	3,163.10	171.30	5,940.10
Sale of products	201.60	6,008.21	545.49	709.10	7,464.40
Services received	8.90	550.09	0.16	1,735.30	2,294.45
Services rendered	19.00	1,207.72	4.34	24.10	1,255.16
Bills discounted	-	-	-	4,135.03	4,135.03
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	62.40	-	-	0.20	62.60
Purchase of Investments	-	2.50	-	-	2.50
Interest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/ paid, (net)	(9.50)	(1,764.49)	(4.60)	26.30	(1,752.29)
Finance taken (including loans and equity)	489.00	_	_	_	489.00
Finance taken, paid back (including loans and equity)	489.00	-	-	-	489.00
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon	-	_	_	4.00	4.00
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	56.00	_	_	4.80	60.80
Trade and other receivables	63.30	1,037.14	(0.07)	151.10	1,251.47
Trade payables	149.60	0.25	184.88	335.70	670.43
Acceptances	-	-	-	220.16	220.16
Deposits given as security	-	_	_	3.00	3.00

Note: With the introduction of GST from July 1, 2017, the related party transactions reported does not include indirect tax component. The previous period figures to that extent are not comparable.

The following table summarizes related-party transactions included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended as at March 31, 2017:

	A ! - 1	1-1-1	1-1-1	T-1-C-	(₹ in crores)
,	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint ventures	Total
Purchase of products	2,058.52	21.30	2,275.75	66.84	4,422.41
Sale of products	250.49	4,983.53	323.72	461.50	6,019.24
Services received	10.98	1,088.57	0.07	1,970.15	3,069.77
Services rendered	16.64	771.88	16.12	130.13	934.77
Bill discounted	-	-	-	3,202.77	3,202.77
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	13.79	-	-	0.11	13.90
Interest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/ paid, (net)	(11.10)	(594.36)	(12.12)	64.26	(553.32)
Finance given (including loans and equity)	-	-	-	30.30	30.30
Finance given, taken back (including loans and equity)	-	-	132.50	60.30	192.80
Finance taken (including loans and equity)	329.00	-	-	589.63	918.63
Finance taken, paid back (including loans and equity)	300.00	-	-	626.95	926.95
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon	_	_	_	9.33	9.33
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	56.00	-	-	105.55	161.55
Trade and other receivables	49.52	565.86	-	160.01	775.39
Trade payables	39.76	22.63	123.96	471.11	657.46
Conversion of optionally convertible preference shares into equity shares	160.00	-	-	-	160.00
Deposits given as security	-	-	-	3.00	3.00
Details of significant transactions are given below:					
Name of Related party	Nature	of relationship	Ma	Year ended arch 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 201
i) Services rendered				•	
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited	Joint venture			1,207.72	1,087.5
ii) Bill discounted	Tata Conc Itd	ite cubeidiasia	c and		
Tata Capital	iala 20112 L[0	, its subsidiarie	S allu		

Post-employment benefits*

1.76

18.47

The compensation of CEO and Managing Director is ₹ 26.42 crores and ₹ 22.55 crores for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

joint ventures

Compensation of key management personnel:

Short-term benefits

4,135.03

79.84

Year ended

March 31, 2018

3,202.77

69.31

Year ended

March 31, 2017

The compensation of CEO at Jaguar Land Rover is ₹ 40.08 crores and ₹ 55.17 crores for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

* Excludes provision for encashable leave and gratuity for certain key management personnel as a separate actuarial valuation is not available.

Other transactions with key management personnel:

	Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
Sale of products	-	0.81
Dividend paid	-	_ **

^{**} less than ₹ 50,000/-

Refer note 36 for information on transactions with post employment benefit plan.

43. Earnings per Share ("EPS")

(₹ in crores)

				(< iii ciores)
			Year ended March 31, 2018	Year ended March 31, 2017
(a)	Profit / (Loss) for the period	₹ crores	8,988.91	7,454.36
(b)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	2,887,348,357	2,887,218,310
(c)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	508,502,336	508,483,714
(d)	The nominal value per share (Ordinary and 'A' Ordinary)	₹	2.00	2.00
(e)	Share of profit / (loss) for Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	₹ crores	7,638.57	6,333.80
(f)	Share of profit / (loss) for 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS*	₹ crores	1,350.34	1,120.56
(g)	Earnings Per Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	26.46	21.94
(h)	Earnings Per 'A' Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	26.56	22.04
(i)	Profit after tax for Diluted EPS	₹ crores	8,988.91	7,454.36
(j)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	2,887,348,357	2,887,218,310
(k)	Add: Adjustment for Options relating to warrants and shares held in abeyance	Nos.	494,469	599,766
(l)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	2,887,842,826	2,887,818,076
(m)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	508,502,336	508,483,714
(n)	Add: Adjustment for 'A' Ordinary shares held in abeyance	Nos.	233,774	252,396
(o)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	508,736,110	508,736,110
(p)	Share of profit for Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	₹ crores	7,638.23	6,333.52
(q)	Share of profit for 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS*	₹ crores	1,350.68	1,120.84
(r)	Earnings Per Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	26.45	21.93
(s)	Earnings Per 'A' Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	26.55	22.03

^{* &#}x27;A' Ordinary shareholders are entitled to receive dividend at 5 percentage points more than the aggregate rate of dividend determined by the Company on Ordinary shares for the financial year.

44. Additional information as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, of enterprises consolidated as subsidiary / Associates / Joint Ventures

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total liabilities)	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
Parent								
Tata Motors Ltd	20.63%	19,683.32	(14.09)%	(1,266.19)	0.14%	42.18	(3.18)%	(1,224.01)
Subsidiaries				•	······································	-		
Indian								
TAL Manufacturing Solutions Ltd	0.10%	98.39	0.15%	13.39	0.00%	(0.42)	0.03%	12.97
Concorde Motors (India) Ltd	0.01%	11.22	(1.45)%	(130.24)	0.00%	0.07	(0.34)%	(130.17)
Tata Motors Finance Ltd	1.85%	1,764.43	1.50%	135.08	0.03%	9.83	0.38%	144.91
Tata Technologies Ltd	0.76%	721.25	1.97%	177.47	(0.01)%	(1.51)	0.46%	175.96
Tata Motors Insurance Broking & Advisory Services Ltd	0.03%	27.48	0.16%	14.13	0.00%	(0.43)	0.04%	13.70
TML Distribution Company Ltd	0.37%	354.44	0.56%	50.15	0.00%	0.23	0.13%	50.38
Tata Motors Finance Holdings Ltd	3.45%	3,292.77	(0.20)%	(18.28)	0.00%	(0.08)	(0.05)%	(18.36)
Tata Motors Financial Solutions Ltd	1.25%	1,196.34	17.19%	1,545.13	0.00%	0.68	4.01%	1,545.81
Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd	0.13%	120.77	0.11%	9.68	0.00%	0.34	0.03%	10.02
Jaguar Land Rover India Limited	0.29%	274.42	(0.04)%	(3.30)	0.00%	(0.10)	(0.01)%	(3.40)
Foreign Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd	2.66%	2,539.86	2.26%	202.91	0.38%	111.88	0.82%	314.79
Tata Motors European Technical Centre Plc	0.35%	336.00	0.33%	29.88	0.00%	-	0.08%	29.88
Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd	0.02%	15.19	0.02%	1.83	0.00%	-	0.00%	1.83
Tata Motors (Thailand) Ltd	(0.53)%	(510.36)	(1.48)%	(132.77)	0.00%	(0.09)	(0.34)%	(132.86)
TML Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore	9.99%	9,536.74	1.38%	123.78	(1.29)%	(379.80)	(0.66)%	(256.02)
Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A	(0.80)%	(765.52)	(0.10)%	(9.09)	0.00%	-	(0.02)%	(9.09)
Tata Hispano Motors Carroceries Maghreb	(0.03)%	(29.27)	(0.05)%	(4.38)	0.00%	-	(0.01)%	(4.38)
Trilix S.r.l	0.05%	48.78	(0.13)%	(11.64)	0.00%	-	(0.03)%	(11.64)
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.00%	0.86	0.00%	(0.13)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.13)
PT Tata Motors Indonesia	0.22%	210.10	(0.03)%	(2.92)	0.00%	0.04	(0.01)%	(2.88)
INCAT International Plc. Tata Technologies Inc.	0.05% 0.37%	44.21 353.74	0.00% 0.05%	(0.26) 4.84	0.02% 0.01%	5.45 1.84	0.01% 0.02%	5.20 6.69
(Including Midwest Managed Services Inc.which got merged into Tata Technologies Inc. w.e.f. Feb 28, 2018)	0.37 /6	333.74	0.03%	4.04	0.01/6	1.04	0.02%	0.03
Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	0.01%	6.34	0.01%	0.53	0.00%	0.14	0.00%	0.67
Cambric Limited, Bahamas	0.02%	19.07	0.00%	(0.22)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.22)
Cambric UK Limited (Dissolved	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	0.43	0.00%	0.43
w.e.f. May 23, 2017) Cambric GmbH (in process of	0.00%	1.96	0.00%	(0.31)	0.00%	0.30	0.00%	(0.01)
liquidation) Tata Technolgies SRL, Romania (erstwhile Cambric Consulting SRL was renamed w.e.f February 4, 2015)	0.03%	27.03	0.07%	6.55	0.01%	2.37	0.02%	8.93
Tata Manufacturing Technologies Consulting (Shanghai) Limited	0.04%	38.91	0.11%	10.24	0.01%	3.10	0.03%	13.33
Tata Technologies Europe Limited	0.75%	718.18	0.65%	58.63	0.33%	97.79	0.41%	156.42
Escenda Engineering AB (Tata Technologies Europe Limited acquired 100% stake in the Company w.e.f. May 1, 2017)	0.00%	(0.17)	(0.12)%	(10.86)	0.00%	(1.33)	(0.03)%	(12.19)

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
INCAT GmbH (in process of	0.02%	liabilities) 18.12	0.01%	0.47	0.01%	2.55	0.01%	3.02
liquidation) Tata Technologies (Thailand)	0.01%	10.10	0.02%	2.07	0.00%	0.80	0.01%	2.87
Limited Tata Technologies ESOP Trust	0.00%	2.68	0.00%	0.20	0.00%		0.00%	0.20
Tata Technologies ESOP Trust Tata Technologies Europe Limited ESOP Trust	0.00%	10.93	0.01%	1.32	0.00%	0.02	0.00%	1.34
TATA Technologies Pte Ltd.	0.76%	726.17	(0.03)%	(2.79)	0.01%	3.78	0.00%	0.99
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc	22.61%	21,572.85	47.66%	4,284.31	0.00%	- 3.76	11.12%	4,284.31
Jaguar Land Rover Limited (previously Jaguar Cars Limited)	100.56%	95,959.27	60.71%	5,456.95	85.05%	25,121.23	79.37%	30,578.18
Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited(formally known as Land Rover)	43.44%	41,456.15	(0.64)%	(57.76)	0.00%	-	(0.15)%	(57.76)
JLR Nominee Company Limited (Formally known as Jaguar Land Rover Exports Limited,	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
formerly Jaguar Cars Exports Limited)								
Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited	1.35%	1,290.38	1.93%	173.52	0.00%	-	0.45%	173.52
Jaguar Cars Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Land Rover Exports Limited (Business transferred to Jaguar Land Rover Exports Ltd)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Daimler Motor Company Limited	0.01%	13.84	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
S S Cars Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
The Jaguar Collection Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Cars (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o.	2.82%	2,693.47	0.72%	64.86	0.31%	91.83	0.41%	156.69
Jaguar Racing Limited	0.01%	7.60	0.04%	3.61	0.00%		0.01%	3.61
InMotion Ventures Limited	(0.07)%	(67.63)	(0.12)%	(10.64)	0.00%	-	(0.03)%	(10.64)
InMotion Ventures 1 Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%		0.00%	-
InMotion Ventures 2 Limited InMotion Ventures 3 Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%		0.00%		0.00%	
Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited	0.00% 0.00%	1.62	0.00% 0.02%	1.51	0.00% (0.01)%	(1.72)	0.00% 0.00%	(0.21)
Spark44 (JV) Ltd	0.27%	261.18	0.59%	52.80	0.05%	14.57	0.17%	67.37
Spark44 Limited (London & Birmingham)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Spark44 Pty Ltd (Sydney)	0.00%	2.71	0.02%	1.39	0.00%	-	0.00%	1.39
Spark44 GmbH (Frankfurt)	0.02%	15.19	0.06%	5.27	0.00%	-	0.01%	5.27
Spark44 GLLC (LA & NYC)	0.04%	36.07	0.07%	6.65	0.00%		0.02%	6.65
Spark44 Limited (Shanghai) Spark44 Middle East DMCC	0.02% 0.04%	22.05 35.96	0.06% 0.24%	5.72 21.59	0.00% 0.00%	-	0.01% 0.06%	5.72 21.59
(Dubai) Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Pte Ltd (Mumbai)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Spark44 Pte Ltd (Singapore)	0.00%	1.70	0.01%	1.18	0.00%		0.00%	1.18
Spark44 Communicacions SL (Madrid)	0.00%	2.46	0.02%	1.70	0.00%	-	0.00%	1.70
Spark44 SRL (Rome)	0.00%	0.15	0.00%	0.05	0.00%	-	0.00%	0.05
Spark44 Limited (Seoul)	0.00%	4.37	0.02%	1.95	0.00%	-	0.01%	1.95
Spark44 K.K. (Tokyo)	0.00%	3.30	0.02%	1.50	0.00%	-	0.00%	1.50
Spark44 Canada Inc (Toronto)	0.03%	28.03	0.06%	5.19	0.00%	-	0.01%	5.19
Spark44 South Africa (Pty) Limited	0.00%	1.18	0.00%	0.44	0.00%	-	0.00%	0.44

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
Limited Liability Company	0.85%	liabilities) 812.28	2.00%	179.67	0.00%	-	0.47%	179.67
Jaguar Land Rover (Russia)								
Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co Ltd (previously	11.80%	11,263.51	47.39%	4,260.01	0.00%	-	11.06%	4,260.01
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd)								
Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover	(0.01)%	(11.84)	(0.11)%	(9.70)	0.00%		(0.03)%	(9.70)
Automotive Service Co. Ltd	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
Jaguar Land Rover Colombia SAS	(0.01)%	(6.07)	(0.15)%	(13.92)	0.00%	-	(0.04)%	(13.92)
Jaguar Landrover Mexico S.A.P I de C.V	0.04%	36.91	0.03%	2.65	0.01%	2.70	0.01%	5.35
Jaguar Landrover Services	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Mexico S.A C.V Jaguar Land Rover France SAS	0.04%	39.22	0.12%	10.76	0.00%		0.03%	10.76
Jaguar Land Rover Portugal-	0.04%	82.95	(0.03)%	(2.62)	0.00%		(0.01)%	(2.62)
Veiculos e Pecas, Lda.	0.0370	02.55	(0.05)/0	(2.02)	0.0070		(0.01)/0	(2.02)
Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL	0.56%	534.71	0.35%	31.21	0.00%	(0.56)	0.08%	30.65
(merged company following the absorption of Jaguar Hispania, S.L.U by Land Rover Espana, S.L.U)								
Jaguar Land Rover Italia SpA	0.64%	609.21	0.85%	76.76	0.00%		0.20%	76.76
Land Rover Ireland Limited - (no longer a trading NSC)	0.01%	12.51	(0.01)%	(1.13)	0.00%	_	0.00%	(1.13)
Jaguar Land Rover Korea Co. Ltd.	0.13%	125.71	0.95%	84.99	0.00%	-	0.22%	84.99
Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH	0.89%	849.14	1.48%	132.93	0.00%	-	0.35%	132.93
Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH	0.12%	112.69	0.15%	13.73	0.00%	-	0.04%	13.73
Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited	0.13%	122.88	0.37%	33.54	0.00%	-	0.09%	33.54
Jaguar Land Rover North America, LLC.	1.69%	1,614.50	10.39%	933.77	0.03%	7.39	2.44%	941.16
Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited	0.28%	269.22	0.25%	22.26	0.00%	-	0.06%	22.26
Jaguar Land Rover Canada, ULC	0.03%	27.22	0.30%	27.02	0.00%		0.07%	27.02
Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Veículos LTDA	0.53%	510.11	(3.68)%	(331.22)	0.00%	-	(0.86)%	(331.22)
Jaguar Land Rover Belux N.V. (following the merger of Jaguar Belux and Land Rover Belux)	0.12%	118.84	0.26%	23.20	0.00%	-	0.06%	23.20
Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV	0.06%	58.49	0.10%	8.68	0.00%	-	0.02%	8.68
Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (Pty) Limited	0.22%	213.52	0.94%	84.39	0.00%	-	0.22%	84.39
Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd	0.02%	15.59	0.04%	3.87	0.00%	-	0.01%	3.87
Jaguar Land Rover Taiwan Company Pte. Ltd	0.01%	6.96	(0.02)%	(1.58)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(1.58)
Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Co. Ltd.	0.02%	19.79	(0.05)%	(4.29)	0.00%	0.81	(0.01)%	(3.48)
PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	0.02%	16.09	(0.37)%	(33.30)	0.00%	-	(0.09)%	(33.30)
TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Ltd (incorporated w.e.f September 2, 2015)	0.00%	(0.10)	0.00%	(0.03)	0.00%	-	0.00%	(0.03)
Minority Interests in all subsidiarie								
Concorde Motors (India) Ltd	0.00%	(50.00)	0.00%	- (, 7, \	0.00%	- (0.47)	0.00% (0.01)%	(4.91)
Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd Tata Motors Finance Ltd	(0.06)% 0.00%	(59.08)	(0.05)% 0.00%	(4.74)	0.00%	(0.17)	0.00%	(4.51)

Name of enterprises	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total liabilities)	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of comprehensive income	Amount
		•		•	0.00%	•	0.00%	
Foreign		•			0.00%		0.00%	
Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd	(0.01)%	(6.08)	(0.01)%	(0.73)	0.00%	(0.79)	0.00%	(1.52)
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.00%	(0.20)	0.00%	0.03	0.00%	(0.01)	0.00%	0.02
Spark 44 Ltd	(0.08)%	(79.40)	(0.21)%	(19.02)	0.00%	-	(0.05)%	(19.02)
Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	0.03%	27.75	0.07%	5.99	0.01%	2.19	0.02%	8.18
Trilix S.r.l	(0.01)%	(11.38)	0.03%	2.33	(0.01)%	(1.67)	0.00%	0.66
Joint operations Indian								
Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	1.77%	1,687.53	2.04%	183.60	0.00%	0.27	0.48%	183.87
Tata Cummins Private Ltd	0.48%	458.44	0.96%	86.63	0.00%	0.78	0.23%	87.41
Adjustments arising out of consolidation	(139.66)%	(133,278.66)	(109.08)%	(9,805.48)	13.57%	4,006.70	(15.05)%	(5,798.79)
Sub - total (a)		90,042.67		6,710.65		29,117.17		35,827.81
Joint ventures (as per proportion	ate consolidation	/ investment as	per the equity	method				
Indian		······		•		<u>.</u>	······································	
JT Special Vehicle (P) Ltd	0.00%	2.50	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	_
Foreign								
Spark 44 Ltd	0.00%	<u>-</u>	0.00%	-	0.00%		0.00%	-
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co Ltd	4.66%	4,451.33	24.05%	2,161.73	1.42%	420.35	6.70%	2,582.08
Sub - total (b)		4,453.83		2,161.73		420.35		2,582.08
Associates (Investment as per the equity method)								
Indian								
Tata AutoComp Systems Ltd	0.22%	211.91	0.19%	17.12	0.01%	2.40	0.05%	19.52
Automobile Corporation of Goa Ltd	0.15%	141.19	0.10%	9.42	0.00%	0.25	0.03%	9.67
Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Ltd	0.52%	497.35	1.21%	109.16	(0.02)%	(4.55)	0.27%	104.61
Foreign				4				
Nita Company Ltd	0.03%	29.54	0.04%	3.69	0.00%	- 1	0.01%	3.69
Tata Precision Industries (India) Ltd	_	-	-	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Synaptiv Limited	0.00%	1.48	-	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
CloudCar Inc	0.05%	44.87	(0.25)%	(22.86)	0.00%	-	(0.06)%	(22.86)
DriveClubService Pte. Ltd.	0.00%	1.85	0.00%	-	-	-	-	-
Jaguar Cars Finance Limited	0.00%	3.23	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-
Sub - total (c)		931.41		116.53		(1.90)		114.63
Total (b+c)		5,385.24	100.00%	2,278.26	100.00%	418.45	100.00%	2,696.71
Total (a + b)	100.00%	95,427.91	100.00%	8,988.91	100.00%	29,535.61	100.00%	38,524.52

45. Other Notes

- (a) During the year ended March 31, 2014, legislation was enacted that allows United Kingdom (UK) companies to elect for the Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditures incurred since April 1, 2013, instead of the existing super-deduction rules. As a result of this election by the Company's subsidiary in the UK, ₹ 871.75 crores and ₹ 762.67 crores, for the year ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, the proportion relating to capitalised product development expenditure, have been off set against intangibles under development.
- (b) The following subsidiaries have been considered on unaudited basis. Details for the same as per individual entity's financials are as under:

	Net Worth As at March 31, 2018	Total Revenue for the year ended March 31, 2018	Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash equivalent during 2017-2018
Subsidiaries :			
Trilix S.R.L	48.79	68.09	10.00
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.87	-	(0.03)
TML Holding Pte Ltd	9,536.74	-	538.63
TMNL Motor services Nigeria Limited	(0.10)	-	0.14
Concorde Motors (India) Ltd	11.21	1,183.83	10.73
Tata Technologies De Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	6.34	19.80	0.66
Incat International PLC	44.21	0.16	0.59
Incat Gmbh	18.12	0.30	0.27
Cambric Limited	19.07	1.78	0.07
Tata Technlogies SRL Romania	27.03	31.62	7.19
Cambric Gmbh	1.96	0.08	0.13
TOTAL	9,714.24	1,305.66	568.38
For the year ended / as at March 31, 2017	(311.26)	336.51	(46.11)

- (c) The assets and liabilities of Tata Technologies Limited, TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited, Company's certain assets related to defence business and investment in Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Limited (equity accounted investees) are classified as "Held for Sale" as they meet the criteria laid out under Ind AS 105.
- (d) Exceptional debit of ₹ 1,641.38 crores, relates to provision for impairment of certain intangibles under development and capital work-in-progress. The Company reviewed product development programs in capital work-in-progress and consequently provided for impairment during the year ended March 31, 2018.
- (e) The exceptional credit of ₹ 3,609.01 crores (GBP 437.40 million) for the year ended March 31, 2018, relates to the amendment of the Defined Benefit scheme of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc. On April 3, 2017, Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc approved and communicated to its Defined Benefit scheme members that the Defined Benefit Scheme rules were to be amended with effect from April 6, 2017 so that amongst other changes, retirement benefit will be calculated on a career average basis rather than based upon a member's final salary at retirement. These changes were effective from April 6, 2017 and as a result of the re-measurement of the scheme's liabilities, the past service credit has been recognised in year ended March 31, 2018.
- (f) Exceptional debit of ₹ 147.93 crores for the year ended March 31, 2017, relates to provision for inventory of BS III vehicles as at March 31, 2017. This does not include higher level of customer discounts and variable marketing expenses in March 2017, to support higher level of retail sales, which have been netted off against 'Income from operations.

- (g) The exceptional credit of ₹ 11.19 crores (GBP 1.4 million) and ₹ 1,330.10 crores (GBP 151 million) for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, relates to the explosion at the port of Tianjin (China) in August 2015. This relates to the receipt of insurance proceeds, recovery of import duties and taxes and to an updated assessment of the condition of the remaining vehicles, which led to a reversal of the original provision recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2015.
- (h) The Company has a process whereby periodically all long term contracts (including derivative contracts) are assessed for material foreseeable losses. At the year end, the Company has reviewed and ensured that adequate provision are required under any law/accounting standards for material foreseeable losses on such long term contracts (including derivative contracts) has been made in the books of account.

As per our report of even date attached

For B S R & Co. LLP Chartered Accountants Firm's Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

YEZDI NAGPOREWALLA Partner Membership No. 049265

Mumbai, May 23, 2018

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]

N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]
V K JAIRATH [DIN:00391684]
F S NAYAR [DIN:00003633]
O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]
R SPETH [DIN:03318908]
Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]
CEO and Managing Director
S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]
ED and Chief Operating Officer
P B BALAJI
Group Chief Financial Officer
H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]
Company Secretary
Mumbai, May 23, 2018

For and on behalf of the Board

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF TATA MOTORS LIMITED

Report on the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS financial statements of **TATA MOTORS LIMITED** (hereinafter referred to as "the Parent") and its subsidiaries (the Parent and its subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group") its associates and its joint ventures, comprising the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2017, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated Ind AS financial statements") and which includes two Joint Operation Companies consolidated on a proportionate basis with the Parent.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

The Parent's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated Ind AS financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter referred to as "the Act") that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash flows and statement of changes in equity of the Group including its Associates and Joint ventures in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 of the Act. The respective Boards of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates, joint ventures and joint operation companies are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group and its associates, its joint ventures and joint operation companies and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements by the Directors of the Parent, as aforesaid.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated Ind AS financial statements based on our audit. In conducting our audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated Ind AS financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the Parent's preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Parent's Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements/financial information of the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures referred to below in the Other Matters paragraph, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, its associates and joint ventures as at March 31, 2017, and their consolidated profit/loss, consolidated total comprehensive income/ loss, their consolidated cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Other Matters

- (a) We did not audit the financial statements/financial information of thirteen subsidiaries, whose financial statements/financial information reflect total assets(net) of ₹56,463.53 crores as at March 31, 2017, total revenues of ₹224,217.37 crores and net cash outflows amounting to ₹3,785.40 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. The consolidated Ind AS financial statements also include the Group's share of net profit of ₹104.18 crores for the year ended March 31, 2017, as considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in respect of three associates, whose financial statements/financial information have not been audited by us. These financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and associates, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries and associates is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.
- (b) We did not audit the financial statements/financial information of six subsidiaries, whose financial statements/financial information reflect total assets (net) of (-) ₹311.26 crores as at March 31, 2017, total revenues of ₹336.51 crores and net cash outflows amounting to ₹46.11 crores for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. These financial statements/ financial information are unaudited and have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries is based solely on such unaudited financial statements/financial information. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us by the Management, these financial statements/financial information are not material to the Group.
- (c) The comparative financial information for the year ended March 31, 2016 and the transition date opening balance sheet as at April 1, 2015 in respect of thirteen subsidiaries and three associates included in this consolidated Ind AS financial statements prepared in accordance with the Ind AS have been audited by other auditors and have been relied upon by us.

Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements above, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of other auditors and the financial statements/financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the report of other auditors on separate financial statements and the other financial information of subsidiaries, associates and joint venture companies incorporated in India, referred in the Other Matters paragraph above we report, to the extent applicable, that:

- (a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements.
- (b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.
- (c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.
- (d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

- (e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Parent as on March 31, 2017 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Parent and the reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies, associate companies, joint venture companies and joint operation companies incorporated in India, none of the directors of the Group companies, its associate companies, joint venture companies and its joint operation companies incorporated in India are disqualified as on March 31, 2017 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.
- (f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in "Annexure A", which is based on the auditors' reports of the Parent, subsidiary companies, associate companies, joint venture companies and joint operation companies incorporated in India. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Parent, its subsidiary companies, associate companies, joint venture companies and joint operation companies incorporated in India.
- (g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditor's) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:
 - i. The consolidated Ind AS financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial position of the Group, its associates, its joint ventures and joint operation companies.
 - ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, as required under the applicable law or accounting standards, for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.
 - iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Parent and its subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and joint operations companies incorporated in India.
 - iv. The Parent has provided requisite disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements as regards the holding and dealings in Specified Bank Notes as defined in the Notification S.O. 3407(E) dated the November 8, 2016 of the Ministry of Finance, during the period from November 8, 2016 to December 30, 2016 of the Group entities and joint operation companies as applicable. However, as stated in Note No. 45 (a) to the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, amounts aggregating to ₹79,500/- as represented to us by the Management have been received from transactions which are not permitted.

For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP**

Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

B. P. SHROFF

Partner (Membership No. 34382)

ANNEXURE "A" TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph (f) under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' section of our report of even date to Members of Tata Motors Limited)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act")

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended March 31, 2017, we have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of **TATA MOTORS LIMITED** (hereinafter referred to as "Parent") and its subsidiary companies, which includes internal financial controls over financial reporting of its joint operation companies incorporated in India, its associate companies and joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Parent, its subsidiary companies, its joint operation companies, its associate companies and joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the respective Companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting ("the Guidance Note") issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Parent, its subsidiary companies, its joint operation companies, its associate companies and its joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the "Guidance Note") issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by other auditors of the subsidiary companies, joint operations, associate companies and joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls system over financial reporting of the Parent, its subsidiary companies, its joint operation companies, its associate companies and its joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the reports of other auditors referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, the Parent, its subsidiary companies, its joint operation companies, its associate companies and joint ventures, which are companies incorporated in India, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at March 31, 2017, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the respective companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

Other Matters

Our aforesaid report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls over financial reporting in so far as it relates to one subsidiary company and two associate companies, which are companies incorporated in India, is based solely on the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of the above matters.

For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP**

Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 117366W/W-100018)

B. P. SHROFFPartner

(Membership No. 34382)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(₹ in crores)

		Note	As at March 31, 2017	As at March 31, 2016	As at April 1,2015
. ASSETS			March 31, 2017	march 31/2010	7.piii 1,2013
1. N	ION-CURRENT ASSETS				
	a) Property, plant and equipment	3	59,594.56	64,927.07	54,264.65
	o) Capital work-in-progress		10,186.83	6,550.97	8,852.69
	c) Goodwill	5	673.32	759.80	731.95
	d) Other intangible assets	6	35,676.20	41,544.89	33,908.19
	e) Intangible assets under development		23,512.01	19,367.97	19,155.46
) Investment in equity accounted investees	7	4,606.01	3,763.95	3,173.66
(ć	g) Financial assets:				
	(i) Other investments	8	690.76	770.03	768.85
	(ii) Finance receivables	16	10,753.13	9,671.55	9,606.60
	(iii) Loans and advances	10	753.66	503.88	496.71
	(iv) Other financial assets	11	2,911.12	1,825.51	647.64
	n) Deferred tax assets (net)	20	4,457.34	3,957.03	4,049.41
	Non-current tax assets (net)		260.20	1,265.81	947.45
(j	Other non-current assets	18	2,847.36	2,309.02	1,983.60
			156,922.50	157,217.48	138,586.86
2. CI	JRRENT ASSETS				
	n) Inventories	12	35,085.31	32,655.73	29,044.15
(b	b) Financial assets:				
	(i) Other investments	9	15,041.15	19,233.04	14,074.78
	(ii) Trade receivables	13	14,075.55	13,570.91	12,972.80
	(iii) Cash and cash equivalents	14	13,986.76	17,153.61	19,743.09
	(iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	15	22,091.12	13,306.79	10,668.84
	(v) Finance receivables	16	6,810.12	6,079.92	4,959.45
	(vi) Loans and advances	10	710.45	1,117.10	779.78
	(vii) Other financial assets	11	1,555.94	835.73	1,689.80
(0	c) Current tax assets (net)		935.47	146.75	212.08
(0	d) Other current assets	19	6,539.99	5,824.09	5,412.09
			116,831.86	109,923.67	99,556.86
Т	OTAL ASSETS		273,754.36	267,141.15	238,143.72
II. EQUITY F	AND LIABILITIES				
	V Carrier alegan applied	21	679.22	679.18	643.78
	a) Equity share capital	21			
(1)	o) Other equity	22	57,382.67	78,273.23 78,952.41	54,628.80 55,272.58
	Equity attributable to owners of Tata Motors Ltd		58,061.89		
	Non-controlling interests		<u>453.17</u> 58,515.06	432.84 79.385.25	429.75 55,702.33
LIABILITI	ES			, ,,,505.25	33/102.33
1. N	ON-CURRENT LIABILITIES				
	Financial liabilities:				
(-)	(i) Borrowings	24	60,629.18	50.510.39	54,607.14
	(ii) Other financial liabilities	26	11,409,58	7,943,74	7,994.85
(b) Provisions	28	9,004.46	7,891.01	6,938.27
	Deferred tax liabilities (net)	20	1,174.00	4,474.78	2,559.49
	Other non-current liabilities	29	17,392.56	9,886.55	10,948.00
,-			99,609.78	80,706.47	83,047.75
2. CI	JRRENT LIABILITIES				
	Financial liabilities:				
(α)	(i) Borrowings	25	13.859.94	11,450.78	13,154,68
	(ii) Trade payables	23	57,698.33	57,580.46	52,094.70
	(iii) Acceptances		4,834.24	3,981.33	4,076.75
	(iv) Other financial liabilities	27	25,634.83	21,281.60	19,173.01
(h) Provisions	28	5,807.76	5,844.51	4,969.12
	Current tax liabilities (net)	20	1,392.58	723.53	820.13
	Other current liabilities	30	6,401.84	6,187.22	5,105.25
(0)	,	30	115,629.52	107,049.43	99,393.64
Т	OTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		273,754.36	267,141.15	238,143.72
•					

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

In terms of our report attached

For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP**

Chartered Accountants

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863]

B P SHROFF

Partner

For and on behalf of the Board R A MASHELKAR [DIN: 00074119]

N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]

V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684]

O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]

R SPETH [DIN: 03318908]

Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]

CEO & Managing Director R PISHARODY [DIN: 01875848]

Executive Director

S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948]

Executive Director
C RAMAKRISHNAN
Group Chief Financial Officer

H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

(₹ in crores)

			Year ended I	Narch 31,
		Note	2017	2016
	Income from operations	31	274,492.12	277,660.59
l.	Other income	32	754.54	885.35
II.	Total Income (I+II)		275,246.66	278,545.94
V.	Expenses:			
	(a) Cost of materials consumed			
	(i) Cost of materials consumed		160,147.12	151,065.61
	(ii) Basis adjustment on hedge accounted derivatives		(777.57)	2,226.88
	(b) Purchase of products for sale		13,924.53	12,841.52
	(c) Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and products for sale		(7,399.92)	(2,750.99
	(d) Excise duty (e) Employee benefits expense	33	4,799.61 28,332.89	4,614.99 28,880.89
	(e) Employee benefits expense (f) Finance costs	33	4,238.01	4,889.08
	(g) Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)	34	3,910.10	1,616.88
	(h) Depreciation and amortisation expense		17,904.99	16,710.78
	(i) Product development/Engineering expenses		3,413.57	3,468.77
	(j) Other expenses	35	55,430.06	55,683.75
	(k) Amount capitalised		(16,876.96)	(16,678.34
	Total Expenses (IV)		267,046.43	262,569.82
V.	Profit before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)		8,200.23	15,976.12
۷I.	Exceptional Items:			
	(a) Employee separation cost		67.61	32.72
	(b) Others	12(iv) & 45(b)	(1,182.17)	1,817.63
VII.	Profit before tax (V-VI)		9,314.79	14,125.77
VIII.	Tax expense	20		4.050.05
	(a) Current tax		3,137.66	1,862.05
	(b) Deferred tax		113.57 3,251.23	1,163.00 3.025.05
IX.	Total tax expense Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (VII-VIII)		6,063.56	11,100.72
ΙΛ. Χ.	Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associates (net)	7	1,493.00	577.47
Λ. XI.	Profit for the year (IX+X)	,	7,556.56	11,678.19
,,,,,	Attributable to:		7,550.50	11,070.12
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		7,454.36	11,579.31
	(b) Non-controlling interests		102.20	98.88
XII.	Other comprehensive income/(loss):			
	(A) (i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:			
	(a) Remeasurement gains and (losses) on defined benefit obligations (net)		(7,823.75)	4,867.37
	(b) Quoted equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income		83.15	68.79
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees (net)		(6.08)	(1.34
	(d) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges of forecast inventory purchases		2,026.77	2,430.04
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:		867.35	(1,514.57
	(B) (i) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss: (a) Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of foreign operations		(9,678.58)	1,687.11
	(b) Gains and (losses) in cash flow hedges of forecast sales		(15,565.66)	(5,371.92
	(c) Share of other comprehensive income in associates and joint ventures (net)		(304.70)	29.00
	(ii) Income tax (expense)/credit relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:		2,906.93	962.98
	Total Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (net of tax)		(27,494.57)	3,157.46
	Attributable to:		(27,15,1157)	3,137.10
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		(27,460.30)	3,145.33
	(b) Non-controlling interests		(34.27)	12.13
KIII.	Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (net of tax) (XI+XII)		(19,938.01)	14,835.65
	Attributable to:			
	(a) Shareholders of the Company		(20,005.94)	14,724.64
	(b) Non-controlling interests		67.93	111.01
۱۷.	Earnings per equity share (EPS)	43		
	(A) Ordinary shares (face value of ₹2 each):	~		_
	(i) Basic EPS	₹	21.94	34.25
	(ii) Diluted EPS (R) (M) Ordinary phase (free value of ₹3 each)	₹	21.93	34.24
	(B) 'A' Ordinary shares (face value of ₹2 each):(i) Basic EPS	₹	22.04	3430
	V		22.04	34.35
	(ii) Diluted EPS	₹	22.03	34.34

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

In terms of our report attached

For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP** N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] Chartered Accountants Chairman

B P SHROFF

Partner

For and on behalf of the Board

R A MASHELKAR [DIN: 00074119] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684] **O P BHATT** [DIN:00548091]

R SPETH [DIN: 03318908]

Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO & Managing Director R PISHARODY [DIN: 01875848]

Executive Director **S B BORWANKAR** [DIN: 01793948]

Executive Director

C RAMAKRISHNAN

Group Chief Financial Officer

H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2017

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

	(₹	in	crores)
ear ended	March	31	

	Year ended M	Лarch 31,
	2017	2016
Cash flows from operating activities		
Profit for the year	7,556.56	11,678.19
Adjustments for:		
Depreciation and amortisation expense	17,904.99	16,710.78
Allowances for finance receivables	(28.15)	220.96
Allowances for trade and other receivables	132.93	664.66
Inventory write-down	295.59	328.59
Exceptional items-others	(1,182.17)	2,172.63
Provision for costs associated with closure of operations and impairment of intangibles	-	44.3
Marked-to-market on investments measured at Fair value through profit or loss	(5.68)	(12.01
Impairment of capitalised property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets	101.69	163.9
Impairment of Goodwill	14.25	
Loss on sale of assets (including assets scrapped/written off) (net)	272.00	792.0
Profit on sale of investments (net)	(176.14)	(101.00
Gain on fair value of below market interest loans	(46.52)	(50.50
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates (net)	(1,493.00)	(577.47
Tax expense (net)	3,251.23	3,025.0
Interest/dividend (net)	3,665.29	4,116.7
Foreign exchange gain (net)	(1,422.76)	(550.77
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in following assets and liabilities	28,840.11	38,626.1
Finance receivables	(1,783.64)	(1,406.39
Trade receivables	(2,368.66)	(817.01
Loans and advances and other financial assets	379.93	(520.00
Other current and non-current assets	(1,274.96)	54.9
Inventories	(6,620.67)	(5,743.35
Trade payables and acceptances	9,300.56	3,947.4
Other current and non-current liabilities	1,911.48	3,705.0
Other financial liabilities	744.28	708.8
Provisions	2,965.92	1,383.7
Cash generated from operations	32,094.35	39,939.3
Income tax paid (net)	(1,895.10)	(2,039.78
Net cash from operating activities	30,199.25	37,899.5
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Payments for property, plant and equipment	(16,071.78)	(16,135.93
Payments for other intangible assets	(14,395.10)	(15,367.06
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	53.39	58.8
Investments in Mutual Fund (purchased)/sold (net)	1,914.38	(4,714.73
Loans to others	(9.78)	(0.75
Repayment of loans by others	0.75	8.3
Repayment of loans by joint operation	132.50	
Acquisition of subsidiary company	_	(111.44
Investment in equity accounted investees	(106.95)	
Investments - others	(6.36)	(12.9
Proceeds from sale of investments in other companies	50.61	89.2
Interest received	638.18	730.9
Dividend received	10.51	42.2
Dividend received from joint ventures and associates	609.19	15.4
Decrease in short-term inter-corporate deposit	30.00	65.0
Deposits with financial institution	(35.00)	(1,968.0
Realisation of deposits with financial institution	(22.36)	1,968.0
Deposits/restricted deposits with banks	(45,127.19)	(47,202.63
Realisation of deposits/restricted deposits with banks	34,232.77	45,031.0
Net cash used in investing activities	(38,079.88)	(37,504.43

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(₹in crores)

	Year ended March 3	1,
	2017	2016
Cash flows from financing activities		
Proceeds from Rights issue of shares (net of issue expenses)	4.55	7,433.22
Proceeds from issue of shares to minority shareholders	0.62	0.19
Proceeds from long-term borrowings	18,384.52	11,058.70
Repayment of long-term borrowings	(9,212.13)	(14,585.48)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings	15,005.26	8,460.20
Repayment of short-term borrowings	(11,753.71)	(9,000.44)
Net change in other short-term borrowings (with maturity up to three months)	(766.25)	(1,337.74)
Dividend paid (including dividend distribution tax)	(73.00)	-
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests shareholders of subsidiaries (including dividend distribution tax)	(48.22)	(108.11)
Interest paid [including discounting charges paid ₹666.40 crores (March 31, 2016 ₹ 635.52 crores)]	(5,336.34)	(5,715.66)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	6,205.30	(3,795.12)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(1,675.33)	(3,400.01)
Cash and cash equivalents as at April 01, (opening balance)	17,153.61	19,743.09
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents	(1,491.52)	810.53
Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, (closing balance)	13,986.76	17,153.61
Non-cash transactions:		
Liability towards property, plant and equipment and intangible asests purchased on credit/deferred credit	3,346.35	3,796.05

In terms of our report attached

For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP** Chartered Accountants

B P SHROFF Partner

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863] Chairman

For and on behalf of the Board **R A MASHELKAR** [DIN: 00074119] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684] **O P BHATT** [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN: 03318908] Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO & Managing Director R PISHARODY [DIN: 01875848] Executive Director

S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948] Executive Director
C RAMAKRISHNAN Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2017 Mumbai, May 23, 2017

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the year ended March 31, 2017

(₹ in crores)	Equity Share Capital	679.18	0.04		679.22
A. Equity Share Capital	Particulars	Balance as at April 1, 2016	Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance and amounts	received on unpaid calls	Balance as at March 31, 2017
×					

/h-															
Particulars	Securities	Capital	Debenture	Reserve for	Special	Earned	Capital	Retained	₹	Other components of equity	nts of equity		Attributable	Non-	Total other
		regemption	reserve	research and human resource development	reserve	reserve	Keserve	earnings	Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive Income	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	Tata Motors Limited	interests	edanty
Balance as at April 1, 2016	18,887.42	2.28	1,042.15	165.78	292.46	24.00	24.00 1,164.20	58,292.89	(102.70)	(6,152.15)	4.70	4,652.20	78,273.23	432.84	78,706.07
Profit for the year	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7,454.36	•	•	•	•	7,454.36	102.20	7,556.56
Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the year	'	'		•	'	'	1	(6,569.14)	83.44	(10,943.35)	(78.92)	(9,952.33)	(27,460.30)	(34.27)	(27,494.57)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	•	•	•	•	•	•		885.22	83.44	(10,943.35)	(78.92)	(9,952.33)	(20,005.94)	67.93	(19,938.01)
Amounts recognized in inventory				1	į.	'		'		(816.13)	·	i ·	(816.13)		(816.13)
Dividend paid (including dividend tax)	1	•	•	•	•	,	•	(73.00)	•	•	•	•	(73.00)	(48.22)	(121.22)
Proceeds from issue of shares held in abeyance	4.51	•	•	•	•	'	•	•	•	•	•	•	4.51	•	4.51
Shares issued to non-controlling interest	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	0.62	0.62
Fransfer to debenture redemption reserve	•	•	43.79	•	•	'	•	(43.79)	1	'	•	1	•	•	'
Transfer (from)/to retained earnings		•	•			8.18	•	(8.18)	•	•	•	•	•	•	
Balance as at March 31, 2017	18.891.93	2.28	1.085.94	165.78	292 46	37 18	1 164 20	59 053 14	(19.26)	(17011 63)	(56.07)	(5 300 13)	57 382 67	453 17	57 835 84

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

For and on behalf of the Board N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN:00121863] Chairman For **DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP**Chartered Accountants In terms of our report attached

B P SHROFFPartner

GUENTER BUTSCHEK (DIN: 07427375]
CEO & Managing Director
R PISHARODY (DIN: 01875848)
Executive Director
S B BORWANKAR (DIN: 01793948)
Executive Director
C RAMAKRISHNAN
Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507] Company Secretary R A MASHELKAR [DIN: 00074119] V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684] N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180] O P BHATT [DIN:00548091] R SPETH [DIN: 03318908] Directors

Mumbai, May 23, 2017

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the year ended March 31, 2016

Particulars		Capital	Debenture	Reserve for	Special	Earned	Capital	Retained	ਠ	er compone	Other components of equity	Α.	Attributable	Non-	Total
	Premium Account	redemption reserve	redemption reserve	research and human resource development	reserve	surplus reserve	Reserve	earnings	Equity instruments through Other Comprehensive Income	Hedging Reserve	Cost of hedging reserve	Currency translation reserve	to Owners of Tata Motors Limited	controlling interests	other equity
Balance as at April 1, 2015	11,489.60	2.28	1,042.15	165.78	269.58	14.51	1,164.20	42,904.21	(91.12)	(5,278.28)		2,945.89	54,628.80	429.75	55,058.55
Profit for the year		ı	1	1	'	•	'	11,579.31	1	•			11,579.31	98.88	11,678.19
Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the year	1	ı	1	1	1	1	1	3,761.36	68.80	(2,395.84)	4.70	1,706.31	3,145.33	12.13	3,157.46
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	 	1	1	'	'	'	'	15,340.67	08.80	(2,395.84)	4.70	1,706.31	14,724.64	111.01	14,835.65
Amounts recognized in inventory		1	'		<u>'</u>		 		1	1,521.97		1	1,521.97	'	1,521.97
Profit on sale of unquoted equity investments	1	1	1	1	1	•	,	80.38	(80.38)	1		1	•	1	
Issue of Shares pursuant to Rights (net of issue expenses of ₹57.27crores)	7,397.82	•	1	1	•		1	•	1	1		ı	7,397.82	1	7,397.82
Dividend paid (including dividend tax)	•	•	1	1	•	1	'	1	•	•		•	1	(108.11)	(108.11)
Shares issued to non-controlling interest	1		ı	•	1	1	1	1	1	1		ı	•	0.19	0.19
Transfer (from)/to retained eamings	•			- [22.88	9.49		(32.37)	•			•	-		
Balance as at March 31, 2016	18,887.42	2.28	1.042.15	165.78	292.46	24.00	1.164.20	58.292.89	(102.70)	(6.152.15)	4.70	4.652.20	78.273.23	432.84	78,706.07

	GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375]	CEO& Managing Director R PISHARODY [DIN: 01875848]	Executive Director	S B BORWANKAR [<i>DIN</i> : 01/93948] Executive Director	C RAMAKRISHNAN Group Chief Financial Officer	H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]	Company secretary	Mumbai, May 23, 2017
For and on behalf of the Board	R A MASHELKAR [DIN: 00074119]	N MUNJEE [DIN:00010180]	V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684]	O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]	R SPETH [DIN: 03318908] Directors			
	_	Chairman						
In terms of our report attached	For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP	Chartered Accountants		B P SHROFF Partner				Mumbai, May 23, 2017

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Background and operations

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as ("the Company" or "Tata Motors"), designs, manufactures and sells a wide range of automotive vehicles. The Company provides financing for the vehicles sold by dealers of the Company in certain markets. The Company also manufactures engines for industrial and marine applications, aggregates such as axles and transmissions for commercial vehicles and factory automation equipment, and provides information technology services.

Tata Motors Limited is a public limited Company incorporated and domiciled in India and has its registered office in Mumbai, India. As at March 31, 2017, Tata Sons Limited, together with its subsidiaries owns 31.32% of the Ordinary shares and 0.09% of 'A' Ordinary shares of the Company, and has the ability to significantly influence the Company's operation.

The Company's subsidiaries include the Jaguar Land Rover business (referred to as JLR or Jaguar Land Rover).

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on May 23, 2017.

2. Significant accounting policies

a. Statement of compliance

In accordance with the notification issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, the Company has adopted Indian Accounting Standards (referred to as "Ind AS") notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 with effect from April 1, 2016. Previous period figures have been restated to Ind AS. In accordance with Ind AS 101 First-time Adoption of Indian Accounting Standard, the Company has presented a reconciliation from the presentation of financial statements under Accounting Standards notified under the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 ("Previous GAAP") to Ind AS of Shareholders' equity as at March 31, 2016 and April 1, 2015 and of the total comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2016.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS as notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 read with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act").

b. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below.

c. Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company (a) has power over the investee, (b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and (c) has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements listed above. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed off during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Inter-company transactions and balances including unrealized profits are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company's equity. The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if it results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Company's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Company loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed off. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

Interests in joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint operations

Certain of the Company's activities, are conducted through joint operations, which are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Company recognizes, in the consolidated financial statements, its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of these joint operations incurred jointly with the other partners, along with its share of income from the sale of the output and any assets, liabilities and expenses that it has incurred in relation to the joint operation.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The results, assets and liabilities of a joint venture are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below

Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control those policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. The results, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting as described below.

Equity method of accounting (equity accounted investees)

An interest in an associate or joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date in which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture and are recognized initially at cost. The Company's investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share of profits or losses and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. When the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments in the nature of net investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

When the Company transacts with an associate or joint venture of the Company, unrealized profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Company's interest in its associate or joint venture.

d. Business combination

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. Acquisition related costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date, except certain assets and liabilities required to be measured as per the applicable standard.

Purchase consideration in excess of the Company's interest in the acquiree's net fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognized as goodwill. Excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration is recognized, after reassessment of fair value of net assets acquired, in the Capital Reserve.

e. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions, that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the years presented. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are included in the following notes:

- i) Note 5 Impairment of goodwill
- ii) Note 6 Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets
- iii) Note 20 Recoverability/recognition of deferred tax assets
- iv) Note 28 Provision for product warranty
- v) Note 36 Assets and obligations relating to employee benefits

f. Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at fair value of consideration received or receivable.

i) Sale of products

The Company recognizes revenues on the sale of products, net of discounts, sales incentives, customer bonuses and rebates granted, when products are delivered to dealers or when delivered to a carrier for export sales, which is when title and risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer. Sale of products includes export and other recurring and non-recurring incentives from governments (referred to as "incentives").

Revenues are recognized when collectability of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

If the sale of products includes a determinable amount for subsequent services (multiple component contracts) the related revenues are deferred and recognized as income over the relevant service period. Amounts are normally recognized as income by reference to the pattern of related expenditure.

Incentives are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions and the incentive will be received. Incentives are recorded at fair value where applicable. Sale of products include incentives of ₹930.22 crores and ₹2,149.58 crores for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These include during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, ₹561.04 crores and ₹996.08 crores, respectively, received by a foreign subsidiary as an indirect tax incentive that requires the subsidiary to meet certain criteria relating to vehicle efficiency and investment in engineering and research and development. The incentive is provided as a partial off set to the higher sales tax payable following implementation of new legislation.

ii) Other operating revenues

Other operating revenues include incentive of \P 110.01 crores and \P 82.84 crores for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively, towards Exports Promotion Capital Goods (EPCG) scheme. Further, it also includes during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, \P 504.72 crores and \P 501.20 crores, respectively for Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditure by an indirect subsidiary in the UK.

iii) Finance revenues

Finance and service charges are accrued on the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables using the effective interest method.

g. Cost recognition

Costs and expenses are recognized when incurred and are classified according to their nature.

Expenditure capitalized represents employee costs, stores and other manufacturing supplies, and other expenses incurred for construction including product development undertaken by the Company.

h. Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

i)Product warranty expenses

The estimated liability for product warranties is recorded when products are sold. These estimates are established using historical information on the nature, frequency and average cost of warranty claims and management estimates regarding possible future incidences based on actions on product failures. The timing of outflows will vary as and when warranty claim will arise, being typically up to five years.

ii) Residual risk

In certain markets, the Company is responsible for the residual risk arising on vehicles sold by dealers under leasing arrangements. The provision is based on the latest available market expectations of future residual value trends. The timing of the outflows will be at the end of the lease arrangements – being typically up to three years.

iii) Legal and product liability

Legal and product liability provision is recorded in respect of compliance with regulations and known litigations which impact the Company. The product liability claim primarily relates to motor accident claims, consumer complaints, dealer terminations, personal injury claims and compliance with regulations.

iv) Environmental liability

Environmental liability relates to various environmental remediation cost such as asbestos removal and land clean up. The timing of when these costs will be incurred is not known with certainty.

i. Foreign currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupees, which is the functional currency of Tata Motors Limited.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are re-measured into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss except to the extent, exchange differences which are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings, are capitalized as part of borrowing costs.

For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign operations are translated to Indian rupees at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date, and the income and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising are recognized as currency translation reserve under equity.

j. Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss except when they relate to items that are recognized outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case tax is also recognized outside profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for business combination. In the case of a business combination the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Current income taxes are determined based on respective taxable income of each taxable entity and tax rules applicable for respective tax jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilized business loss and depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed separately for each taxable entity and for each taxable jurisdiction. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, depreciation carry-forwards and unused tax credits could be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

k. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share has been computed by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Partly paid up shares are included as fully paid equivalents according to the fraction paid up. Diluted earnings per share has been computed using the weighted average number of shares and dilutive potential shares, except where the result would be anti-dilutive.

I. Inventories

Inventories (other than those recognized consequent to the sale of vehicles subject to repurchase arrangements) are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of raw materials, components and consumables are ascertained on a first in first out basis. Cost, including fixed and variable production overheads, are allocated to work-in-progress and finished goods determined on a full absorption cost basis. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost of completion and selling expenses.

Inventories include vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements. These vehicles are carried at cost to the Company and are amortized in changes in inventories of finished goods to their residual values (i.e., estimated second hand sale value) over the term of the arrangement.

m. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation less accumulated impairment, if any. Freehold land is measured at cost and is not depreciated.

Heritage assets, comprising antique vehicles purchased by the Company, are not depreciated as they are considered to have a residual value in excess of cost. Residual values are re-assessed on an annual basis.

Cost includes purchase price, taxes and duties, labor cost and direct overheads for self-constructed assets and other direct costs incurred up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use.

Interest cost incurred for constructed assets is capitalized up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings, if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset.

Depreciation is provided on the Straight Line Method (SLM) over the estimated useful lives of the assets considering the nature, estimated usage, operating conditions, past history of replacement, anticipated technological changes, manufacturers warranties and maintenance support. Taking into account these factors, the Company and its domestic group companies have decided to apply the useful life for various categories of property, plant and equipment, which are different from those prescribed in Schedule II of the Act.

Estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Type of Asset	Estimated useful life
Buildings, Roads, Bridge and culverts	4 to 60 years
Plant, machinery and equipment	3 to 30 years
Computers and other IT assets	3 to 6 years
Vehicles	3 to 11 years
Furniture, fixtures and office appliances	3 to 21 years

The useful lives is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as change in accounting estimates.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

Depreciation is not recorded on capital work-in-progress until construction and installation are complete and the asset is ready for its intended use.

n. Other intangible assets

Intangible assets purchased, including those acquired in business combinations, are measured at cost or fair value as of the date of acquisition where applicable less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite-life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful-life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Type of AssetEstimated useful lifePatents and technical know-how2 to 12 yearsComputer software1 to 8 yearsDealer network20 yearsIntellectual property rights3 to 10 years

The amortization period for intangible assets with finite useful lives is reviewed at least at each year-end. Changes in expected useful lives are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Customer related intangible assets consists of the Company's dealer network.

Internally generated intangible asset

Research costs are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Product development costs incurred on new vehicle platform, engines, transmission and new products are recognized as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Company has committed technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate probable future economic benefits.

The costs capitalized include the cost of materials, direct labour and directly attributable overhead expenditure incurred up to the date the asset is available for use.

Interest cost incurred is capitalized up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset.

Product development cost is amortized over a period of 24 months to 120 months or on the basis of actual production or planned production volume over such period.

Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment, if any.

o. Leases

At the inception of a lease, the lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, based on the substance of the lease arrangement.

Assets taken on finance lease

A finance lease is recognized as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also capitalized and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets taken on operating lease

Leases other than finance leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognized on the Company's balance sheet. Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

p. Impairment

i) Goodwill

Cash generating units to which goodwill is allocated are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Goodwill impairment loss recognized is not reversed in subsequent period.

ii) Property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that any property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives may be impaired. If any such impairment exists the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to determine the extent of impairment, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested for impairment annually at each balance sheet date, or earlier, if there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

As at March 31, 2017, none of the Company's property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were considered impaired.

q. Employee benefits

i) Pension plans

The Jaguar Land Rover subsidiaries operate several defined benefit pension plans, which are contracted out of the second state pension scheme until April 5, 2016. The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee administered funds. The plans provide for monthly pension after retirement as per salary drawn and service period as set out in rules of each fund.

Contributions to the plans by the subsidiary group take into consideration the results of actuarial valuations. The plans with a surplus position at the year-end have been limited to the maximum economic benefit available from unconditional rights to refund from the scheme or reduction in future contributions. Where the subsidiary group is considered to have a contractual obligation to fund the pension plan above the accounting value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation is recognized.

A separate defined contribution plan is available to employees of Jaguar Land Rover. Costs in respect of this plan are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss as incurred.

ii) Gratuity

Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries in India have an obligation towards gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump-sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death while in employment or on termination of employment of an amount equivalent to 15 to 30 days salary payable for each completed year of service. Vesting occurs upon completion of five years of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries make annual contributions to gratuity funds established as trusts or insurance companies. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries in India account for the liability for gratuity benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

iii) Superannuation

Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries in India have two superannuation plans, a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. An eligible employee on April 1, 1996 could elect to be a member of either plan.

Employees who are members of the defined benefit superannuation plan are entitled to benefits depending on the years of service and salary drawn. The monthly pension benefits after retirement range from 0.75% to 2% of the annual basic salary for each year of service. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for superannuation benefits payable in future under the plan based on an actuarial valuation.

With effect from April 1, 2003, this plan was amended and benefits earned by covered employees have been protected as at March 31, 2003. Employees covered by this plan are prospectively entitled to benefits computed on a basis that ensures that the annual cost of providing the pension benefits would not exceed 15% of salary.

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the employees covered by this plan were given a one-time option to exit from the plan prospectively. Furthermore, the employees who opted for exit were given one-time option to withdraw accumulated balances from the superannuation plan.

Separate irrevocable trusts are maintained for employees covered and entitled to benefits. Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries contribute up to 15% or ₹150,000, whichever is lower, of the eligible employees' salary to the trust every year. Such contributions are recognized as an expense when incurred. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries have no further obligation beyond this contribution.

iv) Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana (BKY)

Bhavishya Kalyan Yojana is an unfunded defined benefit plan for employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries. The benefits of the plan include pension in certain cases, payable up to the date of normal superannuation had the employee been in service, to an eligible employee at the time of death or permanent disablement, while in service, either as a result of an injury or as certified by the appropriate authority. The monthly payment to dependents of the deceased/disabled employee under the plan equals 50% of the salary drawn at the time of death or accident or a specified amount, whichever is greater. Tata Motors Limited and these subsidiaries account for the liability for BKY benefits payable in the future based on an actuarial valuation.

v) Provident fund and family pension

In accordance with Indian law, eligible employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries are entitled to receive benefits in respect of provident fund, a defined contribution plan, in which both employees and the Company make monthly contributions at a specified percentage of the covered employees' salary (currently 12% of employees' salary). The contributions, as specified under the law, are made to the provident fund and pension fund set up as an irrevocable trust by Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries or to respective Regional Provident Fund Commissioner and the Central Provident Fund under the State Pension scheme.

vi) Severance indemnity

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited, or TDCV, a subsidiary company incorporated in Korea; has an obligation towards severance indemnity, a defined benefit retirement plan, covering eligible employees. The plan provides for a lump sum payment to all employees with more than one year of employment equivalent to 30 days' salary payable for each completed year of service.

vii) Post-retirement medicare scheme

Under this unfunded scheme, employees of Tata Motors Limited and some of its subsidiaries receive medical benefits subject to certain limits on amounts of benefits, periods after retirement and types of benefits, depending on their grade and location at the time of retirement. Employees separated from the Company as part of an Early Separation Scheme, on medical grounds or due to permanent disablement are also covered under the scheme. Tata Motors Limited and such subsidiaries account for the liability for post-retirement medical scheme based on an actuarial valuation.

viii) Remeasurement gains and losses

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return on assets (excluding interest) relating to retirement benefit plans, are recognized directly in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Remeasurement recorded in other comprehensive income is not reclassified to statement of profit and loss.

 $Actuarial\ gains\ and\ losses\ relating\ to\ long-term\ employee\ benefits\ are\ recognized\ in\ the\ statement\ of\ profit\ and\ loss\ in\ the\ period\ in\ which\ they\ arise.$

ix) Measurement date

The measurement date of retirement plans is March 31.

r. Dividends

Any dividend declared or paid by Tata Motors Limited for any financial year is based on the profits available for distribution as reported in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India or Indian GAAP or Ind AS. Indian law permits the declaration and payment of dividend out of profits for the year or previous financial year(s) as stated in the statutory financial statements of Tata Motors Limited (Standalone) prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India, or Indian GAAP or Ind AS after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of Schedule II to the Companies Act. However, in the absence or inadequacy of the said profits, it may declare dividend out of free reserves, subject to certain conditions as prescribed under the

Companies (Declaration and payment of Dividend) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, in certain years the net income reported in these financial statements may not be fully distributable. The amount available for distribution is ₹NiI as at March 31, 2017 (₹198.19 crores as at March 31, 2016).

s. Segments

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment comprises two reportable segments i.e. Tata and other brand vehicles, including financing thereof and Jaguar Land Rover. Other operating segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds for disclosure and have been aggregated.

t. Financial instruments

i) Classification, initial recognition and measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets other than equity instruments are classified into categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and at amortised cost. Financial assets that are equity instruments are classified as fair value through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities.

Financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initially, a financial instrument is recognized at its fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial instruments are recognized in determining the carrying amount, if it is not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial instruments are measured according to the category in which they are classified.

Financial assets at amortised cost: Financial assets having contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold such assets in order to collect such contractual cash flows are classified in this category. Subsequently, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income: These include financial assets that are equity instruments and are designated as such upon initial recognition irrevocably. Subsequently, these are measured at fair value and changes therein, are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes.

Dividends from these equity investments are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the right to receive payment has been established.

When the equity investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are immediately recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments: An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interests in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from the host contract, unless they are designated as hedging instruments, for which hedge accounting is applied, are classified into this category. These are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

Other financial liabilities: These are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

ii) Determination of fair value:

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price (fair value of the consideration given or received). Subsequent to initial recognition, the Company determines the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets using the quoted bid prices (financial assets held) or quoted ask prices (financial liabilities held) and using valuation techniques for other instruments. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow method and other valuation models.

iii) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when these are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

iv) Impairment of financial assets:

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset that is at amortized cost.

Loss allowance in respect of financial assets other than finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to life time expected credit losses and is calculated as the difference between their carrying amount and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate

Loss allowance for finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected losses if credit risk on such assets has not increased significantly since initial recognition. An allowance equal to life time expected losses is provided if credit risk has increased significantly from the date of initial recognition. Credit risk is determined to have increased significantly when a finance receivable contract becomes sixty/ninety days past due. Such impairment loss is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

u. Hedge accounting

The Company uses foreign currency forward and option contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to highly probable forecast transactions. The Company designates these forward and option contracts in a cash flow hedging relationship by applying the hedge accounting principles.

These forward and option contracts are stated at fair value at each reporting date. Changes in the fair value of these forward and option contracts that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognized in other comprehensive income (net of tax) and the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit and loss in the periods in which the forecasted transaction occurs.

For options, time value is not considered part of the hedge. These are treated as cost of hedge and the changes in fair value attributable to time value is recognized in the other comprehensive income along with the changes in fair value determined to be effective portion of the hedge.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity is retained there until the forecast transaction occurs.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity is immediately transferred to the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year.

v. Recent accounting pronouncements

New Accounting pronouncements affecting amounts reported and /or disclosures in the financial statements.

The Company has not applied the following revisions to Ind ASs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Company is evaluating the impact of these pronouncements on the financial statements:

i) Amendments to Ind AS 107 - Statements of Cash Flows

In March 2017, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) issued amendments to Ind AS 107 - Statement of Cash Flows introducing additional disclosures that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendment is effective from April 1, 2017.

ii) Amendments to Ind AS 102 – Share-based Payments

In March 2017, the MCA issued amendments to Ind AS 102 – Share-based Payments that clarify how to account certain share-based payment transactions.

The amendments for:

- Accounting requirements with respect to the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
- Accounting requirements with respect to share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations;
- Modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to
 equity-settled.

The amendment is effective from April 1, 2017.

(w)	The following subsidiary companies are considered in the consolidated fi	nancial statements:	% of holding	either directly or through s	ubsidiaries
Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary Company	Country of incorporation	As at March 31, 2017	As at March 31, 2016	As at April 1, 2015
	<u>Direct Subsidiaries</u>				
1	TML Drivelines Limited	India	100	100	100
2	TAL Manufacturing Solutions Limited	India	100	100	100
3	Concorde Motors (India) Limited	India	100	100	100
4	Tata Motors Insurance Broking & Advisory Services Limited	India	100	100	100
5	Tata Motors European Technical Centre PLC	UK	100	100	100
6	Tata Technologies Limited	India	72.32	72.32	72.32
7	Tata Motors Finance Limited	India	100	100	100
8	Tata Marcopolo Motors Limited	India	51	51	51
9	TML Holdings Pte. Limited	Singapore	100	100	100
10	TML Distribution Company Limited	India	100	100	100
11	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A.	Spain	100	100	100
12	Tata Hispano Motors Carrocerries Maghreb SA	Morocco	100	100	100
13	Trilix S.r.l	Italy	80	80	80
14	Tata Precision Industries Pte. Limited	Singapore	78.39	78.39	78.39
	Indirect subsidiaries *				
15	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited	South Korea	100	100	100
16	Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Company Limited	South Korea	100	100	100
17	Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	95.28	95.28	95.28
18	Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Limited	South Africa	60	60	60
19	PT Tata Motors Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100	100
20	Tata Technologies (Thailand) Limited	Thailand	72.32	72.32	72.32
21	Tata Technologies Pte Limited	Singapore	72.32	72.32	72.32
22	INCAT International Plc.	UK	72.32	72.32	72.32
23	Tata Technologies Europe Limited	UK	72.32	72.32	72.32
24	INCAT GmbH.	Germany	72.32	72.32	72.32
25	Tata Technologies Inc.	USA	72.37	72.37	72.52
26	Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	Mexico	72.37	72.37	72.52
27	Cambric Limited	USA	72.32	72.32	72.32
28	Cambric UK Limited	UK	72.32	72.32	72.32
29	Cambric GmbH	Germany	72.32	72.32	72.32
30	Midwest Managed Services Inc.	USA	72.32	72.32	72.32
31	Tata Technologies SRL	Romania	72.32	72.32	72.32
32	Cambric Manufacturing Technologies (Shanghai) Company Limited	China	72.32	72.32	72.32
33	Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc	UK	100	100	100
34	Jaguar Land Rover Limited	UK	100	100	100
35	Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH	Austria	100	100	100
36	Jaguar Land Rover Belux NV	Belgium	100	100	100
37	Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited	Japan	100	100	100
38	Jaguar Cars South Africa (Pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100	100
39	JLR Nominee Company Limited	UK	100	100	100
40	The Daimler Motor Company Limited	UK	100	100	100
41	The Jaguar Collection Limited	UK	100	100	100
42	Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	UK	100	100	100
			100	100	100
43	S.S. Cars Limited The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	UK UK			
44 45	The Lanchester Motor Company Limited Jaquar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH	Germany	100 100	100 100	100 100
45	Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland Gribh Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited	UK	100	100	100
	9				
47	Jaguar Land Rover North America LLC	USA	100	100	100
48	Land Rover Ireland Limited	Ireland	100	100	100
49	Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV	Netherlands	100	100	100
50	Jaguar Land Rover Portugal - Veiculos e Pecas, Lda.	Portugal	100	100	100
51	Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited	Australia	100	100	100
52	Jaguar Land Rover Italia Spa	Italy	100	100	100

			% of holding eit through su		
Sr No.	Name of the Subsidiary Company	Country of incorporation	As at March 31, 2017	As at March 31, 2016	As at April 1, 2015
53	Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL	Spain	100	100	100
54	Jaguar Land Rover Korea Company Limited	South Korea	100	100	100
55	Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co. Limited (Renamed from Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Trading (Shanghai) Company Limited w.e.f. November 1, 2016)	China	100	100	100
56	Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC	Canada	100	100	100
57	Jaguar Land Rover France, SAS	France	100	100	100
58	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (pty) Limited	South Africa	100	100	100
59	Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil industria e Comercio de Veiculos LTDA	Brazil	100	100	100
60	Limited Liability Company "Jaguar Land Rover" (Russia)	Russia	100	100	100
61	Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited	UK	100	100	100
62	Jaguar Land Rover India Limited	India	100	100	100
63	Jaguar Cars Limited	UK	100	100	100
64	Land Rover Exports Limited	UK	100	100	100
65	Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	UK	100	100	100
66	Jaguar Racing Limited	UK	100	100	-
67	InMotion Ventures Limited	UK	100	100	-
68	InMotion Ventures 1 Limited (incorporated w.e.f. October 25, 2016)	UK	100	100	-
69	InMotion Ventures 2 Limited (incorporated w.e.f. October 25, 2016)	UK	100	100	-
70	InMotion Ventures 3 Limited (incorporated w.e.f. October 25, 2016)	UK	100	100	-
71	Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Services Company Limited	China	100	100	100
72	Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o	Slovakia	100	100	-
73	Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd	Singapore	100	100	-
74	Jaguar Land Rover Columbia S.A.S (incorporated w.e.f August 22, 2016)	Columbia	100	-	-
75	PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	Indonesia	100	100	100
76	Tata Motors Finance Solutions Limited	India	100	100	100
77	Sheba Properties Limited	India	100	100	100
78	TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Limited	Nigeria	100	-	-
*	Effective holding % of the Company directly and through its subsidiaries.				

The following jointly controlled companies are considered in the consolidated financial statements:

			% of equity holding through su		
Sr No.	Name of the jointly controlled company	Country of incorporation	As at March 31, 2017	As at March 31, 2016	As at April1, 2015
1	Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	India	50	50	50
2	Tata Cummins Private Limited	India	50	50	50
3	Tata HAL Technologies Limited **	India	36.16	36.16	36.16
4	Spark 44 (JV) Limited	UK	50	50	50
5	Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Limited	China	50	50	50
6	JT Special Vehicles Pvt. Limited (incorporated w.e.f July 13, 2016)	India	50	-	-

^{*} Effective holding % of the Company as it is a Joint Venture of Tata Technologies Ltd

(x) Transition to Ind AS

The Company has prepared the opening balance sheet as per Ind AS as at April 1, 2015 (the transition date) by recognising all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by Ind AS, not recognising items of assets and liabilities which are not permitted by Ind AS, by reclassifying items from Previous GAAP to Ind AS as required by Ind AS, and applying Ind AS in measurement of recognised assets and liabilities. However, this principle is subject to certain exception and certain optional exemptions availed by the Company as detailed below.

(a) Fair valuation as deemed cost for certain items of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets

The Company has elected to measure certain items of its property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets at its fair value and use that fair value as its deemed cost at the date of transition to Ind AS. Other items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets have been measured as per Ind AS 16 and Ind AS 38, respectively.

(b) Business combination

Business combination prior to April 1, 2007 have been accounted in accordance with Previous GAAP. Goodwill arising from business combination has been stated at the carrying amount under Previous GAAP. Intangible assets which were subsumed in goodwill under Previous GAAP have not been recognised upto April 1, 2007

(y) Reconciliation between Previous GAAP and Ind AS:

(a) Equity reconciliation			(₹ in crores)
Particulars	Note	As at March 31, 2016	As at April 1, 2015
Equity as reported under Previous GAAP		80,782.67	56,261.92
Fair value loss through Other Comprehensive Income for investments in quoted equity shares	(a)	(103.14)	(91.50)
Fair value gain on investments in mutual funds	(a)	23.40	9.87
Proposed Dividend	(b)	73.00	-
Provision for expected credit losses	(c)	(3,347.90)	(3,110.63)
Gain on fair value of below market interest loan (net of effective interest rate adjustment)	(d)	447.78	396.98
Effect of de-recognition of financial instruments	(j)	12.00	128.00
Effect of adoption of fair value as deemed cost relating to property, plant and equipment and intangibles	(e)&(f)	2,738.92	2,490.49
Effect of hedges for inventory purchases	(g)	8.59	312.21
Fair valuation of assets and liabilities on acquisition of business	(m)	(1,140.98)	(1,010.66)
Discounting of provisions	(h)	185.57	237.97
Reversal of goodwill recognised in Previous GAAP on common control transactions		(322.00)	(322.00)
Others (net)		(327.40)	(129.98)
Tax effect on above adjustments		(78.10)	99.91
Equity as per Ind AS		78,952.41	55,272.58

(b) Comprehensive Income reconciliation

Particulars	Note	Year ended March 31 , 2016
Net profit after tax as reported under Previous GAAP		11,023.75
Reversal of exchange gain accumulated in foreign currency monetary item translation difference account	(f)	1,379.23
Effect of adoption of fair value as deemed cost relating to property, plant and equipment and intangibles (net of depreciation and amortisation)	(e)	253.63
Gain on fair value of below market interest loan (net of effective interest rate adjustment)	(d)	50.50
Effect of cross currency basis spreads on hedge accounting		(102.93)
Provision for expected credit losses	(c)	(237.27)
Reversal of gain on sale of investment in equity instruments classified as fair value through Other Comprehensive Income	(a)	(80.38)
Fair value gain on investment in mutual funds	(a)	13.83
Discounting of provisions	(h)	(61.93)
Remeasurement losses on defined benefit obligations (net)	(i)	(82.45)
Impact on depreciation due to retrospective application of business combination		(94.62)
Effect of de-recognition of financial instruments	(j)	(116.00)
Others (net)		(213.60)
Tax effect on above adjustments (including tax effect on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements)		(152.45)
Net profit after tax as per Ind AS		11,579.31
Other Comprehensive income (net of tax) attributable to the Shareholders of the Company		3,145.33
Total Comprehensive income after tax as per Ind AS attributable to the Shareholders of the Company		14,724.64

Notes to reconciliations between Previous GAAP and Ind AS

(a) Investments

Under Previous GAAP, investments were classified into current and long term investments. Current investments are carried at the lower of cost or market value, while long term investments are carried at cost less any impairment that is other than temporary.

Under Ind AS, equity investments have been classified as Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI). Fair value movements are recognized directly in other comprehensive income on such investments. Investments in Mutual Funds have been classified as Fair value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL) and fair value changes are recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss.

(b) Dividends

Under Ind AS, dividends payable are recorded as a liability in the year in which these are declared and approved. Under Previous GAAP, dividends payable were recorded as a liability in the year to which they relate.

(c) Provision for expected credit losses

Impairment of finance receivables is measured at an amount equal to twelve month expected losses if credit risk on such assets has not increased significantly since initial recognition. An allowance equal to lifetime expected losses is provided if credit risks has increased significantly from the date of initial recognition.

Under Previous GAAP, such estimates were determined based on experience of historic losses on such contracts.

Impairment for trade receivable is measured in Ind AS based on life time expected credit losses. Expected credit loss allowance is measured based on historical credit loss experience, defaults, bankruptcy and forward looking information where relevant adjusted for probability of recovery. Under Previous GAAP, provision for trade receivable is measured based on factors such as age of receivables, defaults etc. adjusted for probability of recovery.

(d) Gain on fair value of below market interest loans

Under Ind AS, below market interest rate loan received is recorded at fair value by using an appropriate discount rate on date of obtaining the loan. The difference between the fair value and the amount received is recognised as a gain in profit or loss as per Ind AS 20. The interest expense is recorded periodically till the maturity of the loan based on effective interest method.

Under Previous GAAP, the loan were recorded same as the amount received.

(e) Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

On the date of transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to measure certain items of Property, Plant and Equipment and intangible assets at fair value and use that fair value as its deemed cost. The aggregate fair values of Property, Plant and Equipment is ₹5,859.48 crores and of related intangible assets is ₹1,891.97 crores. Fair value adjustments recorded to the carrying amounts is ₹3,593.71 crores for Property, Plant and Equipment and ₹(1,103.22) crores for related Intangible Assets.

Under Ind AS, all foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are included in net income except to the extent these are treated as an adjustment to interest cost and considered for capitalization. Under Previous GAAP, foreign exchange gains and losses arising on foreign currency denominated borrowings that were incurred to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets were included in the cost of the asset and depreciated over their remaining useful life

Further under Previous GAAP, the cost of property, plant and equipment also included indirectly attributable expenses that are incurred before a property, plant and equipment is ready for its intended use. Under Ind AS, such costs are expensed as incurred.

Under Ind AS, import duty waivers for capital assets purchased under Export Promotion Credit Guarantee (EPCG) schemes are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized in Profit and Loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the related performance obligations are fulfilled. On the transition date, the Company, therefore, recorded an adjustment to measure such Property, plant and equipment in accordance with Ind AS 16. Under Previous GAAP, cost of the property, plant and equipment was recorded at the cash price paid to acquire such assets. Consequently, depreciation relating to the above differences in the cost of property, plant and equipment under Ind AS and Previous GAAP has also been adjusted.

(f) Exchange gain/(loss) accumulated in foreign currency monetary item translation difference account

Under Ind AS, all exchange differences are accounted for in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they arise. Under Previous GAAP, exchange differences relating to long term foreign currency monetary assets/liabilities were accounted for in the following manner:

- a) Differences relating to borrowings attributable to the acquisition of the depreciable capital asset were added to/deducted from the cost of such
- b) Other differences were accumulated in foreign currency monetary item translation difference account, to be amortized over the period, beginning April 1, 2011 or date of inception of such item, as applicable, and ending on March 31, 2020 or the date of its maturity, whichever is earlier.

(g) Basis adjustment for inventories

The Company have entered into forwards and options to hedge its raw materials inventory purchases. The unrealised gain/(loss) on such hedges are recognised in the hedge reserve. Under Previous GAAP, the gain/(loss) on such hedges are reclassified to profit and loss statement on maturity of such contracts. Under Ind AS, the gain/(loss) are recognised in inventory at the time of purchase of raw materials.

(h) Discounting of warranty provisions

Under Previous GAAP, the provision for warranty expenses are not discounted for time value. Under Ind AS, these provisions are discounted and the time value is accreted over the warranty period.

(i) Remeasurement gain/(loss)

Under Previous GAAP, the actuarial gain/(loss) on post retirement employee benefit obligations are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. Under Ind AS, such gain/(loss) are recognised in the Other Comprehensive income.

(i) Derecognition of financial instruments

The Company transfers finance receivables in securitisation transactions/direct assignments. In such transactions the Company surrenders control over the receivables though continues to act as an agent for the collection of receivables. In most of these transactions, the Company also provides credit enhancement to the transferee. Because of the existence of credit enhancement in such transactions, under Ind AS, such transfer or assignment does not meet the derecognition criteria resulting into the transaction not being recorded as sale. Consequently, the proceeds received from the transfer are recorded as collateralised debt obligation.

Under the Previous GAAP, the derecognition criteria were different and are based on surrender of control. The Company meets the criteria under Previous GAAP for derecognition and accordingly records such transfer as sale.

(k) Deferred taxes have been recorded under Ind AS for undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and inter company adjustments with subsidiaries and joint operations, which were not recorded under Previous GAAP.

(I) Foreign currency translation adjustment:

These are consequential translation adjustments on Previous GAAP to Ind AS adjustments.

(m) Under Previous GAAP, Business Combination are accounted at book value whereas under Ind AS, these are accounted at fair value.

(n) Cash Flow Statement

Under Ind AS, certain transfer of finance receivables by way of securitisation/direct assignments do not meet the criteria for derecognition. Consequently, proceeds received from these transactions are recorded as collateralized debt obligation. Under Indian GAAP, such transactions meet the criteria for derecognition and accordingly, recorded as sale. As a result, under Ind AS, the cash flows from operating activities and cash outflows from financing activities is higher by ₹603 crores.

5. Property, plant and equipment																(k in crores)
			5	Owned assets					Giver	Given on lease			Taken on lease	n lease		Total
	Land	Buildings	Plant and equipment	Furniture and fixtures	Vehicles	Computers	Heritage Assets	Land	Buildings	Plant and equipment	Vehicles	Buildings	Plant and equipment	Furniture and fixtures	Computers	
Cost as at April 1, 2016	7,161.52	12,164.18	79,478.20	1,241.33	279.69	1,634.42	497.78	23.17	34.55	21.93	ľ	144.06	563.00		174.25	103,418.08
Additions	21.87	1,114.12	9,324.76	136.73	44.79	313.64	1.48	•	•	0.04	8.14	12.43	0.99	4.31	4.62	10,987.92
Currency translation differences	(421.41)	(421.41) (1,175.59)	(8,824.25)	(130.46)	(11.50)	(138.39)	(75.91)	(3.06)	(5.09)	•	'	(6.73)	(67.85)	•	•	(10,860.24)
Disposal	'	(88.41)	(418.57)	(29.47)	(22.03)	(42.90)	•	•	•	(13.02)	'	(0.19)	(79.99)	•	•	(694.58)
Cost as at March 31, 2017	6,761.98	12,014.30	79,560.14	1,218.13	290.95	1,766.77	423.35	20.11	29.46	8.95	8.14	149.57	416.15	4.31	178.87	102,851.18
Accumulated depreciation as at April 1, 2016	'	2,170.86	34,138.35	544.05	158.59	910.29	'		0.75	9.27	'	29.44	378.06	'	151.35	38,491.01
Depreciation for the period		507.70	8,074.51	133.78	43.46	169.64		•	0.15	2.15	3.66	6.78	94.13	0.65	12.01	9,048.62
Writeoff of assets	'	•	102.04	•	•	•		•	•	•	'		•	•		102.04
Currency translation differences	'	(183.91)	(3,551.59)	(50.77)	(4.81)	(41.24)	•	•	(0.17)	•	-	(0.44)	(48.16)	•	•	(3,881.09)
Disposal	'	(49.18)	(287.24)	(26.16)	(17.65)	(35.21)		•	'	(8.34)	-	(0.19)	(79.99)		'	(503.96)
Accumulated depreciation as at March 31, 2017	'	2,445.47	38,476.07	06.009	179.59	1,003.48	'	'	0.73	3.08	3.66	35.59	344.04	0.65	163.36	43,256.62
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2017	6,761.98	9,568.83	41,084.07	617.23	111.36	763.29	423.35	20.11	28.73	5.87	4.48	113.98	72.11	3.66	15.51	59,594.56
Cost as at April 1, 2015	6,653.09	9,865.64	64,760.52	1,008.32	266.38	1,274.20	482.12	2.93	0.73	19.70		150.93	518.52	1	164.45	85,167.53
Additions	486.41	2,158.27	14,561.59	249.44	57.04	380.38	,	20.91	34.56	3.26		6.08	32.55	1	9.80	18,000.29
Write off of assets	'	1	(225.79)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1			1	1	,	(225.79)
Currency translation differences	43.27	145.67	971.15	16.33	1.45	8.25	15.66	(0.67)	(0.74)			1.89	11.93	•	,	1,214.19
Disposal	(21.25)	(5.40)	(589.27)	(32.76)	(45.18)	(28.41)	,	1	•	(1.03)		(14.84)	•	•	•	(738.14)
Cost as at March 31, 2016	7,161.52	12,164.18	79,478.20	1,241.33	279.69	1,634.42	497.78	23.17	34.55	21.93		144.06	563.00	'	174.25	103,418.08
Accumulated depreciation as at April 1, 2015	'	1,724.45	27,266.07	431.85	153.11	791.65	'	'	'	6.86		24.49	368.96	'	135.44	30,902.88
Depreciation for the year	1	439.21	7,185.97	136.61	42.86	129.76	,	1	0.75	3.17		5.46	0.25	1	15.91	7,959.95
Writeoff of assets	1	1	(165.47)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1			1	1	1	(165.47)
Currency translation differences	-	19.11	331.89	6.15	0.24	5.40	1			- (92.0)		0.26	8.85			371.90
Accumulated depreciation as at	'	2,170.86	34,138.35	544.05	158.59	910.29		'	0.75	9.27		29.44	378.06	'	151.35	38,491.01
March 31, 2010 Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2016	7,161.52	9,993.32	45,339.85	697.28	121.10	724.13	497.78	23.17	33.80	12.66		114.62	184.94	'	22.90	64,927.07

4. Leases

The Company has taken land, buildings, plant and equipment, computers and furniture and fixtures under operating and finance leases. The following is the summary of future minimum lease rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases and finance leases entered into by the Company:

(₹ in crores)

			As at Ma	arch 31,				As at April 1,	
		2017			2016			2015	
	Operating	Fina	ance	Operating	Fina	ince	Operating	Fina	nce
	Minimum Lease Payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Present value of minimum lease payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Present value of minimum lease payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Minimum Lease Payments	Present value of minimum lease payments
Not later than one year	659.77	25.82	22.12	503.19	61.18	57.22	462.67	75.51	57.17
Later than one year but not later than five years	1,787.14	41.71	33.81	784.36	58.77	53.31	577.56	91.99	90.75
Later than five years	1,464.55	37.22	20.23	1,309.46	38.18	15.73	1,112.72	-	-
Total minimum lease commitments	3,911.46	104.75	76.16	2,597.01	158.13	126.26	2,152.95	167.50	147.92
Less: future finance charges	_	(28.61)		_	(31.87)	_		(19.58)	
Present value of minimum lease payments	_	76.14		_	126.26		_	147.92	
Included in the financial state- ments as:									
Other financial liabilities - current (refer note 27)			22.13			57.22			57.17
Long-term borrowings (refer note 24)		_	54.01		_	69.04		_	90.75
			76.14			126.26			147.92

Total operating lease rent expenses were ₹822.48 crores and ₹774.03 crores for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

Goodwill

	As at I	March 31,
	2017	2016
Balance at the beginning	759.80	731.95
Impairment	(14.25)	-
Currency translation differences	(72.23)	27.85
Balance at the end	673.32	759.80

As at March 31, 2017, goodwill of ₹115.41 crores and ₹557.91 crores relates to the automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles including financing thereof) and "others" segment respectively. As at March 31, 2016, goodwill of ₹130.98 crores and ₹628.82 crores relates to the automotive and related activity segment (Tata and other brand vehicles including financing thereof) and "others" segment respectively.

As at March 31, 2017, goodwill of ₹557.91 crores has been allocated to software consultancy and services cash generating unit. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use. Value in use has been determined based on future cash flows, after considering current economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, growth rates and anticipated future economic conditions.

As at March 31, 2017, the estimated cash flows for a period of 5 years were developed using internal forecasts, and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.78%. The cash flows beyond 5 years have been extrapolated assuming 2% growth rates. The management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

Particulars	Software	Patents and technological know how	Customer related	Intellectual property rights and other intangibles	Indefinite life trade marks and patents	Product development	Total
Cost as at April 1, 2016	5,966.68	1,525.56	605.00	82.08	5,902.17	50,681.24	64,762.73
Additions	797.70	1.79	-	129.43	-	7,943.73	8,872.65
Currency translation differences	(821.48)	(213.67)	(88.39)	(13.14)	(898.67)	(7,231.70)	(9,267.05)
Disposal	-	-	-	(3.38)	-	-	(3.38)
Fully amortized not in use	(730.06)	-	-	-	-	(3,647.18)	(4,377.24)
Cost as at March 31, 2017	5,212.84	1,313.68	516.61	194.99	5,003.50	47,746.09	59,987.71
Accumulated amortisation as at April 1, 2016	2,493.19	1,149.93	228.27	39.71	-	19,306.74	23,217.84
Amortization for the period	756.87	131.20	28.97	1.06	-	7,938.27	8,856.37
Fully amortized not in use	(730.06)	-	-	-	-	(3,647.18)	(4,377.24)
Currency translation differences	(305.22)	(183.14)	(31.81)	(1.15)	-	(2,862.20)	(3,383.52)
Disposal	-	(1.94)	-	-	-	-	(1.94)
Accumulated amortisation as at March 31, 2017	2,214.78	1,096.05	225.43	39.62		20,735.63	24,311.51
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2017	2,998.06	217.63	291.18	155.37	5,003.50	27,010.46	35,676.20
Cost as at April 1, 2015	4,359.70	1,453.06	586.73	81.14	5,716.47	40,290.54	52,487.64
Additions	1,637.87	28.18	-	-	-	14,040.89	15,706.94
Writeoff of assets	-	-	-	-	-	(907.72)	(907.72)
Currency translation differences	80.11	44.32	18.27	0.94	185.70	716.90	1,046.24
Disposal	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fully amortised not in use	(111.00)	-	-	-	-	(3,459.37)	(3,570.37)
Cost as at March 31, 2016	5,966.68	1,525.56	605.00	82.08	5,902.17	50,681.24	64,762.73
Accumulated amortisation as at April 1, 2015	1,809.88	978.34	195.28	34.94		15,561.01	18,579.45
Amortization for the year	751.91	146.37	27.60	3.72	-	7,821.23	8,750.83
Writeoff of assets	-	-	-	-	-	(907.17)	(907.17)
Currency translation differences	26.31	25.22	5.39	1.05	-	291.04	349.01
Disposal	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fully amortised not in use	(94.91)	-	-	-	-	(3,459.37)	(3,554.28)
Accumulated amortisation as at March 31, 2016	2,493.19	1,149.93	228.27	39.71	-	19,306.74	23,217.84
Net carrying amount as at March 31, 2016	3,473.49	375.63	376.73	42.37	5,902.17	31,374.50	41,544.89

The useful life of trademarks and brands in respect of the acquired Jaguar Land Rover businesses have been determined to be indefinite as the Company expects to generate future economic benefits indefinitely from these assets.

The indefinite life intangible assets have been allocated to the Jaguar Land Rover businesses. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been determined based on value in use. Value in use has been determined based on future cash flows after considering current economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, growth rates and anticipated future economic conditions.

The estimated cash flows for a period of five years were developed using internal forecasts, and a pre-tax discount rate of 10.9%. The cash flows beyond five years have been extrapolated assuming 1.9% growth rate. The management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

7. Investments in equity accounted investees:

(a) Associates:

The Company has no material associates as at March 31, 2017. The aggregate summarized financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

(₹	in	crores)
(/	111	cioles)

	As at March 31,		As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in associates	872.63	526.57	571.84

	Year ended M	Year ended March 31,		
	2017	2016		
Company's share of profit/(loss) in associates*	110.93	(21.40)		
Company's share of other comprehensive income in associates	(15.51)	(8.57)		
Company's share of total comprehensive income in associates	95.42	(29.97)		

- (i) Fair value of investment in an equity accounted associate for which published price quotation is available, which is a level 1 input, was ₹192.22 crores and ₹127.80 crores as at March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The carrying amount as at March 31, 2017 and 2016, was ₹136.84 crores and ₹135.04 crores, respectively.
- (ii) During the year ended March 31, 2017,
 - Optionally convertible Preference shares of Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Pvt Ltd of ₹160 crores were converted into equity shares.
 - The Company purchased 32% of the Ordinary share capital of CloudCar Inc. for **GBP 12 million** (**₹105.20 crores**). However, the Group has 43% of the voting rights since a number of Ordinary shares are in the form of options either available for issue or assigned to the employees of CloudCar Inc.
 - The Company purchased 33% of the Ordinary share capital of Synaptiv Limited for GBP 0.2 million (₹1.75 crores).

(b) Joint ventures:

(i) Details of the Company's material joint venture as at March 31, 2017 are as follows:

			% holding as at March 31,		% holding as at April 1,	
Name of joint venture	Principal activity	Principal place of the business	2017	2016	2015	
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited (Chery)	Manufacture and assembly of vehicles	China	50%	50%	50%	

Chery is a limited liability company, whose legal form confers separation between the parties to the joint arrangement. There is no contractual arrangement or any other facts and circumstances that indicate that the parties to the joint venture have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement. Accordingly, Chery is classified as a joint venture. The summarized financial information in respect of Chery that is accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

	As at March 31,		As at April 1,	
	2017	2016	2015	
Current assets	7,608.28	6,657.81	4,812.23	
Non-current assets	8,852.56	7,764.09	5,423.28	
Current liabilities	(7,565.07)	(5,860.96)	(3,198.73)	
Non-current liabilities	(1,424.97)	(2,058.03)	(1,784.26)	
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:		-	-	
Cash and cash equivalents	5,025.85	4,295.35	2,727.24	
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(1.70)	(334.08)	(517.71)	
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(1,416.88)	(2,058.03)	(1,784.26)	
Share of net assets of material joint venture	3,735.40	3,251.46	2,626.26	
Other consolidation adjustments	(66.79)	(64.23)	(53.01)	
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	3,668.61	3,187.23	2,573.25	

(₹ in crores)

	Year ended M	arch 31,
	2017	2016
Revenue	18,960.13	10,904.86
Net income/(loss)	2,732.06	1,186.64
Other comprehensive income	-	-
Total comprehensive income for the year	2,732.06	1,186.64
The above net income includes the following:		
Depreciation and amortization	920.11	572.01
Interest income	(99.32)	(78.90)
Interest expense (net)	70.66	98.62
Income tax expense	901.44	433.94

Reconciliation of above summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

	As at March 31,		As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Net assets of the joint venture	7,470.80	6,502.91	5,252.52
Proportion of the Company's interest in joint venture	3,735.40	3,251.46	2,626.26
Other consolidation adjustments	(66.79)	(64.23)	(53.01)
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint venture	3,668.61	3,187.23	2,573.25

During the year ended March 31, 2017, a dividend of **GBP 68 million (₹592.88 crores)** was received by a subsidiary in UK from Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Ltd. (2016: Nil)

(ii) The aggregate summarized financial information in respect of the Company's immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method is set forth below.

	As at Mar	As at April 1,	
	2017	2016	2015
Carrying amount of the Company's interest in joint ventures	64.77	50.15	28.57

	Year ended March 31,	
	2017	2016
Company's share of profit/(loss) in joint ventures*	27.65	20.74
Company's share of other comprehensive income in joint ventures	(13.03)	-
Company's share of total comprehensive income in joint ventures	14.62	20.74

(c) Summary of carrying amount of the Company's interest in equity accounted investees:

			(₹ in crores)
	As at I	March 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Carrying amount in immaterial associates	872.63	526.57	571.84
Carrying amount in material joint venture	3,668.61	3,187.23	2,573.25
Carrying amount in immaterial joint ventures	64.77	50.15	28.57
	4,606.01	3,763.95	3,173.66

(d) Summary of Company's share of profit/(loss) in equity accounted investees:

	Year ende	Year ended March 31,	
	2017	2016	
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial associates	110.93	(21.40)	
Share of profit/(loss) in material joint venture	1,366.03	593.32	
Share of profit/(loss) on other adjustments in material joint venture	(11.61)	(15.19)	
Share of profit/(loss) in immaterial joint ventures	27.65	20.74	
	1,493.00	577.47	

(e) Summary of Company's share of other comprehensive income in equity accounted investees:

	Year ende	ed March 31,
	2017	2016
Share of other comprehensive income in immaterial associates	(4.00)	(8.57)
Currency translation differences-immaterial associates	(11.51)	-
Currency translation differences-material joint venture	(280.16)	35.85
Currency translation differences-immaterial joint ventures	(13.03)	0.84
	(308.70)	28.12

^{*} Company's share of profit/(loss) of the equity accounted investees has been determined after giving effect for the subsequent amortization/depreciation and other adjustments arising on account of fair value adjustments made to the identifiable net assets of the equity accounted investee as at the date of acquisition and other adjustment arising under the equity method of accounting.

			(₹ in crores)
8. Other Investments - non-current	As at Mar	As at March 31, As	
o. Other investments - non-current	2017	2016	2015
(a) Investments - measured at Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income			
Quoted:			
Equity shares	260.29	210.49	210.57
Unquoted:			
Equity shares	369.98	373.76	373.25
Total	630.27	584.25	583.82
(b) Investments - measured at Fair value through profit and loss			
Quoted:			
Mutual fund	25.09	-	-
Unquoted:			
(i) Optionally convertible preference shares	-	160.00	160.00
(ii) Non-cumulative redeemable preference shares	1.40	2.90	3.00
(iii) Cumulative redeemable preference shares	6.50	5.00	5.00
(iv) Others	23.62	14.03	13.53
Total	56.61	181.93	181.53
(c) Investments - measured at amortised cost			
Unquoted:			
Non-convertible debentures	3.88	3.85	3.50
Total	3.88	3.85	3.50
Total (a+b+c)	690.76	770.03	768.85
Aggregate book value of quoted investments	285.38	210.49	210.57
Aggregate market value of quoted investments	285.38	210.49	210.57
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments	405.38	559.54	558.28

				(₹ in crores)		
9.	Other Investments - current	As at Ma	As at March 31, As at April		As at March 31, As at Apr	
9.	Other investments - current	2017	2016	2015		
(a)	Investments - measured at Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income					
Unq	uoted:					
(i)	Equity shares	-	-	4.68		
Tota	I	-	-	4.68		
(b)	Investments - measured at Fair value through profit and loss					
Unq	uoted:					
(i)	Mutual funds	3,040.54	1,889.36	432.10		
(ii)	Optionally convertible debentures	-	-	1.49		
(iii)	Advance against investments	0.40	-	0.30		
Tota	I	3,040.94	1,889.36	433.89		
(c)	Investments - measured at amortised cost					
Unq	uoted:					
	Mutual funds	12,000.21	17,343.68	13,636.21		
Tota	I	12,000.21	17,343.68	13,636.21		
Tota	l (a+b+c)	15,041.15	19,233.04	14,074.78		
Agg	regate book value of unquoted investments	15,041.15	19,233.04	14,074.78		

			(₹ in crores)		
10. Loans and advances	Asa	at March 31, As at Apri		As at March 31, As at Apri	
10. Loans and advances	2017	2016	2015		
<u>Non-current</u>					
Secured, considered good:					
(a) Loans to channel partners	195.61	-	-		
Unsecured, considered good:					
(a) Loans to employees	27.73	29.31	29.54		
(b) Loan to joint operation (FIAT India Automobile Private Ltd)	-	-	132.50		
(c) Loans to others	40.80	33.77	-		
(d) Others	489.52	440.80	334.67		
Total	753.66	503.88	496.71		
Current					
Secured, considered good:					
(a) Loans to suppliers	25.79	23.51	85.37		
Unsecured, considered good:					
(a) Advances to supplier, contractors etc.	684.35	930.78	599.10		
(b) Inter corporate deposits	0.31	30.31	95.31		
(c) Loan to joint operation (FIAT India Automobile Private Ltd)	-	132.50	-		
Total	710.45	1,117.10	779.78		

11. Other financial assets	As at March 31,		As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
<u>Non-current</u>			
(a) Derivative financial instruments	2,775.34	1,591.26	261.08
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	2.40	0.56	58.81
(c) Restricted deposits	57.19	217.06	226.70
(d) Margin money/cash collateral with banks	74.56	15.63	100.13
(e) Other deposits	1.63	1.00	0.92
Total	2,911.12	1,825.51	647.64

Margin money with banks is restricted cash deposits and consists of collateral provided for transfer of finance receivables.

Restricted deposits as at March 31, 2017 and 2016 of ₹32.37 crores and ₹181.36 crores is held as a deposit in relation to ongoing legal cases.

Restricted deposits as at April1, 2015 of ₹147.92 crores relate to the Company's residual risk arising on vehicles sold by dealer under leasing arrangement.

Current

(a) Derivative financial instruments	1,510.18	757.28	1,672.68
(b) Interest accrued on loans and deposits	5.76	73.45	12.12
(c) Term/Fixed deposit other than Banks	40.00	5.00	5.00
Total	1,555.94	835.73	1,689.80

			(₹ in crores)
12. Inventories	As at March 31,		As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
(a) Raw materials and components	2,159.53	2,418.96	2,325.72
(b) Work-in-progress	3,642.56	4,258.93	3,364.45
(c) Finished goods	28,235.17	24,909.33	22,474.76
(d) Stores and spare parts	216.12	206.97	196.64
(e) Consumable tools	297.66	283.89	215.81
(f) Goods-in-transit - Raw materials and components	534.27	577.65	466.77
Total	35,085.31	32,655.73	29,044.15

- Inventories of finished goods include ₹2,637.94 crores, ₹2,386.31 crores and ₹1,728.79 crores as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015 respectively, relating to vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements
- Cost of inventories (including cost of purchased products) recognized as expense during the years ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 amounted to ₹2,03,087.37 crores and ₹1,95,875.89 crores, respectively.
- During the year ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded inventory write-down expense of ₹372.51crores and ₹328.59 crores (excluding provision for loss
- of inventory at port of Tianjin in China mentioned below) respectively.

 The exceptional credit of ₹1,330.10 crores (GBP 151 million) for the year ended March 31, 2017, relates to the explosion at the port of Tianjin (China) in August 2015. This relates to the receipt of insurance proceeds, recovery of import duties and taxes and to an updated assessment of the condition of the remaining vehicles, which led to a
 - reversal of the original provision recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2015.

 A provision of ₹1,638.39 crores (GBP 157 million) (net of insurance recoveries of ₹534.24 crores (GBP 55 million)) has been recognised against the carrying value of inventory during the year ended March 31, 2016 for the damage due to explosion at the port of Tianjin in China in August 2015.

13. Trade receivables (Unsecured)	As a	As at March 31,	
	2017	2016	2015
Trade receivables	15,452.99	14,845.20	13,748.50
	15,452.99	14,845.20	13,748.50
Less: Allowances for doubtful trade receivables	(1,377.44)	(1,274.29)	(775.70)
Total	14,075.55	13,570.91	12,972.80

As at March 31,		As at April 1,
2017	2016	2015
32.62	40.09	36.97
111.31	115.11	51.64
8,462.76	7,805.03	7,619.95
5,380.07	9,193.38	12,034.53
13,986.76	17,153.61	19,743.09
	2017 32.62 111.31 8,462.76 5,380.07	2017 2016 32.62 40.09 111.31 115.11 8,462.76 7,805.03 5,380.07 9,193.38

15. Bank balances	As	As at March 31,	
	2017	2016	2015
With upto 12 months maturity:			
(a) Earmarked balances with banks (refer note below)	238.36	530.82	234.73
(b) Bank deposits	21,852.76	12,775.97	10,434.11
Total	22,091.12	13,306.79	10,668.84

Earmarked balances with banks include ₹186.14 crores, ₹361.67 crores and ₹204.56 crores as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015, respectively held as security in relation to interest and repayment of borrowings. Out of these deposits, ₹118.64 crores, ₹176.67 crores and ₹204.56 crores as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015, respectively are pledged till the maturity of the respective borrowings.

16. Finance receivables	Finance receivables As at March 31,		As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Finance receivables	21,160.76	20,758.16	20,454.06
Less: Allowance for credit losses	(3,597.51)	(5,006.69)	(5,888.01)
Total	17,563.25	15,751.47	14,566.05
Current portion	6,810.12	6,079.92	4,959.45
Non-current portion	10,753.13	9,671.55	9,606.60
Total	17,563.25	15,751.47	14,566.05

(₹ in crores)

Changes in the allowance for credit losses in finance receivables are as follows:

Balance at the beginning
Allowances made/(reversed) during the year
Written off
Ralance at the end

Year ended	March 31,
2017	2016
5,006.69	5,888.01
(28.15)	220.96
(1,381.03)	(1,102.28)
3,597.51	5,006.69

Fair value of collaterals over which the Company has taken possession and held as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015, amounted to ₹200.73 crores, ₹66.06 crores and ₹356.95 crores, respectively. The collateral represents vehicle financed by the Company and the Company normally undertakes disposal of these vehicles through an auction process.

Change in the allowances for trade and other receivables are as follows:			
		Year ended Ma	arch 31,
		2017	2016
Balance at the beginning		1,483.71	917.71
Allowances made during the year		132.93	664.66
Written off		(134.03)	(88.93)
Foreign exchange translation differences		34.42	(9.73)
Balance at the end		1,517.03	1,483.71
	A+ M h 21	A+ M	A+ A: 1 1
18. Other non-current assets	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
(a) Capital advances	562.52	470.31	234.93
(b) Taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government	1,125.26	1,008.06	1,190.49
(c) Prepaid rentals on operating leases	326.10	149.08	140.86
(d) Prepaid expenses	631.24	508.05	269.15
(e) Others	202.24	173.52	148.17
Total	2,847.36	2,309.02	1,983.60
19. Other current assets	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
15. Other current assets	2017	2016	2015
(a) Advances and other receivables	402.94	205.57	183.73
(b) VAT, other taxes recoverable, statutory deposits and dues from government	4,904.80	4,464.09	4,118.14
(c) Prepaid expenses	1,106.21	1,117.41	1,058.43
(d) Others	126.04	37.02	51.79
IU/ OUICIS			

20. Income taxes

		(₹ in crores)
	Year ended Ma	-
	2017	2016
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes	(2.477.72)	(05.1.77)
India	(2,657.73)	(954.77)
Other than India	11,972.52	15,080.54
Total	9,314.79	14,125.77
The domestic and foreign components of income tax expense:		
	Year ended Ma	
	2017	2016
Current taxes		
India	184.55	101.27
Other than India	2,953.11	1,760.78
Deferred taxes		
India	186.00	165.15
Other than India	(72.43)	997.85
Total income tax expense	3,251.23	3,025.05
The reconciliation of estimated income toy to income toy evenes is as follows:		
The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows:	Year ended Ma	rch 31,
The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows:	Year ended Ma 2017	r ch 31, 2016
The reconciliation of estimated income tax to income tax expense is as follows: Profit/(Loss) before income taxes		•
	2017	2016
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes	9,314.79	2016
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax:	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58)	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40)
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net)	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58)	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: - foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) - interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment - Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37 134.53
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: • foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) • interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment • Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37 134.53 - 540.52
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees Deferred tax assets not recognized because realization is not probable	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17 2,243.94	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37 134.53 - 540.52 1,186.33
Profit/(Loss) before income taxes ncome tax expense at tax rates applicable to individual entities Additional deduction for patent, research and product development cost tems (net) not deductible for tax/not liable to tax: • foreign currency (gain)/loss relating to loans and deposits (net) • interest and other expenses relating to borrowings for investment • Dividend from subsidiaries, joint operations, equity accounted investees and other investments Profit on sale of business to a wholly owned subsidiary Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted investees Deferred tax assets not recognized because realization is not probable Utilization/credit of unrecognised tax losses, unabsorbed depreciation and other tax benefits	2017 9,314.79 1,621.79 (745.58) (73.98) 53.10 2.71 407.89 389.17 2,243.94 (350.90)	2016 14,125.77 2,857.12 (1,449.40) 95.27 120.37 134.53 - 540.52 1,186.33 (126.99)

The UK Finance Act 2015 was enacted during the year ended March 31, 2016 which included provisions for a reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 20% to 19% with effect from April 1, 2017.

The UK Finance Act 2016 was enacted during the year ended March 31, 2017 which included provisions for a further reduction in the UK Corporation tax rate to 17% with effect from April 1, 2020. Accordingly, UK deferred tax has been recognised at the rates applicable when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2017 are as follows:

(₹ in crores) Recognized in/ reclassified Recognized in profit or loss Opening balance Closing balance from other comprehensive income Deferred tax assets: 2.010.81 563.75 Depreciation carry forwards (0.06)2.574.50 3,234.23 293.99 (235.84) 3,292.38 Business loss carry forwards Expenses deductible in future years: - provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others 4,034.57 (1,063.87) (141.98) 2,828.72 Compensated absences and retirement benefits 1,186.90 (1.20) 987.26 2,172.96 Minimum alternate tax carry-forward 58.26 16.66 74.92 Property, plant and equipment 216.83 (72.74) (32.19) 111.90 Derivative financial instruments 2,296.64 (35.07) 2,167.37 4,428.94 1,223.34 534.47 (148.41) 1,609.40 652.10 205.49 (61.15) 796.44 Total deferred tax assets 14,913.68 441.48 2,535.00 17,890.16 Deferred tax liabilities: Property, plant and equipment 2,743.13 (41.01) 0.08 2,702.20 Intangible assets 11,258.14 576.72 (1,349.97) 10,484.89 Undistributed earnings in subsidiaries, joint operations and equity accounted 1,343.63 23.81* (29.81) 1,337.63 Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary subsequent to disposal 16.95 16.95 of controlling equity interest Derivative financial instruments 4.04 19.32 (0.24)23.12 Others 65.54 (23.79)0.28 42.03 14,606.82 Total deferred tax liabilities 15,431.43 555.05 (1,379.66) Net assets/(liabilities) (517.75) (113.57) 3,914.66 3,283.34 Deferred tax assets 4,457.34

Deferred tax liabilities (1,174.00)

^{*} Net off ₹365.36 crores reversed on dividend distribution by subsidiaries.

As at March 31, 2017, unrecognized deferred tax assets amount to ₹3,199.20 crores and ₹ 5,569.59 crores, which can be carried forward indefinitely and up to a specified period, respectively. These relate primarily to business losses, depreciation carry forwards and other deductible temporary differences. The deferred tax asset has not been recognized on the basis that its recovery is not probable in the foreseeable future.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets expire unutilized based on the year of origination as follows:

March 31,	(₹in crores)
2018	26.35
2019	32.73
2020	42.87
2021	300.08
2022	73.85
Thereafter	5,093.71

The Company has not recognized deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries amounting to ₹40,965.53 crores because it is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences associated with such undistributed profits and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2016 are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

				(
	Opening balance	Recognized in profit or loss	Recognized in/reclassified from other comprehensive income	Closing balance
Deferred tax assets:				
Depreciation carry forwards	1,584.44	426.37	-	2,010.81
Business loss carry forwards	3,608.90	(459.65)	84.98	3,234.23
Expenses deductible in future years:				
- provisions, allowances for doubtful receivables and others	4,108.38	(143.37)	69.56	4,034.57
Compensated absences and retirement benefits	1,869.31	383.13	(1,065.54)	1,186.90
Minimum alternate tax carry-forward	89.87	(31.61)	-	58.26
Property, plant and equipment	90.78	128.95	(2.90)	216.83
Derivative financial instruments	2,415.10	(368.46)	250.00	2,296.64
Inventory	1,298.27	(122.14)	47.21	1,223.34
Others	486.62	144.80	20.68	652.10
Total deferred tax assets	15,551.67	(41.98)	(596.01)	14,913.68
Deferred tax liabilities:				
Property, plant and equipment	2,658.87	83.85	0.41	2,743.13
Intangible assets	9,884.33	1,157.24	216.57	11,258.14
Undistributed earnings of subsidiaries joint operations and equity accounted investees	1,426.54	(111.92)*	29.01	1,343.63
Fair valuation of retained interest in a subsidiary subsequent to disposal of controlling equity interest	16.95	-	-	16.95
Derivative financial instruments	10.34	(8.86)	2.56	4.04
Others	64.72	0.71	0.11	65.54
Total deferred tax liabilities	14,061.75	1,121.02	248.66	15,431.43
Net assets/(liabilities)	1,489.92	(1,163.00)	(844.67)	(517.75)
Deferred tax assets				3,957.03
Deferred tax liabilities				(4,474.78)

^{*} Net off $\ref{6}52.44$ crores reversed on dividend distributions by subsidiaries.

(₹ in crores) As at March As at April 1, 2015 As at March 31, 2017 31, 2016 **Equity Share Capital** 21. Authorised: **350,00,00,000** Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2016: 350,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) (as at April 1, 2015: 350,00,00,000 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) 700.00 700.00 700.00 (ii) 100,00,00,000 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2016: 100,00,00,000 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) (as at April 1, 2015: 100,00,00,000 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) 30,00,00,000 Convertible Cumulative Preference shares of ₹100 each 200.00 200.00 200.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 (as at March 31, 2016: 30,00,00,000 shares of ₹100 each) (as at April 1, 2015: 30,00,00,000 shares of ₹100 each) 3,900.00 3,900.00 3,900.00 (b) Issued [Note (k)]: **288,78,43,046** Ordinary shares of ₹2 each 577.57 577 57 547 44 (as at March 31, 2016: 288,78,43,046 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) (as at April 1, 2015: 273,71,98,287 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) **50,87,36,110** 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each 101.75 (ii) 101.75 96.44 (as at March 31, 2016: 50,87,36,110'A'Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) (as at April 1, 2015: 48,22,05,820'A'Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) 679.32 643.88 Total 679.32 Subscribed and called up:

288,73,48,428 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each
(as at March 31, 2016: 288,72,03,602 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)
(as at April 1, 2015: 236,67,13,122 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each)

50,85,02,291 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each
(as at March 31, 2016: 96,046 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) (c) 577.47 577.44 547.34 (ii) 101.70 101.70 96.40 (as at April 1, 2015: 48,19,66,945 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) 679.17 679.14 643.74 Calls unpaid - Ordinary shares (d) **310** Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹1 outstanding on each) and **260** Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹0.50 outstanding on each) (0.00)* (0.01) (0.01) (as at March 31, 2016: 68,490 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹1 outstanding on each) and 260 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹0.50 outstanding on each)) (as at April 1, 2015: 68,490 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹1 outstanding on each) and 260 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (₹0.50 outstanding on each)) 679.17 679.13 643.73 (e) Paid-up (c+d): Forfeited Shares - Ordinary shares 0.05 0.05 0.05 (f) Total (e+f)679.22 679.18 643.78

(g) The movement of number of shares and share capital

		Year ended Ma	Year ended March 31, 2017		31, 2016
		(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)	(No. of shares)	(₹ in crores)
(i)	Ordinary shares				
	Balance as at April 1	288,72,03,602	577.44	273,67,13,122	547.34
	Add: Rights issue of shares	-	-	15,04,90,480	30.10
	Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	1,44,826	0.03	-	-
	Balance as at March 31	288,73,48,428	577.47	288,72,03,602	577.44
(ii)	'A' Ordinary shares				
	Balance as at April 1	50,84,76,704	101.70	48,19,66,945	96.40
	Add: Rights issue of shares	-	-	2,65,09,759	5.30
	Add: Allotment of shares held in abeyance	25,587	0.00*	-	-
	Balance as at March 31	50,85,02,291	101.70	50,84,76,704	101.70

⁽h) The entitlements to 4,94,618 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2016: 6,39,444 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each and as at April 1, 2015: 4,85,165 Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) and 2,33,819 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each (as at March 31, 2016: 2,59,406 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each and as at April 1, 2015: 2,38,875 'A' Ordinary shares of ₹2 each) are subject matter of various suits filed in the courts/forums by third parties for which final order is awaited and hence kept in abeyance.

⁽i) During the year ended, the Company has allotted 68,180 Ordinary Shares each of ₹2 each, previously unissued on account of unpaid calls.

^{*} amounts less than ₹ 50.000/-

- Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares:
 - (i) Ordinary shares and 'A' Ordinary shares, both of \gtrless 2 each :
 - The Company has two classes of shares the Ordinary shares and the 'A' Ordinary shares both of ₹2 each (together referred to as shares). In respect of every Ordinary share (whether fully or partly paid), voting rights shall be in the same proportion as the capital paid up on such Ordinary share bears to the total paid up Ordinary share capital of the Company. In case of every A' Ordinary share, if any resolution is put to vote on a poll or by postal ballot at any general meeting of shareholders, the holder shall be entitled to one vote for every ten 'A' Ordinary shares held as per the terms of its issue and if a resolution is put to vote on a show of hands, the holder of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to the same number of votes as available to holders of Ordinary shares.
 - The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Further, the Board of Directors may also declare an interim dividend. The holders of 'A' Ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive dividend for each financial year at five percentage point more than the aggregate rate of dividend declared on Ordinary shares for that financial year.
 - In the event of liquidation, the shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their shareholdings.
 - (ii) American Depository Shares (ADSs) and Global Depository Shares (GDSs):
 - Each ADS and GDS underlying the ADR and GDR respectively represents five Ordinary shares of ₹2 each. A holder of ADS and GDS is not entitled to attend or vote at shareholders meetings. An ADS holder is entitled to issue voting instructions to the depository with respect to the Ordinary shares represented by ADSs only in accordance with the provisions of the Company's ADSs deposit agreement and Indian Law. The depository for the ADSs and GDSs shall exercise voting rights in respect of the deposited shares by issue of an appropriate proxy or power of attorney in terms of the respective deposit agreements.
 - Shares issued upon conversion of ADSs and GDSs will rank part passu with the existing Ordinary shares of ₹2 each in all respects including entitlement of the dividend declared
- Number of shares held by each shareholder holding more than 5 percent of the issued share capital:

			As at March 31, 2017		As at March	n 31, 2016	As at Ap	ril 1, 2015
			% of Issued share capital	No. of shares	% of Issued share capital	No. of shares	% of Issued share capital	No. of shares
(i)	Ordi	nary shares :						
	(a)	Tata Sons Limited	28.71%	82,89,70,378	26.98%	77,89,70,378	25.67%	70,23,33,345
	(b)	Tata Steel Limited	*	*	*	*	5.54%	15,16,87,515
	(c)	Life Insurance Corporation of India	5.18%	14,94,23,428	6.90%	19,91,44,257	*	*
	(d)	Citibank N.A. as Depository	#	53,04,96,280	#	49,19,64,200	#	58,22,60,190
(ii)	'A' Oı	rdinary shares :						
	(a)	HDFC Trustee Company Limited-HDFC Equity Fund	8.19%	4,16,71,282	12.95%	6,58,38,405	*	*
	(b)	HSBC Global Investment Funds A/C HSBC Global Investment Funds Mauritius Ltd	*	*	*	*	5.16%	2,48,78,664
	(c)	Franklin Templeton Mutual Fund	5.96%	3,03,29,225	*	*	*	*
#		by Citibank, N.A. as depository for American Depository ipts (ADRs) and Global Depository Receipts (GDRs)						
*	Less	than 5%						

Information regarding issue of shares in the last five years

- The Company has not issued any shares without payment being received in cash.
- The Company has not issued any bonus shares. The Company has not undertaken any buy-back of shares.
- (m) During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company alloted 15,04,90,480 Ordinary Shares (including 3,20,49,820 shares underlying the ADRs) of ₹ 2 each at a premium of ₹448 per share, aggregating ₹6,772.07 crores and 2,65,09,759 A'Ordinary Shares of ₹2 each at a premium of ₹269 per share, aggregating ₹718.42 crores pursuant to the Rights issue. 1,54,279 Ordinary Shares and 20,531 'A' Ordinary Shares were kept in abeyance.

Proceeds from the Rights issue have been utilised in the following manner:		(₹ in crores)
Particulars	Planned	Actual
Funding capital expenditure towards plant and machinery	500.00	500.00
Funding expenditure relating to research and product development	1,500.00	1,500.00
Repayment, in full or part, of certain long-term and short-term borrowings availed by the Company	4,000.00	4,000.00
General corporate purposes	1,428.00	1,425.73
Issue related expenses	70.00	64.76
Total	7,498.00	7,490.49
Less: Rights Shares held in abeyance	(7.51)	-
Total	7,490.49	7,490.49

Ot	her components of equity		
	The movement of Currency translation reserve is as follows:	Year ended Ma	irch 31,
		2017	2016
	Balance at the beginning	4,652.20	2,945.89
	Exchange differences arising on translating the net assets of foreign operations (net)	(9,647.63)	1,677.31
	Net change in translation reserve - equity accounted investees (net)	(304.70)	29.00
	Balance at the end	(5,300.13)	4,652.20
(b)	The movement of Equity instruments through other comprehensive income is as follows:		
		Year ended Ma	rch 31,
		2017	2016
	Balance at the beginning	(102.70)	(91.12)
	Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	83.44	68.80
	Profit on sale of unquoted equity investment	-	(80.38)
	Balance at the end	(19.26)	(102.70)
		Year ended Ma	irch 31,
		2017	2016
c)	The movement of Hedging reserve is as follows:		
	Balance at the beginning	(6,152.15)	(5,278.28)
	Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges	(23,738.38)	(1,581.01)
	Income tax relating to gain/loss recognized on cash flow hedges	4,558.18	273.69
	(Gain)/loss reclassified to profit or loss	10,296.01	(1,365.57)
	Income tax relating to gain/loss reclassified to profit or loss	(2,059.16)	277.05
	Amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	(1,020.39)	1,902.67
	Income tax related to amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory	204.26	(380.70)
	Balance at the end	(17,911.63)	(6,152.15)
(d)	The movement of Cost of Hedging reserve is as follows:	Year ended Ma	rch 31,
		2017	2016
	Balance at the beginning	4.70	-
	Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges of inventory	(106.02)	5.00
	Gain/(loss) recognised on cash flow hedges of forecast sales	9.50	(0.30)
	Income tax relating to gain/loss recognized on cash flow hedges	17.60	
	Balance at the end	(74.22)	4.70
(e)	Summary of Other Components of Equity:	As at March	131,
		2017	2016
	Currency translation reserve	(5,300.13)	4,652.20
	Equity instruments through other comprehensive income	(19.26)	(102.70)
	Hedging reserve	(17,911.63)	(6,152.15)
	Cost of hedging reserve	(74.22)	4.70

Total

(23,305.24)

23. Notes to reserves and dividends

Capital redemption reserve

The Indian Companies Act, 2013 (the "Companies Act") requires that where a company purchases its own shares out of free reserves or securities premium account, a sum equal to the nominal value of the shares so purchased shall be transferred to a capital redemption reserve account and details of such transfer shall be disclosed in the balance sheet. The capital redemption reserve account may be applied by the company, in paying up unissued shares of the company to be issued to shareholders of the company as fully paid bonus shares. Tata Motors Limited established this reserve pursuant to the redemption of preference shares issued in earlier years.

Debenture redemption reserve

The Companies Act requires that where a company issues debentures, it shall create a debenture redemption reserve out of profits of the company available for payment of dividend. The company is required to maintain a Debenture Redemption Reserve of 25% of the value of debentures issued, either by a public issue or on a private placement basis. The amounts credited to the debenture redemption reserve may not be utilized by the company except to redeem debentures.

Reserve for research and human resource development

In terms of Article 9 of the Act on Special Taxation Restriction in Korea, Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited (TDCV, a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited) is entitled for deferment of tax in respect of expenditures incurred on product development cost subject to fulfillment of certain conditions, by way of deduction from the taxable income, provided that TDCV appropriates an equivalent amount from "Retained Earnings" to "Reserve for Research and Human Resource Development".

The deferment is for a period of three years and from the fourth year onwards one-third of the reserve is offered to tax and an equal amount is then transferred from the reserve to "Retained earnings available for appropriation".

Special reserve

The special reserve represents the reserve created by two subsidiaries of Tata Motors Limited pursuant to the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (the "RBI Act,") and related regulations applicable to those companies. Under the RBI Act, a non-banking finance company is required to transfer an amount not less than 20% of its net profit to a reserve fund before declaring any dividend. Appropriation from this reserve fund is permitted only for the purposes specified by the RBI.

Earned surplus reserve

Under the Korean commercial code, TDCV is required to appropriate at least 10% of cash dividend declared each year to a legal reserve until such reserves equal to 50% of capital stock. This reserve may not be utilized for cash dividends, but may only be used to offset against future deficits, if any, or may be transferred to capital stock.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the excess of the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the purchase consideration.

Dividends

The final dividend is recommended by the Board of Directors and is recorded in the books of account upon its approval by the shareholders. For the year ended March 31, 2016, dividend per share of $\mathfrak{T}0.20$ per Ordinary share of $\mathfrak{T}2$ each and $\mathfrak{T}0.30$ per 'A' Ordinary share of $\mathfrak{T}2$ each was declared.

For the year ended March 31, 2017, considering the losses in the Tata Motors Limited (Standalone), no dividend is permitted to be paid to the Members, as per the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules framed thereunder.

			(₹ in crores)
24. Long-term borrowings	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
24. Long-term borrowings	2017	2016	2015
Secured:			
(a) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	3,045.24	2,305.16	2,489.41
(b) Collateralized debt obligations	453.99	2.72	107.76
(c) Term loans:			
(i) from banks	4,062.68	3,169.30	4,453.92
(ii) other parties	141.84	120.14	93.55
(d) Finance lease obligations	54.01	69.04	90.75
Unsecured:			
(a) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	8,668.80	6,455.20	8,505.20
(b) Term loans:			
(i) from banks	9,475.88	8,347.23	8,588.17
(ii) other parties	54.12	54.82	182.15
(c) Senior notes (note below)	34,227.81	29,541.97	30,085.42
(d) Others	444.81	444.81	10.81
Total	60,629.18	50,510.39	54,607.14
25. Short-term borrowings	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Secured:			
Secured: (a) Loans from banks	4,795.01	5,612.53	6,544.91
	4,795.01 79.77	5,612.53 98.22	6,544.91 77.06
(a) Loans from banks	•		
(a) Loans from banks (b) Loans from other parties	•		
(a) Loans from banks (b) Loans from other parties Unsecured:	79.77	98.22	77.06
(a) Loans from banks (b) Loans from other parties Unsecured: (a) Loans from banks	79.77 733.58	98.22	77.06 1,460.13
(a) Loans from banks (b) Loans from other parties Unsecured: (a) Loans from banks (b) Loans from other parties	79.77 733.58 15.91	98.22 1,047.29 13.78	77.06 1,460.13 49.91

Collaterals

Inventory, trade receivables, finance receivables, other financial assets, property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of ₹17,105.18 crores, ₹17,750.01 crores and ₹21,056.59 crores are pledged as collateral/security against the borrowing as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015 respectively.

Nature of Security (on loans including interest accrued thereon):

Non convertible debentures

- (i) Rated, Listed, Secured, 9.95% Coupon, Non-Convertible Debentures amounting to ₹200 crores and 10.25% Coupon, Non-Convertible Debentures amounting to ₹500 crores are secured by a pari passu charge by way of an English mortgage of the Company's freehold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand in the State of Gujarat.
- Privately placed non-convertible debentures amounting to ₹2,345.24 crores are fully secured by
- (a) First pari passu charge on residential flat of Sheba Properties Limited (SPL), an indirect subsidiary of the Company (b) Pari passu charge is created in favour of debenture trustee on:
- - All receivables of SPL arising out of loan and lease transactions,
 All book debts, trade advances forming part of movable property of SPL.
- (c) Any other security as identified by SPL and acceptable to the debenture trustee.

Collateralized debt obligations (B)

Collateralised debt obligation represent amount received against finance receivables securitised/assigned, which does not qualify for derecognition.

Loan from banks/financial institution (C)

- (i) Term loans from banks amounting to ₹2,750 crores are secured by a pari passu charge in favour of the security trustee on all receivables of the Company arising out of loan, lease and hire purchase transactions, all other book debts, receivables from senior and junior pass-through-certificates in which Company has invested; and such other current assets as may be identified by the Company from time to time and accepted by the relevant lender/security trustee.
- (ii) The term loan of ₹581 crores is due for repayment from the quarter ending March 31, 2033 to quarter ending March 31, 2037, along with simple interest at the rate of 0.10% p.a. The loan is secured by a second and subservient charge (creation of charge is under process) over Company's freehold land together with immovable properties, plant and machinery and other movable assets (excluding stock and book debts) situated at Sanand plant in the State of Gujarat.
- (iii) Loans from Banks and External Commercial Borrowings (ECB) are secured by exclusive first charge on building and all moveable fixed assets and also by hypothecation of existing current assets of the Company viz. stock of raw materials, stock in process, semi-finished goods, stores and spares not relating to plant and machinery (consumable stores and spares), bills receivable and book debts including receivable from hire purchase / leasing and all other moveable current assets except cash and bank balances, loans and advances of the Company both present and future.

Senior notes (Euro MTF listed debt)

The senior notes of Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc (JLR) are listed on the Euro MTF market, which is a listed market regulated by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2017 are as follows:

(₹ in crores)

Schedule of repayment of Senior notes :		Amount	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	Currency	(in million)	2017	2016	2015
5.625% Senior Notes due 2023	USD	500	3,209.63	3,291.85	3,093.63
3.875% Senior Notes due 2023	GBP	400	3,210.84	3,781.40	3,660.02
5.000% Senior Notes due 2022	GBP	400	3,202.76	3,784.60	3,662.96
8.125% Senior Notes due 2021	USD	84	-	550.32	517.07
8.25% Senior Notes due 2020	GBP	58	-	-	534.98
3.50% Senior Notes due 2020	USD	500	3,229.86	3,298.02	3,093.06
4.125% Senior Notes due 2018	USD	700	4,518.52	4,647.45	4,357.61
4.25% Senior Notes due 2019	USD	500	3,231.48	3,300.66	3,101.33
2.750% Senior Notes due 2021	GBP	300	2,406.52	-	-
2.200% Senior Notes due 2024	EUR	650	4,466.88	-	-
			27,476.49	22,654.30	22,020.66

Senior notes (SGX-ST listed debt)

The senior notes of Tata Motors Limited and TML Holdings Pte Ltd are listed on the SGX-ST market, which is a listed market regulated by the Singapore Stock Exchange. Details of the tranches of the senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2017 are as follows:

Schedule of repayment of Senior notes :		Amount	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	Currency	(in million)	2017	2016	2015
5.750% Senior Notes due 2024	USD	250	1,595.81	1,641.25	1,544.97
5.75% Senior Notes due 2021	USD	300	1,924.98	1,963.91	1,855.71
4.625% Senior Notes due 2020	USD	500	3,230.53	3,282.51	3,089.94
4.25% Senior Notes due 2018	SGD	350	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1,574.14
			6,751.32	6,887.67	8,064.76

			(₹ in crores)
26. Other financial liabilities – non-current	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
20. Other financial flabilities – non-current	2017	2016	2015
(a) Deferred payment liability	-	70.08	126.41
(b) Derivative financial instruments	11,259.57	7,744.11	7,721.94
(c) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings	-	4.65	25.76
(d) Liability towards employee separation scheme	72.36	77.72	89.42
(e) Others	77.65	47.18	31.32
Total	11,409.58	7,943.74	7,994.85
	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
27. Other financial liabilities – current	2017	2016	2015
(a) Current maturities of long-term borrowings (refer note below)	4,114.86	7,398.79	4,949.04
(b) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings	943.24	965.75	1,003.77
(c) Liability towards vehicles sold under repurchase arrangements	2,828.38	2,550.44	1,820.60
(d) Liability for capital expenditure	3,120.40	3,503.13	4,605.24
(e) Deposits and retention money	201.50	219.11	211.21
(f) Derivative financial instruments	14,257.95	6,482.30	6,445.95
(q) Deferred payment liability	70.08	64.50	59.75
(h) Liability towards Investors Education and Protection Fund	70.00	01.50	33.73
under Section 205C of the Companies Act, 1956 (IEPF) not due	27.75	33.19	40.50
(i) Others	70.67	64.39	36.95
Total	25,634.83	21,281.60	19,173.01
Notes:			
Current maturities of long-term borrowings consist of :			
(i) Privately placed Non-Convertible Debentures	2,802.30	2,371.37	1,778.16
(ii) Collateralised debt obligation	573.39	37.34	509.04
(iii) Finance lease obligation	22.13	57.22	57.18
(iv) Term loans from banks and others	717.04	4,932.86	2,604.66
	4,114.86	7,398.79	4,949.04

			(₹ in crores)
28. Provisions	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Non-current			
(a) Employee benefits obligations	732.97	735.52	881.17
(b) Product warranty	7,360.69	6,797.36	5,605.16
(c) Legal and product liability	217.02	-	-
(d) Provision for residual risk	219.07	123.42	142.55
(e) Provision for environmental liability	178.00	222.15	244.88
(f) Annual maintenance contract	16.66	9.99	12.57
(g) Other provisions	280.05	2.57	51.94
Total - Non-current	9,004.46	7,891.01	6,938.27
Current			
(a) Employee benefits obligations	68.93	219.17	216.76
(b) Product warranty	4,670.64	4,719.07	4,373.28
(c) Legal and product liability	605.15	758.37	274.85
(d) Provision for residual risk	54.80	57.42	42.72
(e) Provision for environmental liability	96.58	68.99	44.18
(f) Annual maintenance contract	33.73	17.79	16.29
(g) Other provisions	277.93	3.70	1.04
Total - Current	5,807.76	5,844.51	4,969.12

Note

nt		Year ended March 31,2017		
	Product warranty	Legal and product liability	Provision for residual risk	Provision for environmental liability
	11,516.43	758.37	180.84	291.14
year	7,758.65	347.72	155.16	29.82
	(5,627.93)	(161.30)	(44.71)	-
	199.10	-	-	-
	(1,814.92)	(122.62)	(17.42)	(46.38)
	12,031.33	822.17	273.87	274.58
	4,670.64	605.15	54.80	96.58
	7,360.69	217.02	219.07	178.00

29. Other non-current liabilities	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
29. Other non-current liabilities	2017	2016	2015
(a) Deferred revenue (refer note below)	5,161.37	4,092.74	2,570.16
(b) Employee benefits obligations	11,984.02	5,547.24	8,255.12
(c) Others	247.17	246.57	122.72
Total	17,392.56	9,886.55	10,948.00

30. Other current liabilities	As at March 31,	As at March 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
(a) Liability for advances received	1,711.15	2,164.71	2,289.92
(b) Statutory dues (VAT, Excise, Service Tax, Octroi etc)	2,658.93	2,443.43	1,830.50
(c) Deferred revenue (refer note below)	1,764.98	1,517.14	777.17
(d) Others	266.78	61.94	207.66
Total	6,401.84	6,187.22	5,105.25

Deferred revenue include:

- ₹227.92 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹249.22 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹235.19 crores as at April 1, 2015) grants relating to property, plant and equipment relate to duty saved on import of capital goods and spares under the EPCG scheme. Under such scheme, the Company is committed to export prescribed times of the duty saved on import of capital goods over a specified period of time. In case such commitments are not met, the Company would be required to pay the duty saved along with interest to the regulatory authorities.
- ₹2,047.24 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹1,765.87 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹1,007.69 crores as at April 1, 2015) relating to Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC) on qualifying expenditure incurred since April 1, 2013.

		(₹ in crores)	
31. Income from Operations	Year ended Ma	arch 31,	
31. Income from Operations	2017	2016	
(a) Sale of products (including excise duty) (Note below)	2,67,071.80	2,70,642.65	
(b) Sale of services	1,727.27	1,292.42	
(c) Finance revenues	2,429.23	2,240.03	
(d) Other operating revenues	3,263.82	3,485.49	
Total	2,74,492.12	2,77,660.59	
	Year ended March 31,		
	Voor anded M	arch 21	
		aicii 31,	
32. Other income	2017	2016	
(a) Interest income			
	2017	2016	
(a) Interest income	2017 562.21	2016 718.98	
(a) Interest income (b) Dividend income	2017 562.21 10.51	2016 718.98 53.36	
(a) Interest income (b) Dividend income (c) Profit on sale of investments at FVTPL	2017 562.21 10.51 176.14	2016 718.98 53.36 101.00	

(₹ in crores)

22 Femilion has fit among		l March 31,
33. Employee benefits expense	2017	2016
(a) Salaries, wages and bonus	22,409.51	22,273.90
(b) Contribution to provident fund and other funds	2,826.23	3,412.72
(c) Staff welfare expenses	3,097.15	3,194.27
Total	28,332.89	28,880.89

A subsidiary of the Company operates a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) arrangement for certain employees. The scheme provides a cash payment to the employee based on a specific number of phantom shares at grant and the share price of Tata Motors Limited at the vesting date. The cash payment is dependent upon continued employment for the duration of the 3 year vesting period. The cash payment has no exercise price and therefore the weighted average exercise price in all cases is ₹ Nil. The fair value of the awards is calculated using a Black-Scholes model at the grant date. The fair value is updated at each reporting date as the awards are accounted for as cash-settled plan. The inputs into the model are based on the Tata Motors Limited historic data, the risk-free rate and the weighted average fair value of shares, in the scheme at the reporting date. The amount expensed in relation to the LTIP was ₹70.13 crores and ₹29.59 crores for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company considers these amounts as not material and accordingly has not provided further disclosures.

34. Finance costs	Year ended March 31,		
34. Finance costs	2017		
(a) Interest	4,778.68	5,281.50	
Less: Transferred to capital account*	(1,294.10)	(1,161.39)	
	3,484.58	4,120.11	
(b) Discounting charges	753.43	768.97	
Total	4,238.01	4,889.08	

Represents borrowing costs capitalized during the year on qualifying assets (property plant and equipment and product development).

The weighted average rate for capitalization of interest relating to general borrowings was approximately 4.4% and 6.3% for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

25 Other was	Year ended Ma	rch 31,
35. Other expenses	2017	2016
(a) Processing charges	1,172.03	1,110.68
(b) Consumption of stores & spare parts	2,419.11	2,096.19
(c) Power and fuel	1,159.82	1,143.63
(d) Information technology/computer expenses	2,202.51	2,379.90
(e) Engineering expenses	4,273.72	6,514.76
(f) MTM gain/(loss) on commodity derivatives	918.40	(1,155.53)
(g) Warranty and product liability expenses	8,106.37	6,791.49
(h) Freight, transportation, port charges etc.	9,754.71	9,754.67
(i) Publicity	8,698.68	8,768.46
(j) Allowances for trade and other receivables	132.93	664.66
(k) Allowances for finance receivables	(28.15)	220.96
(I) Works operation and other expenses	16,619.93	17,393.88
Total	55,430.06	55,683.75

36. Employee benefits

Defined Benefit Plan

Pension and post retirement medical plans

The following table sets out the funded and unfunded status and the amounts recognized in the financial statements for the pension and the post retirement medical plans in respect of Tata Motors, its Indian subsidiaries and joint operations:

						(₹ in crores)
			Pension b	enefits		ment medical nefits
				As at Ma		
			2017	2016	2017	2016
Change in defined benefit obligations:						455.44
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year			923.86	901.81	160.05	155.66
Current service cost			65.71	64.26	8.19	7.68
Interest cost			69.51	66.96	12.33	12.18
Remeasurements (gains)/losses						
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions			(0.96)	1.46	2.17	-
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions			16.01	3.87	21.82	7.84
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments			(6.50)	6.17	(10.46)	(16.53)
Benefits paid from plan assets			(77.89)	(114.91)	-	-
Benefits paid directly by employer			(8.98)	(5.76)	(10.24)	(6.78)
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year			980.76	923.86	183.86	160.05
Change in plan assets:						
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year			799.69	789.13	-	-
Interest income			60.05	60.10	-	-
Remeasurements gains/(losses)						
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)			26.41	20.34	-	-
Employer's contributions			33.52	45.03	-	-
Benefits paid			(77.89)	(114.91)	-	-
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year			841.78	799.69		
	P	ension ben	efits	Post retir	ement medic	cal benefits
	As at Ma	rch 31,	As at April 1,	As at Ma	rch 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015	2017	2016	2015
Amount recognized in the balance sheet consists of:						
Present value of defined benefit obligation	980.76	923.86	901.81	183.86	160.05	155.66
Fair value of plan assets	841.78	799.69	789.13	-	-	-
Net liability	(138.98)	(124.17)	(112.68)	(183.86)	(160.05)	(155.66)
Amounts in the balance sheet:						
Non-current assets	6.55	4.91	10.85	-	_	-
Non-current liabilities	(145.53)	(129.08)	(123.53)	(183.86)	(160.05)	(155.66)
Net liability	(138.98)	(124.17)	(112.68)	(183.86)	(160.05)	(155.66)
Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income consists of:		Pensio	n benefits	Post ret	irement med	ical henefits
				s at March 31		
		201			2017	2016
Remeasurements (gains)/losses		(26.70	(8.84)		4.84	(8.69)
		(26.70	(8.84)		4.84	(8.69)
		(20.70	(0.04)			(0.09)

Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

			(₹ in crores)
	Pensio	n benefits	
	As at March 31	,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Defined benefit obligation	795.37	754.99	733.59
Fair value of plan assets	757.55	729.55	705.75
Information for funded plans with a defined benefit obligation less than plan assets:	Pensic	n benefits	
	Pensio	n benefits	
	As at March 31	,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Defined benefit obligation	77.69	65.27	72.54
Fair value of plan assets	84.23	70.14	83.38

Information for unfunded plans:

	Pension benefits		Post retirement medi	cal benefits		
	As at March 31,		As at April 1,	As at March	31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015	2017	2016	2015
Defined benefit obligation	107.70	103.60	95.68	183.86	160.05	155.66

Net pension and post retirement medical cost consist of the following components:

	Pension benefits		Post retiremen	t medical benefits
	Year ended March 31,			
	2017	2016	2017	2016
Service cost	65.71	64.26	8.19	7.68
Net interest cost/(income)	9.46	6.86	12.33	12.18
Net periodic cost	75.17	71.12	20.52	19.86

 $Other\ changes\ in\ plan\ assets\ and\ benefit\ obligation\ recognized\ in\ other\ comprehensive\ income:$

	Pension benefits		Post retirement medical benefi	
		Year end	ded March 31,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016
Remeasurements				
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	(26.41)	(20.34)	-	-
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(0.96)	1.46	2.17	-
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	16.01	3.87	21.82	7.84
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(6.50)	6.17	(10.46)	(16.53)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income	(17.86)	(8.84)	13.53	(8.69)
Total recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income	57.31	62.28	34.05	11.17

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension and post retirement medical plans are set out below:

	Pension b	Pension benefits		Post retirement benefit		
	As at Ma	rch 31,	As at April 1,	As at Marc	h 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015	2017	2016	2015
Discount rate	6.75%-7.50%	6.75%-8.00%	6.75%-8.00%	7.30%	8.00%	8.00%
Rate of increase in compensation						
level of covered employees	4.00% -11.00%	5.00% - 12.00%	5.00% - 11.00%	NA	NA	NA
Increase in health care cost	NA	NA	NA	6.00%	6.00%	6.00%

Plan Assets

The fair value of Company's pension plan asset as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015 by category are as follows:

As at March 31,		As at April 1,
2017	2016	2015
1%	2%	6%
72%	77%	67%
5%	1%	6%
1%	1%	0%
21%	19%	21%
100%	100%	100%

Pension benefits

The Company's policy is driven by considerations of maximizing returns while ensuring credit quality of the debt instruments. The asset allocation for plan assets is determined based on investment criteria prescribed under the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961, and is also subject to other exposure limitations. The Company evaluates the risks, transaction costs and liquidity for potential investments. To measure plan asset performance, the Company compares actual returns for each asset category with published benchmarks.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2017 is 16.06 years (2016: 15.64 years, 2015: 16.01 years).

The Company expects to contribute ₹70.92 crores to the funded pension plans in FY 2017-18.

The table below outlines the effect on the service cost, the interest cost and the defined benefit obligation in the event of a decrease/increase of 1% in the assumed rate of discount rate, salary escalation and health care cost:

Assumption Discount rate	Change in assumption Increase by 1% Decrease by 1%	Impact on defined benefit obligation Decrease by ₹93.84 crores Increase by ₹108.63 crores	Impact on service cost and interest cost Decrease by ₹20.65 crores Increase by ₹22.14 crores
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1% Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹77.45 crores Decrease by ₹68.09 crores	Increase by ₹19.40 crores Decrease by ₹16.76 crores
Health care cost	Increase by 1% Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹24.91 crores Decrease by ₹22.01 crores	Increase by ₹6.02 crores Decrease by ₹4.96 crores

Severance indemnity plan

Severance indemnity is a funded plan of Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicles Limited (TDCV), a subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited. The following table sets out, the amounts recognized in the financial statements for the severance indemnity plan.

			(₹ in crores)
		As at Marcl	h 31,
		2017	2016
Change in defined benefit obligation:			
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year		333.92	330.72
Service cost		48.62	55.53
Interest cost		6.34	7.61
Remeasurements (gains)/losses			
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions		(15.65)	(65.32)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities		(19.53)	(4.09)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumption on plan liabilities		-	3.31
Benefits paid from plan assets		(4.26)	(2.11)
Benefits paid directly by employer		(1.35)	(1.20)
Foreign currency translation		0.17	9.47
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year		348.26	333.92
Change in plan assets:			
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year		261.76	202.51
Interest income		5.58	5.24
Remeasurements gain/(loss)			
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)		(2.54)	(1.93)
Employer's contributions		64.64	50.95
Benefits paid		(4.68)	(2.11)
Foreign currency translation		(0.23)	7.10
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year		324.53	261.76
	As at March 3	11.	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of:			
Present value of defined benefit obligation	348.26	333.92	330.72
Fair value of plan assets	324.53	261.76	202.51
Net liability	(23.73)	(72.16)	(128.21)
Amounts in the balance sheet:			
Non- current liabilities	(23.73)	(72.16)	(128.21)
Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income for severance indemnity consists of:			
		As at Marcl	h 31,
		2017	2016
Remeasurements (gains)/losses		(96.81)	(64.17)
		(96.81)	(64.17)
		(20.01)	(01.17)

Net severance indemnity cost consist of the following components:

Net severance indemnity cost consist of the following components:			
			(₹ in crores)
		Year ended	March 31,
		2017	2016
Service cost		48.62	55.53
Net interest cost		0.76	2.37
Net periodic pension cost	_	49.38	57.90
Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive income for sever	ance indemnity plan:	Year ended	March 31,
		2017	2016
Remeasurements (gains)/losses Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)		2.54	1.93
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions		(15.65)	(65.32)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities		(19.53)	(4.09)
Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions		-	3.31
Total recognized in other comprehensive income		(32.64)	(64.17)
Total recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income	_	16.74	(6.27)
The assumptions used in accounting for the Severance indemnity plan is set out below:			
	As at March	31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Discount rate	2.30%	1.90%	2.30%
Rate of increase in compensation level of covered employees	3.00%	3.00%	5.00%

The table below outlines the effect on the service cost, the interest cost and the defined benefit obligation in the event of a decrease/increase of 1% in the assumed rate of discount rate, salary escalation rate:

Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on scheme liabilities	Impact on service cost and	interest cost	
Discount rate	Increase by 1%	Decrease by ₹34.81 crores	Decrease by ₹10.58 crores		
	Decrease by 1%	Increase by ₹40.81 crores	Increase by ₹11.75 crores		
Salary escalation rate	Increase by 1%	Increase by ₹40.10 crores	Increase by ₹12.57 crores		
	Decrease by 1%	Decrease by ₹34.91 crores	Decrease by ₹10.78 crores		
Severance indemnity plans	asset allocation by category is as	follows:			
	, -,		As at March 31	,	As at April 1,
			2017	2016	2015
Deposit with banks			100%	100%	100%

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2017 is 10.85 years (2016:11.80 years, 2015:12.60 years) The Company expects to contribute ₹22.03 crores to the funded severance indemnity plans in FY 2017-18

Jaguar Land Rover Pension plan

Jaguar Land Rover Ltd UK, has pension arrangements providing employees with defined benefits related to pay and service as set out in the rules of each fund. The UK defined benefit schemes are administered by a separate fund that is legally separated from the Company. The trustees of the pension schemes are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme and are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the schemes and all other governance matters. The board of trustees must be composed of representatives of the Company and plan participants in accordance with the plan's regulations.

Through its defined benefit pension plans the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with references to corporate bond yields; if plan assets under perform compared to the corporate bonds discount rate, this will create or increase a deficit. The defined benefit plans hold a significant proportion of equity type assets, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term while providing volatility and risk in the short-term.

As the plans mature, the Company intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities.

However, the Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities and the strength of the supporting group, a level of continuing equity type investments is an appropriate element of the Company's long term strategy to manage the plans efficiently.

Changes in bond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this is expected to be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans' bond holdings and interest rate hedging instruments.

Inflation risk

Some of the Company's pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The plans hold a significant proportion of assets in index linked gilts, together with other inflation hedging instruments and also assets which are more closely correlated with inflation. However an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit to some degree.

Life expectancy

The majority of the plan's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plan's liabilities. This is particularly significant in the UK defined benefit plans, where inflationary increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy.

The following table sets out the disclosure pertaining to employee benefits of Jaguar Land Rover Limited

		(₹ in crores)
	Pension bene	efits
	As at March	31,
	2017	2016
Change in defined benefit obligation:		
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of the year	73,179.07	72,869.15
Service cost	1,735.73	2,212.58
Interest cost	2,410.74	2,589.71
Remeasurements (gains)/losses		
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions	(666.24)	(356.02)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions	20,469.33	(5,614.53)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities	(1,867.22)	625.26
Past service cost	-	1.38
Plan curtailment	-	-
Plan settlement	-	-
Plan combinations	-	-
Benefits paid	(1,972.42)	(1,629.23)
Member contributions	17.53	16.37
Foreign currency translation	(12,638.83)	2,464.40
Defined benefit obligation, end of the year	80,667.69	73,179.07
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year	67,803.30	64,689.55
Interest Income	2,261.71	2,299.76
Remeasurements gains/(losses)		
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)	10,072.49	(507.90)
Plan settlement		-
Employer's contributions	1,989.95	885.82
Members contributions	17.53	16.37
Plan settlement	-	-
Benefits paid	(1,972.42)	(1,629.23)
Expenses paid	(78.90)	(82.45)
Foreign currency translation	(11,248.17)	2,131.38
Fair value of plan assets, end of the year	68,845.49	67,803.30

Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827.53) Remeasurements (gains)/losses **Pension benefits*** Pension benefits** Pension benefits** Year ended March 31, 2017 **Pension benefits** **Pension benefits** **Year ended March 31, 2016 Current service cost 1,733.73 2,212.58 Past service cost 1,899.0 82.12.58 Administrative expenses 78.99 82.12.58 Administrative expenses 78.99 82.01.58 Net periodic pension cost 19.963.66 2.586.66 Net periodic pension cost Pension benefits				(₹ in crores)	
Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 2017 2016 2015 Present value of defined benefit colligation 80,667,89 73,179.77 72,869.15 Fair value of plan Assets 68,845.49 670,303 0.458.95 Surplus/(defici) (11,822.20) 53,97.57 (87,796.0) Restriction of pension asset 1 (11,822.20) 53,92.59 (8,831.1) Note Liability (11,822.20) 53,92.95 (8,831.1) Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 3.81 4.10 3.61 Non-current liabilities (11,826.00) 53,97.94 (8,837.1) Not Liability (11,822.00) 53,97.94 (8,837.1) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension tension tension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: <td< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>					
Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 8,667.69 73,179.70 72,869.15 Fire value of oferinoe benefit obligation 80,667.99 73,179.70 72,869.15 Fire value of plan Assets 68,845.49 67,803.30 64,889.55 Surplus (efection) (11,822.20) 53,375.77 (81,796.00) Restriction of pension asset (11,822.20) 53,395.30 81,813.11 Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 3,81 4,10 3,61 Non-current labilities (11,826.00) 53,939.40 81,813.11 Non-current labilities (11,826.00) 53,939.40 81,813.11 Non-current labilities (11,826.00) 53,939.40 81,813.11 Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension Expension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension Expension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension Expension Expension Amount post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension Expension Expe					
Present value of defined benefit obligation 80,845,99 31,907 25,805,15 Fair value of plan Assets 68,845,99 6,803,30 6,605,05 Surplus/(deficity) (11,822,20) 6,537,57 8,085,05 Restriction of pension asset 1,182,20 5,392,30 8,131,131 Not liability 3,81 4,0 3,61 Non-current assets 3,81 4,0 3,61 Non-current liabilities (11,822,0) 5,392,90 8,18,113,12 Not liability (11,822,0) 5,392,90 8,18,113,12 Year of Liability (11,822,0) 5,392,90 8,18,113,12 Year of Liability (11,822,0) 5,392,90 8,18,13,12 Year of Liability (11,822,0) 3,018,32 1,282,73 Year of Liability (21,822,0) 4,282,73 Year of L		2017	2016	2015	
Fair value of plan Assets 68,845,9 67,803,00 64,805,55 50,100,100 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 67,803,00 68,803,00 67,803,00 68,803,	-	00.667.60	72.170.07	72.060.15	
Surplus/(deficit) (11,822,00) (3,375,77) (8,179,00) Restriction of pension asset (17,82) (3,51) (3,51) Net Islability (18,822,00) (3,932,95) (8,183,11) Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 3,81 4,10 3,61 Non-current liabilities (11,822,00) (5,397,00) (8,185,12) Net Islability (11,822,00) (5,397,00) (8,185,12) Net Islability (11,822,00) (5,397,00) (8,185,12) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Current service cost 1,735.33 2,822,533 Past service cost 1,735.33 2,822,533 Administrative expenses 7,890 2,822,533		•	•	•	
Restriction of pension asset (17.8) (3.50) Net liability (11,822.0) (3.932.95) (3.831.10) Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of the Concernation liabilities 3.81 4.10 3.06 Non-current labilities (11,820.0) (5.397.0) (3.813.11) Non-current labilities (11,822.0) (3.902.0) (3.813.11) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pensional Assistance (1.802.00) Pensio	•				
Net liability (11,822.0) (5,392.95) (8,183.11) Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 3.81 4.10 3.61 Non-current liabilities (11,826.00) (5,392.96) (8,183.11) Non-current liabilities (11,822.00) (5,392.96) (8,183.11) Net liability (11,822.00) (5,392.96) (8,183.11) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension benefit 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827.53) 3,018.32 (4,827.53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefit Pension benefit Current service cost 1,735.73 2,725.80 2,725.80 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.73 2,725.80 1,725.80 1,725.80 1,725.80 1,		(11,822.20)			
Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of: 3.81 4.10 3.61 Non-current labilities (11,826.01) (5,397.04) (8,1867.21) Net liability (11,822.02) (5,397.04) (8,1867.21) Net liability (11,822.02) (5,397.04) (8,1867.21) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827.53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Vear ended March 31, Year ended March 31, Year ended March 31, 2017 2016 Current service cost 1,735.73 22,1258 Pass service cost 1,735.73 22,1258 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 9 0.10 Net interest cost/filence 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 6	•				
Non-current labilities 3.8 4.0 3.6 Non-current labilities (11,826.01) 5,337.04 6,186.72 Not lability (11,822.02) 5,339.24 (8,183.11) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension June 1 Remeasurements (gains)/fosses Pension June 2 Remeasurements (gains)/fosses Pension June 2 Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension June 2	Net liability	(11,822.20)	(5,392.95)	(8,183.11)	
Non-current liabilities (11,826,0) (5,97,40) (8,187,11) Notal lability (11,822,00) (5,929,40) (8,183,11) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive incomes Pension and 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefit Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) Pass service cost 1,015 (2,00) Pension and 2018 (4,827,53) 2,00 2,00 2,00 2,00 2,00 <th col<="" td=""><td>Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of:</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th>	<td>Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of:</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Amount recognized in the balance sheet consist of:			
Net liability (11,822,20) (5,392,34) (8,181,311) Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827,53) Remeasurements (gains)/losses Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2016 Current service cost 1,735,73 2,212,58 Past service cost 1,735,73 2,212,58 Administrative expenses 7,895,895 1,963,66 2,212,58 Net periodic pension cost 1,963,66 2,285,66 2,285,66 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions Pension benefits Pension benefits 2,296,66 2,296,66 2,296,66 2,296,66 2,296,66 <th colspan<="" td=""><td>Non-current assets</td><td>3.81</td><td>4.10</td><td>3.61</td></th>	<td>Non-current assets</td> <td>3.81</td> <td>4.10</td> <td>3.61</td>	Non-current assets	3.81	4.10	3.61
Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income: Pension bents: Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827.53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension bents: Very ended Marx 1 / 2016 Current service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Pass service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Pass service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Administrative expenses 7 0.01 Interest cost (income) 149.03 289.55 Net periodic pension cost 1,936.66 2,586.66 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension bents Remeasurements (gains)/losses Pension bents 1 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 666.24 356.02 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions and actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in reperience adjunctions on plan liabilities 1,007.24 90.76 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expenses 1,007.24 90.76 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amount included in interest expenses	Non-current liabilities	(11,826.01)	(5,397.04)	(8,186.72)	
As at March 1 (pains) / losses As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components: Pension benefits Pension benefits As at March 2 (pains) / losses As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components Pension benefits / losses at last pains of the following components of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following compon	Net liability	(11,822.20)	(5,392.94)	(8,183.11)	
As at March 1 (pains) / losses As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components: Pension benefits Pension benefits As at March 2 (pains) / losses As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components As at March 2 (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components Pension benefits / losses at last pains of the following components of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following components (pains) / losses at last pains of the following compon	Total amount recognized in other comprehensive income:		Pension be	nefits	
Remeasurements (gains)/losses 3,018.32 (4,827.53) Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Vear ended March 31, Current service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Past service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Administrative expenses 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 6 0.10 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.66 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (35.60.2) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (666.24) (35.60.2) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 62.52 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17,845.85) (4,827.53) <t< td=""><td>·</td><td></td><td>As at Marc</td><td>h 31,</td></t<>	·		As at Marc	h 31,	
Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Tear ended March 1, 2016 Current service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Past service cost 1,33 2,89.55 Past service cost for Onerous obligations 78.90 82.45 Interest cost // lincome) 1,96.366 2,586.46 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 3, 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses 2017 2016 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) 356.02 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Charge in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.28 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.88 (4,827.31)		_		2016	
Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Tear ended March 1, 2016 Current service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Past service cost 1,33 2,89.55 Past service cost for Onerous obligations 78.90 82.45 Interest cost // lincome) 1,96.366 2,586.46 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 3, 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses 2017 2016 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) 356.02 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Charge in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.28 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.88 (4,827.31)	Remeasurements (gains)/losses		3 018 32	(4.827.53)	
Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components: Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2017 2017 2016 Current service cost 1,735.73 2,212.58 Past service cost 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Year ended March 31, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20	nemeasurements (gains)/1033c3				
Current service cost 78.90 2017 2016 Current service cost 1,735,73 2,21.258 Past service cost 6 1,38 Administrative expenses 78.90 8.245 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 1 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 2,899.55 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefit Year ended March Remeasurements (gains)/losses Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) 356.02 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 62.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amounts included in interest expenses (10,072.49) 50.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses 7,845.85 (4,827.53)				(1,1=1.11)	
Current service cost 2017 2016 Past service cost 1,735,73 2,212.88 Administrative expenses 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations - 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.55 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Remeasurements (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (350.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (666.24) (350.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (1,867.22) 625.26 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,0072.49) 507.90 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (1,0072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses 7,845.85 (4,827.53)	Net pension and post retirement cost consist of the following components:				
Current service cost 2017 2016 Past service cost 1,735,73 2,212,58 Administrative expenses 78,90 82,45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations 149,03 2895 Net interest cost/(income) 149,03 2895 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469,33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (10,072.49) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 50.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17,53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)			Pension be	nefits	
Current service cost 1,735,73 2,212.88 Past service cost - 1.38 Administrative expenses 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations - 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Year ended March 11 2016 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (20,469.33) (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)			·	arch 31,	
Past service cost - 1.38 Administrative expenses 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations - 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Year ended March 31, Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20.469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 50.79 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amount included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)				2016	
Administrative expenses 78.90 82.45 Interest cost on Onerous obligations - 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Remeasurements (gains)/losses Remeasurements (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) 356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)			1,735.73	2,212.58	
Interest cost on Onerous obligations − 0.10 Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)	Past service cost		-	1.38	
Net interest cost/(income) 149.03 289.95 Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)	Administrative expenses		78.90		
Net periodic pension cost 1,963.66 2,586.46 Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)	3		-	0.10	
Amount recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2017 2016 Remeasurements (gains)/losses Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses Total recognized in other comprehensive income Pension benefits Year ended March 31, 2016 (666.24) (356.02) (5,614.53) (5,614.53) (1,867.22) 625.26 (10,072.49) 507.90 (10,072.49) 507.90 (10,072.49) 507.90 (17.53) 9.86	Net interest cost/(income)		149.03	289.95	
Pension benefitsYear ended March 31,20172016Remeasurements (gains)/losses2017Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions(666.24)(356.02)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions20,469.33(5,614.53)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities(1,867.22)625.26Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)(10,072.49)507.90Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses(17.53)9.86Total recognized in other comprehensive income7,845.85(4,827.53)	Net periodic pension cost		1,963.66	2,586.46	
Remeasurements (gains)/losses (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)	Amount recognized in other comprehensive income				
Remeasurements (gains)/losses20172016Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions(666.24)(356.02)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions20,469.33(5,614.53)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities(1,867.22)625.26Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)(10,072.49)507.90Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses(17.53)9.86Total recognized in other comprehensive income7,845.85(4,827.53)			Pension be	nefits	
Remeasurements (gains)/lossesActuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions(666.24)(356.02)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions20,469.33(5,614.53)Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities(1,867.22)625.26Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense)(10,072.49)507.90Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses(17.53)9.86Total recognized in other comprehensive income7,845.85(4,827.53)					
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (666.24) (356.02) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)			2017	2016	
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 20,469.33 (5,614.53) Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities (1,867.22) 625.26 Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) (10,072.49) 507.90 Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses (17.53) 9.86 Total recognized in other comprehensive income (4,827.53)					
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in experience adjustments on plan liabilities Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses Total recognized in other comprehensive income (1,867.22) (10,072.49) 507.90 (17.53) 9.86 (4,827.53)				, ,	
Return on plan assets, (excluding amount included in net Interest expense) Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses Total recognized in other comprehensive income (10,072.49) 507.90 (17.53) 9.86 (4,827.53)			•		
Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses Total recognized in other comprehensive income (17.53) 9.86 (4,827.53)					
Total recognized in other comprehensive income 7,845.85 (4,827.53)			(10,072.49)	507.90	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Change in onerous obligation, excluding amounts included in interest expenses		(17.53)	9.86	
Total recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income 9,809.51 (2,241.07)	Total recognized in other comprehensive income		7,845.85	(4,827.53)	
	Total recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss and other comprehensive income		9,809.51	(2,241.07)	

The assumptions used in accounting for the pension plans are set out below:

	Pens	ion benefits	
	As at March 31	,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
Discount rate	2.60%	3.60%	3.40%
Expected rate of increase in compensation level of covered employees	3.70%	3.50%	3.60%
Inflation increase	3.20%	3.00%	3.10%
The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are (years)			
Retiring today:			
Males	21.50	21.50	21.40
Females	24.50	24.40	23.90
Retiring in 20 years:			
Males	23.30	23.20	23.10
Females	26.30	26.20	25.80

For the valuation as at March 31, 2017 and 2016, the mortality assumptions used are the SAPS base table, in particular S2NxA tables and the Light table for members of the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan. A scaling factor of 120% for males and 110% for females has been used for the Jaguar Pension Plan, 115% for males and 105% for females for the Land Rover Pension Scheme and 95% for males and 85% for females for Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

For the valutation as at March 31, 2015, the mortality assumptions used are the SAPS base table, in particular S1NxA tables and the Light table for members of the Jaguar Executive Pension Plan. A scaling factor of 115% has been used for the Jaguar Pension Plan, 110% for the Land Rover Pension Scheme, and 105% for males and 90% for females for Jaguar Executive Pension Plan.

There is an allowance for future improvements in line with the CMI (2014) projections and an allowance for long-term improvements of 1.25% per annum (2016,2015: CMI(2014) projections with 1.25% per annum improvements).

The Company noted that on March 27, 2017, a new mortality projection model (CMI (2016)) was released which potentially indicated a small reduction in longevity of, on average, 0.5 years compared to current assumptions. The Company considered adopting the new mortality tables and noted that there was uncertainty about the appropriate level of initial mortality improvements both for the general population and when applying the model to other populations. On this basis, following discussion with and recommendation by the Company's pension advisor, it is considered that the CMI (2014) mortality tables represent the Company's best estimate of the future longevity of its defined benefit schemes' members both during and after employment as at March 31, 2017.

Pension plans asset allocation by category is as follows:

(₹	in	crores)

			As at Mare	ch 31,			As at April 1,			
		2017			2016			2015		
	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	Quoted*	Unquoted	Total	
Equity Instruments										
Information Technology	1,149.04	-	1,149.04	1,193.15	-	1,193.15	1,090.90	-	1,090.90	
Energy	493.60	-	493.60	505.90	-	505.90	647.14	-	647.14	
Manufacturing	841.55	-	841.55	935.43	-	935.43	887.51	-	887.51	
Financials	1,327.06	-	1,327.06	1,699.05	-	1,699.05	1,701.06	-	1,701.06	
Others	3,649.43	-	3,649.43	4,174.79	-	4,174.79	3,858.20	-	3,858.20	
	7,460.68		7,460.68	8,508.32		8,508.32	8,184.81	-	8,184.81	
Debt Instruments										
Government	23,709.13	-	23,709.13	24,722.15	-	24,722.15	24,951.95	110.94	25,062.89	
Corporate Bonds (Investment Grade)	161.84	16,758.23	16,920.07	1,508.15	13,945.58	15,453.73	351.31	11,075.37	11,426.68	
Corporate Bonds (Non Investment Grade)	995.30	3,350.03	4,345.33	1,574.96	2,672.66	4,247.63	499.22	4,400.57	4,899.79	
	24,866.27	20,108.26	44,974.53	27,805.26	16,618.25	44,423.51	25,802.48	15,586.88	41,389.36	
Property Funds										
UK	-	1,537.45	1,537.45	639.54	1,097.70	1,737.24	1,211.08	1,044.67	2,255.75	
Other	-	1,262.33	1,262.33	725.44	458.17	1,183.61	480.73	157.17	637.90	
		2,799.78	2,799.78	1,364.98	1,555.87	2,920.85	1,691.81	1,201.84	2,893.65	
Cash and Cash equivalents	752.54	-	752.54	1,622.69		1,622.69	1,201.83	-	1,201.83	

(₹ in crores)

	As at March 31,					As at April 1,			
		2017			2016			2015	
Other									
Hedge Funds	-	3,261.02	3,261.02	-	3,560.37	3,560.37	-	3,624.00	3,624.00
Private Markets	-	1,407.98	1,407.98	-	763.62	763.62	-	517.71	517.71
Alternatives	2,646.04	3,066.81	5,712.85	3,312.19	839.98	4,152.17	1,571.63	1,349.75	2,921.38
	2,646.04	7,735.81	10,381.85	3,312.19	5,163.97	8,476.16	1,571.63	5,491.46	7,063.09
Derivatives									
Foreign exchange contracts	-	137.56	137.56	-	(85.91)	(85.91)	-	(120.18)	(120.18)
Interest Rate and inflation	-	9,159.98	9,159.98	-	5,498.05	5,498.05	-	4,076.99	4,076.99
		9,297.54	9,297.54	-	5,412.14	5,412.14		3,956.81	3,956.81
Collateralized debt obligations	-	(6,821.43)	(6,821.43)	-	(3,560.37)	(3,560.37)	-	-	-
	-	(6,821.43)	(6,821.43)	-	(3,560.37)	(3,560.37)			-
Total	35,725.53	33,119.96	68,845.49	42,613.44	25,189.86	67,803.30	38,452.56	26,236.99	64,689.55

^{*} determined on the basis of quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

As at March 31, 2017 and 2016, the schemes held Gilt Repos, reflected as a collateralized debt obligation.

The split of Level 1 assets is 66% (2016: 63%, 2015: 59%), Level 2 assets 27% (2016: 31%, 2015: 37%) and Level 3 assets 7% (2016: 6%, 2015: 4%). Private market holdings are classified as Level 3 instruments. Included in the value for Interest Rate and Inflation derivatives are Repo transactions, as noted above.

The sensitivity analysis below is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same methods (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the consolidated balance sheet.

Assumption	Change in assumption	Impact on defined benefit obligation	Impact on service cost and interest cost
Discount rate	Increase/decrease by 0.25%	Decrease/increase by ₹4,474.80 crores	Decrease/increase by ₹113.96 crores
Inflation rate	Increase/decrease by 0.25%	Increase/decrease by ₹3,997.38 crores	Increase/decrease by ₹113.96 crores
Mortality rate	Increase/decrease by 1 year	Increase/decrease by ₹2,314.27 crores	Increase/decrease by ₹61.36 crores

Jaguar Land Rover contributes towards the UK defined benefit schemes. Following the April 5, 2015 valuations, it is intended to eliminate the pension scheme funding deficits over the 10 years following the valuation date. As at March 31, 2017, there is no additional liability; however, following the changes to the defined benefit schemes' rules in April 2017, an additional obligation may arise in the future. The current agreed contribution rate for defined benefit accrual is 31% of pensionable salaries in the UK. Deficit contribution levels remain in line with prior expectation for 2016-18 and then increase to ₹508.45 crores per annum to March 2025.

The average duration of the benefit obligation as at March 31, 2017 is 21.60 years (2016: 20.5 years, 2015: 23.5 years).

On April 3, 2017, Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc approved and communicated to its Defined Benefit scheme members that the defined benefit scheme rules were to be amended with effect from April 6, 2017 so that, amongst other changes, retirement benefits will be calculated on a career average basis rather than based upon a member's final salary at retirement. These changes were effective from April 6, 2017 and as a result of the re-measurement of the scheme's liabilities, a past service credit of approximately GBP 437 million (₹3,536.14 crores) has arisen and will be recognised in quarter ended June 30, 2017.

Excluding this past service credit but allowing for the new benefit structure effective April 6, 2017, the expected net periodic pension cost for the year ended March 31, 2018 is ₹2,182.81 crores. The Company expects to pay ₹2,647.43 crores to its defined benefit schemes in the year ended March 31, 2018.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company's contribution to defined contribution plans aggregated ₹754.95 crores, ₹676.85 crores for years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

37. Commitments and contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Company faces claims and assertions by various parties. The Company assesses such claims and assertions and monitors the legal environment on an ongoing basis, with the assistance of external legal counsel, wherever necessary. The Company records a liability for any claims where a potential loss is probable and capable of being estimated and discloses such matters in its financial statements, if material. For potential losses that are considered possible, but not probable, the Company provides disclosure in the financial statements but does not record a liability in its accounts unless the loss becomes probable

The following is a description of claims and assertions where a potential loss is possible, but not probable. The Company believes that none of the contingencies described below would have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Litigation

The Company is involved in legal proceedings, both as plaintiff and as defendant. There are claims which the Company does not believe to be of material nature, other than those described below.

Income Ta

The Company has ongoing disputes with Income Tax Authorities relating to tax treatment of certain items. These mainly include disallowed expenses, the tax treatment of certain expenses claimed by the Company as deductions and the computation of, or eligibility of, the Company's use of certain tax incentives or allowances.

Most of these disputes and/or disallowances, being repetitive in nature, have been raised by the income tax authorities consistently in most of the years

The Company has a right of appeal to the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), or CIT (A), the Dispute Resolution Panel, or DRP, and to the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal, or ITAT, against adverse decisions by the assessing officer, DRP or CIT (A), as applicable. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal to the ITAT against adverse decisions by the CIT (A) or DRP. The Company has a further right of appeal to the High Court of Bombay or Supreme Court against adverse decisions by the appellate authorities for matters involving substantial question of law. The income tax authorities have similar rights of appeal.

As at March 31, 2017, there are matters and/or disputes pending in appeal amounting to ₹158.61 crores, which includes ₹2.18 crores in respect of equity accounted investees (₹134.08 crores, which includes ₹7.47 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2016 and ₹134.55 crores, which includes ₹15.70 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at April 1, 2015).

Customs, Excise Duty and Service Tax

As at March 31, 2017, there was pending litigation for various matters relating to customs, excise duty and service taxes involving demands, including interest and penalties, of $\ref{1,464.22}$ crores, which includes $\ref{5.99}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees ($\ref{1,421.88}$ crores, which includes $\ref{6.63}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2016 and $\ref{1.465.10}$ crores, which includes $\ref{6.14}$ crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at April 1, 2015). These demands challenged the basis of valuation of the Company's products and denied the Company's claims of Central Value Added Tax, or CENVAT, credit on inputs. The details of the demands for more than $\ref{2.00}$ crores are as follows:

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities had denied a CENVAT credit of ₹29.43 crores and imposed a penalty of ₹Nil for the period between April 2011 to September 2012 (₹52.41 crores and a ₹23.00 crores CENVAT credit and penalty, respectively, as at March 31, 2016 and ₹52.41 crores and a ₹23.00 crores CENVAT credit and penalty, respectively, as at April 1, 2015) in respect of consulting engineering services alleged to have been used exclusively for producing prototypes at the Engineering Research Centre, in Pune. The contention of the Excise Authorities is that since the Company claims exemptions from CENVAT under Notification No.167/71-CE, dated September 11, 1971, the Company is not entitled to avail service tax credits on consulting engineering services used in the Engineering Research Centre. The matter is being contested by the Company before the appellate authorities. The Company believes it has a merit in its case, since the consulting engineering services are not exclusively used in the manufacture of prototypes and they form part of the assessable value of final products manufactured by the Company on which CENVAT is paid.

The Excise Authorities have raised a demand for \ref{figure} as at March 31, 2017 (\ref{figure} 90.72 crores as at March 31, 2016 and \ref{figure} 90.72 crores as at April 1, 2015), on account of alleged undervaluation's of ex-factory discounts given by Company on passenger vehicles through invoices. The matter is being contested by the Company before the High Court of Bombay.

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand and penalty of ₹218.23 crores, (₹198.56 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹187.60 crores as at April 1, 2015), due to the classification of certain chassis (as dumpers instead of goods transport vehicles) which were sent to automotive body builders by the Company, which the Excise Authorities claim requires the payment of the National Calamity Contingent Duty, or NCCD. The Company has obtained a technical expert certificate on the classification. The appeal is pending before the Custom Excise & Service Tax Appellate Tribunal.

The Excise Authorities had denied the Company's claim of a CENVAT credit of ₹24.96 crores (₹22.74 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹83.67 crores as at April 1, 2015) claimed by the Company from Fiscal 1992 to Fiscal 2013, on technical grounds. The matter is being contested by the Company before the appellate authorities.

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities had levied penalties and interest amounting to ₹679.88 crores (₹679.88 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹679.88 crores as at April 1, 2015) with respect to CENVAT credit claimed by the Company from March 2010 to November 2012, on inputs, stating that vehicles manufactured at Uttarakhand plant are "Exempted Products" and the Company may not claim a CENVAT credit on these vehicles. The Company has challenged this demand as NCCD and the automobile cess is assessed on those vehicles, which are "duties of excise". Therefore, the Company asserts that these vehicles are not "Exempted Products". The matter is being contested by the Company before the appellate authorities.

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand amounting to ₹29.54 crores (₹29.54 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹29.54 crores as at April 1, 2015) on pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales service charges incurred by dealers on certain of the Company's products on the alleged grounds that the pre-delivery inspection charges and free after-sales services are provided by the dealer on behalf of the Company and should be included in excisable value of the vehicle. The case is pending before Tribunal.

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities have raised a demand amounting to ₹Nil (₹21.89 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹21.89 crores as at April 1, 2015) with respect to customs duties on dies and fixtures imported under the EPCG Scheme and, in the case of the fixtures, are installed at premises of a vendor. The Tribunal has rejected the stay application filed by the department. The department has further filed an appeal with CESTAT.

As at March 31, 2017, the Excise Authorities have raised demand amounting to ₹34.68 crores (₹14.73 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹12.70 crores as at April 1, 2015) with respect to denial of CENVAT credit on service tax availed on freight outward and courier services. The Company asserts that since freight forms part of the services on which the taxes have been paid, CENVAT credit can be availed. The Excise Authorities have raised show cause notice which is being contested.

Sales Tax

The total sales tax demands (including interest and penalty), that are being contested by the Company amount to ₹1,057.93 crores, which includes ₹11.54 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2017 (₹1,251.38 crores, which includes ₹22.79 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2016 and ₹993.15 crores, which includes ₹22.65 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at April 1, 2015). The details of the demands for more than ₹20 crores are as follows:

The Sales Tax Authorities have raised demand of $\ref{208.59}$ crores ($\ref{4}03.38$ crores as at March 31, 2016 and $\ref{2}10.12$ crores as at April 1, 2015) towards rejection of certain statutory forms for concessional lower/nil tax rate (Form F and Form C) on technical grounds such as late submission, single form issued against different months / quarters dispatches / sales, etc. and denial of exemption from tax in absence of proof of export for certain years. The Company has contended that the benefit cannot be denied on technicalities, which are being complied with. The matter is pending at various levels.

In some of the states in India, the Sales Tax Authorities have raised disputes totaling up to ₹40.80 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹41.10 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹41.10 crores as at April 1, 2015), treating the stock transfers of vehicles from the Company's manufacturing plants to regional sales offices and the transfers between two regional sales offices as sales liable for levy of sales tax. The Company is contesting this issue.

The Sales Tax Authorities have denied input tax credit and levied interest and penalty thereon due to varied reasons aggregating to ₹305.46 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹330.17 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹366.45 crores as at April 1, 2015). The reasons for disallowing credit was mainly due to Taxes not paid by Vendors, incorrect method of calculation of set off as per the department, alleging suppression of sales as per the department etc. The matter is contested in appeal.

Sales tax demand aggregating ₹258.35 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹252.66 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹258.40 crores as at April 1, 2015) has been raised by Sales Tax Authorities disallowing the concessional rate of 2% on certain purchases of raw materials in case the final product is stock transferred for sale outside the state. The matter is pending with various authorities.

Other Tayes and Dues

Other amounts for which the Company may contingently be liable aggregate to ₹300.01 crores, which includes ₹1.76 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2017 (₹339.41 crores, which includes ₹1.59 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2016 and ₹385.09 crores, which includes ₹1.15 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at April 1, 2015). Following are the cases involving more than ₹20 crores:

The municipal authorities in certain states levy octroi duty (a local indirect tax) on goods brought inside the municipal limits at rates based on the classification of goods. Demands aggregating ₹61.65 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹61.65 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹61.65 crores as at April 1, 2015) had been raised demanding higher octroi duties on account of classification disputes relating to components purchased for the manufacture of vehicles and retrospective increase in octroi rates relating to past periods. The dispute relating to classification is presently pending before the Supreme Court and the other dispute is pending before the Bombay High Court on remand by the Supreme Court.

As at March 31, 2017, property tax amounting to ₹53.70 crores (₹50.56 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹49.10 crores as at April 1, 2015) has been demanded by the local municipal authorities in respect of vacant land of the Company in the plant in Pimpri, Pune. The Company has filed Special Leave Petition (SLP) before the Supreme Court against an unfavorable decision of the Bombay High Court. The Supreme Court has disposed of the SLP and remanded the matter back to the local municipal corporation for fresh adjudication.

As at March 31, 2017, a penalty of ₹20.31 crores (₹20.31 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹56.21 crores as at April 1, 2015) is likely to be imposed relating to a matter of regularization of construction of certain buildings in respect of which approvals from appropriate authorities are awaited. However, as the buildings were constructed as per the applicable development rules, the Company believes it will be possible to get the waiver of the same.

As at March 31, 2017, Sales tax / VAT amounting to ₹29.95 crores (₹24.10 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹15.10 crores as at April 1, 2015) has been demanded by local authorities on dealers in respect of spare parts used for carrying out warranty repairs. The dispute is pending before the Supreme Court.

As at March 31, 2017, bonus payable to employees amounting to ₹12.13 crores (₹34.84 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹nil as at April 1, 2015) is due, as a result of retrospective amendment to the notification dated January 1, 2016. Similar cases contesting the retrospective applicability of the said notification is pending in the High Courts of Kerala, Karnataka, Tamil Nadu and Gujarat state.

Other claims

There are other claims against the Company, the majority of which pertain to government body investigations with regards to regulatory compliances, motor accident claims, product liability claims and consumer complaints. Some of the cases also relate to the replacement of parts of vehicles and/or the compensation for deficiencies in the services by the Company or its dealers.

Commitments

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of plant and machinery, equipment and various civil contracts of a capital nature amounting to ₹19,610.93 crores, which includes ₹1,403.80 crores in respect of equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2017 (₹10,838.44 crores, which includes ₹1,002.09 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at March 31, 2016 and ₹8,929.10 crores, which includes ₹184.80 crores in respect of equity accounted investees, as at April 1, 2015), which are yet to be executed.

The Company has entered into various contracts with vendors and contractors for the acquisition of intangible assets of a capital nature amounting to ₹640.21 crores as at March 31, 2017, (₹250.61 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹251.65 crores as at April 1, 2015), which are yet to be executed.

Under the joint venture agreement with Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited, the Company is committed to contribute ₹3,295.60 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹3,593.00 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹3,528.20 crores as at April 1, 2015) towards its share in the capital of the joint venture of which ₹2,707.10 crores (₹2,951.40 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹2,898.20 crores as at April 1, 2015) has been contributed as at March 31, 2017. As at March 31, 2017, the Company has an outstanding commitment of ₹588.50 crores (₹641.60 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹630.00 crores as at April 1, 2015).

The Company has contractual obligation towards Purchase Commitment for \P 12,186.90 crores (\P 19,743.80 crores as on March 31, 2016 and \P 9,127.77 crores as on April 1, 2015).

38. Capital Management

The Company's capital management is intended to create value for shareholders by facilitating the meeting of long-term and short-term goals of the Company.

The Company determines the amount of capital required on the basis of annual operating plans and long-term product and other strategic investment plans. The funding requirements are met through equity, convertible and non-convertible debt securities, senior notes and other long-term/short-term borrowings. The Company's policy is aimed at combination of short-term and long-term borrowings.

The Company monitors the capital structure on the basis of total debt to equity ratio and maturity profile of the overall debt portfolio of the Company.

Total debt includes all long and short-term borrowings as disclosed in notes 24, 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements. Equity comprises all components excluding (profit)/loss on cash flow hedges and foreign currency translation reserve.

The following table summarizes the capital of the Company:

(₹ in crores)

	As at Mar	ch 31,
	2017	2016
Equity*	81,808.56	80,857.07
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings	17,974.80	18,849.57
	·	,
Long-term borrowings	60,629.18	50,510.39
Total borrowings	78,603.98	69,359.96
Total capital (Debt + Equity)	160,412.54	150,217.03
* Details of equity :	As at Mar	rch 31,
	2017	2016
Total equity as reported in balance sheet	58,515.06	79,385.25
Currency translation reserve attributable to		
- Shareholders of Tata Motors Limited	5,300.13	(4,652.20)
- Non-controlling interests	7.52	(23.43)
Hedging reserve	17,985.85	6,147.45
Equity as reported above	81,808.56	80,857.07

39. Disclosure on financial instruments

This section gives an overview of the significance of financial instruments for the Company and provides additional information on balance sheet items that contain financial instruments.

The details of significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2017.

									(₹ in crores
		Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments - FVTPL	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
Finar	ncial assets								
(a)	Other investments - non-current	-	630.27	56.61	3.88	-	-	690.76	690.76
(b)	Investments - current	-	-	3,040.94	12,000.21	-	-	15,041.15	15,041.1
(c)	Trade receivables	14,075.55	-	-	-	-	-	14,075.55	14,075.5
(d)	Cash and cash equivalents	13,986.76	-	-	-	-	-	13,986.76	13,986.7
(e)	Other bank balances	22,091.12	-	-	-	-	-	22,091.12	22,091.1
(f)	Loans and advances - non-current	753.66	-	-	-	-	-	753.66	753.6
(g)	Loans and advances - current	710.45	-	-	-	-	-	710.45	710.4
(h)	Finance receivable - current	6,810.12	-	-	-	-	-	6,810.12	6,810.1
(i)	Finance receivable - non-current	10,753.13	-	-	-	-	-	10,753.13	10,718.9
(j)	Other financial assets - non-current	135.78	-	-	-	1,156.97	1,618.37	2,911.12	2,911.1
(k)	Other financial assets - current	45.76	-	-	-	424.00	1,086.18	1,555.94	1,555.9
	Total	69,362.33	630.27	3,097.55	12,004.09	1,580.97	2,704.55	89,379.76	89,345.5
					Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Other financial liabilities	Total carrying value	Total fair value
	ncial liabilities						6474404	6474464	66 220 0
(a) (b)	Long-term borrowings (including curr Short-term borrowings	ent maturities of ion	g-reim porrowing	gs) (riote below)	-	-	64,744.04 13,859.94	64,744.04 13,859.94	66,339.9 13,859.9
(C)	Trade payables				-	-	57,698.33	57,698.33	57,698.3
	' /				-	-	4,834,24	4,834.24	•
(d)	Acceptances				116000	10 000	•	· ·	4,834.2
(e)	Other financial liabilities - non-current				1,169.84	10,089.73	150.01	11,409.58	11,409.5
(f)	Other financial liabilities - current Total				3,541.10 4,710.94	20,806.58	7,262.02	21,519.97 174,066.10	21,519.9 175,662.0
	lotal							174.000.10	

Note:

Includes USD denominated bonds designated as cash flow hedges against forecasted USD revenue amounting to ₹7,782 crores (USD 1200 million)

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at March 31, 2016.

									(₹ in crores
		Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments - FVTPL	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
Finar	ncial assets								
(a)	Other investments - non-current	-	584.25	181.93	3.85	=	=	770.03	770.0
(b)	Investments - current	-	=	1,889.36	17,343.68	=	=	19,233.04	19,233.0
(c)	Trade receivables	13,570.91	=	-	=	=	=	13,570.91	13,570.9
(d)	Cash and cash equivalents	17,153.61	-	-	-	-	-	17,153.61	17,153.6
(e)	Other bank balances	13,306.79	=	-	=	=	=	13,306.79	13,306.79
(f)	Loans and advances - non-current	503.88	-	-	-	-	-	503.88	503.8
(g)	Loans and advances - current	1,117.10	-	-	-	-	-	1,117.10	1,117.1
(h)	Finance receivable - current	6,079.92	-	-	-	-	-	6,079.92	6,079.9
(i)	Finance receivable - non-current	9,671.55	-	-	-	-	-	9,671.55	9,750.2
(j)	Other financial assets - non-current	234.25	-	-	-	221.52	1,369.74	1,825.51	1,825.5
(k)	Other financial assets - current	78.45	-	-	-	240.66	516.62	835.73	835.7
	Total	61,716.46	584.25	2,071.29	17,347.53	462.18	1,886.36	84,068.07	84,146.7
					Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Other financial liabilities	Total carrying value	Total fair value
	ncial liabilities								
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including curi	rent maturities of Ion	g-term borrowin	gs)	-	-	57,909.18	57,909.18	58,848.5
(b)	Short-term borrowings				-	-	11,450.78	11,450.78	11,450.7
(c)	Trade payables				-	-	57,580.46	57,580.46	57,580.4
(d)	Acceptances				=	=	3,981.33	3,981.33	3,981.3
(e)	Other financial liabilities - non-current	t			1,973.06	5,771.05	199.63	7,943.74	7,953.9
(f)	Other financial liabilities - current				1,748.82	4,733.48	7,400.51	13,882.81	13,882.8
	Total				3,721.88	10,504.53	138,521.89	152,748.30	153,697.8

The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair value of each category of financial assets and liabilities as at April 01, 2015.

									(₹ in crores)
		Cash and other financial assets at amortised cost	Investments - FVTOCI	Investments - FVTPL	Investments - Amortised cost	Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Total carrying value	Total fair value
Finar	ncial assets					-	· ·		
(a)	Other investments - non-current	=	583.82	181.53	3.50	=	=	768.85	768.85
(b)	Investments - current	=	4.68	433.89	13,636.21	-	=	14,074.78	14,074.78
(c)	Trade receivables	12,972.80	-	-	-	-	-	12,972.80	12,972.80
(d)	Cash and cash equivalents	19,743.09	=	=	=	-	=	19,743.09	19,743.09
(e)	Other bank balances	10,668.84	-	-	-	-	-	10,668.84	10,668.84
(f)	Loans and advances - non-current	496.71	=	=	=	-	=	496.71	496.71
(g)	Loans and advances - current	779.78	-	-	-	-	-	779.78	779.78
(h)	Finance receivable - current	4,959.45	-	-	-	-	-	4,959.45	4,959.45
(i)	Finance receivable - non-current	9,606.60	=	=	=	=	=	9,606.60	9,456.31
(j)	Other financial assets - non-current	386.56	-	-	-	104.84	156.24	647.64	647.64
(k)	Other financial assets - current	17.12	-	-	-	129.71	1,542.97	1,689.80	1,689.80
	Total	59,630.95	588.50	615.42	13,639.71	234.55	1,699.21	76,408.34	76,258.05
					Derivatives other than in hedging relationship	Derivatives in hedging relationship	Other financial liabilities	Total carrying value	Total fair value
	ncial liabilities								
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including cu	rrent maturities of lo	ng-term borrowi	ngs)	-	-	59,556.18	59,556.18	61,006.5
(b)	Short-term borrowings				-	-	13,154.68	13,154.68	13,154.6
(c)	Trade payables				-	-	52,094.70	52,094.70	52,094.7
(d)	Acceptances				-	-	4,076.75	4,076.75	4,076.7
(e)	Other financial liabilities - non-curren	t			3,017.22	4,704.72	272.91	7,994.85	8,016.9
(f)	Other financial liabilities - current				1,219.82	5,226.13	7,778.02	14,223.97	14,223.9
	Total				4,237.04	9,930.85	136,933.24	151,101.13	152,573.62

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3, as described below

Quoted prices in an active market (Level 1): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets that are measured by reference to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This category consists quoted equity shares, quoted corporate debt instruments and mutual fund investments.

Valuation techniques with observable inputs (Level 2): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities, measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e; as prices) or indirectly (i.e; derived from prices). This level of hierarchy includes Company's over-the-counter (OTC) derivative contracts.

Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): This level of hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). Fair values are determined in whole or in part, using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data.

					(₹ in crores)
			As at March 3	1, 2017	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	3,326.32	-	401.50	3,727.82
(b)	Derivative assets	<u>-</u>	4,285.52		4,285.52
	Total	3,326.32	4,285.52	401.50	8,013.34
	ncial liabilities measured at fair value		25 517 52		25 517 52
(a)	Derivative liabilities		25,517.52		25,517.52
	Total		25,517.52		25,517.52
			As at March 3	1, 2016	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets measured at fair value				
a)	Investments	2,099.85	-	555.69	2,655.54
(b)	Derivative assets	-	2,348.54	-	2,348.54
	Total	2,099.85	2,348.54	555.69	5,004.08
ina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
a)	Derivative liabilities	-	14,226.41	-	14,226.41
	Total		14,226.41	-	14,226.41
			As at April 1,	2015	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Fina	ncial assets measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	642.97	-	560.95	1,203.92
(b)	Derivative assets	-	1,933.76	-	1,933.76
	Total	642.97	1,933.76	560.95	3,137.68
Fina	ncial liabilities measured at fair value				
(a)	Derivative liabilities	-	14,167.89	-	14,167.89
	Total		14,167.89	-	14,167.89

There have been no transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the year ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, April 1, 2015.

The following table provides an analysis of fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on recurring basis, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 categories:

					(₹ in crores)
			As at March 3	•	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	cial assets not measured at fair value Investments	12,000.21		3.88	12004.00
(a) (b)	Finance receivables	12,000.21	-	3.66 17,529.04	12004.09
(D)	Total	12,000.21		17,532.92	17,529.04 29,533.13
Finan	cial liabilities not measured at fair value				
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)	35,323.52	31,016.45	-	66,339.97
(b)	Short-term borrowings		13,859.94		13,859.94
	Total	35,323.52	44,876.39		80,199.91
			As at March 3	31, 2016	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Finan	cial assets not measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	17,343.68	-	3.85	17,347.53
(b)	Finance receivables	-	-	15,830.14	15,830.14
	Total	17,343.68		15,833.99	33,177.67
Finan	cial liabilities not measured at fair value				
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)	30,123.46	28,725.04	-	58,848.50
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	11,450.78	-	11,450.78
	Total	30,123.46	40,175.82	-	70,299.28
			As at April 1	, 2015	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Finan	cial assets not measured at fair value				
(a)	Investments	13,636.21	-	3.50	13,639.71
(b)	Finance receivables	-	-	14,415.76	14,415.76
	Total	13,636.21		14,419.26	28,055.47
Finan	cial liabilities not measured at fair value				
(a)	Long-term borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)	31,169.68	29,836.87	-	61,006.55
(b)	Short-term borrowings	-	13,154.68	-	13,154.68
	Total	31,169.68	42,991.55		74,161.23

The short-term financial assets and liabilities are stated at amortized cost which is approximately equal to their fair value.

Derivatives are fair valued using market observable rates and published prices together with forecast cash flow information where applicable.

The fair value of finance receivables has been estimated by discounting expected cash flows using rates at which loans of similar credit quality and maturity would be made and internal assumptions such as expected credit losses and estimated collateral value for repossessed vehicles as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015. As unobservable inputs are applied, finance receivables are classified in Level 3.

The fair value of borrowings which have a quoted market price in an active market is based on its market price and for other borrowings the fair value is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows, using a discount rate equivalent to the risk-free rate of return, adjusted for the credit spread considered by the lenders for instruments of the similar maturity.

Costs of certain unquoted equity instruments has been considered as an appropriate estimate of fair value because of a wide range of possible fair value measurements and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range. These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium or long-term strategic purpose. Upon the application of Ind AS 109, the Company has chosen to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as the directors believe that this provides a more meaningful presentation for medium or long-term strategic investments, than reflecting changes in fair value immediately in profit or loss.

Management uses its best judgment in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments. However, there are inherent limitations in any estimation technique. Therefore, for substantially all financial instruments, the fair value estimates presented above are not necessarily indicative of all the amounts that the Company could have realized or paid in sale transactions as of respective dates. As such, the fair value of the financial instruments subsequent to the respective reporting dates may be different from the amounts reported at each year end.

Offsetting

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to offsetting where there is currently a legally enforceable right to set off recognized amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability, simultaneously.

Certain derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are subject to master netting arrangements, whereby in the case of insolvency, derivative financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a net basis.

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset, in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2017:

							(₹ in crores)
		Gross amount recognized	Gross amount recognized as set off in the	Net amount presented in the balance sheet	Amounts subje enforceable mast arrangeme	er netting	Net amount after offsetting
		balance sheet sh	sileet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	_	
Finar	ncial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	4,285.52	-	4,285.52	(3,402.13)	-	883.39
(b)	Trade receivables	14,103.26	(27.71)	14,075.55	-	-	14,075.55
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	14,237.61	(250.85)	13,986.76			13,986.76
	Total	32,626.39	(278.56)	32,347.83	(3,402.13)		28,945.70
Finar	ncial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	25,517.52	-	25,517.52	(3,402.13)	-	22,115.39
(b)	Accounts payable	57,726.04	(27.71)	57,698.33	-	-	57,698.33
(c)	Short-term borrowings/Current maturities of long-term borrowings	18,225.65	(250.85)	17,974.80	-	-	17,974.80
	Total	101,469.21	(278.56)	101,190.65	(3,402.13)	_	97,788.52

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at March 31, 2016:

		Gross amount recognized	Gross amount recognized as set off in the	Net amount presented in the balance	Amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement		Net amount after offsetting
			balance sheet	sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	_
Finar	ncial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	2,348.54		2,348.54	(2,173.24)	-	175.30
(b)	Trade receivables	13,609.66	(38.75)	13,570.91	-	-	13,570.91
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	18,184.49	(1,030.88)	17,153.61	-	-	17,153.61
	Total	34,142.69	(1,069.63)	33,073.06	(2,173.24)	-	30,899.82
Finar	ncial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	14,226.41	-	14,226.41	(2,173.24)	-	12,053.17
(b)	Accounts payable	57,619.21	(38.75)	57,580.46	-	-	57,580.46
(c)	Short-term borrowings/Current maturities of long-term borrowings	19,880.45	(1,030.88)	18,849.57	-	-	18,849.57
	Total	91,726.07	(1,069.63)	90,656.44	(2,173.24)	-	88,483.20

The following table discloses the amounts that have been offset in arriving at the balance sheet presentation and the amounts that are available for offset only under certain conditions as at April 1, 2015:

							(₹ in crores)
		Gross amount recognized	Gross amount recognized as set off in the	Net amount presented in the balance	Amounts subje enforceable mast arrangeme	er netting	Net amount after offsetting
			balance sheet	sheet	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	_
Finar	ncial assets						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	1,933.76	-	1,933.76	(1,830.49)	-	103.27
(b)	Trade receivables	13,019.23	(46.43)	12,972.80	-	-	12,972.80
(c)	Cash and cash equivalents	20,602.86	(859.77)	19,743.09		_	19,743.09
	Total	35,555.85	(906.20)	34,649.65	(1,830.49)	-	32,819.16
Finar	ncial liabilities						
(a)	Derivative financial instruments	14,167.89	-	14,167.89	(1,830.49)	-	12,337.40
(b)	Accounts payable	52,141.13	(46.43)	52,094.70	-	-	52,094.70
(c)	Short-term borrowings/Current maturities of long-term borrowings	18,963.49	(859.77)	18,103.72	-	-	18,103.72
	Total	85,272.51	(906.20)	84,366.31	(1,830.49)	-	82,535.82

(b) Transfer of financial assets

The Company transfers finance receivables in securitization transactions and direct assignments. In such transactions the Company surrenders control over the receivables, though it continues to act as an agent for the collection of receivables. In most of these transactions, the Company also provides credit enhancements to the transferee.

Because of the existence of credit enhancements in such transactions, the Company continues to have the obligation to pay to the transferee, limited to the extent of credit enhancement, even if it does not collect the equivalent amounts from the original asset and continues to retain substantially all risks and rewards associated with the receivables, and hence, such transfer or assignment does not meet the derecognition criteria resulting into the transfer not being recorded as sale. Consequently, the proceeds received from the transfer are recorded as collateralized debt obligation.

Further, the Company transfers certain trade receivables under the debt factoring arrangements. These do not qualify for derecognition, due to the recourse arrangement in place. Consequently the proceeds received from transfer are recorded as loans from banks / financial institutions and classified under short-term borrowings.

The carrying amount of trade receivables and finance receivables along with the associated liabilities is as follows:

		As at Mare	ch 31,		As at April 1,		
	2017		2016		2015		
Nature of Asset	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	Carrying amount of asset sold	Carrying amount of associated liabilities	
(a) Trade receivables(b) Finance receivables	1,494.87 1,004.38	1,494.87 1,027.12	1,514.35 35.51	1,514.35 40.07	1,715.43 583.33	1,715.43 616.80	

¹ Net of provision of ₹29.00 crores, ₹9.43 crores and ₹113.72 crores as at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015, respectively.

(c) Cash flow hedges

As at March 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiaries have a number of cash flow hedging instruments in a hedging relationship. The Company and its subsidiaries uses both U.S. dollar/Pounds sterling forward and option contracts, U.S. dollar/Euro forward contracts and other currency options to hedge future cash flows from sales and purchases. The Company and its subsidiaries have designated some of its U.S. dollar denominated bonds as cash flow hedging instruments of foreign currency risk arising from future anticipated sales. Cash flow hedges are expected to be recognized in profit or loss during the years ending March 31, 2018 to 2022.

The Company and its subsidiaries also have a number of foreign currency derivative contracts, which are entered into as an economic hedge of the financial risks of the Company. These contracts do not meet the hedge accounting criteria of Ind AS 109, hence the change in fair value is recognized immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Options are designated on spot basis. The time value of options are identified as cost of hedge. Changes in the time value of options are recognised in Cost of Hedge reserve. Cross currency basis spread arising from forward exchange contracts are considered ineffective in the hedge relationship and thus the change in fair value of forward exchange contracts attributable to cross currency basis spread are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Changes in fair value of foreign currency derivatives and bonds, to the extent determined to be an effective hedge, is recognized in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion of the fair value change is recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss.

Accordingly, the fair value change arising from foreign currency derivatives and bonds, designated as cash flow hedges of future anticipated sales (net loss) of ₹25,861.67 crores, (net loss) ₹4,006.35 crores, was recognized in other comprehensive income during the years ended March 31, 2016, respectively. Amounts reclassified from hedging reserve of (net loss) ₹9,928.70 crores and (net gain) ₹1,365.57 crores during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have been recognised as revenue in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into forward exchange contracts and foreign currency options to hedge the exchange rate risk arising from future anticipated purchase of raw materials which are designated as cash flow hedges. The fair value change (net gain) of ₹2,026.77 crores and (net gain) of ₹2,430.04 crores was recognised in other comprehensive income during the year ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

Amounts recycled from hedging reserve of (net gain) of $\ref{1,020.39}$ crores and (net loss) of $\ref{1,902.67}$ crores was recognized in inventory during the year ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 respectively in the Balance Sheet.

Changes in fair value attributable to cross currency basis spread in forwards of ₹231.78 crores (net loss) and ₹102.93 crores (net loss) during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have been classified as foreign exchange gain/loss in the statement of profit and loss. Amounts reclassified from hedging reserve, where forecast sales are no longer expected to occur, amounts to net loss of ₹367.31 crores and net loss of ₹19.72 crores during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have been classified as foreign exchange gain/loss in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Changes in fair value of foreign currency derivatives not hedge accounted of ₹2,041.94 crores (net loss) and ₹571.27 crores (net gain) during the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, have been classified as foreign exchange gain/loss in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(d) Financial risk management

In the course of its business, the Company is exposed primarily to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices, liquidity and credit risk, which may adversely impact the fair value of its financial instruments.

The Company has a risk management policy which not only covers the foreign exchange risks but also other risks associated with the financial assets and liabilities such as interest rate risks and credit risks. The risk management policy is approved by the board of directors. The risk management framework aims to:

- Create a stable business planning environment by reducing the impact of currency and interest rate fluctuations on the Company's business plan.
- Achieve greater predictability to earnings by determining the financial value of the expected earnings in advance.

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of any loss in future earnings, in realizable fair values or in future cash flows that may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, equity price fluctuations, liquidity and other market changes. Future specific market movements cannot be normally predicted with reasonable accuracy.

(i) - (a) Foreign currency exchange rate risk:

The fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates may have potential impact on the Statement of Profit and Loss and equity, where any transaction references more than one currency or where assets/liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the respective consolidated entities.

Considering the countries and economic environment in which the Company operates, its operations are subject to risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates in those countries. The risks primarily relate to fluctuations in U.S. dollar, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen, Singapore dollar and Euro, against the respective functional currencies of Tata Motors Limited and its subsidiaries.

The Company, as per its risk management policy, uses foreign exchange and other derivative instruments primarily to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate exposure. Furthermore, any movement in the functional currencies of the various operations of the Company against major foreign currencies may impact the Company's revenues from its international operations. Any weakening of the functional currency may impact the Company's cost of imports and cost of borrowings and consequently may increase the cost of financing the Company's capital expenditures.

The Company evaluates the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations by assessing its exposure to exchange rate risks. It hedges a part of these risks by using derivative financial instruments in accordance with its risk management policies.

The foreign exchange rate sensitivity is calculated for each currency by aggregation of the net foreign exchange rate exposure of a currency and a simultaneous parallel foreign exchange rates shift in the foreign exchange rates of each currency by 10%.

The following analysis is based on the gross exposure as of the relevant balance sheet dates, which could affect the Statement of Profit and Loss. There is no exposure to the Statement of Profit and Loss on account of translation of financial statements of consolidated foreign entities. Furthermore, the exposure as indicated below is mitigated by some of the derivative contracts entered into by the Company as disclosed at clause (iv) below.

The following table sets forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives disclosed at clause (iv) below) as at March 31, 2017:

							(₹ in crores)
		U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	Japanese Yen	Others 1	Total
(a)	Financial assets	10,498.74	9,862.42	4,000.96	127.98	4,432.32	28,922.42
(b)	Financial liabilities	37,547.87	21,301.83	3,399.19	538.22	2,939.25	65,726.36

¹ Others mainly include currencies such as the Russian rouble, Singapore dollar, Swiss franc, Australian dollars, South African rand, Thai baht and Korean won.

10% appreciation/depreciation of the respective foreign currencies with respect to functional currency of the Company would result in decrease/increase in the Company's profit/(loss) before tax by approximately ₹2,892.24 crores and ₹6,572.64 crores for financial assets and financial liabilities respectively for the year ended March 31, 2017.

The following table set forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives disclosed at clause (iv) below) as at March 31, 2016:

		U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	Japanese Yen	Others ²	Total
(a)	Financial assets	7,341.18	6,620.76	6,392.92	257.76	4,134.87	24,747.49
(b)	Financial liabilities	36,779.68	16,536.28	5,450.94	616.39	2,789.65	62,172.94

² Others mainly include currencies such as the Russian rouble, Swiss franc, Australian dollars, South African rand, Singapore dollars, Thai baht and Korean won.

10% appreciation/depreciation of the respective foreign currencies with respect to functional currency of the Company would result in decrease/increase in the Company's profit/(loss) before tax by approximately ₹2,474.75 crores and ₹6,217.29 crores for financial assets and financial liabilities respectively for the year ended March 31, 2016.

The following table set forth information relating to foreign currency exposure (other than risk arising from derivatives disclosed at clause (iv) below) as at April 1, 2015:

		U.S. dollar	Euro	Chinese Renminbi	Singapore Dollar	Others ³	Total
(a)	Financial assets	8,950.83	4,544.11	6,860.78	197.79	3,854.21	24,407.72
(b)	Financial liabilities	30,737.64	10,670.30	6,990.16	2,421.41	2,327.72	53,147.23

³ Others mainly include currencies such as the Russian rouble, Japanese yen, Swiss franc, Australian dollars, South African rand, Thai baht and Korean won.

10% appreciation/depreciation of the respective foreign currencies with respect to functional currency of the Company would result in decrease/increase in the Company's profit/(loss) before tax by approximately ₹2,440.77 crores and ₹5,314.72 crores for financial assets and financial liabilities respectively for the year ended March 31, 2015.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis)

(i) - (b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is measured by using the cash flow sensitivity for changes in variable interest rates. Any movement in the reference rates could have an impact on the Company's cash flows as well as costs.

The Company is subject to variable interest rates on some of its interest bearing liabilities. The Company's interest rate exposure is mainly related to debt obligations. The Company also uses a mix of interest rate sensitive financial instruments to manage the liquidity and fund requirements for its day to day operations like short term non-convertible bonds and short term loans.

In its financing business, the Company enters into transactions with customers which primarily result in receivables at fixed rates. In order to manage this risk, the Company has a policy to match funding in terms of maturities and interest rates and also for certain part of the portfolio, the Company does not match funding with maturities, in order to take advantage of market opportunities.

The Company also enters into arrangements of securitization of receivables in order to reduce the impact of interest rate movements. Futher, Company also enters in to interst rate swap contract with banks to manage its interest rate risk.

As at March 31, 2017, 2016 and April 1, 2015, financial liability of ₹18,928.36 crores, ₹22,117.12 crores and ₹21,583.07 crores respectively, was subject to variable interest rates. Increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would result in an impact (decrease/increase in case of profit/(loss) before tax of ₹189.28 crores and ₹221.17 crores on income for the year ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

The model assumes that interest rate changes are instantaneous parallel shifts in the yield curve. Although some assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods to re-pricing, these may not react correspondingly to changes in market interest rates. Also, the interest rates on some types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate with changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types of assets may change with a lag.

The risk estimates provided assume a parallel shift of 100 basis points interest rate across all yield curves. This calculation also assumes that the change occurs at the balance sheet date and has been calculated based on risk exposures outstanding as at that date. The period end balances are not necessarily representative of the average debt outstanding during the period.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

(i) - (c) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is related to the change in market reference price of the investments in equity securities.

The fair value of some of the Company's investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income exposes the Company to equity price risks. These investments are subject to changes in the market price of securities. The fair value of Company's investment in quoted equity securities as at March 31, 2017 and 2016, was ₹260.29 crores and ₹210.50 crores, respectively. A 10% change in equity prices as at March 31, 2017 and 2016, would result in an impact of ₹26.03 crores and ₹21.05 crores, respectively.

(Note: The impact is indicated on equity before consequential tax impact, if any).

(ii) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from counterparty failure to repay or service debt according to the contractual terms or obligations. Credit risk encompasses both the direct risk of default and the risk of deterioration of creditworthiness as well as concentration risks.

Financial instruments that are subject to concentrations of credit risk, principally consist of investments classified as fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables, finance receivables, loans and advances and derivative financial instruments. None of the financial instruments of the Company result in material concentrations of credit risks.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk was ₹88,716.87 crores as at March 31, 2017 and ₹83,443.73 crores as at March 31, 2016, being the total of the carrying amount of balances with banks, short term deposits with banks, trade receivables, finance receivables, margin money and other financial assets excluding equity investments.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

None of the Company's cash equivalents, including time deposits with banks, are past due or impaired. Regarding trade receivables and other receivables, and other loans or receivables that are neither impaired nor past due, there were no indications as at March 31, 2017, that defaults in payment obligations will occur.

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment loss

The ageing of trade receivables and finance receivables as of balance sheet date is given below. The age analysis have been considered from the due date.

(₹ in crores)

			As at March 31,						As at April 1,		
			2017			2016			2015		
		Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net	
	Trade receivables										
	Period (in months)										
(a)	Not due	11,943.87	(90.99)	11,852.88	11,048.06	(8.46)	11,039.60	11,416.65	(9.09)	11,407.56	
(b)	Overdue up to 3 months	1,771.82	(31.98)	1,739.84	2,268.93	(272.28)	1,996.65	1,090.00	(28.08)	1,061.92	
(c)	Overdue 3-6 months	185.93	(25.49)	160.44	420.99	(222.36)	198.63	258.22	(24.11)	234.11	
(d)	Overdue more than 6 months	1,551.37	(1,228.98)	322.39 ¹	1,107.22	(771.19)	336.03 1	983.63	(714.42)	269.21 1	
	Total	15,452.99	(1,377.44)	14,075.55	14,845.20	(1,274.29)	13,570.91	13,748.50	(775.70)	12,972.80	

Trade receivables consist of a large number of various types of customers, spread across geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of these trade receivables and where appropriate, allowance for losses are provided. Further, the Company groups the trade receivables depending on the type of customers and accordingly credit risk is determined.

¹ Trade receivables overdue more than six months include ₹212.29 crores as at March 31, 2017 (₹230.02 crores as at March 31, 2016 and ₹152.93 crores as at April 1, 2015) outstanding from state government organizations in India, which are considered recoverable.

			As at I	/larch 31,				As at April 1,	
		2017			2016			2015	
	Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net	Gross	Allowance	Net
Finance receivables ²									
Period (in months)									
Not due ³	18,004.78	(1,604.08)	16,400.70	17,515.42	(2,774.06)	14,741.36	17,509.48	(3,988.89)	13,520.59
Overdue up to 3 months	298.24	(20.39)	277.85	217.22	(24.21)	193.01	257.28	(46.44)	210.84
Overdue more than 3 months	2,857.74	(1,973.04)	884.70	3,025.52	(2,208.42)	817.10	2,687.30	(1,852.68)	834.62
Total	21,160.76	(3,597.51)	17,563.25	20,758.16	(5,006.69)	15,751.47	20,454.06	(5,888.01)	14,566.05
	Period (in months) Not due ³ Overdue up to 3 months Overdue more than 3 months	Finance receivables 2 Period (in months) Not due 3 18,004.78 Overdue up to 3 months 298.24 Overdue more than 3 months 2,857.74	Finance receivables 2 Allowance Period (in months) 18,004.78 (1,604.08) Overdue up to 3 months 298.24 (20.39) Overdue more than 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04)	2017 Gross Allowance Net Finance receivables 2 Period (in months) 18,004.78 (1,604.08) 16,400.70 Not due 3 18,004.78 (20.39) 277.85 Overdue up to 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70	Gross Allowance Net Gross Finance receivables 2 Feriod (in months) 18,004.78 (1,604.08) 16,400.70 17,515.42 Not due 3 18,004.78 (20.39) 277.85 217.22 Overdue up to 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70 3,025.52	2017 2016 Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Finance receivables² Period (in months) 8 8004.78 (1,604.08) 16,400.70 17,515.42 (2,774.06) Not due ³ 18,004.78 (20.39) 277.85 217.22 (24.21) Overdue up to 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70 3,025.52 (2,088.42)	2017 2016 Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Net Finance receivables² Period (in months) Not due ³ 18,004.78 (1,604.08) 16,400.70 17,515.42 (2,774.06) 14,741.36 Overdue up to 3 months 298.24 (20.39) 277.85 217.22 (24.21) 193.01 Overdue more than 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70 3,025.52 (2,208.42) 817.10	2017 2016 Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Net Gross Finance receivables² Period (in months) 8 16,400.78 17,515.42 (2,774.06) 14,741.36 17,509.48 Not due ³ 18,004.78 (20.39) 277.85 217.22 (24.21) 193.01 257.28 Overdue un to 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70 3,025.52 (2,084.2) 817.10 2,687.30	2017 2016 2015 Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Finance receivables² Period (in months) Not due³ 18,004.78 (1,604.08) 16,400.70 17,515.42 (2,774.06) 14,741.36 17,509.48 (3,988.89) Overdue up to 3 months 298.24 (20.39) 277.85 217.22 (24.21) 193.01 257.28 (46.44) Overdue more than 3 months 2,857.74 (1,973.04) 884.70 3,025.52 (2,208.42) 817.10 2,687.30 (1,852.68)

² Finance receivables originated in India.

³ Allowance in the "Not due" category includes allowance against installments pertaining to impaired finance receivables which have not yet fallen due.

(iii) Liquidit

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Company cannot meet its financial obligations. The objective of liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient liquidity and ensure that funds are available for use as

The Company has obtained fund and non-fund based working capital lines from various banks. Furthermore, the Company has access to funds from debt markets through commercial paper programs, non-convertible debenture, senior notes and other debt instruments. The Company invests its surplus funds in bank fixed deposit and liquid and liquid plus schemes of mutual funds, which carry no/low mark to market risks. The Company has also invested 15% of the non-convertible debentures (taken/fisued by the Company) falling due for repayment in the next 12 months in bank deposits, to meet the regulatory norms of liquidity requirements.

The Company also constantly monitors funding options available in the debt and capital markets with a view to maintaining financial flexibility.

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as at March 31, 2017.

							(₹ in crores)
		Carrying amount Due in 1st Year	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 2nd Year Due in 3rd to 5th Year Due after 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Finar	inancial liabilities						
(a)	Trade payables	57,698.33	57,698.33	•	•	•	57,698.33
(q)	Acceptances	4,834.24	4,834.24	•	•	•	4,834.24
0	Borrowings and interest thereon	79,547.22	21,733.53	13,055.95	39,614.01	19,358.94	93,762.43
P	Other financial liabilities	6,468.79	6,318.78	30.53	82.69	78.89	6,497.98
(e)	Derivative liabilities	25,517.52	15,791.87		6,052.83	1.15	32,316.71
	Total	174,066.10	106,376.75	23,557.34	4	19,438.98	195,109.69

Contractual maturities of borrowings includes cash flows relating to collateralized debt obligations. This represents the amount received against the transfer of finance receivables in securitization transactions and/or direct assignments, which do not qualify for derecognition. The liability of the Company in such cases is limited to the extent of credit enhancements provided. The contractual maturities of such collateralized debt obligations are as follows:

	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Carrying amount Due in 1st Year Due in 2nd Year Due in 3rd to 5th Year Total contractua cash flows	Total contractual cash flows
Collateralized debt obligations	1,027.38	629.67	367.07	110.82	1,107.56

The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as of March 31, 2016.

(₹ in crores)

		Carrying amount Due in 1st Year	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
an	inancial liabilities						
	Trade payables	57,580.46	57,580.46	•	•	1	57,580.46
	Acceptances	3,981.33	3,981.33	•			3,981.33
	Borrowings and interest thereon	70,330.36	22,295.86	6,566.36	32,659.96	23,117.45	84,639.63
	Other financial liabilities	6,629.74	6,434.76	124.68	38.90	67.82	6,666.16
	Derivative liabilities	14,226.41	7,048.99	6,662.57	4,392.17	7.29	18,111.02
	Total	1,52,748.30	97,341.40	13,353.61		23,192.56	1,70,978.60

Contractual maturities of borrowings includes cash flows relating to collateralized debt obligations. This represents the amount received against the transfer of finance receivables in securitization transactions and/or direct assignments, which do not qualify for derecognition. The liability of the Company in such cases is limited to the extent of credit enhancements provided. The contractual maturities of such collateralized debt obligations are as follows:

	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows	
Collateralized debt obligations	40.07	38.73	2.84	1	41.57	
The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments as of April 1, 2015.	actual maturities of financial li	abilities, including es	timated interest pay	ments as of April 1, 2015:		
	Carrying amount	Due in 1st Year	Due in 2nd Year	Due in 3rd to 5th Year	Due after 5th Year	Total contractual cash flows
Financial liabilities						
(a) Trade payables	52,094.70	52,094.70	1	1	1	52,094.70
(b) Acceptances	4,076.75	4,076.75	1			4,076.75
(c) Borrowings and interest thereon	73,740.39	22,164.53	11,345.45	32,046.48	25,421.74	90,978.20
(d) Other financial liabilities	7,021.40	6,774.25	120.87	120.42	68.38	7,083.92
(e) Derivative liabilities	14,167.89	6,967.44	5,703.53	4,945.34	12.91	17,629.22
Total	1,51,101.13	92,077.67	17,169.85	37,112.24	25,503.03	1,71,862.79

Contractual maturities of borrowings includes cash flows relating to collateralized debt obligations. This represents the amount received against the transfer of finance receivables in securitization transactions and/or direct assignments, which do not qualify for derecognition. The liability of the Company in such cases is limited to the extent of credit enhancements provided. The contractual maturities of such collateralized debt obligations are as follows:

Total contractual cash flows	647.45
t Due in 1st Year Due in 2nd Year Due in 3rd to 5th Year Total contractual cash flows	4.45
Due in 2nd Year	106.56
Due in 1st Year	536.44
Carrying amount	616.80
	Collateralized debt obligations

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and risk management

The Company has entered into variety of foreign currency, interest rates and commodity forward contracts and options to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity price risk. These financial exposures are managed in accordance with the Company's risk management policies and procedures.

The Company also enters into interest rate swaps and interest rate currency swap agreements, mainly to manage exposure on its fixed rate or variable rate debt. The Company uses interest rate derivatives or currency swaps to hedge exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on principal and interest payments for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies.

Specific transactional risks include risks like liquidity and pricing risks, interest rate and exchange rate fluctuation risks, volatility risks, counterparty risks, settlement risks and gearing risks.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments are determined using valuation techniques based on information derived from observable market data.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is as follows:			(₹ in crores)
	As at Ma	rch 31,	As at April 1,
	2017	2016	2015
(a) Foreign currency forward exchange contracts and options	(21,685.18)	(10,798.79)	(11,839.38)
(b) Commodity Derivatives	385.66	(962.81)	(389.01)
(c) Others including interest rate and currency swaps	67.52	(116.27)	(5.74)
Total	(21,232.00)	(11,877.87)	(12,234.13)

The gain/(loss) on commodity derivative contracts, recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss was ₹918.40 crores and (₹1,155.53 crores) for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

In respect of the Company's foreign currency forward and option contracts, a 10% appreciation of the foreign currency underlying such contracts, would have resulted in an approximate gain/(loss) of (3.011.69 crores)/(3.15,934.81 crores) in the Company's hedging reserve and an approximate gain/(loss) of 3.011.69 crores/(3.172.08 crores) respectively, in the Company's Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 respectively.

In respect of the Company's foreign forward and option contracts, a 10% depreciation of the foreign currency underlying such contracts, would have resulted in an approximate gain/(loss) of ₹12,194.42 crores/₹16,013.08 crores in the Company's hedging reserve and an approximate gain/(loss) of (₹90.35 crores) and ₹961.11 crores respectively, in the Company's Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016 respectively.

In respect of the Company's commodity derivative contracts, a 10% depreciation/appreciation of all commodity prices underlying such contracts, would have resulted in an approximate gain/(loss) of (₹461.24 crores)/₹461.24 crores and (₹496.35 crores)/₹496.35 crores in the Statement of Profit and Loss for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively.

Exposure to gain/loss on derivative instruments offset to some extent the exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk as disclosed above.

(Note: The impact is indicated on the income/loss before tax basis).

40. Disclosure on Financial instruments designated as hedging instrument in cashflow hedge

The details of cash flow hedges entered into by one of the Company's subsidiaries to hedge the currency fluctuation of its functional currency (GBP) against foreign currencies to hedge future cash flows arising from revenue and cost of materials is as follows:

0 !:								1	
Outstanding contracts	Ave	rage strik	e rate	No	minal amo			Fair value ₹in crores	
	As at Mar	ch 21	As at April 1,	As at Ma		As at April 1,	As at Ma		As at April 1,
	2017	2016		2017	2016	2015	2017	2016	2015
Fx Forwards		2010	2013	2017	2010	2013	2017	2010	2013
Cash flow hedges - USD									
Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP									
<1 year	0.667	0.657	0.643	2,767.7	3,458.5	2,920.3	(4,228.80)	(1.882.32)	(1,458.84)
Between 1-5 years	0.668	0.651	0.645	4,850.8	6,253.7		(6,228.30)		(2,180.87)
Cash flow hedges - Chinese Yuan Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy - GBP									
<1 year	0.100	0.100	0.100	3,435.7	3,318.3	2,445.7	(3,874.38)	(1,962.50)	(1,593.82)
Between 1-5 years	0.102	0.099	0.099	4,132.3	4,400.8	3,700.8	(2,096.60)	(1,765.87)	(1,253.61)
Cash flow hedges -Euro Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP									
<1 year	0.795	0.794	0.818	1,574.1	1,502.7	1,807.7	977.50	38.18	(1,781.49)
Between 1-5 years	0.804	0.764	0.795	2,327.5	2,076.8	2,129.8	1,464.62	1,233.24	(1,158.38)
Cash flow hedges - Other									
<1 year	0.002	0.002		1,675.7	1,370.1	,	(2,483.39)	. ,	1,150.99
Between 1-5 years	0.003	0.002	0.004	1,829.5	1,148.0	687.4	(1,459.77)	(526.90)	45.30
Fx Options Cash flow hedges - USD Sell - USD/ Buy - GBP									
<1 year	0.760	-	-	11.4	-	-	-	-	-
Between 1-5 years	0.728	-	-	127.4	-	-	5.66	-	-
Cash flow hedges - Chinese Yuan Sell - Chinese Yuan / Buy - GBP									
<1 year	0.105	-	-	10.5	-	-	-	-	-
Between 1-5 years	0.103	-	-	10.3	-	-	1.62	-	-
Cash flow hedges -Euro Buy - Euro / Sell - GBP									
<1 year	0.956	-	-	186.5	-	-	(28.32)	-	-
Between 1-5 years	0.969	-	-	1,588.9	-	-	(158.60)	-	-
USD denominated Bonds									
< 1 year									
Between 1-5 years	0.803	-	-	963.0	-	-	(7,964.60)	-	-

41. Segment reporting

The Company primarily operates in the automotive segment. The automotive segment includes all activities relating to development, design, manufacture, assembly and sale of vehicles including financing thereof, as well as sale of related parts and accessories. The Company provides financing for vehicles sold by dealers in India. The vehicle financing is intended to drive sale of vehicles by providing financing to the dealers' customers and as such is an integral part of automotive business. The financing activity is assessed as an integral part of the overall automotive business. The operating results of the financing activity does not include all of the interest or cost of funds employed for the purposes of financing, and therefore the operating results of this activity is not used to make decisions about resources to be allocated or to assess performance.

The Company's products mainly include Tata and other brand vehicles and Jaguar and Land Rover vehicles.

As at March 31, 2017, the automotive segment is bifurcated into the following:

Tata and other brand vehicles, including financing thereof and Jaguar Land Rover.

The Company's other segment comprises primarily activities relating to information technology or IT services, machine tools and factory automation solutions.

The segment information presented is in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company. Segment revenues, expenses and results include inter-segment transfers. Such transfers are undertaken either at competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar goods or at contracted rates. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

		For	the year ended/	For the year ended/as at March 31, 2017	017		(₹ in crores)
	A	utomotive and	Automotive and related activity				
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof) 1	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter-segment eliminations	Total
Revenues:							
External revenue	56,292.59	2,16,388.82	•	2,72,681.41	1,810.71	•	2,74,492.12
Inter-segment/intra-segment revenue	156.19	•	(145.19)	11.00	1,373.35	(1,384.35)	•
Total revenues	56,448.78	2,16,388.82	(145.19)	2,72,692.41	3,184.06	(1,384.35)	2,74,492.12
Earnings before other income, finance cost and tax	207.05	15,117.07	1	15,324.12	471.90	(202.22)	15,593.80
Other income							754.54
Finance costs Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)							(4,238.01) (3,910.10)
a) Employee separation cost b) Others							(67.61) 1,182.17
Profit before tax						' '	9,314.79
Depreciation and amortisation expense	3,157.71	14,650.51	,	17,808.22	96.77	•	17,904.99
Capital expenditure	4,018.58	27,783.03	1	31,801.61	124.12	(174.99)	31,750.74
Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees (net)	25.21	1,384.37	ı	1,409.58	83.42	•	1,493.00
Segment assets	64,890.05	1,54,654.50	1	2,19,544.55	2,205.13	(1,023.72)	2,20,725.96
Investment in equity accounted investees	377.31	3,835.72	1	4,213.03	392.98	•	4,606.01
Reconciliation to total assets: Other investments							15,731.91
Current and non-current tax assets (net)							1,195.67
Deferred tax assets (net)							4,457.34
Other unallocated financial assets 2						'	27,037.47
Total assets				1	!		2,73,754.36
Segment liabilities Reconciliation to total liabilities:	17,548.81	89,478.99		1,07,027.80	/4/./5	(250.44)	11,626,10,1
Borrowings							78,603.98
Current tax liabilities (net)							1,392.58
Deferred tax liabilities (net) Other upallocated financial liabilities 3							1,174.00
Total liabilities						. "	2,15,239.30

¹ Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Flat brand vehicles. ² Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income. ³ Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

		Fo	For the year ended/as at March 31, 2016	as at March 31, 20	916		(₹ in crores)
	1	Automotive and Jaguar Land	Automotive and related activity Jaguar Land Intra-segment	Total	Others	Inter-segment	Total
	other brand vehicles (including financing thereof)	Kover	eliminations			eliminations	
Revenues:							
External revenue Inter-seament/intra-seament revenue	53,386.49	2,22,822.93	- (83.78)	2,76,209.42	1,451.17	- (1,514,97)	2,77,660.59
Total revenues	53,462.52	2,22,822.93	(63.78)	2,76,221.67	2,953.89	(1,514.97)	2,77,660.59
Earnings before other income, finance cost and tax	2,188.15	19,056.29	ı	21,244.44	436.24	(83.95)	21,596.73
Reconciliation to Pront before tax: Other income Finance costs Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (net)							885.35 (4,889.08)
Exceptional items: a) Employee separation cost b) Others							(32.72)
Profit before tax						1 1	14,125.77
Depreciation and amortisation expense Capital expenditure Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investees (net)	2,527.52 3,681.61 20.67	14,100.10 27,616.04 598.71	1 1 1	16,627.62 31,297.65 619.38	83.16 211.54 (41.91)	. (83.80)	16,710.78 31,425.39 577.47
Segment assets	60,550.01	1,59,802.80	(10.00)	2,20,342.81	2,286.84	(939.31)	2,21,690.34
Investment in equity accounted investees Reconciliation to total assets: Other investments	373.05	3,238.07	1	3,611.12	152.83	1	3,763.95
Current and non-current tax assets (net) Deferred tax assets (net) Other unallocated financial assets ²							3,957.03 16,314.20
Total assets Segment liabilities	14,333.95	82,957.43	(10.00)	97,281.38	828.45	= (278.59)	2,67,141.15 97,831.24
Borrowings Current tax liabilities (net) Deferred tax liabilities (net) Other unallocated financial liabilities ³ Total liabilities						1 11	69,359.96 723.53 4,474.78 15,366.39 1,87,755.90

¹ Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Flat brand vehicles. ² Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income. ³ Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

		ይ	For the year ended/as at April 1, 2015	as at April 1, 20'	15		(₹ in crores)
	A	utomotive and	Automotive and related activity				
	Tata and other brand vehicles (including financing thereof)	Jaguar Land Rover	Intra- segment eliminations	Total	Others	Inter-segment eliminations	Total
Segment assets	57,809.70	1,41,761.05		1,99,570.75	2,155.54	(1,087.00)	2,00,639.29
Investment in equity accounted investees	367.09	2,602.99	1	2,970.08	203.58	1	3,173.66
Reconciliation to total assets:							
Other investments							14,843.63
Current and non-current tax assets (net)							1,159.53
Deferred tax assets (net)							4,049.41
Other unallocated financial assets ²							14,278.20
Total assets							2,38,143.72
Segment liabilities	14,201.93	76,238.47	•	90,440.40	779.26	(280.89)	90,938.77
Reconciliation to total liabilities:							
Borrowings							72,710.86
Current tax liabilities (net)							820.13
Deferred tax liabilities (net)							2,559.49
Other unallocated financial liabilities ³							15,412.14
Total liabilities							1,82,441.39

¹ Tata and other brand vehicles include Tata Daewoo and Flat brand vehicles. ² Includes interest-bearing loans and deposits and accrued interest income. ³ Includes interest accrued and other interest bearing liabilities.

Entity-wide disclosures

Information concerning principal geographic areas is as follows:

			(₹ in crores)
		Year ended	l March 31,
Net sales to	external customers by geographic area by location of customers:	2017	2016
(a)	India	47,101.21	46,027.25
(b)	United States of America	42,935.31	43,809.17
(c)	United Kingdom	50,588.18	46,209.94
(d)	Rest of Europe	47,122.48	41,575.25
(e)	China	41,369.40	48,760.19
(f)	Rest of the World	45,375.54	51,278.79
	Total	2,74,492.12	2,77,660.59

Non-current	t assets (Property, plant and equipment, Intangible assets, other non-current assets and Goodwill)	As at A	Narch 31,	As at April 1,
by geograpl	hic area:	2017	2016	2015
(a)	India	28,347.32	27,656.40	26,900.82
(b)	United States of America	251.84	354.47	338.10
(c)	United Kingdom	96,966.41	1,01,735.19	87,748.93
(d)	Rest of Europe	1,306.66	278.63	120.61
(e)	China	91.04	154.08	101.71
(f)	Rest of the World	3,005.75	3,121.01	1,843.63
	Total	1,29,969.02	1,33,299.78	1,17,053.80

	Year ended	March 31,
about product revenues:	2017	2016
Tata and Fiat vehicles	48,069.14	46,347.41
Tata Daewoo commercial vehicles	5,793.30	4,783.94
Finance revenues	2,429.23	2,240.03
Jaguar Land Rover vehicles	2,16,388.82	2,22,822.93
Others	1,811.63	1,466.28
Total	2,74,492.12	2,77,660.59
	Tata and Fiat vehicles Tata Daewoo commercial vehicles Finance revenues Jaguar Land Rover vehicles Others	about product revenues: 2017 Tata and Fiat vehicles 48,069.14 Tata Daewoo commercial vehicles 5,793.30 Finance revenues 2,429.23 Jaguar Land Rover vehicles 2,16,388.82 Others 1,811.63

42. Related-Party Transactions

The Company's related parties principally consist of Tata Sons Limited, subsidiaries and joint ventures of Tata Sons Limited, the Company's associates and their subsidiaries, joint operations and joint ventures of the Company. The Company routinely enters into transactions with these related parties in the ordinary course of business. The Company enters into transactions for sale and purchase of products and services with its associates, joint operations and joint ventures. Transactions and balances with its own subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation.

The following table summarizes related-party transactions and balances included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended/as at March 31, 2017:

					(₹ in crores)
	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint ventures	Total
Purchase of products	2,058.52	21.30	2,275.75	66.84	4,422.41
Sale of products	250.49	4,983.53	323.72	461.50	6,019.24
Services received	10.98	1,088.57	0.07	1,970.15	3,069.77
Services rendered	16.64	771.88	16.12	130.13	934.77
Bills discounted	-	-	-	3,202.77	3,202.77
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	13.79	-	-	0.11	13.90
nterest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/paid, (net)	(11.10)	(594.36)	(12.12)	64.26	(553.32)
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon	-	-	-	9.33	9.33
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	56.00	-	-	105.55	161.55
Trade and other receivables	49.52	565.86	-	160.01	775.39
Trade payables	39.76	22.63	123.96	471.11	657.46
Loans given/repaid	-	-	132.50	90.60	223.10
oans taken/repaid	629.00	-	-	1,216.58	1,845.58
Conversion of Optionally Convertible Preference shares into Equity shares	160.00	-	-	-	160.00
Deposit given as security	-	-	-	3.00	3.00

The following table summarizes related-party transactions and balances included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended/as at March 31, 2016:

					(₹ in crores)
	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint ventures	Total
Purchase of products	1,768.73	-	2,781.45	67.40	4,617.58
Sale of products	212.38	3,105.15	597.12	756.68	4,671.33
Services received	9.64	842.70	0.12	1,850.36	2,702.82
Services rendered	21.85	626.35	7.97	112.31	768.48
Bills discounted	-	-	-	2,901.80	2,901.80
Sale of Investments	-	-	-	7.15	7.15
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	11.45	-	-	0.92	12.37
Interest (income)/expense, dividend (income)/paid, (net)	(11.98)	-	(14.33)	37.63	11.32
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon	160.00	-	191.78	35.34	387.12
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	27.00	-	-	106.17	133.17
Trade and other receivables	22.27	673.71	-	454.52	1,150.50
Trade payables	58.51	14.81	168.04	162.60	403.96
Loans given/repaid	-	-	-	125.00	125.00
Loans taken/repaid	345.00	-	-	918.13	1,263.13
Proceeds from issue of shares	-	-	-	1,966.76	1,966.76
Deposit given as security	-	-	-	3.00	3.00

The following table summarizes related-party balances included in the consolidated financial statements as at April 1, 2015:

	Associates and its subsidiaries	Joint ventures	Joint operations	Tata Sons Ltd, its subsidiaries and joint ventures	Total
Amounts receivable in respect of loans and interest thereon	25.66	-	183.97	100.64	310.27
Amounts payable in respect of loans and interest thereon	3.49	-	-	7.81	11.30
Trade and other receivables	15.22	436.18	-	159.58	610.98
Trade payables	76.49	4.65	143.68	335.87	560.69
Loans given/repaid	-	-	-	95.00	95.00
Loans taken/repaid	94.00	-	-	-	94.00
Purchase of unquoted equity shares	-	1,225.86	-	-	1,225.86
Purchase of Optionally Convertible Preference shares	160.00	-	-	-	160.00
Deposit given as security	-	-	-	3.00	3.00

Compensation of key management personnel:

	Year ende	ed March 31,
	2017	2016
Short-term benefits^	69.31	55.78
Post-employment benefits*	18.47	11.20

^ Includes ₹8.08 crores (₹4.61 crores for the year 2015 -2016) of managerial remuneration which is subject to the approval of Central Government.

^{*} Excludes provision for encashable leave and gratuity for certain key management personnels as a separate actuarial valuation is not available.

	Year ended March 31,		
Other transactions with key management personnel:	2017	2016	
Issue of shares pursuant to rights issue	-	0.08	
Sale of products	0.81	1.10	
Dividend Paid	- **	-	

^{**} amount less than ₹50,000/-

Refer note 36 for information on transactions with post-employment benefit plans.

	CI (#EDC#)		Year ended M	d March 31,	
nings pe	r Share ("EPS")		2017	2016	
(a)	Profit after tax	₹crores	7,454.36	11,579.31	
(b)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	2,88,72,18,310	2,87,31,88,838	
(c)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	50,84,83,714	50,60,63,234	
(d)	The nominal value per share (Ordinary and 'A' Ordinary)	₹	2.00	2.00	
(e)	Share of profit for Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	₹crores	6,333.80	9,840.94	
(f)	Share of profit for 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS*	₹crores	1,120.56	1,738.37	
(g)	Earnings per Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	21.94	34.25	
(h)	Earnings per 'A' Ordinary share (Basic)	₹	22.04	34.35	
(i)	Profit after tax for Diluted EPS	₹crores	7,454.36	11,579.31	
(j)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	2,88,72,18,310	2,87,31,88,838	
(k)	Add: Adjustment for Options relating to warrants and shares held in abeyance	Nos.	5,99,766	6,21,740	
(1)	The weighted average number of Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	2,88,78,18,076	2,87,38,10,578	
(m)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Basic EPS	Nos.	50,84,83,714	50,60,63,234	
(n)	Add: Adjustment for 'A' Ordinary shares held in abeyance	Nos.	2,52,396	2,57,050	
(o)	The weighted average number of 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	Nos.	50,87,36,110	50,63,20,284	
(p)	Share of profit for Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS	₹crores	6,333.52	9,840.50	
(q)	Share of profit for 'A' Ordinary shares for Diluted EPS*	₹crores	1,120.84	1,738.81	
(r)	Earnings per Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	21.93	34.24	
(s)	Earnings per 'A' Ordinary share (Diluted)	₹	22.03	34.34	

^{* &#}x27;A'Ordinary shareholders are entitled to receive dividend at 5 percentage points more than the aggregate rate of dividend determined by the Company on Ordinary shares for the financial year.

44. Additional information as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, of enterprises consolidated as subsidiary / Associates / Joint Ventures

Name of enterprises								(₹in crores)
	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total liabilities)	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of total comprehensive income	Total comprehensive income
Parent								
Tata Motors Ltd	32.80%	20,553.79	-34.85%	(2,597.62)	-0.36%	98.68	12.49%	(2,498.94
Subsidiaries								
Indian	0.4.40/	05.05	0.450/	44.00	0.000/	0.55	0.050/	40.4
TAL Manufacturing Solutions Ltd	0.14%	85.35	0.16%	11.89	0.00%	0.55	-0.06%	12.4
TML Drivelines Ltd Concorde Motors (India) Ltd	1.30% 0.20%	812.63 123.69	0.69%	51.19	0.00% 0.00%	(1.27) (0.16)	-0.25%	49.92 (45.07
Sheba Properties Ltd	-0.49%	(308.97)	-0.60% 21.33%	(44.91) 1,590.01	-0.03%	8.98	0.23% -7.99%	1,598.99
Tata Technologies Ltd	1.20%	752.71	2.87%	214.05	0.01%	(3.39)	-1.05%	210.66
Tata Motors Insurance Broking & Advisory Services Ltd	0.04%	22.86	0.14%	10.50	0.00%	0.04	-0.05%	10.54
TML Distribution Company Ltd	0.49%	304.05	0.36%	26.83	0.00%	0.26	-0.14%	27.09
Tata Motors Finance Ltd	4.92%	3,081.42	-16.86%	(1,256.58)	0.00%	1.03	6.28%	(1,255.55
Tata Motors Financial Solutions Ltd	1.93%	1,207.06	-6.33%	(471.61)	0.00%	(0.34)	2.36%	(471.95
Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd	0.18%	110.75	0.18%	13.45	0.00%	(0.43)	-0.07%	13.0
Jaguar Land Rover India Limited	0.41%	254.33	0.90%	67.09	0.00%	-	-0.34%	67.09
Foreign								
Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd	3.75%	2,347.61	3.90%	290.68	-0.11%	29.43	-1.60%	320.1
Tata Motors European Technical Centre Plc	0.49%	306.12	-0.65%	(48.66)	0.00%	-	0.24%	(48.66
Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd	0.02%	11.42	0.01%	0.84	0.00%	0.45	-0.01%	1.29
Tata Motors (Thailand) Ltd	-0.61%	(379.84)	-1.36%	(101.70)	0.00%	0.80	0.50%	(100.90
TML Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore	16.29%	10,209.63	10.87%	810.59	0.00%	-	-4.05%	810.59
Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A	-1.03%	(647.94)	-0.12%	(9.29)	-0.20%	53.92	-0.22%	44.63
Tata Hispano Motors Carroceries Maghreb	-0.04%	(22.46)	-0.10%	(7.43)	0.18%	(49.02)	0.28%	(56.45
Trilix S.r.l	0.08%	52.08	0.20%	15.19	0.02%	(5.08)	-0.05%	10.1
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.00%	0.93	0.00%	(0.07)	0.00%	(0.06)	0.00%	(0.13
PT Tata Motors Indonesia	0.25%	158.40	-0.03%	(2.00)	0.00%	0.72	0.01%	(1.28
INCAT International Plc	0.06%	39.01	-0.01%	(0.39)	0.03%	(7.03)	0.04%	(7.42
Tata Technologies Inc	0.55%	344.89	0.21%	15.91	0.03%	(7.40)	-0.04%	8.5
INCAT Solutions of Canada Inc. (Liquidated w.e.f December 13, 2016)	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	-0.01%	1.77	-0.01%	1.7
Tata Technologies de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.	0.01%	5.62	0.03%	2.14	0.00%	(0.20)	-0.01%	1.94
Tata Technologies Europe Ltd	0.92%	573.78	1.47%	109.28	0.40%	(109.62)	0.00%	(0.34
INCAT GmbH.	0.02%	15.10	0.00%	0.33	0.00%	(1.31)	0.00%	(0.98
Tata Technologies (Thailand) Ltd	0.01%	7.23	0.00%	0.06	0.00%	(0.08)	0.00%	(0.02
Tata Technologies Pte. Ltd	1.16%	725.17	-0.05%	(3.94)	0.06%	(15.34)	0.10%	(19.28
Cambric Limited, Bahama Cambric UK Ltd.	0.03%	19.20 0.00	-0.01%	(0.50)	0.00%	(0.25)	0.00% 0.02%	(0.50
Cambric GMbH	0.00%	1.96	-0.05% 0.00%	(3.68)	0.00%	(0.25) (0.12)	0.02%	0.00
Midwest Managed Services, Utah	0.00%	2.18	0.00%	1.48	0.00%	(0.12)	-0.01%	1.48
Tata Technologies SRL, Romania	0.03%	17.93	0.02%	4.22	0.00%	(1.37)	-0.01%	2.8
Cambric Manufacturing Technologies (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.	0.04%	25.56	0.27%	20.13	0.01%	(1.63)	-0.09%	18.50
Jaquar Land Rover Automotive Plc	25.65%	16,073.26	35.11%	2,616.96	0.00%	(1.03)	-13.08%	2,616.9
Jaguar Land Rover Limited	88.06%	55,183.97	106.17%	7,914.08	84.39%	(23,174.21)	76.28%	(15,260.13
Jaguar Land Rover Holdings Limited (formerly known as Land Rover)	64.55%	40,450.88	26.21%	1,953.81	0.00%	(23,17 1.21)	-9.77%	1,953.8
JLR Nominee Company Limited (formerly known as Jaguar Land Rover Exports Ltd)		-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	1,755.0
Jaguar Land Rover North America, LLC	0.97%	607.95	2.32%	172.83	0.00%	(0.47)	-0.86%	172.36
Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH	0.90%	566.73	1.23%	91.65	0.00%	=	-0.46%	91.6
Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH	0.13%	79.86	0.18%	13.16	0.00%	-	-0.07%	13.16
Jaguar Land Rover Italia SpA	0.65%	409.90		99.06	0.00%	-	-0.50%	99.00
Jaguar Land Rover Portugal-Veiculos e Pecas, Lda.	0.00%	(0.10)	0.06%	4.42	0.00%	-	-0.02%	4.4
Jaguar Land Rover France SAS	0.19%	121.44	0.44%	32.45	0.00%	-	-0.16%	32.4
Jaguar Land Rover Australia Pty Limited	0.17%	106.53	1.46%	108.89	0.00%	-	-0.54%	108.89
Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd	13.47%	8,443.53	93.09%	6,939.08	0.00%	-	-34.69%	6,939.08
Jaguar Land Rover Japan Limited	0.46%	290.64	0.60%	44.43	0.00%	-	-0.22%	44.4
Jaguar Land Rover Korea Company Limited	0.22%	137.11	1.64%	122.15	0.00%	_	-0.61%	122.1
Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC	0.27%	168.63	1.80%	134.53	0.00%	_	-0.67%	134.5
Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Veículos LTDA	0.80%	499.67	-8.48%	(631.94)	0.00%	-	3.16%	(631.94
Limited Liability Company "Jaguar Land Rover" (Russia)	1.01%	634.25	8.59%	640.55	0.00%	-	-3.20%	640.5
"Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd	0.38%	241.25	1.78%	132.84	0.00%	-	-0.66%	132.84
	0.5070	2 2 3	1 070	. 52.51	0.0070		0.0070	.52.0

Name of enterprises								(₹ in crores)
	As % of consolidated net assets	Net Assets (total assets minus total liabilities)	As % of consolidated profit or loss	Share of profit or loss	As % of consolidated OCI	Share of OCI	As % of total comprehensive income	Total comprehensive income
Jaguar Land Rover South Africa Holdings Limited	2.15%	1,344.92	2.42%	180.37	0.00%	-	-0.90%	180.37
Land Rover Ireland Limited	0.01%	7.12	0.01%	0.53	0.00%	-	0.00%	0.53
Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL (formerly known as Land Rover Espana SL)	0.66%	412.48	0.90%	66.79	0.00%	0.14	-0.33%	66.93
Jaguar Land Rover Nederland BV	0.06%	36.80	0.27%	20.49	0.00%	=	-0.10%	20.49
The Lanchester Motor Company Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	
The Daimler Motor Company Limited	0.02%	12.14	0.00%	-	0.00%	=	0.00%	
S S Cars Limited Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00% 0.00%	•
The Jaquar Collection Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	_	0.00%	-	0.00%	
Jaguar Cars (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd	0.00%	_	0.00%	_	0.00%	_	0.00%	
Jaguar Cars Ltd	0.00%	-	0.00%	_	0.00%	_	0.00%	
Land Rover Exports Ltd (non-trading)	0.00%	=	0.00%	-	0.00%	=	0.00%	
Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	
Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Services Company Ltd	0.00%	2.60	-0.02%	(1.51)	0.00%	=	0.01%	(1.51)
Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o	0.27%	171.68	-0.08%	(6.23)	-0.05%	14.92	-0.04%	8.69
Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte Ltd	0.03%	16.74	0.20%	14.73	0.00%	-	-0.07%	14.73
Jaguar Racing Limited	0.03%	18.47	0.27%	19.88	0.00%	=	-0.10%	19.88
Jaguar Land Rover Colombia SAS	0.01%	8.92	0.02%	1.76		-	-0.01%	1.76
InMotion Ventures Limited	-0.08%	(49.23)	-0.71%	(52.98)	0.00%	-	0.26%	(52.98)
Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Co. Ltd.	0.04%	23.27	0.05%	3.55	0.00%	(0.94)	-0.01%	2.61
PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia	-0.01%	(8.53)	-0.60%	(44.56)	0.00%	(0.33)	0.22% 0.00%	(44.56) (0.53)
TMNL Motor Services Nigeria Ltd Minority Interests in all subsidiaries	0.00%	(0.07)	0.00%	(0.20)	0.00%	(0.33)	0.00%	(0.55)
Indian								
Concorde Motors (India) Ltd	0.00%	_	0.00%	_	0.00%		0.00%	
Tata Marcopolo Motors Ltd	-0.09%	(54.17)		(6.59)	0.00%	0.21	0.03%	(6.38)
Tata Motors Finance Ltd	0.00%	-	0.00%	-	0.00%		0.00%	
Tata Technologies Ltd	-0.64%	(401.75)	-1.30%	(97.03)	-0.12%	33.25	0.32%	(63.78)
Foreign								
Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd	-0.01%	(4.56)	0.00%	(0.34)	0.00%	(0.18)	0.00%	(0.52)
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.00%	(0.22)	0.00%	-	0.00%		0.00%	-
Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited	0.03%	19.57	0.06%	4.80	0.00%	(0.03)	-0.02%	4.77
Trilix S.r.l	-0.02%	(12.04)	-0.04%	(3.04)	0.00%	1.02	0.01%	(2.02)
Joint operations								
Indian Fiat India Automobiles Private Limited	2.40%	1.503.66	1.90%	141.32	0.00%	(0.03)	-0.70%	140.49
Tata Cummins Private Ltd	0.61%	1,503.66 381.87	0.42%	31.12	0.00%	(0.83)	-0.14%	28.74
Adjustments arising out of consolidation	-175.96%	(110,269.60)		(13,434.83)	14.62%		87.22%	(17,449.13)
Sub - total (a)	173.5070	58,061.89	100.2370	5,961.36	11.0270	(27,151.60)	07.2270	(21,190.24)
Sub-total (a)		30,001.05				(27,131.00)		(21,130.24)
Joint ventures (as per proportionate consolidation/investment as per the equity method Indian								
Tata HAL Technologies Ltd	0.00%	=	-0.03%	(2.30)	0.00%	=	0.01%	(2.30)
Foreign								
Spark 44 Ltd	0.10%	64.77	0.40%	29.95	0.05%	(13.03)	-0.08%	16.92
Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co Ltd	5.85%	3,668.61	18.17%	1,354.42	1.02%	(280.16)	-5.37%	1,074.26
Sub - total (b)		3,733.38		1,382.07		(293.19)		1,088.88
Associates (Investment as per the equity method) Indian								
Tata AutoComp Systems Ltd	0.34%	212.06	0.19%	13.90	0.01%	(3.66)	-0.05%	10.24
Automobile Corporation of Goa Ltd	0.22%	136.83	0.19%	7.10		(0.01)	-0.04%	7.09
Tata Hitachi Construction Machinery Company Private Ltd	0.63%	392.98	1.15%	85.72		(3.27)	-0.41%	82.45
Foreign								
Nita Company Ltd	0.05%	28.42	0.06%	4.21	0.00%	(0.97)	-0.02%	3.24
Tata Precision Industries (India) Ltd	-	-	-	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	
Synaptiv Limited	0.00%	1.37	-	-	0.00%	-	0.00%	
CloudCar Inc	0.15%	96.96	-	-	0.03%	(7.60)	0.04%	(7.60
Jaguar Cars Finance Limited	0.01%	3.91	0.00%		0.00%		0.00%	
Sub - total (c)		872.39		110.93		(15.51)		95.42
Total (b+c)		4,606.01	100.00%	1,493.00	100.00%	(308.70)	100.00%	1,184.30
Total (a.l.h.)	100.00%	62 667 00	100.00%	7 454 26	100 000/	(27.460.20)	100 000/	(20,005.94)
Total (a + b)	100.00%	62,667.90	100.00%	7,454.36	100.00%	(27,460.30)	100.00%	(20,005.94)

45. Other Notes

Disclosure on Specified Bank Notes (SBNs)

As required by MCA notification G.S.R. 308 (E) dated March 30, 2017, details in respect of Specified Bank Notes (SBNs) held and transacted during the period from November 8, 2016 to December 30, 2016 are given below:

(Amount in ₹)

Particulars	SBNs	Other denomination notes	Total
Closing cash in hand as on November 8, 2016	9,59,50,250	1,07,28,889	10,66,79,139
(+) Non-permitted receipts	79,500	-	79,500
(+) Permitted receipts	-	1,85,09,67,818	1,85,09,67,818
(-) Permitted payments	4,99,500	2,61,55,712	2,66,55,212
(-) Amount deposited in banks	9,55,30,250	1,72,69,17,216	1,82,24,47,466
Closing cash in hand as on December 30, 2016		10,86,23,779	10,86,23,779

[&]quot;Exceptional item VI (b)" of ₹ 147.93 crores for the year ended March 31, 2017, relates to provision for inventory of BS III vehicles as at March 31, 2017. This does not include higher level of customer discounts and variable marketing expenses in March 2017, to support higher level of retail sales which have been netted off against "Income from operations".

(₹ in crores)

Particulars	Net Worth As at March 31, 2017	Total Revenue for the year ended March 31, 2017	Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash equivalent during 2016-2017
Subsidiaries:			
Tata Motors European Technical Centre Plc	306.12	216.33	(36.86)
Trilix S.r.l	52.09	119.26	8.66
Tata Precision Industries Pte Ltd	0.94	-	(0.16)
Tata Hispano Motors Carrocera S.A	(647.95)	0.56	(0.29)
Tata Hispano Motors Carroceries Maghreb S.A	(22.46)	0.36	(17.46)
Total	(311.26)	336.51	(46.11)
For the year ended/as at March 31, 2016	(406.42)	398.72	41.83

The Company has a process whereby periodically all long term contracts (including derivative contracts) are assessed for material foreseeable losses. At the year end, the Company has reviewed and ensured that adequate provision are required under any law/accounting standards for material foreseeable losses on such long term contracts (including derivative contracts) has been made in the books of account.

N CHANDRASEKARAN [DIN: 00121863]

Chairman

For and on behalf of the Board

R A MASHELKAR [DIN: 00074119]

N MUNJEE [DIN: 00010180]

V K JAIRATH [DIN: 00391684]

O P BHATT [DIN:00548091]

R SPETH [DIN: 03318908]

Directors

GUENTER BUTSCHEK [DIN: 07427375] CEO & Managing Director R PISHARODY [DIN: 01875848]

Executive Director

S B BORWANKAR [DIN: 01793948] Executive Director
C RAMAKRISHNAN

Group Chief Financial Officer H K SETHNA [FCS: 3507]

Company Secretary

Mumbai, May 23, 2017

The following subsidiaries have been considered on Unaudited basis. Details for the same as per individual entity's financials are as under: (c)

Current period figures are shown in bold prints.

REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER

Tata Motors Limited

Bombay House 24, Homi Mody Street Mumbai 400 001

TRUSTEE

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

REGISTRAR

Citicorp International Limited

20/F, Citi Tower, One Bay East 83 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong Kowloon, Hong Kong

Citibank, N.A., London Branch

c/o Citibank, N.A., Dublin Branch 1 North Wall Quay Dublin 1 Ireland

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt Germany

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to Indian law

Jerome Merchant + Partners

8th Floor, 83, Free Press Journal Marg Nariman Point Mumbai, Maharashtra 400021, India

To the Joint Lead Managers as to English law

Linklaters Singapore Pte. Ltd.

One George Street #17-01 Singapore 049145 To the Joint Lead Managers as to Indian law

AZB & Partners

AZB House, Peninsula Corporate Park, Ganpatrao Kadam Marg, Lower Parel, Mumbai, India, 400013 To the Trustee as to English law

Linklaters

10th Floor, Alexandra House Chater Road, Central Hong Kong

